
           

 
Agenda for the Regular Meeting of Board of Commissioners

Monday, May 9, 2022 - 7:00 pm
Brentwood City Hall

           

Call to Order by Mayor
Roll Call
Invocation by Commissioner Gorman
Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag by Vice Mayor Andrews
Proclamation - National Public Works Week
Proclamation - Children's Mental Health Acceptance Week

Public Hearing
1. Public hearing for Ordinance 2022-01- AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE OSRD

(OPEN SPACE RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT) ZONING CLASSIFICATION FOR
APPROXIMATELY 122 ACRES OF LAND LOCATED EAST OF SPLIT LOG AND NORTH
OF SAM DONALD ROADS

 

2. Public hearing for Ordinance 2022-04- AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE OSRD
(OPEN SPACE RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT) AND R-2 (SUBURBAN RESIDENTIAL)
ZONING CLASSIFICATIONS FOR APPROXIMATELY 84 ACRES OF LAND LOCATED
WEST OF SPLIT LOG AND SOUTH OF THE EXISTING ROSEBROOKE SUBDIVISION

 

Public hearings on rezoning ordinances are primarily intended as opportunities for citizens to voice their views in
support of or opposition to a rezoning that has been proposed by other parties. Persons speaking on behalf of the
property owner or the applicant for the rezoning are allowed opportunities to speak when the ordinance is
considered for passage on first and second reading, and are encouraged to confine their remarks to those
opportunities.

Approval or Correction of Minutes
April 25, 2022  

Comments from Citizens – Individuals may comment on any item included in the Consent/Regular
agenda or on any other matter regarding the City of Brentwood. All comments should be directed to the
Board of Commissioners.  Citizens who wish to request that an item be moved from the Consent Agenda
to the Regular Agenda for discussion should make that known to the Board at this time. 
 
Report from City Manager
Report from the City Attorney
Reports and comments by Commissioners and Mayor



Note: All matters listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and will generally be
enacted by one motion. Except for any items that are removed from the Consent Agenda, there will be no
separate discussion of these items at this time.
 

Consent Agenda
1. Resolution 2022-48 - A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT WITH FOUR

STAR PAVING, LLC FOR ANNUAL ROADWAY REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS, for
adoption

 

2. Resolution 2022-49 - A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ACQUISITION OF
EASEMENTS NECESSARY FOR THE ARDEN WOODS SEWER STATION
ABANDONMENT PROJECT, for adoption

 

3. Approval of recommended street resurfacing list for Fiscal Year 2023  
4. Approval to purchase Pure Storage solution  
5. Approval to purchase ammunition for the Police Department  

Old Business
1. Ordinance 2022-05 - AN ORDINANCE REZONING PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2

MARYLAND WAY FROM C-1 (COMMERCIAL-OFFICE) TO C-2
(COMMERCIAL-RETAIL), for consideration on first reading

 

2. Other old business  

New Business
1. Other new business  
a. Approval to purchase Cisco 48-port switch for Fire Station 5  

Kirk Bednar
City Manager

Anyone requesting accommodations due to disabilities should contact April Curlin, A.D.A. Coordinator, at 371-0060, before the
meeting.



   
    Public Hearing    1.        

Brentwood City Commission Agenda
Meeting Date: 05/09/2022  
Ordinance 2022-01 -- Proposing to Assign the OSRD Zoning District to the Property Annexed
Pursuant to Resolution 2022-33
Submitted by: Jeff Dobson, Planning & Codes
Department: Planning & Codes

Information
Subject
Public hearing for Ordinance 2022-01, which proposes the establishment of a City zoning district
for ≈ 122 acres of land, located east of Split Log and north of Sam Donald Roads. The subject
properties are currently zoned MGA-1 by Williamson County and would be assigned the OSRD
(Open Space Residential Development) zoning district. 

Background
The attached ordinance requests approval of the assignment of the Open Space Residential
Development (OSRD) zoning district to ≈ 122 acres located east of Split Log Road and north of
Sam Donald Road. The subject properties are currently zoned MGA-1 by Williamson County and
are located within the City's Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) and adjacent to the existing city
limits. The assignment of zoning is being considered in conjunction with an annexation request
for the property.

The properties, under consideration for annexation and assignment of a zoning district are
currently under the ownership of four different property owners. Refer to the following table.  
  

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION -- ROSEBROOKE EAST
OWNER ADDRESS PARCEL # AREA (AC)

J & M Albright 9810 Sam Donald Rd. 055 01200 35.59 
June Albright Sam Donald Rd.  055 01205 7.95
R.H. Adcock/Moskal 9829 Split Log Rd. 056 08400 49.88
R.H. Adcock/Moskal #2 Split Log Rd. 056 09300 28.75
 

TOTAL  122.17 +/-   

The proposed concept development plan shows a proposed future alignment of Split Log
Road, which was developed in 2014.  A current alignment has for the road not yet been
established. The developer will be expected to provide the necessary additional right-of-way
and/or adjust the lot layout to accommodate the future roadway improvements once an alignment
has been established.



According to the Property Assessor, there is one home and one outbuilding currently located on
Parcel Number 055 01200. Additionally, there is one home and several out buildings located on
Parcel Number 056 08410. The other two parcels are vacant. 

Since first reading of the ordinance, several changes have concurred to the plans, as a result of
staff comments: 

The splitter islands in the entrance streets have been revised, relocating them outside the
ROW.

1.

An "eyebrow" has been added to Road "N" as a block break. The eyebrow will serve as the
location for the Post Office required CBUs.

2.

The plan now labels Sam Donald Road as a future Arterial Road.3.
A 150-foot-wide arterial road buffer has been added along the frontage of Sam Donald
Road. Note that the arterial road buffer is also shown along the preliminary alignment of
Split Log Road. 

4.

A ROW dedication of 20 feet wide has been added along Sam Donald Road.  5.
The 100-year floodplain has been added to the plans 6.

Several other comments were provided by staff which will be addressed as part of the
preliminary plan and/or construction plan review process.

The changes have resulted in a slight modification in the open space calculations, reducing the
amount of excess open space from 35.80 acres to 35.13 acres (0.67 ac.). The comparison of the
open space calculations as originally submitted and those provided as part of the re-submittal is
attached below.   

The revised plan still includes a total of 74 lots.  The average lot area is 30,407 sq. ft or 0.70
acres.  The overall density is 0.61 dwelling units per acres (DUPA). An R-2 concept plan was
also included as part of the submittal.  That plan also showed a total of 74 lots, all at or above the
required one-acre lot area.  

Utility service to the properties is provided by the Nolensville/College Grove Utility District
(water) and Metro Nashville Water Services (sewer). The provision of utilities will not change
with the annexation of the property into the City of Brentwood. The future development will not
be served by Brentwood’s Water and Sewer system and therefore, the project will not impact the
City's water/sewer infrastructure. 

The tract can be developed under the existing zoning classification in the County. As noted
above, the properties are currently zoned MGA-1 by Williamson County.  The district was
established in 2013 and assigned to all properties outside municipal boundaries and within the
various UGBs around the County. The district standards require a minimum lot area of one acre
and a gross density of one dwelling unit per acre, similar to the City's Suburban Residential (R-2)
district.  However, there are differences in the technical standards related to accessory uses and
structure standards. MGA-1 allows the following accessory uses/structure standards: 

Accessory dwelling units within an existing dwelling unit (interior apartment) or as a
separate or converted structure (converted garage, carriage house of stable);

1.

Only one accessory dwelling unit, regardless of the number of principle dwellings located2.



on a single parcel are permitted;
Accessory dwellings shall be limited to 750 sq. ft. or 25% of the square footage of the
principal structure, whichever is greater. In no case shall the accessory dwelling be more
that 75% of the square footage of the principal dwelling; and 

3.

Interior apartments may be contained within the existing house or attached onto the
exterior. They must be constructed so that the exterior appearance of the home is
maintained. A second front door is not permitted.

4.

Please note that the County does not regulate the existence or operation of Short Term Rentals
(STRs) in the MGA-1 district.  Requirements are that each operator must register with the County
and collect the applicable Hotel/Motel taxes, which are charged to the occupant and collected by
the property owner. 

SCHOOLS 

The proposed plan was provided to Williamson County Schools (WCS) for an assessment of the
impact of the proposed development on the schools in the area. The properties lie between the
Ravenwood and Nolensville High zone lines.  WCS will review to determine if the school board
needs to vote on a line change.  WCS is rezoning for the new elementary schools this fall.  Based
upon the WCS review, the approximate student enrollment projections at build-out for the
Rosebrooke East properties are as follows:
  

Jordan Elementary -- 33 Students;
Sunset Middle -- 19 Students; 
High school -- 15 Students (either Ravenwood or Nolensville).

The current capacity and enrollment numbers for the 2020/2021 school year, according to WCS
data for the three impacted schools as of September 2, 2021, are as follows: Jordan Elementary
(890 capacity/593 students enrolled), Sunset Middle (869 capacity/621 students enrolled),
and Ravenwood High (1,649 capacity/1,875 students enrolled), Nolensville High (1,671
capacity/1,330 enrolled).  Note that the enrollment for Ravenwood High exceeds its capacity, but
construction is underway to enlarge the school.

TRAFFIC IMPACTS

A Traffic Impact Study (TIS) was provided as part of the initial request for annexation of the
property.  A copy of the TIS was forwarded to Mr. Greg Judy with Neel-Shaffer Inc., who assists
staff in the review of the submitted TIS. The applicant will pay for the Neel-Shaffer review per
the requirements of Section 50-29(b) of the Municipal Code. 



Site Traffic 
  

ROSEBROOKE ADDITION

TRIP GENERATION (1)

 
Proposed

Development

ITE
Land
Use
Code

 
Total
Units

 
Daily
Trips

A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total

Rosebrooke South
(50 Single Family
Detached Homes)

  
210

 
50 Homes

 
550

 
10

 
30

 
40

 
33

 
19

 
52

Rosebrooke East (74
Single Family
Detached Homes)

  
210

 
74 Homes

 
788

 
14

 
43

 
57

 
48

 
28

 
76

(1)       Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition published by the Institute of Transportation
Engineers (ITE)
 
A copy of the Executive Summary, which is included as part of the TIS is attached below. 
Additionally, the entire TIS is also attached below. 

The TIS recommends the following improvements be incorporated into the design of the
proposed access to Split Log Road (Access #2) include the following.   

The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic
conditions during the a.m. and p.m. peak hours.
The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and two
(2) egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet. 
These proposed access locations will intersect Split Log Road in between existing curves
and should provide acceptable intersection sight distance. Site plans for the Rosebrooke
Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per AASHTO
guidelines will be available at this intersection.

Additionally, the TIS recommends that the following improvements be incorporated into the
access to Sam Donald Road (Access #4): 

The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic
conditions during the a.m. and p.m. peak hours.
The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and two
(2) egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet. 
This proposed access will be near an existing driveway within a straight section of Sam
Donald Road and should provide acceptable intersection sight distance. Site plans for the
Rosebrooke Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per
AASHTO guidelines will be available at this intersection.

As mentioned above the TIS was forwarded to Neel-Shaffer for their staff review. Their review
will be attached below upon receipt. 



The developer will be expected to design the project in consideration of the recommendations
included as part of the TIS and the recommendations from Neel-Shaffer. 

The request will track along the following hearing schedule.  
  

PROPOSED HEARING SCHEDULE
April 11,
2022

Board of Commissioners -- First Reading of the Ordinance 2022-01 Assigning
OSRD to the Property

April 28,
2022 Required Community Meeting -- 6:00 p.m. -- Annex Room 

May 2,
2022

Planning Commission -- Review & Recommendation of the Ordinance 2022-01
Assigning OSRD to the Property

May 9,
2022

Board of Commissioners -- Public Hearing on the Ordinance 2022-01 Assigning
OSRD to the Property

May 23,
2022

Board of Commissioners – Second and Final Reading of the Ordinance 2022-01
Assigning OSRD to the Property

  
May 23,
2022

Board of Commissioners – Review of Resolution 2022-33 Annexing the properties
into the City of Brentwood

A total of six residents attended the community meeting.  A copy of the staff notes from the
meeting is attached below. 

As noted above the Planning Commission will provide their review and recommendation of the
ordinance at its May 2, 2022, regular meeting.  

Should you have any questions or require additional information, please contact the Planning and
Codes Director.  

Staff Recommendation
Not Applicable. . 



Previous Commission Action
On April 11, 2022, the Board of Commissioners voted unanimously, seven for and zero against
(7-0) to approve Ordinance 2022-01 on first reading.  

On March 28, 2022, the Board of Commissioners conducted the required public hearing for the
plan of services and the annexation.  No one spoke during the public hearing. 

On February 14, 2022, the Board of Commissioners voted unanimously six for and zero
against (6-0) to approve Resolution 2022-08, scheduling the required public hearing for the plan
of services for March 28, 2022.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Ordinance 2022-01 
Attachment B -- OS Calcs, Dev. Plan W/ Enlargements 
Project Rendering 
R-2 Concept Plan 
OS Comparison 
Rosebrooke East Landscape Sheets 
Rosebrooke East Tree Preservation Sheets 
List of Trees to Remain 
Owner Authorizations 
TIS Executive Summary 
Traffic Impact Study 
Split Log Road Realignment -- 2014 
Resolution 2022-33 
Staff Notes -- Community Meeting 
PC Review Memo -- Ordinance 2022-01 



ORDINANCE 2022-01

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE TO AMEND  THE 
ZONING ORDINANCE, SAME BEING CHAPTER 78 OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TO ESTABLISH A CERTAIN 
ZONING CLASSIFICATION, SAME BEING THE OSRD (OPEN SPACE

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT) FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED EAST OF 
SPLIT LOG ROAD AND NORTH OF SAM DONALD ROAD, SAID TERRITORY 

BEING ADJACENT TO AND INCLUDING SECTIONS OF SPLIT LOG ROAD, BEING 
MORE SPECIFICALLY DESCRIBED IN THE PROPERTY DESCRIPTION

ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A PART OF THIS ORDINANCE BY REFERENCE, 
AND SHOWN ON THE MAP ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A PART OF THIS 
ORDINANCE BY REFERENCE; AND TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP 

ACCORDINGLY

WHEREAS, the City of Brentwood intends to annex certain territory, adjacent to and including a 
certain section Split Log Road into its corporate limits by Resolution 2022-33, pursuant to Tennessee 
Code Annotated Section 6-51-101 et seq.; and

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Brentwood and the said annexed territory that a
zoning classification be established for said territory: and

WHEREAS, the zoning of the property shall be contingent upon approval of the proposed 
annexation, pursuant to Resolution 2022-33.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE, 
AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. That the OSRD (Open Space Residential Development) zoning district, as defined by 
the zoning ordinance of the City of Brentwood, Tennessee, be and the same is hereby established for 
the properties identified on the current Williamson County tax maps as Map 055, Parcel 01200, 055 
01205, 056 08400 and 056 09300, said property being more particularly described in the property 
description attached hereto as Attachment “A,” and being more particularly shown on Attachment “B,” 
said attachments being made a part of this ordinance by reference.

SECTION 2. That approval of the zoning shall be contingent upon approval of the proposed
annexation of the property, pursuant to Resolution 2022-33.

SECTION 3. That the official zoning map be and the same is hereby amended accordingly.



Page 2 of Ordinance 2022-01

SECTION 4. That this ordinance shall take effect from and after its final passage, or fifteen days 
after its first passage, whichever occurs later, the general welfare of the City of Brentwood,
Williamson County, Tennessee, requiring it.

PASSED: 1st reading

2nd reading

PUBLIC HEARING
Notice published in: Williamson A.M.
Date of publication:
Date of hearing:

MAYOR Rhea E. Little, III

Approved as to form:

CITY ATTORNEY Kristen L. Corn

PLANNING COMMISSION

NOTICE OF PASSAGE
Notice published in:
Date of publication:

EFFECTIVE DATE

RECORDER Holly Earls



Page 3 of Ordinance 2022-01

ATTACHMENT A
ORDINANCE 2022-01

ANNEXED TERRITORY
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

SPLIT LOG AND SAM DONALD ROADS
MAP 055 PARCEL 01200, MAP 055 PARCEL 01205, MAP 056 PARCEL 08400 AND 

MAP 056 PARCEL 09300

JOHN AND MARGARET ALBRIGHT PROPERTY
MAP 055, PARCEL 012.00
SAM DONALD ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
PROPOSED OSRD ZONING DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District of 
Williamson County, Tennessee. Being bounded on the north by the Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the 
Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust  property of record in Book 5792, Page 540 (Tract 3), Register’s 
Office for Williamson County, Tennessee (R.O.W.C.T.); at the northeast by the Paula K. Taube 
property of record in Book 3204, Page 941, R.O.W.C.T.); on the east by the Deborah Moskal, 
Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust  property of record in Book 5792, Page 540, 
R.O.W.C.T. and the Clark A. Presley and Tamara C. Presley property of record in Book 1250, Page 
463, R.O.W.C.T.; on the south by Sam Donald Road (right-of-way width varies); on the west by the 
June M. Albright property of record in Book 1070, Page 679, R.O.W.C.T., the Eric S. Simon and 
wife, Anca R. Simon property of record in Book 5196, Page 93, R.O.W.C.T.  and the Magdalena 
Samuchin and Michael G. Samuchin, wife and husband property of record in Book 1876, Page 634, 
R.O.W.C.T.; at the southwest by the Joe Ann Wilburn Griggs, Trustee property of record in Book 
7694, Page 563, R.O.W.C.T; and being more particularly described as follows:

Commencing at the centerline intersection of Sunset Road (right-of-way width varies) with said 
Split Log Road (right-of-way width varies), said intersection being the northeast corner of the Sunset 
Road Development, LLC property of record in Book 8670, Page 432, R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, leaving said Sunset Road, with the centerline of said Split Log Road the following three (3) 
calls:

1. With a curve to the left having a radius of 1500.00 feet, an arc length of 183.29 feet, a delta 
angle of 07 degrees 00 minutes 05 seconds, a tangent of 91.76 feet and a chord bearing and 
distance of South 10 degrees 37 minutes 11 seconds West, 183.18 feet;

2. South 07 degrees 07 minutes 09 seconds West, 520.57 feet to the northeast corner of the 
Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property of record in Book
5792, Page 540 (Tract 2), R.O.W.C.T.;

3. South 06 degrees 19 minutes 07 seconds West, 570.11 feet;

Thence, leaving the centerline of said Split Log Road with the common line of said Taube property 
and said Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property (Tract 3), South 



Page 4 of Ordinance 2022-01

06 degrees 24 minutes 03 seconds West, 1232.68 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) at the northwest 
corner of said Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property (Tract 1), 
R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, with the west line of said property, South 06 degrees 38 minutes 30 seconds West, 1004.24 
feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap at the northwest corner of said Presley property;

Thence, with the west line of said property the following three (3) calls:

1. South 06 degrees 26 minutes 01 seconds West, 443.50 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with 
no cap;

2. South 05 degrees 57 minutes 23 seconds West, 203.67 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with 
no cap;

3. South 07 degrees 33 minutes 18 seconds West, 278.45 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc" in the north right-of-way line of said Sam Donald Road 
and the Point of Beginning of herein described tract;

Thence, with the north right-of-way line of said Sam Donald Road the following three (3) calls:

1. North 71 degrees 32 minutes 38 seconds West, 314.20 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

2. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 384.43 feet, a radius of 2601.20 feet, a delta 
angle of 08 degrees 28 minutes 04 seconds and a chord bearing and distance of North 75 
degrees 46 minutes 40 seconds West, 384.08 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with cap 
stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

3. North 80 degrees 00 minutes 42 seconds West, 119.40 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc" at the southeast corner of said June M. Albright property;

Thence leaving said north right-of-way line of Sam Donald Road with the east and north lines of said 
property the following three (3) calls:

1. North 11 degrees 24 minutes 50 seconds East, 604.15 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

2. North 14 degrees 51 minutes 48 seconds East, 438.66 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

3. North 80 degrees 01 minutes 06 seconds West, 268.19 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with 
no cap at the northeast corner of said Griggs, Trustee property and the southeast corner of 
said Simon property; 

Thence, with the east line of Simon, North 16 degrees 39 minutes 01 seconds East, 285.85 feet to a 
1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap at the southeast corner of said Samuchin property;

Thence, with the east line of said Samuchin property, North 10 degrees 13 minutes 28 seconds East, 
522.05 feet to a nail (old) in the south line of said Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock 
Marital Trust property (Tract 3);



Page 5 of Ordinance 2022-01

Thence, with the south line of said Adcock Marital Trust property property, South 80 degrees 19 
minutes 58 seconds East, 881.52 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap at the southwest corner 
of said Taube property and the northwest corner of the said Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert 
H. Adcock Marital Trust property (Tract 1);

Thence, with the west line of said Adcock Marital Trust property property, South 06 degrees 38 
minutes 30 seconds West, 1004.24 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap at the northeast 
corner of said Presley property;

Thence, with the west line of said Presley property, the following three (3) calls:

1. South 06 degrees 26 minutes 01 seconds West, 443.50 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with 
no cap;

2. South 05 degrees 57 minutes 23 seconds West, 203.67 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with 
no cap;

3. South 07 degrees 33 minutes 18 seconds West, 278.45 feet to the Point of Beginning
containing 1,550,145 square feet or 35.59 acres, more or less.

Being the same property conveyed to John J. Albright and wife, Margaret C. Albright by Quitclaim Deed 
of record in Book 1256, page 429, Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee.



Page 6 of Ordinance 2022-01

JUNE M. ALBRIGHT PROPERTY
MAP 055, PARCEL 012.05
SAM DONALD ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
PROPOSED OSRD ZONING DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District of 
Williamson County, Tennessee. Being bounded on the north and east by the John J. Albright and 
wife, Margaret C. Albright property of record in Book 1256, Page 429, Register’s Office for 
Williamson County, Tennessee (R.O.W.C.T.); on the south by Sam Donald Road (right-of-way
width varies); on the west by the Joe Ann Wilburn Griggs property of record in Book 7694, Page 
994, R.O.W.C.T. and the Joe Ann Wilburn Griggs, Trustee property of record in Book 7694, Page 
563, R.O.W.C.T; at the northwest by the Eric S. Simon and wife, Anca R. Simon property of record 
in Book 5196, Page 93, R.O.W.C.T. and being more particularly described as follows:

Beginning on a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) in the north right-of-way line of said Sam Donald Road and 
at the southeast corner of said Griggs property of record in Book 7694, Page 994, R.O.W.C.T.

Thence, leaving said north right-of-way line with the east line of said Griggs property and the Griggs 
property of record in Book 7694, Page 563, R.O.W.C.T., North 20 degrees 41 minutes 27 seconds 
East, 1059.44 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap at the southeast corner of said Simon 
property and at a southwest corner of said Albright property;

Thence, with the south and west line of Albright the following three (3) calls:

1. South 80 degrees 01 minutes 06 seconds East, 268.19 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no 
cap; 

2. South 14 degrees 51 minutes 48 seconds West, 438.66 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

3. South 11 degrees 24 minutes 50 seconds West, 604.15 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc" in the north right-of-way line of Sam Donald Road;

Thence, with said right-of-way line, North 80 degrees 00 minutes 42 seconds West, 412.63 feet to the 
Point of Beginning containing 346,398 square feet or 7.95 acres, more or less.

Being the same property conveyed to June M. Albright by Quitclaim Deed of record in Book 1070, page 
679, Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee.



Page 7 of Ordinance 2022-01

ROBERT H. ADCOCK PROPERTY
MAP 056, PARCEL 084.00
SPLIT LOG ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
PROPOSED OSRD ZONING DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District of 
Williamson County, Tennessee. Being bounded on the north and west by the Sunset Road 
Development, LLC property of record in Book 8670, Page 432, Register’s Office for Williamson 
County, Tennessee (R.O.W.C.T.); on the east by the Paula K. Taube property of record in Book 
3204, Page 941, R.O.W.C.T. and the Paula K. Taube property of record in Book 2189, Page 725, 
R.O.W.C.T.; at the southeast by the Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust 
property of record in Book 5792, Page 540 (Tract 1), R.O.W.C.T. on the south by: the John J. 
Albright and wife, Margaret C. Albright property of record in Book 1256, Page 429, R.O.W.C.T., the 
Magdalena Samuchin and Michael G. Samuchin, wife and husband property of record in Book 1876, 
Page 634, R.O.W.C.T., the Magdalena Samuchin and Michael G. Samuchin, wife and husband
property of record in Book 971, Page 129, R.O.W.C.T.; on the west by: Split Log Road (right-of-way 
width varies), the Michael D. Culbreth and Lynette Culbreth property of record in Book 6010, Page 
611, R.O.W.C.T. and the John A. McArthur and wife, Norma D. McArthur property of record in 
Book 220, Page 602, R.O.W.C.T. and being more particularly described as follows:

Commencing at the centerline intersection of Sunset Road (right-of-way width varies) with said 
Split Log Road (right-of-way width varies), said intersection being the northeast corner of said 
Sunset Road Development, LLC property;

Thence, leaving said Sunset Road, with the centerline of said Split Log Road the following two (2) 
calls:

1. With a curve to the left having a radius of 1500.00 feet, an arc length of 183.29 feet, a delta 
angle of 07 degrees 00 minutes 05 seconds, a tangent of 91.76 feet and a chord bearing and 
distance of South 10 degrees 37 minutes 11 seconds West, 183.18 feet;

2. South 07 degrees 07 minutes 09 seconds West, 520.57 feet to the northeast corner of the 
Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property of record in Book 
5792, Page 540 (Tract 2), R.O.W.C.T. and the Point of Beginning of herein described tract;

Thence, continuing with the centerline of Split Log Road, South 06 degrees 19 minutes 07 seconds 
West, 570.11 feet to the northwest corner of the Taube property of record in Book 3204, Page 941, 
R.O.W.C.T. and the southwest corner of the Taube property of record in Book 2189, Page 725, 
R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, leaving said centerline with the west line of Taube, South 06 degrees 24 minutes 03 seconds 
West, 1232.68 feet to a 1/2 inch iron rod (old) at the northwest corner of said Deborah Moskal, 
Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property (Tract 1) and the northeast corner of said 
Albright property;



Page 8 of Ordinance 2022-01

Thence, with the north line of Albright, North 80 degrees 19 minutes 58 seconds West, 881.52 feet to 
a nail (old) at the northeast corner of said Samuchin property of record in Book 1876, Page 634, 
R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, with the north line of said property, North 79 degrees 45 minutes 24 seconds West, 256.67 
feet to a metal fence post at the northeast corner of the Samuchin property of record in Book 971, 
Page 129, R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, with said north line the following two (2) calls:

1. North 77 degrees 36 minutes 15 seconds West, 161.26 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

2. North 28 degrees 31 minutes 37 seconds West, 62.19 feet to the centerline of Split Log Road;

Thence, with said centerline the following five (5) calls:

1. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 290.36 feet, a radius of 489.76 feet, a delta 
angle of 33 degrees 58 minutes 06 seconds and a chord bearing and distance of North 29 
degrees 28 minutes 53 seconds East, 286.13 feet;

2. North 12 degrees 29 minutes 50 seconds East, 306.63 feet;
3. North 16 degrees 05 minutes 12 seconds East, 246.86 feet;
4. Along a curve to the right, having an arc length of 133.22 feet, a radius of 128.43 feet, a delta 

angle of 59 degrees 25 minutes 53 second sand a chord bearing and distance of North 45 
degrees 48 minutes 08 seconds East, 127.32 feet;

5. Along a curve to the right, having an arc length of 60.18 feet, a radius of 327.13 feet, a delta 
angle of 10 degrees 32 minutes 27 seconds and a chord bearing and distance of North 80 
degrees 47 minutes 18 seconds East, 60.10 feet;

Thence, leaving said centerline with the north line of said McArthur property, North 72 degrees 
18 minutes 48 seconds West, 257.60 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with cap stamped "Ragan 
Smith Assoc" in the east line of said Sunset Road Development, LLC property;

Thence, with the east and south lines of said property the following two (2) calls:

1. North 06 degrees 11 minutes 12 seconds East, 702.90 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

2. South 83 degrees 03 minutes 48 seconds East, 1261.68 feet the Point of Beginning,
containing 2,172,582 square feet, or 49.88 acres, more or less. 

Being a portion of the same property conveyed to Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock 
Marital Trust by Trustee’s Quitclaim Deed of record in Book 5792, Page 540 (Tracts 2 and 3),
R.O.W.C.T, Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee.



Page 9 of Ordinance 2022-01

ROBERT H. ADCOCK PROPERTY
MAP 056, PARCEL 093.00
EAST OF SPLIT LOG ROAD
NORTH OF SAM DONALD ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
PROPOSED OSRD ZONING DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District of 
Williamson County. Being bounded on the north by the Paula K. Taube property of record in Book 
3204, Page 941, Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee (R.O.W.C.T.); on the east by 
Open Space 1 as shown on plan entitled “Bennington, Section 10” of record in Plat Book P65, Page 
97, R.O.W.C.T.; on the south by the Annette Thompson Parkes property of record in Book 4188, 
Page 283, R.O.W.C.T. and the Daniel R. Vasta and Victoria L. Vasta, husband and wife property of 
record in Book 7552, Page 3, R.O.W.C.T. and the Clark A. Presley and Tamara C. Presley property 
of record in Book 1250, Page 463, R.O.W.C.T.; on the west by the John J. Albright and wife, 
Margaret C. Albright property of record in Book 1256, Page 429, R.O.W.C.T.; at the northwest by 
the Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust  property of record in Book 
5792, Page 540 (Tract 3) R.O.W.C.T., and being more particularly described as follows:

Commencing at the centerline intersection of Sunset Road (right-of-way width varies) with said 
Split Log Road (right-of-way width varies), said intersection being the northeast corner of Sunset 
Road Development, LLC property of record in Book 8670, Page 432, R.OW.C.T.;

Thence, leaving said Sunset Road, with the centerline of said Split Log Road the following three (3) 
calls:

1. With a curve to the left having a radius of 1500.00 feet, an arc length of 183.29 feet, a delta 
angle of 07 degrees 00 minutes 05 seconds, a tangent of 91.76 feet and a chord bearing and 
distance of South 10 degrees 37 minutes 11 seconds West, 183.18 feet;

2. South 07 degrees 07 minutes 09 seconds West, 520.57 feet to the northeast corner of the 
Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property of record in Book 
5792, Page 540 (Tract 2), R.O.W.C.T.;

3. South 06 degrees 19 minutes 07 seconds West, 570.11 feet;

Thence, leaving the centerline of said Split Log Road with the common line of said Taube property 
and said Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property (Tract 3), South 
06 degrees 24 minutes 03 seconds West, 1232.68 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) at the northeast 
corner of said Albright property and the Point of Beginning of herein described tract;

Thence, with the south line of Taube, South 79 degrees 44 minutes 16 seconds East, 1179.27 feet to 
a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) in the west line of said Open Space 1 as shown on “Bennington, Section 
10”;

Thence, with said west line, South 06 degrees 30 minutes 27 seconds West, 977.34 feet to a 1/2-inch 
iron rod (old) with no cap at the northwest corner of said Parkes property and the northeast corner of 



Page 10 of Ordinance 2022-01

said Parkes property;

Thence, with the north line of Parkes, North 81 degrees 43 minutes 58 seconds West, 231.62 feet to a 
1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap at the northeast corner of said Vasta property;

Thence, with the north line of Vasta, North 82 degrees 36 minutes 15 seconds West, 1167.82 feet to 
a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap;

Thence, North 06 degrees 38 minutes 30 seconds East, 1004.24 feet to the Point of Beginning
containing 1,252,288 square feet or 28.75 acres, more less.

Being a portion of the same property conveyed to Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock 
Marital Trust by Trustee’s Quitclaim Deed of record in Book 5792, Page 540 (Tract 1), R.O.W.C.T, 
Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee.

Total land area to include 122.107 acres, not including that portion of the Split Log Road 
right-of-way as shown on the attached concept plan

And a Portion of the Split Log Road right-of-way to include the following:

A portion of Split Log Road that fronts the subject properties to include the east side measured from 
the centerline of Split Log Road along Adcock (056 08400), then the entire portion of Split Log 
Road that bisects Adcock and the westerly portion measured from the centerline of Split Log Road to 
the northerly boundary of Adcock.



G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\P

LA
N

 S
H

EE
TS

\E
AS

T\
03

37
 E

AS
T 

O
SR

D
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 4
:3

5 
PM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
AR

EE
D

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 4

:3
2 

PM
G

:\2
1-

03
37

\1
-C

IV
IL

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

\O
SR

D
 P

LA
N

\P
LA

N
 S

H
EE

TS
\E

AS
T\

03
37

 E
AS

T 
O

SR
D

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
AM

AN
D

A 
R

EE
D

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 4

:3
5 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

AR
EE

D
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 4
:3

2 
PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

2
-
-
-
-

1

GENERAL NOTES,
AREA TABLES,
ROADWAY SECTIONS

2
21-0337

JFV

N/A

JANUARY 7, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

*

TYPICAL LOT SETBACK LINES

TYPICAL LOT EASEMENT LINES

TYPICAL LOT SETBACK LINES

OR

OSRD LOT AREA TABLES

OPEN SPACE

OVERALL OSRD CALCULATIONS

(OSRD LOTS 175-248)

LEGEND

*  - TRANSITIONAL LOT

*
*
*
*

ROADWAY CROSS SECTION 50' R.O.W.

ROADWAY CROSS SECTION 36.5' R.O.W. (CUL DE SAC)

GENERAL NOTES AND SITE DATA 

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

*
*
*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

04   28 2022



650

650
650

650

650

650

650

650
650

660

660

660

660

670

670

670

670

670

660

660
660

67
0

670

680

680
680

680

680690

690
690

690

69
0

660680

670700

690710

720

700

71070
0

71
0

71
0 730

73
0

720

710

670

660

660670

670

680

680
680690

690

690700720

710

710

720

730

73
0

730

73
0

720

72
0

71
0

70
0

71
0

71
0

710

72
0

720

720

72
0

71
0

720 710 70
0

720 710 700

690

690

690

690

680

680

680

68
0

690 680 670

67
0

690

730

730

730

720 710

700

730 720

710 70073
0

740

74
0

73
0

73
0

740

74
0

740
740 730 720

710 700

730

73
0

730

73
0

680

690

67
0

670

67
0

67
0

68
0

67
0

670

67
0

670

72071
0

690 700

69
0

68
0

70
0

71
0

720 73
0

73
0

68
0 690 70
0

71
0

72
0

73
0

740

740

740

68
0 690

700 710 720

73
0

740

75
0

76
0

740

730

720

71
0

70
0

690

680

680

69
0 700 710 720 730 740

680

680

680
690

690

690

680680
690

68
0

68
0

69
070

0

68
0

69070
0

710

71
072

0

72
0

72
0

72
0

71
0

70
0

69
0

690690
700700

700
700

70
0

700
710710

71
0

720

720

720

720

710
710

71
0

710

71
0

71
0

71
0

72
0

720

720
720

72
0

720

720

720

720

730 730

730

730

730

730

73
0

730

730

73
0

730
730

740

740

740

740
740

75
0

750

750

760

176

177

178

179

180

181

182

183

184

185

186

187

188

189

198

199

200

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208 209

224

225

226
227228

229

230

231

232

233

234

235

236

237

247

248

211 212 213
214

215216

217

218
219

220

221

222223

175

238

239
240

241

242

243

244

245

246

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

210

OS
 28

OS
 30

OPEN SPACE 31

OS
 32

OS
 33

OPEN SPACE 35

OPEN SPACE 36

OPEN SPACE 37

ROAD J

R
O

AD
 J

RO
AD

 J

ROAD J

R
O

AD
 J

ROAD O

ROAD N

ROAD N

R
O

AD
 P

WNA

W
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

WNA

W
NA

W
N

A

W
NA

W
N

AW
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
NA

W
NA W

NA

WNAW
NA

W
NA

WNA

W
NA

WNA

WNA

190

191

192

193

196

197

OPEN SPACE 26

OPEN SPACE 27

OPEN SPACE 34

OS
 38

194

195

OPEN SPACE 29

7
8

14
15

16

17

18

19

20

21
22

23

1112

10

13

OPEN SPACE 1

12

13

14

15

17

18

19

20

27

28

29

30

31

32

9

16

OPEN
SPACE 1

(P.U.D.A.E.)

24
3

4
5

6

1

2

OPEN SPACE 2

OPEN SPACE 3

OPEN SPACE 4

OPEN SPACE 5

789
10

11

21

22
23

26

134

135

136

137

138

139

151

152

157

158

164

140

148

149

150

153

154

155

156

161

162

168

169

170

171
172

173

FA
IR

HI
LL

 D
RI

VE

SOUTHWICK DRIVE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

127

125

126

OPEN SPACE 20

OS
 22

OS
 23

OS
 25

163

ROAD L

ROAD K

ROAD K

ROAD
 M

165

166 167

128
129

130

131

132

133

159

160

OPEN SPACE 18

OPEN SPACE 19

141

142143

144

145

146

147

OPEN SPACE 21

ROSEBROOKE DRIVE

ROSEBROOKE DRIVE

H
EA

R
TW

O
O

D
 L

AN
E

HEA
RTW

OOD LA
NE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

BR
IA

RM
ON

T 
PL

AC
E

FA
IR

H
IL

L 
D

R
IV

E

EASTON DRIVE

EASTON DRIVE

HARTWICK COURT

GARDENWOOD

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

OPEN SPACE 4

OPEN SPACE 6

OPEN SPACE 10

OPEN SPACE 12

OPEN SPACE 13

OPEN SPACE 9

91011
30

31

32

33

34

35

36

42

43

44

45

46

47

59

60

65
66

67

68

69

70

71

72
73

74 75

76

77

78

79

83
84

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

99

100

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

111

112

113

114

115

116

117

118
119 120

121 122 123 124

37

38

41

OS
14

OS
15

80

81 82

6162

63
64

OS
16

OPEN SPACE 7

OS
17

109

110

OPEN SPACE 11

108

 (50' ROW -

LOCAL STREET)

 (5
0' 

ROW
 -

LO
CAL S

TR
EET)

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (50' ROW -LOCAL STREET)

TERRACE

1005

1006 1007 1008 1009 1010

1011101210131014

BENINGTONSECTION 10

1901
1902

1903 1904
1905

PAULA K. TAUBE

SUNSET ROAD
DEVELOPMENT, LLC

DANIEL R. VASTA AND VICTORIA
L. VASTA, HUSBAND AND WIFE

CLARK A. PRESLEY AND
TAMARA C. PRESLEY

ANNETTE
THOMPSON

PARKES

1004

1003

1002

1001

1809

1808

1807

1806

2114

1805

2115

BENINGTON
SECTION 8

2207

2208

2209

2210

2211

BENINGTON 2
SECTION 1

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

BR
EN

TW
O

O
D

SP
LI

T 
  L

O
G

   
R

O
AD

CITY OF BRENTWOODWILLIAMSON COUNTY

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
BR

EN
TW

O
O

D
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

CITY OF BRENTWOOD

WILLIAMSON COUNTY

CITY OF BRENTWOODWILLIAMSON COUNTY

*

* *

*

*

*
*
*
*
* *

*

*

*

*

SAM DONALD ROAD

FUTURE SPLIT LOG ROAD

REALIGNMENT

TO
W

N
 O

F N
O

LEN
SVILLE

W
ILLIAM

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
BR

EN
TW

O
O

D
TO

W
N

 O
F 

N
O

LE
N

SV
IL

LE

MICHAEL D. CULBRETH AND LYNETTECULBRETH

JOHN A. McARTHUR AND WIFE,
NORMA D. McARTHUR

NADIR MARDONOV

ERIC S. SIMON AND WIFE,
 ANCA R. SIMON

JOE ANN W. GRIGGS, TRUSTEE

JOE ANN WILBURN GRIGGS

PAULA K. TAUBE

SUNSET ROAD
DEVELOPMENT, LLC

SOUTH
ERNUP LL

C

FUTURE SPLIT LOG ROAD

REALIGNMENT

*

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\P

LA
N

 S
H

EE
TS

\E
AS

T\
03

37
 E

AS
T 

O
SR

D
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 4
:3

5 
PM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
AR

EE
D

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 4

:3
2 

PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\P

LA
N

 S
H

EE
TS

\E
AS

T\
03

37
 E

AS
T 

O
SR

D
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 4
:3

5 
PM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
AR

EE
D

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 4

:3
2 

PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

2
-
-
-
-

1

OVERALL SITE PLAN

3
21-0337

JFV

1"=200'

JANUARY 7, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

*

GENERAL NOTES 

LEGEND

*

SEE SHEET 4

SEE SHEET 5

MATCH LINE

04   28 2022



650

650

650

650

650

650

650

650

650

660

660

660

660

670

670

670

670

670

660

660

660

67
0

670

680

680

680

680

680690

690

690

690

69
0

660

680

670

700

690

710

720

700

710
70

0

71
0

71
0

730

73
0

720

710

670

660

660670

670

680

680

680690

690

690

700720

710

710

720

730

73
0

730

73
0

720

72
0

71
0

70
0

71
0

71
0

710

72
0

720

720

72
0

71
0

720 710 70
0

720 710 700

690

690

690

690

680

680

680

68
0

690 680 670

67
0

690

730
730

730

720 710

700

730 720

710 70073
0

740 680

67
0

67
0

67
0

68
0

67
0

690 700

176

177

178

179

180

181

182

229

230

231

232

233

234

235

236

237

247

248

175

238

239

240

241

242

243

244

245

246

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

OPEN SPACE 35

OPEN SPACE 36

OPEN SPACE 37

ROAD J

R
O

AD
 J

W
NA

W
N

A

W
NA

WNAW
NA

W
NA

WNA

W
NA

WNA

WNA

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

1

2

OPEN SPACE 2

OPEN SPACE 3

OPEN SPACE 4

OPEN SPACE 5

138

139

125

126

OPEN SPACE 19

ROSEBROOKE DRIVE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

EASTON DRIVE

HARTWICK COURT

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

OPEN SPACE 6

OPEN SPACE 12

OPEN SPACE 9

65
66

67

68

69

70

77

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93

94

95

100

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

111

112

113

114

115

116

118

119
120

121
122

123
124

OPEN SPACE 7

OS
17

109

110

108

 (50' ROW -

LOCAL STREET)

 (5
0' 

ROW
 -

LO
CAL S

TR
EET)

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

S79°44'16"E   1179.27'

N77°36'15"W   161.26' N79°45'24"W   256.67'

S83°03'48"E   1261.68'

N
06

°1
1'

12
"E

   
70

2.
90

'

N72°18'48"W   257.60'

N1
6°

05
'1

2"
E 

  2
46

.8
6'

N1
2°

29
'5

0"
E 

  3
06

.6
3'

S0
6°

24
'0

3"
W

   
12

32
.6

8'

S0
6°

19
'0

7"
W

   
57

0.
11

'

N1
0°

13
'2

8"
E 

  5
22

.0
5'

N28°31'37"W
62.19'

C2

C3
C4

10
0 

YR

100 YR
100 YR

PAULA K. TAUBE

SUNSET ROAD
DEVELOPMENT, LLC

PAULA K. TAUBE

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

BR
EN

TW
O

O
D

SP
LI

T 
  L

O
G

   
R

O
AD

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

BR
EN

TW
O

O
D

CITY OF BRENTWOODWILLIAMSON COUNTY

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
BR

EN
TW

O
O

D
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
BR

EN
TW

O
O

D
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

CITY OF BRENTWOOD

WILLIAMSON COUNTY

CITY OF BRENTWOODWILLIAMSON COUNTY

*

*
*

*

*

*

*

*

*

WATERWAY
NATURAL

AREA

FUTURE SPLIT LOG ROAD

REALIGNMENT

90'

150'

AR
TER

IAL

BU
FFER

150'

AR
TER

IAL

BU
FFER

150'

AR
TER

IAL

BU
FFER

150'

ARTERIAL

BUFFER

150'ARTERIALBUFFER

EDMONDSON BRANCH

EDMONDSON BRANCH

153.4'

154.1'

153.4'

MICHAEL D. CULBRETH AND LYNETTECULBRETH

JOHN A. McARTHUR AND WIFE,
NORMA D. McARTHUR

NADIR MARDONOV

PAULA K. TAUBE

SUNSET ROAD
DEVELOPMENT, LLC

60
'

75'

50'

50'

OPEN SPACE 34

OPEN SPACE 34
OPEN SPACE 35

60
'

60
'

60'

60'

15
'

15'

15
'

15'

157'

SOUTH
ERNUP LL

C

FUTURE SPLIT LOG ROAD

REALIGNMENT

164'

101'

(5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

(50' R.O.W.)

(50' R.O.W.)

CURVE TABLE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\P

LA
N

 S
H

EE
TS

\E
AS

T\
03

37
 E

AS
T 

O
SR

D
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 4
:3

5 
PM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
AR

EE
D

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 4

:3
2 

PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\P

LA
N

 S
H

EE
TS

\E
AS

T\
03

37
 E

AS
T 

O
SR

D
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 4
:3

5 
PM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
AR

EE
D

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 4

:3
2 

PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

2
-
-
-
-

1

ENLARGED
SITE PLAN

4
21-0337

JFV

1"=100'

JANUARY 7, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

*

GENERAL NOTES 

LEGEND

*

SEE SHEET 5
MATCH LINE

04   28 2022



71
0

720

720

710 70
0

720 710 700

690

690

690

690

680

680

680

68
0 67

0

690

730

730

730

720 710

700

730 720

710 70073
0

740

74
0

73
0

73
0

740

74
0

740

740

730

720

710 700

730

73
0

730

73
0

680

690

67
0

670

67
0

67
0

68
0

67
0

670

67
0

670

72071
0

690 700

69
0

68
0

70
0

71
0

720 73
0

73
0

68
0 690 70
0

71
0

72
0

73
0

740

740

740

68
0 690

700 710 720

73
0

740

75
0

76
0

740

730

720

71
0

70
0

690680

680

69
0 700 710

720 730 740

680

680

680

690

690

690

680680

690

68
0

68
0

69
0

70
0

68
0

690

70
0

710

71
0

72
0

72
0

72
0

72
0

71
0

70
0

69
0

690

690

700700

700

700

70
0

700

710
710

71
0

720

720

720

720

710

710

71
0

710

71
0

71
0

71
0

72
0

720

720
720

72
0

720

720

720

720

730 730

730

730

730

730

73
0

730

730

73
0

730

730

740

740

740

740

740

75
0

750

750

760

179

180

181

182

183

184

185

186

187

188

189

198

199

200

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208
209

224

225

226

227
228

229

230

231

232

211
212

213
214

215216

217

218

219

220

221

222
223

210

OS
 28

OS
 30

OPEN SPACE 31

OS
 32

OS
 33

R
O

AD
 J

RO
AD

 J

ROAD J

R
O

AD
 J

ROAD O

ROAD N

ROAD N

R
O

AD
 P

WNA

W
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

WNA

W
NA

W
N

A

W
NA

W
N

A

W
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
NA

W
NA

W
NA

190

191

192

193

196

197

OPEN SPACE 26

OPEN SPACE 27

OPEN SPACE 34

OS
 38

194

195

OPEN SPACE 29

17

18

19

OPEN SPACE 5

N82°36'15"W   1167.82'

S0
6°

26
'0

1"
W

   
44

3.
50

'

S0
7°

33
'1

8"
W

   
27

8.
45

'

N71°32'38"W   314.20'

N80°00'42"W   532.03'

S06°30'27"E   977.34'

S79°44'16"E   1179.27'

S0
5°

57
'2

3"
W

   
20

3.
67

'

N2
0°

41
'2

7"
E 

  1
05

9.
44

'

N77°36'15"W   161.26' N79°45'24"W   256.67'

N1
0°

13
'2

8"
E 

  5
22

.0
5'

N28°31'37"W
62.19'

C1

N1
6°

39
'0

1"
E 

  2
85

.8
5'

100 YR

100 YR

100 YR

100 YR

100 YR

10
0 Y

R

100 YR

100 YR

100 YR

10
0 Y

R

10
0 Y

R

10
0 Y

R

100 YR

10
0 

YR

10
0 

YR

10
0 

YR

10
0 

YR

100 YR

100 YR
100 YR

10
0 

YR

100 YR

10
0 

YR

100 YR
100 YR

1005

1006

1014

BENINGTONSECTION 10

OPEN
SPACE 1

PAULA K. TAUBE

DANIEL R. VASTA AND VICTORIA
L. VASTA, HUSBAND AND WIFE

CLARK A. PRESLEY AND
TAMARA C. PRESLEY

ANNETTE THOMPSON PARKES

OPEN
SPACE 1

1004

1003

1002

1001

1809

1807

1806

2114

1805

2115

BENINGTON
SECTION 8

2207

2208

2209

2210

2211

BENINGTON 2
SECTION 1

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

BR
EN

TW
O

O
D

CITY OF BRENTWOODWILLIAMSON COUNTY

*

*

*

*

* *

*

*

*

*

SAM DONALD ROAD

WATERWAY
NATURAL

AREA

WATERWAY
NATURAL

AREA

WATERWAY
NATURAL

AREA

ED
M

O
N

D
SO

N
 BR

AN
C

H

TO
W

N
 O

F N
O

LEN
SVILLE

W
ILLIAM

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY

TO
W

N
 O

F N
O

LEN
SVILLE

W
ILLIAM

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
BR

EN
TW

O
O

D
TO

W
N

 O
F 

N
O

LE
N

SV
IL

LE

NADIR MARDONOV

ERIC S. SIMON AND WIFE,
 ANCA R. SIMON

JOE ANN W. GRIGGS, TRUSTEE

JOE ANN WILBURN GRIGGS

50
'

75'

55'

50
'

50'

50
'

50'

55'

55'

50'

60'

60'

60'

60'

60'
AVG.60'

OPEN SPACE 29

OPEN SPACE 34

15
'

15'

15
'

15
'

15'

15'

15
'

15'

15' 15'

15'

15' 15'

SOUTH
ERNUP LL

C

(50
' R

.O
.W

.)

50'

15
5'

15
0'

AR
TE

R
IA

L
BU

FF
ER

90
°0

'0"
'

125'

15
1'

(50' R.O.W.)

(5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

(50' R.O.W.)

(50' R.O.W.)

(5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

55'

90°0'0"'

90°0'0"'

186'

(5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

15
5'

15
0'

AR
TE

R
IA

L
BU

FF
ER20

'

*

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\P

LA
N

 S
H

EE
TS

\E
AS

T\
03

37
 E

AS
T 

O
SR

D
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 4
:5

5 
PM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
AR

EE
D

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 4

:4
0 

PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\P

LA
N

 S
H

EE
TS

\E
AS

T\
03

37
 E

AS
T 

O
SR

D
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 4
:5

5 
PM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
AR

EE
D

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 4

:4
0 

PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

2
-
-
-
-

1

ENLARGED
SITE PLAN

5
21-0337

JFV

1"=100'

JANUARY 7, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

*

GENERAL NOTES 

LEGEND

*

SEE SHEET 4
MATCH LINE

04   28 2022





7
8

14
15

16

17

18

19

20

21
22

23

1112

10

13

OPEN SPACE 1

12

13

14

9

24
3

4
5

6

1

2

OPEN SPACE 2

OPEN SPACE 3

OPEN SPACE 4

OPEN SPACE 5

11

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

ROSEBROOKE DRIVE

ROSEBROOKE DRIVE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

BR
IA

RM
ON

T 
PL

AC
E

EASTON DRIVE

HARTWICK COURT

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

OPEN SPACE 4

OPEN SPACE 6

OPEN SPACE 12

OPEN SPACE 8

OPEN SPACE 9

91011

59

60

66

67

68

69

70

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

98

99

100

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

111

112

113

114

115

116

117

118
119 120

121 122 123 124

OPEN SPACE 7

OS
17

109

110

108

 (50' ROW -

LOCAL STREET)

 (5
0' 

ROW
 -

LO
CAL S

TR
EET)

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

650

650

650

650

650

660

660

670

670

670

660

660

67
0

670

680

680

680

690
690

69
0

660680

670700

690710

720

700

71070
0

71
0

730

710

660

670680
680690

690

730

73
0

720

72
0

71
0

70
0

71
0

710

72
0

720 710 700

690 680

67
0

690

730 720

710 700740

74
0

730

73
0

680

690

67
0

67
0

670

67
0

69
0

68
0

70
0

71
0

720 73
0

73
0

740

740

68
0 690

700 710 720

73
0

76
0

740730

720

71
0

70
0

680

680

690

680

68
0

68
0

69070
0

710

72
0

700700

70
0

710710

720

720

710

710

71
0

71
0

720

72
0

720

730

730
730

730

73
0

730
740

740

740

75
0

750

34
35 36

37 38 39

43444849

50
51

69

70

71

42

40
41

52

53

54

55

56

68

1

31
32

33

45

46

47

67
72

73

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18
19

20

21
22

23
24

25

26

27

28

29

30

61

62

64

65

2

63

N82°36'15"W   1167.82'

S0
6°

26
'0

1"
W

   
44

3.
50

'

S0
7°

33
'1

8"
W

   
27

8.
45

'

N71°32'38"W   314.20'

N80°00'42"W   532.03'

S06°30'27"E   977.34'

S79°44'16"E   1179.27'

S0
5°

57
'2

3"
W

   
20

3.
67

'

N2
0°

41
'2

7"
E 

  1
05

9.
44

'

N77°36'15"W
161.26'

N79°45'24"W256.67'

S83°03'48"E   1261.68'

N
06

°1
1'

12
"E

   
70

2.
90

'

N72°18'48"W
257.60'

N1
6°

05
'1

2"
E 

  2
46

.8
6'

N1
2°

29
'5

0"
E 

  3
06

.6
3'

S0
6°

24
'0

3"
W

   
12

32
.6

8'
S0

6°
19

'0
7"

W
   

57
0.

11
'

N1
0°

13
'2

8"
E 

  5
22

.0
5'

N28°31'37"W
62.19'

C1

C2

C3
C4

N1
6°

39
'0

1"
E 

  2
85

.8
5'

1005

1006 1007 1008 1009 1010

1011101210131014

BENINGTONSECTION 10

1901
1902

PAULA K. TAUBE

SUNSET ROAD
DEVELOPMENT, LLC

PAULA K. TAUBE

DANIEL R. VASTA AND VICTORIA
L. VASTA, HUSBAND AND WIFE

CLARK A. PRESLEY AND
TAMARA C. PRESLEY

ANNETTE
THOMPSON

PARKES

1004

1003

1002

1001

1809

1808

1807

1806

2114

1805

2115

BENINGTON
SECTION 8

2207

2208

2209

2210

2211

BENINGTON 2
SECTION 1

MICHAEL D. CULBRETH AND LYNETTECULBRETH

JOHN A. McARTHUR AND WIFE,
NORMA D. McARTHUR

NADIR MARDONOV

ERIC S. SIMON AND WIFE,
 ANCA R. SIMON

JOE ANN W. GRIGGS, TRUSTEE

JOE ANN WILBURN GRIGGS

PAULA K. TAUBE

SUNSET ROAD
DEVELOPMENT, LLC

SOUTH
ERNUP LL

C

SAM DONALD ROAD

WATERWAY
NATURAL

AREA

W
AT

ER
W

AY
N

AT
U

R
AL

AR
EA

WATERWAY
NATURAL

AREA ED
M

O
N

D
SO

N
 BR

AN
C

H

EDMONDSON BRANCH

EDMONDSON BRANCH

57

58

59

60

66

74

10

*

WATERWAY
NATURAL

AREA

50'

AR
TER

IAL

BU
FFER

50'

ARTERIAL

BUFFER

150'

150'

150'

150'

150'

* * *

**

*

*

*

*
*
*
*

*
*
*
*
* *

*

*
*

*

*
*

*

**

*

*

FUTURE SPLIT LOG ROAD

REALIGNMENT

SPRINGW
OOD

    TRAIL

R
O

AD
J

ROAD O

ROAD N

ROAD N

R
O

AD
J

R
O

AD
J

LOT AREA TABLE

CURVE TABLE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-S
U

R
VE

Y\
LA

YO
U

T\
R

-2
 A

LT
ER

N
AT

E 
PL

AN
\E

AS
T 

R
-2

 L
AY

O
U

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 4
:3

9 
PM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
AR

EE
D

 O
N

: 3
/1

4/
20

22
 1

2:
50

 P
M

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-S
U

R
VE

Y\
LA

YO
U

T\
R

-2
 A

LT
ER

N
AT

E 
PL

AN
\E

AS
T 

R
-2

 L
AY

O
U

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 4
:3

9 
PM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
AR

EE
D

 O
N

: 3
/1

4/
20

22
 1

2:
50

 P
M

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

2
-
-
-
-

1

ALTERNATE R-2
SITE PLAN

6
21-0337

JFV

1"=200'

JANUARY 7, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
 

 
   

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

LEGEND

GENERAL NOTES AND SITE DATA 

TYPICAL LOT SETBACK LINES TYPICAL LOT EASEMENT LINES

*

04   28 2022



1/2022 4/2022

Total Site Area (AC) 122.16 122.16

Less R.O.W. dedication ‐‐ Split Log Road 3.99 3.99

Less R.O.W. dedication ‐‐ Sam Donald Road 0.00 0.56

Less R.O.W. dedication ‐‐ Internal streets 8.36 8.47

TOTAL 109.81 109.14

Less Areas in 25% Slopes 0.05 0.05

Plus 25% of slopes over 25% 0.01 0.01

Less Areas in Floodway 0.00 0.00

Plus 25% Areas in Floodways 0.00 0.00

Less Areas in Electrical Natural & Gas Easements 0.00 0.00

Plus 25% of Areas in Electrical Natural & Gas Easements 0.00 0.00

Total Usable Land Area (AC) 109.77 109.10

Less area in lots>1 acre 1.09 0.68

TOTAL LAND AREA AVAILABLE 108.68 108.42

Total Land Area Required @ 1 DUPA (AC) 74.00 74.00

Land Area in Lots 52.17 51.65

Open Space Required 21.83 22.35

Dedicated Open Space 57.63 57.48

EXCESS OPEN SPACE 35.80 35.13
AVERAGE LOT SIZE 0.71 0.70

ROSEBROOKE EAST OVERALL OSRD CALCULATIONS ‐‐ COMPARISON



176

177

178

179

232

233

234

235

236

237

175

238

245

246

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

ROAD J

WNA

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:5
5 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:4

2 
PM

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:5
5 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:4

2 
PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

2
-
-
-
-

-

LANDSCAPE PLAN

L1.0
21-0337

XXX

#"=##'

JANUARY 7, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
 

 
   

LANDSCAPE BUFFER "A" REQUIREMENT:

ROAD FRONTAGE (SPLIT LOG ROAD) 1646 L.F.
BUFFER WIDTH PROVIDED: 150

TREES REQUIRED (1646/100 X 45): 741

TREES PROVIDED:
EXISTING VEGETATION: 564 TREES
PROPOSED VEGETATION: 177 TREES

LANDSCAPE BUFFER "B" REQUIREMENT:

ROAD FRONTAGE (SPLIT LOG ROAD) 1830 L.F.
BUFFER WIDTH PROVIDED: 150

TREES REQUIRED (1830/100 X 45): 824

TREES PROVIDED:
EXISTING VEGETATION: 748 TREES
PROPOSED VEGETATION: 76

SPLIT LOG RD. (FUTURE)

BUFFER "A" & "B"

CONTEXT MAP

BUFFER "A"

BUFFER "B"

RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS:
CALIPERS REQUIRED (25 CAL PER AC) 122.16 X 25: 3,054"
CALIPERS PROVIDED: 65,751"
STREET TREES (206 X 3"): 618"
BUFFER TREES (260 X 2"): 520"
EXISTING VEGETATION TO REMAIN: 64,613"

TFischer
TLF SEAL - TENNESSEE

TFischer
Text Box
4/28/22



SAM DONALD ROAD

187

188

189

198

199

200

201

208

209

210

ROAD J

R
O

AD
 J

ROAD O

W
N

A

W
NA

W
NA

190

191

192

193

196

197

194

195

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

SAM DONALD ROAD

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

2
-
-
-
-

-

LANDSCAPE PLAN

L1.1
21-0337

XXX

#"=##'

JANUARY 7, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

LANDSCAPE BUFFER "C" REQUIREMENT:

ROAD FRONTAGE (SAM DONALD RD.) 1646 L.F.
BUFFER WIDTH PROVIDED: 150'

TREES REQUIRED (1226/100 X 45): 552

TREES PROVIDED:
EXISTING VEGETATION: 545 TREES
PROPOSED VEGETATION: 7 TREES

BUFFER "C"

CONTEXT MAP

RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS:
CALIPERS REQUIRED (25 CAL PER AC) 122.16 X 25: 3,054"
CALIPERS PROVIDED: 65,751"
STREET TREES (206 X 3"): 618"
BUFFER TREES (260 X 2"): 520"
EXISTING VEGETATION TO REMAIN: 64,613"

BUFFER "C"

TFischer
TLF SEAL - TENNESSEE

TFischer
Text Box
4/28/22



247

248

238

239

240

241

242

243

244

245

246

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

WNAW
NA

W
NA

WNA

W
NA

WNA

WNA

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

176

177

178

179

180

181

182

183

184

185

186

187

188
200

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208
209

224

225

226

227
228

229

230

231

232

233

234

235

236

237

211
212

215216

217

218

219

220

221

222
223

175

210

ROAD J

R
O

AD
 J

RO
AD

 J

ROAD N

ROAD N

R
O

AD
 P

WNA

W
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

WNA

W
NA

W
N

A

W
NA

W
N

A

W
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
NA

W
NA

W
NA

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:5
6 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:4

2 
PM

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:5
6 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:4

2 
PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

2
-
-
-
-

-

LANDSCAPE PLAN

L1.2
21-0337

XXX

#"=##'

JANUARY 7, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
 

 
   

SPLIT LOG RD. (FUTURE)

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:5
6 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:4

2 
PM

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:5
6 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:4

2 
PM

MATCHLINE

SPLIT LOG RD. (FUTURE)

PLANT TREES 2.5' MIN
FROM WATERLINE,

TYP.

PLANT TREES 2.5' MIN
FROM WATERLINE,

TYP.

TFischer
TLF SEAL - TENNESSEE

TFischer
Text Box
4/28/22



TYPICAL MULCH RING SIZING
CHART

CALIPER
MIN. ROOT

BALL
DIAMETER

MULCH RING
DIAMETER

1" 16" 4' MIN.
1.5" 20" 4-6' MIN.
2" 2'-0" 6' MIN.

2.5" 28" 6-8' MIN.
3" 32" 8' MIN.

3.5" 38" 8-10' MIN.
4" 42" 10' MIN.
5" 54" 12' MIN.
6" 60" 12-14' MIN.
7" 70" 16' MIN.
8" 80" 20' MIN.

SET ROOT BALL FLUSH TO FINISH GRADE (OR 2-3" HIGHER IN POORLY
DRAINING SOILS). TRUNK ROOT FLARE MUST BE VISIBLE AND/OR ABOVE
FINISH GRADE. DO NOT COVER THE TOP OF THE ROOT BALL WITH SOIL.

SCARIFY OUTER 12" PERIMETER BASE OF ROOT BALL PIT 6" TO
LOOSEN ALL HARDENED SOIL.

3" MULCH AS SPECIFIED (DO NOT INSTALL MULCH IN
CONTACT WITH THE TREE TRUNK).
DIG A WIDE & SHALLOW HOLE AND INSTALL PLANTING SOIL
MIX AS SPECIFIED.

TAMP SOIL SOLIDLY AROUND BASE OF ROOT BALL FIRMLY WITH
FOOT PRESSURE SO THAT ROOT BALL DOES NOT SHIFT. BACKFILL
WITH TOPSOIL IN 9" LAYERS. WATER EACH LAYER UNTIL SETTLED.
DO NOT TAMP AFTER WATER.

DO NOT PRUNE TREE AT PLANTING EXCEPT FOR SPECIFIC
STRUCTURAL CORRECTIONS (CROSS OVER LIMBS / CO-DOMINANT
LEADER / DEAD BRANCHES). DO NOT REMOVE THE TERMINAL BUDS
OF THE BRANCHES THAT EXTEND TO THE EDGE OF THE CROWN.

MARK THE NORTH SIDE OF THE TREE IN
THE NURSERY, AND ROTATE TREE TO FACE
NORTH AT THE SITE WHENEVER POSSIBLE.

REMOVE ALL TWINE, ROPE, WIRE, AND BURLAP FROM TOP 12
OF THE ROOT BALL.NOTES:

1.DO NOT STAKE TREES UNLESS APPROVED BY THE LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT. IF STAKED, REMOVE AFTER ONE GROWING SEASON.

2.DO NOT WRAP TREE TRUNKS UNLESS APPROVED BY THE
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT. REMOVE WRAP AFTER PLANTING.

3.NON-BIODEGRADABLE BURLAP TO BE REMOVED OR ROLLED UNDER
ROOT BALL AFTER PLANT IS PLACED IN HOLE.

FINISH GRADE

EXISTING SOIL

PLACE ROOT BALL ON UNEXCAVATED OR TAMPED SOIL

CENTRAL LEADER

TREE CALIPER
(SEE CHART)

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:5
6 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:4

2 
PM

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:5
6 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:4

2 
PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

2
-
-
-
-

-

LANDSCAPE NOTES,
SCHEDULES & DETAILS

L1.3
21-0337

XXX

#"=##'

JANUARY 7, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:5
6 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:4

2 
PM

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:5
6 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:4

2 
PM

 SEEDING NOTES:
1. SEED ALL DISTURBED AREAS WITH KY-31 AT THE RATE OF 5 POUNDS PER 1,000 S.F. ALL SEED TO BE 98% PURE WITH 85% GERMINATION AND CONFORM TO ALL STATE REQUIREMENTS

FOR GRASS SEED. THE FERTILIZER TO BE 6-12-12 COMMERCIAL TYPE WITH 50% OF ITS ELEMENTS DERIVED FROM ORGANIC SOURCES.
2. PLACE STRAW MULCH ON SEEDED AREAS. STRAW TO BE OATS OR WHEAT STRAW, FREE FROM WEEDS, FOREIGN MATTER DETRIMENTAL TO PLANT LIFE, AND DRY. HAY OR CHOPPED

CORNSTALKS ARE NOT ACCEPTABLE.
3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THAT THE PREPARED SOIL BASE IS READY TO RECEIVE WORK. CULTIVATE THE TOPSOIL TO A DEPTH OF 4 INCHES WITH A MECHANICAL TILLER AND

SUBSEQUENTLY RAKE UNTIL SMOOTH.  REMOVE FOREIGN MATERIALS COLLECTED DURING CULTIVATION AND RAKING OPERATIONS.
4. APPLY FERTILIZER ACCORDING TO THE MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS.  LIMESTONE MAY BE APPLIED WITH THE FERTILIZER. APPLY FERTILIZER AFTER SMOOTH RAKING AND

PRIOR TO ROLLER COMPACTION AND MIX THOROUGHLY IN THE UPPER 2 INCHES OF TOPSOIL.
5. APPLY SEED EVENLY IN TWO INTERSECTING DIRECTIONS AND RAKE IN LIGHTLY. WATER TOPSOIL LIGHTLY PRIOR TO APPLYING SEED. DO NOT SEED AREA IN EXCESS OF THAT WHICH

CAN BE MULCHED ON THE SAME DAY.
6. ROLL SEEDED AREA WITH ROLLER NOT EXCEEDING 112 POUNDS.
7. IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING SEEDING AND COMPACTING, APPLY STRAW MULCH AT THE RATE OF ONE AND ONE HALF BALES PER 1,000 SQUARE FEET.  IMMEDIATELY AFTER MULCHING,

APPLY WATER WITH A FINE SPRAY AND SATURATE THE GROUND TO A DEPTH OF 4 INCHES.
8. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR WATERING SEEDED AREAS TO PREVENT GRASS AND SOIL FROM DRYING OUT UNTIL THE INSTALLATION IS INSPECTED AND ACCEPTED BY THE

OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE.
9. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR RESEEDING BARE SPOTS FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF INSTALLATION.

PLANTING NOTES:
1. ANY SERIES OF TREES TO BE PLACED IN A PARTICULAR ARRANGEMENT WILL BE FIELD CHECKED FOR ACCURACY. ANY PLANTS MISARRANGED WILL BE RELOCATED.
2. SOIL USED IN BACKFILLING PLANTING PITS SHALL BE TOPSOIL AND MIXED WITH 25% PEAT BY VOLUME. EXCEPT FOR ERICACEOUS PLANTS, VERY ACID OR SOUR SOIL (SOIL HAVING A pH less than 6)  SHALL BE MIXED

WITH SUFFICIENT LIME TO PRODUCE A SLIGHTLY ACID REACTION (A pH of 6.0 to 6.5). ADD 10-10-10 COMMERCIAL FERTILIZER AT THE RATE OF 2 POUNDS PER CUBIC YARD. MIX BOTH FERTILIZER AND PEAT
THOROUGHLY BY HAND OR ROTARY TILLER.

3. SOIL USED IN BACKFILLING ERICACEOUS PLANTS SHALL BE TOPSOIL MIXED WITH 50% PEAT BY VOLUME. ADD 5-10-5 COMMERCIAL FERTILIZER AT THE RATE OF 5 POUNDS PER CUBIC YARD.  MIX BOTH FERTILIZER
AND PEAT THOROUGHLY BY HAND OR ROTARY TILLER.

4. UPON SECURING PLANT MATERIAL AND BEFORE INSTALLATION, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OR OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE FOR A PRE-INSTALLATION INSPECTION TO VERIFY
ALL PLANT MATERIAL MEETS SPECIFICATION. MATCH TREES OF SAME SPECIES IN GROWTH CHARACTER AND UNIFORMITY.

5. APPLY HERBICIDE (TREFLAN OR EQUIVALENT) TO ALL PLANT BEDS PRIOR TO PLANTING FOR NOXIOUS WEED CONTROL AT A RATE OF 2 POUNDS PER 1,000 SQUARE FEET.
6. CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT A 10 OUNCE SAMPLE OF THE TOPSOIL PROPOSED TO A TESTING LABORATORY FOR ANALYSIS. SUBMIT TEST RESULTS WITH RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SUITABILITY TO THE OWNER'S

REPRESENTATIVE FOR APPROVAL.
7. PLANTS SHALL BE ORIENTED FOR BEST APPEARANCE AND VERTICAL. ALL NON-BIODEGRADABLE ROOT CONTAINERS SHALL BE REMOVED.
8. SELECTIVELY TRIM TREE BRANCHES BY 25%, MAINTAINING NATURAL SHAPE.  PRUNE ALL DEAD AND BROKEN BRANCHES IN TREES AND SHRUBS. REMOVE TAGS, TWINE OR OTHER NON-BIODEGRADABLE MATERIAL.
9. SCARIFY SUBSOIL IN PLANTING BEDS TO A DEPTH OF 3 INCHES. ALL PLANTING BEDS SHALL RECEIVE A MINIMUM OF 6 INCHES OF TOPSOIL.
10. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE SMOOTH, NEATLY TRENCHED (3 INCH DEEP) BED EDGES.
11. ALL PLANTING BEDS TO HAVE A MINIMUM 4 INCH DEEP PINE BARK MULCH, PINE STRAW MULCH OR OTHER MULCH AS SPECIFIED.
12. DIMENSIONS FOR TRUNK CALIPER, HEIGHTS, AND SPREAD SPECIFIED ON THE MATERIAL SCHEDULE ARE A GENERAL GUIDE FOR THE MINIMUM REQUIRED SIZE OF EACH PLANT. QUALITY AND SIZE OF PLANTS,

SPREAD OF ROOTS AND SIZE OF BALLS SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH A.N.S.I. Z80 “AMERICAN STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK” (CURRENT EDITION) AS PUBLISHED BY THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF
NURSERYMEN, INC.

13. THE QUANTITIES INDICATED ON THE MATERIAL SCHEDULE ARE PROVIDED FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE CONTRACTOR, BUT SHOULD NOT BE ASSUMED TO ALWAYS BE CORRECT. IN THE EVENT OF A DISCREPANCY,
THE PLANTING PLAN (PLANT SYMBOLS) WILL TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER THE MATERIAL SCHEDULE. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR HIS/HER OWN QUANTITY CALCULATIONS AND THE LIABILITY
PERTAINING TO THOSE QUANTITIES AND ANY RELATED CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND/OR PRICE QUOTATIONS.

14. CONTRACTOR TO WARRANTY ALL MATERIAL FOR ONE YEAR AFTER DATE OF FINAL ACCEPTANCE.

TREE PROTECTION DETAIL

NOTES:
1. TREE PROTECTION TO BE INSTALLED AT A

MINIMUM DISTANCE OF ONE AND A HALF TIMES
THE RADIUS OF THE DRIP LINE.

2. ALL TREE PROTECTION FENCING SHALL BE IN
PLACE PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF A GRADING
PERMIT.

1.5X DRIP LINE

PLANT SCHEDULE OSRD LANDSCAPE

TFischer
TLF SEAL - TENNESSEE

TFischer
Text Box
4/28/22



176

177

178

179

180

181

182

183

184

185

186

187

188

189

198

199

200

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208 209

224

225

226
227228

229

230

231

232

233

234

235

236

237

247

248

211 212 213
214

215216

217

218
219

220

221

222223

175

238

239
240

241

242

243

244

245

246

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

210

ROAD J

R
O

AD
 J

RO
AD

 J

ROAD J

R
O

AD
 J

ROAD O

ROAD N

ROAD N

R
O

AD
 P

WNA

W
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

WNA

W
NA

W
N

A

W
NA

W
N

AW
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
NA

W
NA W

NA

WNAW
NA

W
NA

WNA

W
NA

WNA

WNA

190

191

192

193

196

197

194

195

SAM DONALD ROAD

LEGEND

TREES TO REMAIN

TREES TO REMOVE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
2 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
2 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

TREE
PRESERVATION
SHEET KEY

L2.0
21-0337

T. FISCHER

1"=100'

JANUARY 7, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

LANDSCAPE SITE DATA

PROPERTY INFORMATION:
STREET ADDRESS: 9829 SPLIT LOG ROAD/ 9810 SAM DONALD ROAD
SITE ACREAGE: 122.16 AC

OWNER/DEVELOPER:
ROB PEASE
CPS LAND, LLC
213 OVERLOOK CT.
BRENTWOOD, TN 37027
�615� 376-5177
ROB.PEASE#CPSLAND.COM

PROJECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
TYLOR FISCHER, PLA
RAGAN-SMITH ASSOCIATES, INC.
315 WOODLAND STREET
NASHVILLE, TN 37206
�615� 244-8591
TFISCHER#RAGANSMITH.COM

RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS:
CALIPERS RE4UIRED �25 CAL PER AC� 122.16 ; 25: 3,054"
CALIPERS PROVIDED: 65,751"
STREET TREES �206 ; 3"�: 618"
BUFFER TREES �260 ; 2"�: 520"
EISTING VEGETATION TO REMAIN:ᴀ 64,613"

SPLIT LOG RD. �FUTURE�

REFER TO TREE PRESERVATION REPORT FOR SI=E AND SPECIES OF TREES TO
BE REMOVED AND TREES TO REMAIN.

SHEET L2.1

SHEET L2.2

SHEET L2.3

SHEET L2.5

SHEET L2.4

TFischer
TLF SEAL - TENNESSEE

TFischer
Text Box
4/28/22



SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

247

248

238

239

240

241

242

243

244

245

246

WNA

W
NA

W
NA WNA

W
NA

WNA

WNA

LEGEND

TREES TO REMAIN

TREES TO REMOVE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
2 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
2 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

TREE PRESERVATION
PLAN

L2.1
21-0337

T. FISCHER

1"=50'

MARCH 14, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
 

 
   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmithREFER TO TREE PRESERVATION REPORT FOR SI=E AND SPECIES OF TREES TO
BE REMOVED AND TREES TO REMAIN.

ASSUMED SPLIT LOG
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE

SEE SHEET L2.2

TFischer
TLF SEAL - TENNESSEE

TFischer
Text Box
4/28/22



SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

176

177

178

179

180

231

232

233

234

235

236

237

175

LEGEND

TREES TO REMAIN

TREES TO REMOVE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
3 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
3 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

TREE PRESERVATION
PLAN

L2.2
21-0337

T. FISCHER

1"=50'

MARCH 14, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
 

 
   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmithREFER TO TREE PRESERVATION REPORT FOR SI=E AND SPECIES OF TREES TO
BE REMOVED AND TREES TO REMAIN.

ASSUMED SPLIT LOG
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE

SEE SHEET L2.1

SEE SHEET L2.3

TFischer
TLF SEAL - TENNESSEE

TFischer
Text Box
4/28/22



180

181

182

183

184

185

186

187

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208

209

224

225

226

227

228

229

230

231

WNA

W
NA

WNA

W
NA

W
N

A

W
NA

W
NA

W
NA

W
NA

LEGEND

TREES TO REMAIN

TREES TO REMOVE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
3 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
3 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

TREE PRESERVATION
PLAN

L2.3
21-0337

T. FISCHER

1"=50'

MARCH 14, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
 

 
   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmithREFER TO TREE PRESERVATION REPORT FOR SI=E AND SPECIES OF TREES TO
BE REMOVED AND TREES TO REMAIN.

SEE SHEET L2.5

SEE SHEET L2.2

SE
E 

SH
EE

T 
L2

.4

TFischer
TLF SEAL - TENNESSEE

TFischer
Text Box
4/28/22



211

212

213

214

215216

217

218

219

220

221

222

223

210

W
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
NA

W
N

A

W
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

LEGEND

TREES TO REMAIN

TREES TO REMOVE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
4 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
4 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

TREE PRESERVATION
PLAN

L2.4
21-0337

T. FISCHER

1"=50'

MARCH 14, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
 

 
   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmithREFER TO TREE PRESERVATION REPORT FOR SI=E AND
SPECIES OF TREES TO BE REMOVED AND TREES TO
REMAIN.

SE
E 

SH
EE

T 
L2

.3

SEE SHEET L2.3

TFischer
TLF SEAL - TENNESSEE

TFischer
Text Box
4/28/22



188

189

198

199

200

190

191

192

193

196

197

194

195

SAM DONALD ROAD

LEGEND

TREES TO REMAIN

TREES TO REMOVE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
4 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
TR

EE
 P

R
ES

ER
VA

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

 E
AS

T.
D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

TY
LO

R
 F

IS
C

H
ER

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 2

:4
4 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

TF
IS

C
H

ER
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 2
:3

0 
PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

TREE PRESERVATION
PLAN

L2.5
21-0337

T. FISCHER

1"=50'

MARCH 14, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
 

 
   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmithREFER TO TREE PRESERVATION REPORT FOR SI=E AND SPECIES OF TREES TO
BE REMOVED AND TREES TO REMAIN.

SEE SHEET L2.3

TFischer
TLF SEAL - TENNESSEE

TFischer
Text Box
4/28/22



# CALIPER IN.

1 13 BURR OAK

2 11 SHAGBARK HICKORY

3 13 CEDAR

4 12 ASH

5 14 ASH

6 13 CEDAR

7 13 CEDAR

8 5 ELM

9 8 ASH

10 9 ELM

11 9 ELM

12 11 ASH

13 10 ASH

14 14 SHUMARD OAK

15 7 ASH

16 12 HICKORY

17 12 HICKORY

18 11 SHUMARD OAK

19 24 SHUMARD OAK

20 10 SHAGBARK HICKORY

21 20 SHAGBARK HICKORY

22 13 ASH

23 18 ASH

24 16 SHUMARD OAK

25 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

26 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

27 15 SHUMARD OAK

28 8 CEDAR

29 10 SHUMARD OAK

30 7 ASH

31 6 ASH

32 5 CEDAR

33 5 HACKBERRY

34 19 CHINQUAPIN OAK

35 12 CEDAR

36 10 ASH

37 9 ASH

38 8 CEDAR

39 15 SHUMARD OAK

40 7 CEDAR

41 5 CEDAR

42 5 CEDAR

43 9 CEDAR

44 8 CEDAR

45 12 CEDAR

46 11 CEDAR

47 9 ELM

48 6 ELM

49 6 ASH

50 13 SHUMARD OAK

178 21 SHUMARD OAK

179 8 SHUMARD OAK

180 12 CEDAR

181 7 ELM

182 9 ELM

183 7 ELM

184 10 CEDAR

185 14 CEDAR

186 4 CEDAR

187 4 CEDAR

188 4 CEDAR

189 4 CEDAR

190 4 CEDAR

191 4 CEDAR

197 5 CEDAR

198 8 CEDAR

199 12 HACKBERRY

395 14 ASH

396 21 CHINQUAPIN OAK

397 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

398 17 BLACK WALNUT

402 24 CHINQUAPIN OAK

403 20 SUGAR MAPLE

404 23 SHUMARD OAK

405 29 SHUMARD OAK

412 31 RED OAK

413 15 CEDAR

414 10 ELM

415 12 ASH

416 6 ELM

417 16 ELM

418 5 ELM

419 13 ASH

420 9 ASH

421 15 HICKORY

422 9 CEDAR

423 8 ELM

424 5 ELM

425 7 ELM

426 8 WHITE OAK

427 18 RED OAK

428 9 WHITE OAK

TYPE

EAST‐ REMAINING TREES REPORT



429 15 HICKORY

430 4 HICKORY

431 5 ELM

432 6 CEDAR

433 5 SUGAR MAPLE

434 6 CEDAR

435 6 CEDAR

436 9 CEDAR

437 5 CEDAR

438 6 CEDAR

439 8 CEDAR

440 7 CEDAR

441 12 ASH

442 4 CEDAR

443 7 CEDAR

444 5 CEDAR

445 8 CEDAR

446 7 CEDAR

447 5 CEDAR

448 4 CEDAR

449 7 ASH

450 8 WHITE OAK

451 14 ASH

452 4 HACKBERRY

453 6 HICKORY

454 7 CEDAR

455 5 HACKBERRY

456 7 HACKBERRY

457 5 CEDAR

458 11 RED OAK

459 9 WHITE OAK

460 7 ASH

461 4 WHITE OAK

462 12 RED OAK

463 11 RED OAK

464 11 RED OAK

465 13 WHITE OAK

466 7 RED OAK

467 6 ELM

468 10 ASH

469 5 ELM

470 8 CEDAR

471 6 WHITE OAK

472 8 CEDAR

473 7 CEDAR

474 13 CEDAR

475 8 CEDAR

476 9 HACKBERRY

638 6 CEDAR

639 9 HICKORY

640 17 ASH

641 15 ELM

642 5 CEDAR

643 11 ASH

644 21 HICKORY

645 7 CEDAR

646 16 RED OAK

647 6 HICKORY

648 12 RED OAK

649 9 CEDAR

650 12 CEDAR

651 9 HACKBERRY

652 8 HACKBERRY

653 6 HACKBERRY

654 8 CEDAR

655 18 CEDAR

656 21 CEDAR

657 7 ELM

658 4 ASH

659 6 ELM

660 10 ASH

661 22 CEDAR

662 6 ELM

663 6 ASH

664 6 CEDAR

665 6 ELM

666 16 CEDAR

667 5 ELM

668 4 PERSIMMON

669 13 CEDAR

670 4 HACKBERRY

671 8 ELM

689 10 CEDAR

690 13 HACKBERRY

691 11 CEDAR

692 5 HACKBERRY

907 17 HICKORY

908 16 ELM

909 7 CEDAR

910 12 ASH

911 13 ASH

912 10 ASH

913 11 ASH

914 7 ASH



915 8 WHITE OAK

916 5 HACKBERRY

917 17 RED OAK

918 10 CEDAR

919 8 CEDAR

920 15 RED OAK

921 7 CEDAR

922 18 HICKORY

923 6 CEDAR

924 8 CEDAR

925 9 CEDAR

926 10 ELM

927 12 ELM

928 9 ELM

929 7 CEDAR

930 4 ASH

931 9 ASH

932 9 ASH

933 12 ASH

934 9 CEDAR

935 8 CEDAR

936 12 ASH

937 12 CEDAR

938 8 CEDAR

939 14 ASH

940 8 ASH

941 6 ASH

942 15 ASH

943 12 HICKORY

944 14 HICKORY

945 14 HICKORY

946 9 HICKORY

947 9 ASH

996 8 HICKORY

997 10 CEDAR

998 10 ELM

999 8 ASH

1000 12 ASH

1001 14 ASH

1002 5 ASH

1003 14 ASH

1004 4 HICKORY

1005 17 ELM

1006 4 ASH

1007 11 CEDAR

1008 10 CEDAR

1009 16 RED OAK

1010 8 WHITE OAK

1011 14 HICKORY

1012 5 ASH

1013 14 ASH

1014 9 CEDAR

1015 8 WHITE OAK

1016 12 ASH

1017 11 CEDAR

1018 9 WHITE OAK

1019 4 ASH

1020 6 CEDAR

1021 8 CEDAR

1022 10 HICKORY

1023 13 CEDAR

1024 21 HICKORY

1025 11 CEDAR

1026 16 RED OAK

1027 4 ASH

1028 5 ELM

1029 5 RED OAK

1030 14 ASH

1031 16 CEDAR

1032 12 CEDAR

1033 26 RED OAK

1034 14 CEDAR

1035 18 CEDAR

1036 23 CEDAR

1037 18 CEDAR

1038 35 RED OAK

1039 35 RED OAK

1152 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1165 6 ASH

1166 9 RED OAK

1167 7 CEDAR

1168 6 CEDAR

1169 6 POST OAK

1170 19 POST OAK

1171 10 ELM

1172 4 OSTRAYA

1173 15 POST OAK

1174 5 ASH

1175 5 CEDAR

1176 12 ASH

1177 12 RED OAK

1178 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1179 7 CEDAR

1180 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK



1182 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1183 6 CEDAR

1184 7 CEDAR

1185 9 ASH

1186 7 CEDAR

1187 12 ASH

1188 4 OSTRAYA

1189 9 ASH

1190 6 SHAGBARK HICKORY

1191 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1192 12 ASH

1196 7 ELM

1197 23 ASH

1198 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1199 5 CEDAR

1200 4 ASH

1201 5 CEDAR

1202 5 ASH

1203 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1204 12 RED OAK

1205 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1206 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1207 8 HICKORY

1208 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1209 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1210 5 HACKBERRY

1211 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1212 5 CEDAR

1213 4 HICKORY

1214 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1215 20 RED OAK

1216 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1217 6 ASH

1218 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1219 6 ELM

1223 9 CEDAR

1224 7 CEDAR

1225 12 CEDAR

1226 8 CEDAR

1227 8 SHAGBARK HICKORY

1228 11 CEDAR

1229 4 PERSIMMON

1230 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1231 10 CEDAR

1232 9 CEDAR

1233 10 CEDAR

1234 11 BLACK WALNUT

1235 6 CEDAR

1236 11 ELM

1237 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1238 9 CEDAR

1239 9 HICKORY

1240 13 ASH

1241 9 ASH

1242 5 RED OAK

1243 8 ELM

1244 5 ASH

1318 10 ASH

1319 25 RED OAK

1320 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1321 4 ASH

1322 4 OSTRAYA

1323 16 RED OAK

1324 4 CEDAR

1325 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1326 17 BLACK WALNUT

1327 10 ASH

1328 12 CEDAR

1415 14 ASH

1416 14 ASH

1417 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1418 28 RED OAK

1419 9 ELM

1420 13 ELM

1421 4 ASH

1422 13 ASH

1423 6 SUGAR MAPLE

1424 11 ASH

1425 5 RED OAK

1426 14 ASH

1427 24 RED OAK

1428 21 ASH

1509 4 OSAGE ORANGE

1510 13 ASH

1511 9 BLACK WALNUT

1512 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1513 4 CEDAR

1514 10 ELM

1515 6 CEDAR

1516 5 ELM

1517 8 CEDAR

1518 12 CEDAR

1519 11 ASH

1520 11 ELM



1521 12 SHAGBARK HICKORY

1522 7 ELM

1557 5 CEDAR

1574 4 CEDAR

1575 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1576 20 RED OAK

1577 13 ASH

1578 7 RED OAK

1579 4 RED OAK

1580 5 RED OAK

1581 15 RED OAK

1582 28 RED OAK

1583 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1584 13 RED OAK

1585 6 ELM

1586 7 ELM

1587 13 ASH

1588 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1589 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1590 8 ASH

1591 5 ASH

1592 11 ASH

1593 6 ASH

1594 5 OSTRAYA

1595 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1596 8 CEDAR

1597 22 RED OAK

1598 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1599 5 RED OAK

1600 29 RED OAK

1601 24 RED OAK

1602 19 RED OAK

1603 15 RED OAK

1604 7 SUGAR MAPLE

1605 8 SUGAR MAPLE

1606 20 RED OAK

1607 17 RED OAK

1608 19 RED OAK

1609 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1610 4 CEDAR

1611 16 RED OAK

1612 10 RED OAK

1613 10 RED OAK

1614 16 RED OAK

1615 19 RED OAK

1616 7 ELM

1617 9 CEDAR

1618 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1619 25 RED OAK

1620 9 RED OAK

1621 5 RED OAK

1622 4 OSTRAYA

1623 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1624 15 RED OAK

1625 13 ASH

1626 9 CEDAR

1627 9 CEDAR

1628 13 ELM

1629 4 CEDAR

1630 9 ELM

1631 5 ELM

1632 4 HICKORY

1633 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1634 8 ELM

1635 4 HACKBERRY

1636 6 CEDAR

1637 6 CEDAR

1638 6 CEDAR

1639 8 CEDAR

1640 7 CEDAR

1641 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1642 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1643 10 CEDAR

1644 9 ELM

1645 15 CEDAR

1646 4 CEDAR

1647 10 CEDAR

1648 9 CEDAR

1649 14 CEDAR

1650 6 ELM

1651 4 CEDAR

1652 4 REDBUD

1653 7 CEDAR

1654 4 HACKBERRY

1655 6 CEDAR

1656 7 ELM

1657 9 CEDAR

1658 4 HACKBERRY

1659 4 ELM

1660 7 CEDAR

1661 7 ELM

1662 9 CEDAR

1663 9 CEDAR

1664 17 CEDAR



1665 5 HACKBERRY

1666 7 HACKBERRY

1667 7 HACKBERRY

1668 18 CEDAR

1669 12 HACKBERRY

1670 8 ASH

1671 14 CEDAR

1672 16 CEDAR

1673 8 CEDAR

1674 9 ELM

1675 8 CEDAR

1676 10 CEDAR

1677 18 CEDAR

1678 9 HACKBERRY

1679 12 CEDAR

1680 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1681 7 ELM

1682 4 ELM

1683 9 PERSIMMON

1684 6 CEDAR

1685 7 CEDAR

1686 10 CEDAR

1687 5 CEDAR

1688 6 PERSIMMON

1689 4 OSAGE ORANGE

1690 6 ELM

1691 5 ELM

1692 10 CEDAR

1693 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1694 13 CEDAR

1695 12 BLACK WALNUT

1696 10 CEDAR

1697 10 HACKBERRY

1698 13 CEDAR

1699 9 ASH

1700 12 HACKBERRY

1701 4 CEDAR

1702 7 CEDAR

1703 7 HACKBERRY

1704 16 CEDAR

1705 4 ELM

1706 12 CEDAR

1707 10 OSAGE ORANGE

1708 6 OSAGE ORANGE

1709 4 CEDAR

1710 5 ELM

1711 4 CEDAR

1712 4 CEDAR

1713 4 CEDAR

1714 6 CEDAR

1715 4 PERSIMMON

1716 7 CEDAR

1717 8 CEDAR

1718 4 REDBUD

1719 4 CEDAR

1720 4 CEDAR

1721 8 HONEY LOCUST

1722 5 CEDAR

1723 4 ELM

1724 5 CEDAR

1725 6 ELM

1726 4 ELM

1727 5 ELM

1728 4 ELM

1729 6 ELM

1730 4 ELM

1731 5 ELM

1732 6 PERSIMMON

1733 7 CEDAR

1734 7 CEDAR

1735 6 CEDAR

1736 6 ELM

1737 5 CEDAR

1738 5 REDBUD

1739 5 CEDAR

1740 9 CEDAR

1741 4 HACKBERRY

1742 4 ELM

1743 4 REDBUD

1744 4 OSAGE ORANGE

1745 5 OSAGE ORANGE

1746 4 CEDAR

1747 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1748 11 CEDAR

1749 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1750 10 ELM

1751 15 CEDAR

1752 6 ELM

1753 6 CEDAR

1754 12 ASH

1755 6 ELM

1756 11 ELM

1757 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1758 24 RED OAK



1759 4 ELM

1760 9 ASH

1761 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1762 6 CEDAR

1763 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1764 21 RED OAK

1765 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1766 15 RED OAK

1767 5 RED OAK

1768 21 RED OAK

1769 10 RED OAK

1770 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1771 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1772 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1773 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1774 6 SUGAR MAPLE

1775 11 SUGAR MAPLE

1776 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1777 5 ASH

1778 7 ASH

1779 10 ELM

1780 5 HACKBERRY

1781 4 CEDAR

1782 6 ELM

1783 9 ASH

1784 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1785 4 ELM

1786 13 ASH

1787 19 RED OAK

1788 8 ASH

1789 4 CEDAR

1790 7 CEDAR

1791 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1792 10 ASH

1793 5 ELM

1794 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1795 12 ASH

1796 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1797 13 ASH

1798 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1799 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1800 7 SUGAR MAPLE

1801 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1802 24 RED OAK

1803 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1804 11 RED OAK

1805 21 RED OAK

1806 9 ELM

1807 18 RED OAK

1808 12 ASH

1809 4 OSTRAYA

1810 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1811 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1812 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1813 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1814 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1815 8 RED OAK

1816 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1817 11 RED OAK

1818 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1819 15 ASH

1820 12 ELM

1821 14 ELM

1822 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1823 17 ASH

1824 10 CEDAR

1825 4 CEDAR

1826 12 ASH

1827 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1828 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1829 5 ASH

1830 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1831 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1832 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1833 6 ELM

1834 4 OSTRAYA

1835 15 ASH

1836 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1837 6 ASH

1838 7 ELM

1839 14 ASH

1840 8 SUGAR MAPLE

1841 4 ASH

1842 12 ASH

1843 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1844 12 ASH

1845 5 CEDAR

1846 16 RED OAK

1847 25 ASH

1848 6 CEDAR

1849 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1850 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1851 10 ASH

1852 18 ASH



1853 4 RED OAK

1854 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1855 5 ELM

1856 12 ASH

1857 16 ASH

1858 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1859 14 ASH

1860 8 CEDAR

1861 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1862 11 ASH

1863 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1864 14 ASH

1865 6 RED OAK

1866 8 ASH

1867 6 CEDAR

1868 9 ELM

1869 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1870 13 ASH

1871 7 RED OAK

1872 4 SUGAR MAPLE

1873 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1874 4 ELM

1875 6 CEDAR

1876 9 SUGAR MAPLE

1877 5 SUGAR MAPLE

1878 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1879 17 ASH

1880 7 RED OAK

1881 5 HACKBERRY

1882 13 SUGAR MAPLE

1883 16 RED OAK

1884 11 CEDAR

1885 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1886 4 HACKBERRY

1887 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1888 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1889 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1890 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1891 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1892 7 CEDAR

1893 7 ASH

1894 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1895 11 SUGAR MAPLE

1896 16 RED OAK

1897 24 RED OAK

1898 18 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1899 19 WHITE OAK

1900 8 SUGAR MAPLE

1901 8 SUGAR MAPLE

1902 15 ASH

1903 6 SUGAR MAPLE

1904 17 ELM

1905 7 SUGAR MAPLE

1906 10 ASH

1907 6 ELM

1908 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1909 9 ELM

1910 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1911 10 RED OAK

1912 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1913 14 ASH

1914 17 ASH

1915 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1916 9 SUGAR MAPLE

1917 17 ASH

1918 12 ASH

1919 6 SUGAR MAPLE

1920 6 SUGAR MAPLE

1921 4 SUGAR MAPLE

1922 5 SUGAR MAPLE

1923 13 ASH

1924 17 ASH

1925 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1926 5 SUGAR MAPLE

1927 16 ASH

1928 4 SUGAR MAPLE

1929 4 OSTRAYA

1930 18 ASH

1931 20 ASH

1932 8 ASH

1933 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1934 12 ASH

1935 5 ELM

1936 5 CEDAR

1937 6 ASH

1938 8 ASH

1939 4 ASH

1940 16 ASH

1941 10 ASH

1942 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1943 12 ASH

1944 14 ASH

1945 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1946 14 ASH



1947 11 ASH

1948 7 CEDAR

1949 12 ELM

1950 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1951 8 BLACK WALNUT

1952 10 ELM

1953 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1954 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1955 5 HACKBERRY

1956 6 ASH

1957 5 ELM

1958 21 ASH

1959 21 ASH

1960 15 ASH

1961 4 RED OAK

1962 7 CEDAR

1963 4 ASH

1964 6 ASH

1965 13 ASH

1966 13 ASH

1967 12 ASH

1968 6 ASH

1969 11 ASH

1970 8 ASH

1971 6 ASH

1972 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1973 14 ASH

1974 21 ASH

1975 18 ASH

1976 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1977 20 RED OAK

1978 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1979 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1980 16 RED OAK

1981 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1982 8 ASH

1983 7 ELM

1984 26 RED OAK

1985 4 CEDAR

1986 4 CEDAR

1987 14 RED OAK

1988 9 CEDAR

1989 17 ASH

1990 11 RED OAK

1991 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

1992 20 RED OAK

1993 10 ELM

1994 4 CEDAR

1995 22 RED OAK

1996 4 CEDAR

1997 13 ASH

1998 6 ASH

1999 7 ASH

2000 9 ASH

2001 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2002 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2003 20 RED OAK

2004 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2005 6 CEDAR

2006 7 CEDAR

2007 9 CEDAR

2008 6 CEDAR

2009 6 CEDAR

2010 5 ASH

2011 6 CEDAR

2012 20 ASH

2013 7 ASH

2014 7 ASH

2015 8 ASH

2016 21 RED OAK

2017 14 ASH

2018 4 HACKBERRY

2019 8 CEDAR

2020 8 ASH

2021 8 CEDAR

2022 7 ASH

2023 11 ASH

2024 9 CEDAR

2025 4 OSAGE ORANGE

2026 6 ELM

2027 22 RED OAK

2028 12 SUGAR MAPLE

2029 4 HACKBERRY

2030 21 ASH

2031 4 CEDAR

2032 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2033 9 RED OAK

2034 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2035 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2036 4 CEDAR

2037 10 RED OAK

2038 14 RED OAK

2039 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2040 8 ASH



2041 11 ASH

2042 4 ELM

2043 17 ASH

2044 10 CEDAR

2045 5 HACKBERRY

2046 10 CEDAR

2047 16 CEDAR

2048 6 ELM

2049 7 ELM

2050 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2051 6 ELM

2052 4 CEDAR

2053 4 REDBUD

2054 6 CEDAR

2055 4 CEDAR

2056 11 CEDAR

2057 7 CEDAR

2058 5 ELM

2059 12 ELM

2060 5 RED OAK

2061 6 ELM

2062 4 OSTRAYA

2063 4 CEDAR

2064 7 RED OAK

2065 8 CEDAR

2066 11 ELM

2067 10 CEDAR

2068 5 ELM

2069 6 CEDAR

2070 6 CEDAR

2071 5 ELM

2072 10 CEDAR

2073 21 ASH

2074 9 CEDAR

2075 20 RED OAK

2076 4 ELM

2077 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2078 7 CEDAR

2079 12 RED OAK

2080 4 ELM

2081 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2082 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2083 12 RED OAK

2084 6 CEDAR

2085 14 ASH

2086 9 CEDAR

2087 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2088 7 ELM

2089 5 ELM

2090 7 ELM

2091 4 ELM

2092 5 ELM

2093 9 ELM

2094 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2095 12 CEDAR

2096 6 CEDAR

2097 12 ASH

2098 12 ASH

2099 15 ASH

2100 5 CEDAR

2101 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2102 5 CEDAR

2103 14 ASH

2104 6 ELM

2105 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2106 9 CEDAR

2107 6 ASH

2108 8 CEDAR

2109 5 CEDAR

2110 11 ASH

2111 8 CEDAR

2112 10 ASH

2113 11 ASH

2114 7 CEDAR

2115 5 CEDAR

2116 4 CEDAR

2117 4 ASH

2118 9 CEDAR

2119 9 CEDAR

2120 8 ASH

2121 10 CEDAR

2122 8 CEDAR

2123 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2124 4 RED OAK

2125 10 CEDAR

2126 6 RED OAK

2127 11 RED OAK

2128 4 SUGAR MAPLE

2129 12 ASH

2130 8 RED OAK

2131 10 CEDAR

2132 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2133 13 RED OAK

2134 7 ASH



2135 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2136 11 RED OAK

2137 11 RED OAK

2138 4 ASH

2139 21 RED OAK

2140 26 ASH

2141 9 RED OAK

2142 5 CEDAR

2143 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2144 8 ASH

2145 8 CEDAR

2146 11 RED OAK

2147 7 ASH

2148 21 RED OAK

2149 4 CEDAR

2150 6 HACKBERRY

2151 14 ASH

2152 4 ELM

2153 4 ASH

2154 5 CEDAR

2155 4 HACKBERRY

2156 9 ASH

2157 9 ASH

2158 8 CEDAR

2159 6 CEDAR

2160 10 ASH

2161 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2162 14 ASH

2163 6 CEDAR

2164 4 ELM

2165 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2166 4 ELM

2167 15 RED OAK

2168 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2169 4 ELM

2170 6 HACKBERRY

2171 9 HACKBERRY

2172 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2173 19 ASH

2174 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2175 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2176 12 SUGAR MAPLE

2177 17 RED OAK

2178 28 RED OAK

2179 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2180 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2181 14 ASH

2182 23 RED OAK

2183 8 ASH

2184 7 CEDAR

2185 15 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2186 18 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2187 7 RED OAK

2188 4 ELM

2189 9 ELM

2190 10 ASH

2191 10 ASH

2192 6 CEDAR

2193 21 ASH

2194 4 CEDAR

2195 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2196 7 ASH

2197 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2198 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2199 4 RED OAK

2200 12 ASH

2201 11 ASH

2202 6 OSTRAYA

2203 11 CEDAR

2212 13 ELM

2213 8 ASH

2214 10 ASH

2216 6 RED OAK

2217 5 ELM

2218 4 HACKBERRY

2219 7 SUGAR MAPLE

2220 22 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2221 4 ASH

2222 20 RED OAK

2223 6 ELM

2224 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2225 11 ELM

2226 9 SUGAR MAPLE

2227 12 ASH

2228 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2229 26 RED OAK

2231 20 ASH

2232 14 ASH

2233 17 SUGAR MAPLE

2234 17 SUGAR MAPLE

2235 36 RED OAK

2236 12 SUGAR MAPLE

2237 11 ELM

2240 15 SUGAR MAPLE



2241 4 SUGAR MAPLE

2242 14 SUGAR MAPLE

2243 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2244 15 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2245 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2246 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2247 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2248 7 ASH

2249 5 HACKBERRY

2250 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2251 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2252 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2253 8 HACKBERRY

2254 5 HICKORY

2255 15 BLACK LOCUST

2256 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2257 14 ELM

2258 34 SUGAR MAPLE

2259 4 SUGAR MAPLE

2260 5 SUGAR MAPLE

2261 22 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2262 22 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2263 4 SUGAR MAPLE

2264 4 HICKORY

2265 7 ASH

2266 4 ASH

2267 11 BLACK LOCUST

2268 5 ASH

2269 12 ASH

2270 7 ASH

2271 4 SUGAR MAPLE

2272 4 HACKBERRY

2273 9 ASH

2274 16 ASH

2275 4 HACKBERRY

2276 4 HACKBERRY

2278 10 ASH

2279 8 ASH

2280 9 ASH

2281 19 ASH

2282 5 HACKBERRY

2283 10 ASH

2284 13 SUGAR MAPLE

2285 9 ASH

2286 16 ASH

2287 7 ASH

2303 15 BLACK LOCUST

2304 9 HACKBERRY

2305 8 HACKBERRY

2306 9 ELM

2307 4 HACKBERRY

2308 6 HACKBERRY

2309 13 HACKBERRY

2310 6 ELM

2311 23 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2316 7 ELM

2317 15 ASH

2318 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2319 15 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2320 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2328 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2329 4 ELM

2330 6 ELM

2331 11 ELM

2405 21 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2406 6 SUGAR MAPLE

2418 34 RED OAK

2419 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2432 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2433 5 ELM

2434 12 ASH

2435 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2436 20 RED OAK

2437 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2438 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2439 21 RED OAK

2440 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2441 14 RED OAK

2442 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2443 13 ASH

2444 18 RED OAK

2445 10 CEDAR

2446 9 ASH

2447 11 ASH

2448 9 CEDAR

2449 9 CEDAR

2450 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2451 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2452 15 ASH

2453 10 CEDAR

2454 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2455 14 ASH

2456 6 ASH

2457 9 ASH



2458 6 CEDAR

2459 12 ASH

2460 4 CEDAR

2461 15 ASH

2462 7 ASH

2463 12 ASH

2464 8 CEDAR

2465 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2466 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2467 9 RED OAK

2468 24 RED OAK

2469 15 RED OAK

2470 12 RED OAK

2471 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2472 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2473 6 ASH

2474 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2475 11 ASH

2476 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2477 12 CEDAR

2478 8 CEDAR

2479 9 CEDAR

2480 16 ASH

2481 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2482 6 DOGWOOD

2483 5 RED OAK

2484 13 RED OAK

2485 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2486 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2487 12 RED OAK

2488 4 ASH

2489 14 RED OAK

2490 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2491 7 CEDAR

2492 8 CEDAR

2493 14 ASH

2494 9 CEDAR

2495 11 ASH

2496 7 ASH

2497 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2498 8 CEDAR

2499 9 ASH

2500 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2501 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2502 5 CEDAR

2503 10 ELM

2504 10 CEDAR

2505 11 CEDAR

2506 5 CEDAR

2507 4 ELM

2508 13 CEDAR

2509 7 CEDAR

2510 8 ASH

2511 9 CEDAR

2512 14 ASH

2513 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2514 18 RED OAK

2515 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2516 8 ELM

2517 4 ELM

2518 6 CEDAR

2519 13 ASH

2520 14 ASH

2521 5 CEDAR

2522 5 ELM

2523 5 ELM

2524 4 BLACK WALNUT

2525 21 RED OAK

2526 8 ASH

2527 5 CEDAR

2528 14 RED OAK

2529 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2530 9 ASH

2531 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2532 12 ASH

2533 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2534 16 RED OAK

2535 16 RED OAK

2536 5 CEDAR

2537 8 ASH

2538 4 OSTRAYA

2539 13 ASH

2540 20 RED OAK

2541 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2542 7 ELM

2543 6 ELM

2544 8 ELM

2545 5 SHAGBARK HICKORY

2546 14 RED OAK

2547 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2548 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2549 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2550 18 ASH

2551 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK



2552 12 RED OAK

2553 14 RED OAK

2554 5 ELM

2555 10 ASH

2556 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2557 31 RED OAK

2558 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2559 19 RED OAK

2560 21 RED OAK

2563 6 ASH

2883 12 ASH

2884 5 ASH

2885 10 SUGAR MAPLE

2886 10 CEDAR

2887 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2888 13 ASH

2893 21 RED OAK

2894 5 ASH

2895 7 ASH

2896 16 ASH

2897 5 HACKBERRY

2898 7 CEDAR

2899 13 ASH

2900 12 CEDAR

2901 6 CEDAR

2902 9 CEDAR

2903 11 CEDAR

2904 6 ELM

2905 6 CEDAR

2906 10 ELM

2907 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2908 5 RED OAK

2909 7 CEDAR

2910 13 ELM

2911 10 CEDAR

2912 8 CEDAR

2913 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2914 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2915 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2916 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2917 6 ASH

2918 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2919 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2920 10 CEDAR

2921 17 RED OAK

2922 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2923 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2924 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2925 9 RED OAK

2926 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2927 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2928 16 RED OAK

2929 14 ELM

2930 10 ASH

2931 4 CEDAR

2932 4 CEDAR

2933 10 ELM

2934 11 CEDAR

2935 16 ASH

2936 14 ASH

2937 9 CEDAR

2938 9 PERSIMMON

2939 5 PERSIMMON

2940 6 ELM

2941 7 PERSIMMON

2942 5 PERSIMMON

2943 9 CEDAR

2944 4 ELM

2945 4 CEDAR

2946 4 CEDAR

2947 7 CEDAR

2948 10 CEDAR

2949 4 ELM

2950 4 ELM

2951 9 ELM

2952 7 CEDAR

2953 9 CEDAR

2954 18 CEDAR

2955 12 CEDAR

2956 11 CEDAR

2957 7 ELM

2958 4 MULBERRY

2959 6 ELM

2960 20 CEDAR

2961 4 ELM

2962 4 ELM

2963 17 CEDAR

2964 6 CEDAR

2965 13 CEDAR

2966 4 CEDAR

2967 7 CEDAR

2968 4 ELM

2969 11 CEDAR

2970 5 CEDAR



2971 5 ELM

2972 8 CEDAR

2973 9 CEDAR

2974 10 CEDAR

2975 12 CEDAR

2976 13 CEDAR

2977 8 CEDAR

2978 11 CEDAR

2979 7 CEDAR

2980 5 CEDAR

2981 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2982 11 CEDAR

2983 8 CEDAR

2984 9 CEDAR

2985 4 ELM

2986 7 CEDAR

2987 8 CEDAR

2988 5 CEDAR

2989 8 CEDAR

2990 34 RED OAK

2991 4 CEDAR

2992 11 ASH

2993 4 ELM

2994 4 ELM

2995 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

2996 24 RED OAK

2997 5 ELM

2998 12 ASH

2999 4 ELM

3000 6 CEDAR

3001 4 CEDAR

3002 4 CEDAR

3003 5 CEDAR

3004 4 ELM

3005 4 ELM

3006 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3007 10 ASH

3008 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3009 5 CEDAR

3010 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3011 14 SUGAR MAPLE

3012 7 CEDAR

3013 5 CEDAR

3014 16 RED OAK

3015 13 CEDAR

3016 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3017 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3018 9 ASH

3019 7 CEDAR

3020 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3021 20 RED OAK

3022 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3023 24 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3024 13 RED OAK

3025 5 CEDAR

3026 12 ASH

3027 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3028 10 ASH

3029 15 ASH

3030 7 CEDAR

3031 6 RED OAK

3032 5 CEDAR

3033 12 ASH

3034 6 RED OAK

3035 13 ASH

3036 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3037 16 ELM

3038 10 CEDAR

3039 10 CEDAR

3040 6 ASH

3041 8 CEDAR

3042 8 ASH

3043 18 ASH

3045 6 ELM

3048 4 ASH

3049 10 ASH

3050 6 CEDAR

3051 7 CEDAR

3052 7 CEDAR

3194 10 ASH

3195 5 SUGAR MAPLE

3196 8 HACKBERRY

3197 9 HACKBERRY

3198 11 ASH

3199 4 ASH

3200 5 SUGAR MAPLE

3201 9 HACKBERRY

3202 4 SUGAR MAPLE

3203 5 SUGAR MAPLE

3204 15 SUGAR MAPLE

3205 5 ELM

3206 8 HACKBERRY

3207 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3208 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK



3209 8 ASH

3213 7 ELM

3214 6 ELM

3340 8 ASH

3341 10 ASH

3342 13 ASH

3343 4 CEDAR

3344 4 CEDAR

3345 4 CEDAR

3346 19 ASH

3347 10 ASH

3348 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3349 8 CEDAR

3350 10 CEDAR

3351 8 CEDAR

3352 8 ASH

3353 6 ASH

3354 4 ASH

3355 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3356 24 RED OAK

3357 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3358 21 RED OAK

3359 23 RED OAK

3360 11 ASH

3361 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3362 6 CEDAR

3363 4 CEDAR

3557 24 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3558 23 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3559 13 HACKBERRY

3560 35 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3561 27 CEDAR

3562 33 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3563 7 ELM

3564 4 CEDAR

3565 11 ASH

3566 5 ELM

3567 21 CEDAR

3568 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3569 6 PERSIMMON

3570 6 ELM

3571 4 SUGAR MAPLE

3572 4 SUGAR MAPLE

3573 10 PERSIMMON

3574 7 ELM

3575 4 CEDAR

3576 10 ELM

3577 10 ELM

3578 6 ELM

3579 9 PERSIMMON

3580 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3581 23 WHITE OAK

3582 19 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3583 5 RED OAK

3584 22 RED OAK

3585 11 ELM

3586 15 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3587 4 ELM

3588 23 ASH

3589 8 SUGAR MAPLE

3590 12 SUGAR MAPLE

3591 30 ASH

3592 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3593 13 SUGAR MAPLE

3594 15 ASH

3595 19 SUGAR MAPLE

3596 23 ASH

3597 10 SUGAR MAPLE

3598 15 ASH

3599 18 SUGAR MAPLE

3600 4 ELM

3601 13 PERSIMMON

3602 8 ELM

3603 8 ELM

3604 5 ELM

3605 15 ASH

3606 15 ASH

3607 4 OSTRAYA

3608 4 SHAGBARK HICKORY

3609 5 RED OAK

3610 6 CEDAR

3613 14 ASH

3614 7 CEDAR

3615 8 CEDAR

3616 4 OSTRAYA

3694 9 CEDAR

3695 4 CEDAR

3696 6 CEDAR

3697 9 CEDAR

3698 4 ELM

3699 10 CEDAR

3700 5 CEDAR

3701 7 CEDAR

3702 5 CEDAR



3703 4 ASH

3704 8 ELM

3705 5 ELM

3706 4 ELM

3707 12 CEDAR

3708 6 CEDAR

3709 5 HACKBERRY

3710 12 CEDAR

3711 7 ELM

3712 8 ELM

3713 6 CEDAR

3714 9 CEDAR

3715 7 CEDAR

3728 4 ELM

3729 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3730 4 SUGAR MAPLE

3731 24 ASH

3732 10 HICKORY

3733 6 SUGAR MAPLE

3734 10 ASH

3735 5 SUGAR MAPLE

3736 11 ASH

3777 29 RED OAK

3778 4 ELM

3779 11 SUGAR MAPLE

3781 26 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3782 4 SUGAR MAPLE

3783 5 ASH

3784 7 ASH

3785 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3786 5 SUGAR MAPLE

3787 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3788 5 SUGAR MAPLE

3789 10 ASH

3790 6 ASH

3791 8 PERSIMMON

3792 7 SUGAR MAPLE

3793 5 ASH

3794 9 ASH

3795 4 ASH

3796 9 ASH

3797 11 ASH

3798 5 SUGAR MAPLE

3799 5 ASH

3800 9 ASH

3801 12 ASH

3802 4 ASH

3803 24 ASH

3804 4 ASH

3805 6 ASH

3806 5 ASH

3807 12 ASH

3808 4 SUGAR MAPLE

3809 10 BLACK WALNUT

3810 7 ASH

3811 9 ASH

3812 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3813 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3814 17 SUGAR MAPLE

3815 19 ASH

3816 11 SUGAR MAPLE

3817 18 RED OAK

3818 21 ASH

3819 9 ELM

3820 14 ELM

3821 9 SUGAR MAPLE

3822 20 ASH

3823 11 SUGAR MAPLE

3824 14 ELM

3825 9 ELM

3826 9 CEDAR

3827 20 ASH

3828 7 CEDAR

3829 7 CEDAR

3830 14 ELM

3831 8 ASH

3832 16 ASH

3833 6 CEDAR

3834 5 ELM

3835 23 ASH

3836 11 SUGAR MAPLE

3837 13 ASH

3838 6 SUGAR MAPLE

3839 21 ASH

3840 12 SUGAR MAPLE

3841 6 ELM

3842 8 ELM

3843 5 ELM

3849 7 ASH

3850 18 ELM

3851 21 ASH

3852 12 SUGAR MAPLE

3853 8 ASH

3854 23 ASH



3855 10 SUGAR MAPLE

3856 15 ASH

3857 6 SUGAR MAPLE

3858 10 SUGAR MAPLE

3859 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3860 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3861 34 RED OAK

3862 20 RED OAK

3863 7 SHAGBARK HICKORY

3864 6 SHAGBARK HICKORY

3865 4 SUGAR MAPLE

3866 5 SHAGBARK HICKORY

3867 4 RED OAK

3868 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3869 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3870 4 SUGAR MAPLE

3871 21 CHINQUAPIN OAK

3874 18 SUGAR MAPLE

3884 9 ELM

3885 8 HACKBERRY

3886 11 ASH

3887 24 ASH

3888 4 ELM

3969 4 CEDAR

3970 4 ELM

3971 4 CEDAR

3973 4 ASH

3974 5 PERSIMMON

3975 5 PERSIMMON

3987 7 CEDAR

3988 10 CEDAR

3989 7 ELM

3990 4 BOXELDER

4163 6 ELM

4270 10 CEDAR

4505 10 CEDAR

4506 6 CEDAR

4507 9 ELM

4508 8 ELM

4509 4 ELM

4510 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4511 12 CEDAR

4512 13 CEDAR

4513 14 CEDAR

4514 6 ELM

4515 12 CEDAR

4516 5 ELM

4517 5 HACKBERRY

4518 6 ELM

4519 14 ASH

4520 14 ELM

4521 12 CEDAR

4522 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4523 6 CEDAR

4524 8 CEDAR

4525 14 CEDAR

4526 11 ASH

4527 8 OSAGE ORANGE

4528 6 OSAGE ORANGE

4529 14 RED OAK

4530 5 CEDAR

4531 14 CEDAR

4532 12 CEDAR

4533 4 ELM

4534 6 CEDAR

4535 11 ELM

4536 7 CEDAR

4537 13 ASH

4538 12 CEDAR

4539 11 CEDAR

4540 12 CEDAR

4541 7 CEDAR

4542 10 ELM

4543 4 ELM

4544 11 CEDAR

4545 10 ASH

4546 9 CEDAR

4547 15 CEDAR

4548 10 CEDAR

4549 5 ELM

4550 6 ELM

4551 5 PERSIMMON

4552 6 PERSIMMON

4553 4 PERSIMMON

4554 12 OSAGE ORANGE

4555 10 HACKBERRY

4556 11 CEDAR

4557 10 CEDAR

4558 11 CEDAR

4559 11 CEDAR

4560 13 CEDAR

4561 6 ELM

4562 7 CEDAR

4563 10 CEDAR



4564 11 CEDAR

4565 4 CEDAR

4566 7 CEDAR

4567 11 CEDAR

4568 8 CEDAR

4569 10 CEDAR

4570 9 CEDAR

4571 10 HACKBERRY

4572 5 CEDAR

4573 7 CEDAR

4574 8 CEDAR

4575 7 CEDAR

4576 6 CEDAR

4577 6 CEDAR

4578 8 CEDAR

4579 7 CEDAR

4580 7 CEDAR

4581 10 CEDAR

4582 9 CEDAR

4583 6 CEDAR

4584 4 HACKBERRY

4585 4 CEDAR

4586 5 CEDAR

4587 6 ELM

4588 9 CEDAR

4589 12 CEDAR

4590 11 ASH

4591 13 ASH

4592 7 ELM

4593 8 CEDAR

4594 7 CEDAR

4595 10 CEDAR

4596 6 CEDAR

4597 14 CEDAR

4598 10 CEDAR

4599 5 BLACK WALNUT

4600 6 ELM

4601 7 CEDAR

4602 6 CEDAR

4603 7 ELM

4604 13 CEDAR

4605 10 CEDAR

4606 6 CEDAR

4607 11 CEDAR

4608 4 ELM

4609 8 CEDAR

4610 7 CEDAR

4611 9 CEDAR

4612 5 CEDAR

4613 6 CEDAR

4614 5 CEDAR

4615 5 PERSIMMON

4616 4 CEDAR

4617 4 CEDAR

4618 7 CEDAR

4619 5 CEDAR

4620 10 CEDAR

4621 5 CEDAR

4622 5 CEDAR

4623 6 CEDAR

4624 4 CEDAR

4625 5 CEDAR

4626 4 PERSIMMON

4627 6 CEDAR

4628 4 HACKBERRY

4629 6 PERSIMMON

4630 4 PERSIMMON

4631 5 PERSIMMON

4632 6 CEDAR

4633 9 CEDAR

4634 7 CEDAR

4635 7 CEDAR

4636 8 CEDAR

4637 6 CEDAR

4638 5 CEDAR

4639 5 CEDAR

4640 10 CEDAR

4641 8 CEDAR

4642 7 CEDAR

4643 12 CEDAR

4644 6 CEDAR

4645 6 CEDAR

4646 8 CEDAR

4647 7 PERSIMMON

4648 8 CEDAR

4649 5 CEDAR

4650 4 CEDAR

4651 11 CEDAR

4652 5 CEDAR

4653 6 CEDAR

4654 6 CEDAR

4655 8 CEDAR

4661 4 OSAGE ORANGE

4662 4 OSAGE ORANGE



4723 7 CEDAR

4726 8 CEDAR

4727 4 CEDAR

4728 5 CEDAR

4729 5 CEDAR

4730 9 CEDAR

4731 5 CEDAR

4732 11 CEDAR

4733 7 HONEY LOCUST

4734 7 HONEY LOCUST

4735 7 HONEY LOCUST

4736 8 CEDAR

4737 8 CEDAR

4738 6 CEDAR

4739 4 CEDAR

4740 6 CEDAR

4741 6 CEDAR

4742 6 CEDAR

4743 8 CEDAR

4744 10 CEDAR

4745 7 CEDAR

4746 5 CEDAR

4747 7 CEDAR

4748 9 CEDAR

4749 9 CEDAR

4750 4 CEDAR

4751 9 CEDAR

4752 6 CEDAR

4753 4 CEDAR

4754 4 CEDAR

4755 4 CEDAR

4756 8 CEDAR

4757 5 CEDAR

4758 4 CEDAR

4759 7 CEDAR

4760 4 CEDAR

4761 9 ELM

4762 4 CEDAR

4763 8 CEDAR

4764 5 CEDAR

4765 10 CEDAR

4766 7 CEDAR

4767 9 CEDAR

4768 6 ELM

4769 9 CEDAR

4770 7 CEDAR

4771 6 CEDAR

4772 4 ELM

4773 12 CEDAR

4774 5 CEDAR

4775 4 CEDAR

4776 6 CEDAR

4777 4 CEDAR

4778 9 CEDAR

4779 5 CEDAR

4780 5 CEDAR

4781 6 CEDAR

4782 4 CEDAR

4783 5 CEDAR

4784 6 CEDAR

4785 6 CEDAR

4786 7 CEDAR

4787 5 CEDAR

4788 4 CEDAR

4789 4 CEDAR

4790 4 CEDAR

4791 5 CEDAR

4792 10 CEDAR

4793 8 CEDAR

4794 5 CEDAR

4795 6 CEDAR

4796 6 CEDAR

4797 4 CEDAR

4798 6 CEDAR

4799 4 CEDAR

4800 5 CEDAR

4801 5 CEDAR

4802 6 CEDAR

4803 8 CEDAR

4804 4 CEDAR

4805 5 CEDAR

4806 5 CEDAR

4807 12 CEDAR

4808 10 CEDAR

4809 14 CEDAR

4810 7 CEDAR

4811 8 CEDAR

4812 5 CEDAR

4813 9 CEDAR

4814 8 CEDAR

4815 9 CEDAR

4816 12 CEDAR

4817 9 CEDAR

4818 9 CEDAR



4819 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4820 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4821 4 SUGAR MAPLE

4822 14 CEDAR

4823 12 ASH

4824 6 ASH

4825 10 RED OAK

4826 7 RED OAK

4827 11 RED OAK

4828 9 CEDAR

4829 8 CEDAR

4830 10 CEDAR

4831 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4832 5 ELM

4833 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4834 10 CEDAR

4835 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4836 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4837 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4838 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4839 4 ASH

4840 6 CEDAR

4841 5 RED OAK

4842 10 ASH

4843 11 ASH

4844 25 CEDAR

4845 9 CEDAR

4846 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4847 10 CEDAR

4848 4 CEDAR

4849 4 CEDAR

4850 4 CEDAR

4851 4 CEDAR

4852 17 ASH

4853 7 CEDAR

4854 9 ELM

4855 4 OSTRAYA

4856 8 ASH

4857 13 CEDAR

4858 5 CEDAR

4859 13 CEDAR

4860 5 ASH

4861 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4862 12 CEDAR

4863 4 REDBUD

4864 6 CEDAR

4865 12 ASH

4866 11 ASH

4867 6 CEDAR

4868 7 CEDAR

4869 16 ASH

4870 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4871 4 CEDAR

4872 11 CEDAR

4873 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4874 17 ASH

4875 4 CEDAR

4876 7 CEDAR

4877 9 CEDAR

4878 4 CEDAR

4879 6 CEDAR

4880 11 CEDAR

4881 12 CEDAR

4882 7 CEDAR

4883 9 CEDAR

4884 11 CEDAR

4885 6 CEDAR

4886 10 CEDAR

4887 11 CEDAR

4888 11 CEDAR

4889 6 ELM

4890 5 CEDAR

4891 14 CEDAR

4892 4 CEDAR

4893 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

4894 10 CEDAR

4895 11 CEDAR

4896 9 CEDAR

4897 13 CEDAR

4898 15 CEDAR

4899 5 ELM

4900 5 CEDAR

4901 9 ELM

4902 15 RED OAK

4903 12 RED OAK

4904 6 CEDAR

4905 4 CEDAR

4906 4 CEDAR

4907 8 CEDAR

4908 6 CEDAR

4909 5 CEDAR

4910 4 CEDAR

4911 4 CEDAR

4912 4 CEDAR



4913 6 CEDAR

4914 6 CEDAR

4915 5 CEDAR

4916 5 CEDAR

4917 4 CEDAR

4918 6 CEDAR

4919 5 CEDAR

4920 6 CEDAR

4921 6 CEDAR

4922 5 CEDAR

4923 5 CEDAR

4924 5 CEDAR

4925 5 CEDAR

4926 5 CEDAR

4927 4 CEDAR

4928 5 CEDAR

4929 5 CEDAR

4930 4 CEDAR

4931 5 CEDAR

4932 4 CEDAR

4933 4 CEDAR

4934 7 CEDAR

4935 4 CEDAR

4936 4 CEDAR

4937 5 CEDAR

4938 5 CEDAR

4939 4 CEDAR

4940 5 RED OAK

4941 6 RED OAK

4942 6 CEDAR

4943 4 CEDAR

4944 5 ELM

4945 5 ELM

4946 4 ELM

4947 5 CEDAR

4948 5 CEDAR

4949 5 CEDAR

4950 4 CEDAR

4951 4 CEDAR

4952 5 CEDAR

4953 5 CEDAR

4954 4 CEDAR

4955 5 CEDAR

4956 5 CEDAR

4957 4 CEDAR

4958 5 ELM

4959 9 PERSIMMON

4960 4 CEDAR

4961 6 CEDAR

4962 6 CEDAR

4963 6 CEDAR

4964 6 CEDAR

4965 7 CEDAR

4966 8 CEDAR

4967 6 CEDAR

4968 8 CEDAR

4969 9 CEDAR

4970 6 CEDAR

4971 4 ELM

4972 4 CEDAR

4973 4 CEDAR

4974 5 CEDAR

4975 7 CEDAR

4976 7 CEDAR

4977 7 CEDAR

4978 4 CEDAR

4979 7 CEDAR

4980 5 CEDAR

5022 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

5023 7 SUGAR MAPLE

5024 14 CEDAR

5025 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

5026 10 CEDAR

5027 12 CEDAR

5028 4 CEDAR

5029 4 CEDAR

5030 5 CEDAR

5031 12 CEDAR

5032 4 OSTRAYA

5033 4 CEDAR

5034 13 ASH

5035 11 RED OAK

5036 16 CEDAR

5037 16 ASH

5038 5 DOGWOOD

5039 6 CEDAR

5040 11 RED OAK

5041 11 ASH

5042 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

5043 10 CEDAR

5044 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

5045 6 ELM

5046 5 ELM

5047 7 CEDAR



5048 5 CEDAR

5049 4 RED OAK

5050 10 RED OAK

5051 4 CEDAR

5052 4 CEDAR

5053 4 CEDAR

5054 4 CEDAR

5055 5 CEDAR

5056 4 CEDAR

5057 4 CEDAR

5058 4 CEDAR

5059 4 CEDAR

5060 4 CEDAR

5061 5 CEDAR

5062 6 CEDAR

5063 5 CEDAR

5064 6 CEDAR

5065 4 CEDAR

5066 7 CEDAR

5075 6 CEDAR

5076 4 CEDAR

5077 5 CEDAR

5078 6 CEDAR

5079 4 CEDAR

5080 6 CEDAR

5081 8 CEDAR

5082 6 CEDAR

5083 4 CEDAR

5084 6 CEDAR

5085 5 CEDAR

5086 5 CEDAR

5087 4 CEDAR

5088 4 CEDAR

5089 4 CEDAR

5090 5 CEDAR

5091 5 CEDAR

5092 8 CEDAR

5093 6 CEDAR

5094 5 CEDAR

5095 5 CEDAR

5096 7 CEDAR

5097 4 CEDAR

5098 5 ELM

5099 5 CEDAR

5100 4 CEDAR

5101 5 CEDAR

5102 8 CEDAR

5103 7 CEDAR

5104 7 CEDAR

5105 6 CEDAR

5106 5 CEDAR

5107 5 CEDAR

5108 4 CEDAR

5109 4 CEDAR

5110 4 CEDAR

5111 4 CEDAR

5112 5 CEDAR

5113 5 CEDAR

5114 6 CEDAR

5115 10 RED OAK

5116 4 CEDAR

5117 4 CEDAR

5118 5 CEDAR

5119 7 RED OAK

5120 4 CEDAR

5121 4 CEDAR

5122 4 ELM

5123 5 CEDAR

5124 5 CEDAR

5125 7 CEDAR

5126 4 CEDAR

5127 7 CEDAR

5128 4 RED OAK

5130 6 ASH

5131 7 ASH

5139 7 CEDAR

5140 8 CEDAR

5141 6 CEDAR

5142 9 ELM

5143 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

5144 14 CEDAR

5145 8 ASH

5146 8 ELM

5147 8 CEDAR

5148 12 CEDAR

5149 6 CEDAR

5150 7 CEDAR

5151 10 ASH

5152 7 BLACK LOCUST

5153 16 ASH

5156 5 CEDAR

5157 4 CEDAR

5158 5 OSTRAYA

5165 6 CEDAR



5288 4 CEDAR

5291 4 CEDAR

5292 14 ASH

5293 12 ASH

5294 10 CEDAR

5295 4 ELM

5296 5 CEDAR

5297 6 CEDAR

5298 10 ASH

5299 12 ASH

5300 6 CEDAR

5301 8 CEDAR

5302 7 CEDAR

5303 5 ELM

5304 9 ASH

5305 14 CEDAR

5306 9 ELM

5307 11 ELM

5308 13 ASH

5309 10 CEDAR

5310 8 CEDAR

5311 14 CEDAR

5312 19 CEDAR

5313 9 ELM

5314 26 CEDAR

5315 18 CEDAR

5316 10 CEDAR

5317 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

5318 11 CEDAR

5319 10 CEDAR

5320 22 ASH

5321 14 CEDAR

5322 11 CEDAR

5323 10 CEDAR

5324 4 REDBUD

5326 10 ASH

5327 8 ASH

5328 11 SYCAMORE

5329 8 CEDAR

5330 9 CEDAR

5331 15 ASH

5335 9 CEDAR

5344 10 CEDAR

5345 10 CEDAR

5346 6 CEDAR

5347 7 ASH

5348 5 CEDAR

5349 11 ELM

5350 4 CEDAR

5351 7 CEDAR

5352 6 ASH

5353 13 CEDAR

5354 12 CEDAR

5355 7 CEDAR

5356 9 CEDAR

5357 5 ASH

5358 5 CEDAR

5359 13 CEDAR

5360 12 CEDAR

5361 7 CEDAR

5362 6 CEDAR

5363 12 CEDAR

5364 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

5365 6 ELM

5366 13 ELM

5367 4 CEDAR

5368 6 ASH

5369 5 ASH

5370 16 ELM

5371 12 CEDAR

5372 7 ASH

5373 4 CEDAR

5374 8 ASH

5375 9 ASH

5376 7 CEDAR

5377 8 ASH

5378 8 ASH

5379 8 ASH

5380 4 CEDAR

5381 8 ASH

5382 5 CEDAR

5486 4 CEDAR

5490 4 CEDAR

5492 6 ELM

5493 12 CEDAR

5494 12 ELM

5495 11 ELM

5496 11 ELM

5497 11 CEDAR

5498 11 CEDAR

5499 10 CEDAR

5500 9 CEDAR

5501 8 ELM

5502 20 ASH



5503 5 DOGWOOD

5504 14 CEDAR

5505 8 CEDAR

5506 8 ELM

5507 15 BLACK WALNUT

5508 15 CEDAR

5509 13 CEDAR

5510 4 DOGWOOD

5511 14 ELM

5512 10 CEDAR

5513 5 RED OAK

5518 6 CEDAR

5519 17 ASH

5520 4 CEDAR

5521 15 HACKBERRY

5537 9 ASH

5540 9 ASH

5541 8 ASH

5545 14 CEDAR

5546 6 BLACK WALNUT

5547 15 CEDAR

5548 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

5549 6 ASH

5550 7 RED OAK

5551 17 RED OAK

5552 14 ASH

5553 10 ELM

5556 8 ASH

5565 4 OSTRAYA

5582 12 ASH

5722 4 CEDAR

5724 8 ELM

5726 37 RED OAK

5727 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

5728 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

5729 21 SHUMARD OAK

5730 8 CEDAR

5731 12 ELM

5732 4 CEDAR

5733 6 ELM

5734 18 ASH

5735 4 ELM

5736 10 RED OAK

5737 11 CEDAR

5738 12 CEDAR

5739 10 ELM

5740 10 CEDAR

5741 9 CEDAR

5742 8 CEDAR

5743 4 REBUD

5744 10 CEDAR

5745 8 ELM

5746 6 ELM

5747 5 ELM

5748 13 CEDAR

5749 13 CEDAR

5750 13 CEDAR

5751 14 ASH

5752 12 CEDAR

5753 12 ELM

5754 6 CEDAR

5755 4 ELM

5756 6 CEDAR

5757 5 CEDAR

5758 7 ELM

5759 4 ELM

5760 6 CEDAR

5761 9 CEDAR

5762 6 CEDAR

5763 7 CEDAR

5765 7 BLACK WALNUT

5766 5 CEDAR

5767 13 CEDAR

5768 22 CEDAR

5769 7 CEDAR

5770 4 REBUD

5778 4 CEDAR

5779 5 CEDAR

5780 4 CEDAR

5781 5 CEDAR

5782 5 CEDAR

5783 5 CEDAR

5784 5 CEDAR

5785 5 CEDAR

5786 5 CEDAR

5787 5 CEDAR

5788 4 CEDAR

5789 5 CEDAR

5790 4 CEDAR

5791 6 CEDAR

5792 9 ELM

5793 4 CEDAR

5794 10 CEDAR

5795 19 CEDAR



5796 7 CEDAR

5797 14 HACKBERRY

5798 8 HACKBERRY

5799 4 HACKBERRY

5800 4 ASH

5801 14 CEDAR

5802 15 CEDAR

5803 5 ELM

5804 10 CEDAR

5805 10 CEDAR

5806 5 CEDAR

5807 5 ELM

5808 17 CEDAR

5809 10 HACKBERRY

5810 14 HACKBERRY

5811 14 CEDAR

5812 11 ELM

5813 8 CEDAR

5814 6 HACKBERRY

5815 12 CEDAR

5816 4 HACKBERRY

5817 10 ELM

5818 6 CEDAR

5819 9 CEDAR

5820 4 CEDAR

5821 19 CEDAR

5822 8 CEDAR

5823 9 HACKBERRY

5824 8 CEDAR

5825 15 CEDAR

5826 8 HACKBERRY

5827 7 HACKBERRY

5828 8 CEDAR

5829 4 CEDAR

5830 17 CEDAR

5831 15 CEDAR

5832 8 HACKBERRY

5833 8 CEDAR

5834 9 CEDAR

5835 19 CEDAR

5836 4 REDBUD

5857 4 CEDAR

5858 4 CEDAR

5859 4 CEDAR

5860 4 CEDAR

5861 5 CEDAR

5862 4 CEDAR

5863 4 CEDAR

5864 4 CEDAR

5865 4 CEDAR

5867 4 CEDAR

5868 4 CEDAR

5869 4 CEDAR

5870 5 CEDAR

5871 6 CEDAR

5872 6 CEDAR

5873 4 CEDAR

5874 4 CEDAR

5875 5 CEDAR

5876 5 CEDAR

5877 4 CEDAR

5878 4 CEDAR

5879 4 CEDAR

5880 4 CEDAR

5881 4 CEDAR

5882 5 CEDAR

5883 4 CEDAR

5884 4 CEDAR

5885 4 CEDAR

5886 5 CEDAR

5887 7 CEDAR

5888 8 CEDAR

5889 4 CEDAR

5890 14 CEDAR

5891 9 ELM

5892 11 CEDAR

5893 12 HACKBERRY

5894 4 CEDAR

5895 6 ASH

5896 8 ELM

5897 11 ASH

5898 5 CEDAR

5899 5 CEDAR

5900 7 CEDAR

5901 4 ELM

5902 4 CEDAR

5924 4 CEDAR

5925 4 CEDAR

5930 4 CEDAR

5934 4 CEDAR

5935 4 CEDAR

5936 4 CEDAR

5937 5 CEDAR

5938 4 CEDAR



5939 5 CEDAR

5940 4 CEDAR

5941 4 CEDAR

5942 5 CEDAR

5943 5 CEDAR

5944 4 CEDAR

5945 4 HONEY LOCUST

5946 4 ELM

5947 6 ELM

5948 6 ELM

5949 5 HACKBERRY

5950 4 HACKBERRY

5951 7 CEDAR

5952 7 CEDAR

5953 6 HACKBERRY

5954 4 HACKBERRY

5955 5 HACKBERRY

5956 4 CEDAR

5957 5 CEDAR

5958 4 CEDAR

5959 4 CEDAR

5960 15 CEDAR

5961 13 CEDAR

5962 13 CEDAR

5963 5 CEDAR

5964 6 ELM

5965 6 CEDAR

5966 6 ELM

5967 7 HACKBERRY

5968 4 HACKBERRY

5969 5 HACKBERRY

5970 6 HACKBERRY

5971 5 CEDAR

5972 6 CEDAR

5973 6 CEDAR

5974 9 CEDAR

5975 4 CEDAR

5976 5 CEDAR

5977 4 CEDAR

6029 10 CEDAR

6031 5 CEDAR

6037 6 CEDAR

6038 4 CEDAR

6039 4 CEDAR

6040 4 CEDAR

6041 5 CEDAR

6042 4 CEDAR

6043 5 CEDAR

6044 5 CEDAR

6045 4 CEDAR

6046 5 CEDAR

6047 5 CEDAR

6048 6 CEDAR

6049 5 CEDAR

6050 13 CEDAR

6051 5 CEDAR

6052 5 CEDAR

6053 4 CEDAR

6054 8 CEDAR

6055 5 CEDAR

6056 5 CEDAR

6057 6 CEDAR

6058 4 CEDAR

6059 7 ASH

6060 8 PERSIMMON

6061 10 PERSIMMON

6062 5 ELM

6063 14 CEDAR

6064 6 CEDAR

6065 6 CEDAR

6066 7 CEDAR

6067 8 ELM

6068 5 CEDAR

6069 8 CEDAR

6070 4 CEDAR

6071 4 CEDAR

6072 6 CEDAR

6073 4 CEDAR

6074 5 CEDAR

6075 4 CEDAR

6076 8 CEDAR

6077 7 HACKBERRY

6078 4 CEDAR

6079 4 CEDAR

6080 5 ELM

6081 4 CEDAR

6082 18 CEDAR

6083 15 CEDAR

6084 9 CEDAR

6085 6 HACKBERRY

6086 5 HACKBERRY

6087 15 ASH

6088 11 CEDAR

6089 12 CEDAR



6090 6 CEDAR

6091 11 CEDAR

6092 12 CEDAR

6093 9 CEDAR

6094 21 CEDAR

6095 7 HACKBERRY

6096 11 ELM

6097 12 CEDAR

6098 5 ASH

6099 4 ELM

6100 8 CEDAR

6101 5 CEDAR

6102 6 ELM

6103 7 HACKBERRY

6104 13 CEDAR

6105 10 CEDAR

6106 7 CEDAR

6107 7 CEDAR

6108 8 CEDAR

6109 12 CEDAR

6110 6 CEDAR

6111 5 CEDAR

6112 12 CEDAR

6113 11 CEDAR

6114 6 ASH

6115 13 CEDAR

6116 5 CEDAR

6117 8 CEDAR

6118 7 CEDAR

6119 6 CEDAR

6120 7 ASH

6121 6 ASH

6122 12 ELM

6123 12 ELM

6124 7 CEDAR

6125 13 CEDAR

6126 8 ASH

6127 11 CEDAR

6128 9 CEDAR

6129 4 CEDAR

6130 7 ASH

6131 7 CEDAR

6132 6 CEDAR

6133 8 CEDAR

6154 6 CEDAR

6155 4 ASH

6156 8 CEDAR

6157 10 CEDAR

6158 6 CEDAR

6159 7 CEDAR

6160 4 ASH

6161 6 CEDAR

6162 10 CEDAR

6163 6 CEDAR

6164 12 CEDAR

6165 10 CEDAR

6166 6 CEDAR

6167 8 CEDAR

6168 7 CEDAR

6169 13 CEDAR

6170 6 ASH

6171 9 CEDAR

6172 8 ASH

6186 6 CEDAR

6187 9 CEDAR

6188 9 ASH

6189 10 CEDAR

6190 8 CEDAR

6191 8 CEDAR

6192 18 CHINQUAPIN OAK

6193 13 ASH

6194 7 CEDAR

6195 6 CEDAR

6196 10 CEDAR

6197 11 ELM

6198 9 ASH

6199 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

6200 7 ELM

6201 8 ASH

6202 6 CEDAR

6203 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

6204 10 HACKBERRY

6205 4 BLACK WALNUT

6206 10 CEDAR

6207 6 CEDAR

6208 10 CEDAR

6209 12 ASH

6210 4 CEDAR

6211 4 CEDAR

6212 5 CEDAR

6213 14 CEDAR

6214 14 CEDAR

6215 8 ASH

6216 4 CEDAR



6217 5 CEDAR

6218 4 CEDAR

6219 5 CEDAR

6220 4 CEDAR

6221 4 CEDAR

6222 4 CEDAR

6223 4 CEDAR

6224 9 CEDAR

6225 8 ASH

6226 4 ASH

6227 14 ASH

6228 4 OSAGE ORANGE

6229 4 HACKBERRY

6230 12 CEDAR

6231 19 CEDAR

6232 8 ELM

6233 6 ASH

6234 11 CEDAR

6235 18 ASH

6236 9 ELM

6237 10 CEDAR

6238 4 HACKBERRY

6239 5 HACKBERRY

6240 6 HACKBERRY

6241 6 HACKBERRY

6242 7 HACKBERRY

6243 4 HACKBERRY

6244 5 ELM

6245 5 ELM

6246 5 HACKBERRY

6247 6 HACKBERRY

6248 7 HACKBERRY

6249 4 HACKBERRY

6250 4 HACKBERRY

6251 4 CEDAR

6252 5 CEDAR

6253 7 CEDAR

6254 11 CEDAR

6255 4 ELM

6256 12 CEDAR

6257 4 HACKBERRY

6258 10 ASH

6259 10 ASH

6260 4 CEDAR

6261 4 HACKBERRY

6262 8 HACKBERRY

6263 5 HACKBERRY

6264 9 HACKBERRY

6265 5 REDBUD

6266 13 HACKBERRY

6267 13 BLACK WALNUT

6268 9 HACKBERRY

6269 10 HONEY LOCUST

6270 5 CEDAR

6271 10 HACKBERRY

6272 8 HACKBERRY

6273 5 HACKBERRY

6274 5 CEDAR

6275 14 BLACK WALNUT

6276 9 BLACK WALNUT

6277 7 BLACK WALNUT

6278 7 CEDAR

6279 5 ELM

6280 4 HACKBERRY

6281 7 CEDAR

6282 14 CEDAR

6283 4 CEDAR

6284 4 CEDAR

6285 7 CEDAR

6286 6 ELM

6287 5 HACKBERRY

6288 7 HACKBERRY

6289 5 HACKBERRY

6290 5 CEDAR

6291 6 HACKBERRY

6292 6 HACKBERRY

6293 6 HACKBERRY

6294 7 HACKBERRY

6295 7 CEDAR

6296 5 HACKBERRY

6297 6 HACKBERRY

6298 5 CEDAR

6299 5 CEDAR

6300 12 CEDAR

6301 7 CEDAR

6302 4 HACKBERRY

6303 5 HACKBERRY

6304 6 HACKBERRY

6305 7 HACKBERRY

6306 6 HACKBERRY

6307 6 HACKBERRY

6308 4 HACKBERRY

6309 6 CEDAR

6310 4 HACKBERRY



6311 4 CEDAR

6312 4 CEDAR

6313 13 CEDAR

6314 6 ELM

6315 11 CEDAR

6316 5 CEDAR

6317 7 CEDAR

6318 5 ELM

6319 5 CEDAR

6320 5 ELM

6321 6 CEDAR

6322 6 HACKBERRY

6323 9 HACKBERRY

6324 13 BLACK WALNUT

6325 13 CEDAR

6326 4 ELM

6327 8 ELM

6328 10 CEDAR

6329 4 CEDAR

6330 7 CEDAR

6331 4 CEDAR

6332 10 CEDAR

6333 10 CEDAR

6334 5 CEDAR

6335 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

6336 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

6337 5 CEDAR

6338 5 HACKBERRY

6339 5 HACKBERRY

6340 5 HACKBERRY

6341 12 ELM

6342 4 CEDAR

6343 5 CEDAR

6344 10 CEDAR

6345 6 CEDAR

6346 5 MULBERRY

6347 9 CEDAR

6348 8 CEDAR

6349 15 CEDAR

6350 11 ASH

6351 9 HACKBERRY

6352 4 HACKBERRY

6353 4 ELM

6354 24 CEDAR

6355 10 CEDAR

6356 5 HACKBERRY

6357 5 ELM

6358 5 ELM

6359 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

6360 15 CEDAR

6361 8 CEDAR

6362 13 CEDAR

6363 14 CEDAR

6364 4 ELM

6365 15 CEDAR

6366 4 ELM

6367 6 CEDAR

6368 9 CEDAR

6369 6 CEDAR

6370 9 ASH

6371 12 CEDAR

6372 5 CEDAR

6373 12 CEDAR

6374 11 CEDAR

6375 4 ASH

6376 8 ELM

6377 6 ELM

6378 15 CEDAR

6379 6 ASH

6380 15 CEDAR

6381 8 CEDAR

6382 8 ELM

6383 14 CEDAR

6384 4 ELM

6385 10 ELM

6386 4 ELM

6387 20 CEDAR

6388 5 ELM

6389 5 ELM

6390 11 CEDAR

6391 14 CEDAR

6392 8 CEDAR

6393 15 CEDAR

6394 15 CEDAR

6395 13 CEDAR

6396 6 ELM

6397 6 ELM

6398 11 ELM

6399 7 CEDAR

6400 14 CEDAR

6401 12 CEDAR

6402 5 ELM

6403 10 ELM

6404 14 CEDAR



6405 13 ASH

6406 7 CEDAR

6407 10 CEDAR

6408 14 ASH

6409 4 CEDAR

6410 12 ASH

6411 7 ELM

6412 9 ELM

6413 7 CEDAR

6414 7 CEDAR

6415 5 ASH

6416 6 ELM

6417 5 CEDAR

6418 21 CHINQUAPIN OAK

6419 9 CEDAR

6420 13 HACKBERRY

6421 4 ELM

6422 8 CEDAR

6423 8 CEDAR

6424 4 CEDAR

6425 6 HACKBERRY

6426 4 SWEET GUM

6464 16 CEDAR

6465 6 ELM

6466 6 CEDAR

6467 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

6468 6 CEDAR

6469 7 CEDAR

6470 14 CEDAR

6471 12 ASH

6472 6 CEDAR

6473 14 CEDAR

6474 14 ASH

6475 6 CEDAR

6476 7 CEDAR

6477 8 ASH

6478 7 CEDAR

6479 4 CEDAR

6480 4 CEDAR

6481 5 ASH

6482 10 CEDAR

6483 8 CEDAR

6484 6 ASH

6485 6 CEDAR

6486 13 ASH

6487 11 ASH

6488 6 CEDAR

6489 8 ELM

6490 14 ELM

6491 8 CEDAR

6492 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

6493 9 CEDAR

6494 5 ELM

6495 8 ASH

6496 8 ASH

6497 6 ELM

6498 8 CEDAR

6499 7 ELM

6500 4 ASH

6501 4 ASH

6502 14 ASH

6503 6 ELM

6504 8 CEDAR

6505 14 ASH

6506 7 CEDAR

6507 8 CEDAR

6508 10 CEDAR

6509 8 CEDAR

6510 4 ASH

6511 5 CEDAR

6557 10 CEDAR

6558 4 CEDAR

6559 8 CEDAR

6560 10 ASH

6561 10 CEDAR

6562 15 CEDAR

6563 4 CEDAR

6564 10 CEDAR

6565 12 ASH

6566 6 CEDAR

6567 10 ASH

6568 10 ELM

6569 8 ASH

6570 8 ASH

6571 8 CEDAR

6572 9 ELM

6573 14 ELM

6574 11 ASH

6575 4 ASH

6576 6 ASH

6577 11 BLACK WALNUT

6578 8 ASH

6579 13 CEDAR

6580 7 ASH



6581 4 CEDAR

6582 5 CEDAR

6583 8 ASH

6584 9 ASH

6585 4 CEDAR

6586 4 CEDAR

6603 4 CEDAR

6604 11 CEDAR

6605 12 ASH

6606 5 CEDAR

6607 4 CEDAR

6608 6 ELM

6615 4 ASH

6647 4 CEDAR

6648 13 CEDAR

6649 7 CEDAR

6650 4 MULBERRY

6651 8 CEDAR

6652 10 CEDAR

6653 7 CEDAR

6654 7 BLACK WALNUT

6655 12 ASH

6656 6 ASH

6657 6 ASH

6658 15 SHUMARD OAK

6659 4 ELM

6660 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

6661 4 MULBERRY

6662 6 OSAGE ORANGE

6663 6 CEDAR

6664 6 CEDAR

6665 12 CEDAR

6666 6 CEDAR

6667 13 CEDAR

6668 10 ASH

6669 8 CEDAR

6670 10 CEDAR

6671 10 CEDAR

6672 4 VIRGINIA PINE

6718 16 CEDAR

6719 14 CEDAR

6720 8 CEDAR

6721 9 CEDAR

6722 8 ASH

6723 8 ELM

6724 9 ELM

6726 7 ELM

6727 9 ELM

6728 7 CEDAR

6729 5 CEDAR

6730 12 CEDAR

6731 13 CEDAR

6732 11 CEDAR

6733 10 CEDAR

6734 15 CEDAR

6735 12 CEDAR

6736 9 ASH

6737 12 ELM

6740 9 CEDAR

6741 9 ASH

6742 6 ASH

6743 8 RED OAK

6744 7 ASH

6745 8 RED OAK

7221 7 OSAGE ORANGE

7222 5 ASH

7234 14 RED OAK

7255 6 CEDAR

7271 5 ELM

7373 26 CEDAR

7374 10 ELM

7375 18 CEDAR

7376 18 ASH

7377 14 CEDAR

7378 11 CEDAR

7379 4 CEDAR

7380 10 CEDAR

7381 9 CEDAR

7382 11 ASH

7383 7 CEDAR

7384 6 CEDAR

7385 14 CEDAR

7386 15 CEDAR

7387 10 CEDAR

7388 7 CEDAR

7389 6 CEDAR

7390 16 CEDAR

7391 5 CEDAR

7392 8 ASH

7393 8 ELM

7394 4 ELM

7395 9 CEDAR

7397 11 CEDAR

7398 12 CEDAR



7399 12 CEDAR

7471 20 CEDAR

7472 6 DOGWOOD

7473 5 REDBUD

7474 12 CEDAR

7475 4 DOGWOOD

7476 19 CEDAR

7477 7 CEDAR

7478 10 CEDAR

7479 4 ELM

7480 5 DOGWOOD

7481 5 DOGWOOD

7482 11 CEDAR

7483 10 CEDAR

7484 17 CEDAR

7485 14 CEDAR

7486 7 CEDAR

7487 17 CEDAR

7488 6 ASH

7489 5 DOGWOOD

7490 14 ELM

7491 11 CEDAR

7492 13 ASH

7493 12 SASSAFRAS

7494 8 SASSAFRAS

7668 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7669 22 RED OAK

7670 4 CEDAR

7671 10 RED OAK

7672 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7673 13 CEDAR

7674 9 SUGAR MAPLE

7675 14 ASH

7676 5 CEDAR

7677 5 HICKORY

7678 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7679 12 RED OAK

7680 13 ASH

7681 7 RED OAK

7682 9 CEDAR

7683 18 ASH

7684 11 RED OAK

7685 9 CEDAR

7686 24 RED OAK

7687 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7689 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7752 5 ASH

7753 17 ASH

7754 14 ELM

7755 7 CEDAR

7756 8 CEDAR

7757 12 ASH

7758 14 ASH

7759 10 CEDAR

7760 6 ASH

7761 12 ASH

7762 13 ASH

7763 18 ASH

7764 9 HICKORY

7765 12 ASH

7766 6 DOGWOOD

7767 14 ASH

7768 5 DOGWOOD

7769 4 DOGWOOD

7770 9 CEDAR

7771 8 CEDAR

7772 13 ELM

7773 7 ASH

7774 14 CEDAR

7775 7 ASH

7776 17 CEDAR

7777 5 CEDAR

7778 7 BLACK LOCUST

7779 18 ASH

7780 11 CEDAR

7781 6 ASH

7782 7 ELM

7783 13 RED OAK

7784 11 RED OAK

7785 11 CEDAR

7786 10 ELM

7787 9 CEDAR

7788 9 RED OAK

7789 11 RED OAK

7790 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7791 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7792 20 RED OAK

7793 10 RED OAK

7794 6 ELM

7795 9 CEDAR

7796 7 ELM

7797 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7798 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7799 14 ASH



7800 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7801 17 ASH

7802 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7803 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7804 7 HICKORY

7805 12 RED OAK

7806 13 ASH

7807 15 ASH

7808 10 CEDAR

7809 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7810 5 CEDAR

7811 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7812 18 ASH

7813 4 HICKORY

7814 4 MULBERRY

7815 4 MULBERRY

7816 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7817 8 CEDAR

7818 14 RED OAK

7819 5 MULBERRY

7820 5 CEDAR

7821 5 CEDAR

7822 8 ASH

7823 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7824 4 CEDAR

7825 6 CEDAR

7826 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7827 6 PERSIMMON

7828 4 ASH

7829 6 RED OAK

7830 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7831 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7832 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7833 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7834 18 RED OAK

7835 17 RED OAK

7836 21 RED OAK

7837 5 ELM

7838 7 CEDAR

7839 6 CEDAR

7840 9 CEDAR

7841 16 RED OAK

7842 5 SHAGBARK HICKORY

7843 4 SHAGBARK HICKORY

7844 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7845 4 ELM

7846 6 ELM

7847 13 CEDAR

7848 7 CEDAR

7849 8 ASH

7850 4 ASH

7851 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

7852 4 ASH

7853 5 ASH

7854 10 CEDAR

7855 7 ASH

7856 5 CEDAR

7857 8 CEDAR

7858 5 CEDAR

7859 5 CEDAR

7860 8 CEDAR

7861 6 CEDAR

7862 7 CEDAR

7863 15 RED OAK

7864 14 RED OAK

7865 7 CEDAR

7866 6 CEDAR

7867 9 CEDAR

7868 5 CEDAR

7869 17 ASH

7870 6 CEDAR

7871 4 PERSIMMON

7872 7 CEDAR

7873 4 ELM

8038 5 HACKBERRY

8039 6 HACKBERRY

8040 7 HACKBERRY

8041 4 HACKBERRY

8042 6 HACKBERRY

8043 8 ELM

8044 6 CEDAR

8045 5 HACKBERRY

8046 6 HACKBERRY

8047 4 HACKBERRY

8048 6 HACKBERRY

8049 5 HACKBERRY

8050 4 CEDAR

8051 4 CEDAR

8052 4 ELM

8053 5 ELM

8054 4 CEDAR

8055 6 HACKBERRY

8056 6 HACKBERRY

8057 8 HACKBERRY



8058 7 HACKBERRY

8059 6 HACKBERRY

8060 5 HACKBERRY

8061 5 CEDAR

8077 16 ASH

8081 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8082 14 CEDAR

8083 10 CEDAR

8084 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8085 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8086 7 ELM

8087 15 RED OAK

8088 11 CEDAR

8089 10 RED OAK

8090 6 RED OAK

8091 5 CEDAR

8092 7 CEDAR

8093 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8094 13 RED OAK

8095 6 RED OAK

8096 9 ASH

8097 9 CEDAR

8099 16 RED OAK

8100 13 CEDAR

8101 4 ELM

8102 5 CEDAR

8103 14 CEDAR

8104 8 CEDAR

8122 8 HICKORY

8242 12 CEDAR

8243 11 ELM

8244 11 CEDAR

8245 7 ELM

8256 11 ELM

8258 11 CEDAR

8259 8 DOGWOOD

8260 6 ELM

8434 11 CEDAR

8435 8 HICKORY

8438 9 CEDAR

8439 18 ASH

8441 5 OSTRAYA

8442 5 ELM

8443 7 CEDAR

8444 15 ASH

8445 6 CEDAR

8446 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8447 6 RED OAK

8448 15 RED OAK

8449 9 RED OAK

8450 13 CEDAR

8451 7 RED OAK

8452 7 CEDAR

8453 9 CEDAR

8454 12 ASH

8455 14 ASH

8456 9 CEDAR

8457 14 RED OAK

8458 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8459 6 HICKORY

8460 14 RED OAK

8461 19 ASH

8462 12 CEDAR

8463 10 RED OAK

8464 7 RED OAK

8465 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8466 8 CEDAR

8467 9 ASH

8468 13 ASH

8517 13 ELM

8518 21 ASH

8519 9 BLACK LOCUST

8520 7 BLACK LOCUST

8521 11 CEDAR

8522 12 ELM

8523 8 BLACK LOCUST

8524 4 ASH

8525 8 ELM

8526 15 BLACK LOCUST

8527 13 CEDAR

8553 5 ASH

8554 4 ASH

8555 7 BLACK LOCUST

8556 8 BLACK LOCUST

8557 9 HACKBERRY

8558 8 BLACK LOCUST

8559 8 BLACK LOCUST

8560 5 ASH

8561 12 ASH

8562 7 BLACK LOCUST

8563 5 BLACK LOCUST

8564 12 CEDAR

8565 12 CEDAR

8566 5 ASH



8567 7 ASH

8568 17 CEDAR

8569 12 ASH

8570 7 CEDAR

8571 19 ASH

8572 7 CEDAR

8573 11 CEDAR

8574 11 PERSIMMON

8575 12 CEDAR

8586 13 ASH

8587 12 BLACK LOCUST

8588 6 REDBUD

8589 11 CEDAR

8590 6 ELM

8591 13 CEDAR

8592 12 CEDAR

8593 9 CEDAR

8594 13 CEDAR

8595 5 CEDAR

8596 7 CEDAR

8597 10 ASH

8598 7 CEDAR

8599 12 CEDAR

8600 9 CEDAR

8601 12 HACKBERRY

8602 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8603 11 ASH

8604 13 SUGAR MAPLE

8605 10 RED OAK

8606 7 CEDAR

8607 14 ELM

8608 10 CEDAR

8609 12 ASH

8610 13 ASH

8611 9 CEDAR

8612 19 CEDAR

8613 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8614 5 HACKBERRY

8615 7 HACKBERRY

8616 6 HACKBERRY

8617 12 RED OAK

8618 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8619 15 ELM

8620 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8621 16 ELM

8622 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8623 14 RED OAK

8624 6 POST OAK

8625 10 RED OAK

8626 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8627 4 OSTRAYA

8628 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8629 8 HACKBERRY

8630 12 CEDAR

8631 7 ASH

8632 16 RED OAK

8633 11 RED OAK

8634 7 ASH

8635 16 RED OAK

8636 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8637 8 RED OAK

8638 18 RED OAK

8639 9 RED OAK

8640 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8641 10 ASH

8642 6 RED OAK

8643 6 PERSIMMON

8644 5 PERSIMMON

8645 5 PERSIMMON

8646 9 RED OAK

8647 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8648 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8649 7 ASH

8650 6 ASH

8651 4 ASH

8652 7 ASH

8653 4 ELM

8654 5 ASH

8655 4 ASH

8656 11 ASH

8657 5 ASH

8658 7 ASH

8659 11 RED OAK

8660 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

8661 6 CEDAR

8662 10 ASH

8663 4 ELM

8664 6 ASH

8665 4 ASH

8666 7 ASH

8667 8 ASH

8668 6 ASH

8669 7 ASH

8670 4 REDBUD



8671 10 RED OAK

8672 9 RED OAK

8673 9 RED OAK

8674 5 RED OAK

8675 5 ASH

8676 16 RED OAK

8677 5 ASH

8678 9 ASH

8679 6 ELM

9101 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

9102 13 SHUMARD OAK

9103 6 SUGAR MAPLE

9104 12 SUGAR MAPLE

9105 7 ASH

9110 9 ASH

9111 13 ASH

9138 6 SUGAR MAPLE

9144 10 ASH

9145 7 ELM

9146 8 CEDAR

9147 10 ASH

9221 7 ASH

9222 7 CEDAR

9223 9 CEDAR

9224 7 CEDAR

9225 8 ASH

9230 6 CEDAR

9231 6 CEDAR

9232 8 ASH

9233 7 CEDAR

9234 6 CEDAR

9235 9 ASH

9236 6 CEDAR

9237 10 ASH

9238 11 ASH

9239 7 CEDAR

9240 16 ASH

9241 7 CEDAR

9242 8 CEDAR

9243 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

9244 17 ASH

9319 4 CEDAR

9320 18 CEDAR

9708 13 ASH

9709 9 ELM

9710 4 DOGWOOD

9711 13 CEDAR

9712 4 ELM

9713 13 ELM

9714 6 ASH

9715 5 DOGWOOD

9716 5 DOGWOOD

9717 5 DOGWOOD

9718 4 DOGWOOD

9719 9 ASH

9720 6 ASH

9721 5 ASH

9722 6 ASH

9723 7 ASH

9724 6 ASH

9725 6 ASH

9726 18 ASH

9727 5 CEDAR

9728 7 ELM

9729 6 ELM

9730 5 CEDAR

9731 7 ELM

9732 7 CEDAR

9733 9 PERSIMMON

9734 7 ASH

9735 9 ELM

9736 8 ELM

9737 5 ASH

9738 6 ELM

9739 4 ELM

9740 5 ELM

9741 8 ASH

9742 7 HACKBERRY

9743 10 ELM

9744 21 ASH

9745 5 ELM

9746 8 CEDAR

9747 4 CEDAR

10055 32 RED OAK

10129 6 CEDAR

10131 5 CEDAR

10132 8 ELM

10133 12 SUGAR MAPLE

10134 9 SUGAR MAPLE

10135 18 CEDAR

10136 12 SUGAR MAPLE

10141 4 OSTRAYA

10142 5 ELM

10143 12 SHAGBARK HICKORY



10144 13 CEDAR

10145 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10146 19 RED OAK

10147 6 CEDAR

10148 22 RED OAK

10149 18 CEDAR

10150 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10151 7 CEDAR

10152 5 RED OAK

10153 8 RED OAK

10154 8 OSAGE ORANGE

10155 10 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10156 5 RED OAK

10157 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10158 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10159 10 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10160 10 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10161 11 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10162 9 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10163 8 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10164 4 OSTRAYA

10165 5 CEDAR

10166 4 CEDAR

10167 5 CEDAR

10168 5 CEDAR

10169 4 CEDAR

10170 11 CEDAR

10171 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10172 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10173 5 CEDAR

10174 4 ELM

10175 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10176 5 ELM

10177 4 ASH

10178 4 PERSIMMON

10179 5 ASH

10182 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10183 17 CEDAR

10185 5 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10186 8 CEDAR

10187 7 ELM

10188 4 ASH

10189 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10190 9 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10191 10 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10192 15 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10193 6 CEDAR

10194 13 CEDAR

10195 7 RED OAK

10196 13 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10197 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10198 6 ELM

10199 8 CEDAR

10200 16 ASH

10201 10 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10202 13 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10203 6 CEDAR

10204 6 OSAGE ORANGE

10205 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10206 7 CEDAR

10207 14 RED OAK

10208 11 SUGAR MAPLE

10209 14 ASH

10210 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10211 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10212 25 RED OAK

10213 22 RED OAK

10214 10 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10215 13 CEDAR

10216 13 CEDAR

10217 6 CEDAR

10218 17 ASH

10219 6 CEDAR

10220 17 RED OAK

10221 8 ASH

10222 4 CEDAR

10223 4 CEDAR

10224 21 RED OAK

10225 5 SUGAR MAPLE

10226 4 ELM

10227 12 SUGAR MAPLE

10228 12 ASH

10229 18 RED OAK

10230 8 SUGAR MAPLE

10231 14 RED OAK

10232 9 SUGAR MAPLE

10233 23 RED OAK

10234 15 ASH

10235 4 SUGAR MAPLE

10236 12 SUGAR MAPLE

10237 18 RED OAK

10281 4 ASH

10282 7 ASH

10283 14 RED OAK



10284 14 RED OAK

10286 16 RED OAK

10287 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10288 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10289 7 CEDAR

10290 4 SUGAR MAPLE

10291 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10292 15 RED OAK

10293 7 RED OAK

10294 4 CEDAR

10295 4 DOGWOOD

10296 6 DOGWOOD

10297 6 CEDAR

10298 4 ELM

10299 8 ASH

10300 5 ELM

10301 5 ELM

10302 11 ASH

10303 5 BLACK LOCUST

10304 11 SUGAR MAPLE

10305 18 ASH

10306 9 CEDAR

10307 7 DOGWOOD

10308 7 ELM

10309 5 BLACK LOCUST

10310 11 CEDAR

10311 20 ASH

10312 6 SUGAR MAPLE

10313 4 DOGWOOD

10314 4 DOGWOOD

10315 17 ASH

10316 18 ASH

10317 6 ASH

10318 14 SUGAR MAPLE

10319 5 SUGAR MAPLE

10320 4 ELM

10321 4 ELM

10322 5 ASH

10323 11 SASSAFRAS

10324 8 SASSAFRAS

10325 9 ASH

10326 6 ASH

10327 4 DOGWOOD

10328 5 ASH

10329 8 PERSIMMON

10330 6 ASH

10331 4 ELM

10332 9 ASH

10333 7 SASSAFRAS

10661 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10662 8 SHUMARD OAK

10663 13 SHUMARD OAK

10664 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10665 4 ASH

10666 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10667 11 ASH

10668 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10669 16 SHUMARD OAK

10670 11 ASH

10671 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10672 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10673 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10674 11 SHUMARD OAK

10675 11 ASH

10676 15 SHUMARD OAK

10677 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10678 7 SHUMARD OAK

10679 9 SHUMARD OAK

10680 29 SHAGBARK HICKORY

10681 7 CEDAR

10682 5 CEDAR

10683 5 CEDAR

10684 8 SHUMARD OAK

10685 5 ASH

10686 6 CEDAR

10687 8 SHUMARD OAK

10688 9 CEDAR

10689 9 CEDAR

10690 7 SHUMARD OAK

10691 4 ASH

10692 7 ASH

10693 12 CEDAR

10694 13 CEDAR

10695 4 ASH

10696 6 CEDAR

10697 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10698 9 SHUMARD OAK

10699 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10700 15 ASH

10701 14 SHUMARD OAK

10702 7 SHUMARD OAK

10703 11 SHUMARD OAK

10704 11 SHUMARD OAK

10705 4 ASH



10706 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10707 9 ASH

10708 6 ASH

10709 12 SHUMARD OAK

10710 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10711 13 SHUMARD OAK

10712 4 SHUMARD OAK

10713 7 CEDAR

10714 16 SHUMARD OAK

10715 7 ASH

10716 4 ASH

10717 14 SHUMARD OAK

10718 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10719 8 ASH

10720 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

10864 14 SUGAR MAPLE

10865 5 DOGWOOD

10866 8 PERSIMMON

10867 5 DOGWOOD

10868 6 DOGWOOD

10869 15 CEDAR

10870 13 ASH

10871 12 CEDAR

10872 4 ELM

10873 9 SUGAR MAPLE

10874 13 ELM

10875 13 CEDAR

10876 12 ASH

10877 12 ASH

10878 10 ASH

10879 23 RED OAK

10880 15 ASH

10881 10 SASSAFRAS

10882 11 SASSAFRAS

10883 7 SASSAFRAS

10884 5 ELM

10885 7 ELM

10886 6 ASH

10887 8 ASH

10888 4 ELM

10889 5 DOGWOOD

10890 6 ELM

10891 9 ELM

10892 6 ASH

10893 12 ASH

10894 17 WHITE OAK

10895 10 ASH

11189 13 RED OAK

11190 4 CEDAR

11191 6 HICKORY

11192 24 RED OAK

11193 4 ASH

11194 6 CEDAR

11195 13 RED OAK

11196 6 CEDAR

11197 7 ASH

11198 7 CEDAR

11199 8 CEDAR

11200 7 CEDAR

11201 4 ASH

11202 5 ASH

11203 6 ELM

11204 13 RED OAK

11205 4 RED OAK

11206 8 RED OAK

11207 7 ASH

11208 4 ASH

11209 5 ELM

11210 5 ELM

11211 8 WHITE OAK

11212 9 CEDAR

11213 7 ASH

11214 7 ASH

11215 9 ASH

11216 4 RED OAK

11217 10 CEDAR

11218 9 ASH

11219 14 RED OAK

11220 9 CEDAR

11221 4 ASH

11222 8 CEDAR

11223 8 CEDAR

11224 10 CEDAR

11225 7 CEDAR

11226 9 CEDAR

11227 8 RED OAK

11228 9 CEDAR

11229 4 ASH

11230 5 WHITE OAK

11231 10 WHITE OAK

11232 5 WHITE OAK

11233 6 HACKBERRY

11234 15 RED OAK

11235 12 WHITE OAK



11236 8 ASH

11237 8 CEDAR

11238 7 WHITE OAK

11239 17 RED OAK

11240 4 HICKORY

11241 6 CEDAR

11242 8 HICKORY

11243 5 WHITE OAK

11244 13 RED OAK

11245 5 SUGAR MAPLE

11246 5 HICKORY

11247 5 WHITE OAK

11248 21 WHITE OAK

11249 6 WHITE OAK

11250 12 RED OAK

11251 4 ASH

11252 5 ASH

11253 11 RED OAK

11254 6 ASH

11255 6 ASH

11256 6 ASH

11257 20 RED OAK

11258 7 CEDAR

11259 4 WHITE OAK

11497 4 ELM

11498 4 ELM

11499 7 RED OAK

11500 9 ASH

11501 11 RED OAK

11502 4 ELM

11503 5 ASH

11504 17 RED OAK

11505 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11506 10 CEDAR

11507 11 RED OAK

11508 17 RED OAK

11509 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11510 8 ASH

11511 7 ASH

11512 4 BLACK LOCUST

11513 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11514 9 ASH

11515 11 CEDAR

11516 11 CEDAR

11517 4 ELM

11518 6 HICKORY

11519 5 ELM

11520 7 ASH

11521 8 CEDAR

11522 9 ASH

11523 5 ELM

11524 4 ELM

11525 6 ASH

11526 7 ASH

11527 5 ELM

11528 4 ELM

11529 5 ASH

11539 12 CEDAR

11540 6 ASH

11541 6 HACKBERRY

11542 4 ELM

11543 4 ELM

11544 5 ASH

11545 16 CEDAR

11546 10 CEDAR

11547 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11548 9 CEDAR

11549 9 CEDAR

11836 10 RED OAK

11837 5 ASH

11842 7 CEDAR

11843 5 ASH

11844 14 RED OAK

11846 5 CEDAR

11847 6 CEDAR

11848 6 ASH

11849 11 RED OAK

11850 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11851 8 RED OAK

11852 7 ASH

11853 8 ASH

11854 8 CEDAR

11855 9 ASH

11856 4 ASH

11857 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11858 8 CEDAR

11859 5 ASH

11860 5 CEDAR

11861 4 ASH

11862 4 ASH

11863 9 ASH

11864 10 ASH

11865 10 CEDAR

11866 4 CEDAR



11867 23 HICKORY

11868 6 CEDAR

11869 4 CEDAR

11870 7 ASH

11871 4 ASH

11872 6 ASH

11873 4 CEDAR

11874 4 CEDAR

11875 5 CEDAR

11876 9 ASH

11877 5 ASH

11878 5 ASH

11879 5 ASH

11880 8 ASH

11881 7 ASH

11882 6 ASH

11883 7 RED OAK

11884 6 ASH

11885 5 CEDAR

11886 7 CEDAR

11887 9 ASH

11888 7 CEDAR

11889 6 CEDAR

11890 5 CEDAR

11891 7 CEDAR

11892 9 CEDAR

11893 5 CEDAR

11894 7 ASH

11895 16 RED OAK

11896 8 CEDAR

11897 5 ASH

11898 9 ASH

11899 8 CEDAR

11900 15 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11901 15 RED OAK

11902 11 RED OAK

11903 22 RED OAK

11904 4 ASH

11905 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11906 6 ASH

11907 9 ASH

11908 4 ASH

11909 4 RED OAK

11910 20 BLACK WALNUT

11911 6 RED OAK

11912 8 CEDAR

11913 5 CEDAR

11914 8 ASH

11915 9 ASH

11916 4 CEDAR

11917 21 RED OAK

11918 4 ASH

11919 8 CEDAR

11920 4 CEDAR

11921 13 RED OAK

11922 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11923 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11924 13 RED OAK

11925 4 OSTRAYA

11926 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11927 10 RED OAK

11928 13 ELM

11929 5 ASH

11931 9 ASH

11932 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11933 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

11934 9 ASH

12095 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12096 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12097 8 CEDAR

12098 18 ASH

12099 7 CEDAR

12100 7 CEDAR

12101 10 ASH

12102 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12103 8 CEDAR

12104 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12105 15 ASH

12106 14 ASH

12107 5 HICKORY

12108 7 CEDAR

12109 12 ASH

12110 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12111 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12112 8 HICKORY

12113 10 CEDAR

12114 16 RED OAK

12115 5 CEDAR

12116 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12117 10 RED OAK

12118 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12119 5 ELM

12120 14 RED OAK

12300 10 RED OAK



12301 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12302 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12303 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12304 7 RED OAK

12305 10 RED OAK

12306 4 ASH

12307 4 ASH

12308 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12309 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12310 12 RED OAK

12311 6 ASH

12312 10 ASH

12313 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12314 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12315 22 RED OAK

12316 5 ASH

12317 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12318 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12319 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12320 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12321 4 ASH

12322 15 RED OAK

12323 15 ASH

12324 6 CEDAR

12325 5 CEDAR

12326 7 ASH

12327 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12328 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12329 11 RED OAK

12330 7 CEDAR

12331 10 CEDAR

12332 5 CEDAR

12333 11 RED OAK

12334 4 ASH

12335 8 CEDAR

12336 16 RED OAK

12337 7 RED OAK

12338 6 CEDAR

12339 7 CEDAR

12340 15 RED OAK

12341 6 CEDAR

12342 14 RED OAK

12343 7 HICKORY

12344 14 RED OAK

12345 14 RED OAK

12346 4 ASH

12418 25 ASH

12419 23 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12420 32 RED OAK

12421 13 SUGAR MAPLE

12422 19 BLACK WALNUT

12423 29 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12424 17 SUGAR MAPLE

12425 13 BLACK WALNUT

12426 33 RED OAK

12427 31 RED OAK

12428 37 RED OAK

12429 12 CEDAR

12430 12 ASH

12431 9 ASH

12432 8 HACKBERRY

12433 6 ASH

12434 4 ASH

12435 4 ASH

12436 5 ASH

12437 5 HACKBERRY

12438 4 BLACK WALNUT

12439 10 ASH

12440 5 REDBUD

12441 4 CEDAR

12442 6 CEDAR

12443 11 ASH

12444 8 CEDAR

12445 4 OSTRAYA

12446 7 CEDAR

12447 4 CEDAR

12448 4 OSTRAYA

12449 8 ASH

12450 6 CEDAR

12451 7 ELM

12452 6 OSTRAYA

12453 8 ELM

12454 5 PERSIMMON

12455 5 ELM

12456 4 PERSIMMON

12457 17 ASH

12458 17 ASH

12459 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12460 4 ASH

12461 5 ELM

12462 5 SASSAFRAS

12463 6 OSTRAYA

12464 13 SASSAFRAS

12465 6 CEDAR



12466 9 ELM

12467 8 HACKBERRY

12468 6 ELM

12469 5 OSTRAYA

12470 12 ASH

12471 5 OSTRAYA

12472 4 OSTRAYA

12473 38 RED OAK

12474 8 RED OAK

12475 30 RED OAK

12476 4 CEDAR

12477 4 CEDAR

12478 6 CEDAR

12479 5 CEDAR

12480 26 RED OAK

12481 6 ELM

12482 7 ELM

12483 7 OSAGE ORANGE

12484 4 CEDAR

12485 9 CEDAR

12486 11 ASH

12487 16 ASH

12488 11 ASH

12489 4 CEDAR

12490 8 CEDAR

12491 11 RED OAK

12492 5 ELM

12493 6 CEDAR

12494 11 HACKBERRY

12495 9 HICKORY

12496 15 RED OAK

12497 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12498 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12499 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12500 14 RED OAK

12501 14 RED OAK

12502 10 ASH

12503 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12504 12 RED OAK

12505 9 RED OAK

12506 11 RED OAK

12507 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12508 4 SUGAR MAPLE

12509 10 CEDAR

12510 15 RED OAK

12511 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12512 5 SUGAR MAPLE

12513 4 OSTRAYA

12514 7 ASH

12515 8 HICKORY

12516 13 RED OAK

12517 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12518 11 HACKBERRY

12519 14 CEDAR

12520 12 BLACK WALNUT

12521 10 BLACK WALNUT

12522 10 HICKORY

12523 5 CEDAR

12524 14 RED OAK

12525 8 ASH

12526 11 SUGAR MAPLE

12527 7 HACKBERRY

12528 9 ASH

12529 7 HACKBERRY

12530 6 HACKBERRY

12531 7 HACKBERRY

12532 8 HACKBERRY

12533 16 RED OAK

12534 10 ELM

12535 8 PERSIMMON

12536 8 HACKBERRY

12537 5 HACKBERRY

12538 17 HICKORY

12539 8 BLACK WALNUT

12540 12 BLACK WALNUT

12541 27 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12542 6 ASH

12543 12 ASH

12544 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12545 14 RED OAK

12546 8 ASH

12547 5 ASH

12548 9 ASH

12549 15 ASH

12550 8 HACKBERRY

12551 4 HACKBERRY

12552 4 HACKBERRY

12553 4 HACKBERRY

12554 7 HACKBERRY

12555 4 CEDAR

12556 16 ASH

12557 4 HICKORY

12558 4 CEDAR

12559 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK



12560 6 HACKBERRY

12561 4 ASH

12562 11 ASH

12563 9 HICKORY

12564 10 HICKORY

12565 5 HICKORY

12566 7 ASH

12567 13 RED OAK

12568 9 ASH

12569 9 CEDAR

12570 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12571 8 ASH

12572 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12573 8 CEDAR

12574 15 CEDAR

12575 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12576 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12577 8 ASH

12578 10 ASH

12579 7 ASH

12580 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12581 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12582 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12583 10 CEDAR

12584 18 ASH

12585 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12701 17 RED OAK

12702 4 ASH

12703 10 ASH

12704 7 ASH

12705 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12706 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12707 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12708 11 ASH

12709 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12710 12 ASH

12711 14 ASH

12712 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12713 14 ASH

12714 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12715 6 ASH

12716 11 SUGAR MAPLE

12717 15 SUGAR MAPLE

12718 6 RED OAK

12719 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12720 15 RED OAK

12721 18 ASH

12722 4 OSTRAYA

12723 5 HICKORY

12724 4 RED OAK

12725 8 ASH

12726 12 ASH

12727 26 RED OAK

12728 12 CEDAR

12729 18 ASH

12730 4 BLACK WALNUT

12731 9 CEDAR

12732 11 HICKORY

12733 11 HICKORY

12734 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12735 9 RED OAK

12736 6 BLACK WALNUT

12737 12 ASH

12738 5 HACKBERRY

12739 8 RED OAK

12740 5 HICKORY

12741 4 HACKBERRY

12742 5 ELM

12743 14 ASH

12744 17 RED OAK

12745 14 ASH

12746 7 ASH

12747 6 CEDAR

12748 6 RED OAK

12749 5 CEDAR

12750 4 ASH

12751 4 ELM

12752 15 RED OAK

12753 10 HICKORY

12754 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12755 8 CEDAR

12756 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12925 17 RED OAK

12926 7 CEDAR

12927 10 CEDAR

12928 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12929 12 CEDAR

12930 13 RED OAK

12931 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

12932 13 RED OAK

12933 8 CEDAR

12934 8 RED OAK

12999 24 RED OAK

13000 40 RED OAK



13001 20 RED OAK

13002 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13003 21 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13006 41 ASH

13007 7 CEDAR

13008 4 HACKBERRY

13009 33 ELM

13010 4 CEDAR

13011 7 ASH

13012 6 ASH

13013 7 ELM

13014 4 ELM

13015 8 ELM

13016 5 HACKBERRY

13017 5 HACKBERRY

13018 4 BLACK LOCUST

13019 4 ELM

13020 6 HACKBERRY

13021 11 SUGAR MAPLE

13034 18 RED OAK

13035 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13036 16 RED OAK

13037 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13038 16 RED OAK

13039 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13040 8 RED OAK

13041 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13042 13 RED OAK

13043 14 RED OAK

13044 4 SUGAR MAPLE

13045 4 ASH

13046 7 ASH

13047 4 ELM

13048 6 ASH

13049 4 ELM

13050 7 RED OAK

13051 14 ASH

13052 4 ELM

13053 22 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13054 7 CEDAR

13055 4 ASH

13056 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13057 10 RED OAK

13058 6 ASH

13059 8 SUGAR MAPLE

13060 7 ASH

13061 13 CEDAR

13062 8 ASH

13063 10 ELM

13064 6 ASH

13065 9 ELM

13066 11 ASH

13067 4 ELM

13068 7 ASH

13069 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13070 5 ASH

13071 7 REDBUD

13072 5 RED OAK

13073 8 ASH

13074 14 ASH

13075 6 ELM

13076 10 ASH

13077 7 ASH

13078 11 ASH

13079 8 RED OAK

13080 5 ASH

13081 16 ASH

13082 4 ASH

13083 4 ASH

13084 9 ELM

13085 12 CEDAR

13086 14 ASH

13087 9 CEDAR

13088 7 ASH

13089 9 ASH

13090 9 ASH

13091 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13092 9 ASH

13093 10 ASH

13094 4 ASH

13095 11 ASH

13096 10 CEDAR

13097 7 ASH

13098 7 ASH

13099 8 ASH

13100 8 ASH

13101 11 ASH

13102 5 ASH

13103 4 ASH

13104 7 ASH

13105 4 ASH

13106 10 ASH

13107 10 CEDAR

13108 8 CEDAR



13109 10 CEDAR

13110 4 ASH

13111 8 ASH

13112 15 ASH

13113 14 ASH

13114 9 CEDAR

13115 4 OSTRAYA

13116 25 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13117 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13118 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13119 4 ASH

13120 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13172 13 ELM

13173 8 ELM

13174 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13175 11 CEDAR

13176 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13177 7 SASSAFRAS

13178 23 RED OAK

13179 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13180 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13181 18 RED OAK

13182 19 RED OAK

13183 9 ASH

13184 7 RED OAK

13185 12 RED OAK

13186 5 HICKORY

13187 10 RED OAK

13188 8 RED OAK

13189 11 RED OAK

13190 14 RED OAK

13191 18 RED OAK

13192 10 ASH

13193 4 HICKORY

13194 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13195 8 ELM

13196 12 ASH

13197 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13229 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13230 6 RED OAK

13231 13 RED OAK

13232 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13233 12 RED OAK

13236 7 RED OAK

13237 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13238 17 ASH

13239 16 ASH

13240 15 HICKORY

13241 6 HICKORY

13242 19 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13243 4 RED OAK

13244 10 RED OAK

13245 14 BLACK WALNUT

13246 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13250 11 ELM

13251 4 ELM

13252 26 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13253 6 HICKORY

13254 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13255 8 RED OAK

13256 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13257 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13258 35 RED OAK

13259 11 SUGAR MAPLE

13260 7 SUGAR MAPLE

13261 10 SUGAR MAPLE

13262 7 BLACK WALNUT

13263 13 ELM

13264 6 CEDAR

13265 5 OSTRAYA

13266 6 CEDAR

13267 5 CEDAR

13268 7 CEDAR

13269 5 CEDAR

13270 4 CEDAR

13271 6 CEDAR

13272 9 ELM

13273 10 ELM

13274 5 ELM

13275 6 ELM

13276 13 ELM

13277 10 CEDAR

13278 4 CEDAR

13279 5 CEDAR

13280 4 OSTRAYA

13281 5 CEDAR

13282 6 ELM

13283 4 CEDAR

13397 6 SUGAR MAPLE

13398 4 ELM

13399 12 CEDAR

13400 22 ASH

13401 15 CEDAR

13402 7 ASH



13403 5 ELM

13404 4 ELM

13405 6 ELM

13406 10 CEDAR

13407 10 CEDAR

13408 13 ELM

13409 6 CEDAR

13410 6 CEDAR

13411 15 CEDAR

13412 8 CEDAR

13413 4 SUGAR MAPLE

13414 9 CEDAR

13415 4 ELM

13416 9 CEDAR

13417 7 CEDAR

13418 14 ASH

13419 17 ASH

13420 7 CEDAR

13421 5 CEDAR

13422 7 HACKBERRY

13423 14 CEDAR

13424 5 ELM

13425 8 ELM

13426 5 CEDAR

13427 5 CEDAR

13428 6 CEDAR

13429 6 CEDAR

13430 12 CEDAR

13431 7 ELM

13432 14 ASH

13433 8 CEDAR

13434 4 CEDAR

13435 7 ELM

13436 7 CEDAR

13437 9 CEDAR

13438 7 CEDAR

13439 4 CEDAR

13440 5 CEDAR

13441 6 CEDAR

13442 11 CEDAR

13443 7 CEDAR

13444 6 CEDAR

13445 16 CEDAR

13446 4 ELM

13447 12 CEDAR

13448 6 CEDAR

13449 5 ELM

13450 9 ELM

13451 5 HACKBERRY

13452 7 PERSIMMON

13453 4 CEDAR

13454 5 CEDAR

13455 11 CEDAR

13456 16 CEDAR

13457 15 CEDAR

13458 16 CEDAR

13459 4 CEDAR

13460 9 HACKBERRY

13461 25 ASH

13462 16 ASH

13463 13 CEDAR

13464 4 OSTRAYA

13465 15 CEDAR

13466 6 CEDAR

13467 7 CEDAR

13468 4 ELM

13469 11 ELM

13470 16 CEDAR

13471 12 CEDAR

13472 16 CEDAR

13473 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13474 11 CEDAR

13475 17 CEDAR

13476 25 ASH

13477 20 CEDAR

13478 8 CEDAR

13479 10 CEDAR

13480 10 CEDAR

13481 14 HACKBERRY

13482 6 ELM

13483 7 CEDAR

13484 9 CEDAR

13485 6 ELM

13486 8 CEDAR

13487 4 HACKBERRY

13488 6 ELM

13489 5 CEDAR

13490 9 CEDAR

13491 12 CEDAR

13492 8 CEDAR

13493 4 CEDAR

13494 4 HACKBERRY

13495 9 CEDAR

13496 4 HACKBERRY



13497 9 CEDAR

13498 11 CEDAR

13499 4 CEDAR

13500 13 CEDAR

13501 5 CEDAR

13502 5 CEDAR

13503 4 CEDAR

13504 8 BLACK WALNUT

13505 8 CEDAR

13506 5 CEDAR

13507 4 CEDAR

13508 4 CEDAR

13509 7 CEDAR

13510 8 CEDAR

13511 4 HACKBERRY

13512 4 ELM

13513 4 CEDAR

13514 4 ELM

13515 4 CEDAR

13516 5 CEDAR

13517 5 CEDAR

13518 8 CEDAR

13576 4 HACKBERRY

13577 21 CEDAR

13578 6 CEDAR

13579 4 CEDAR

13580 6 ELM

13581 16 CEDAR

13582 11 CEDAR

13583 15 CEDAR

13585 4 ELM

13742 10 ASH

13743 21 RED OAK

13744 22 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13745 8 SUGAR MAPLE

13746 10 SUGAR MAPLE

13747 12 SUGAR MAPLE

13748 19 RED OAK

13749 15 RED OAK

13750 20 ASH

13751 6 ASH

13752 17 RED OAK

13753 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13754 8 CEDAR

13755 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13756 10 SUGAR MAPLE

13757 27 BLACK WALNUT

13758 7 SUGAR MAPLE

13759 4 SUGAR MAPLE

13793 15 ASH

13794 4 ASH

13795 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13797 10 RED OAK

13798 14 RED OAK

13799 15 ASH

13800 7 CEDAR

13801 9 CEDAR

13802 4 HICKORY

13803 10 HICKORY

13804 10 RED OAK

13805 11 HICKORY

13806 7 CEDAR

13807 6 ELM

13808 8 CEDAR

13809 22 RED OAK

13810 12 CEDAR

13811 8 SUGAR MAPLE

13812 7 CEDAR

13813 13 CEDAR

13814 14 CEDAR

13815 4 CEDAR

13816 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13817 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13818 16 ASH

13819 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13820 15 RED OAK

13821 7 ELM

13822 12 CEDAR

13823 13 ASH

13824 6 ELM

13825 8 CEDAR

13826 6 CEDAR

13856 4 SUGAR MAPLE

13857 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13858 11 CEDAR

13859 21 RED OAK

13860 4 SUGAR MAPLE

13861 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13862 4 SUGAR MAPLE

13863 6 SUGAR MAPLE

13864 20 ASH

13865 10 CEDAR

13866 7 ELM

13867 21 RED OAK



13875 4 OSTRAYA

13876 6 ELM

13877 5 ELM

13878 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

13879 12 ASH

13880 9 RED OAK

13954 9 ASH

13955 10 CEDAR

13956 17 CEDAR

13957 5 CEDAR

13958 8 CEDAR

13959 20 ASH

13960 11 CEDAR

13961 12 CEDAR

13962 8 ELM

13963 16 CEDAR

13964 9 CEDAR

13965 11 CEDAR

13966 10 CEDAR

13967 15 CEDAR

13968 17 CEDAR

13969 10 CEDAR

13970 4 CEDAR

13971 18 ASH

13972 7 ELM

13973 9 CEDAR

13974 5 CEDAR

13975 10 CEDAR

13976 7 CEDAR

13977 6 CEDAR

13978 5 CEDAR

13979 4 CEDAR

13980 10 PERSIMMON

13981 10 CEDAR

13982 5 CEDAR

13983 4 CEDAR

13984 5 ASH

13985 10 CEDAR

13986 12 ASH

13987 16 ASH

13993 17 CEDAR

13994 13 CEDAR

13995 6 CEDAR

13996 14 CEDAR

13997 15 CEDAR

13998 6 ELM

13999 15 ELM

14000 13 CEDAR

14001 8 CEDAR

14002 16 CEDAR

14003 13 CEDAR

14004 13 ELM

14005 16 CEDAR

14006 5 OSAGE ORANGE

14007 4 OSAGE ORANGE

14008 14 CEDAR

14009 4 CEDAR

14010 4 CEDAR

14011 4 CEDAR

14012 4 CEDAR

14013 4 CEDAR

14014 4 CEDAR

14015 4 CEDAR

14016 6 CEDAR

14017 4 CEDAR

14018 4 CEDAR

14019 4 CEDAR

14020 4 CEDAR

14039 4 HACKBERRY

14040 4 ELM

14073 5 OSTRAYA

14074 4 OSTRAYA

14075 15 CEDAR

14076 13 CEDAR

14077 14 CEDAR

14078 20 CEDAR

14094 13 CEDAR

14185 9 ASH

14187 5 ELM

14188 9 ELM

14189 4 OSTRAYA

14190 4 CEDAR

14191 16 RED OAK

14192 13 RED OAK

14193 16 ASH

14194 14 RED OAK

14195 7 CEDAR

14196 16 RED OAK

14197 10 SUGAR MAPLE

14198 7 SUGAR MAPLE

14199 19 ASH

14200 7 CEDAR

14201 5 ELM

14202 7 CEDAR



14203 5 CEDAR

14204 11 HICKORY

14205 6 SUGAR MAPLE

14206 9 BLACK WALNUT

14207 6 CEDAR

14208 11 SUGAR MAPLE

14209 7 CEDAR

14210 9 ELM

14211 4 CEDAR

14212 8 SUGAR MAPLE

14213 5 SUGAR MAPLE

14214 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14215 22 RED OAK

14216 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14217 12 RED OAK

14449 7 ASH

14450 9 CEDAR

14451 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14452 7 ASH

14453 8 ASH

14454 7 CEDAR

14455 12 ASH

14456 7 CEDAR

14457 11 ASH

14458 6 CEDAR

14459 9 CEDAR

14460 5 CEDAR

14461 8 CEDAR

14462 9 CEDAR

14463 4 ASH

14464 4 ASH

14465 11 CEDAR

14466 6 ASH

14467 9 CEDAR

14468 15 CEDAR

14469 15 ASH

14470 6 ASH

14471 30 RED OAK

14472 6 SUGAR MAPLE

14473 9 SUGAR MAPLE

14474 5 CEDAR

14475 8 ASH

14476 4 OSTRAYA

14477 11 CEDAR

14478 14 CEDAR

14479 16 ASH

14480 5 CEDAR

14481 13 ASH

14482 6 CEDAR

14483 8 CEDAR

14484 14 RED OAK

14485 4 OSTRAYA

14486 8 ASH

14487 14 CEDAR

14488 10 CEDAR

14489 8 HICKORY

14490 4 OSTRAYA

14491 12 CEDAR

14492 9 ASH

14493 19 CEDAR

14494 9 CEDAR

14495 10 CEDAR

14496 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14497 7 CEDAR

14498 21 ASH

14499 8 CEDAR

14500 6 ELM

14501 8 ASH

14502 8 ASH

14503 4 SUGAR MAPLE

14504 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14505 17 RED OAK

14506 10 CEDAR

14507 4 SUGAR MAPLE

14508 18 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14509 4 OSAGE ORANGE

14510 5 ELM

14511 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14512 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14513 9 PERSIMMON

14514 6 SUGAR MAPLE

14515 10 SUGAR MAPLE

14516 13 BLACK WALNUT

14517 7 ASH

14518 4 SUGAR MAPLE

14519 6 CEDAR

14520 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14521 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14522 11 ASH

14523 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14524 10 CEDAR

14525 7 SUGAR MAPLE

14526 11 ASH

14527 7 SUGAR MAPLE



14528 16 HICKORY

14529 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14530 6 SUGAR MAPLE

14531 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14532 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14533 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14534 7 CEDAR

14535 7 CEDAR

14536 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14537 8 ASH

14538 15 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14540 8 HACKBERRY

14642 4 CEDAR

14643 4 CEDAR

14644 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14645 11 ELM

14654 4 CEDAR

14655 7 RED OAK

14656 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14657 6 CEDAR

14658 6 HICKORY

14659 12 ELM

14660 4 CEDAR

14661 4 RED OAK

14662 4 CEDAR

14663 4 CEDAR

14664 4 HICKORY

14665 20 HICKORY

14666 6 CEDAR

14667 8 CEDAR

14668 11 ASH

14669 6 RED OAK

14670 5 CEDAR

14671 13 CEDAR

14672 5 CEDAR

14673 19 CEDAR

14674 4 ASH

14675 6 CEDAR

14676 9 HICKORY

14677 11 HACKBERRY

14678 7 ASH

14679 6 ASH

14680 4 CEDAR

14681 4 CEDAR

14682 18 RED OAK

14683 20 RED OAK

14684 4 CEDAR

14685 4 ELM

14686 5 ASH

14687 6 CEDAR

14688 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14689 6 HICKORY

14690 9 HICKORY

14691 9 BLACK WALNUT

14692 13 RED OAK

14693 12 RED OAK

14694 19 CEDAR

14695 6 ASH

14696 11 CEDAR

14697 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14698 9 CEDAR

14699 6 ELM

14700 4 CEDAR

14701 7 HACKBERRY

14702 7 ASH

14703 9 CEDAR

14704 4 ASH

14705 11 ASH

14706 9 ASH

14707 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14708 8 ASH

14709 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14710 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14711 7 ELM

14712 8 ASH

14713 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14714 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14715 8 CEDAR

14716 19 CEDAR

14717 5 RED OAK

14718 14 CEDAR

14719 8 ASH

14720 5 CEDAR

14721 4 CEDAR

14722 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14723 16 ASH

14724 4 OSTRAYA

14725 4 OSTRAYA

14726 10 CEDAR

14727 11 ASH

14728 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14729 14 RED OAK

14730 14 RED OAK

14731 10 ASH



14733 8 CEDAR

14760 8 BLACK WALNUT

14761 13 HICKORY

14762 19 RED OAK

14763 10 SUGAR MAPLE

14764 15 RED OAK

14765 15 ASH

14766 11 RED OAK

14767 16 RED OAK

14768 14 ASH

14769 21 RED OAK

14770 14 RED OAK

14771 9 SUGAR MAPLE

14772 4 OSTRAYA

14773 10 SUGAR MAPLE

14774 19 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14775 12 SUGAR MAPLE

14776 10 ASH

14777 6 CEDAR

14778 4 CEDAR

14779 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14780 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14781 27 RED OAK

14782 7 ASH

14783 4 OSTRAYA

14784 18 ASH

14785 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14786 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14787 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14788 23 RED OAK

14789 9 CEDAR

14790 15 ASH

14791 15 RED OAK

14792 5 OSTRAYA

14793 9 SUGAR MAPLE

14794 22 RED OAK

14795 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

14796 13 RED OAK

14797 12 RED OAK

14798 6 ASH

14875 6 RED OAK

14876 4 CEDAR

14877 5 CEDAR

14878 4 RED OAK

14879 5 ASH

14880 4 RED OAK

14881 7 ASH

14882 4 ASH

14883 4 ASH

14884 5 ASH

14885 7 ELM

14886 4 ELM

14887 4 ELM

14888 4 ELM

14889 4 PERSIMMON

14890 4 ASH

14925 4 OSTRAYA

14926 5 ELM

14927 4 OSTRAYA

14928 9 CEDAR

14929 8 CEDAR

14930 4 RED OAK

14931 9 ELM

14932 9 SUGAR MAPLE

14933 5 OSTRAYA

14934 4 OSTRAYA

14935 5 RED OAK

14936 4 OSTRAYA

14937 14 CEDAR

14938 8 RED OAK

14939 5 RED OAK

14940 4 RED OAK

14941 5 CEDAR

14942 4 ELM

14943 13 CEDAR

14944 11 SASSAFRAS

14945 9 SASSAFRAS

14946 6 CEDAR

14947 15 CEDAR

14948 4 CEDAR

14949 11 SASSAFRAS

14950 11 SASSAFRAS

14951 12 SASSAFRAS

14952 5 DOGWOOD

14953 10 SASSAFRAS

14954 10 CEDAR

14955 5 ELM

14956 16 CEDAR

14957 16 SASSAFRAS

14958 14 SASSAFRAS

14959 7 ELM

14960 12 CEDAR

14961 6 ELM

14962 9 CEDAR



14963 10 CEDAR

14964 16 CEDAR

14965 11 CEDAR

14966 4 CEDAR

14967 4 ELM

14968 4 CEDAR

14969 4 CEDAR

14970 6 CEDAR

14971 4 CEDAR

14972 5 CEDAR

14973 8 CEDAR

14974 6 CEDAR

14975 8 CEDAR

14976 5 CEDAR

14977 13 CEDAR

14978 12 CEDAR

14979 5 CEDAR

14980 4 CEDAR

14981 4 ELM

14982 11 CEDAR

14983 9 CEDAR

14984 14 CEDAR

14985 4 CEDAR

14986 4 CEDAR

14987 5 CEDAR

14988 10 CEDAR

14989 12 ASH

14990 9 CEDAR

14991 6 CEDAR

14992 16 CEDAR

14993 10 SASSAFRAS

14994 4 ELM

14995 11 SASSAFRAS

14996 7 CEDAR

14997 18 CEDAR

14998 4 CEDAR

14999 4 CEDAR

15000 4 CEDAR

15001 4 SASSAFRAS

15002 4 CEDAR

15003 4 ELM

15004 17 CEDAR

15005 24 CEDAR

15006 14 CEDAR

15007 7 ELM

15008 9 ELM

15009 9 HACKBERRY

15010 7 HACKBERRY

15011 10 ELM

15012 13 ELM

15013 18 ASH

15014 11 HACKBERRY

15015 18 CEDAR

15016 8 CEDAR

15017 10 ELM

15018 4 ELM

15019 8 ELM

15020 9 CEDAR

15021 12 CEDAR

15022 7 CEDAR

15023 18 CEDAR

15024 8 ELM

15025 4 ELM

15026 18 ASH

15027 14 ELM

15028 13 CEDAR

15029 12 CEDAR

15030 13 CEDAR

15031 15 CEDAR

15032 11 ELM

15033 22 CEDAR

15034 6 CEDAR

15035 20 CEDAR

15036 11 OSAGE ORANGE

15037 4 CEDAR

15038 14 BLACK CHERRY

15039 6 BLACK CHERRY

15040 4 CEDAR

15041 4 CEDAR

15042 4 CEDAR

15043 4 CEDAR

15044 4 CEDAR

15045 4 CEDAR

15046 4 CEDAR

15047 4 CEDAR

15048 5 CEDAR

15049 4 CEDAR

15050 5 CEDAR

15051 5 CEDAR

15052 5 CEDAR

15053 5 CEDAR

15054 4 CEDAR

15055 4 CEDAR

15056 4 CEDAR



15057 6 CEDAR

15058 5 CEDAR

15059 5 CEDAR

15060 4 CEDAR

15061 4 CEDAR

15062 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15087 6 CEDAR

15088 4 PERSIMMON

15089 10 PERSIMMON

15090 8 CEDAR

15091 7 CEDAR

15092 8 CEDAR

15136 11 CEDAR

15137 6 CEDAR

15138 4 CEDAR

15139 4 CEDAR

15140 4 CEDAR

15141 8 CEDAR

15142 18 CEDAR

15143 12 CEDAR

15144 7 ASH

15145 7 CEDAR

15146 15 CEDAR

15147 9 CEDAR

15148 4 OSTRAYA

15149 17 SUGAR MAPLE

15150 20 RED OAK

15151 9 CEDAR

15152 4 OSTRAYA

15153 9 RED OAK

15154 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15155 12 HICKORY

15156 7 CEDAR

15168 5 OSTRAYA

15169 5 OSTRAYA

15170 11 CEDAR

15171 4 OSTRAYA

15172 15 CEDAR

15176 19 CEDAR

15177 4 SUGAR MAPLE

15178 14 CEDAR

15179 9 CEDAR

15180 6 CEDAR

15181 9 CEDAR

15182 4 CEDAR

15183 9 CEDAR

15307 10 ASH

15308 9 ASH

15309 7 ASH

15310 7 CEDAR

15311 8 CEDAR

15312 13 HICKORY

15313 11 ASH

15314 15 ASH

15315 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15316 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15317 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15318 9 RED OAK

15319 17 RED OAK

15320 8 RED OAK

15321 11 RED OAK

15322 6 OSTRAYA

15323 5 ELM

15324 20 RED OAK

15325 13 SUGAR MAPLE

15326 18 RED OAK

15327 18 ASH

15328 9 RED OAK

15329 23 RED OAK

15330 18 ASH

15331 10 SUGAR MAPLE

15332 9 SUGAR MAPLE

15333 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15334 13 RED OAK

15335 17 RED OAK

15336 13 RED OAK

15337 16 RED OAK

15338 15 RED OAK

15339 5 ELM

15340 4 SUGAR MAPLE

15341 23 RED OAK

15342 7 ELM

15343 5 ELM

15344 14 RED OAK

15345 20 RED OAK

15347 7 ELM

15348 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15349 6 ASH

15350 11 RED OAK

15351 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15596 4 ELM

15597 9 ASH

15598 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15599 4 ELM



15600 8 ELM

15601 5 ELM

15602 7 CEDAR

15603 8 ELM

15604 8 CEDAR

15605 10 CEDAR

15606 7 CEDAR

15607 7 CEDAR

15608 6 CEDAR

15609 8 CEDAR

15610 12 CEDAR

15611 7 ELM

15612 8 CEDAR

15613 10 CEDAR

15614 15 ASH

15615 4 CEDAR

15616 5 CEDAR

15617 4 ELM

15618 5 CEDAR

15619 7 CEDAR

15620 8 CEDAR

15621 7 CEDAR

15622 10 CEDAR

15623 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15624 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15625 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15626 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15627 6 ELM

15628 14 ASH

15629 19 RED OAK

15630 8 ASH

15631 9 SUGAR MAPLE

15632 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15633 10 CEDAR

15634 4 HICKORY

15635 6 ELM

15636 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15637 4 ELM

15638 4 OSTRAYA

15639 9 ELM

15640 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15641 4 OSTRAYA

15642 8 PERSIMMON

15643 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15644 7 HACKBERRY

15645 10 CEDAR

15646 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15647 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15648 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15649 12 ASH

15650 16 CEDAR

15651 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15652 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15653 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15654 6 CEDAR

15655 8 CEDAR

15656 11 CEDAR

15657 12 ASH

15658 14 ASH

15659 13 CEDAR

15660 10 CEDAR

15662 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15663 17 ASH

15750 13 ELM

15752 5 ASH

15754 10 RED OAK

15755 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15756 12 ELM

15757 13 CEDAR

15759 13 CEDAR

15760 10 CEDAR

15761 13 CEDAR

15762 5 CEDAR

15763 5 CEDAR

15764 4 ASH

15765 9 CEDAR

15766 12 CEDAR

15767 4 SUGAR MAPLE

15768 7 CEDAR

15769 7 ASH

15770 8 CEDAR

15771 5 CEDAR

15772 13 CEDAR

15773 7 ELM

15774 5 CEDAR

15775 7 CEDAR

15776 5 HACKBERRY

15777 8 CEDAR

15778 5 ELM

15779 7 CEDAR

15780 10 CEDAR

15781 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

15782 10 ASH

15783 7 CEDAR



15784 7 CEDAR

15786 12 ASH

15787 8 CEDAR

15788 9 CEDAR

15793 14 RED OAK

15812 12 SUGAR MAPLE

15813 5 SUGAR MAPLE

15814 4 SUGAR MAPLE

15815 4 SUGAR MAPLE

15816 11 SUGAR MAPLE

15817 12 SUGAR MAPLE

15818 11 CEDAR

15819 22 RED OAK

15820 7 CEDAR

15821 9 BLACK WALNUT

15822 5 ELM

15823 10 ASH

15824 16 CEDAR

15825 11 CEDAR

15826 12 HICKORY

15827 12 CEDAR

15828 4 OSTRAYA

15829 18 ASH

15982 15 CEDAR

15983 8 ELM

15984 13 CEDAR

15985 5 ASH

15986 17 RED OAK

15987 18 RED OAK

15988 8 CEDAR

15989 9 CEDAR

15990 9 HICKORY

15991 5 CEDAR

15992 5 HICKORY

15993 6 ELM

15994 5 CEDAR

15995 10 CEDAR

15996 6 CEDAR

15997 12 CEDAR

15998 8 BLACK WALNUT

15999 5 OSTRAYA

16000 10 RED OAK

16001 4 ELM

16002 7 ASH

16003 4 OSTRAYA

16004 17 RED OAK

16005 4 OSTRAYA

16006 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16007 9 ASH

16008 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16009 8 ASH

16010 7 ASH

16011 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16012 15 WHITE OAK

16013 15 WHITE OAK

16014 9 WHITE OAK

16015 13 ASH

16016 7 CEDAR

16017 10 WHITE OAK

16018 5 OSTRAYA

16019 12 ASH

16020 14 ASH

16021 9 ASH

16022 5 ASH

16023 7 ASH

16024 4 OSTRAYA

16025 4 WHITE OAK

16026 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16027 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16028 12 ASH

16029 19 RED OAK

16030 14 ELM

16031 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16032 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16033 10 CEDAR

16034 7 CEDAR

16035 13 CEDAR

16036 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16037 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16039 10 SUGAR MAPLE

16040 9 ASH

16041 8 CEDAR

16054 8 CEDAR

16055 9 CEDAR

16056 11 CEDAR

16057 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16059 10 CEDAR

16060 5 ASH

16161 13 SUGAR MAPLE

16162 7 SUGAR MAPLE

16163 7 ASH

16164 12 ASH

16165 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16166 7 SUGAR MAPLE



16167 7 SUGAR MAPLE

16168 16 RED OAK

16169 13 ASH

16170 4 REDBUD

16171 15 ASH

16172 10 ASH

16173 11 CEDAR

16174 22 RED OAK

16175 8 HACKBERRY

16176 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16177 6 CEDAR

16178 11 CEDAR

16179 14 RED OAK

16180 9 CEDAR

16181 4 REDBUD

16182 10 CEDAR

16183 14 CEDAR

16184 11 ASH

16185 12 CEDAR

16186 9 CEDAR

16187 8 CEDAR

16286 15 ASH

16287 14 CEDAR

16288 6 ELM

16289 9 CEDAR

16290 15 CEDAR

16291 4 ELM

16292 14 CEDAR

16293 8 CEDAR

16294 19 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16295 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16296 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16297 12 ASH

16298 15 CEDAR

16299 7 CEDAR

16300 8 CEDAR

16301 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16302 14 RED OAK

16303 19 CEDAR

16304 4 ELM

16305 4 ELM

16306 14 ASH

16307 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16308 17 CEDAR

16309 7 ASH

16310 13 ASH

16311 15 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16312 12 SUGAR MAPLE

16313 5 OSTRAYA

16314 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16315 5 ELM

16316 9 CEDAR

16317 4 SUGAR MAPLE

16318 22 RED OAK

16319 34 RED OAK

16320 4 SUGAR MAPLE

16321 10 SUGAR MAPLE

16322 6 CEDAR

16323 9 CEDAR

16324 5 CEDAR

16325 7 ELM

16326 14 HICKORY

16327 4 ASH

16328 20 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16329 4 ASH

16330 5 HACKBERRY

16331 11 ELM

16332 12 CEDAR

16333 5 CEDAR

16334 12 HICKORY

16335 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16336 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16337 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16338 6 ASH

16339 5 CEDAR

16340 19 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16341 5 HICKORY

16342 4 HICKORY

16343 11 ASH

16344 13 CEDAR

16345 8 HICKORY

16346 9 CEDAR

16347 10 HICKORY

16348 6 ASH

16349 4 HACKBERRY

16350 5 CEDAR

16351 6 CEDAR

16352 12 CEDAR

16353 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16354 13 HICKORY

16355 15 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16356 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16357 8 CEDAR

16358 4 CEDAR



16359 14 CEDAR

16360 8 HICKORY

16361 8 HICKORY

16362 9 HICKORY

16363 4 HICKORY

16364 8 PERSIMMON

16365 13 CEDAR

16366 11 CEDAR

16367 14 ASH

16368 7 CEDAR

16369 10 CEDAR

16370 11 CEDAR

16371 12 CEDAR

16372 8 ASH

16373 8 ELM

16375 26 RED OAK

16376 11 HICKORY

16377 9 CEDAR

16378 12 CEDAR

16379 8 CEDAR

16380 15 ASH

16424 15 CEDAR

16425 15 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16426 9 ASH

16427 15 ASH

16428 7 CEDAR

16429 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16430 8 CEDAR

16431 6 HICKORY

16437 11 SUGAR MAPLE

16438 11 HICKORY

16439 23 RED OAK

16440 10 SUGAR MAPLE

16441 20 RED OAK

16442 9 SUGAR MAPLE

16443 6 CEDAR

16444 8 SUGAR MAPLE

16445 13 CEDAR

16446 10 HICKORY

16447 23 RED OAK

16448 16 RED OAK

16449 16 ASH

16450 6 ASH

16451 10 CEDAR

16452 4 CEDAR

16453 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16454 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16455 5 SUGAR MAPLE

16456 26 RED OAK

16457 12 ASH

16458 8 CEDAR

16459 17 RED OAK

16460 17 ASH

16461 12 CEDAR

16462 8 ELM

16463 14 ASH

16464 7 ELM

16465 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16466 10 CEDAR

16467 7 CEDAR

16468 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16469 7 SUGAR MAPLE

16470 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16471 17 CEDAR

16472 8 CEDAR

16473 12 CEDAR

16474 6 CEDAR

16475 7 CEDAR

16476 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16477 12 CEDAR

16478 8 CEDAR

16479 10 CEDAR

16480 8 ELM

16481 15 CEDAR

16482 8 CEDAR

16483 21 RED OAK

16484 9 CEDAR

16485 14 CEDAR

16486 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16487 12 CEDAR

16488 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16489 9 ELM

16490 15 RED OAK

16491 12 CEDAR

16492 10 ASH

16493 11 CEDAR

16494 7 ELM

16495 10 CEDAR

16496 18 RED OAK

16497 5 ELM

16498 11 CEDAR

16499 5 BLACK WALNUT

16500 7 CEDAR

16501 10 CEDAR



16502 8 CEDAR

16503 9 ASH

16504 11 CEDAR

16505 14 ASH

16506 4 CEDAR

16507 6 CEDAR

16508 4 CEDAR

16509 9 CEDAR

16510 11 CEDAR

16511 7 ASH

16512 13 CEDAR

16513 8 CEDAR

16514 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16515 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16516 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16517 8 CEDAR

16518 8 ASH

16519 10 RED OAK

16520 21 CEDAR

16521 6 ELM

16522 9 HICKORY

16523 5 HICKORY

16524 10 HICKORY

16525 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

16526 18 RED OAK

16527 9 ELM

16528 9 CEDAR

16529 7 CEDAR

16530 8 CEDAR

16531 7 ELM

16532 7 ELM

16547 14 CEDAR

16548 9 CEDAR

16579 5 CEDAR

16580 6 ASH

16581 16 CEDAR

16582 5 CEDAR

16583 8 ASH

16584 7 ELM

16585 4 CEDAR

16586 7 CEDAR

16587 6 CEDAR

16588 4 CEDAR

16589 7 CEDAR

16590 8 CEDAR

16591 5 CEDAR

16592 6 CEDAR

16593 4 OSAGE ORANGE

16594 4 OSAGE ORANGE

16595 5 OSAGE ORANGE

16596 7 CEDAR

16597 7 ELM

16598 6 CEDAR

16599 7 CEDAR

16600 5 CEDAR

16633 6 ELM

16641 8 CEDAR

16642 6 CEDAR

16643 5 CEDAR

16705 7 SWEET GUM

16706 4 SWEET GUM

16707 4 SWEET GUM

16708 12 CEDAR

16709 16 CEDAR

16710 8 CEDAR

16711 10 CEDAR

16712 15 CEDAR

16713 4 CEDAR

16714 14 CEDAR

16715 4 SASSAFRAS

16716 4 CEDAR

16717 4 CEDAR

16718 4 CEDAR

16719 5 CEDAR

16720 6 CEDAR

16721 7 CEDAR

16722 7 CEDAR

16723 4 CEDAR

16724 6 CEDAR

16725 4 CEDAR

16726 4 SWEET GUM

16727 4 CEDAR

16728 5 CEDAR

16729 4 CEDAR

16730 7 CEDAR

16731 4 CEDAR

16732 6 CEDAR

16733 4 CEDAR

16734 4 CEDAR

16735 4 CEDAR

16736 5 CEDAR

16737 5 CEDAR

16738 4 CEDAR

16739 4 CEDAR



16740 4 CEDAR

16741 5 CEDAR

16742 4 CEDAR

16743 4 CEDAR

16744 6 CEDAR

16745 7 CEDAR

16746 5 CEDAR

16747 4 SWEET GUM

16748 4 CEDAR

16749 5 CEDAR

16750 4 CEDAR

16751 6 WILLOW OAK

16752 4 CEDAR

16753 4 CEDAR

16754 4 CEDAR

16755 4 CEDAR

16756 5 CEDAR

16757 4 CEDAR

16758 4 CEDAR

16759 4 CEDAR

16760 4 CEDAR

16761 4 CEDAR

16762 4 CEDAR

16763 28 HICKORY

16764 4 CEDAR

16765 4 CEDAR

16766 8 RED OAK

16767 5 WHITE OAK

16768 8 CEDAR

16769 6 SWEET GUM

16770 6 SWEET GUM

16771 5 CEDAR

16772 5 CEDAR

16773 5 CEDAR

16774 4 CEDAR

16775 4 RED OAK

16829 4 SWEET GUM

16830 4 SWEET GUM

16832 4 RED OAK

16833 4 CEDAR

16834 5 CEDAR

16835 4 WILLOW OAK

16836 5 CEDAR

16837 7 CEDAR

16838 4 CEDAR

16839 6 HACKBERRY

16840 4 CEDAR

16841 9 ELM

16842 13 RED OAK

17032 5 CEDAR

17033 11 ASH

17034 4 CEDAR

17035 5 CEDAR

17036 4 ELM

17037 7 CEDAR

17038 7 CEDAR

17039 7 CEDAR

17040 13 ASH

17041 11 CEDAR

17042 12 CEDAR

17043 14 CEDAR

17044 12 CEDAR

17045 20 CEDAR

17046 6 CEDAR

17047 9 CEDAR

17048 22 ASH

17049 6 CEDAR

17050 7 CEDAR

17051 11 CEDAR

17052 6 CEDAR

17053 6 CEDAR

17054 7 CEDAR

17055 7 CEDAR

17056 8 CEDAR

17057 11 ELM

17058 5 HICKORY

17059 4 OSTRAYA

17060 9 ELM

17061 21 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17062 21 RED OAK

17063 4 ELM

17064 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17065 4 OSTRAYA

17066 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17067 12 ASH

17068 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17069 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17070 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17071 6 ELM

17072 19 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17073 23 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17074 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17075 4 OSTRAYA

17076 7 ASH



17077 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17078 8 OSAGE ORANGE

17079 4 ELM

17080 5 CEDAR

17081 9 ASH

17082 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17090 4 OSTRAYA

17215 14 CEDAR

17217 6 CEDAR

17218 18 ASH

17219 10 CEDAR

17220 7 CEDAR

17221 4 CEDAR

17222 9 ASH

17223 11 ASH

17260 14 SUGAR MAPLE

17261 6 SUGAR MAPLE

17262 9 SUGAR MAPLE

17263 16 ASH

17264 12 CEDAR

17265 6 SUGAR MAPLE

17266 25 RED OAK

17267 9 SUGAR MAPLE

17268 9 SUGAR MAPLE

17269 19 RED OAK

17270 10 BLACK WALNUT

17271 10 CEDAR

17272 6 HICKORY

17273 4 RED OAK

17274 4 ELM

17275 10 ASH

17276 8 CEDAR

17277 6 CEDAR

17278 11 CEDAR

17279 11 CEDAR

17280 8 CEDAR

17281 9 CEDAR

17282 8 HACKBERRY

17283 14 ASH

17284 19 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17285 18 ASH

17286 9 ASH

17287 6 CEDAR

17288 17 ASH

17401 10 CEDAR

17402 7 ELM

17403 15 CEDAR

17404 9 CEDAR

17405 14 CEDAR

17406 6 ASH

17407 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17408 12 CEDAR

17409 8 ELM

17410 6 CEDAR

17411 12 CEDAR

17412 18 RED OAK

17413 9 ASH

17414 12 CEDAR

17415 9 HICKORY

17416 10 RED OAK

17417 11 HICKORY

17418 7 CEDAR

17419 6 ELM

17420 7 ELM

17421 6 CEDAR

17422 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17423 8 ASH

17424 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17425 11 HICKORY

17426 4 SUGAR MAPLE

17427 9 SUGAR MAPLE

17428 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17429 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17430 6 SUGAR MAPLE

17431 9 SUGAR MAPLE

17432 8 ASH

17433 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17434 5 ASH

17435 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17436 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17437 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17438 11 SUGAR MAPLE

17439 6 ELM

17440 4 SUGAR MAPLE

17441 12 SUGAR MAPLE

17442 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17443 6 CEDAR

17444 12 ASH

17445 8 CEDAR

17446 8 ASH

17447 9 ASH

17448 13 SUGAR MAPLE

17449 8 SUGAR MAPLE

17450 4 SUGAR MAPLE



17451 12 ASH

17452 16 ASH

17453 6 SUGAR MAPLE

17454 14 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17455 13 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17456 8 SUGAR MAPLE

17457 4 SUGAR MAPLE

17458 4 ASH

17459 10 ASH

17460 7 RED OAK

17461 9 ASH

17462 11 CEDAR

17463 7 CEDAR

17464 11 CEDAR

17465 4 OSTRAYA

17466 19 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17467 11 CEDAR

17468 21 CEDAR

17469 5 SUGAR MAPLE

17470 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17471 11 HICKORY

17472 6 CEDAR

17473 10 HICKORY

17474 8 CEDAR

17475 7 CEDAR

17476 12 ASH

17477 13 CEDAR

17478 11 CEDAR

17479 5 CEDAR

17480 10 CEDAR

17481 9 CEDAR

17482 9 ASH

17483 4 CEDAR

17484 9 CEDAR

17485 5 CEDAR

17486 9 CEDAR

17487 12 CEDAR

17488 13 CEDAR

17506 6 CEDAR

17507 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17508 12 CEDAR

17509 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17571 18 RED OAK

17572 8 SUGAR MAPLE

17573 10 SUGAR MAPLE

17574 13 SUGAR MAPLE

17575 5 SUGAR MAPLE

17576 11 CEDAR

17577 11 ELM

17578 10 CEDAR

17579 12 CEDAR

17580 4 CEDAR

17581 7 CEDAR

17582 4 ELM

17583 6 CEDAR

17584 17 RED OAK

17585 15 ASH

17586 18 RED OAK

17587 7 CEDAR

17588 6 ASH

17589 7 CEDAR

17590 9 CEDAR

17591 4 SUGAR MAPLE

17592 14 ASH

17593 9 SUGAR MAPLE

17594 7 SUGAR MAPLE

17595 10 CEDAR

17596 21 RED OAK

17597 12 CEDAR

17598 9 CEDAR

17599 14 CEDAR

17600 12 CEDAR

17601 10 CEDAR

17602 11 RED OAK

17603 17 ASH

17604 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17605 12 CEDAR

17606 5 CEDAR

17607 21 ASH

17608 9 CEDAR

17609 7 CEDAR

17610 5 CEDAR

17611 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17612 10 CEDAR

17618 5 CEDAR

17621 7 ELM

17622 9 ELM

17700 11 ASH

17701 7 ASH

17702 4 ELM

17703 4 CEDAR

17704 7 CEDAR

17705 10 ASH

17706 19 CEDAR



17707 5 CEDAR

17708 7 CEDAR

17709 4 ELM

17710 8 CEDAR

17711 7 CEDAR

17712 5 CEDAR

17713 12 CEDAR

17714 10 CEDAR

17715 4 CEDAR

17716 11 CEDAR

17717 6 CEDAR

17718 6 CEDAR

17719 4 ASH

17720 9 CEDAR

17721 8 CEDAR

17722 14 CEDAR

17723 11 CEDAR

17724 4 CEDAR

17725 6 CEDAR

17726 8 CEDAR

17727 4 ASH

17728 7 BLACK WALNUT

17729 7 CEDAR

17730 4 HICKORY

17731 13 CEDAR

17732 12 CEDAR

17733 6 HACKBERRY

17734 7 CEDAR

17735 5 CEDAR

17736 8 ASH

17737 8 CEDAR

17738 11 ASH

17739 6 CEDAR

17740 5 ASH

17741 4 ASH

17742 14 CEDAR

17743 4 ASH

17744 8 CEDAR

17745 15 CEDAR

17746 14 CEDAR

17747 5 ELM

17748 4 ASH

17749 11 CEDAR

17750 5 CEDAR

17751 9 CEDAR

17753 12 ASH

17754 8 ASH

17790 10 ASH

17791 7 ASH

17792 4 CEDAR

17793 4 HICKORY

17794 5 CEDAR

17795 19 CEDAR

17796 4 WHITE OAK

17797 4 ELM

17798 4 ELM

17799 4 CEDAR

17800 9 CEDAR

17801 6 CEDAR

17802 6 OSAGE ORANGE

17803 5 CEDAR

17804 4 ELM

17805 8 CEDAR

17806 8 CEDAR

17807 6 CEDAR

17808 9 ELM

17809 4 CEDAR

17810 6 ELM

17811 7 ELM

17812 7 ELM

17813 7 ELM

17814 5 CEDAR

17815 7 CEDAR

17816 11 PERSIMMON

17817 8 CEDAR

17818 6 HACKBERRY

17819 5 ELM

17820 14 PERSIMMON

17821 6 CEDAR

17822 4 CEDAR

17823 13 PERSIMMON

17824 11 PERSIMMON

17825 4 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17826 5 CEDAR

17827 16 CEDAR

17828 4 HACKBERRY

17829 12 ASH

17830 5 CEDAR

17831 6 CEDAR

17832 4 CEDAR

17833 5 CEDAR

17834 8 CEDAR

17835 9 CEDAR

17836 9 CEDAR



17837 10 CEDAR

17838 12 ELM

17839 5 CEDAR

17840 5 CEDAR

17841 7 CEDAR

17842 4 ELM

17843 5 CEDAR

17844 13 CEDAR

17845 5 OSAGE ORANGE

17846 5 OSAGE ORANGE

17847 4 OSAGE ORANGE

17848 4 OSAGE ORANGE

17849 4 OSAGE ORANGE

17850 4 HACKBERRY

17851 6 ELM

17852 23 CEDAR

17853 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17854 4 HACKBERRY

17855 6 ELM

17856 4 CEDAR

17857 5 HACKBERRY

17858 11 CEDAR

17859 8 HACKBERRY

17860 5 CEDAR

17861 4 CEDAR

17862 6 CEDAR

17863 4 CEDAR

17864 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17865 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17866 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17867 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17868 4 CEDAR

17869 4 RED OAK

17870 4 CEDAR

17871 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17872 5 CEDAR

17873 10 HICKORY

17874 6 RED OAK

17875 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17876 20 CEDAR

17877 5 ELM

17878 5 HACKBERRY

17879 6 CEDAR

17880 11 CEDAR

17881 7 HACKBERRY

17882 4 HACKBERRY

17883 4 HACKBERRY

17884 5 HACKBERRY

17885 9 HACKBERRY

17886 19 CEDAR

17887 15 CEDAR

17888 4 HACKBERRY

17889 4 ELM

17890 5 HACKBERRY

17891 13 HACKBERRY

17892 10 ELM

17893 9 ELM

17894 9 HACKBERRY

17895 8 HACKBERRY

17896 9 HICKORY

17897 9 ELM

17898 11 CEDAR

17899 9 CEDAR

17900 19 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17901 8 ELM

17902 6 HICKORY

17903 14 ASH

17904 9 ELM

17905 6 ELM

17906 8 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17907 29 RED OAK

17908 4 CEDAR

17909 6 HICKORY

17910 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17911 5 HICKORY

17912 5 HICKORY

17913 7 HACKBERRY

17914 6 HACKBERRY

17915 6 HACKBERRY

17916 11 HICKORY

17917 5 HICKORY

17918 16 CEDAR

17919 10 HICKORY

17920 5 HACKBERRY

17921 7 ELM

17922 11 CEDAR

17923 5 HACKBERRY

17924 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17925 15 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17926 5 OSAGE ORANGE

17927 4 CEDAR

17928 4 CEDAR

17929 4 CEDAR

17930 9 HICKORY



17931 5 HICKORY

17932 21 HICKORY

17933 14 HICKORY

17934 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17935 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17936 16 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17937 11 ELM

17938 7 HICKORY

17939 7 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17940 7 PERSIMMON

17941 6 ELM

17942 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17943 5 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17944 7 HICKORY

17945 6 HICKORY

17946 12 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17947 9 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17948 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17949 10 PERSIMMON

17950 4 ELM

17951 9 ELM

17952 14 ELM

17953 15 PERSIMMON

17954 11 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17955 6 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17956 11 HACKBERRY

17957 6 ELM

17958 10 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17959 6 ELM

17960 17 CHINQUAPIN OAK

17961 5 CEDAR

17962 14 CEDAR

17963 11 CEDAR

17964 14 CEDAR

17965 10 ELM

17966 9 HACKBERRY

17967 5 CEDAR

17968 9 CEDAR

17969 4 CEDAR

17970 7 CEDAR

17971 4 CEDAR

17972 5 CEDAR

17973 4 CEDAR

17974 4 CEDAR

17975 6 ELM

17976 6 ELM

17977 5 ELM

17978 4 OSAGE ORANGE

17979 4 CEDAR

17980 4 CEDAR

17981 4 CEDAR

17982 6 CEDAR

17983 4 HONEY LOCUST

17984 4 HONEY LOCUST

17985 4 ASH

17986 4 ELM

17987 4 ASH

17988 4 HACKBERRY

17989 4 ASH

17990 5 PERSIMMON

17991 5 CEDAR

17992 8 CEDAR

17993 5 CEDAR

17994 4 CEDAR

17995 5 CEDAR

17996 4 CEDAR

17997 4 CEDAR

17998 4 CEDAR

17999 4 CEDAR

18000 4 CEDAR

18001 5 CEDAR

18002 4 CEDAR

18003 4 CEDAR

18004 5 CEDAR

18005 4 CEDAR

18006 4 CEDAR

18007 4 CEDAR

18008 4 CEDAR

18009 4 CEDAR

18010 4 CEDAR

18011 5 CEDAR

18012 5 CEDAR

18013 4 CEDAR

18014 4 CEDAR

18015 4 CEDAR

18016 4 CEDAR

18017 5 CEDAR

18018 4 CEDAR

18019 5 CEDAR

18020 4 CEDAR

18021 4 CEDAR

18022 5 CEDAR

18023 6 CEDAR

18024 5 BLACK WALNUT



18025 5 CEDAR

18026 6 CEDAR

18027 4 CEDAR

18028 5 CEDAR

18029 4 CEDAR

18030 5 CEDAR

18031 5 CEDAR

18032 5 CEDAR

18033 5 CEDAR

18035 5 CEDAR

18037 4 CEDAR

18038 5 CEDAR

18039 4 SWEET GUM

18040 4 SWEET GUM

18041 4 BLACK WALNUT

18042 6 RED OAK

18043 4 WILLOW OAK

18044 5 CEDAR

18045 5 CEDAR

18078 4 CEDAR

18079 11 OSAGE ORANGE

18080 14 PERSIMMON

18081 4 CEDAR

18082 7 ELM

18083 5 ELM

18084 4 ELM

18085 10 HICKORY

18086 4 CEDAR

18087 6 ELM

18088 7 ELM

18089 7 ELM

18090 8 ELM

18091 6 CEDAR

18092 11 ELM

18093 6 ELM

18094 4 ELM

18095 5 ELM

18096 6 CEDAR

18097 4 CEDAR

18098 4 CEDAR

18099 12 ELM

18100 8 CEDAR

18101 5 CEDAR

18102 5 SASSAFRAS

18103 7 SASSAFRAS

18104 7 CEDAR

18105 8 CEDAR

18106 6 CEDAR

18107 4 CEDAR

18108 8 CEDAR

18109 8 CEDAR

18110 5 CEDAR

18111 4 CEDAR

18112 15 ELM

18113 6 HACKBERRY

18114 7 HACKBERRY

18115 6 CEDAR

18116 5 ELM

18117 5 CEDAR

18118 4 CEDAR

18119 5 CEDAR

18120 6 CEDAR

18121 5 CEDAR

18122 4 CEDAR

18123 10 ELM

18124 10 HACKBERRY

18125 7 CEDAR

18126 11 CEDAR

18127 5 CEDAR

18128 6 CEDAR

18129 8 CEDAR

18130 4 RED OAK

18131 4 CEDAR

18132 4 CEDAR

18133 11 CEDAR

18134 8 ELM

18135 4 HACKBERRY

18136 8 HACKBERRY

18137 17 CEDAR

18138 11 CEDAR

18139 5 CEDAR

18140 7 CEDAR

18141 9 HACKBERRY

18142 5 HACKBERRY

18143 8 CEDAR

18144 11 CEDAR

18145 8 ELM

18146 8 HACKBERRY

18147 5 ELM

18148 9 CEDAR

18149 4 CEDAR

18150 4 CEDAR

18151 7 CEDAR

18152 4 CEDAR



18153 4 CEDAR

18154 5 CEDAR

18155 7 CEDAR

18156 6 CEDAR

18157 5 CEDAR

18158 5 CEDAR

18159 6 CEDAR

18160 4 CEDAR

18161 4 CEDAR

18162 5 CEDAR

18163 5 CEDAR

18164 6 CEDAR

18165 5 CEDAR

18166 6 CEDAR

18167 8 HACKBERRY

18168 8 CEDAR

18169 4 HACKBERRY

18170 4 CEDAR

67334 10 ELM

67335 26 OAK

67336 30 ASH

67337 4 CEDAR

67338 31 OAK

67339 11 OAK

67340 10 ELM

67341 26 OAK

67342 7 HACKBERRY

67343 10 HACKBERRY

67344 5 HACKBERRY

67345 8 CEDAR

67346 13 ELM

67347 5 ELM

67348 10 HACKBERRY

67349 6 CEDAR

67350 4 CEDAR

67351 5 CEDAR

67352 4 CEDAR

67353 7 CEDAR

67354 7 CEDAR

67355 4 CEDAR

67356 4 CEDAR

67357 4 CEDAR

67358 15 ASH

67359 5 CEDAR

67360 9 CEDAR

67361 4 CEDAR

67362 4 CEDAR

67363 4 CEDAR

67364 5 CEDAR

67365 10 HACKBERRY

67366 12 ASH

67367 16 OAK

67368 10 OAK

67369 13 OAK

67370 4 CEDAR

67371 14 WALNUT

67372 9 ELM

67373 11 CEDAR

67374 11 CEDAR

67375 8 BODDOCK

67376 11 HACKBERRY

67377 10 WALNUT

67378 5 CEDAR

67379 5 CEDAR

67380 31 OAK

67381 5 CEDAR

67382 7 CEDAR

67383 5 CEDAR

67384 10 WALNUT

67385 5 CEDAR

67386 13 PERSIMMON

67387 10 HACKBERRY

67388 10 DBL5HACKBERRY

67389 6 HACKBERRY

67390 9 WALNUT

67391 4 CEDAR

67392 12 CEDAR

67393 10 HACKBERRY

67394 9 CEDAR

67395 8 CEDAR

67396 8 ELM

67397 6 WALNUT

67398 24 OAK

67399 4 CEDAR

67400 5 CEDAR

67401 7 WALNUT

67402 4 ELM

67403 12 CEDAR

67404 16 CEDAR

67405 6 CEDAR

67406 6 CEDAR

67407 6 CEDAR

67408 7 CEDAR

67409 8 HACKBERRY



67410 16 DBL8HACKBERRY

67411 5 HACKBERRY

67412 5 HACKBERRY

67413 16 OAK

67414 6 CEDAR

67415 6 CEDAR

67416 4 CEDAR

67417 8 CEDAR

67418 8 CEDAR

67419 4 CEDAR

67420 4 CEDAR

67421 5 HACKBERRY

67422 4 HACKBERRY

67423 33 OAK

67424 5 CEDAR

67425 4 CEDAR

67426 4 CEDAR

67427 4 CEDAR

67428 6 HACKBERRY

67429 6 CEDAR

67430 5 CEDAR

67431 5 CEDAR

67432 10 CEDAR

67433 6 CEDAR

67434 15 CEDAR

67435 16 CEDAR

67436 8 WALNUT

67437 16 CEDAR

67438 5 CEDAR

67439 14 CEDAR

67440 7 CEDAR

67441 10 ELM

67442 9 CEDAR

67443 5 CEDAR

67444 5 CEDAR

67445 5 CEDAR

67446 4 CEDAR

67447 10 CEDAR

67448 10 CEDAR

67449 17 OAK

67450 16 CEDAR

67451 11 CEDAR

67452 13 OAK

67453 7 CEDAR

67454 4 CEDAR

67455 9 CEDAR

67456 8 CEDAR

67457 7 CEDAR

67458 7 CEDAR

67459 7 CEDAR

67460 10 CEDAR

67461 12 CEDAR

67462 13 HACKBERRY

67463 9 CEDAR

67464 12 CEDAR

67465 6 HACKBERRY

67466 4 CEDAR

67467 4 CEDAR

67468 18 BODDOCK

67469 15 CEDAR

67470 4 CEDAR

67471 6 CEDAR

67472 18 DBL9CEDAR

67473 4 CEDAR

67474 10 CEDAR

67475 4 CEDAR

67476 7 CEDAR

67477 9 CEDAR

67478 5 CEDAR

67479 7 CEDAR

67480 4 HACKBERRY

67481 5 HACKBERRY

67482 7 WALNUT

67483 7 ELM

67484 4 CEDAR

67485 8 HACKBERRY

67486 11 CEDAR

67487 10 CEDAR

67488 12 CEDAR

67489 4 ELM

67490 5 BODDOCK

67491 5 WALNUT

67492 10 LOCUST

67493 14 CEDAR

67494 6 CEDAR

67495 6 CEDAR

67496 5 CEDAR

67497 4 CEDAR

67498 8 CEDAR

67499 6 WALNUT

67503 5 CEDAR

67504 5 CEDAR

67505 10 DBL5AILANTHUS

67506 4 CEDAR



67507 5 CEDAR

67508 6 CEDAR

67509 4 BODDOCK

67510 4 WALNUT

67511 6 CEDAR

67512 5 CEDAR

67513 6 CEDAR

67514 4 CEDAR

67515 6 CEDAR

67516 5 BRADFORD

67584 6 LOCUST

67585 4 BODDOCK

67586 6 BODDOCK

67587 4 CEDAR

67588 4 BODDOCK

67589 4 BODDOCK

67590 6 BODDOCK

67591 4 BODDOCK

67592 4 PERSIMMON

67593 6 CEDAR

67594 4 ELM

67595 5 PERSIMMON

67596 4 ELM

67597 4 BODDOCK

67598 6 BODDOCK

67599 6 CEDAR

67600 5 BRADFORD

67601 5 BRADFORD

67602 5 CHERRY

67603 4 BOXELDER

67604 4 BODDOCK

67605 5 BODDOCK

67606 5 BODDOCK

67607 6 BODDOCK

67608 5 CEDAR

67609 6 LOCUST

67610 5 LOCUST

67611 4 BODDOCK

67612 4 BODDOCK

67613 5 BODDOCK

67614 5 CEDAR

67615 6 BODDOCK

67616 4 BODDOCK

67617 5 BODDOCK

67746 8 CEDAR

67747 8 CEDAR

67748 10 ASH

67749 5 OAK

67750 7 WALNUT

67751 11 CEDAR

67752 6 CEDAR

67753 5 CEDAR

67754 9 ELM

67755 10 OAK

67756 33 OAK

67757 8 CEDAR

67758 11 CEDAR

67759 4 CEDAR

67760 10 CEDAR

67761 6 ELM

67762 30 ASH

67763 5 ELM

67764 6 ELM

67765 20 DBL10HACKBERRY

67766 6 MAPLE

67767 5 CEDAR

67769 6 ELM

67770 12 ELM

67771 14 CEDAR

67772 14 CEDAR

67773 8 ELM

67774 11 ELM

67775 17 ELM

67776 5 CEDAR

67777 6 CEDAR

67778 4 HACKBERRY

67779 4 OAK

67780 18 ASH

67781 6 ELM

67782 12 CEDAR

67783 16 OAK

67784 9 ELM

67785 11 CEDAR

67786 8 OAK

67789 8 CEDAR

67790 8 ELM

67791 7 WALNUT

67792 5 CEDAR

67793 13 OAK

67794 36 DBL18ASH

67795 4 CEDAR

67796 10 ELM

67797 15 OAK

67798 5 CEDAR



67805 16 OAK

67806 6 OAK

67807 17 OAK

67808 10 ELM

67809 12 MAPLE

67814 10 CEDAR

67817 16 MAPLE

67818 12 OAK

67819 6 OAK

67820 4 OAK

67821 9 CEDAR

67822 28 ASH

67823 4 CEDAR

67824 32 OAK

67825 5 CEDAR

67826 10 OAK

67827 12 OAK

67828 17 ASH

67829 18 OAK

67830 5 CEDAR

67831 5 CEDAR

67832 5 CEDAR

67833 5 CEDAR

67834 10 CEDAR

67835 6 CEDAR

67836 7 CEDAR

67837 6 CEDAR

67838 10 CEDAR

67846 4 CEDAR

67847 4 CEDAR

67848 4 CEDAR

67849 4 HACKBERRYBERRY

67850 4 CEDAR

67851 4 BODDOCK

67852 5 CEDAR

67853 5 CEDAR

67854 22 ASH

67855 5 CEDAR

67856 9 CEDAR

67857 4 CEDAR

67858 7 CEDAR

67859 4 CEDAR

67860 7 CEDAR

67861 7 CEDAR

67862 4 CEDAR

67863 4 CEDAR

67864 5 CEDAR

67865 5 CEDAR

67866 4 CEDAR

67867 12 SASSAFRAS

67868 4 HACKBERRY

67869 4 HACKBERRY

67870 6 BODDOCK

67871 4 CEDAR

67872 9 SASSAFRAS

67873 6 CEDAR

67874 6 CEDAR

67875 5 CEDAR

67876 5 CEDAR

67877 4 CEDAR

67878 6 CEDAR

67879 5 CEDAR

67880 27 ASH

67881 15 PERSIMMON

67882 5 CEDAR

67883 4 CEDAR

67884 4 CEDAR

67885 10 CEDAR

67886 4 CEDAR

67887 10 HACKBERRY

67888 9 HACKBERRY

67889 22 DBL11HACKBERRY

67890 10 HACKBERRY

67891 8 HACKBERRY

67892 7 CHERRY

67893 6 CEDAR

67894 4 CEDAR

67895 4 CEDAR

67896 4 BODDOCK

67897 4 CEDAR

67898 6 CEDAR

67899 5 BODDOCK

67900 4 CEDAR

67903 4 CEDAR

67904 8 CEDAR

67907 7 CEDAR

67908 8 CEDAR

67909 13 CEDAR

67914 5 CEDAR

67915 12 CEDAR

67916 4 SASSAFRAS

67940 4 ELM

67941 14 PERSIMMON

67942 6 CEDAR



67943 4 CEDAR

67944 11 PERSIMMON

67964 4 CEDAR

67965 4 CEDAR

67966 29 OAK

67967 18 OAK

68072 19 OAK

68073 10 MAPLE

68074 4 MAPLE

68075 18 ASH

68076 15 ASH

68077 4 ASH

68078 10 MAPLE

68079 30 OAK

68080 17 OAK

68081 7 MAPLE

68082 7 MAPLE

68083 18 ASH

68084 8 MAPLE

68085 10 MAPLE

68086 9 ELM

68087 6 MAPLE

68088 6 MAPLE

68089 4 MAPLE

68090 17 ASH

68093 5 CEDAR

68096 4 CEDAR

68098 6 PEAR

68099 7 ELM

68184 4 CEDAR

68185 6 ELM

68186 7 SASSAFRAS

68187 5 CEDAR

68188 10 OAK

68189 9 MAPLE

68190 4 ELM

68191 11 OAKBADCONDITION

68192 18 MAPLE

68193 10 MAPLE

68194 13 CEDAR

68195 22 ASH

68196 15 OAK

68197 5 CEDAR

68198 5 CEDAR

68199 6 CEDAR

68200 4 ELM

68201 7 CEDAR

68202 7 CEDAR

68203 4 ELM

68204 4 ELM

68205 4 HACKBERRY

68206 13 CEDAR

68207 6 HACKBERRY

68208 11 OAK

68209 12 OAK

68210 4 CEDAR

68211 4 ELM

68212 4 ELM

68213 7 MAPLE

68214 10 MAPLE

68215 10 DBL5ELM

68216 4 HACKBERRY

68217 6 CEDAR

68218 4 HACKBERRY

68219 16 WALNUT

68220 24 DBL12HICKORY

68221 18 OAK

68222 5 CEDAR

68223 24 OAK

68224 5 CEDAR

68225 4 CEDAR

68226 4 CEDAR

68227 14 ASH

68228 8 OAK

68229 15 ASH

68230 4 CEDAR

68231 5 CEDAR

68232 4 CEDAR

68233 4 CEDAR

68234 5 CEDAR

68235 6 CEDAR

68236 6 CEDAR

68237 5 CEDAR

68238 9 CEDAR

68239 14 CEDAR

68240 29 ASH

68241 21 CEDAR

68242 19 MAPLE

68243 18 MAPLE

68244 14 ASH

68245 15 ASH

68246 20 ASH

68247 4 CEDAR

68248 5 CEDAR



68249 14 ASH

68250 4 MAPLE

68251 12 MAPLE

68252 30 DBL15ASH

68253 10 MAPLE

68254 8 MAPLE

68255 6 ELM

68256 19 ASH

68257 13 PERSIMMON

68258 4 CEDAR

68259 12 CEDAR

68260 18 MAPLE

68267 19 MAPLE

68305 4 ELM

68308 7 CEDAR

68309 10 CEDAR

68311 16 ELM

68312 12 CEDAR

68313 7 CEDAR

68314 6 CEDAR

68315 8 CEDAR

68316 10 ELM

68317 18 ASH

68318 4 CEDAR

68319 11 CEDAR

68320 6 CEDAR

68321 8 BODDOCK

68322 18 CEDAR

68324 5 CEDAR

68325 9 CEDAR

68326 22 ELM

68327 8 CEDAR

68328 4 CEDAR

68329 4 CEDAR

68330 25 ELM

68331 8 CEDAR

68332 11 CEDAR

68333 12 CEDAR

68391 16 CEDAR

68392 10 CEDAR

68393 8 CEDAR

68394 10 ELM

68395 13 CEDAR

68396 10 CEDAR

68397 11 CEDAR

68398 11 CEDAR

68399 12 CEDAR

68400 5 LOCUST

68401 6 ELM

68402 14 CEDAR

68403 11 CEDAR

68404 11 CEDAR

68405 13 CEDAR

68406 10 CEDAR

68407 9 CEDAR

68408 15 LOCUST

68409 10 CEDAR

68410 4 CEDAR

68411 13 CEDAR

68412 15 CEDAR

68413 7 CEDAR

68414 13 CEDAR

68415 10 CEDAR

68416 9 CEDAR

68417 6 CEDAR

68418 14 CEDAR

68419 11 CEDAR

68420 9 CEDAR

68421 12 CEDAR

68422 10 ELM

68423 10 CEDAR

68424 5 CEDAR

68425 10 CEDAR

68426 15 CEDAR

68427 15 CEDAR

68428 5 CEDAR

68429 4 CEDAR

68430 4 CEDAR

68431 8 CEDAR

68432 6 CEDAR

68433 8 CEDAR

68434 4 CEDAR

68435 8 CEDAR

68436 5 CEDAR

68437 17 CEDAR

68438 10 CEDAR

68439 10 CEDAR

68440 10 CEDAR

68441 16 CEDAR

68442 4 CEDAR

68443 4 CEDAR

68444 14 CEDAR

68445 15 CEDAR

68446 8 CEDAR



68447 6 CEDAR

68448 4 CEDAR

68449 13 CEDAR

68450 6 CEDAR

68451 4 CEDAR

68452 4 CEDAR

68453 5 CEDAR

68454 4 CEDAR

68455 4 CEDAR

68456 4 BRADFORD

68457 4 PERSIMMON

68458 4 CEDAR

68459 4 CEDAR

68460 5 CEDAR

68461 4 CEDAR

68462 4 CEDAR

68463 4 CEDAR

68464 4 CEDAR

68465 4 CEDAR

68466 4 CEDAR

68475 4 CEDAR

68476 4 CEDAR

68477 5 CEDAR

68478 4 CEDAR

68479 4 CEDAR

68480 6 CEDAR

68481 5 CEDAR

68482 21 CEDAR

68483 10 CEDAR

68484 10 CEDAR

68485 12 ELM

68486 12 ELM

68487 8 CEDAR

68488 8 CEDAR

68489 4 ELM

68490 7 ELM

68491 11 CEDAR

68492 4 DOGWOOD

68493 9 ASH

68494 4 PERSIMMON

68495 8 PERSIMMON

68496 5 PERSIMMON

68497 8 ELM

68498 5 HACKBERRY

68499 10 HACKBERRY

68500 4 DOGWOOD

68501 17 CEDAR

68502 4 CEDAR

68503 10 HACKBERRY

68504 6 DOGWOOD

68522 14 CEDAR

68523 7 CEDAR

68524 4 CEDAR

68525 24 DBL12SYCAMORE

68526 9 CEDAR

68527 10 CEDAR

68528 7 ELM

68529 4 CEDAR

68530 4 CEDAR

68531 18 CEDAR

68532 10 ELM

68533 8 ELM

68534 7 ELM

68535 7 ELM

68536 11 CEDAR

68537 11 CEDAR

68538 12 CEDAR

68539 10 CEDAR

68540 5 CEDAR

68541 6 CEDAR

68542 12 CEDAR

68543 6 CEDAR

68544 11 ELM

68545 16 MAPLE

68546 5 LOCUST

68547 4 LOCUST

68548 4 LOCUST

68573 9 CEDAR

68574 5 CEDAR

68575 17 WALNUT

68576 13 CEDAR

68577 22 OAK

68578 7 CEDAR

68579 7 ELM

68580 6 OAK

68581 8 OAK

68582 9 OAK

68599 13 CEDAR

68600 5 CEDAR

68601 9 CEDAR

68602 13 CEDAR

68603 6 CEDAR

68604 8 CEDAR

68605 12 CEDAR



68606 5 CEDAR

68607 12 CEDAR

68608 8 CEDAR

68609 4 ASH

68610 8 HACKBERRY

68611 5 CEDAR

68612 7 CEDAR

68613 11 CEDAR

68614 6 CEDAR

68615 10 CEDAR

68616 10 CEDAR

68617 10 CEDAR

68618 4 CEDAR

68619 11 CEDAR

68620 8 CEDAR

68621 5 CEDAR

68622 19 ELM

68623 13 ELM

68624 4 PERSIMMON

68625 10 PERSIMMON

68626 10 ELM

68627 9 ELM

68628 12 SASSAFRAS

68642 4 ELM

68643 12 CEDAR

68644 28 ASH

68645 8 ELM

68646 14 ELM

68647 14 CEDAR

68648 5 CEDAR

68649 6 CEDAR

68650 12 PERSIMMON

68651 12 CEDAR

68816 6 CEDAR

70832 8 ELM

70833 15 MAPLE

70834 6 ELM

70835 6 CEDAR

70836 6 ELM

70837 10 PERSIMMON

70838 6 PERSIMMON

70839 4 CEDAR

70840 11 CEDAR

70842 9 CEDAR

70843 18 MAPLE

70844 7 CEDAR

70845 7 CEDAR

70846 6 CEDAR

70847 8 CEDAR

70848 5 ELM

71166 11 LOCUST

71167 6 CEDAR

71168 4 CEDAR

71169 11 CEDAR

71170 11 CEDAR

71213 8 CEDAR

71214 12 CEDAR

71215 12 ELM

71216 4 CEDAR

71217 10 CEDAR

71218 6 LOCUST

71219 10 CEDAR

71220 17 CEDAR

71221 10 CEDAR

71222 10 CEDAR

71223 6 ELM

71224 13 CEDAR

71225 9 CEDAR

71226 11 CEDAR

71227 11 CEDAR

71228 10 ELM

71229 12 ELM

71230 15 ASH

71231 18 CEDAR

71232 11 CEDAR

71233 4 CEDAR

71234 7 CEDAR

71235 12 CEDAR

71236 10 CEDAR

71237 4 CEDAR

71238 8 CEDAR

71239 12 CEDAR

71240 10 CEDAR

71241 10 CEDAR

71242 12 CEDAR

71243 14 CEDAR

71244 12 CEDAR

71245 12 CEDAR

71246 4 CEDAR

71247 4 CEDAR

71248 6 CEDAR

71249 6 ELM

71250 14 CEDAR

71251 8 CEDAR



71252 10 CEDAR

71253 4 CEDAR

71254 4 CEDAR

71255 7 ELM

71256 7 ELM

71257 4 ELM

71258 7 CEDAR

71259 7 CEDAR

71260 9 CEDAR

71261 9 CEDAR

71262 6 CEDAR

71263 10 CEDAR

71264 10 CEDAR

71265 10 CEDAR

71266 10 CEDAR

71267 11 OAK

71268 13 CEDAR

71269 13 CEDAR

71270 13 CEDAR

71271 5 ELM

71272 5 CEDAR

71273 6 CEDAR

71274 5 ELM

71275 9 HACKBERRY

71276 13 HACKBERRY

71277 4 CEDAR

71278 4 ELM

71279 7 CEDAR

71280 7 CEDAR

71281 10 CEDAR

71282 10 CEDAR

71283 7 CEDAR

71284 4 CEDAR

71285 4 CEDAR

71286 11 CEDAR

71287 8 CEDAR

71288 8 CEDAR

71289 4 CEDAR

71290 9 CEDAR

71291 9 CEDAR

71292 9 CEDAR

71293 6 CEDAR

71294 9 CEDAR

71295 12 CEDAR

71296 10 CEDAR

71297 7 ELM

71298 7 ELM

71329 4 ELM

71331 8 ELM

71332 6 ELM

71333 5 HACKBERRY

71334 8 PERSIMMON

71335 10 ELM

71336 4 HACKBERRY

71337 5 CEDAR

71338 8 CEDAR

71339 7 CEDAR

71340 4 CEDAR

71341 10 ELM

71342 7 ELM

71463 12 CEDAR

71464 8 CEDAR

71465 12 CEDAR

71466 12 CEDAR

71467 10 CEDAR

71468 14 CEDAR

71469 24 CEDAR

71470 12 CEDAR

71471 12 CEDAR

71533 13 CEDAR

71534 13 CEDAR

71535 4 HACKBERRY

71536 4 ELM

71537 15 CEDAR

71538 9 CEDAR

71671 7 CEDAR

71672 7 CEDAR

71673 4 CEDAR

71674 4 CEDAR

71675 12 DBL6HACKBERRY

71676 4 CEDAR

71708 7 CEDAR

71709 5 CEDAR

71714 11 ASH

71715 8 ELM

71716 7 CEDAR

71717 9 CEDAR

71718 4 ELM

71719 4 ELM

71720 4 DOGWOOD

71721 6 PERSIMMON

71722 5 CEDAR

71723 8 ELM

71724 6 ASH



71725 7 CEDAR

71726 15 ASH

71727 4 ELM

71728 4 ELM

71729 7 ELM

71730 14 ASH

71731 6 PERSIMMON

71732 6 PERSIMMON

71747 14 ASH

71748 8 ELM

71749 6 DOGWOOD

71750 4 CEDAR

71751 10 ELM

71752 6 PERSIMMON

71753 6 PERSIMMON

71754 8 ELM

71755 5 ELM

71756 12 CEDAR

71757 4 HACKBERRY

71758 12 ASH

71759 6 ELM

71760 6 ASH

71761 4 HACKBERRY

71762 6 HACKBERRY

71763 15 CEDAR

71764 4 CEDAR

71765 9 ELM

71766 11 ELM

71767 9 PERSIMMON

71768 5 CEDAR

71769 5 CEDAR

71770 10 ASH

71771 9 ELM

71772 5 ELM

71773 10 ASH

71774 10 ASH

71775 11 CEDAR

71776 11 CEDAR

71777 12 ASH

71778 10 HACKBERRY

71779 4 CEDAR

71780 10 CEDAR

71781 12 PERSIMMON

71782 6 CEDAR

71783 6 CEDAR

71784 8 CEDAR

71785 12 ASH

71786 9 ELM

71787 4 CEDAR

71788 4 CEDAR

71789 16 CEDAR

71790 7 PERSIMMON

71791 4 CEDAR

71792 6 CEDAR

71793 12 CEDAR

71794 10 CEDAR

71795 10 CEDAR

71796 10 CEDAR

71797 10 CEDAR

71798 13 CEDAR

71799 12 CEDAR

71800 12 CEDAR

71801 4 CEDAR

71802 8 CEDAR

71803 8 CEDAR

71869 6 CEDAR

71870 8 CEDAR

71871 11 CEDAR

71872 6 ELM

71873 9 ASH

71874 12 CEDAR

71875 12 CEDAR

71876 12 CEDAR

71877 8 CEDAR

71878 4 CEDAR

71879 4 CEDAR

71880 4 CEDAR

71881 10 ELM

71882 11 CEDAR

71883 10 CEDAR

71884 10 CEDAR

71885 10 CEDAR

71886 12 CEDAR

71887 11 CEDAR

71888 15 CEDAR

71889 8 ELM

71890 4 ELM

71908 4 CEDAR

71909 6 CEDAR

71910 19 ASH

71911 13 CEDAR

71912 5 CEDAR

71913 9 CEDAR

71914 15 ASH



71915 6 ASH

71916 9 CEDAR

71917 9 CEDAR

71918 6 DOGWOOD

71919 4 DOGWOOD

71920 11 CEDAR

71921 11 CEDAR

71922 4 CEDAR

71923 10 CEDAR

71924 10 CEDAR

71925 12 CEDAR

71926 8 ASH

71927 10 ELM

71928 14 CEDAR

71929 14 CEDAR

71930 14 CEDAR

71931 6 ELM

71932 7 ELM

71933 7 ELM

71934 10 ELM

71935 4 ELM

71936 12 CEDAR

71937 21 ASH

71938 7 CEDAR

71939 7 ELM

71940 12 OAK

71941 23 OAK

71942 11 OAK

71943 8 ELM

71944 10 CEDAR

71945 16 OAK

71946 12 CEDAR

71947 12 CEDAR

71948 7 CEDAR

71949 8 ELM

71950 5 BODDOCK

71951 10 CEDAR

71952 22 CEDAR

71953 6 CEDAR

71954 6 CEDAR

71955 4 CEDAR

71956 12 CEDAR

71957 6 CEDAR

71958 12 CEDAR

71959 4 CEDAR

71960 8 ELM

71961 11 ELM

71962 4 CEDAR

71963 4 CEDAR

71964 6 CEDAR

71965 6 CEDAR

71966 6 CEDAR

71967 6 CEDAR

71968 7 DOGWOOD

71969 6 CEDAR

71970 6 CEDAR

71971 4 CEDAR

71972 4 CEDAR

71973 12 CEDAR

71974 8 CEDAR

71975 5 CEDAR

71976 5 CEDAR

71977 8 CEDAR

71978 4 CEDAR

71979 4 CEDAR

71980 6 CEDAR

71981 6 CEDAR

71982 6 CEDAR

71983 8 CEDAR

71984 4 CEDAR

71985 4 CEDAR

71986 4 CEDAR

71987 4 CEDAR

71988 8 CEDAR

71989 15 MAPLE

71990 9 CEDAR

71991 6 CEDAR

71992 6 CEDAR

71993 6 CEDAR

71994 8 CEDAR

71995 10 CEDAR

71996 5 LOCUST

71997 10 CEDAR

71998 9 CEDAR

71999 5 CEDAR

72000 5 CEDAR

72001 5 CEDAR

72002 11 CEDAR

72003 7 CEDAR

72004 15 CEDAR

72005 11 CEDAR

72006 11 CEDAR

72007 9 CEDAR

72008 9 CEDAR



72009 7 CEDAR

72010 7 CEDAR

72011 7 CEDAR

72012 7 CEDAR

72013 11 CEDAR

72014 6 BODDOCK

72015 7 CEDAR

72016 6 CEDAR

72017 7 CEDAR

72018 7 CEDAR

72019 7 DOGWOOD

72023 4 CEDAR

72036 5 CEDAR

72037 4 CEDAR

64613 cal. to remain









 

ES-1 

ROSEBROOKE ADDITION 
TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The Rosebrooke Addition will consist of two new areas adjacent to the main Rosebrooke neighbrohood that 
is under construction along Sunset Road in the City of Brentwood, Tennessee.  The Rosebrooke Addition 
includes Rosebrooke South which will be located south of the main Rosebrooke neighborhood and west of 
Split Log Road and Rosebrooke East which will be located south of the main Rosebrooke neighborhood 
and generally east of Split Log Road. 
 
When completed, the Rosebrook Addition will consist of 124 single family detached homes with 50 homes 
in Rosebrooke South and 74 homes in Rosebrooke East.  Access to the Rosebrooke Addition is proposed 
at two (2) locations on Split Log Road, one (1) location on Sam Donald Road, and will also be provided by 
connections to three (3) future street stubs in the main Rosebrooke neighborhood of the City of Brentwood. 
 
BACKGROUND TRAFFIC 
 
Based on discussions with City of Brentwood staff, the main Rosebrook neighborhood, Taube property 
development, and a new middle school adjacent to Jordan Elementary School have been included as 
specific, approved projects in the immediate vicinity that will contribute traffic to the study area within the 
project horizon. 
 
The year 2027 is established as the horizon year for this study.  In addition to the specific background traffic 
growth sources above, general background traffic growth was established by increasing existing traffic by 
1 percent annually for the period from 2021 to 2027. 
 
SITE TRAFFIC 
 

ROSEBROOKE ADDITION 

TRIP GENERATION (1) 

Proposed 
Development 

ITE 
Land 
Use 

Code 
Total Units Daily 

Trips 

A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total 

Rosebrook South 
(50 Single Family 
Detached Homes) 

210 50 Homes 550 10 30 40 33 19 52 

Rosebrook East 
(74 Single Family 
Detached Homes) 

210 74 Homes 788 14 43 57 48 28 76 

(1) Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) 

 
TRANSPORTATION ANALYSIS 
 
The following public intersections were analyzed for capacity deficiencies and improvement needs: 
 

• Split Log Road at Ragsdale Road 
• Split Log Road at Pleasant Hill Road/Jordan Elementary School Access 
• Split Log Road at Sam Donald Road 
• Sunset Road at Split Log Road 
• Sunset Road at Waller Road 
• Rosebrooke Addition Access Locations on Split Log Road at Sam Donald Road 

 



 

ES-2 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Split Log Road at Ragsdale Road 
 

• No improvements are recommended at the intersection of Split Log Road and Ragsdale Road due 
to the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 
Split Log Road at Pleasant Hill Road / Jordan Elementary School Driveway 
 

• While there may be improvements necessary to accommodate the proposed middle school at this 
intersection, no improvements are recommended at the intersection of Split Log Road and Pleasant 
Hill Road / Jordan Elementary School Driveway due to the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 
Split Log Road at Sam Donald Road 
 

• A southbound left turn lane should be included as part of the Split Log Road realignment and 
improvements.  If feasible within the available or proposed right-of-way, a separate right turn lane 
on Sam Donald Road with 100 feet of storage and 100 feet of taper would add efficiency to the 
two-way stop control at this intersection. 
 

• No additional improvements are recommended at the intersection of Sunset Road and Split Log 
Road due to the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 
Sunset Road at Split Log Road 
 

• A northbound left turn lane on Split Log Road is a condition of approval of the Rosebrook project 
located in the southwest corner at the intersection of Sunset Road and Split Log Road. 
 

• No additional improvements are recommended at the intersection of Sunset Road and Split Log 
Road due to the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 
Sunset Road at Waller Road 
 

• No improvements are recommended at the intersection of Sunset Road and Waller Road due to 
the Rosebrooke Addition. 
 

• Based on the preliminary analysis presented in this study for the future configuration of this 
intersection, traffic signal control or a roundabout intersection appear to provide acceptable traffic 
operations.  The City of Brentwood should continue to plan for the eventual realignment and 
extension of Split Log Road to this intersection and conduct additional, more detailed studies to 
determine the appropriate method of intersection control and satisfaction of appropriate warrants. 

 
Split Log Road at Project Access #1 
 

• The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic conditions 
during the am. and p.m. peak hours. 
 

• The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and two (2) 
egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet. 
 

• This proposed access will be near the location of an existing driveway on a generally straight 
section of Split Log Road and should provide acceptable intersection sight distance.  Site plans for 
the Rosebrooke Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per AASHTO 
guidelines will be available at this intersection. 

 
Split Log Road at Project Access #2 & #3 
 

• The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic conditions 
during the am. and p.m. peak hours. 
 

• The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and two (2) 
egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet. 



 

ES-3 

 
• These proposed access locations will intersect Split Log Road in between existing curves and 

should provide acceptable intersection sight distance.  Site plans for the Rosebrooke Addition 
should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per AASHTO guidelines will be available 
at this intersection. 

 
Sam Donald Road at Project Access #4 
 

• The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic conditions 
during the am. and p.m. peak hours. 
 

• The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and two (2) 
egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet. 
 

• This proposed access will be near an existing driveway within a straight section of Sam Donald 
Road and should provide acceptable intersection sight distance.  Site plans for the Rosebrooke 
Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per AASHTO guidelines will be 
available at this intersection. 

 
Split Log Road Extension 
 

• If Split Log Road improvements are available from the City of Brentwood, site plans for the 
Rosebrooke Addition should consider locations where the future Split Log Road will be intersected 
to provide acceptable grades that are feasible with the overall Split Log Road design. 
 

• If Split Log Road improvements are available from the City of Brentwood, site plans for the 
Rosebrooke Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per AASHTO 
guidelines will be available at the future intersections with the Split Log Road extension. 
 

• The Rosebrooke Addition should support the City of Brentwood with the eventual realignment and 
extension of Split Log Road by reserving an appropriate right-of-way through the project for Split 
Log Road. 

 
Existing Split Log Road 
 
Until the remaining section of the Split Log Road corridor can be improved to modern design practices, 
there are strategies and measures that can be implemented to influence driver behavior, address locations 
where there are concerns about safety, and help maintain efficient traffic flow.  Any study or implementation 
of improvements or strategies on Split Log Road would be carried out or managed by the City of Brentwood 
Engineering Staff and other City officials.  This study is not providing any specific recommendations and is 
not offering a comprehensive list of improvements or strategies that are applicable to Split Log Road.  
However, some specific strategies or measures that may be appropriate for consideration on Split Log 
Road between Pleasant Hill Road and Sunset Road are listed below. 
 

• Oversize and/or duplicate regulatory and advisory signage 
• Enhanced pavement markings including high reflectivity and/or wider lines 
• Advisory signage when approaching sharp curves and chevron signs around curves where 

appropriate 
• Guardrail with additional reflectors for high visibility 
• Roadside clearing the remove obstructions and improve sight lines 
• Rumble strips on roadway edges or along the centerline to address roadway or lane departure 

events 
• Installation of speed limit driver feedback signs 

 
As previously discussed, these are not specific recommendations, and this is not a comprehensive list of 
improvements or strategies that could be applicable to Split Log Road.  Any study or implementation of 
improvements or strategies on Split Log Road would be carried out or managed by the City of Brentwood 
Engineering Staff and other City officials. 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 
 

for 
 

ROSEBROOKE ADDITION 
 

City of Brentwood, Tennessee 
 

March 14, 2022 

 
 
 
 

Prepared for: 
 

CPS Land, LLC 
213 Overlook Ct. 

Brentwood, Tennessee 37027 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 

 

RAGAN-SMITH ASSOCIATES, INC. 
315 Woodland Street, P.O. Box 60070 
Nashville, Tennessee  37206-0070 
(615) 244-8591 

 
21-0337 

 



 

 

ROSEBROOKE ADDITION 
TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
SECTION PAGE 
 
I. INTRODUCTION ...................................................................................................................  - 1 - 
 
II. PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT .............................................................................................  - 2 - 
 A. Project Description ...................................................................................................  - 2 - 
 B. Site Access ..............................................................................................................  - 2 - 
 C. Phasing and Timing .................................................................................................  - 2 - 
 
III. EXISTING CONDITIONS ......................................................................................................  - 6 - 
 A. Transportation System .............................................................................................  - 6 - 
 B. Traffic Volumes ........................................................................................................  - 6 - 
 
IV. FORECASTED BACKGROUND TRAFFIC .........................................................................  - 8 - 
 A. Introduction ..............................................................................................................  - 8 - 
 B. Specific Development Growth ..................................................................................  - 8 - 
 C. Annual Growth .........................................................................................................  - 8 - 
 D. Background Traffic Summary ..................................................................................  - 8 - 
 
V. PROPOSED SITE TRAFFIC ................................................................................................  - 10 - 
 A. Site Trip Generation .................................................................................................  - 10 - 
 B. Site Trip Distribution and Assignment ......................................................................  - 10 - 
 
VI. TRANSPORTATION ANALYSIS .........................................................................................  - 14 - 
 A. Intersection Capacity Analysis .................................................................................  - 14 - 
 B. Future Split Log Road Realignment  ........................................................................  - 16 - 
 
VII. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ....................................................................  - 17 - 

A. Split Log Road at Ragsdale Road ............................................................................  - 17 - 
B. Split Log Road at Pleasant Hill Road/Jordan Elementary School ...........................  - 17 - 
C. Split Log Road at Sam Donald Road .......................................................................  - 17 - 
D. Sunset Road at Split Log Road ................................................................................  - 17 - 
E. Sunset Road at Waller Road ...................................................................................  - 18 - 
F. Split Log Road at Project Access #1........................................................................  - 18 - 
G. Split Log Road at Project Access #2 & #3 ...............................................................  - 18 - 
H. Sam Donald Road at Project Access #4 ..................................................................  - 18 - 
I. Split Log Road Extension .........................................................................................  - 19 - 
J. Existing Split Log Road ............................................................................................  - 19 - 

 
 
APPENDIX 
 



 

 
 

ROSEBROOKE ADDITION 
TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 

 
LIST OF FIGURES 

  
FIGURE DESCRIPTION PAGE 
 
 
 1 LOCATION MAP ...............................................................................................................  3 
 
 2A ROSEBROOKE SOUTH OVERALL SITE PLAN ..............................................................  4 
 
 2B ROSEBROOK EAST OVERALL SITE PLAN ....................................................................  5 
 
 3 2021 EXISTING TRAFFIC VOLUMES ..............................................................................  7 
 
 4 2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES .....................................................................  9 
 
 5 SITE TRIP DISTRIBUTION ...............................................................................................  11 
 
 6 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES ................................................................................................  12 
 
 7 2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES ...................................................................................  13 
 
 
 

LIST OF TABLES 
 
TABLE DESCRIPTION PAGE 
 
 
 1 TRIP GENERATION: BACKGROUND SPECIFIC DEVELOPMENTS .............................  8 
 
 2 TRIP GENERATION: ROSEBROOKE ADDITION............................................................  10 
 
 3 INTERSECTION CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – A.M. PEAK HOUR ......................  14 
 
 4 INTERSECTION CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – P.M. PEAK HOUR ......................  15 
 
 5 LEVEL OF SERVICE DESCRIPTIONS FOR UNSIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS ..........  15 
 
 6 LEVEL OF SERVICE DESCRIPTIONS FOR SIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS ...............  16 
 
 



 

ES-1 

ROSEBROOKE ADDITION 
TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The Rosebrooke Addition will consist of two new areas adjacent to the main Rosebrooke neighbrohood that 
is under construction along Sunset Road in the City of Brentwood, Tennessee.  The Rosebrooke Addition 
includes Rosebrooke South which will be located south of the main Rosebrooke neighborhood and west of 
Split Log Road and Rosebrooke East which will be located south of the main Rosebrooke neighborhood 
and generally east of Split Log Road. 
 
When completed, the Rosebrook Addition will consist of 124 single family detached homes with 50 homes 
in Rosebrooke South and 74 homes in Rosebrooke East.  Access to the Rosebrooke Addition is proposed 
at two (2) locations on Split Log Road, one (1) location on Sam Donald Road, and will also be provided by 
connections to three (3) future street stubs in the main Rosebrooke neighborhood of the City of Brentwood. 
 
BACKGROUND TRAFFIC 
 
Based on discussions with City of Brentwood staff, the main Rosebrook neighborhood, Taube property 
development, and a new middle school adjacent to Jordan Elementary School have been included as 
specific, approved projects in the immediate vicinity that will contribute traffic to the study area within the 
project horizon. 
 
The year 2027 is established as the horizon year for this study.  In addition to the specific background traffic 
growth sources above, general background traffic growth was established by increasing existing traffic by 
1 percent annually for the period from 2021 to 2027. 
 
SITE TRAFFIC 
 

ROSEBROOKE ADDITION 

TRIP GENERATION (1) 

Proposed 
Development 

ITE 
Land 
Use 

Code 
Total Units Daily 

Trips 

A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total 

Rosebrook South 
(50 Single Family 
Detached Homes) 

210 50 Homes 550 10 30 40 33 19 52 

Rosebrook East 
(74 Single Family 
Detached Homes) 

210 74 Homes 788 14 43 57 48 28 76 

(1) Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) 

 
TRANSPORTATION ANALYSIS 
 
The following public intersections were analyzed for capacity deficiencies and improvement needs: 
 

• Split Log Road at Ragsdale Road 
• Split Log Road at Pleasant Hill Road/Jordan Elementary School Access 
• Split Log Road at Sam Donald Road 
• Sunset Road at Split Log Road 
• Sunset Road at Waller Road 
• Rosebrooke Addition Access Locations on Split Log Road at Sam Donald Road 

 



 

ES-2 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Split Log Road at Ragsdale Road 
 

• No improvements are recommended at the intersection of Split Log Road and Ragsdale Road due 
to the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 
Split Log Road at Pleasant Hill Road / Jordan Elementary School Driveway 
 

• While there may be improvements necessary to accommodate the proposed middle school at this 
intersection, no improvements are recommended at the intersection of Split Log Road and Pleasant 
Hill Road / Jordan Elementary School Driveway due to the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 
Split Log Road at Sam Donald Road 
 

• A southbound left turn lane should be included as part of the Split Log Road realignment and 
improvements.  If feasible within the available or proposed right-of-way, a separate right turn lane 
on Sam Donald Road with 100 feet of storage and 100 feet of taper would add efficiency to the 
two-way stop control at this intersection. 
 

• No additional improvements are recommended at the intersection of Sunset Road and Split Log 
Road due to the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 
Sunset Road at Split Log Road 
 

• A northbound left turn lane on Split Log Road is a condition of approval of the Rosebrook project 
located in the southwest corner at the intersection of Sunset Road and Split Log Road. 
 

• No additional improvements are recommended at the intersection of Sunset Road and Split Log 
Road due to the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 
Sunset Road at Waller Road 
 

• No improvements are recommended at the intersection of Sunset Road and Waller Road due to 
the Rosebrooke Addition. 
 

• Based on the preliminary analysis presented in this study for the future configuration of this 
intersection, traffic signal control or a roundabout intersection appear to provide acceptable traffic 
operations.  The City of Brentwood should continue to plan for the eventual realignment and 
extension of Split Log Road to this intersection and conduct additional, more detailed studies to 
determine the appropriate method of intersection control and satisfaction of appropriate warrants. 

 
Split Log Road at Project Access #1 
 

• The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic conditions 
during the am. and p.m. peak hours. 
 

• The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and two (2) 
egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet. 
 

• This proposed access will be near the location of an existing driveway on a generally straight 
section of Split Log Road and should provide acceptable intersection sight distance.  Site plans for 
the Rosebrooke Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per AASHTO 
guidelines will be available at this intersection. 

 
Split Log Road at Project Access #2 & #3 
 

• The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic conditions 
during the am. and p.m. peak hours. 
 

• The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and two (2) 
egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet. 



 

ES-3 

 
• These proposed access locations will intersect Split Log Road in between existing curves and 

should provide acceptable intersection sight distance.  Site plans for the Rosebrooke Addition 
should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per AASHTO guidelines will be available 
at this intersection. 

 
Sam Donald Road at Project Access #4 
 

• The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic conditions 
during the am. and p.m. peak hours. 
 

• The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and two (2) 
egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet. 
 

• This proposed access will be near an existing driveway within a straight section of Sam Donald 
Road and should provide acceptable intersection sight distance.  Site plans for the Rosebrooke 
Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per AASHTO guidelines will be 
available at this intersection. 

 
Split Log Road Extension 
 

• If Split Log Road improvements are available from the City of Brentwood, site plans for the 
Rosebrooke Addition should consider locations where the future Split Log Road will be intersected 
to provide acceptable grades that are feasible with the overall Split Log Road design. 
 

• If Split Log Road improvements are available from the City of Brentwood, site plans for the 
Rosebrooke Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per AASHTO 
guidelines will be available at the future intersections with the Split Log Road extension. 
 

• The Rosebrooke Addition should support the City of Brentwood with the eventual realignment and 
extension of Split Log Road by reserving an appropriate right-of-way through the project for Split 
Log Road. 

 
Existing Split Log Road 
 
Until the remaining section of the Split Log Road corridor can be improved to modern design practices, 
there are strategies and measures that can be implemented to influence driver behavior, address locations 
where there are concerns about safety, and help maintain efficient traffic flow.  Any study or implementation 
of improvements or strategies on Split Log Road would be carried out or managed by the City of Brentwood 
Engineering Staff and other City officials.  This study is not providing any specific recommendations and is 
not offering a comprehensive list of improvements or strategies that are applicable to Split Log Road.  
However, some specific strategies or measures that may be appropriate for consideration on Split Log 
Road between Pleasant Hill Road and Sunset Road are listed below. 
 

• Oversize and/or duplicate regulatory and advisory signage 
• Enhanced pavement markings including high reflectivity and/or wider lines 
• Advisory signage when approaching sharp curves and chevron signs around curves where 

appropriate 
• Guardrail with additional reflectors for high visibility 
• Roadside clearing the remove obstructions and improve sight lines 
• Rumble strips on roadway edges or along the centerline to address roadway or lane departure 

events 
• Installation of speed limit driver feedback signs 

 
As previously discussed, these are not specific recommendations, and this is not a comprehensive list of 
improvements or strategies that could be applicable to Split Log Road.  Any study or implementation of 
improvements or strategies on Split Log Road would be carried out or managed by the City of Brentwood 
Engineering Staff and other City officials. 
 



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 1 - 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 
The purpose of this study is to analyze the transportation-related impacts due to the proposed 
Rosebrooke Addition located in the City of Brentwood, Tennessee.  This report has been requested 
by the City of Brentwood planning and engineering staff to address transportation impacts and 
mitigating measures. 
 
In order to evaluate and quantify the impacts of this development, an inventory of the existing 
roadway was carried out, along with an assessment of its adequacy. Based on the project schedule, 
a design year was established and system-wide growth rates were applied to existing traffic 
volumes.  Site traffic was generated, distributed, and assigned to the roadway to quantify the site 
impact. Transportation analyses were performed in order to assess any site or non-site related 
impacts on the roadway. Finally, recommendations for roadway improvements and/or 
transportation system improvements were offered. 
  



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 2 - 

II. PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
A. Project Description 

 
As shown in Figure 1, the Rosebrooke Addition site is located along Split Log Road generally 
south of Sunset Road and north of Sam Donald Road in the City of Brentwood, Tennessee.  
The Rosebrooke Addition will include the two (2) developments described below. 
 

• Rosebrooke South contains parcels 14.00 and 14.01 shown on Williamson County 
Map 55 and contains approximately 69 acres.  The proposed development for 
Rosebrooke South includes 50 single family homes. 
 

• Rosebrooke East contains parcel 12.00 shown on Williamson County Map 55 and 
parcels 84.00 and 93.00 shown on Williamson County Map 56.  Rosebrooke East 
contains approximately 122 acres.  The proposed development for Rosebrooke East 
includes 74 single family homes. 

 
The proposed zoning for the Rosebrooke Addition is R-2 and OSRD (Open Space Residential 
Development).  The Overall Site Plan for Rosebrooke South is shown in Figure 2A.  The Overall 
Site Plan for Rosebrooke East is shown in Figure 2B. 
 

B. Site Access 
 
Access to the Rosebrooke Addition is proposed at the locations described below. 
 

• Rosebrooke South 
o One (1) new access location will be provided on Split Log Road approximately 

600 feet north of Sam Donald Road.  This proposed access will be near the 
location of an existing driveway on a generally straight section of Split Log 
Road and should provide acceptable intersection sight distance. 
 

o Two (2) connections will be made to future street stubs in the main Rosebrooke 
neighborhood. 

 
• Rosebrooke East 

o Two (2) new access locations will be provided on Split Log Road and will align 
approximately 3,550 feet north of Sam Donald Road and 1,750 feet south of 
Sunset Road.  These proposed access locations will intersect Split Log Road 
in between existing curves and should provide acceptable intersection sight 
distance. 
 

o One (1) new access location will be provided on Sam Donald Road 
approximately 1,275 feet east of Split Log Road.  This proposed access will be 
near an existing driveway within a straight section of Sam Donald Road and 
should provide acceptable intersection sight distance. 
 

o One (1) connection will be made to a future street stub in the main Rosebrooke 
neighborhood. 

 
C. Phasing and Timing 

 
The Rosebrooke Addition is anticipated to be built out over a period of 5 to 6 years.  For the 
analysis of this report, the horizon year of 2027 will be used to analyze the full build-out of the 
Rosebrooke Addition. 
  



Rosebrooke Addition

Location Map

N

3

L

A

N

 

 

 

 
 

S

8

R

9

E

<

 
 

 

 

 

 

'

E

S
,

*

N

 

 

 

 

 

Figure

1

Rosebrooke South

Rosebrooke East



190

720

69
0

690

700710

690

700

68
0690

750
740

740

740
740

730

730

720

730

740

74
0

730

730

740

75
0

76
0

77
0

74
0

730

73
0

730

730

740

750

680

680

690

69
0

680

680

680

680

670

67
0

670

710

700

71
072

0

720

700

700

710

700

710

720

720

720

710

690

680

680

68
0

680
690

75
0

750

75
0

74
0

740

73
0

730

730

710

710

720

710

760

76
0

75
0

74
0

75
0

75
0

74
0

74
0

730

73
0

730 740

750

760

76
0

760

76
0

760

760

75
0

75
0

75
0

75
0

74
0

740

740

76
0 750

74
0

73
0

730

730

720

72
0

720

71
0

710

710

700

69
0

69
0

690

690

70
0

70
0

700

68
0

68
0

680

680

670
670

670

67
0

66
066

0

660

66
0

690

680

68
0

67
0

670

67
0

670

67
0

68
0

680

680

68
0

680

69
0

69
0

690
660

134

135

136

137

138

139

151

152

157

158

164

165

166

167

174

128

130

140

141

142143

144

145

146

147

148

149

150

153

154

155

156

161

162

168

169

170

171

172

173

FA
IR

HI
LL

 D
RI

VE

SOUTHWICK DRIVE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

131

132

133

159

160

129

127

125

126

OPEN SPACE 18

OPEN SPACE 19OPEN SPACE 20

OPEN SPACE 21

OS
 22

OS
 23

OPEN SPACE 24

OS
 25

163

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A
WNA

WNA

WNA

W
N

A

WNA

WNA

WNA

WNA

W
NA

W
NA

W
NA

WNA

WNA

WNA

W
NA

WNA

W
NA

WNA

ROAD L

ROAD K

ROAD K
ROAD

 M

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
EFA

IR
H

IL
L 

D
R

IV
E GARDENWOOD

OPEN SPACE 12

42

43

83

84

85

86

41

15

81
82

OPEN SPACE 7

109

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (50' ROW -LOCAL STREET)

TERRACE

(R
-2

)
(O

SR
D

)

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 Z

O
N

E 
LI

N
E

(R
-2

)
(O

SR
D

)

(R-2)
(OSRD) PR

O
PO

SE
D

 Z
O

N
E 

LI
N

E
PR

O
PO

SE
D

 Z
O

N
E 

LI
N

E

N67°39'25"W   347.21'
S52°58'32"W

   3
62.37'

N82°59'59"W   518.72'

N73°06'29"W   419.64'

N0
7°

44
'5

4"
E 

  1
00

6.
38

'

N83°10'32"W   732.71'

N0
7°

41
'2

7"
E 

  4
27

.3
2'

N
05

°3
9'

27
"E

   
26

8.
53

'

S85°15'25"E   158.67'
S83°15'35"E   417.87'

S83°04'30"E   200.87' S83°16'49"E   245.37'
S83°28'51"E   599.99'

S79°08'40"E   337.28'
S75°25'08"E111.08'

S0
5°

52
'2

8"
W

   
18

8.
92

'

S82°27'16"E   604.80'

S51°40'26"W

114.04'

S1
1°

09
'0

8"
W

11
1.

37
'

S0
4°

45
'4

3"
W

95
.1

4'

S1
1°

11
'2

1"
W

14
0.

45
'

N26°31'29"W

103.37'

S3
5°

21
'16

"W
   2

36
.58

'

C1

C2

C3

S82°59'59"E
25.84'

(R-2)
(OSRD)

R
EX

 E
LB

ER
T 

H
. A

R
EN

D
AL

L,
 II

 A
N

D
 W

IF
E,

C
AR

O
L 

B.
 A

R
EN

D
AL

L

ALAN D. JEFFRIES AND WIFE,
JILL CARLENE JEFFRIES

MICHAEL D. CULBRETH ANDLYNETTE CULBRETH

JOHN A. McARTHUR AND WIFE,
NORMA D. McARTHUR

LARRY R. WILLIAMS, TRUSTEE

SPLIT LOG FARM, LLC

NADIR MARDONOV

SOUTH
ERNUP LL

C

ERIC S. SIMON AND WIFE,
 ANCA R. SIMON

JOE ANN W. GRIGGS, TRUSTEE

JOE ANN WILBURN GRIGGS

SPLIT LOG FARM, LLC

OPEN SPACE 19

OPEN SPACE 20

OPEN SPACE 20

WATERWAY
NATURAL

AREA

WATERWAY
NATURAL

AREA

CITY OF BRENTWOOD

WILLIAMSON COUNTY

CITY OF BRENTWOOD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY

*

*
*

*

*

*

*

*

* *

*

*
*

*

*

*

*

*
*

*

*

*
*

*

FU
TU

R
E 

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

R
EA

LI
G

N
M

EN
T

90'

150'

FUTURE SPLIT LOG ROAD

REALIGNMENT

150'

153.8'

15'

15'

60'

60'

15'

15'

60'
AVG

.

60'
AVG

.

60
'

60'

15'

15'

60
'

60'

60'
AVG.

60'

60'

60'

60'

60'

150'

150'

35
'

30
'

30
'

30'

30
'

30'

30
'

30'

90'

50
'

50'

55'

50
'

50'

55'

50'

40
'

40'
40'

50'

50'

50'

55'

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
BR

EN
TW

O
O

D
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

SUNSET ROAD
DEVELOPMENT, LLC

(R-2 LOT)

(R-2 LOT)

(R-2 LOT)

151.9'

12
0'

150'
ARTERIALBUFFER

CURVE TABLE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\P

LA
N

 S
H

EE
TS

\S
O

U
TH

\0
33

7 
SO

U
TH

 O
SR

D
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 3

/1
4/

20
22

 8
:3

6 
AM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
AR

EE
D

 O
N

: 3
/1

3/
20

22
 1

0:
44

 P
M

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\P

LA
N

 S
H

EE
TS

\S
O

U
TH

\0
33

7 
SO

U
TH

 O
SR

D
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 3

/1
4/

20
22

 8
:3

6 
AM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
AR

EE
D

 O
N

: 3
/1

3/
20

22
 1

0:
44

 P
M

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 C
IV

IL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

OVERALL SITE PLAN

3
21-0337

JFV

1"=100'

JANUARY 5, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
SO

U
TH

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

*

GENERAL NOTES 

LEGEND

*



7
8

14
15

16

17

18

19

20

21
22

23

1112

10

13

OPEN SPACE 1

12

13

14

15

17

18

19

20

27

28

29

30

31

32

9

16

OPEN
SPACE 1

(P.U.D.A.E.)

24
3

4
5

6

1

2

OPEN SPACE 2

OPEN SPACE 3

OPEN SPACE 4

OPEN SPACE 5

789
10

11

21

22
23

26

134

135

136

137

138

139

151

152

157

158

164

165

166
167

128

130

140

141

142143

144

145

146

147

148

149

150

153

154

155

156

161

162

168

169

170

171
172

173

FA
IR

HI
LL

 D
RI

VE

SOUTHWICK DRIVE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

131

132

133

159

160
129

127

125

126

OPEN SPACE 18

OPEN SPACE 19OPEN SPACE 20

OPEN SPACE 21

OS
 22

OS
 23

OS
 25

163

ROAD L

ROAD K

ROAD K

ROAD
 M

ROSEBROOKE DRIVE

ROSEBROOKE DRIVE

H
EA

R
TW

O
O

D
 L

AN
E

HEA
RTW

OOD LA
NE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

BR
IA

RM
ON

T 
PL

AC
E

FA
IR

H
IL

L 
D

R
IV

E

EASTON DRIVE

EASTON DRIVE

HARTWICK COURT

GARDENWOOD

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

OPEN SPACE 4

OPEN SPACE 6

OPEN SPACE 10

OPEN SPACE 12

OPEN SPACE 13

OPEN SPACE 9

91011
30

31

32

33

34

35

36

42

43

44

45

46

47

59

60

65
66

67

68

69

70

71

72
73

74 75

76

77

78

79

83
84

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

93

94

95

96

99

100

101

102

103

104

105

106

107

111

112

113

114

115

116

117

118
119 120

121 122 123 124

37

38

41

OS
14

OS
15

80

81 82

6162

63
64

OS
16

OPEN SPACE 7

OS
17

109

110

OPEN SPACE 11

108

 (50' ROW -

LOCAL STREET)

 (5
0' 

ROW
 -

LO
CAL S

TR
EET)

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (50' ROW -LOCAL STREET)

TERRACE

650

650
650

650

650

650

650

650
650

660

660

660

660

670

670

670

670

670

660

660
660

67
0

670

680

680
680

680

680690

690
690

690

69
0

660680

670700

690710

720

700

71070
0

71
0

71
0 730

73
0

720

710

670

660

660670

670

680

680
680690

690

690700720

710

710

720

730

73
0

730

73
0

720

72
0

71
0

70
0

71
0

71
0

710

72
0

720

720

72
0

71
0

720 710 70
0

720 710 700

690

690

690

690

680

680

680

68
0

690 680 670

67
0

690

730

730

730

720 710

700

730 720

710 70073
0

740

74
0

73
0

73
0

740

74
0

740
740 730 720

710 700

730

73
0

730

73
0

680

690

67
0

670

67
0

67
0

68
0

67
0

670

67
0

670

72071
0

690 700

69
0

68
0

70
0

71
0

720 73
0

73
0

68
0 690 70
0

71
0

72
0

73
0

740

740

740

68
0 690

700 710 720

73
0

740

75
0

76
0

740

730

720

71
0

70
0

690

680

680

69
0 700 710 720 730 740

680

680

680
690

690

690

680680
690

68
0

68
0

69
070

0

68
0

69070
0

710

71
072

0

72
0

72
0

72
0

71
0

70
0

69
0

690690
700700

700
700

70
0

700
710710

71
0

720

720

720

720

710
710

71
0

710

71
0

71
0

71
0

72
0

720

720
720

72
0

720

720

720

720

730 730

730

730

730

730

73
0

730

730

73
0

730
730

740

740

740

740
740

75
0

750

750

760

176

177

178

179

180

181

182

183

184

185

186

187

188

189

190

191

192

193

198

199

200

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208 209

224

225

226
227228

229

230

231

232

233

234

235

236

237

247

248

211 212 213
214

215216

217

218
219

220

221

222223

175

238

239
240

241

242

243

244

245

246

194

195196

197

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

210

OPEN SPACE 26

OPEN SPACE 27

OS
 28

OPEN SPACE 29

OS
 30

OPEN SPACE 31

OS
 32

OS
 33

OPEN SPACE 34

OPEN SPACE 35

OPEN SPACE 36

OPEN SPACE 37

ROAD J

R
O

AD
 J

RO
AD

 J

ROAD J

R
O

AD
 J

ROAD O

ROAD N

ROAD N

R
O

AD
 P

WNA

W
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

WNA

W
NA

W
N

A

W
NA

W
N

AW
NA

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
NA

W
NA W

NA

WNAW
NA

W
NA

WNA

W
NA

WNA

WNA

1005

1006 1007 1008 1009 1010

1011101210131014

BENINGTONSECTION 10

1901
1902

1903 1904
1905

PAULA K. TAUBE

SUNSET ROAD
DEVELOPMENT, LLC

DANIEL R. VASTA AND VICTORIA
L. VASTA, HUSBAND AND WIFE

CLARK A. PRESLEY AND
TAMARA C. PRESLEY

ANNETTE
THOMPSON

PARKES

1004

1003

1002

1001

1809

1808

1807

1806

2114

1805

2115

BENINGTON
SECTION 8

2207

2208

2209

2210

2211

BENINGTON 2
SECTION 1

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

BR
EN

TW
O

O
D

SP
LI

T 
  L

O
G

   
R

O
AD

CITY OF BRENTWOODWILLIAMSON COUNTY

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
BR

EN
TW

O
O

D
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

CITY OF BRENTWOOD

WILLIAMSON COUNTY

CITY OF BRENTWOODWILLIAMSON COUNTY

*

* *

*

*

*
*
*
*
* *

*

* *

*

*

SAM DONALD ROAD

FUTURE SPLIT LOG ROAD

REALIGNMENT

TO
W

N
 O

F N
O

LEN
SVILLE

W
ILLIAM

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
BR

EN
TW

O
O

D
TO

W
N

 O
F 

N
O

LE
N

SV
IL

LE

MICHAEL D. CULBRETH AND LYNETTECULBRETH

JOHN A. McARTHUR AND WIFE,
NORMA D. McARTHUR

MAGDALENA SAMUCHIN AND
MICHAEL G. SAMUCHIN, WIFE

AND HUSBAND

ERIC S. SIMON AND WIFE,
 ANCA R. SIMON

JOE ANN W. GRIGGS, TRUSTEE

JOE ANN WILBURN GRIGGS

PAULA K. TAUBE

SUNSET ROAD
DEVELOPMENT, LLC

MAGDALE
NA S

AMUCHIN
 A

ND

MIC
HAEL G

. S
AMUCHIN

, W
IFE

 A
ND

HUSBAND

FUTURE SPLIT LOG ROAD

REALIGNMENT

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\P

LA
N

 S
H

EE
TS

\E
AS

T\
03

37
 E

AS
T 

O
SR

D
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 3

/1
4/

20
22

 8
:0

3 
AM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
G

LE
N

TZ
 O

N
: 3

/1
/2

02
2 

8:
35

 A
M

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\P

LA
N

 S
H

EE
TS

\E
AS

T\
03

37
 E

AS
T 

O
SR

D
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

AM
AN

D
A 

R
EE

D
 O

N
: 3

/1
4/

20
22

 8
:0

3 
AM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
G

LE
N

TZ
 O

N
: 3

/1
/2

02
2 

8:
35

 A
M

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 D
IS

TR
IC

T 
O

F 
W

IL
LI

AM
SO

N
 C

O
U

N
TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

OVERALL SITE PLAN

3
21-0337

JFV

1"=200'

JANUARY 7, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
EA

ST

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

*

GENERAL NOTES 

LEGEND

*

SEE SHEET 4

SEE SHEET 5

MATCH LINE



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 6 - 

III. EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 

A. Transportation System 
 
The existing transportation system in the area is made up of arterial and local roadways which 
will provide regional and local access to the site.  The following roadways will comprise the 
study area for consideration of the traffic impact of the Rosebrooke Addition. 
 

• Sunset Road is designated as an arterial roadway in the City of Brentwood’s Municipal 
Code and is designated as a minor arterial in the Town of Nolensville Major 
Thoroughfare Plan.  Sunset Road is generally oriented in an east-west direction and 
provides a connection from Concord Road in the City of Brentwood to Nolensville Pike 
in the Town of Nolensville.  The posted speed limit on the roadway in the study area is 
40 mph. 
 

• Split Log Road is designated as an arterial roadway in the City of Brentwood’s 
Municipal Code.  Split Log Road connects Sunset Road to Ragsdale Road and Wilson 
Pike and the posted speed limit on Split Log Road is 40 mph. The City of Brentwood 
plans to realign the eastern section of Split Log Road, including along the frontage of 
the Rosebrooke Addition, to improve the horizontal and vertical alignment of the 
roadway.  East of the Rosebrooke Addition, the realigned Split Log Road will intersect 
Sunset Road and align with Waller Road to the north. 
 

• Ragsdale Road is designated as an arterial roadway in the City of Brentwood’s 
Municipal Code that is generally oriented in a north-south direction between Split Log 
Road and Sunset Road.  One travel lane is provided in each direction and the posted 
speed limit on Ragsdale Road is 30 mph. 
 

• Pleasant Hill Road is considered to be a local road because it is not designated as an 
arterial or collector roadway in the City of Brentwood’s Municipal Code.  Pleasant Hill 
Road connects to Clovercroft Road and the posted speed limit is 40 mph. 
 

• Sam Donald Road is considered to be a local road because it is not designated as an 
arterial or collector roadway in the City of Brentwood’s Municipal Code.  Sam Donald 
Road extends into the Town of Nolensville and the posted speed limit is 40 mph. 
 

• Waller Road is designated as an arterial roadway in the City of Brentwood’s Municipal 
Code that is generally oriented in a north-south direction near the City’s eastern 
boundary with the Town of Nolensville.  The posted speed limit on Waller Road is 40 
mph. The City of Brentwood plans to realign Split Log Road to intersect Sunset Road 
at a location that will align with Waller Road. 
 

B. Traffic Volumes 
 
The peak hour of the adjacent street traffic was used to determine the impact of the Rosebrooke 
Addition on the existing transportation system.  Based on hourly traffic data collected in October 
2021, the peak hours for analysis are 7:30 to 8:30 a.m. and 5:00 to 6:00 p.m.  Turning 
movement traffic counts were collected at the following intersections: 
 

• Split Log Road at Ragsdale Road 
• Split Log Road at Pleasant Hill Road/Jordan Elementary School Driveway 
• Split Log Road at Sam Donald Road  
• Sunset Road at Split Log Road 
• Sunset Road at Waller Road 

 
Existing peak hour traffic volumes are shown in Figure 3.  



Rosebrooke Addition

2021 Existing Traffic Volumes

N

P

L

A

N

 

 

 

 
 

S

8

R

V

E

<

 
 

 

 

 

 

D

E

S
,

*

N

 

 

 

 

 

Figure

3

Peak Hours

AM (PM)

Rosebrooke South

Rosebrooke East

S

a

m

 

D

o

n

a

l

d

 

R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

R

a

g

s

d

a

l
e

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

P

l
e

a

s

a

n

t
 
H

i
l
l
 
R

o

a

d

S

u

n

s

e

t

 

R

o

a

d

W

a

l
l
e

r

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
l
i
t
 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

J

o

r

d

a

n

 

E

l
e

m

e

n

t

a

r

y

S

c

h

o

o

l
 

A

c

c

e

s

s

2
9
(
1
4
)
 

7
7
(
1
6
3
)
 

 1
4
9
(
1
1
5
)

1
6
(
2
3
)
 

 4
1
3
(
2
0
3
)

1
4
4
(
3
9
9
)
 2

9
(8

3
) 

 
1
0
4
(
7
9
)
 

1
9
3
(4

8
0
) 

 4
5
8
(2

3
9
)

 6
2
(6

4
)

 
8
9
(
1
0
5
)
 

 

1

4

6

(

6

4

)

 

3

3

(

1

9

)

 

1

5

(

3

6

)

2

5

(

1

5

1

)

 

 

1

5

0

(

1

0

5

)

6

5

(

1

6

0

)

 

 3
1
6
(2

4
9
)

 7
(
1
1
)

 
1
4
(
8
)

1
7
4
(
3
7
4
)
 

 
2
4
9
(
1
4
2
)

9
1
(
2
3
6
)
 

3

2

(

2

5

)

 

5

(

5

)

 

 
4

(

8

)

1

0

(

3

6

)

 

1

8

(

1

)

 
3

(

6

)

 
1

(

2

)

 
5

(

1

8

)

 
2

7

1

(

1

7

2

)

 
2

7

(

4

)

8

3

(

3

1

1

)

 

5

9

(

6

)

 

Project Access 1

Project Access 2

Project Access 4



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 8 - 

IV. FORECASTED BACKGROUND TRAFFIC 
 

A. Introduction 
 

Before any impacts to the study area could be addressed, some estimate of background traffic 
volumes for the horizon year had to be established.  Background traffic volumes were 
established by segregating potential growth into two categories: 
 

• Specific development traffic growth within the immediate study area 
• Growth due to small scale development and/or general population growth 

 
B. Specific Development Growth 

 
Based on discussions with City of Brentwood staff related to the scope of this traffic impact 
study, there are three approved but not yet completed developments in the study area that 
should be included as specific contributors of new traffic to the system prior to the completion 
of the Rosebrooke Addition.  Trip generation for the specific background developments is 
shown in Table 1, and the trip distributions are provided in the appendix of this report. 
 

TABLE 1 

TRIP GENERATION: BACKGROUND SPECIFIC DEVELOPMENTS 

Land Use Total Units Daily 
Trips 

A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 
Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total 

Rosebrooke 
(Main Section) 126 homes 1,286 24 70 94 80 47 127 

Taube Property 71 homes 759 14 41 55 46 27 73 
Proposed Split Log 

Middle School 1,350 students - 366 299 665 94 102 196 

 
The specific background growth shown in Table 1 results in a growth rate on Split Log Road at 
the Rosebrooke Addition frontage of 8.3% per year during the a.m. peak hour and 3.3% per 
year during the p.m. peak hour. 
 

C. Annual Growth 
 
To establish background traffic volumes, TDOT historical traffic was obtained for Sunset Road 
and Ragsdale Road in the study area.  Based on linear regression analysis of the historical 
traffic data, a growth rate of approximately 3 percent per year has been observed in the study 
area.  Due to the specific background growth shown in Table 1 that exceeds the observed 
historical growth rate, a 1.0 percent annual growth rate will be used as the general growth 
rate for the base traffic volumes.  

 
D. Background Traffic Summary 

 
Background traffic for the future traffic forecasts was compiled based on the following: 
 

• 2021 traffic count data 
• Specific background developments: Rosebrooke (main), Taube Property, Proposed 

Split Log Middle School 
• 1% per year increase of traffic volumes for the period from 2021 to 2027 

 
Background traffic volumes on the study area roadways, representing exisitng traffic volumes 
plus background growth, for the year 2027 are shown in Figure 4. 
 



Rosebrooke Addition

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

N

P

L

A

N

 

 

 

 
 

S

8

R

V

E

<

 
 

 

 

 

 

D

E

S
,

*

N

 

 

 

 

 

Figure

4

Peak Hours

AM (PM)

Rosebrooke South

Rosebrooke East

S

a

m

 

D

o

n

a

l

d

 

R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

R

a

g

s

d

a

l
e

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

P

l
e

a

s

a

n

t
 
H

i
l
l
 
R

o

a

d

S

u

n

s

e

t

 

R

o

a

d

W

a

l
l
e

r

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
l
i
t
 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

J

o

r

d

a

n

 

E

l
e

m

e

n

t

a

r

y

S

c

h

o

o

l
 

A

c

c

e

s

s

7
7
(
3
5
)
 

1
1
8
(
1
8
6
)
 

 1
9
7
(
1
3
8
)

5
9
(
5
2
)
 

 4
4
8
(
2
3
8
)

1
7
2
(
4
4
1
)
 4

0
(9

4
) 

 
1
1
3
(
9
4
)

2
5
0
(5

3
4
) 

 5
3
2
(2

8
3
)

 6
6
(6

8
)

 
9
4
(
1
1
1
)

 

1

9

2

(

7

8

)

 

3

5

(

2

0

)

 

1

6

(

3

8

)

5

7

(

1

7

0

)

 

 

2

5

3

(

1

4

3

)

1

3

7

(

2

1

4

)

 

 4
7
6
(3

1
8
)

 3
7
(
2
2
)

 
5
2
(
1
8
)

3
4
0
(
4
5
9
)
 

 
2
6
4
(
1
5
1
)

9
7
(
2
5
1
)
 

3

4

(

2

7

)

 

5

(

5

)

 

 
4

(

8

)

1

1

(

3

8

)

 

5

6

(

1

1

)

 
8

6

(

3

4

)

 
3

1

(

1

2

)

 
1

6

9

(

7

5

)

 
3

1

7

(

1

9

9

)

 
1

3

1

(

3

0

)

1

0

2

(

3

5

6

)

 

2

6

4

(

5

8

)

 

Project Access 1

Project Access 2

Project Access 3

Project Access 4



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 10 - 

V. PROPOSED SITE TRAFFIC 
 

A. Site Trip Generation 
 
In order to quantify site-related impacts within the study area, some estimates of site trip 
generation and traffic assignment had to be established. Trip generation rates for the 
development were established using information for the weekday a.m. and p.m. peak hour of 
the adjacent street as shown in the ITE Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition.  
 
The trip generation for the Rosebrooke Addition is shown in Table 2. 
 

TABLE 2 

TRIP GENERATION: ROSEBROOKE ADDITION 

Proposed Development Daily 
Trips 

A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total 
Rosebrooke South 

(50 Single Family Detached Homes) 550 10 30 40 33 19 52 

Rosebrooke East 
(74 Single Family Detached Homes) 788 14 43 57 48 28 76 

 
B. Site Trip Distribution and Assignment 

 
Site trips were distributed based primarily upon the prevalent commuter traffic patterns in the 
area and the proximity and routes to major transportation facilities. Figure 5 shows the 
distribution of residential site trips for the Rosebrooke Addition. 
 
Site traffic volumes generated by the Rosebrooke Addition in the horizon year 2027 are shown 
in Figure 6.  The accumulation of existing, background growth, and site-generated traffic for 
the horizon year 2027 is shown in Figure 7. 
  



Rosebrooke Addition

Rosebrooke South

Trip Distribution

N

P

L

A

N

 

 

 

 
 

S

8

R

9

E

<

 
 

 

 

 

 

D

E

S
,

*

N

 

 

 

 

 

Figure

5A

Entering %

(Exit %)

Rosebrooke South

Rosebrooke East

S

a

m

 

D

o

n

a

l

d

 

R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

R

a

g

s

d

a

l
e

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

P

l
e

a

s

a

n

t
 
H

i
l
l
 
R

o

a

d

S

u

n

s

e

t

 

R

o

a

d

W

a

l
l
e

r

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
l
i
t
 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

J

o

r

d

a

n

 

E

l
e

m

e

n

t

a

r

y

S

c

h

o

o

l
 

A

c

c

e

s

s

(
1
0
%

)
 

(
2
5
%

)
 

 
2
5
%

1
0
%

 

(1
0
%

) 

 
1
0
%

(15%
) 

 15%

 

1

0

%

 

(

1

0

%

)

 

(

3

5

%

)

3

5

%

 

 (2
5
%

)

 (5
%

)

 
5
%

2
5
%

 

5

%

 

 
(

5

%

)

 
(

3

0

%

)

3

0

%

 

Project Access 1

Project Access 2

Project Access 3

Project Access 4

 35%

(35%) 

(
1

0

%

)
 

 
1

0

%

(
3

5

%

)
 

(
4

5

%

)
 

4

5

%

 

 
3

5

%

20% of Rosebrooke South Site Traffic will access

Sunset Road via local street connectivity to the

north in the Rosebrooke Main neighborhood



Rosebrooke Addition

Rosebrooke East

Trip Distribution

N

P

L

A

N

 

 

 

 
 

S

8

R

9

E

<

 
 

 

 

 

 

D

E

S
,

*

N

 

 

 

 

 

Figure

5B

Rosebrooke South

Rosebrooke East

S

a

m

 

D

o

n

a

l

d

 

R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

R

a

g

s

d

a

l
e

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

P

l
e

a

s

a

n

t
 
H

i
l
l
 
R

o

a

d

S

u

n

s

e

t

 

R

o

a

d

W

a

l
l
e

r

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
l
i
t
 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

J

o

r

d

a

n

 

E

l
e

m

e

n

t

a

r

y

S

c

h

o

o

l
 

A

c

c

e

s

s

 

(

2

5

%

)

2

5

%

 

 

(

1

0

%

)

1

0

%

 

Project Access 1

Project Access 2

Project Access 3

Project Access 4

(
5
%

)
 

(
5
5
%

)
 

 55%

5% 

 
(
5
%

)

 
(
5
%

)

 5%

5% 

2

5

%

 

 
(
2

5

%

)

 
1

0

%

 
(
1

0

%

)

1

0

%

 

 
(
1

0

%

)

Entering %

(Exit %)

(
3
0
%

)
 

(
2
5
%

)
 

 
2
5
%

3
0
%

 

(1
0
%

) 

 
1
0
%

(15%
) 

 15%

 (2
5
%

)

 (5
%

)

 
5
%

2
5
%

 

5

%

 

 
(

5

%

)

 
(

3

0

%

)

3

0

%

 



Rosebrooke Addition

Rosebrooke South

Site Traffic Volumes

N

P

L

A

N

 

 

 

 
 

S

8

R

V

E

<

 
 

 

 

 

 

D

E

S
,

*

N

 

 

 

 

 

Figure

6A

Peak Hours

AM (PM)

Rosebrooke South

Rosebrooke East

S

a

m

 

D

o

n

a

l

d

 

R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

R

a

g

s

d

a

l
e

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

P

l
e

a

s

a

n

t
 
H

i
l
l
 
R

o

a

d

S

u

n

s

e

t

 

R

o

a

d

W

a

l
l
e

r

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
l
i
t
 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

J

o

r

d

a

n

 

E

l
e

m

e

n

t

a

r

y

S

c

h

o

o

l
 

A

c

c

e

s

s

3
(
2
)

8
(
5
)

 
3
(
8
)

1
(
3
)
 

3
(2

) 

 
1
(
3
)
 

5(3) 

 2(5)

 

1

(

3

)

 

3

(

2

)

 

1

1

(

7

)

4

(

1

2

)

 

 8
(5

)

 2
(1

)

 
1
(
2
)

3
(
8
)
 

1

(

2

)

 
2

(

1

)

 
9

(

6

)

3

(

1

0

)

Project Access 1

Project Access 2

Project Access 3

Project Access 4

 4(12)

11(7) 

3

(
2

)
 

 
1

(
3

)

1

1

(
7

)
 

1

4

(
9

)
 

5

(
1

5

)
 

 
4

(
1

2

)
 



Rosebrooke Addition

2027 Total Traffic Volumes

N

P

L

A

N

 

 

 

 
 

S

8

R

V

E

<

 
 

 

 

 

 

D

E

S
,

*

N

 

 

 

 

 

Figure

7

Peak Hours

AM (PM)

Rosebrooke South

Rosebrooke East

S

a

m

 

D

o

n

a

l

d

 

R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

R

a

g

s

d

a

l
e

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
lit

 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

P

l
e

a

s

a

n

t
 
H

i
l
l
 
R

o

a

d

S

u

n

s

e

t

 

R

o

a

d

W

a

l
l
e

r

 
R

o

a

d

S

p
l
i
t
 
L
o
g
 
R

o
a
d

J

o

r

d

a

n

 

E

l
e

m

e

n

t

a

r

y

S

c

h

o

o

l
 

A

c

c

e

s

s

9
3
(
4
5
)
 

1
3
7
(
1
9
8
)
 

 2
0
4
(
1
5
8
)

6
4
(
6
9
)
 

 4
4
8
(
2
3
8
)

1
7
2
(
4
4
1
)
 5

1
(9

9
) 

 
1
1
5
(
1
0
2
)
 

3
2
3
(5

4
1
) 

 5
3
6
(2

9
5
)

 6
6
(6

8
)

 
9
4
(
1
1
1
)
 

 

2

0

3

(

8

5

)

 

3

6

(

2

3

)

 

1

9

(

4

0

)

6

1

(

1

8

2

)

 

 

2

6

8

(

1

5

3

)

1

4

2

(

2

3

1

)

 

 4
9
5
(3

3
0
)

 4
1
(
2
4
)

 
5
4
(
2
2
)

3
4
7
(
4
7
9
)
 

 
2
6
4
(
1
5
1
)

9
7
(
2
5
1
)
 

3

4

(

2

7

)

 

7

(

9

)

 

 
8

(

1

0

)

1

1

(

3

8

)

 

5

6

(

1

1

)

 

 
8

6

(

3

4

)

 
3

1

(

1

2

)

 
1

6

9

(

7

5

)

 
3

3

9

(

2

1

3

)

 
1

3

1

(

3

0

)

1

0

9

(

3

8

0

)

 

2

6

4

(

5

8

)

 

Project Access 1

Project Access 2

Project Access 3

Project Access 4

2
(
1
)
 

2
4
(
1
5
)
 

 8(26)

1(2)

 
2
(
1
)

 
2
(
1
)

 273(194)

 1(2)

183(241)

1(2)

4

(
1

2

)
 

 
1

1

(
7

)

7

5

(
2

1

1

)
 

 
2

2

8

(
1

0

1

)

 
1

(
5

)

 
4

(
3

)

1

1

(
7

)
 

1

4

(
9

)
 

5

(
1

5

)
 

 
4

(
1

2

)
 

1

7

3

(
2

3

9

)
 

 
2

7

3

(
1

8

5

)
 



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 14 - 

VI. TRANSPORTATION ANALYSIS 
 

A. Intersection Capacity Analysis 
 
In order to gauge the site impact and identify capacity deficiencies, intersection capacity 
analyses were conducted at the Rosebrooke Addition study area intersections. Capacity 
analyses were conducted according to the methodology and procedures outlined in the 
Highway Capacity Manual, 6th Edition, published by Transportation Research Board.  
Intersections were analyzed for capacity deficiencies and geometric improvement needs during 
the a.m. and p.m. peak hours for base, background and total traffic conditions. Capacity 
analysis results for the a.m. peak hour are shown in Table 3. 
 

TABLE 3 

INTERSECTION CAPACITY RESULTS – A.M. PEAK HOUR 

Intersection Condition (1) 
Level of Service (avg. delay/vehicle – sec.) 

2021 Existing 2027 Background 2027 Total 
Split Log Road at 
Ragsdale Road Traffic Signal A (8.3) A (9.2) A (9.4) 

Split Log Road at 
Pleasant Hill Road / Jordan 

Elementary School 
Traffic Signal A (9.2) B (12.8) B (12.9) 

Split Log Road at 
Sam Donald Road 

SB Left A (7.4) A (7.7) A (7.7) 

TWSC WB B (11.6) C (16.3) C (17.7) 

Sunset Road at 
Split Log Road 

WB Left A (7.9) A (8.3) A (8.3) 

TWSC NB B (13.9) D (32.9) E (47.7) 

Sunset Road at 
Waller Road 

EB Left A (8.7) A (9.0) A (9.1) 

TWSC SB C (21.4) D (31.3) D (33.9) 

Split Log Road at  
Project Access #1 

NB Left - - A (7.9) 

TWSC EB - - B (11.0) 

Split Log Road at 
Project Access #2 & #3 

EB Left - - A (7.9) 

WB Left - - A (7.6) 

TWSC NB - - A (9.7) 

TWSC SB - - B (11.5) 

Sam Donald Road at 
Project Access #4 

EB Left - - A (7.7) 

TWSC SB - - A (9.8) 
(1) TWSC = Two-way Stop Control 

 
  



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 15 - 

Capacity analysis results for the p.m. peak hour are shown in Table 4. 
 

TABLE 4 

INTERSECTION CAPACITY RESULTS – P.M. PEAK HOUR 

Intersection Condition (1) 
Level of Service (avg. delay/vehicle – sec.) 

2021 Existing 2027 Background 2027 Total 
Split Log Road at 
Ragsdale Road Traffic Signal A (7.0) A (7.5) A (7.6) 

Split Log Road at 
Pleasant Hill Road / Jordan 

Elementary School 
Traffic Signal A (6.6) A (8.8) A (8.9) 

Split Log Road at 
Sam Donald Road 

SB Left A (8.0) A (8.3) A (8.4) 

TWSC WB B (12.2) B (14.1) B (14.9) 

Sunset Road at 
Split Log Road 

WB Left A (8.7) A (9.1) A (9.3) 

TWSC NB B (14.9) C (22.5) D (29.1) 

Sunset Road at 
Waller Road 

EB Left A (8.2) A (8.4) A (8.4) 

TWSC SB D (29.3) E (47.3) F (54.9) 

Split Log Road at  
Project Access #1 

NB Left - - A (7.7) 

TWSC EB - - B (10.6) 

Split Log Road at 
Project Access #2 & #3 

EB Left - - A (7.7) 

WB Left - - A (7.8) 

TWSC NB - - A (9.9) 

TWSC SB - - B (11.4) 

Sam Donald Road at 
Project Access #4 

EB Left - - A (7.5) 

TWSC SB - - A (9.5) 
(1) TWSC = Two-way Stop Control 

 
 
Level of service (LOS) criteria for unsignalized intersections is shown in Table 5 below. 
 

TABLE 5 

LEVEL OF SERVICE DESCRIPTIONS FOR UNSIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS 
Level of 
Service Description Control Delay 

(sec. /veh.) 
A Usually no conflicting traffic 0 - 10 

B Occasionally some delay due to conflicting traffic > 10 - 15 

C Delay is noticeable but not inconveniencing > 15 - 25 

D Delay is noticeable and irritating, increased risk taking > 25 - 35 

E Delay approaches tolerance level, risk taking likely > 35 - 50 

F Delay exceeds tolerance level, high likelihood of risk taking > 50 

Source: Highway Capacity Manual, 6th Edition 
 



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 16 - 

Level of service (LOS) criteria for unsignalized intersections is shown in Table 6 below. 
 

TABLE 6 

LEVEL OF SERVICE DESCRIPTIONS FOR SIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS 
Level of 
Service Description Control Delay 

(sec. /veh.) 
A Free Flow ≤10 

B Stable Flow (slight delays) > 10 - 20 

C Stable Flow (acceptable delays) > 20 - 35 

D Approaching unstable flow (tolerable delay) > 35 - 55 

E Unstable flow (intolerable delay) > 55 - 80 

F Forced flow (congested and queues fail to clear) > 80 

Source: Highway Capacity Manual, 6th Edition 
 

B. Future Split Log Road Realignment 
 
The future realignment and extension of Split Log Road will create a fourth intersection 
approach at the existing intersection of Sunset Road at Waller Road.  This new intersection will 
consolidate the existing intersections of arterial streets with a spacing approximately 970 feet 
into one intersection. 
 
The total traffic volumes shown in Figure 7 for the intersections of Sunset Road at Split Log 
Road and Sunset Road at Waller Road were redistributed based on the turning movement 
percentages to provide the total traffic forecast shown to the right for the future intersection of 
Sunset Road at Split Log Road/Waller Road. 
 
For preliminary and informational purposes, the total traffic forecast was evaluated for multiple 
types of intersection control to assist the City of Brentwood with preliminary consideration and 
discussion of the future Split Road realignment and extension.  The results the intersection 
control evaluation showed that traffic signal control or a roundabout intersection appear to 
provide better traffic operations than two-way stop control or all-way stop control.  Due to the 
heavy right turn volumes on the Split Log Road and Waller Road approaches, a specific signal 
warrant evaluation study should be conducted to assess the need for a traffic signal and 
impacts that right turn on red movements would have at the intersection. 
  



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 17 - 

VII. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

A. Split Log Road at Ragsdale Road 
 
The City of Brentwood has improved Split Log Road in the area of this intersection, including 
the installation of a traffic signal at this intersection.  The recommendation below is based on 
the results of the capacity analysis completed for this report. 
 

• No improvements are recommended at the intersection of Split Log Road and 
Ragsdale Road due to the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 
B. Split Log Road at Pleasant Hill Road / Jordan Elementary School Driveway 

 
The City of Brentwood has improved Split Log Road in the area of this intersection, including 
the installation of a traffic signal at this intersection.  Additionally, Williamson County Schools 
are currently planning a new middle school that would access this intersection.  Traffic forecasts 
for the new middle school have been included in the analysis of this report.  The 
recommendation below is based on the results of the capacity analysis completed for this 
report. 
 

• While there may be improvements necessary to accommodate the proposed middle 
school at this intersection, no improvements are recommended at the intersection of 
Split Log Road and Pleasant Hill Road / Jordan Elementary School Driveway due to 
the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 
C. Split Log Road at Sam Donald Road 

 
The City of Brentwood is planning to realign Split Log Road in the area of this intersection to 
improve the roadway geometry and to add capacity with left turn lanes at intersections.  The 
recommendations below are based on the results of the capacity analysis completed for this 
report. 
 

• A southbound left turn lane should be included as part of the Split Log Road 
realignment and improvements.  If feasible within the available or proposed right-of-
way, a separate right turn lane on Sam Donald Road with 100 feet of storage and 100 
feet of taper would add efficiency to the two-way stop control at this intersection. 
 

• No additional improvements are recommended at the intersection of Sunset Road and 
Split Log Road due to the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 
D. Sunset Road at Split Log Road 

 
The City of Brentwood is planning to realign and extend Split Log Road to intersect Sunset 
Road at a location that will align with Waller Road.  The realignment will route Split Log Road 
approximately 1,000 feet to the east of the existing Split Log Road and Sunset Road 
intersection.  The existing Split Log Road intersection will remain in place after the realignment 
and extension of Split Log Road is complete to provide local access to the main Rosebrooke 
project and other adjoining properties. 
 

• A northbound left turn lane on Split Log Road is a condition of approval of the 
Rosebrook project located in the southwest corner at the intersection of Sunset Road 
and Split Log Road. 
 

• No additional improvements are recommended at the intersection of Sunset Road and 
Split Log Road due to the Rosebrooke Addition. 

 



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 18 - 

E. Sunset Road at Waller Road 
 
The intersection of Sunset Road at Waller Road is currently characterized by undesirable levels 
of service on the minor street approach of Waller Road.  This is an expected condition at 
intersections with arterial streets with high volumes of left turns from the minor street and high 
volumes of through traffic on the major street.  The City of Brentwood’s plan to extend Split Log 
Road to align with Waller Road at this intersection will provide a four-leg intersection and an 
opportunity for additional laneage and traffic control modifications. 
 

• No improvements are recommended at the intersection of Sunset Road and Waller 
Road due to the Rosebrooke Addition. 
 

• Based on the preliminary analysis presented in this study for the future configuration 
of this intersection, traffic signal control or a roundabout intersection appear to provide 
acceptable traffic operations.  The City of Brentwood should continue to plan for the 
eventual realignment and extension of Split Log Road to this intersection and conduct 
additional, more detailed studies to determine the appropriate method of intersection 
control and satisfaction of appropriate warrants. 

 
F. Split Log Road at Project Access #1 

 
The following recommendations are offered for the intersection of Split Log Road at Project 
Access #1: 
 

• The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic 
conditions during the am. and p.m. peak hours. 
 

• The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and 
two (2) egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet. 
 

• This proposed access will be near the location of an existing driveway on a generally 
straight section of Split Log Road and should provide acceptable intersection sight 
distance.  Site plans for the Rosebrooke Addition should confirm that acceptable 
intersection sight distance per AASHTO guidelines will be available at this intersection. 

 
G. Split Log Road at Project Access #2 & #3 

 
The following recommendations are offered for the intersection of Split Log Road at Project 
Access #2 & #3: 
 

• The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic 
conditions during the am. and p.m. peak hours. 
 

• The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and 
two (2) egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet. 
 

• These proposed access locations will intersect Split Log Road in between existing 
curves and should provide acceptable intersection sight distance.  Site plans for the 
Rosebrooke Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per 
AASHTO guidelines will be available at this intersection. 
 

H. Sam Donald Road at Project Access #4 
 
The following recommendations are offered for the intersection of Split Log Road at Project 
Access #4: 
 



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 19 - 

• The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic 
conditions during the am. and p.m. peak hours. 
 

• The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and 
two (2) egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet. 
 

• This proposed access will be near an existing driveway within a straight section of Sam 
Donald Road and should provide acceptable intersection sight distance.  Site plans for 
the Rosebrooke Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per 
AASHTO guidelines will be available at this intersection. 
 

I. Split Log Road Extension 
 

• If Split Log Road improvements are available from the City of Brentwood, site plans for 
the Rosebrooke Addition should consider locations where the future Split Log Road 
will be intersected to provide acceptable grades that are feasible with the overall Split 
Log Road design. 
 

• If Split Log Road improvements are available from the City of Brentwood, site plans for 
the Rosebrooke Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection sight distance per 
AASHTO guidelines will be available at the future intersections with the Split Log Road 
extension. 
 

• The Rosebrooke Addition should support the City of Brentwood with the eventual 
realignment and extension of Split Log Road by reserving an appropriate right-of-way 
through the project for Split Log Road. 

 
J. Existing Split Log Road 

 
The existing section of Split Log Road from approximately 1,300 feet east of Pleasant Hill Road 
to Sunset Road is a two-lane roadway that has not yet been improved to the three-lane 
suburban roadway section that the City of Brentwood has provided west of Pleasant Hill Road 
to Wilson Pike.  As shown in the image below, planning for improvements to this section of 
Split Log Road has begun and is ongoing but will take some time to fully complete.  Projects 
such as the Rosebrooke Addition can play an important role in this future improvement by 
reserving the appropriate right-of-way and preparing site plans to accommodate the future, 
improved Split Log Road. 
 

 
 
Until the remaining section of the Split Log Road corridor can be improved to modern design 
practices, there are strategies and measures that can be implemented to influence driver 



Rosebrooke Addition 
Traffic Impact Study 

 
 

- 20 - 

behavior, address locations where there are concerns about safety, and help maintain efficient 
traffic flow.  The City of Brentwood Engineering Staff is very experienced and very capable of 
studying and implementing appropriate strategies and measures on Split Log Road and all 
other city streets. 
 
Any study or implementation of improvements or strategies on Split Log Road would be carried 
out or managed by the City of Brentwood Engineering Staff and other City officials.  This study 
is not providing any specific recommendations and is not offering a comprehensive list of 
improvements or strategies that are applicable to Split Log Road.  However, some specific 
strategies or measures that may be appropriate for consideration on Split Log Road between 
Pleasant Hill Road and Sunset Road are listed below. 
 

• Oversize and/or duplicate regulatory and advisory signage 
• Enhanced pavement markings including high reflectivity and/or wider lines 
• Advisory signage when approaching sharp curves and chevron signs around curves 

where appropriate 
• Guardrail with additional reflectors for high visibility 
• Roadside clearing the remove obstructions and improve sight lines 
• Rumble strips on roadway edges or along the centerline to address roadway or lane 

departure events 
• Installation of speed limit driver feedback signs 

 
As previously discussed, these are not specific recommendations, and this is not a 
comprehensive list of improvements or strategies that could be applicable to Split Log Road.  
Any study or implementation of improvements or strategies on Split Log Road would be carried 
out or managed by the City of Brentwood Engineering Staff and other City officials. 



APPENDIX

A. TRAFFIC COUNT DATA

B. TRIP GENERATION & FUTURE TRAFFIC 
DERIVATION

C. 2021 EXISTING CONDITIONS CAPACITY 
ANALYSIS WORKSHEETS

D. 2027 BACKGROUND CONDITIONS 
CAPACITY ANALYSIS WORKSHEETS

E. 2027 TOTAL CONDITIONS
CAPACITY ANALYSIS WORKSHEETS



APPENDIX A

TRAFFIC COUNT DATA



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 1 of 5

Waller Rd Site 1 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Fair

Sunset Rd (East) Waller Rd 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 36.965327°, -86.702941°

36.965327°, -86.702941°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

All vehicles

Weather

Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Waller Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 1.1 1.2 1.3 Total 1.4 1.5 1.6 Total 1.7 1.8 1.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 3 4 0 7 3 4 0 7 36 1 0 37 51

0615 - 0630 1 9 0 10 1 7 0 8 47 3 0 50 68

0630 - 0645 2 11 0 13 2 22 0 24 86 9 0 95 132

0645 - 0700 10 24 0 34 9 31 0 40 94 3 0 97 171

Hourly Total 16 48 0 64 15 64 0 79 263 16 0 279 422

0700 - 0715 15 25 0 40 4 32 0 36 91 9 0 100 176

0715 - 0730 14 27 0 41 8 67 0 75 74 18 0 92 208

0730 - 0745 23 32 0 55 9 80 0 89 143 26 0 169 313

0745 - 0800 12 30 0 42 5 39 0 44 121 22 0 143 229

Hourly Total 64 114 0 178 26 218 0 244 429 75 0 504 926

0800 - 0815 17 22 0 39 8 31 0 39 102 5 0 107 185

0815 - 0830 37 20 0 57 7 43 0 50 93 9 0 102 209

0830 - 0845 39 29 0 68 5 31 0 36 109 39 0 148 252

0845 - 0900 14 12 0 26 19 61 0 80 84 37 0 121 227

Hourly Total 107 83 0 190 39 166 0 205 388 90 0 478 873

0900 - 0915 11 16 0 27 14 36 0 50 59 14 0 73 150

0915 - 0930 15 13 0 28 9 31 0 40 82 12 0 94 162

0930 - 0945 8 15 0 23 14 34 0 48 92 14 0 106 177

0945 - 1000 11 8 0 19 13 44 0 57 53 13 0 66 142

Hourly Total 45 52 0 97 50 145 0 195 286 53 0 339 631

1000 - 1015 9 14 0 23 3 41 0 44 44 13 0 57 124

1015 - 1030 11 7 0 18 5 28 0 33 44 11 0 55 106

1030 - 1045 8 15 0 23 8 42 0 50 59 9 0 68 141

1045 - 1100 11 6 0 17 4 33 0 37 49 9 0 58 112

Hourly Total 39 42 0 81 20 144 0 164 196 42 0 238 483

1100 - 1115 8 11 0 19 7 56 0 63 49 9 0 58 140

1115 - 1130 15 5 0 20 8 51 0 59 40 8 0 48 127

1130 - 1145 12 12 0 24 12 55 0 67 44 15 0 59 150

1145 - 1200 15 15 0 30 11 56 0 67 50 18 0 68 165

Hourly Total 50 43 0 93 38 218 0 256 183 50 0 233 582

1200 - 1215 10 18 0 28 12 49 0 61 62 12 0 74 163

1215 - 1230 16 8 0 24 5 50 0 55 50 9 0 59 138

1230 - 1245 9 8 0 17 16 49 0 65 67 5 0 72 154

1245 - 1300 10 9 0 19 16 46 0 62 42 11 0 53 134

Hourly Total 45 43 0 88 49 194 0 243 221 37 0 258 589

1300 - 1315 13 22 0 35 19 60 0 79 41 8 0 49 163

1315 - 1330 10 11 0 21 8 58 0 66 31 13 0 44 131

1330 - 1345 18 21 0 39 12 57 0 69 42 15 0 57 165

1345 - 1400 19 8 0 27 10 50 0 60 56 11 0 67 154

Hourly Total 60 62 0 122 49 225 0 274 170 47 0 217 613

1400 - 1415 8 10 0 18 10 54 0 64 46 15 0 61 143

1415 - 1430 8 16 0 24 11 82 0 93 45 11 0 56 173

1430 - 1445 26 19 0 45 13 83 0 96 46 11 0 57 198

1445 - 1500 20 12 0 32 12 90 0 102 48 6 0 54 188

Hourly Total 62 57 0 119 46 309 0 355 185 43 0 228 702

1500 - 1515 15 7 0 22 17 85 0 102 97 20 0 117 241

1515 - 1530 21 18 0 39 8 83 0 91 79 13 0 92 222

1530 - 1545 17 24 0 41 18 109 0 127 67 12 0 79 247

1545 - 1600 25 18 0 43 20 127 0 147 51 33 0 84 274

Hourly Total 78 67 0 145 63 404 0 467 294 78 0 372 984

1600 - 1615 19 15 0 34 22 126 0 148 93 38 0 131 313

1615 - 1630 26 9 0 35 25 124 0 149 60 12 0 72 256

1630 - 1645 47 17 0 64 21 134 0 155 64 23 0 87 306

1645 - 1700 30 19 0 49 25 107 0 132 67 47 0 114 295

Hourly Total 122 60 0 182 93 491 0 584 284 120 0 404 1170

1700 - 1715 33 26 0 59 26 141 0 167 62 15 0 77 303

1715 - 1730 24 15 0 39 27 130 0 157 78 21 0 99 295

1730 - 1745 26 17 0 43 14 102 0 116 60 16 0 76 235

1745 - 1800 22 21 0 43 16 107 0 123 39 12 0 51 217

Hourly Total 105 79 0 184 83 480 0 563 239 64 0 303 1050

1800 - 1815 28 18 0 46 18 101 0 119 78 21 0 99 264

1815 - 1830 18 15 0 33 23 105 0 128 47 6 0 53 214

1830 - 1845 11 8 0 19 19 77 0 96 48 7 0 55 170

1845 - 1900 10 3 0 13 13 64 0 77 55 11 0 66 156

Hourly Total 67 44 0 111 73 347 0 420 228 45 0 273 804

Grand Total 860 794 0 1654 644 3405 0 4049 3366 760 0 4126 9829

Approach % 52.00 48.00 0.00 - 15.91 84.09 0.00 - 81.58 18.42 0.00 -

Intersection % 8.75 8.08 0.00 16.83 6.55 34.64 0.00 41.19 34.25 7.73 0.00 41.98

PHF 0.71 0.74 0.00 0.82 0.92 0.91 0.00 0.91 0.87 0.56 0.00 0.83 0.98

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Bikes

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 1 of 5

Waller Rd Site 1 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Fair

Sunset Rd (East) Waller Rd 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 36.965327°, -86.702941°

36.965327°, -86.702941°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Bikes

Weather

Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Waller Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 1.1 1.2 1.3 Total 1.4 1.5 1.6 Total 1.7 1.8 1.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 2

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 2

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 2 0 3 4

Approach % 0.00 0.00 0.00 - 100.00 0.00 0.00 - 33.33 66.67 0.00 -

Intersection % 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 25.00 0.00 0.00 25.00 25.00 50.00 0.00 75.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Passenger Vehicles (1-3)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 1 of 5

Waller Rd Site 1 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Fair

Sunset Rd (East) Waller Rd 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 36.965327°, -86.702941°

36.965327°, -86.702941°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Passenger Vehicles (1-3)

Weather

Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Waller Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 1.1 1.2 1.3 Total 1.4 1.5 1.6 Total 1.7 1.8 1.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 2 4 0 6 3 4 0 7 36 1 0 37 50

0615 - 0630 1 9 0 10 1 7 0 8 44 3 0 47 65

0630 - 0645 2 11 0 13 2 18 0 20 83 9 0 92 125

0645 - 0700 10 22 0 32 9 30 0 39 91 3 0 94 165

Hourly Total 15 46 0 61 15 59 0 74 254 16 0 270 405

0700 - 0715 15 24 0 39 4 32 0 36 90 9 0 99 174

0715 - 0730 13 26 0 39 8 62 0 70 71 17 0 88 197

0730 - 0745 22 32 0 54 9 75 0 84 141 26 0 167 305

0745 - 0800 11 28 0 39 5 38 0 43 115 21 0 136 218

Hourly Total 61 110 0 171 26 207 0 233 417 73 0 490 894

0800 - 0815 17 22 0 39 8 28 0 36 101 5 0 106 181

0815 - 0830 36 19 0 55 6 43 0 49 88 9 0 97 201

0830 - 0845 38 29 0 67 5 27 0 32 108 39 0 147 246

0845 - 0900 13 12 0 25 17 54 0 71 81 35 0 116 212

Hourly Total 104 82 0 186 36 152 0 188 378 88 0 466 840

0900 - 0915 11 15 0 26 11 32 0 43 57 14 0 71 140

0915 - 0930 14 12 0 26 8 29 0 37 78 11 0 89 152

0930 - 0945 8 11 0 19 13 33 0 46 87 14 0 101 166

0945 - 1000 10 7 0 17 13 42 0 55 50 13 0 63 135

Hourly Total 43 45 0 88 45 136 0 181 272 52 0 324 593

1000 - 1015 8 14 0 22 3 41 0 44 43 11 0 54 120

1015 - 1030 11 6 0 17 5 28 0 33 44 11 0 55 105

1030 - 1045 8 15 0 23 8 38 0 46 58 8 0 66 135

1045 - 1100 11 6 0 17 4 32 0 36 48 9 0 57 110

Hourly Total 38 41 0 79 20 139 0 159 193 39 0 232 470

1100 - 1115 7 11 0 18 6 56 0 62 48 9 0 57 137

1115 - 1130 15 5 0 20 8 49 0 57 40 8 0 48 125

1130 - 1145 12 12 0 24 12 50 0 62 44 15 0 59 145

1145 - 1200 15 15 0 30 11 53 0 64 47 18 0 65 159

Hourly Total 49 43 0 92 37 208 0 245 179 50 0 229 566

1200 - 1215 10 16 0 26 12 48 0 60 61 11 0 72 158

1215 - 1230 16 8 0 24 5 46 0 51 49 9 0 58 133

1230 - 1245 9 8 0 17 16 47 0 63 66 5 0 71 151

1245 - 1300 10 9 0 19 14 42 0 56 41 11 0 52 127

Hourly Total 45 41 0 86 47 183 0 230 217 36 0 253 569

1300 - 1315 13 22 0 35 19 60 0 79 38 7 0 45 159

1315 - 1330 10 11 0 21 8 52 0 60 28 13 0 41 122

1330 - 1345 18 20 0 38 12 55 0 67 40 14 0 54 159

1345 - 1400 18 7 0 25 9 48 0 57 55 10 0 65 147

Hourly Total 59 60 0 119 48 215 0 263 161 44 0 205 587

1400 - 1415 7 9 0 16 10 52 0 62 46 15 0 61 139

1415 - 1430 8 15 0 23 11 78 0 89 43 11 0 54 166

1430 - 1445 25 18 0 43 12 81 0 93 45 10 0 55 191

1445 - 1500 20 11 0 31 10 87 0 97 46 4 0 50 178

Hourly Total 60 53 0 113 43 298 0 341 180 40 0 220 674

1500 - 1515 14 6 0 20 16 83 0 99 93 20 0 113 232

1515 - 1530 21 15 0 36 8 82 0 90 76 13 0 89 215

1530 - 1545 17 23 0 40 18 105 0 123 65 11 0 76 239

1545 - 1600 25 18 0 43 20 124 0 144 50 32 0 82 269

Hourly Total 77 62 0 139 62 394 0 456 284 76 0 360 955

1600 - 1615 17 14 0 31 22 125 0 147 93 35 0 128 306

1615 - 1630 23 9 0 32 25 122 0 147 58 10 0 68 247

1630 - 1645 47 15 0 62 20 130 0 150 62 22 0 84 296

1645 - 1700 30 19 0 49 24 103 0 127 66 47 0 113 289

Hourly Total 117 57 0 174 91 480 0 571 279 114 0 393 1138

1700 - 1715 31 25 0 56 24 139 0 163 62 14 0 76 295

1715 - 1730 23 15 0 38 27 125 0 152 78 21 0 99 289

1730 - 1745 26 17 0 43 14 100 0 114 59 16 0 75 232

1745 - 1800 21 21 0 42 16 103 0 119 38 11 0 49 210

Hourly Total 101 78 0 179 81 467 0 548 237 62 0 299 1026

1800 - 1815 27 18 0 45 18 98 0 116 77 21 0 98 259

1815 - 1830 18 15 0 33 23 103 0 126 47 6 0 53 212

1830 - 1845 11 8 0 19 19 77 0 96 48 7 0 55 170

1845 - 1900 10 3 0 13 13 64 0 77 55 11 0 66 156

Hourly Total 66 44 0 110 73 342 0 415 227 45 0 272 797

Grand Total 835 762 0 1597 624 3280 0 3904 3278 735 0 4013 9514

Approach % 52.29 47.71 0.00 - 15.98 84.02 0.00 - 81.68 18.32 0.00 -

Intersection % 8.78 8.01 0.00 16.79 6.56 34.48 0.00 41.03 34.45 7.73 0.00 42.18

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Single Unit Trucks (4-7)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 1 of 5

Waller Rd Site 1 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Fair

Sunset Rd (East) Waller Rd 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 36.965327°, -86.702941°

36.965327°, -86.702941°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Single Unit Trucks (4-7)

Weather

Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Waller Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 1.1 1.2 1.3 Total 1.4 1.5 1.6 Total 1.7 1.8 1.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 3

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 3 0 0 3 7

0645 - 0700 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 5

Hourly Total 1 2 0 3 0 4 0 4 9 0 0 9 16

0700 - 0715 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2

0715 - 0730 1 1 0 2 0 5 0 5 2 1 0 3 10

0730 - 0745 1 0 0 1 0 4 0 4 1 0 0 1 6

0745 - 0800 0 2 0 2 0 1 0 1 5 1 0 6 9

Hourly Total 2 4 0 6 0 10 0 10 9 2 0 11 27

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 1 0 0 1 4

0815 - 0830 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 3 0 0 3 5

0830 - 0845 1 0 0 1 0 3 0 3 1 0 0 1 5

0845 - 0900 1 0 0 1 2 4 0 6 3 2 0 5 12

Hourly Total 3 0 0 3 3 10 0 13 8 2 0 10 26

0900 - 0915 0 1 0 1 2 4 0 6 2 0 0 2 9

0915 - 0930 1 1 0 2 1 1 0 2 4 1 0 5 9

0930 - 0945 0 3 0 3 0 1 0 1 4 0 0 4 8

0945 - 1000 1 1 0 2 0 2 0 2 3 0 0 3 7

Hourly Total 2 6 0 8 3 8 0 11 13 1 0 14 33

1000 - 1015 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 3 4

1015 - 1030 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 1 1 0 2 6

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 2

Hourly Total 1 1 0 2 0 5 0 5 3 3 0 6 13

1100 - 1115 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 3

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 4

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 3 0 0 3 6

Hourly Total 1 0 0 1 1 9 0 10 4 0 0 4 15

1200 - 1215 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 3

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 1 0 0 1 4

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 1 0 0 1 3

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 3 1 0 0 1 4

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 1 8 0 9 4 0 0 4 14

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 4

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 3 0 0 3 7

1330 - 1345 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 2 2 1 0 3 6

1345 - 1400 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 2 1 1 0 2 5

Hourly Total 1 1 0 2 0 8 0 8 9 3 0 12 22

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 2 0 0 2 6

1430 - 1445 1 1 0 2 1 1 0 2 1 1 0 2 6

1445 - 1500 0 1 0 1 1 2 0 3 2 2 0 4 8

Hourly Total 1 2 0 3 2 9 0 11 5 3 0 8 22

1500 - 1515 1 1 0 2 1 2 0 3 4 0 0 4 9

1515 - 1530 0 2 0 2 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 5

1530 - 1545 0 1 0 1 0 4 0 4 2 1 0 3 8

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 1 1 0 2 5

Hourly Total 1 4 0 5 1 10 0 11 9 2 0 11 27

1600 - 1615 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 3 0 3 6

1615 - 1630 3 0 0 3 0 2 0 2 2 0 0 2 7

1630 - 1645 0 1 0 1 1 3 0 4 2 1 0 3 8

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 4 1 0 0 1 5

Hourly Total 4 2 0 6 2 9 0 11 5 4 0 9 26

1700 - 1715 2 1 0 3 2 2 0 4 0 1 0 1 8

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 4

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 1 0 0 1 3

1745 - 1800 1 0 0 1 0 4 0 4 1 1 0 2 7

Hourly Total 3 1 0 4 2 12 0 14 2 2 0 4 22

1800 - 1815 1 0 0 1 0 3 0 3 1 0 0 1 5

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 1 0 0 1 0 5 0 5 1 0 0 1 7

Grand Total 21 24 0 45 15 107 0 122 81 22 0 103 270

Approach % 46.67 53.33 0.00 - 12.30 87.70 0.00 - 78.64 21.36 0.00 -

Intersection % 7.78 8.89 0.00 16.67 5.56 39.63 0.00 45.19 30.00 8.15 0.00 38.15

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Combination Trucks (8-13)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 1 of 5

Waller Rd Site 1 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Fair

Sunset Rd (East) Waller Rd 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 36.965327°, -86.702941°

36.965327°, -86.702941°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Combination Trucks (8-13)

Weather

Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Waller Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 1.1 1.2 1.3 Total 1.4 1.5 1.6 Total 1.7 1.8 1.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 2

0745 - 0800 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 4

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 3

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 3

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 0 4 0 4 2 0 0 2 7

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

0930 - 0945 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 3

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 2 1 0 3 1 0 0 1 5

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1200 - 1215 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 0 3 0 3 0 1 0 1 5

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1345 - 1400 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 1 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 4

1400 - 1415 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

1415 - 1430 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

Hourly Total 1 2 0 3 1 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 6

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2

1600 - 1615 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1630 - 1645 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 1 1 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 4

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1715 - 1730 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 4 8 0 12 4 18 0 22 6 1 0 7 41

Approach % 33.33 66.67 0.00 - 18.18 81.82 0.00 - 85.71 14.29 0.00 -

Intersection % 9.76 19.51 0.00 29.27 9.76 43.90 0.00 53.66 14.63 2.44 0.00 17.07

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Pedestrian Count Pedestrian Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 1 of 5

Waller Rd Site 1 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Fair

Sunset Rd (East) Waller Rd 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 36.965327°, -86.702941°

36.965327°, -86.702941°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Pedestrians

Weather

Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Waller Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

EB WB App NB SB App NB SB App Int

TIME 1c 1d Total 1e 1f Total 1g 1h Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Approach % 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 2 of 5

Split Log Rd

Site 2 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Split Log Rd Fair

Sunset Rd (East) 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 35.965581°, -86.706224°

35.965581°, -86.706224°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

All vehicles

Weather

Northbound Eastbound Westbound

Split Log Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Int

TIME 2.1 2.2 2.3 Total 2.4 2.5 2.6 Total 2.7 2.8 2.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 4 2 0 6 4 1 0 5 4 36 0 40 51

0615 - 0630 4 3 0 7 5 1 0 6 10 46 0 56 69

0630 - 0645 7 9 0 16 15 0 0 15 15 81 0 96 127

0645 - 0700 7 8 0 15 31 4 0 35 20 95 0 115 165

Hourly Total 22 22 0 44 55 6 0 61 49 258 0 307 412

0700 - 0715 8 10 0 18 26 1 0 27 26 92 0 118 163

0715 - 0730 10 27 0 37 52 4 0 56 26 75 0 101 194

0730 - 0745 10 34 0 44 51 3 0 54 49 124 0 173 271

0745 - 0800 6 21 0 27 25 2 0 27 44 109 0 153 207

Hourly Total 34 92 0 126 154 10 0 164 145 400 0 545 835

0800 - 0815 7 9 0 16 29 6 0 35 29 96 0 125 176

0815 - 0830 6 13 0 19 39 5 0 44 27 85 0 112 175

0830 - 0845 14 9 0 23 28 4 0 32 37 102 0 139 194

0845 - 0900 8 32 0 40 48 5 0 53 25 75 0 100 193

Hourly Total 35 63 0 98 144 20 0 164 118 358 0 476 738

0900 - 0915 10 19 0 29 30 0 0 30 20 57 0 77 136

0915 - 0930 5 15 0 20 25 2 0 27 23 68 0 91 138

0930 - 0945 7 22 0 29 28 0 0 28 27 81 0 108 165

0945 - 1000 5 17 0 22 39 1 0 40 14 50 0 64 126

Hourly Total 27 73 0 100 122 3 0 125 84 256 0 340 565

1000 - 1015 1 14 0 15 30 3 0 33 18 40 0 58 106

1015 - 1030 4 12 0 16 21 0 0 21 17 33 0 50 87

1030 - 1045 8 21 0 29 28 2 0 30 23 51 0 74 133

1045 - 1100 2 11 0 13 28 1 0 29 18 38 0 56 98

Hourly Total 15 58 0 73 107 6 0 113 76 162 0 238 424

1100 - 1115 5 14 0 19 48 3 0 51 11 49 0 60 130

1115 - 1130 2 14 0 16 45 7 0 52 12 32 0 44 112

1130 - 1145 5 18 0 23 53 5 0 58 22 34 0 56 137

1145 - 1200 5 28 0 33 34 3 0 37 19 46 0 65 135

Hourly Total 17 74 0 91 180 18 0 198 64 161 0 225 514

1200 - 1215 2 19 0 21 43 4 0 47 24 53 0 77 145

1215 - 1230 4 19 0 23 37 5 0 42 15 43 0 58 123

1230 - 1245 3 26 0 29 38 3 0 41 27 47 0 74 144

1245 - 1300 2 21 0 23 43 3 0 46 16 36 0 52 121

Hourly Total 11 85 0 96 161 15 0 176 82 179 0 261 533

1300 - 1315 6 33 0 39 41 7 0 48 12 45 0 57 144

1315 - 1330 3 18 0 21 45 3 0 48 14 24 0 38 107

1330 - 1345 3 28 0 31 40 1 0 41 24 41 0 65 137

1345 - 1400 5 13 0 18 48 2 0 50 17 50 0 67 135

Hourly Total 17 92 0 109 174 13 0 187 67 160 0 227 523

1400 - 1415 5 28 0 33 38 4 0 42 13 44 0 57 132

1415 - 1430 5 27 0 32 68 3 0 71 23 41 0 64 167

1430 - 1445 6 32 0 38 61 4 0 65 17 46 0 63 166

1445 - 1500 1 28 0 29 74 6 0 80 17 41 0 58 167

Hourly Total 17 115 0 132 241 17 0 258 70 172 0 242 632

1500 - 1515 2 34 0 36 67 7 0 74 34 72 0 106 216

1515 - 1530 6 26 0 32 72 3 0 75 35 59 0 94 201

1530 - 1545 5 28 0 33 91 6 0 97 42 49 0 91 221

1545 - 1600 5 51 0 56 103 8 0 111 22 48 0 70 237

Hourly Total 18 139 0 157 333 24 0 357 133 228 0 361 875

1600 - 1615 11 49 0 60 101 5 0 106 36 72 0 108 274

1615 - 1630 2 48 0 50 101 3 0 104 17 50 0 67 221

1630 - 1645 5 45 0 50 110 4 0 114 21 61 0 82 246

1645 - 1700 1 38 0 39 92 1 0 93 20 64 0 84 216

Hourly Total 19 180 0 199 404 13 0 417 94 247 0 341 957

1700 - 1715 1 49 0 50 113 4 0 117 33 52 0 85 252

1715 - 1730 6 46 0 52 116 7 0 123 32 64 0 96 271

1730 - 1745 4 31 0 35 84 8 0 92 26 51 0 77 204

1745 - 1800 3 37 0 40 86 4 0 90 24 36 0 60 190

Hourly Total 14 163 0 177 399 23 0 422 115 203 0 318 917

1800 - 1815 5 42 0 47 78 6 0 84 24 71 0 95 226

1815 - 1830 3 30 1 34 96 6 0 102 19 51 0 70 206

1830 - 1845 3 27 0 30 68 3 0 71 18 34 0 52 153

1845 - 1900 5 17 0 22 59 7 0 66 20 39 0 59 147

Hourly Total 16 116 1 133 301 22 0 323 81 195 0 276 732

Grand Total 262 1272 1 1535 2775 190 0 2965 1178 2979 0 4157 8657

Approach % 17.07 82.87 0.07 - 93.59 6.41 0.00 - 28.34 71.66 0.00 -

Intersection % 3.03 14.69 0.01 17.73 32.05 2.19 0.00 34.25 13.61 34.41 0.00 48.02

PHF 0.54 0.91 0.00 0.92 0.93 0.57 0.00 0.91 0.80 0.94 0.00 0.90 0.91

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Bikes

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 2 of 5

Split Log Rd

Site 2 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Split Log Rd Fair

Sunset Rd (East) 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 35.965581°, -86.706224°

35.965581°, -86.706224°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Bikes

Weather

Northbound Eastbound Westbound

Split Log Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Int

TIME 2.1 2.2 2.3 Total 2.4 2.5 2.6 Total 2.7 2.8 2.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2

Approach % 0.00 100.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 100.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 0.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 50.00 0.00 50.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Passenger Vehicles (1-3)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 2 of 5

Split Log Rd

Site 2 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Split Log Rd Fair

Sunset Rd (East) 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 35.965581°, -86.706224°

35.965581°, -86.706224°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Passenger Vehicles (1-3)

Weather

Northbound Eastbound Westbound

Split Log Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Int

TIME 2.1 2.2 2.3 Total 2.4 2.5 2.6 Total 2.7 2.8 2.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 4 2 0 6 4 1 0 5 4 36 0 40 51

0615 - 0630 4 3 0 7 5 1 0 6 10 43 0 53 66

0630 - 0645 7 7 0 14 13 0 0 13 15 78 0 93 120

0645 - 0700 7 8 0 15 30 3 0 33 18 92 0 110 158

Hourly Total 22 20 0 42 52 5 0 57 47 249 0 296 395

0700 - 0715 8 10 0 18 25 1 0 26 25 91 0 116 160

0715 - 0730 10 24 0 34 48 4 0 52 26 72 0 98 184

0730 - 0745 10 34 0 44 50 3 0 53 49 121 0 170 267

0745 - 0800 6 20 0 26 24 2 0 26 43 102 0 145 197

Hourly Total 34 88 0 122 147 10 0 157 143 386 0 529 808

0800 - 0815 7 9 0 16 26 5 0 31 29 93 0 122 169

0815 - 0830 6 12 0 18 37 5 0 42 26 81 0 107 167

0830 - 0845 13 9 0 22 25 4 0 29 36 102 0 138 189

0845 - 0900 8 30 0 38 42 3 0 45 24 74 0 98 181

Hourly Total 34 60 0 94 130 17 0 147 115 350 0 465 706

0900 - 0915 9 18 0 27 24 0 0 24 18 55 0 73 124

0915 - 0930 5 14 0 19 24 2 0 26 21 65 0 86 131

0930 - 0945 7 22 0 29 26 0 0 26 25 76 0 101 156

0945 - 1000 5 17 0 22 36 1 0 37 14 45 0 59 118

Hourly Total 26 71 0 97 110 3 0 113 78 241 0 319 529

1000 - 1015 1 13 0 14 30 3 0 33 18 39 0 57 104

1015 - 1030 4 12 0 16 20 0 0 20 16 33 0 49 85

1030 - 1045 8 20 0 28 27 2 0 29 22 51 0 73 130

1045 - 1100 2 11 0 13 27 1 0 28 18 37 0 55 96

Hourly Total 15 56 0 71 104 6 0 110 74 160 0 234 415

1100 - 1115 5 13 0 18 47 3 0 50 11 49 0 60 128

1115 - 1130 2 14 0 16 43 6 0 49 12 32 0 44 109

1130 - 1145 4 18 0 22 50 4 0 54 22 33 0 55 131

1145 - 1200 4 26 0 30 32 3 0 35 18 44 0 62 127

Hourly Total 15 71 0 86 172 16 0 188 63 158 0 221 495

1200 - 1215 2 19 0 21 41 4 0 45 22 52 0 74 140

1215 - 1230 3 18 0 21 33 5 0 38 14 42 0 56 115

1230 - 1245 3 25 0 28 36 1 0 37 26 47 0 73 138

1245 - 1300 2 19 0 21 42 3 0 45 16 36 0 52 118

Hourly Total 10 81 0 91 152 13 0 165 78 177 0 255 511

1300 - 1315 6 33 0 39 41 7 0 48 12 42 0 54 141

1315 - 1330 3 18 0 21 40 3 0 43 13 23 0 36 100

1330 - 1345 3 26 0 29 39 1 0 40 22 39 0 61 130

1345 - 1400 5 12 0 17 46 2 0 48 16 49 0 65 130

Hourly Total 17 89 0 106 166 13 0 179 63 153 0 216 501

1400 - 1415 5 26 0 31 37 4 0 41 12 43 0 55 127

1415 - 1430 5 25 0 30 65 3 0 68 23 38 0 61 159

1430 - 1445 6 30 0 36 60 4 0 64 16 45 0 61 161

1445 - 1500 1 26 0 27 73 6 0 79 16 40 0 56 162

Hourly Total 17 107 0 124 235 17 0 252 67 166 0 233 609

1500 - 1515 2 33 0 35 65 7 0 72 34 67 0 101 208

1515 - 1530 6 25 0 31 71 2 0 73 33 55 0 88 192

1530 - 1545 3 27 0 30 89 6 0 95 41 47 0 88 213

1545 - 1600 5 50 0 55 101 8 0 109 22 47 0 69 233

Hourly Total 16 135 0 151 326 23 0 349 130 216 0 346 846

1600 - 1615 10 49 0 59 100 5 0 105 35 72 0 107 271

1615 - 1630 2 48 0 50 99 3 0 102 17 47 0 64 216

1630 - 1645 5 44 0 49 106 4 0 110 21 58 0 79 238

1645 - 1700 1 36 0 37 89 1 0 90 20 63 0 83 210

Hourly Total 18 177 0 195 394 13 0 407 93 240 0 333 935

1700 - 1715 1 47 0 48 109 4 0 113 33 51 0 84 245

1715 - 1730 6 46 0 52 114 7 0 121 32 64 0 96 269

1730 - 1745 4 31 0 35 82 8 0 90 26 50 0 76 201

1745 - 1800 3 35 0 38 83 4 0 87 24 35 0 59 184

Hourly Total 14 159 0 173 388 23 0 411 115 200 0 315 899

1800 - 1815 5 41 0 46 76 6 0 82 23 71 0 94 222

1815 - 1830 3 30 1 34 94 6 0 100 19 51 0 70 204

1830 - 1845 3 27 0 30 68 3 0 71 18 34 0 52 153

1845 - 1900 5 17 0 22 59 7 0 66 20 39 0 59 147

Hourly Total 16 115 1 132 297 22 0 319 80 195 0 275 726

Grand Total 254 1229 1 1484 2673 181 0 2854 1146 2891 0 4037 8375

Approach % 17.12 82.82 0.07 - 93.66 6.34 0.00 - 28.39 71.61 0.00 -

Intersection % 3.03 14.67 0.01 17.72 31.92 2.16 0.00 34.08 13.68 34.52 0.00 48.20

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Single Unit Trucks (4-7)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 2 of 5

Split Log Rd

Site 2 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Split Log Rd Fair

Sunset Rd (East) 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 35.965581°, -86.706224°

35.965581°, -86.706224°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Single Unit Trucks (4-7)

Weather

Northbound Eastbound Westbound

Split Log Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Int

TIME 2.1 2.2 2.3 Total 2.4 2.5 2.6 Total 2.7 2.8 2.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 3

0630 - 0645 0 2 0 2 2 0 0 2 0 3 0 3 7

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2 3 0 5 6

Hourly Total 0 2 0 2 2 1 0 3 2 9 0 11 16

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 2 3

0715 - 0730 0 3 0 3 4 0 0 4 0 3 0 3 10

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 2 3

0745 - 0800 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 5 0 6 7

Hourly Total 0 4 0 4 6 0 0 6 2 11 0 13 23

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 0 2 0 2 6

0815 - 0830 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 3 0 3 5

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 1 0 0 1 3

0845 - 0900 0 1 0 1 5 2 0 7 1 1 0 2 10

Hourly Total 0 2 0 2 11 3 0 14 2 6 0 8 24

0900 - 0915 1 0 0 1 6 0 0 6 2 2 0 4 11

0915 - 0930 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 2 3 0 5 7

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2 4 0 6 7

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 4 0 4 6

Hourly Total 1 1 0 2 10 0 0 10 6 13 0 19 31

1000 - 1015 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 2

1030 - 1045 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 3

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 2

Hourly Total 0 2 0 2 3 0 0 3 2 2 0 4 9

1100 - 1115 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 3

1130 - 1145 1 0 0 1 2 1 0 3 0 1 0 1 5

1145 - 1200 1 2 0 3 2 0 0 2 1 2 0 3 8

Hourly Total 2 3 0 5 7 2 0 9 1 3 0 4 18

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 3

1215 - 1230 1 0 0 1 4 0 0 4 1 1 0 2 7

1230 - 1245 0 1 0 1 2 2 0 4 1 0 0 1 6

1245 - 1300 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 1 2 0 3 7 2 0 9 4 1 0 5 17

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 3

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 1 1 0 2 6

1330 - 1345 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 4 6

1345 - 1400 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 3

Hourly Total 0 3 0 3 5 0 0 5 3 7 0 10 18

1400 - 1415 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 3

1415 - 1430 0 2 0 2 3 0 0 3 0 2 0 2 7

1430 - 1445 0 2 0 2 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 2 5

1445 - 1500 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 3

Hourly Total 0 7 0 7 4 0 0 4 2 5 0 7 18

1500 - 1515 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 0 5 0 5 8

1515 - 1530 0 1 0 1 1 1 0 2 2 2 0 4 7

1530 - 1545 2 1 0 3 2 0 0 2 1 2 0 3 8

1545 - 1600 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 0 1 0 1 4

Hourly Total 2 4 0 6 7 1 0 8 3 10 0 13 27

1600 - 1615 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 3

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 2 0 2 4

1630 - 1645 0 1 0 1 3 0 0 3 0 3 0 3 7

1645 - 1700 0 1 0 1 3 0 0 3 0 1 0 1 5

Hourly Total 1 2 0 3 9 0 0 9 1 6 0 7 19

1700 - 1715 0 1 0 1 4 0 0 4 0 1 0 1 6

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 1 0 1 3

1745 - 1800 0 2 0 2 3 0 0 3 0 1 0 1 6

Hourly Total 0 3 0 3 11 0 0 11 0 3 0 3 17

1800 - 1815 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 1 0 0 1 4

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 4 0 0 4 1 0 0 1 6

Grand Total 7 36 0 43 86 9 0 95 29 76 0 105 243

Approach % 16.28 83.72 0.00 - 90.53 9.47 0.00 - 27.62 72.38 0.00 -

Intersection % 2.88 14.81 0.00 17.70 35.39 3.70 0.00 39.09 11.93 31.28 0.00 43.21

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Combination Trucks (8-13)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 2 of 5

Split Log Rd

Site 2 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Split Log Rd Fair

Sunset Rd (East) 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 35.965581°, -86.706224°

35.965581°, -86.706224°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Combination Trucks (8-13)

Weather

Northbound Eastbound Westbound

Split Log Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Int

TIME 2.1 2.2 2.3 Total 2.4 2.5 2.6 Total 2.7 2.8 2.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 2

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 2 3

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 2 3

0830 - 0845 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

0845 - 0900 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

Hourly Total 1 1 0 2 3 0 0 3 1 2 0 3 8

0900 - 0915 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 2

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 2

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 0 2 0 2 5

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 2

1215 - 1230 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 0 1 0 1 4

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 2

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 1 0 0 1 4

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 2

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 1 1 0 2 5

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 2

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 2

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1645 - 1700 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 3

1700 - 1715 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 1 6 0 7 16 0 0 16 3 11 0 14 37

Approach % 14.29 85.71 0.00 - 100.00 0.00 0.00 - 21.43 78.57 0.00 -

Intersection % 2.70 16.22 0.00 18.92 43.24 0.00 0.00 43.24 8.11 29.73 0.00 37.84

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Pedestrian Count Pedestrian Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 2 of 5

Split Log Rd

Site 2 of 5 Weather

Sunset Rd (West) Split Log Rd Fair

Sunset Rd (East) 54°F

Sunset Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sunset Rd (East) 35.965581°, -86.706224°

35.965581°, -86.706224°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Pedestrians

Weather

Northbound Eastbound Westbound

Split Log Rd Sunset Rd (West) Sunset Rd (East)

EB WB App NB SB App NB SB App Int

TIME 2a 2b Total 2e 2f Total 2g 2h Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1800 - 1815 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Grand Total 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Approach % 0.00 100.00 - 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 0.00 100.00 100.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 3 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Split Log Rd (North) Site 3 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Sam Donald Rd Split Log Rd (North) 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sam Donald Rd 35.954559°, -86.713677°

35.954559°, -86.713677°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

All vehicles

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Split Log Rd (North) Sam Donald Rd

Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Left Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 3.1 3.2 3.3 Total 3.4 3.5 3.6 Total 3.7 3.8 3.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 2 1 0 3 0 5 0 5 5 3 0 8 16

0615 - 0630 3 2 0 5 0 11 0 11 19 3 0 22 38

0630 - 0645 8 3 0 11 0 13 0 13 25 12 0 37 61

0645 - 0700 6 5 0 11 2 17 0 19 28 8 0 36 66

Hourly Total 19 11 0 30 2 46 0 48 77 26 0 103 181

0700 - 0715 9 5 0 14 4 27 0 31 35 11 0 46 91

0715 - 0730 24 4 0 28 3 25 0 28 22 14 1 37 93

0730 - 0745 31 5 0 36 5 45 0 50 36 11 0 47 133

0745 - 0800 17 6 0 23 2 47 0 49 28 7 0 35 107

Hourly Total 81 20 0 101 14 144 0 158 121 43 1 165 424

0800 - 0815 5 6 0 11 6 30 0 36 37 8 0 45 92

0815 - 0830 12 8 0 20 2 28 0 30 45 7 0 52 102

0830 - 0845 8 10 0 18 0 37 0 37 45 15 0 60 115

0845 - 0900 28 14 0 42 5 26 0 31 32 13 0 45 118

Hourly Total 53 38 0 91 13 121 0 134 159 43 0 202 427

0900 - 0915 17 6 0 23 3 22 0 25 20 13 0 33 81

0915 - 0930 11 7 0 18 4 20 0 24 20 6 0 26 68

0930 - 0945 21 7 0 28 2 24 0 26 14 10 0 24 78

0945 - 1000 15 4 0 19 0 17 0 17 14 5 0 19 55

Hourly Total 64 24 0 88 9 83 0 92 68 34 0 102 282

1000 - 1015 11 12 0 23 4 15 0 19 12 3 0 15 57

1015 - 1030 11 2 0 13 2 18 0 20 7 9 0 16 49

1030 - 1045 18 7 0 25 4 17 0 21 16 7 0 23 69

1045 - 1100 14 9 0 23 5 17 0 22 11 2 0 13 58

Hourly Total 54 30 0 84 15 67 0 82 46 21 0 67 233

1100 - 1115 12 14 0 26 4 10 0 14 14 6 0 20 60

1115 - 1130 13 13 0 26 5 12 0 17 6 5 0 11 54

1130 - 1145 14 10 0 24 5 21 0 26 17 5 0 22 72

1145 - 1200 26 13 0 39 5 16 0 21 13 2 0 15 75

Hourly Total 65 50 0 115 19 59 0 78 50 18 0 68 261

1200 - 1215 16 18 0 34 7 19 0 26 14 4 0 18 78

1215 - 1230 17 15 0 32 3 13 0 16 9 6 0 15 63

1230 - 1245 20 11 0 31 3 27 0 30 17 5 0 22 83

1245 - 1300 18 19 0 37 4 14 0 18 13 6 0 19 74

Hourly Total 71 63 0 134 17 73 0 90 53 21 0 74 298

1300 - 1315 31 12 0 43 6 15 0 21 9 8 0 17 81

1315 - 1330 23 16 0 39 8 10 0 18 9 1 0 10 67

1330 - 1345 21 13 0 34 1 22 0 23 7 6 0 13 70

1345 - 1400 18 12 0 30 5 11 0 16 12 5 0 17 63

Hourly Total 93 53 0 146 20 58 0 78 37 20 0 57 281

1400 - 1415 19 12 0 31 6 17 0 23 12 10 0 22 76

1415 - 1430 26 20 1 47 9 13 0 22 14 6 0 20 89

1430 - 1445 29 24 0 53 4 16 0 20 13 7 0 20 93

1445 - 1500 29 12 0 41 8 17 0 25 4 2 0 6 72

Hourly Total 103 68 1 172 27 63 0 90 43 25 0 68 330

1500 - 1515 25 15 0 40 7 30 0 37 13 6 0 19 96

1515 - 1530 23 19 0 42 4 33 0 37 19 9 0 28 107

1530 - 1545 24 28 0 52 5 40 1 46 23 8 0 31 129

1545 - 1600 49 34 0 83 8 21 0 29 19 7 0 26 138

Hourly Total 121 96 0 217 24 124 1 149 74 30 0 104 470

1600 - 1615 53 40 0 93 11 29 0 40 16 8 0 24 157

1615 - 1630 42 33 0 75 7 21 0 28 20 4 0 24 127

1630 - 1645 34 32 0 66 6 18 0 24 13 12 0 25 115

1645 - 1700 38 44 0 82 7 11 0 18 16 2 0 18 118

Hourly Total 167 149 0 316 31 79 0 110 65 26 0 91 517

1700 - 1715 45 37 0 82 9 28 0 37 14 3 0 17 136

1715 - 1730 48 26 0 74 9 27 0 36 19 7 0 26 136

1730 - 1745 31 32 0 63 10 27 0 37 20 3 0 23 123

1745 - 1800 38 56 0 94 8 23 0 31 11 6 0 17 142

Hourly Total 162 151 0 313 36 105 0 141 64 19 0 83 537

1800 - 1815 38 31 0 69 9 17 0 26 15 7 0 22 117

1815 - 1830 24 40 0 64 13 16 0 29 3 6 0 9 102

1830 - 1845 21 22 0 43 5 15 0 20 5 8 0 13 76

1845 - 1900 17 26 0 43 7 22 0 29 3 3 0 6 78

Hourly Total 100 119 0 219 34 70 0 104 26 24 0 50 373

Grand Total 1153 872 1 2026 261 1092 1 1354 883 350 1 1234 4614

Approach % 56.91 43.04 0.05 - 19.28 80.65 0.07 - 71.56 28.36 0.08 -

Intersection % 24.99 18.90 0.02 43.91 5.66 23.67 0.02 29.35 19.14 7.59 0.02 26.74

PHF 0.79 0.84 0.00 0.81 0.70 0.69 0.25 0.78 0.85 0.84 0.00 0.85 0.88

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Bikes

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 3 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Split Log Rd (North) Site 3 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Sam Donald Rd Split Log Rd (North) 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sam Donald Rd 35.954559°, -86.713677°

35.954559°, -86.713677°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Bikes

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Split Log Rd (North) Sam Donald Rd

Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Left Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 3.1 3.2 3.3 Total 3.4 3.5 3.6 Total 3.7 3.8 3.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 2 0 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 4

Approach % 100.00 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 100.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 50.00 0.00 0.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Passenger Vehicles (1-3)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 3 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Split Log Rd (North) Site 3 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Sam Donald Rd Split Log Rd (North) 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sam Donald Rd 35.954559°, -86.713677°

35.954559°, -86.713677°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Passenger Vehicles (1-3)

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Split Log Rd (North) Sam Donald Rd

Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Left Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 3.1 3.2 3.3 Total 3.4 3.5 3.6 Total 3.7 3.8 3.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 2 1 0 3 0 5 0 5 5 3 0 8 16

0615 - 0630 3 2 0 5 0 11 0 11 18 3 0 21 37

0630 - 0645 7 3 0 10 0 13 0 13 25 12 0 37 60

0645 - 0700 6 5 0 11 1 15 0 16 28 7 0 35 62

Hourly Total 18 11 0 29 1 44 0 45 76 25 0 101 175

0700 - 0715 8 4 0 12 4 26 0 30 35 11 0 46 88

0715 - 0730 23 4 0 27 3 25 0 28 21 14 1 36 91

0730 - 0745 30 4 0 34 5 45 0 50 36 11 0 47 131

0745 - 0800 16 6 0 22 2 46 0 48 28 7 0 35 105

Hourly Total 77 18 0 95 14 142 0 156 120 43 1 164 415

0800 - 0815 5 6 0 11 5 30 0 35 37 8 0 45 91

0815 - 0830 10 8 0 18 2 27 0 29 42 7 0 49 96

0830 - 0845 8 10 0 18 0 34 0 34 42 15 0 57 109

0845 - 0900 26 13 0 39 4 26 0 30 30 13 0 43 112

Hourly Total 49 37 0 86 11 117 0 128 151 43 0 194 408

0900 - 0915 16 5 0 21 1 21 0 22 20 12 0 32 75

0915 - 0930 10 7 0 17 4 19 0 23 20 6 0 26 66

0930 - 0945 21 7 0 28 2 23 0 25 14 10 0 24 77

0945 - 1000 15 4 0 19 0 16 0 16 14 5 0 19 54

Hourly Total 62 23 0 85 7 79 0 86 68 33 0 101 272

1000 - 1015 10 12 0 22 4 15 0 19 12 3 0 15 56

1015 - 1030 11 2 0 13 2 17 0 19 7 9 0 16 48

1030 - 1045 17 7 0 24 4 16 0 20 15 7 0 22 66

1045 - 1100 14 9 0 23 5 17 0 22 11 2 0 13 58

Hourly Total 52 30 0 82 15 65 0 80 45 21 0 66 228

1100 - 1115 11 14 0 25 4 10 0 14 14 6 0 20 59

1115 - 1130 13 13 0 26 5 12 0 17 6 5 0 11 54

1130 - 1145 13 9 0 22 5 19 0 24 17 5 0 22 68

1145 - 1200 24 13 0 37 5 15 0 20 13 1 0 14 71

Hourly Total 61 49 0 110 19 56 0 75 50 17 0 67 252

1200 - 1215 16 18 0 34 7 18 0 25 14 4 0 18 77

1215 - 1230 17 14 0 31 3 12 0 15 9 4 0 13 59

1230 - 1245 19 11 0 30 3 24 0 27 17 5 0 22 79

1245 - 1300 17 19 0 36 4 13 0 17 12 6 0 18 71

Hourly Total 69 62 0 131 17 67 0 84 52 19 0 71 286

1300 - 1315 31 12 0 43 6 15 0 21 9 8 0 17 81

1315 - 1330 23 15 0 38 8 10 0 18 9 1 0 10 66

1330 - 1345 20 13 0 33 1 19 0 20 7 5 0 12 65

1345 - 1400 17 11 0 28 5 10 0 15 12 5 0 17 60

Hourly Total 91 51 0 142 20 54 0 74 37 19 0 56 272

1400 - 1415 17 12 0 29 5 17 0 22 12 10 0 22 73

1415 - 1430 24 18 1 43 9 13 0 22 13 6 0 19 84

1430 - 1445 28 23 0 51 4 15 0 19 12 7 0 19 89

1445 - 1500 26 12 0 38 8 16 0 24 4 2 0 6 68

Hourly Total 95 65 1 161 26 61 0 87 41 25 0 66 314

1500 - 1515 24 14 0 38 7 30 0 37 13 6 0 19 94

1515 - 1530 22 19 0 41 4 31 0 35 18 9 0 27 103

1530 - 1545 24 28 0 52 5 39 0 44 22 7 0 29 125

1545 - 1600 48 33 0 81 8 21 0 29 19 6 0 25 135

Hourly Total 118 94 0 212 24 121 0 145 72 28 0 100 457

1600 - 1615 52 40 0 92 11 28 0 39 16 7 0 23 154

1615 - 1630 42 33 0 75 7 19 0 26 20 4 0 24 125

1630 - 1645 34 31 0 65 6 18 0 24 12 11 0 23 112

1645 - 1700 37 44 0 81 7 11 0 18 16 2 0 18 117

Hourly Total 165 148 0 313 31 76 0 107 64 24 0 88 508

1700 - 1715 43 37 0 80 9 28 0 37 14 2 0 16 133

1715 - 1730 48 26 0 74 9 27 0 36 18 7 0 25 135

1730 - 1745 29 32 0 61 10 27 0 37 20 3 0 23 121

1745 - 1800 37 54 0 91 8 23 0 31 11 6 0 17 139

Hourly Total 157 149 0 306 36 105 0 141 63 18 0 81 528

1800 - 1815 37 31 0 68 9 16 0 25 15 7 0 22 115

1815 - 1830 24 39 0 63 13 16 0 29 3 6 0 9 101

1830 - 1845 21 22 0 43 5 15 0 20 5 8 0 13 76

1845 - 1900 17 26 0 43 7 22 0 29 3 3 0 6 78

Hourly Total 99 118 0 217 34 69 0 103 26 24 0 50 370

Grand Total 1113 855 1 1969 255 1056 0 1311 865 339 1 1205 4485

Approach % 56.53 43.42 0.05 - 19.45 80.55 0.00 - 71.78 28.13 0.08 -

Intersection % 24.82 19.06 0.02 43.90 5.69 23.55 0.00 29.23 19.29 7.56 0.02 26.87

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Single Unit Trucks (4-7)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 3 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Split Log Rd (North) Site 3 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Sam Donald Rd Split Log Rd (North) 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sam Donald Rd 35.954559°, -86.713677°

35.954559°, -86.713677°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Single Unit Trucks (4-7)

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Split Log Rd (North) Sam Donald Rd

Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Left Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 3.1 3.2 3.3 Total 3.4 3.5 3.6 Total 3.7 3.8 3.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

0630 - 0645 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 3 0 1 0 1 4

Hourly Total 1 0 0 1 1 2 0 3 1 1 0 2 6

0700 - 0715 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 3

0715 - 0730 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0730 - 0745 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

0745 - 0800 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

Hourly Total 4 2 0 6 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 8

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

0815 - 0830 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 2 0 0 2 5

0845 - 0900 1 1 0 2 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 5

Hourly Total 2 1 0 3 2 3 0 5 5 0 0 5 13

0900 - 0915 0 1 0 1 2 1 0 3 0 1 0 1 5

0915 - 0930 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 1 1 0 2 2 4 0 6 0 1 0 1 9

1000 - 1015 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1030 - 1045 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 3

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 2 0 0 2 0 2 0 2 1 0 0 1 5

1100 - 1115 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 1 1 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 4

1145 - 1200 2 0 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 4

Hourly Total 4 1 0 5 0 3 0 3 0 1 0 1 9

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1215 - 1230 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 3

1230 - 1245 1 0 0 1 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 4

1245 - 1300 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 3

Hourly Total 2 1 0 3 0 6 0 6 1 1 0 2 11

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1330 - 1345 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 2 0 1 0 1 4

1345 - 1400 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 3

Hourly Total 2 2 0 4 0 3 0 3 0 1 0 1 8

1400 - 1415 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

1415 - 1430 2 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 5

1430 - 1445 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 4

1445 - 1500 2 0 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 3

Hourly Total 7 3 0 10 0 2 0 2 2 0 0 2 14

1500 - 1515 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

1515 - 1530 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 2 1 0 0 1 4

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 1 1 0 2 4

1545 - 1600 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 3

Hourly Total 3 2 0 5 0 3 1 4 2 2 0 4 13

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 2

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1630 - 1645 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 3

1645 - 1700 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 1 1 2 0 3 6

1700 - 1715 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 1 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Hourly Total 2 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 6

1800 - 1815 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

1815 - 1830 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 3

Grand Total 32 17 0 49 5 32 1 38 14 10 0 24 111

Approach % 65.31 34.69 0.00 - 13.16 84.21 2.63 - 58.33 41.67 0.00 -

Intersection % 28.83 15.32 0.00 44.14 4.50 28.83 0.90 34.23 12.61 9.01 0.00 21.62

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Combination Trucks (8-13)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 3 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Split Log Rd (North) Site 3 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Sam Donald Rd Split Log Rd (North) 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sam Donald Rd 35.954559°, -86.713677°

35.954559°, -86.713677°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Combination Trucks (8-13)

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Split Log Rd (North) Sam Donald Rd

Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Left Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 3.1 3.2 3.3 Total 3.4 3.5 3.6 Total 3.7 3.8 3.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 4

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

0845 - 0900 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 2 0 0 2 0 1 0 1 3 0 0 3 6

0900 - 0915 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1600 - 1615 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1700 - 1715 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 6 0 0 6 1 2 0 3 4 1 0 5 14

Approach % 100.00 0.00 0.00 - 33.33 66.67 0.00 - 80.00 20.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 42.86 0.00 0.00 42.86 7.14 14.29 0.00 21.43 28.57 7.14 0.00 35.71

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Pedestrian Count Pedestrian Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 3 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Split Log Rd (North) Site 3 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Sam Donald Rd Split Log Rd (North) 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Sam Donald Rd 35.954559°, -86.713677°

35.954559°, -86.713677°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Pedestrians

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Split Log Rd (North) Sam Donald Rd

EB WB App EB WB App NB SB App Int

TIME 3a 3b Total 3c 3d Total 3g 3h Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Approach % 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 4 of 5

Pleasant Hill Rd

Driveway Site 4 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (West) Pleasant Hill Rd Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Driveway 54°F

Split Log Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.952759°, -86.728374°

35.952759°, -86.728374°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

All vehicles

Weather

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Pleasant Hill Rd Driveway Split Log Rd (West) Split Log Rd (East)

Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 Total 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 Total 4.9 4.10 4.11 4.12 Total 4.13 4.14 4.15 4.16 Total Total

0600 - 0615 2 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 13 1 0 14 19

0615 - 0630 5 0 1 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 1 0 5 0 26 1 0 27 38

0630 - 0645 7 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 3 0 13 0 35 0 0 35 55

0645 - 0700 5 0 2 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 2 7 0 0 9 1 53 1 0 55 71

Hourly Total 19 0 4 0 23 0 0 0 0 0 2 23 4 0 29 1 127 3 0 131 183

0700 - 0715 10 1 1 0 12 0 0 1 0 1 1 15 0 0 16 2 62 1 0 65 94

0715 - 0730 6 1 2 0 9 0 0 2 0 2 2 24 3 0 29 2 47 0 0 49 89

0730 - 0745 7 1 0 0 8 0 1 1 0 2 8 33 2 0 43 2 73 5 0 80 133

0745 - 0800 10 1 3 0 14 1 0 1 0 2 10 22 2 0 34 2 74 4 0 80 130

Hourly Total 33 4 6 0 43 1 1 5 0 7 21 94 7 0 122 8 256 10 0 274 446

0800 - 0815 9 2 0 0 11 1 0 2 0 3 8 11 2 0 21 0 59 7 0 66 101

0815 - 0830 6 14 2 0 22 1 0 1 0 2 33 17 4 0 54 0 65 11 0 76 154

0830 - 0845 9 15 0 0 24 11 10 55 0 76 56 11 4 0 71 0 49 31 0 80 251

0845 - 0900 12 5 0 0 17 20 6 39 0 65 12 26 3 0 41 1 57 7 0 65 188

Hourly Total 36 36 2 0 74 33 16 97 0 146 109 65 13 0 187 1 230 56 0 287 694

0900 - 0915 9 1 0 0 10 3 1 9 0 13 4 18 1 0 23 1 48 3 0 52 98

0915 - 0930 5 1 4 0 10 0 0 4 0 4 3 17 3 0 23 0 35 1 0 36 73

0930 - 0945 8 1 4 0 13 2 1 1 0 4 5 20 2 0 27 1 37 2 0 40 84

0945 - 1000 5 1 2 0 8 1 0 3 0 4 1 19 3 0 23 1 33 2 0 36 71

Hourly Total 27 4 10 0 41 6 2 17 0 25 13 74 9 0 96 3 153 8 0 164 326

1000 - 1015 2 0 2 0 4 1 0 1 0 2 0 22 2 0 24 2 29 0 0 31 61

1015 - 1030 6 0 1 0 7 0 1 1 0 2 0 12 6 0 18 1 26 1 0 28 55

1030 - 1045 5 0 2 0 7 0 2 4 0 6 4 24 5 0 33 2 35 0 0 37 83

1045 - 1100 4 5 2 0 11 1 0 0 0 1 22 24 3 0 49 2 30 2 0 34 95

Hourly Total 17 5 7 0 29 2 3 6 0 11 26 82 16 0 124 7 120 3 0 130 294

1100 - 1115 1 2 1 0 4 0 1 1 0 2 3 22 4 0 29 0 30 0 0 30 65

1115 - 1130 6 3 0 0 9 3 3 16 0 22 3 25 2 0 30 3 16 1 0 20 81

1130 - 1145 7 6 2 0 15 3 1 2 0 6 12 23 8 0 43 2 26 8 0 36 100

1145 - 1200 4 4 3 0 11 13 6 9 0 28 5 22 2 0 29 3 26 2 0 31 99

Hourly Total 18 15 6 0 39 19 11 28 0 58 23 92 16 0 131 8 98 11 0 117 345

1200 - 1215 6 4 0 0 10 1 1 1 0 3 9 38 5 0 52 2 19 3 0 24 89

1215 - 1230 1 1 4 0 6 0 2 12 0 14 6 31 2 0 39 3 30 3 0 36 95

1230 - 1245 1 6 3 0 10 1 0 3 0 4 6 27 4 0 37 0 26 15 0 41 92

1245 - 1300 4 4 0 0 8 19 6 17 0 42 17 38 8 0 63 0 21 11 0 32 145

Hourly Total 12 15 7 0 34 21 9 33 0 63 38 134 19 0 191 5 96 32 0 133 421

1300 - 1315 2 4 2 0 8 2 2 4 0 8 5 35 2 0 42 2 26 3 1 32 90

1315 - 1330 0 2 0 0 2 2 1 11 0 14 17 41 4 0 62 0 17 1 0 18 96

1330 - 1345 2 0 0 0 2 3 5 15 0 23 1 35 1 0 37 0 26 4 0 30 92

1345 - 1400 3 1 1 0 5 1 4 9 0 14 10 31 8 0 49 2 24 2 0 28 96

Hourly Total 7 7 3 0 17 8 12 39 0 59 33 142 15 0 190 4 93 10 1 108 374

1400 - 1415 2 3 1 0 6 3 2 4 0 9 4 36 6 0 46 2 27 3 0 32 93

1415 - 1430 2 1 1 0 4 0 2 6 0 8 10 53 8 0 71 1 31 1 0 33 116

1430 - 1445 7 0 1 0 8 13 7 21 0 41 1 34 7 0 42 0 24 1 0 25 116

1445 - 1500 3 0 0 0 3 2 2 1 0 5 0 43 6 0 49 0 25 1 0 26 83

Hourly Total 14 4 3 0 21 18 13 32 0 63 15 166 27 0 208 3 107 6 0 116 408

1500 - 1515 9 1 4 0 14 0 0 1 0 1 12 37 9 0 58 2 40 4 0 46 119

1515 - 1530 8 6 1 0 15 1 2 1 0 4 29 40 11 0 80 0 45 5 0 50 149

1530 - 1545 5 8 1 0 14 1 1 1 0 3 17 50 12 0 79 1 39 19 0 59 155

1545 - 1600 9 10 22 0 41 2 15 44 0 61 14 66 8 0 88 2 37 15 0 54 244

Hourly Total 31 25 28 0 84 4 18 47 0 69 72 193 40 0 305 5 161 43 0 209 667

1600 - 1615 7 0 24 0 31 4 14 47 0 65 3 63 7 0 73 1 44 0 0 45 214

1615 - 1630 5 0 2 0 7 6 1 8 0 15 0 71 5 0 76 9 36 0 0 45 143

1630 - 1645 5 1 2 0 8 3 1 4 0 8 1 70 7 0 78 3 33 1 0 37 131

1645 - 1700 3 0 4 0 7 2 1 3 0 6 2 75 5 0 82 3 29 0 0 32 127

Hourly Total 20 1 32 0 53 15 17 62 0 94 6 279 24 0 309 16 142 1 0 159 615

1700 - 1715 7 0 3 0 10 3 0 4 0 7 1 76 12 0 89 1 35 2 0 38 144

1715 - 1730 5 0 0 0 5 1 0 4 0 5 1 68 10 0 79 3 54 1 0 58 147

1730 - 1745 6 1 1 0 8 0 0 2 0 2 1 72 11 0 84 2 50 1 0 53 147

1745 - 1800 7 0 1 0 8 2 2 8 0 12 3 97 3 0 103 2 33 0 0 35 158

Hourly Total 25 1 5 0 31 6 2 18 0 26 6 313 36 0 355 8 172 4 0 184 596

1800 - 1815 2 0 0 0 2 4 0 1 0 5 0 62 11 0 73 0 31 0 0 31 111

1815 - 1830 4 0 1 0 5 0 0 1 0 1 0 72 4 0 76 2 24 0 0 26 108

1830 - 1845 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 46 3 0 49 0 17 0 0 17 69

1845 - 1900 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 42 5 0 47 1 30 0 0 31 81

Hourly Total 12 0 1 0 13 4 0 2 0 6 0 222 23 0 245 3 102 0 0 105 369

Grand Total 271 117 114 0 502 137 104 386 0 627 364 1879 249 0 2492 72 1857 187 1 2117 5738

Approach % 53.98 23.31 22.71 0.00 - 21.85 16.59 61.56 0.00 - 14.61 75.40 9.99 0.00 - 3.40 87.72 8.83 0.05 -

Intersection % 4.72 2.04 1.99 0.00 8.75 2.39 1.81 6.73 0.00 10.93 6.34 32.75 4.34 0.00 43.43 1.25 32.36 3.26 0.02 36.89

PHF 0.81 0.60 0.50 0.00 0.62 0.50 0.53 0.49 0.00 0.51 0.54 0.83 0.79 0.00 0.91 0.50 0.92 0.51 0.00 0.88 0.78

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Bikes

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 4 of 5

Pleasant Hill Rd

Driveway Site 4 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (West) Pleasant Hill Rd Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Driveway 54°F

Split Log Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.952759°, -86.728374°

35.952759°, -86.728374°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Bikes

Weather

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Pleasant Hill Rd Driveway Split Log Rd (West) Split Log Rd (East)

Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 Total 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 Total 4.9 4.10 4.11 4.12 Total 4.13 4.14 4.15 4.16 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 2

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 2

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 2 4

Approach % 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 100.00 0.00 0.00 - 100.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 50.00 0.00 0.00 50.00 50.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 50.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Passenger Vehicles (1-3)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 4 of 5

Pleasant Hill Rd

Driveway Site 4 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (West) Pleasant Hill Rd Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Driveway 54°F

Split Log Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.952759°, -86.728374°

35.952759°, -86.728374°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Passenger Vehicles (1-3)

Weather

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Pleasant Hill Rd Driveway Split Log Rd (West) Split Log Rd (East)

Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 Total 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 Total 4.9 4.10 4.11 4.12 Total 4.13 4.14 4.15 4.16 Total Total

0600 - 0615 2 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 11 1 0 12 17

0615 - 0630 5 0 1 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 1 0 5 0 26 1 0 27 38

0630 - 0645 7 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 2 0 11 0 35 0 0 35 53

0645 - 0700 5 0 2 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 2 7 0 0 9 1 52 1 0 54 70

Hourly Total 19 0 4 0 23 0 0 0 0 0 2 22 3 0 27 1 124 3 0 128 178

0700 - 0715 8 1 1 0 10 0 0 1 0 1 1 13 0 0 14 1 61 1 0 63 88

0715 - 0730 6 1 2 0 9 0 0 2 0 2 2 23 3 0 28 2 47 0 0 49 88

0730 - 0745 6 1 0 0 7 0 1 1 0 2 8 32 0 0 40 2 73 5 0 80 129

0745 - 0800 10 1 3 0 14 1 0 1 0 2 10 20 2 0 32 2 73 4 0 79 127

Hourly Total 30 4 6 0 40 1 1 5 0 7 21 88 5 0 114 7 254 10 0 271 432

0800 - 0815 9 2 0 0 11 1 0 2 0 3 8 10 2 0 20 0 59 7 0 66 100

0815 - 0830 6 14 2 0 22 1 0 1 0 2 33 16 3 0 52 0 60 11 0 71 147

0830 - 0845 6 15 0 0 21 11 10 55 0 76 56 11 4 0 71 0 46 31 0 77 245

0845 - 0900 12 5 0 0 17 20 6 39 0 65 12 23 2 0 37 1 53 7 0 61 180

Hourly Total 33 36 2 0 71 33 16 97 0 146 109 60 11 0 180 1 218 56 0 275 672

0900 - 0915 8 1 0 0 9 3 1 9 0 13 4 16 1 0 21 1 47 3 0 51 94

0915 - 0930 5 1 4 0 10 0 0 4 0 4 3 17 3 0 23 0 35 1 0 36 73

0930 - 0945 8 1 4 0 13 2 1 1 0 4 5 20 2 0 27 1 36 2 0 39 83

0945 - 1000 4 1 1 0 6 1 0 3 0 4 1 19 3 0 23 1 32 1 0 34 67

Hourly Total 25 4 9 0 38 6 2 17 0 25 13 72 9 0 94 3 150 7 0 160 317

1000 - 1015 2 0 2 0 4 1 0 0 0 1 0 21 2 0 23 2 29 0 0 31 59

1015 - 1030 5 0 1 0 6 0 1 1 0 2 0 12 6 0 18 1 25 1 0 27 53

1030 - 1045 5 0 2 0 7 0 2 4 0 6 4 23 4 0 31 2 34 0 0 36 80

1045 - 1100 4 5 2 0 11 1 0 0 0 1 22 24 3 0 49 2 29 2 0 33 94

Hourly Total 16 5 7 0 28 2 3 5 0 10 26 80 15 0 121 7 117 3 0 127 286

1100 - 1115 1 2 1 0 4 0 1 1 0 2 3 20 4 0 27 0 30 0 0 30 63

1115 - 1130 6 3 0 0 9 3 3 16 0 22 3 25 2 0 30 3 15 1 0 19 80

1130 - 1145 7 5 2 0 14 3 1 1 0 5 12 22 8 0 42 2 26 8 0 36 97

1145 - 1200 4 4 3 0 11 13 6 9 0 28 5 20 1 0 26 3 24 2 0 29 94

Hourly Total 18 14 6 0 38 19 11 27 0 57 23 87 15 0 125 8 95 11 0 114 334

1200 - 1215 5 4 0 0 9 1 1 1 0 3 9 37 5 0 51 2 17 3 0 22 85

1215 - 1230 1 1 4 0 6 0 2 12 0 14 6 30 1 0 37 3 28 3 0 34 91

1230 - 1245 1 6 2 0 9 1 0 3 0 4 6 27 4 0 37 0 25 15 0 40 90

1245 - 1300 3 4 0 0 7 19 6 17 0 42 17 37 7 0 61 0 19 11 0 30 140

Hourly Total 10 15 6 0 31 21 9 33 0 63 38 131 17 0 186 5 89 32 0 126 406

1300 - 1315 1 4 2 0 7 2 2 4 0 8 5 34 0 0 39 2 25 3 1 31 85

1315 - 1330 0 2 0 0 2 2 1 11 0 14 17 41 0 0 58 0 16 1 0 17 91

1330 - 1345 2 0 0 0 2 3 5 15 0 23 1 34 0 0 35 0 24 4 0 28 88

1345 - 1400 3 1 1 0 5 1 4 9 0 14 10 29 5 0 44 2 24 2 0 28 91

Hourly Total 6 7 3 0 16 8 12 39 0 59 33 138 5 0 176 4 89 10 1 104 355

1400 - 1415 2 3 1 0 6 3 2 4 0 9 4 34 4 0 42 2 26 3 0 31 88

1415 - 1430 2 1 1 0 4 0 2 6 0 8 10 49 7 0 66 1 30 1 0 32 110

1430 - 1445 7 0 1 0 8 13 7 21 0 41 1 33 6 0 40 0 23 1 0 24 113

1445 - 1500 3 0 0 0 3 2 2 1 0 5 0 39 6 0 45 0 24 1 0 25 78

Hourly Total 14 4 3 0 21 18 13 32 0 63 15 155 23 0 193 3 103 6 0 112 389

1500 - 1515 9 1 4 0 14 0 0 1 0 1 12 35 9 0 56 2 40 4 0 46 117

1515 - 1530 8 6 1 0 15 1 2 1 0 4 29 40 9 0 78 0 44 5 0 49 146

1530 - 1545 4 8 1 0 13 1 1 1 0 3 17 49 12 0 78 1 37 19 0 57 151

1545 - 1600 8 10 22 0 40 2 15 44 0 61 14 64 5 0 83 2 35 15 0 52 236

Hourly Total 29 25 28 0 82 4 18 47 0 69 72 188 35 0 295 5 156 43 0 204 650

1600 - 1615 6 0 24 0 30 4 14 47 0 65 3 62 5 0 70 1 44 0 0 45 210

1615 - 1630 4 0 2 0 6 6 1 8 0 15 0 70 5 0 75 7 35 0 0 42 138

1630 - 1645 4 1 2 0 7 3 1 4 0 8 1 70 7 0 78 3 32 1 0 36 129

1645 - 1700 3 0 4 0 7 2 1 3 0 6 2 74 5 0 81 3 29 0 0 32 126

Hourly Total 17 1 32 0 50 15 17 62 0 94 6 276 22 0 304 14 140 1 0 155 603

1700 - 1715 7 0 3 0 10 3 0 4 0 7 1 75 12 0 88 1 35 2 0 38 143

1715 - 1730 5 0 0 0 5 1 0 4 0 5 1 68 10 0 79 3 53 1 0 57 146

1730 - 1745 6 1 1 0 8 0 0 2 0 2 1 69 11 0 81 2 50 1 0 53 144

1745 - 1800 7 0 1 0 8 2 2 8 0 12 3 94 3 0 100 2 33 0 0 35 155

Hourly Total 25 1 5 0 31 6 2 18 0 26 6 306 36 0 348 8 171 4 0 183 588

1800 - 1815 2 0 0 0 2 4 0 1 0 5 0 62 11 0 73 0 30 0 0 30 110

1815 - 1830 4 0 1 0 5 0 0 1 0 1 0 71 3 0 74 2 24 0 0 26 106

1830 - 1845 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 45 3 0 48 0 17 0 0 17 68

1845 - 1900 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 42 5 0 47 1 30 0 0 31 81

Hourly Total 12 0 1 0 13 4 0 2 0 6 0 220 22 0 242 3 101 0 0 104 365

Grand Total 254 116 112 0 482 137 104 384 0 625 364 1823 218 0 2405 69 1807 186 1 2063 5575

Approach % 52.70 24.07 23.24 0.00 - 21.92 16.64 61.44 0.00 - 15.14 75.80 9.06 0.00 - 3.34 87.59 9.02 0.05 -

Intersection % 4.56 2.08 2.01 0.00 8.65 2.46 1.87 6.89 0.00 11.21 6.53 32.70 3.91 0.00 43.14 1.24 32.41 3.34 0.02 37.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Single Unit Trucks (4-7)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 4 of 5

Pleasant Hill Rd

Driveway Site 4 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (West) Pleasant Hill Rd Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Driveway 54°F

Split Log Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.952759°, -86.728374°

35.952759°, -86.728374°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Single Unit Trucks (4-7)

Weather

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Pleasant Hill Rd Driveway Split Log Rd (West) Split Log Rd (East)

Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 Total 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 Total 4.9 4.10 4.11 4.12 Total 4.13 4.14 4.15 4.16 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 2

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 3 0 0 3 5

0700 - 0715 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 2 6

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

0730 - 0745 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 4

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2

Hourly Total 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 2 0 8 1 1 0 0 2 13

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 2 0 0 2 4

0830 - 0845 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 5

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 4 5

Hourly Total 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 4 0 8 0 0 8 15

0900 - 0915 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 3

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

0945 - 1000 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 3

Hourly Total 1 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 3 1 0 4 7

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 0 1 3

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 2 1 0 3 0 3 0 0 3 7

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

1130 - 1145 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 3 0 2 0 0 2 5

Hourly Total 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 5 1 0 6 0 3 0 0 3 11

1200 - 1215 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 2 4

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 2 0 0 2 4

1230 - 1245 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2

1245 - 1300 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 2 0 0 2 5

Hourly Total 2 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 0 5 0 7 0 0 7 15

1300 - 1315 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 3 0 1 0 0 1 5

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 1 0 0 1 5

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 0 1 3

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 3 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 5

Hourly Total 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 10 0 14 0 3 0 0 3 18

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 4 0 1 0 0 1 5

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 1 0 5 0 1 0 0 1 6

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 0 1 3

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 1 4

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 4 0 14 0 4 0 0 4 18

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 2

1530 - 1545 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 2 4

1545 - 1600 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 3 0 5 0 2 0 0 2 8

Hourly Total 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 4 0 9 0 5 0 0 5 16

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2

1615 - 1630 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 3

1630 - 1645 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 4 0 2 0 0 2 8

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 0 1 0 0 1 5

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 1 3

Grand Total 14 1 2 0 17 0 0 2 0 2 0 48 28 0 76 1 44 1 0 46 141

Approach % 82.35 5.88 11.76 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00 - 0.00 63.16 36.84 0.00 - 2.17 95.65 2.17 0.00 -

Intersection % 9.93 0.71 1.42 0.00 12.06 0.00 0.00 1.42 0.00 1.42 0.00 34.04 19.86 0.00 53.90 0.71 31.21 0.71 0.00 32.62

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Combination Trucks (8-13)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 4 of 5

Pleasant Hill Rd

Driveway Site 4 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (West) Pleasant Hill Rd Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Driveway 54°F

Split Log Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.952759°, -86.728374°

35.952759°, -86.728374°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Combination Trucks (8-13)

Weather

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Pleasant Hill Rd Driveway Split Log Rd (West) Split Log Rd (East)

Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 Total 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 Total 4.9 4.10 4.11 4.12 Total 4.13 4.14 4.15 4.16 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 3

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 3

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 3 0 4 0 0 4 7

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

1600 - 1615 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

Grand Total 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 3 0 9 0 6 0 0 6 18

Approach % 100.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 66.67 33.33 0.00 - 0.00 100.00 0.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 16.67 0.00 0.00 0.00 16.67 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 33.33 16.67 0.00 50.00 0.00 33.33 0.00 0.00 33.33

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Pedestrian Count Pedestrian Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 4 of 5

Pleasant Hill Rd

Driveway Site 4 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (West) Pleasant Hill Rd Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Driveway 54°F

Split Log Rd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.952759°, -86.728374°

35.952759°, -86.728374°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Pedestrians

Weather

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Pleasant Hill Rd Driveway Split Log Rd (West) Split Log Rd (East)

EB WB App EB WB App NB SB App NB SB App Int

TIME 4a 4b Total 4c 4d Total 4e 4f Total 4g 4h Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 2

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 2

0800 - 0815 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 2 12 0 0 0 12

0845 - 0900 2 3 5 0 0 0 2 2 4 0 0 0 9

Hourly Total 2 5 7 0 0 0 12 5 17 0 0 0 24

0900 - 0915 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0915 - 0930 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 2

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 1 1 2 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 3

1000 - 1015 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1015 - 1030 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1030 - 1045 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 2 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 0 0 0 2

1200 - 1215 0 2 2 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 4

1215 - 1230 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 3

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 3 2 5 0 0 0 1 2 3 0 0 0 8

Hourly Total 4 4 8 0 0 0 3 4 7 0 0 0 15

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1345 - 1400 1 2 3 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 5

Hourly Total 1 2 3 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 5

1400 - 1415 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 4

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 2 1 3 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 5

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1530 - 1545 0 1 1 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 4

1545 - 1600 7 0 7 0 0 0 2 19 21 0 0 0 28

Hourly Total 7 1 8 0 0 0 5 19 24 0 0 0 32

1600 - 1615 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 2

1615 - 1630 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 4

1630 - 1645 0 3 3 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 3 3 6 1 1 2 0 3 3 0 0 0 11

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1745 - 1800 1 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 3

Hourly Total 1 1 2 1 0 1 2 0 2 0 0 0 5

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 2

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 2

Grand Total 23 20 43 2 1 3 27 36 63 0 0 0 109

Approach % 53.49 46.51 - 66.67 33.33 - 42.86 57.14 - 0.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 21.10 18.35 39.45 1.83 0.92 2.75 24.77 33.03 57.80 0.00 0.00 0.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 5 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Ragsdale Rd Site 5 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Ragsdale Rd 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.951984°, -86.741507°

35.951984°, -86.741507°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

All vehicles

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Ragsdale Rd Split Log Rd (East)

Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Left Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 5.1 5.2 5.3 Total 5.4 5.5 5.6 Total 5.7 5.8 5.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 4 3 0 7 1 3 0 4 17 0 0 17 28

0615 - 0630 7 5 0 12 1 4 0 5 40 0 0 40 57

0630 - 0645 6 7 0 13 0 18 0 18 42 1 0 43 74

0645 - 0700 11 10 0 21 3 17 0 20 70 0 0 70 111

Hourly Total 28 25 0 53 5 42 0 47 169 1 0 170 270

0700 - 0715 16 29 0 45 1 71 0 72 97 3 0 100 217

0715 - 0730 24 41 0 65 0 89 0 89 75 3 0 78 232

0730 - 0745 29 49 0 78 3 69 0 72 81 1 0 82 232

0745 - 0800 13 39 0 52 5 74 0 79 84 3 0 87 218

Hourly Total 82 158 0 240 9 303 0 312 337 10 0 347 899

0800 - 0815 21 26 0 47 0 59 0 59 79 1 0 80 186

0815 - 0830 28 60 0 88 6 47 0 53 72 2 0 74 215

0830 - 0845 21 53 0 74 14 48 0 62 115 6 0 121 257

0845 - 0900 12 32 0 44 3 60 0 63 120 9 0 129 236

Hourly Total 82 171 0 253 23 214 0 237 386 18 0 404 894

0900 - 0915 15 20 0 35 2 38 0 40 71 2 0 73 148

0915 - 0930 9 32 0 41 3 31 0 34 55 1 0 56 131

0930 - 0945 7 27 0 34 2 28 0 30 54 2 0 56 120

0945 - 1000 19 29 0 48 3 32 0 35 43 4 0 47 130

Hourly Total 50 108 0 158 10 129 0 139 223 9 0 232 529

1000 - 1015 17 25 0 42 1 26 0 27 41 1 0 42 111

1015 - 1030 15 26 0 41 2 24 0 26 34 1 0 35 102

1030 - 1045 8 38 0 46 3 28 0 31 55 5 0 60 137

1045 - 1100 11 50 0 61 6 23 0 29 44 1 0 45 135

Hourly Total 51 139 0 190 12 101 0 113 174 8 0 182 485

1100 - 1115 17 26 0 43 0 30 0 30 40 0 0 40 113

1115 - 1130 25 38 0 63 1 20 0 21 42 4 0 46 130

1130 - 1145 23 43 0 66 2 33 0 35 42 1 0 43 144

1145 - 1200 28 39 0 67 4 35 0 39 34 4 0 38 144

Hourly Total 93 146 0 239 7 118 0 125 158 9 0 167 531

1200 - 1215 19 64 1 84 3 24 0 27 37 1 0 38 149

1215 - 1230 16 36 0 52 4 22 0 26 51 3 0 54 132

1230 - 1245 31 56 0 87 3 30 0 33 37 4 0 41 161

1245 - 1300 17 66 0 83 2 25 0 27 46 2 0 48 158

Hourly Total 83 222 1 306 12 101 0 113 171 10 0 181 600

1300 - 1315 28 55 0 83 3 15 0 18 33 2 0 35 136

1315 - 1330 21 58 0 79 4 13 0 17 36 2 0 38 134

1330 - 1345 25 47 0 72 1 26 0 27 52 1 0 53 152

1345 - 1400 26 58 0 84 1 22 0 23 44 2 0 46 153

Hourly Total 100 218 0 318 9 76 0 85 165 7 0 172 575

1400 - 1415 25 46 0 71 4 22 0 26 37 2 0 39 136

1415 - 1430 23 65 0 88 3 23 0 26 50 2 0 52 166

1430 - 1445 30 53 0 83 2 37 0 39 58 5 0 63 185

1445 - 1500 31 64 0 95 4 35 0 39 39 4 0 43 177

Hourly Total 109 228 0 337 13 117 0 130 184 13 0 197 664

1500 - 1515 44 63 0 107 6 26 0 32 49 4 0 53 192

1515 - 1530 39 91 0 130 8 36 0 44 57 3 0 60 234

1530 - 1545 48 77 0 125 8 27 0 35 52 3 0 55 215

1545 - 1600 44 73 0 117 6 28 0 34 72 4 0 76 227

Hourly Total 175 304 0 479 28 117 0 145 230 14 0 244 868

1600 - 1615 61 84 0 145 2 35 0 37 88 18 0 106 288

1615 - 1630 48 79 0 127 3 36 0 39 57 3 0 60 226

1630 - 1645 60 91 0 151 3 28 0 31 50 2 0 52 234

1645 - 1700 45 90 0 135 3 37 0 40 58 2 0 60 235

Hourly Total 214 344 0 558 11 136 0 147 253 25 0 278 983

1700 - 1715 55 101 0 156 2 42 0 44 49 3 0 52 252

1715 - 1730 67 92 0 159 3 38 0 41 74 2 0 76 276

1730 - 1745 58 89 0 147 0 36 0 36 70 1 0 71 254

1745 - 1800 56 94 0 150 3 26 0 29 56 5 0 61 240

Hourly Total 236 376 0 612 8 142 0 150 249 11 0 260 1022

1800 - 1815 47 89 0 136 1 28 0 29 37 2 0 39 204

1815 - 1830 56 85 0 141 1 28 0 29 36 6 0 42 212

1830 - 1845 43 62 0 105 4 9 0 13 25 0 0 25 143

1845 - 1900 31 58 0 89 0 14 0 14 37 0 0 37 140

Hourly Total 177 294 0 471 6 79 0 85 135 8 0 143 699

Grand Total 1480 2733 1 4214 153 1675 0 1828 2834 143 0 2977 9019

Approach % 35.12 64.86 0.02 - 8.37 91.63 0.00 - 95.20 4.80 0.00 -

Intersection % 16.41 30.30 0.01 46.72 1.70 18.57 0.00 20.27 31.42 1.59 0.00 33.01

PHF 0.88 0.93 0.00 0.96 0.67 0.85 0.00 0.85 0.84 0.55 0.00 0.86 0.93

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Bikes

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 5 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Ragsdale Rd Site 5 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Ragsdale Rd 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.951984°, -86.741507°

35.951984°, -86.741507°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Bikes

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Ragsdale Rd Split Log Rd (East)

Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Left Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 5.1 5.2 5.3 Total 5.4 5.5 5.6 Total 5.7 5.8 5.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 0 2 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 3

Approach % 0.00 100.00 0.00 - 0.00 100.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 0.00 66.67 0.00 66.67 0.00 33.33 0.00 33.33 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Passenger Vehicles (1-3)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 5 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Ragsdale Rd Site 5 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Ragsdale Rd 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.951984°, -86.741507°

35.951984°, -86.741507°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Passenger Vehicles (1-3)

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Ragsdale Rd Split Log Rd (East)

Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Left Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 5.1 5.2 5.3 Total 5.4 5.5 5.6 Total 5.7 5.8 5.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 4 3 0 7 1 3 0 4 17 0 0 17 28

0615 - 0630 7 5 0 12 1 4 0 5 40 0 0 40 57

0630 - 0645 5 7 0 12 0 16 0 16 41 1 0 42 70

0645 - 0700 11 9 0 20 2 17 0 19 68 0 0 68 107

Hourly Total 27 24 0 51 4 40 0 44 166 1 0 167 262

0700 - 0715 14 27 0 41 1 70 0 71 94 3 0 97 209

0715 - 0730 24 38 0 62 0 89 0 89 75 3 0 78 229

0730 - 0745 29 45 0 74 3 68 0 71 79 1 0 80 225

0745 - 0800 12 39 0 51 5 72 0 77 83 3 0 86 214

Hourly Total 79 149 0 228 9 299 0 308 331 10 0 341 877

0800 - 0815 19 24 0 43 0 58 0 58 77 1 0 78 179

0815 - 0830 25 59 0 84 6 44 0 50 67 2 0 69 203

0830 - 0845 20 52 0 72 13 48 0 61 110 4 0 114 247

0845 - 0900 11 30 0 41 3 58 0 61 118 9 0 127 229

Hourly Total 75 165 0 240 22 208 0 230 372 16 0 388 858

0900 - 0915 15 19 0 34 2 36 0 38 70 2 0 72 144

0915 - 0930 9 31 0 40 3 29 0 32 53 1 0 54 126

0930 - 0945 7 27 0 34 2 27 0 29 53 2 0 55 118

0945 - 1000 18 29 0 47 3 31 0 34 41 4 0 45 126

Hourly Total 49 106 0 155 10 123 0 133 217 9 0 226 514

1000 - 1015 15 24 0 39 1 26 0 27 40 1 0 41 107

1015 - 1030 14 25 0 39 2 24 0 26 33 1 0 34 99

1030 - 1045 8 38 0 46 2 28 0 30 54 4 0 58 134

1045 - 1100 11 49 0 60 6 22 0 28 42 1 0 43 131

Hourly Total 48 136 0 184 11 100 0 111 169 7 0 176 471

1100 - 1115 17 25 0 42 0 28 0 28 40 0 0 40 110

1115 - 1130 25 37 0 62 1 20 0 21 39 4 0 43 126

1130 - 1145 21 40 0 61 2 33 0 35 41 1 0 42 138

1145 - 1200 28 38 0 66 4 34 0 38 34 4 0 38 142

Hourly Total 91 140 0 231 7 115 0 122 154 9 0 163 516

1200 - 1215 19 62 1 82 3 24 0 27 34 1 0 35 144

1215 - 1230 16 35 0 51 4 21 0 25 49 3 0 52 128

1230 - 1245 29 54 0 83 3 30 0 33 35 3 0 38 154

1245 - 1300 17 65 0 82 2 24 0 26 44 2 0 46 154

Hourly Total 81 216 1 298 12 99 0 111 162 9 0 171 580

1300 - 1315 27 50 0 77 3 15 0 18 32 2 0 34 129

1315 - 1330 19 55 0 74 4 13 0 17 35 2 0 37 128

1330 - 1345 24 45 0 69 1 26 0 27 50 1 0 51 147

1345 - 1400 26 53 0 79 1 21 0 22 42 2 0 44 145

Hourly Total 96 203 0 299 9 75 0 84 159 7 0 166 549

1400 - 1415 24 44 0 68 4 21 0 25 36 2 0 38 131

1415 - 1430 23 61 0 84 2 22 0 24 48 2 0 50 158

1430 - 1445 30 47 0 77 2 37 0 39 57 5 0 62 178

1445 - 1500 30 62 0 92 3 35 0 38 38 4 0 42 172

Hourly Total 107 214 0 321 11 115 0 126 179 13 0 192 639

1500 - 1515 43 61 0 104 6 25 0 31 49 4 0 53 188

1515 - 1530 39 88 0 127 7 35 0 42 56 3 0 59 228

1530 - 1545 46 74 0 120 8 25 0 33 49 2 0 51 204

1545 - 1600 44 71 0 115 6 28 0 34 70 4 0 74 223

Hourly Total 172 294 0 466 27 113 0 140 224 13 0 237 843

1600 - 1615 61 83 0 144 2 32 0 34 87 17 0 104 282

1615 - 1630 47 79 0 126 3 36 0 39 56 2 0 58 223

1630 - 1645 60 88 0 148 3 27 0 30 49 1 0 50 228

1645 - 1700 44 89 0 133 2 35 0 37 58 2 0 60 230

Hourly Total 212 339 0 551 10 130 0 140 250 22 0 272 963

1700 - 1715 55 100 0 155 2 40 0 42 48 3 0 51 248

1715 - 1730 67 91 0 158 3 38 0 41 74 2 0 76 275

1730 - 1745 56 87 0 143 0 36 0 36 70 1 0 71 250

1745 - 1800 56 90 0 146 3 26 0 29 55 5 0 60 235

Hourly Total 234 368 0 602 8 140 0 148 247 11 0 258 1008

1800 - 1815 47 89 0 136 1 28 0 29 37 2 0 39 204

1815 - 1830 56 83 0 139 1 28 0 29 34 6 0 40 208

1830 - 1845 43 60 0 103 4 9 0 13 25 0 0 25 141

1845 - 1900 31 58 0 89 0 14 0 14 37 0 0 37 140

Hourly Total 177 290 0 467 6 79 0 85 133 8 0 141 693

Grand Total 1448 2644 1 4093 146 1636 0 1782 2763 135 0 2898 8773

Approach % 35.38 64.60 0.02 - 8.19 91.81 0.00 - 95.34 4.66 0.00 -

Intersection % 16.51 30.14 0.01 46.65 1.66 18.65 0.00 20.31 31.49 1.54 0.00 33.03

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Single Unit Trucks (4-7)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 5 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Ragsdale Rd Site 5 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Ragsdale Rd 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.951984°, -86.741507°

35.951984°, -86.741507°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Single Unit Trucks (4-7)

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Ragsdale Rd Split Log Rd (East)

Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Left Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 5.1 5.2 5.3 Total 5.4 5.5 5.6 Total 5.7 5.8 5.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 2 1 0 0 1 4

0645 - 0700 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 2 4

Hourly Total 1 1 0 2 1 2 0 3 3 0 0 3 8

0700 - 0715 2 2 0 4 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 7

0715 - 0730 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

0730 - 0745 0 4 0 4 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 7

0745 - 0800 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 3

Hourly Total 3 9 0 12 0 3 0 3 5 0 0 5 20

0800 - 0815 1 2 0 3 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 6

0815 - 0830 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 4

0830 - 0845 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 4 2 0 6 8

0845 - 0900 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 2 2 0 0 2 5

Hourly Total 3 3 0 6 1 4 0 5 10 2 0 12 23

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 1 0 0 1 3

0915 - 0930 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 4

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 2

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 2

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 0 5 0 5 5 0 0 5 11

1000 - 1015 2 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 4

1015 - 1030 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 2 3

1045 - 1100 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 3

Hourly Total 3 3 0 6 1 0 0 1 4 1 0 5 12

1100 - 1115 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 3

1115 - 1130 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 4

1130 - 1145 2 3 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 6

1145 - 1200 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

Hourly Total 2 6 0 8 0 3 0 3 4 0 0 4 15

1200 - 1215 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 3 5

1215 - 1230 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 4

1230 - 1245 2 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 3 7

1245 - 1300 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 4

Hourly Total 2 6 0 8 0 2 0 2 9 1 0 10 20

1300 - 1315 0 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 6

1315 - 1330 2 3 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 6

1330 - 1345 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 3

1345 - 1400 0 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 7

Hourly Total 2 15 0 17 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 22

1400 - 1415 1 2 0 3 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 5

1415 - 1430 0 3 0 3 1 1 0 2 2 0 0 2 7

1430 - 1445 0 6 0 6 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 7

1445 - 1500 1 2 0 3 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 5

Hourly Total 2 13 0 15 2 2 0 4 5 0 0 5 24

1500 - 1515 0 2 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 3

1515 - 1530 0 2 0 2 1 1 0 2 1 0 0 1 5

1530 - 1545 1 3 0 4 0 2 0 2 3 1 0 4 10

1545 - 1600 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 4

Hourly Total 1 9 0 10 1 4 0 5 6 1 0 7 22

1600 - 1615 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 2 1 1 0 2 5

1615 - 1630 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2

1630 - 1645 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 5

1645 - 1700 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 3

Hourly Total 2 5 0 7 0 3 0 3 3 2 0 5 15

1700 - 1715 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 3

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

1745 - 1800 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 5

Hourly Total 2 5 0 7 0 1 0 1 2 0 0 2 10

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 3

1830 - 1845 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 5

Grand Total 23 79 0 102 6 29 0 35 63 7 0 70 207

Approach % 22.55 77.45 0.00 - 17.14 82.86 0.00 - 90.00 10.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 11.11 38.16 0.00 49.28 2.90 14.01 0.00 16.91 30.43 3.38 0.00 33.82

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovemenClassified Turn Movement Count || Combination Trucks (8-13)

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 5 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Ragsdale Rd Site 5 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Ragsdale Rd 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.951984°, -86.741507°

35.951984°, -86.741507°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Combination Trucks (8-13)

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Ragsdale Rd Split Log Rd (East)

Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Left Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 5.1 5.2 5.3 Total 5.4 5.5 5.6 Total 5.7 5.8 5.9 Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 2

0800 - 0815 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0815 - 0830 2 1 0 3 0 2 0 2 3 0 0 3 8

0830 - 0845 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2

0845 - 0900 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Hourly Total 4 3 0 7 0 2 0 2 4 0 0 4 13

0900 - 0915 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2

Hourly Total 1 1 0 2 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 4

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 2

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1300 - 1315 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 2

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 3

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1415 - 1430 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1500 - 1515 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1515 - 1530 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1530 - 1545 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 2 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 2

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 4 0 1 0 1 5

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

1715 - 1730 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Grand Total 9 8 0 17 1 9 0 10 8 1 0 9 36

Approach % 52.94 47.06 0.00 - 10.00 90.00 0.00 - 88.89 11.11 0.00 -

Intersection % 25.00 22.22 0.00 47.22 2.78 25.00 0.00 27.78 22.22 2.78 0.00 25.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



Brentwood, TN

Pedestrian Count Pedestrian Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 5 of 5

Split Log Rd (South)

Ragsdale Rd Site 5 of 5 Weather

Split Log Rd (South) Fair

Split Log Rd (East) Ragsdale Rd 54°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Split Log Rd (East) 35.951984°, -86.741507°

35.951984°, -86.741507°

Date

################### 0600 - 1900 (Weekday 13h Session) (10-26-2021)

Pedestrians

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Split Log Rd (South) Ragsdale Rd Split Log Rd (East)

EB WB App EB WB App NB SB App Int

TIME 5a 5b Total 5c 5d Total 5g 5h Total Total

0600 - 0615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0615 - 0630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0630 - 0645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0645 - 0700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0700 - 0715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0715 - 0730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0730 - 0745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0745 - 0800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0800 - 0815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0815 - 0830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0830 - 0845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0845 - 0900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0900 - 0915 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0915 - 0930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0930 - 0945 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0945 - 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1000 - 1015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1015 - 1030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1030 - 1045 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1045 - 1100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1100 - 1115 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1115 - 1130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1130 - 1145 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1145 - 1200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1200 - 1215 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1215 - 1230 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1230 - 1245 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1245 - 1300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1300 - 1315 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1315 - 1330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1330 - 1345 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1345 - 1400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1400 - 1415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1415 - 1430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1430 - 1445 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1445 - 1500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1500 - 1515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1515 - 1530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1530 - 1545 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1545 - 1600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1600 - 1615 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1615 - 1630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1630 - 1645 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1645 - 1700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1700 - 1715 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1715 - 1730 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1730 - 1745 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1745 - 1800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1800 - 1815 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1815 - 1830 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1830 - 1845 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1845 - 1900 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Hourly Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Approach % 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Date

Tuesday, October 26, 2021



APPENDIX B

TRIP GENERATION &
FUTURE TRAFFIC DERIVATION



ROSEBROOKE SOUTH

TRIP GENERATION (10th Edition)

Single-Family Detached Housing - 50 Dwelling Units

Average Daily Traffic

Ln(T) = 0.92 Ln(X) + 2.71

Ln(T) = 0.92 Ln(50) + 2.71

T = 550

A.M. Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic

T = 0.71(X) + 4.80

T = 0.71(50) + 4.80

T = 40

Enter = 0.25(40) = 10

Exit = 0.75(40) = 30

P.M. Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic

Ln(T) = 0.96 Ln(X) + 0.20

Ln(T) = 0.96 Ln(50) + 0.20

T = 52

Enter = 0.63(52) = 33

Exit = 0.37(52) = 19

Use ITE Land Use Code 210 (Single-Family Detached Housing) and associated trip 
generation rates for 24-hour total trips and peak hour trips.



ROSEBROOKE EAST

TRIP GENERATION (10th Edition)

Single-Family Detached Housing - 74 Dwelling Units

Average Daily Traffic

Ln(T) = 0.92 Ln(X) + 2.71

Ln(T) = 0.92 Ln(74) + 2.71

T = 788

A.M. Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic

T = 0.71(X) + 4.80

T = 0.71(74) + 4.80

T = 57

Enter = 0.25(57) = 14

Exit = 0.75(57) = 43

P.M. Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic

Ln(T) = 0.96 Ln(X) + 0.20

Ln(T) = 0.96 Ln(74) + 0.20

T = 76

Enter = 0.63(76) = 48

Exit = 0.37(76) = 28

Use ITE Land Use Code 210 (Single-Family Detached Housing) and associated trip 
generation rates for 24-hour total trips and peak hour trips.



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SPECIFIC NON-SITE TRIP GENERATION &
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes) 1,286 24 70 94 80 47 127

Taube Property
(71 homes) 759 14 41 55 46 27 73

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students) - 329 280 609 87 91 178

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students) - 37 19 56 7 11 18

TOTAL 2,045 404 410 814 220 176 396

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes) 550 10 30 40 33 19 52

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes) 788 14 43 57 48 28 76

TOTAL 1,338 24 73 97 81 47 128

A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour
SPECIFIC NON-SITE DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION

Development Daily

Development Daily
A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour

2027 HORIZON YEAR



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SPLIT LOG ROAD AT RAGSDALE ROAD
A.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 91 174 14 249 316 7

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.06

0 6 11 1 15 0 0 0 0 19 0 0

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 15

% Out 15
Trips 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 0

% In 25
% Out 25
Trips 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0

% In 40 10
% Out 40 10
Trips 0 0 132 33 0 0 0 0 0 112 0 28

% In 40 10
% Out 40 10
Trips 0 0 15 4 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 2

0 0 155 37 0 0 0 0 0 141 0 30

0 97 340 52 264 0 0 0 0 476 0 37

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 25 5
% Out 25 5
Trips 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 2

% In 25 5
% Out 25 5
Trips 0 0 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 2

0 0 7 2 0 0 0 0 0 19 0 4

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 0 97 347 54 264 0 0 0 0 495 0 41

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Split Log Road Ragsdale Road Split Log Road

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SPLIT LOG ROAD AT RAGSDALE ROAD
P.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 236 374 8 142 249 11

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.06

0 15 23 0 9 0 0 0 0 15 0 1

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 15

% Out 15
Trips 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 0

% In 25
% Out 25
Trips 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 0

% In 40 10
% Out 40 10
Trips 0 0 35 9 0 0 0 0 0 36 0 9

% In 40 10
% Out 40 10
Trips 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 1

0 0 62 10 0 0 0 0 0 54 0 10

0 251 459 18 151 0 0 0 0 318 0 22

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 25 5
% Out 25 5
Trips 0 0 8 2 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 1

% In 25 5
% Out 25 5
Trips 0 0 12 2 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 1

0 0 20 4 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 2

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 0 251 479 22 151 0 0 0 0 330 0 24

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Split Log Road Ragsdale Road Split Log Road

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SPLIT LOG ROAD AT PLEASANT HILL ROAD / JORDAN ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
A.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 32 18 5 3 1 5 59 83 10 4 271 27

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06

2 1 0 0 0 0 4 5 1 0 17 2

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 15

% Out 15
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 11 0

% In 25
% Out 25
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 10 0

% In 10 55 2 28
% Out 28 10 55 2
Trips 0 33 0 78 28 154 181 6 0 0 7 92

% In 10 55 2 28
% Out 28 10 55 2
Trips 0 4 0 5 2 10 20 0 0 0 1 10

0 37 0 83 30 164 201 14 0 0 29 102

34 56 5 86 31 169 264 102 11 4 317 131

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 5 30
% Out 5 30
Trips 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 2 9 0

% In 5 30
% Out 5 30
Trips 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 2 13 0

0 0 2 0 0 0 0 7 0 4 22 0

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 34 56 7 86 31 169 264 109 11 8 339 131

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Pleasant Hill Road Jordan Elem. School Split Log Road Split Log Road



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SPLIT LOG ROAD AT PLEASANT HILL ROAD / JORDAN ELEMENTARY SCHOOL
P.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 25 1 5 6 2 18 6 311 36 8 172 4

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06

2 0 0 0 0 1 0 19 2 0 11 0

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 15

% Out 15
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 7 0

% In 25
% Out 25
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 7 0

% In 10 55 2 28
% Out 28 10 55 2
Trips 0 9 0 25 9 50 48 2 0 0 2 24

% In 10 55 2 28
% Out 28 10 55 2
Trips 0 1 0 3 1 6 4 0 0 0 0 2

0 10 0 28 10 56 52 26 0 0 16 26

27 11 5 34 12 75 58 356 38 8 199 30

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 5 30
% Out 5 30
Trips 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 10 0 1 6 0

% In 5 30
% Out 5 30
Trips 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 14 0 1 8 0

0 0 4 0 0 0 0 24 0 2 14 0

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 27 11 9 34 12 75 58 380 38 10 213 30

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Pleasant Hill Road Jordan Elem. School Split Log Road Split Log Road



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SPLIT LOG ROAD AT SAM DONALD ROAD
A.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 65 25 15 150 146 33

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.06

0 4 2 1 9 0 0 0 0 9 0 2

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 15

% Out 15
Trips 0 4 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 25
% Out 25
Trips 0 4 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 20 10
% Out 20 10
Trips 0 56 28 0 66 0 0 0 0 33 0 0

% In 20 10
% Out 20 10
Trips 0 4 2 0 7 0 0 0 0 4 0 0

0 68 30 0 94 0 0 0 0 37 0 0

0 137 57 16 253 0 0 0 0 192 0 35

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 35 10
% Out 10 35
Trips 0 4 0 3 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

% In 10 25
% Out 10 25
Trips 0 1 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 11 0 0

0 5 4 3 15 0 0 0 0 11 0 1

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 0 142 61 19 268 0 0 0 0 203 0 36

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Split Log Road Split Log Road Sam Donald Road



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SPLIT LOG ROAD AT SAM DONALD ROAD
P.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 160 151 36 105 64 19

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.06

0 10 9 2 6 0 0 0 0 4 0 1

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 15

% Out 15
Trips 0 12 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 25
% Out 25
Trips 0 12 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 20 10
% Out 20 10
Trips 0 18 9 0 17 0 0 0 0 9 0 0

% In 20 10
% Out 20 10
Trips 0 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

0 44 10 0 32 0 0 0 0 10 0 0

0 214 170 38 143 0 0 0 0 78 0 20

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 35 10
% Out 10 35
Trips 0 12 0 2 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

% In 10 25
% Out 10 25
Trips 0 5 12 0 3 0 0 0 0 7 0 0

0 17 12 2 10 0 0 0 0 7 0 3

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 0 231 182 40 153 0 0 0 0 85 0 23

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Split Log Road Split Log Road Sam Donald Road



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SUNSET ROAD AT SPLIT LOG ROAD
A.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 29 77 144 16 149 413

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.06 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.00

2 0 5 0 0 0 0 9 1 9 25 0

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 5 5 25

% Out 5 5 25
Trips 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 18 1 1 6 0

% In 10 30 5
% Out 30 5 10
Trips 12 0 2 0 0 0 0 1 4 1 4 0

% In 10 10
% Out 10 10
Trips 28 0 28 0 0 0 0 0 33 33 0 0

% In 10 10
% Out 10 10
Trips 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 0

46 0 36 0 0 0 0 19 42 39 10 0

77 0 118 0 0 0 0 172 59 197 448 0

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 10 25
% Out 10 25
Trips 3 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0

% In 30 25
% Out 30 25
Trips 13 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 0

16 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 5 7 0 0

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 93 0 137 0 0 0 0 172 64 204 448 0

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Split Log Road Sunset Road Sunset Road



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SUNSET ROAD AT SPLIT LOG ROAD
P.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 14 163 399 23 115 203

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.06 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.00

1 0 10 0 0 0 0 25 1 7 12 0

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 5 5 25

% Out 5 5 25
Trips 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 12 4 4 20 0

% In 10 30 5
% Out 30 5 10
Trips 8 0 1 0 0 0 0 5 14 2 3 0

% In 10 10
% Out 10 10
Trips 9 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 9 9 0 0

% In 10 10
% Out 10 10
Trips 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0

20 0 13 0 0 0 0 17 28 16 23 0

35 0 186 0 0 0 0 441 52 138 238 0

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 10 25
% Out 10 25
Trips 2 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 3 8 0 0

% In 30 25
% Out 30 25
Trips 8 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 14 12 0 0

10 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 17 20 0 0

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 45 0 198 0 0 0 0 441 69 158 238 0

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Split Log Road Sunset Road Sunset Road



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SUNSET ROAD AT WALLER ROAD
A.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 89 104 29 193 458 62

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.06

0 0 0 5 0 6 2 12 0 0 28 4

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 10 20

% Out 10 20
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 2 7 14 0 0 5 0

% In 5 10
% Out 5 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 1 0 0 4 0

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 0 0 33 0

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 4 0

0 0 0 0 0 3 9 45 0 0 46 0

0 0 0 94 0 113 40 250 0 0 532 66

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 10 15
% Out 10 15
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 5 0 0 2 0

% In 10 15
% Out 10 15
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 6 0 0 2 0

0 0 0 0 0 2 7 11 0 0 4 0

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 0 0 0 94 0 115 47 261 0 0 536 66

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Waller Road Sunset Road Sunset Road



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SUNSET ROAD AT WALLER ROAD
P.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 105 79 83 480 239 64

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.06

0 0 0 6 0 5 5 30 0 0 15 4

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 10 20

% Out 10 20
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 8 5 9 0 0 16 0

% In 5 10
% Out 5 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 5 0 0 3 0

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 9 0

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0

0 0 0 0 0 10 6 24 0 0 29 0

0 0 0 111 0 94 94 534 0 0 283 68

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 10 15
% Out 10 15
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 3 0 0 5 0

% In 10 15
% Out 10 15
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 5 3 4 0 0 7 0

0 0 0 0 0 8 5 7 0 0 12 0

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 0 0 0 111 0 102 99 541 0 0 295 68

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Waller Road Sunset Road Sunset Road



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SPLIT LOG ROAD AT ROSEBROOKE SOUTH ACCESS
A.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 98 165

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

0 6 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 15

% Out 15
Trips 0 4 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 25
% Out 25
Trips 0 4 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 20
% Out 20
Trips 0 56 0 0 66 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 20
% Out 20
Trips 0 4 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 68 0 0 94 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 172 0 0 269 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 45 35
% Out 35 45
Trips 5 0 0 0 0 4 11 0 14 0 0 0

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 1 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5 1 0 0 4 4 11 0 14 0 0 0

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 5 173 0 0 273 4 11 0 14 0 0 0

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Split Log Road Split Log Road Rosebrooke South Access



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SPLIT LOG ROAD AT ROSEBROOKE SOUTH ACCESS
P.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 179 141

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

0 11 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 15

% Out 15
Trips 0 12 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 25
% Out 25
Trips 0 12 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 20
% Out 20
Trips 0 18 0 0 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 20
% Out 20
Trips 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 44 0 0 32 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 234 0 0 182 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 45 35
% Out 35 45
Trips 15 0 0 0 0 12 7 0 9 0 0 0

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 5 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

15 5 0 0 3 12 7 0 9 0 0 0

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 15 239 0 0 185 12 7 0 9 0 0 0

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Split Log Road Split Log Road Rosebrooke South Access



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SPLIT LOG ROAD AT ROSEBROOKE SOUTH & EAST ACCESS
A.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 98 165

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 10 0

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 15

% Out 15
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 11 0

% In 25
% Out 25
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 10 0

% In 20
% Out 20
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 56 0 0 66 0

% In 20
% Out 20
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 7 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 68 0 0 94 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 172 0 0 269 0

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 35
% Out 35
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 4 0

% In 5 5 55 5
% Out 5 55 5 5
Trips 2 0 24 2 0 2 1 0 1 8 0 1

2 0 24 2 0 2 1 11 1 8 4 1

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 2 0 24 2 0 2 1 183 1 8 273 1

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Rosebrooke East Access Rosebrooke South Access Split Log Road Split Log Road



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SPLIT LOG ROAD AT ROSEBROOKE SOUTH & EAST ACCESS
P.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 179 141

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 9 0

Specific Development Background Growth
% In 15

% Out 15
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 7 0

% In 25
% Out 25
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 7 0

% In 20
% Out 20
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 0 0 17 0

% In 20
% Out 20
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 44 0 0 32 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 234 0 0 182 0

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 35
% Out 35
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 12 0

% In 5 5 55 5
% Out 5 55 5 5
Trips 1 0 15 1 0 1 2 0 2 26 0 2

1 0 15 1 0 1 2 7 2 26 12 2

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 1 0 15 1 0 1 2 241 2 26 194 2

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Rosebrooke East Access Rosebrooke South Access Split Log Road Split Log Road



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SAM DONALD ROAD AT ROSEBROOKE EAST ACCESS
A.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 40 179

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 11 0

Specific Development Background Growth
% In

% Out
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In
% Out
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 0 0 33 0

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 4 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 0 0 37 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 72 0 0 227 0

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 1 0

% In 25 10
% Out 10 25
Trips 0 0 0 4 0 11 4 0 0 0 0 1

0 0 0 4 0 11 4 3 0 0 1 1

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 0 0 0 4 0 11 4 75 0 0 228 1

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Rosebrooke East Access Sam Donald Road Sam Donald Road



TRAFFIC VOLUME WORKSHEET
SAM DONALD ROAD AT ROSEBROOKE EAST ACCESS
P.M. PEAK HOUR

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right

2021 TRAFFIC COUNTS 187 83

2027 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Annual Background Growth
Growth Rate (%/year) 1.0 1.0
Growth Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.00

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 5 0

Specific Development Background Growth
% In

% Out
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In
% Out
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 9 0

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 10 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 209 0 0 98 0

2027 SITE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

% In 10
% Out 10
Trips 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 3 0

% In 25 10
% Out 10 25
Trips 0 0 0 3 0 7 12 0 0 0 0 5

0 0 0 3 0 7 12 2 0 0 3 5

2027 TOTAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 0 0 0 3 0 7 12 211 0 0 101 5

2027 Site Traffic Volumes

Specific Development Background Growth Trips

2027 Background Traffic Volumes

Rosebrooke South
(50 single family homes)

Rosebrooke East
(74 single family homes)

Description
Northbound Southbound Eastbound

Annual Background Growth Trips

Rosebrooke Main
(126 single family homes)

Taube Property
(71 homes)

Split Log Middle School
(1,050 students)

Jordan Elementary School
(300 additional students)

Westbound
Rosebrooke East Access Sam Donald Road Sam Donald Road



APPENDIX C

2021 EXISTING CONDITIONS 
CAPACITY ANALYSIS WORKSHEETS



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

1: Split Log Rd & Ragsdale Rd 2021 Existing Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 1

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 316 7 91 174 14 249

Future Volume (veh/h) 316 7 91 174 14 249

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 343 8 99 189 15 271

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 539 479 593 982 133 572

Arrive On Green 0.30 0.30 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1585 1870 1585 39 1803

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 343 8 99 189 286 0

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1585 1870 1585 1842 0

Q Serve(g_s), s 5.2 0.1 1.2 1.6 0.0 0.0

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 5.2 0.1 1.2 1.6 3.9 0.0

Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.05

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 539 479 593 982 704 0

V/C Ratio(X) 0.64 0.02 0.17 0.19 0.41 0.00

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 2485 2211 2609 2691 2648 0

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 9.5 7.7 7.8 2.6 8.7 0.0

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.3 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.0

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.4 0.0 0.3 0.6 1.1 0.0

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 10.8 7.7 7.9 2.7 9.1 0.0

LnGrp LOS B A A A A A

Approach Vol, veh/h 351 288 286

Approach Delay, s/veh 10.7 4.5 9.1

Approach LOS B A A

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 16.0 16.0 15.5

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 44.0 44.0 44.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 3.6 5.9 7.2

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 1.2 1.9 1.1

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 8.3

HCM 6th LOS A



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

2: Pleasant Hill Rd/Jordan Elem. School & Split Log Rd 2021 Existing Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 59 83 10 4 271 27 32 18 5 3 1 5

Future Volume (veh/h) 59 83 10 4 271 27 32 18 5 3 1 5

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 64 90 11 4 295 29 35 20 5 3 1 5

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 509 889 109 600 557 472 255 57 13 282 65 263

Arrive On Green 0.07 0.54 0.54 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1635 200 1294 1870 1585 858 578 131 953 656 1585

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 64 0 101 4 295 29 60 0 0 4 0 5

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1781 0 1834 1294 1870 1585 1566 0 0 1608 0 1585

Q Serve(g_s), s 0.7 0.0 0.9 0.1 4.4 0.4 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 0.7 0.0 0.9 0.1 4.4 0.4 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1

Prop In Lane 1.00 0.11 1.00 1.00 0.58 0.08 0.75 1.00

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 509 0 997 600 557 472 325 0 0 347 0 263

V/C Ratio(X) 0.13 0.00 0.10 0.01 0.53 0.06 0.18 0.00 0.00 0.01 0.00 0.02

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 1133 0 3497 1910 2452 2078 1281 0 0 1260 0 1239

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 6.4 0.0 3.7 8.3 9.8 8.4 14.1 0.0 0.0 13.7 0.0 11.7

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.1 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.2 0.1 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 6.5 0.0 3.7 8.3 10.6 8.5 14.4 0.0 0.0 13.7 0.0 11.7

LnGrp LOS A A A A B A B A A B A B

Approach Vol, veh/h 165 328 60 9

Approach Delay, s/veh 4.8 10.4 14.4 12.6

Approach LOS A B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 5 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 24.2 9.3 8.2 16.0 9.3

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 64.0 24.0 14.0 44.0 24.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.9 2.1 2.7 6.4 3.2

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.6 0.0 0.1 1.8 0.2

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 9.2

HCM 6th LOS A



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

3: Split Log Rd & Sam Donald Rd 2021 Existing Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 3

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 5.1

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 146 33 65 25 15 150

Future Vol, veh/h 146 33 65 25 15 150

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length 0 - - - - -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0

Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 159 36 71 27 16 163

 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 280 85 0 0 98 0

          Stage 1 85 - - - - -

          Stage 2 195 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -

Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 710 974 - - 1495 -

          Stage 1 938 - - - - -

          Stage 2 838 - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 701 974 - - 1495 -

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 701 - - - - -

          Stage 1 938 - - - - -

          Stage 2 828 - - - - -

 

Approach WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 11.6 0 0.7

HCM LOS B

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT

Capacity (veh/h) - - 739 1495 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.263 0.011 -

HCM Control Delay (s) - - 11.6 7.4 0

HCM Lane LOS - - B A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 1.1 0 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

4: Split Log Rd & Sunset Rd 2021 Existing Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 4

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 3.2

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 144 16 149 413 29 77

Future Vol, veh/h 144 16 149 413 29 77

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -

Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 157 17 162 449 32 84

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1

Conflicting Flow All 0 0 174 0 939 166

          Stage 1 - - - - 166 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 773 -

Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1403 - 293 878

          Stage 1 - - - - 863 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 455 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1403 - 248 878

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 248 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 863 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 385 -

 

Approach EB WB NB

HCM Control Delay, s 0 2.1 13.9

HCM LOS B

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT

Capacity (veh/h) 518 - - 1403 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.222 - - 0.115 -

HCM Control Delay (s) 13.9 - - 7.9 0

HCM Lane LOS B - - A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.8 - - 0.4 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

5: Sunset Rd & Waller Rd 2021 Existing Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 5

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 4.7

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 29 193 458 62 89 104

Future Vol, veh/h 29 193 458 62 89 104

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -

Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 32 210 498 67 97 113

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 565 0 - 0 806 532

          Stage 1 - - - - 532 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 274 -

Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1007 - - - 351 547

          Stage 1 - - - - 589 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 772 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1007 - - - 338 547

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 338 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 568 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 772 -

 

Approach EB WB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 1.1 0 21.4

HCM LOS C

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 1007 - - - 426

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.031 - - - 0.492

HCM Control Delay (s) 8.7 0 - - 21.4

HCM Lane LOS A A - - C

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - - 2.7



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

1: Split Log Rd & Ragsdale Rd 2021 Existing Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 1

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 249 11 236 374 8 142

Future Volume (veh/h) 249 11 236 374 8 142

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 271 12 257 407 9 154

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 523 465 601 974 133 574

Arrive On Green 0.29 0.29 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.32

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1585 1870 1585 34 1787

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 271 12 257 407 163 0

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1585 1870 1585 1821 0

Q Serve(g_s), s 3.9 0.2 3.4 4.1 0.0 0.0

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 3.9 0.2 3.4 4.1 2.0 0.0

Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.06

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 523 465 601 974 707 0

V/C Ratio(X) 0.52 0.03 0.43 0.42 0.23 0.00

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 2517 2240 2643 2705 2601 0

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 9.2 7.8 8.3 3.1 7.9 0.0

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.8 0.0 0.5 0.3 0.2 0.0

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.0 0.0 0.8 1.5 0.6 0.0

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 10.0 7.9 8.8 3.4 8.0 0.0

LnGrp LOS A A A A A A

Approach Vol, veh/h 283 664 163

Approach Delay, s/veh 9.9 5.5 8.0

Approach LOS A A A

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 16.0 16.0 15.1

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 44.0 44.0 44.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 6.1 4.0 5.9

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 3.0 1.0 0.8

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 7.0

HCM 6th LOS A



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

2: Pleasant Hill Rd/Jordan Elem. School & Split Log Rd 2021 Existing Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 6 311 36 8 172 4 25 1 5 6 2 18

Future Volume (veh/h) 6 311 36 8 172 4 25 1 5 6 2 18

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 7 338 39 9 187 4 27 1 5 7 2 20

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 540 860 99 553 599 508 314 7 20 296 56 163

Arrive On Green 0.01 0.52 0.52 0.32 0.32 0.32 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1646 190 1006 1870 1585 1113 74 212 976 605 1585

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 7 0 377 9 187 4 33 0 0 9 0 20

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1781 0 1836 1006 1870 1585 1399 0 0 1581 0 1585

Q Serve(g_s), s 0.1 0.0 3.9 0.2 2.4 0.1 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 0.1 0.0 3.9 0.2 2.4 0.1 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.4

Prop In Lane 1.00 0.10 1.00 1.00 0.82 0.15 0.78 1.00

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 540 0 959 553 599 508 340 0 0 353 0 163

V/C Ratio(X) 0.01 0.00 0.39 0.02 0.31 0.01 0.10 0.00 0.00 0.03 0.00 0.12

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 1322 0 3766 1649 2637 2235 1305 0 0 1361 0 1234

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 6.1 0.0 4.5 7.3 8.0 7.2 13.2 0.0 0.0 12.9 0.0 12.7

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 6.1 0.0 4.7 7.3 8.3 7.2 13.3 0.0 0.0 12.9 0.0 13.1

LnGrp LOS A A A A A A B A A B A B

Approach Vol, veh/h 384 200 33 29

Approach Delay, s/veh 4.8 8.2 13.3 13.0

Approach LOS A A B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 5 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 22.3 8.9 6.3 16.0 8.9

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 64.0 24.0 14.0 44.0 24.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 5.9 2.4 2.1 4.4 2.7

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 2.4 0.1 0.0 1.1 0.1

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 6.6

HCM 6th LOS A



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

3: Split Log Rd & Sam Donald Rd 2021 Existing Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 3

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 2.4

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 64 19 160 151 36 105

Future Vol, veh/h 64 19 160 151 36 105

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length 0 - - - - -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0

Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 70 21 174 164 39 114

 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 448 256 0 0 338 0

          Stage 1 256 - - - - -

          Stage 2 192 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -

Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 568 783 - - 1221 -

          Stage 1 787 - - - - -

          Stage 2 841 - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 549 783 - - 1221 -

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 549 - - - - -

          Stage 1 787 - - - - -

          Stage 2 812 - - - - -

 

Approach WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 12.2 0 2.1

HCM LOS B

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT

Capacity (veh/h) - - 589 1221 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.153 0.032 -

HCM Control Delay (s) - - 12.2 8 0

HCM Lane LOS - - B A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.5 0.1 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

4: Split Log Rd & Sunset Rd 2021 Existing Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 4

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 399 23 115 203 14 163

Future Vol, veh/h 399 23 115 203 14 163

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -

Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 434 25 125 221 15 177

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1

Conflicting Flow All 0 0 459 0 918 447

          Stage 1 - - - - 447 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 471 -

Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1102 - 302 612

          Stage 1 - - - - 644 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 628 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1102 - 263 612

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 263 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 644 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 547 -

 

Approach EB WB NB

HCM Control Delay, s 0 3.1 14.9

HCM LOS B

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT

Capacity (veh/h) 554 - - 1102 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.347 - - 0.113 -

HCM Control Delay (s) 14.9 - - 8.7 0

HCM Lane LOS B - - A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 1.5 - - 0.4 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

5: Sunset Rd & Waller Rd 2021 Existing Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 5

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 5.8

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 83 480 239 64 105 79

Future Vol, veh/h 83 480 239 64 105 79

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -

Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 90 522 260 70 114 86

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 330 0 - 0 997 295

          Stage 1 - - - - 295 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 702 -

Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1229 - - - 271 744

          Stage 1 - - - - 755 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 491 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1229 - - - 243 744

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 243 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 677 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 491 -

 

Approach EB WB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 1.2 0 29.3

HCM LOS D

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 1229 - - - 342

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.073 - - - 0.585

HCM Control Delay (s) 8.2 0 - - 29.3

HCM Lane LOS A A - - D

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - - 3.5



APPENDIX D

2027 BACKGROUND CONDITIONS 
CAPACITY ANALYSIS WORKSHEETS



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

1: Split Log Rd & Ragsdale Rd 2027 Background Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 1

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 476 37 97 340 52 264

Future Volume (veh/h) 476 37 97 340 52 264

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 517 40 105 370 57 287

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 651 579 554 1049 169 452

Arrive On Green 0.37 0.37 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1585 1870 1585 169 1526

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 517 40 105 370 344 0

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1585 1870 1585 1695 0

Q Serve(g_s), s 9.2 0.6 1.5 3.7 2.3 0.0

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 9.2 0.6 1.5 3.7 6.0 0.0

Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.17

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 651 579 554 1049 621 0

V/C Ratio(X) 0.79 0.07 0.19 0.35 0.55 0.00

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 2209 1966 2320 2545 2128 0

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 10.1 7.3 9.3 2.6 10.8 0.0

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.3 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.8 0.0

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.5 0.1 0.4 1.8 1.8 0.0

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 12.3 7.4 9.5 2.8 11.6 0.0

LnGrp LOS B A A A B A

Approach Vol, veh/h 557 475 344

Approach Delay, s/veh 12.0 4.3 11.6

Approach LOS B A B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 16.5 16.5 19.0

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 44.0 44.0 44.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 5.7 8.0 11.2

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 1.9 2.5 1.8

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 9.2

HCM 6th LOS A



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

2: Pleasant Hill Rd/Jordan Elem. School & Split Log Rd 2027 Background Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 264 102 11 4 317 131 34 56 5 86 31 169

Future Volume (veh/h) 264 102 11 4 317 131 34 56 5 86 31 169

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 287 111 12 4 345 142 37 61 5 93 34 184

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 535 931 101 507 504 427 168 182 12 311 92 504

Arrive On Green 0.15 0.56 0.56 0.27 0.27 0.27 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1659 179 1268 1870 1585 338 1112 74 1027 565 1585

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 287 0 123 4 345 142 103 0 0 127 0 184

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1781 0 1838 1268 1870 1585 1524 0 0 1592 0 1585

Q Serve(g_s), s 4.4 0.0 1.4 0.1 7.2 3.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.9

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 4.4 0.0 1.4 0.1 7.2 3.1 2.8 0.0 0.0 2.7 0.0 3.9

Prop In Lane 1.00 0.10 1.00 1.00 0.36 0.05 0.73 1.00

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 535 0 1031 507 504 427 362 0 0 404 0 504

V/C Ratio(X) 0.54 0.00 0.12 0.01 0.69 0.33 0.28 0.00 0.00 0.31 0.00 0.37

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 831 0 2698 1445 1887 1599 951 0 0 963 0 1117

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 8.7 0.0 4.5 11.7 14.3 12.8 16.2 0.0 0.0 16.4 0.0 11.5

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.8 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.7 0.5 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln1.2 0.0 0.3 0.0 2.6 0.9 0.8 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 1.1

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 9.6 0.0 4.6 11.7 15.9 13.2 16.6 0.0 0.0 16.8 0.0 11.9

LnGrp LOS A A A B B B B A A B A B

Approach Vol, veh/h 410 491 103 311

Approach Delay, s/veh 8.1 15.1 16.6 13.9

Approach LOS A B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 5 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 30.5 13.1 12.7 17.7 13.1

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 64.0 24.0 14.0 44.0 24.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 3.4 5.9 6.4 9.2 4.8

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.7 1.3 0.5 2.5 0.4

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 12.8

HCM 6th LOS B



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

3: Split Log Rd & Sam Donald Rd 2027 Background Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 3

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 5.6

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 192 35 137 57 16 253

Future Vol, veh/h 192 35 137 57 16 253

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length 0 - - - - -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0

Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 209 38 149 62 17 275

 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 489 180 0 0 211 0

          Stage 1 180 - - - - -

          Stage 2 309 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -

Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 538 863 - - 1360 -

          Stage 1 851 - - - - -

          Stage 2 745 - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 530 863 - - 1360 -

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 530 - - - - -

          Stage 1 851 - - - - -

          Stage 2 734 - - - - -

 

Approach WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 16.3 0 0.5

HCM LOS C

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT

Capacity (veh/h) - - 564 1360 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.437 0.013 -

HCM Control Delay (s) - - 16.3 7.7 0

HCM Lane LOS - - C A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 2.2 0 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

4: Split Log Rd & Sunset Rd 2027 Background Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 4

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 7.5

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 172 59 197 448 77 118

Future Vol, veh/h 172 59 197 448 77 118

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -

Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 187 64 214 487 84 128

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1

Conflicting Flow All 0 0 251 0 1134 219

          Stage 1 - - - - 219 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 915 -

Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1314 - 224 821

          Stage 1 - - - - 817 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 390 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1314 - 174 821

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 174 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 817 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 303 -

 

Approach EB WB NB

HCM Control Delay, s 0 2.5 32.9

HCM LOS D

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT

Capacity (veh/h) 333 - - 1314 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.637 - - 0.163 -

HCM Control Delay (s) 32.9 - - 8.3 0

HCM Lane LOS D - - A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 4.1 - - 0.6 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

5: Sunset Rd & Waller Rd 2027 Background Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 5

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 6.2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 40 250 532 66 94 113

Future Vol, veh/h 40 250 532 66 94 113

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -

Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 43 272 578 72 102 123

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 650 0 - 0 972 614

          Stage 1 - - - - 614 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 358 -

Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 936 - - - 280 492

          Stage 1 - - - - 540 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 707 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 936 - - - 265 492

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 265 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 511 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 707 -

 

Approach EB WB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 1.2 0 31.3

HCM LOS D

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 936 - - - 354

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.046 - - - 0.636

HCM Control Delay (s) 9 0 - - 31.3

HCM Lane LOS A A - - D

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - - 4.2



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

1: Split Log Rd & Ragsdale Rd 2027 Background Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 1

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 318 22 251 459 18 151

Future Volume (veh/h) 318 22 251 459 18 151

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 346 24 273 499 20 164

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 525 467 634 1004 147 566

Arrive On Green 0.29 0.29 0.34 0.34 0.34 0.34

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1585 1870 1585 75 1670

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 346 24 273 499 184 0

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1585 1870 1585 1745 0

Q Serve(g_s), s 5.6 0.4 3.7 5.5 0.0 0.0

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 5.6 0.4 3.7 5.5 2.4 0.0

Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.11

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 525 467 634 1004 713 0

V/C Ratio(X) 0.66 0.05 0.43 0.50 0.26 0.00

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 2393 2129 2513 2597 2302 0

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 10.1 8.3 8.4 3.2 7.9 0.0

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.4 0.0 0.5 0.4 0.2 0.0

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.5 0.1 0.9 2.0 0.7 0.0

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 11.5 8.3 8.8 3.6 8.1 0.0

LnGrp LOS B A A A A A

Approach Vol, veh/h 370 772 184

Approach Delay, s/veh 11.3 5.4 8.1

Approach LOS B A A

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 17.1 17.1 15.7

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 44.0 44.0 44.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 7.5 4.4 7.6

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 3.6 1.2 1.1

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 7.5

HCM 6th LOS A



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

2: Pleasant Hill Rd/Jordan Elem. School & Split Log Rd 2027 Background Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 58 356 38 8 199 30 27 11 5 34 12 75

Future Volume (veh/h) 58 356 38 8 199 30 27 11 5 34 12 75

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 63 387 41 9 216 33 29 12 5 37 13 82

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 520 843 89 464 517 438 281 99 27 331 91 358

Arrive On Green 0.06 0.51 0.51 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1663 176 960 1870 1585 737 616 165 979 565 1585

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 63 0 428 9 216 33 46 0 0 50 0 82

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1781 0 1839 960 1870 1585 1518 0 0 1544 0 1585

Q Serve(g_s), s 0.8 0.0 5.4 0.2 3.4 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.5

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 0.8 0.0 5.4 0.2 3.4 0.6 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 1.5

Prop In Lane 1.00 0.10 1.00 1.00 0.63 0.11 0.74 1.00

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 520 0 932 464 517 438 407 0 0 422 0 358

V/C Ratio(X) 0.12 0.00 0.46 0.02 0.42 0.08 0.11 0.00 0.00 0.12 0.00 0.23

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 1094 0 3253 1366 2275 1928 1132 0 0 1173 0 1154

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 7.3 0.0 5.7 9.6 10.7 9.7 13.1 0.0 0.0 13.1 0.0 11.4

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.5 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.3

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln0.2 0.0 1.0 0.0 1.0 0.1 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.4

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 7.4 0.0 6.1 9.6 11.2 9.7 13.2 0.0 0.0 13.2 0.0 11.7

LnGrp LOS A A A A B A B A A B A B

Approach Vol, veh/h 491 258 46 132

Approach Delay, s/veh 6.2 11.0 13.2 12.3

Approach LOS A B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 5 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 24.3 11.8 8.3 16.0 11.8

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 64.0 24.0 14.0 44.0 24.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 7.4 3.5 2.8 5.4 2.8

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 2.8 0.5 0.1 1.4 0.1

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 8.8

HCM 6th LOS A



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

3: Split Log Rd & Sam Donald Rd 2027 Background Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 3

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 2.5

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 78 20 214 170 38 143

Future Vol, veh/h 78 20 214 170 38 143

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length 0 - - - - -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0

Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 85 22 233 185 41 155

 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 563 326 0 0 418 0

          Stage 1 326 - - - - -

          Stage 2 237 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -

Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 487 715 - - 1141 -

          Stage 1 731 - - - - -

          Stage 2 802 - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 468 715 - - 1141 -

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 468 - - - - -

          Stage 1 731 - - - - -

          Stage 2 771 - - - - -

 

Approach WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 14.1 0 1.7

HCM LOS B

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT

Capacity (veh/h) - - 503 1141 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.212 0.036 -

HCM Control Delay (s) - - 14.1 8.3 0

HCM Lane LOS - - B A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.8 0.1 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

4: Split Log Rd & Sunset Rd 2027 Background Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 4

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 5.7

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 441 52 138 238 35 186

Future Vol, veh/h 441 52 138 238 35 186

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -

Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 479 57 150 259 38 202

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1

Conflicting Flow All 0 0 536 0 1067 508

          Stage 1 - - - - 508 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 559 -

Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1032 - 246 565

          Stage 1 - - - - 604 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 572 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1032 - 204 565

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 204 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 604 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 475 -

 

Approach EB WB NB

HCM Control Delay, s 0 3.3 22.5

HCM LOS C

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT

Capacity (veh/h) 441 - - 1032 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.545 - - 0.145 -

HCM Control Delay (s) 22.5 - - 9.1 0

HCM Lane LOS C - - A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 3.2 - - 0.5 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

5: Sunset Rd & Waller Rd 2027 Background Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 5

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 8.9

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 94 534 283 68 111 94

Future Vol, veh/h 94 534 283 68 111 94

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -

Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 102 580 308 74 121 102

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 382 0 - 0 1129 345

          Stage 1 - - - - 345 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 784 -

Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1176 - - - 226 698

          Stage 1 - - - - 717 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 450 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1176 - - - 197 698

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 197 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 625 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 450 -

 

Approach EB WB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 1.3 0 47.3

HCM LOS E

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 1176 - - - 294

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.087 - - - 0.758

HCM Control Delay (s) 8.4 0 - - 47.3

HCM Lane LOS A A - - E

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - - - 5.7



APPENDIX E

2027 TOTAL CONDITIONS CAPACITY 
ANALYSIS WORKSHEETS



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

1: Split Log Rd & Ragsdale Rd 2027 Total Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 1

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 495 41 97 347 54 264

Future Volume (veh/h) 495 41 97 347 54 264

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 538 45 105 377 59 287

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 670 596 553 1065 167 447

Arrive On Green 0.38 0.38 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1585 1870 1585 176 1511

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 538 45 105 377 346 0

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1585 1870 1585 1686 0

Q Serve(g_s), s 9.9 0.7 1.5 3.7 2.5 0.0

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 9.9 0.7 1.5 3.7 6.3 0.0

Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.17

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 670 596 553 1065 614 0

V/C Ratio(X) 0.80 0.08 0.19 0.35 0.56 0.00

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 2143 1907 2250 2503 2054 0

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 10.2 7.3 9.6 2.6 11.2 0.0

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.3 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.8 0.0

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.8 0.1 0.5 2.0 1.9 0.0

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 12.5 7.4 9.8 2.8 12.0 0.0

LnGrp LOS B A A A B A

Approach Vol, veh/h 583 482 346

Approach Delay, s/veh 12.1 4.3 12.0

Approach LOS B A B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 16.8 16.8 19.8

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 44.0 44.0 44.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 5.7 8.3 11.9

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 1.9 2.5 1.9

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 9.4

HCM 6th LOS A



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

2: Pleasant Hill Rd/Jordan Elem. School & Split Log Rd 2027 Total Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 264 109 11 8 339 131 34 56 7 86 31 169

Future Volume (veh/h) 264 109 11 8 339 131 34 56 7 86 31 169

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 287 118 12 9 368 142 37 61 8 93 34 184

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 526 949 96 516 527 446 162 175 19 307 92 498

Arrive On Green 0.15 0.57 0.57 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1670 170 1260 1870 1585 327 1076 115 1028 563 1585

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 287 0 130 9 368 142 106 0 0 127 0 184

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1781 0 1840 1260 1870 1585 1518 0 0 1591 0 1585

Q Serve(g_s), s 4.5 0.0 1.5 0.2 7.8 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.0

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 4.5 0.0 1.5 0.2 7.8 3.2 2.8 0.0 0.0 2.8 0.0 4.0

Prop In Lane 1.00 0.09 1.00 1.00 0.35 0.08 0.73 1.00

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 526 0 1045 516 527 446 356 0 0 399 0 498

V/C Ratio(X) 0.55 0.00 0.12 0.02 0.70 0.32 0.30 0.00 0.00 0.32 0.00 0.37

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 815 0 2642 1406 1847 1565 929 0 0 941 0 1094

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 8.8 0.0 4.5 11.6 14.3 12.6 16.6 0.0 0.0 16.8 0.0 11.8

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.9 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.7 0.4 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.5

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln1.2 0.0 0.3 0.1 2.8 0.9 0.8 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 1.1

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 9.7 0.0 4.5 11.6 16.0 13.0 17.0 0.0 0.0 17.2 0.0 12.3

LnGrp LOS A A A B B B B A A B A B

Approach Vol, veh/h 417 519 106 311

Approach Delay, s/veh 8.1 15.1 17.0 14.3

Approach LOS A B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 5 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 31.3 13.2 12.8 18.6 13.2

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 64.0 24.0 14.0 44.0 24.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 3.5 6.0 6.5 9.8 4.8

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.7 1.3 0.5 2.7 0.4

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 12.9

HCM 6th LOS B



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

3: Split Log Rd & Sam Donald Rd 2027 Total Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 3

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 6

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 203 36 142 61 19 268

Future Vol, veh/h 203 36 142 61 19 268

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length 0 - - - - -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0

Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 221 39 154 66 21 291

 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 520 187 0 0 220 0

          Stage 1 187 - - - - -

          Stage 2 333 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -

Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 516 855 - - 1349 -

          Stage 1 845 - - - - -

          Stage 2 726 - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 506 855 - - 1349 -

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 506 - - - - -

          Stage 1 845 - - - - -

          Stage 2 712 - - - - -

 

Approach WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 17.7 0 0.5

HCM LOS C

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT

Capacity (veh/h) - - 539 1349 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.482 0.015 -

HCM Control Delay (s) - - 17.7 7.7 0

HCM Lane LOS - - C A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 2.6 0 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

4: Split Log Rd & Sunset Rd 2027 Total Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 4

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 11.3

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 172 64 204 448 93 137

Future Vol, veh/h 172 64 204 448 93 137

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -

Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 187 70 222 487 101 149

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1

Conflicting Flow All 0 0 257 0 1153 222

          Stage 1 - - - - 222 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 931 -

Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1308 - 218 818

          Stage 1 - - - - 815 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 384 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1308 - 167 818

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 167 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 815 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 295 -

 

Approach EB WB NB

HCM Control Delay, s 0 2.6 47.7

HCM LOS E

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT

Capacity (veh/h) 318 - - 1308 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.786 - - 0.17 -

HCM Control Delay (s) 47.7 - - 8.3 0

HCM Lane LOS E - - A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 6.3 - - 0.6 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

5: Sunset Rd & Waller Rd 2027 Total Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 5

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 6.7

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 47 261 536 66 94 115

Future Vol, veh/h 47 261 536 66 94 115

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -

Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 51 284 583 72 102 125

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 655 0 - 0 1005 619

          Stage 1 - - - - 619 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 386 -

Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 932 - - - 268 489

          Stage 1 - - - - 537 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 687 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 932 - - - 251 489

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 251 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 502 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 687 -

 

Approach EB WB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 1.4 0 33.9

HCM LOS D

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 932 - - - 343

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.055 - - - 0.662

HCM Control Delay (s) 9.1 0 - - 33.9

HCM Lane LOS A A - - D

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - - 4.5



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

6: Split Log Rd & Project Access #1 2027 Total Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 6

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 11 14 5 173 273 4

Future Vol, veh/h 11 14 5 173 273 4

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length 0 - - - - -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -

Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 12 15 5 188 297 4

 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 497 299 301 0 - 0

          Stage 1 299 - - - - -

          Stage 2 198 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -

Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 532 741 1260 - - -

          Stage 1 752 - - - - -

          Stage 2 835 - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 530 741 1260 - - -

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 530 - - - - -

          Stage 1 749 - - - - -

          Stage 2 835 - - - - -

 

Approach EB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 11 0.2 0

HCM LOS B

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR

Capacity (veh/h) 1260 - 631 - -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.004 - 0.043 - -

HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 0 11 - -

HCM Lane LOS A A B - -

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

7: Project Access #3/Project Access #2 & Split Log Rd 2027 Total Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 7

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 0.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 1 183 1 8 273 1 2 0 24 2 0 2

Future Vol, veh/h 1 183 1 8 273 1 2 0 24 2 0 2

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop

RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None

Storage Length - - - - - - - - 75 - - 75

Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -

Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 1 199 1 9 297 1 2 0 26 2 0 2

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 298 0 0 200 0 0 519 518 200 531 518 298

          Stage 1 - - - - - - 202 202 - 316 316 -

          Stage 2 - - - - - - 317 316 - 215 202 -

Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -

Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1263 - - 1372 - - 467 462 841 459 462 741

          Stage 1 - - - - - - 800 734 - 695 655 -

          Stage 2 - - - - - - 694 655 - 787 734 -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1263 - - 1372 - - 462 458 841 442 458 741

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 462 458 - 442 458 -

          Stage 1 - - - - - - 799 733 - 694 650 -

          Stage 2 - - - - - - 686 650 - 762 733 -

 

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.2 9.7 11.5

HCM LOS A B

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2

Capacity (veh/h) 462 841 1263 - - 1372 - - 442 741

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.005 0.031 0.001 - - 0.006 - - 0.005 0.003

HCM Control Delay (s) 12.8 9.4 7.9 0 - 7.6 0 - 13.2 9.9

HCM Lane LOS B A A A - A A - B A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 0.1 0 - - 0 - - 0 0



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

8: Sam Donald Rd & Project Access #4 2027 Total Traffic - AM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 8

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 4 75 228 1 4 11

Future Vol, veh/h 4 75 228 1 4 11

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 75

Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -

Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 4 82 248 1 4 12

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 249 0 - 0 339 249

          Stage 1 - - - - 249 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 90 -

Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1317 - - - 657 790

          Stage 1 - - - - 792 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 934 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1317 - - - 655 790

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 655 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 790 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 934 -

 

Approach EB WB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0.4 0 9.8

HCM LOS A

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2

Capacity (veh/h) 1317 - - - 655 790

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.003 - - - 0.007 0.015

HCM Control Delay (s) 7.7 0 - - 10.5 9.6

HCM Lane LOS A A - - B A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0 0



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

1: Split Log Rd & Ragsdale Rd 2027 Total Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 1

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 330 24 251 479 22 151

Future Volume (veh/h) 330 24 251 479 22 151

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 359 26 273 521 24 164

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 520 463 650 1014 153 565

Arrive On Green 0.29 0.29 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1585 1870 1585 89 1626

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 359 26 273 521 188 0

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1585 1870 1585 1715 0

Q Serve(g_s), s 6.0 0.4 3.7 5.9 0.0 0.0

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 6.0 0.4 3.7 5.9 2.4 0.0

Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.13

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 520 463 650 1014 718 0

V/C Ratio(X) 0.69 0.06 0.42 0.51 0.26 0.00

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 2354 2095 2472 2558 2210 0

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 10.5 8.5 8.3 3.2 7.9 0.0

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.6 0.1 0.4 0.4 0.2 0.0

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.7 0.1 0.9 2.2 0.7 0.0

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 12.1 8.5 8.7 3.6 8.1 0.0

LnGrp LOS B A A A A A

Approach Vol, veh/h 385 794 188

Approach Delay, s/veh 11.9 5.4 8.1

Approach LOS B A A

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 17.6 17.6 15.7

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 44.0 44.0 44.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 7.9 4.4 8.0

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 3.7 1.3 1.2

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 7.6

HCM 6th LOS A



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Rosebrooke Addition

2: Pleasant Hill Rd/Jordan Elem. School & Split Log Rd 2027 Total Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Volume (veh/h) 58 380 38 10 213 30 27 11 9 34 12 75

Future Volume (veh/h) 58 380 38 10 213 30 27 11 9 34 12 75

Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Work Zone On Approach No No No No

Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870

Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 63 413 41 11 232 33 29 12 10 37 13 82

Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92

Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Cap, veh/h 507 848 84 457 516 437 259 98 49 332 92 360

Arrive On Green 0.06 0.51 0.51 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16 0.16

Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 1674 166 937 1870 1585 633 604 302 981 563 1585

Grp Volume(v), veh/h 63 0 454 11 232 33 51 0 0 50 0 82

Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1781 0 1840 937 1870 1585 1539 0 0 1544 0 1585

Q Serve(g_s), s 0.8 0.0 5.9 0.3 3.7 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5

Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 0.8 0.0 5.9 0.3 3.7 0.6 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.0 1.5

Prop In Lane 1.00 0.09 1.00 1.00 0.57 0.20 0.74 1.00

Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 507 0 932 457 516 437 406 0 0 424 0 360

V/C Ratio(X) 0.12 0.00 0.49 0.02 0.45 0.08 0.13 0.00 0.00 0.12 0.00 0.23

Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 1080 0 3250 1336 2271 1925 1134 0 0 1168 0 1152

HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00

Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 7.3 0.0 5.9 9.6 10.8 9.7 13.1 0.0 0.0 13.1 0.0 11.4

Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.6 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.3

Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln0.2 0.0 1.1 0.0 1.1 0.1 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.4

Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh

LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 7.4 0.0 6.3 9.6 11.5 9.8 13.2 0.0 0.0 13.2 0.0 11.7

LnGrp LOS A A A A B A B A A B A B

Approach Vol, veh/h 517 276 51 132

Approach Delay, s/veh 6.4 11.2 13.2 12.3

Approach LOS A B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 5 6 8

Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 24.3 11.9 8.3 16.0 11.9

Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0

Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 64.0 24.0 14.0 44.0 24.0

Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 7.9 3.5 2.8 5.7 2.9

Green Ext Time (p_c), s 3.0 0.5 0.1 1.5 0.2

Intersection Summary

HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 8.9

HCM 6th LOS A



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

3: Split Log Rd & Sam Donald Rd 2027 Total Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 3

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 2.7

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 85 23 231 182 40 153

Future Vol, veh/h 85 23 231 182 40 153

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length 0 - - - - -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0

Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 92 25 251 198 43 166

 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 602 350 0 0 449 0

          Stage 1 350 - - - - -

          Stage 2 252 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 - - 4.12 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -

Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 - - 2.218 -

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 463 693 - - 1111 -

          Stage 1 713 - - - - -

          Stage 2 790 - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 443 693 - - 1111 -

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 443 - - - - -

          Stage 1 713 - - - - -

          Stage 2 756 - - - - -

 

Approach WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 14.9 0 1.7

HCM LOS B

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT

Capacity (veh/h) - - 480 1111 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.245 0.039 -

HCM Control Delay (s) - - 14.9 8.4 0

HCM Lane LOS - - B A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 1 0.1 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

4: Split Log Rd & Sunset Rd 2027 Total Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 4

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 7.4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 441 69 158 238 45 198

Future Vol, veh/h 441 69 158 238 45 198

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -

Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 479 75 172 259 49 215

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1

Conflicting Flow All 0 0 554 0 1120 517

          Stage 1 - - - - 517 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 603 -

Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1016 - 228 558

          Stage 1 - - - - 598 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 546 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1016 - 183 558

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 183 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 598 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 438 -

 

Approach EB WB NB

HCM Control Delay, s 0 3.7 29.1

HCM LOS D

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT

Capacity (veh/h) 405 - - 1016 -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.652 - - 0.169 -

HCM Control Delay (s) 29.1 - - 9.3 0

HCM Lane LOS D - - A A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 4.5 - - 0.6 -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

5: Sunset Rd & Waller Rd 2027 Total Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 5

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 10.3

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 99 541 295 68 111 102

Future Vol, veh/h 99 541 295 68 111 102

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 -

Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -

Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 108 588 321 74 121 111

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 395 0 - 0 1162 358

          Stage 1 - - - - 358 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 804 -

Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1164 - - - 216 686

          Stage 1 - - - - 707 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 440 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1164 - - - 186 686

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 186 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 609 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 440 -

 

Approach EB WB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 1.3 0 54.9

HCM LOS F

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1

Capacity (veh/h) 1164 - - - 286

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.092 - - - 0.81

HCM Control Delay (s) 8.4 0 - - 54.9

HCM Lane LOS A A - - F

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - - - 6.5



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

6: Split Log Rd & Project Access #1 2027 Total Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 6

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 9 15 239 185 12

Future Vol, veh/h 7 9 15 239 185 12

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length 0 - - - - -

Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -

Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 8 10 16 260 201 13

 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2

Conflicting Flow All 500 208 214 0 - 0

          Stage 1 208 - - - - -

          Stage 2 292 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -

Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 530 832 1356 - - -

          Stage 1 827 - - - - -

          Stage 2 758 - - - - -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 523 832 1356 - - -

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 523 - - - - -

          Stage 1 815 - - - - -

          Stage 2 758 - - - - -

 

Approach EB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 10.6 0.5 0

HCM LOS B

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR

Capacity (veh/h) 1356 - 661 - -

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.012 - 0.026 - -

HCM Control Delay (s) 7.7 0 10.6 - -

HCM Lane LOS A A B - -

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

7: Project Access #3/Project Access #2 & Split Log Rd 2027 Total Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 7

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 0.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 2 241 2 26 194 2 1 0 15 1 0 1

Future Vol, veh/h 2 241 2 26 194 2 1 0 15 1 0 1

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop

RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None

Storage Length - - - - - - - - 75 - - 75

Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -

Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 2 262 2 28 211 2 1 0 16 1 0 1

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 213 0 0 264 0 0 536 536 263 543 536 212

          Stage 1 - - - - - - 267 267 - 268 268 -

          Stage 2 - - - - - - 269 269 - 275 268 -

Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - 4.12 - - 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 -

Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - 2.218 - - 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1357 - - 1300 - - 455 451 776 451 451 828

          Stage 1 - - - - - - 738 688 - 738 687 -

          Stage 2 - - - - - - 737 687 - 731 687 -

Platoon blocked, % - - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1357 - - 1300 - - 445 439 776 433 439 828

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 445 439 - 433 439 -

          Stage 1 - - - - - - 737 687 - 737 671 -

          Stage 2 - - - - - - 718 671 - 714 686 -

 

Approach EB WB NB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0.9 9.9 11.4

HCM LOS A B

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 NBLn2 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2

Capacity (veh/h) 445 776 1357 - - 1300 - - 433 828

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.002 0.021 0.002 - - 0.022 - - 0.003 0.001

HCM Control Delay (s) 13.1 9.7 7.7 0 - 7.8 0 - 13.3 9.4

HCM Lane LOS B A A A - A A - B A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 0.1 0 - - 0.1 - - 0 0



HCM 6th TWSC Rosebrooke Addition

8: Sam Donald Rd & Project Access #4 2027 Total Traffic - PM Peak Hour

Synchro 11 Report

Page 8

Intersection

Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR

Lane Configurations

Traffic Vol, veh/h 12 211 101 5 3 7

Future Vol, veh/h 12 211 101 5 3 7

Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop

RT Channelized - None - None - None

Storage Length - - - - 0 75

Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -

Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -

Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92

Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2

Mvmt Flow 13 229 110 5 3 8

 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2

Conflicting Flow All 115 0 - 0 368 113

          Stage 1 - - - - 113 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 255 -

Critical Hdwy 4.12 - - - 6.42 6.22

Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -

Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -

Follow-up Hdwy 2.218 - - - 3.518 3.318

Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1474 - - - 632 940

          Stage 1 - - - - 912 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 788 -

Platoon blocked, % - - -

Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1474 - - - 626 940

Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 626 -

          Stage 1 - - - - 903 -

          Stage 2 - - - - 788 -

 

Approach EB WB SB

HCM Control Delay, s 0.4 0 9.5

HCM LOS A

 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1 SBLn2

Capacity (veh/h) 1474 - - - 626 940

HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.009 - - - 0.005 0.008

HCM Control Delay (s) 7.5 0 - - 10.8 8.9

HCM Lane LOS A A - - B A

HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0 0





RESOLUTION 2022-33

A RESOLUTION TO ANNEX CERTAIN TERRITORY UPON WRITTEN CONSENT 
OF THE OWNERS AND TO INCORPORATE THE SAME WITHIN THE 

BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE, SAID TERRITORY 
BEING LOCATED ON THE NORTH AND EAST SIDE OF SPLIT LOG ROAD AND 
NORTH OF SAM DONALD ROAD TO INCLUDE THE ADJOINING PORTIONS OF 

SPLIT LOG ROAD ADJACENT TO THE EXISTING CITY LIMITS

WHEREAS, the City of Brentwood, having been petitioned by interested persons, proposes the 
extension of its corporate limits by the annexation of certain territory adjoining its existing 
boundaries and within its urban growth area; and

WHEREAS, the owners of the property within the territory proposed for annexation have given 
their written consent by notarized petition so that a referendum is not required; and

WHEREAS, a copy of this Resolution, describing the territory proposed for annexation, was 
promptly sent by the City of Brentwood to the last known address listed in the office of the 
Williamson County Property Assessor for each property owner of record within the territory
proposed for annexation, with such being sent by first class mail and mailed no later than 
fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the scheduled date of the hearing on the proposed annexation 
by owner consent; and

WHEREAS, this Resolution was also published by posting copies of it in at least three (3) 
public places in the City of Brentwood (it being noted that there are no “public places” in the 
territory proposed for annexation) and by publishing notice of the Resolution at or about the 
same time in the “Williamson” section of The Tennessean, a newspaper of general circulation in 
such territory and the City of Brentwood; and

WHEREAS, a Plan of Services for the area proposed for annexation is attached as Exhibit A
hereto, which Plan of Services addresses the same services and timing of services as required in
Tennessee Code Annotated § 6-51-102; and

WHEREAS, the proposed annexation and Plan of Services were submitted to the Brentwood 
Planning Commission for study, and the Planning Commission has recommended the same; and

WHEREAS, notice of the time, place and purpose of a public hearing on the proposed 
annexation and the Plan of Services was published in the “Williamson” section of The 
Tennessean, a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Brentwood, not less than fifteen 
(15) days before the hearing, which notice included the locations of a minimum of three (3) 
copies of the Plan of Services for public inspection during all business hours from the date of 
notice until the public hearing; and

WHEREAS, a public hearing on the proposed Plan of Services was held by the governing body 
on March 28, 2022.



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 2

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, 
TENNESSEE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. That the following territory is hereby annexed and incorporated into boundaries of 
the City of Brentwood, to be effective as of May 23, 2022, to wit:

LANDS LYING WITHIN WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TENNESSEE
SPLIT LOG / SAM DONALD ROAD
ANNEXATION DESCRIPTION

JOHN AND MARGARET ALBRIGHT PROPERTY
MAP 055, PARCEL 012.00
SAM DONALD ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
ANNEXATION DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District 
of Williamson County, Tennessee. Being bounded on the north by the Deborah Moskal, 
Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust  property of record in Book 5792, Page 
540 (Tract 3), Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee (R.O.W.C.T.); at the 
northeast by the Paula K. Taube property of record in Book 3204, Page 941, 
R.O.W.C.T.); on the east by the Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock 
Marital Trust  property of record in Book 5792, Page 540, R.O.W.C.T. and the Clark A.
Presley and Tamara C. Presley property of record in Book 1250, Page 463, R.O.W.C.T.; 
on the south by Sam Donald Road (right-of-way width varies); on the west by the June 
M. Albright property of record in Book 1070, Page 679, R.O.W.C.T., the Eric S. Simon 
and wife, Anca R. Simon property of record in Book 5196, Page 93, R.O.W.C.T.  and the 
Magdalena Samuchin and Michael G. Samuchin, wife and husband property of record in 
Book 1876, Page 634, R.O.W.C.T.; at the southwest by the Joe Ann Wilburn Griggs, 
Trustee property of record in Book 7694, Page 563, R.O.W.C.T; and being more 
particularly described as follows:

Commencing at the centerline intersection of Sunset Road (right-of-way width varies) 
with said Split Log Road (right-of-way width varies), said intersection being the 
northeast corner of the Sunset Road Development, LLC property of record in Book 8670, 
Page 432, R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, leaving said Sunset Road, with the centerline of said Split Log Road the 
following three (3) calls:

1. With a curve to the left having a radius of 1500.00 feet, an arc length of 183.29 
feet, a delta angle of 07 degrees 00 minutes 05 seconds, a tangent of 91.76 feet 
and a chord bearing and distance of South 10 degrees 37 minutes 11 seconds 
West, 183.18 feet;

2. South 07 degrees 07 minutes 09 seconds West, 520.57 feet to the northeast corner 
of the Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property 
of record in Book 5792, Page 540 (Tract 2), R.O.W.C.T.;

3. South 06 degrees 19 minutes 07 seconds West, 570.11 feet;



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 3

Thence, leaving the centerline of said Split Log Road with the common line of said 
Taube property and said Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust 
property (Tract 3), South 06 degrees 24 minutes 03 seconds West, 1232.68 feet to a 1/2-
inch iron rod (old) at the northwest corner of said Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert 
H. Adcock Marital Trust property (Tract 1), R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, with the west line of said property, South 06 degrees 38 minutes 30 seconds 
West, 1004.24 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap at the northwest corner of said 
Presley property;

Thence, with the west line of said property the following three (3) calls:

1. South 06 degrees 26 minutes 01 seconds West, 443.50 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(old) with no cap;

2. South 05 degrees 57 minutes 23 seconds West, 203.67 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(old) with no cap;

3. South 07 degrees 33 minutes 18 seconds West, 278.45 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc" in the north right-of-way line of 
said Sam Donald Road and the Point of Beginning of herein described tract;

Thence, with the north right-of-way line of said Sam Donald Road the following three (3) 
calls:

1. North 71 degrees 32 minutes 38 seconds West, 314.20 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

2. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 384.43 feet, a radius of 2601.20 
feet, a delta angle of 08 degrees 28 minutes 04 seconds and a chord bearing and 
distance of North 75 degrees 46 minutes 40 seconds West, 384.08 feet to a 1/2-
inch iron rod (new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

3. North 80 degrees 00 minutes 42 seconds West, 119.40 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc" at the southeast corner of said June 
M. Albright property;

Thence leaving said north right-of-way line of Sam Donald Road with the east and north 
lines of said property the following three (3) calls:

1. North 11 degrees 24 minutes 50 seconds East, 604.15 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

2. North 14 degrees 51 minutes 48 seconds East, 438.66 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

3. North 80 degrees 01 minutes 06 seconds West, 268.19 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(old) with no cap at the northeast corner of said Griggs, Trustee property and the 
southeast corner of said Simon property; 

Thence, with the east line of Simon, North 16 degrees 39 minutes 01 seconds East, 
285.85 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap at the southeast corner of said 
Samuchin property;



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 4

Thence, with the east line of said Samuchin property, North 10 degrees 13 minutes 28 
seconds East, 522.05 feet to a nail (old) in the south line of said Deborah Moskal, Trustee 
of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property (Tract 3);

Thence, with the south line of said Adcock Marital Trust property property, South 80 
degrees 19 minutes 58 seconds East, 881.52 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap 
at the southwest corner of said Taube property and the northwest corner of the said 
Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property (Tract 1);

Thence, with the west line of said Adcock Marital Trust property property, South 06 
degrees 38 minutes 30 seconds West, 1004.24 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no 
cap at the northeast corner of said Presley property;

Thence, with the west line of said Presley property, the following three (3) calls:

1. South 06 degrees 26 minutes 01 seconds West, 443.50 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(old) with no cap;

2. South 05 degrees 57 minutes 23 seconds West, 203.67 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(old) with no cap;

3. South 07 degrees 33 minutes 18 seconds West, 278.45 feet to the Point of 
Beginning containing 1,550,145 square feet or 35.59 acres, more or less.

Being the same property conveyed to John J. Albright and wife, Margaret C. Albright by 
Quitclaim Deed of record in Book 1256, page 429, Register’s Office for Williamson 
County, Tennessee.



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 5

JUNE M. ALBRIGHT PROPERTY

MAP 055, PARCEL 012.05
SAM DONALD ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
ANNEXATION DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District 
of Williamson County, Tennessee. Being bounded on the north and east by the John J. 
Albright and wife, Margaret C. Albright property of record in Book 1256, Page 429, 
Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee (R.O.W.C.T.); on the south by Sam 
Donald Road (right-of-way width varies); on the west by the Joe Ann Wilburn Griggs 
property of record in Book 7694, Page 994, R.O.W.C.T. and the Joe Ann Wilburn 
Griggs, Trustee property of record in Book 7694, Page 563, R.O.W.C.T; at the northwest 
by the Eric S. Simon and wife, Anca R. Simon property of record in Book 5196, Page 93, 
R.O.W.C.T. and being more particularly described as follows:

Beginning on a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) in the north right-of-way line of said Sam Donald 
Road and at the southeast corner of said Griggs property of record in Book 7694, Page 
994, R.O.W.C.T.

Thence, leaving said north right-of-way line with the east line of said Griggs property and 
the Griggs property of record in Book 7694, Page 563, R.O.W.C.T., North 20 degrees 41 
minutes 27 seconds East, 1059.44 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap at the 
southeast corner of said Simon property and at a southwest corner of said Albright 
property;

Thence, with the south and west line of Albright the following three (3) calls:

1. South 80 degrees 01 minutes 06 seconds East, 268.19 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(old) with no cap; 

2. South 14 degrees 51 minutes 48 seconds West, 438.66 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

3. South 11 degrees 24 minutes 50 seconds West, 604.15 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc" in the north right-of-way line of 
Sam Donald Road;

Thence, with said right-of-way line, North 80 degrees 00 minutes 42 seconds West, 
412.63 feet to the Point of Beginning containing 346,398 square feet or 7.95 acres, more 
or less.

Being the same property conveyed to June M. Albright by Quitclaim Deed of record in 
Book 1070, page 679, Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee.



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 6

ROBERT H. ADCOCK PROPERTY
MAP 056, PARCEL 084.00
SPLIT LOG ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
ANNEXATION DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District 
of Williamson County, Tennessee. Being bounded on the north and west by the Sunset 
Road Development, LLC property of record in Book 8670, Page 432, Register’s Office 
for Williamson County, Tennessee (R.O.W.C.T.); on the east by the Paula K. Taube 
property of record in Book 3204, Page 941, R.O.W.C.T. and the Paula K. Taube property 
of record in Book 2189, Page 725, R.O.W.C.T.; at the southeast by the Deborah Moskal, 
Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property of record in Book 5792, Page 
540 (Tract 1), R.O.W.C.T. on the south by: the John J. Albright and wife, Margaret C. 
Albright property of record in Book 1256, Page 429, R.O.W.C.T., the Magdalena 
Samuchin and Michael G. Samuchin, wife and husband property of record in Book 1876, 
Page 634, R.O.W.C.T., the Magdalena Samuchin and Michael G. Samuchin, wife and 
husband property of record in Book 971, Page 129, R.O.W.C.T.; on the west by: Split 
Log Road (right-of-way width varies), the Michael D. Culbreth and Lynette Culbreth 
property of record in Book 6010, Page 611, R.O.W.C.T. and the John A. McArthur and 
wife, Norma D. McArthur property of record in Book 220, Page 602, R.O.W.C.T. and 
being more particularly described as follows:

Commencing at the centerline intersection of Sunset Road (right-of-way width varies) 
with said Split Log Road (right-of-way width varies), said intersection being the 
northeast corner of said Sunset Road Development, LLC property;

Thence, leaving said Sunset Road, with the centerline of said Split Log Road the 
following two (2) calls:

1. With a curve to the left having a radius of 1500.00 feet, an arc length of 183.29 
feet, a delta angle of 07 degrees 00 minutes 05 seconds, a tangent of 91.76 feet 
and a chord bearing and distance of South 10 degrees 37 minutes 11 seconds 
West, 183.18 feet;

2. South 07 degrees 07 minutes 09 seconds West, 520.57 feet to the northeast corner 
of the Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property 
of record in Book 5792, Page 540 (Tract 2), R.O.W.C.T. and the Point of 
Beginning of herein described tract;

Thence, continuing with the centerline of Split Log Road, South 06 degrees 19 minutes 
07 seconds West, 570.11 feet to the northwest corner of the Taube property of record in 
Book 3204, Page 941, R.O.W.C.T. and the southwest corner of the Taube property of 
record in Book 2189, Page 725, R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, leaving said centerline with the west line of Taube, South 06 degrees 24 minutes 
03 seconds West, 1232.68 feet to a 1/2 inch iron rod (old) at the northwest corner of said 
Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property (Tract 1) and 
the northeast corner of said Albright property;



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 7

Thence, with the north line of Albright, North 80 degrees 19 minutes 58 seconds West, 
881.52 feet to a nail (old) at the northeast corner of said Samuchin property of record in 
Book 1876, Page 634, R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, with the north line of said property, North 79 degrees 45 minutes 24 seconds 
West, 256.67 feet to a metal fence post at the northeast corner of the Samuchin property 
of record in Book 971, Page 129, R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, with said north line the following two (2) calls:

1. North 77 degrees 36 minutes 15 seconds West, 161.26 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

2. North 28 degrees 31 minutes 37 seconds West, 62.19 feet to the centerline of Split 
Log Road;

Thence, with said centerline the following five (5) calls:

1. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 290.36 feet, a radius of 489.76 
feet, a delta angle of 33 degrees 58 minutes 06 seconds and a chord bearing and 
distance of North 29 degrees 28 minutes 53 seconds East, 286.13 feet;

2. North 12 degrees 29 minutes 50 seconds East, 306.63 feet;
3. North 16 degrees 05 minutes 12 seconds East, 246.86 feet;
4. Along a curve to the right, having an arc length of 133.22 feet, a radius of 128.43 

feet, a delta angle of 59 degrees 25 minutes 53 second sand a chord bearing and 
distance of North 45 degrees 48 minutes 08 seconds East, 127.32 feet;

5. Along a curve to the right, having an arc length of 60.18 feet, a radius of 327.13 
feet, a delta angle of 10 degrees 32 minutes 27 seconds and a chord bearing and 
distance of North 80 degrees 47 minutes 18 seconds East, 60.10 feet;

Thence, leaving said centerline with the north line of said McArthur property, North 72 
degrees 18 minutes 48 seconds West, 257.60 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with cap 
stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc" in the east line of said Sunset Road Development, LLC 
property;

Thence, with the east and south lines of said property the following two (2) calls:

1. North 06 degrees 11 minutes 12 seconds East, 702.90 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

2. South 83 degrees 03 minutes 48 seconds East, 1261.68 feet the Point of 
Beginning, containing 2,172,582 square feet, or 49.88 acres, more or less. 

Being a portion of the same property conveyed to Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert 
H. Adcock Marital Trust by Trustee’s Quitclaim Deed of record in Book 5792, Page 540 
(Tracts 2 and 3), R.O.W.C.T, Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee.



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 8

ROBERT H. ADCOCK PROPERTY
MAP 056, PARCEL 093.00
EAST OF SPLIT LOG ROAD
NORTH OF SAM DONALD ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
ANNEXATION DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District 
of Williamson County. Being bounded on the north by the Paula K. Taube property of 
record in Book 3204, Page 941, Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee 
(R.O.W.C.T.); on the east by Open Space 1 as shown on plan entitled “Bennington, 
Section 10” of record in Plat Book P65, Page 97, R.O.W.C.T.; on the south by the 
Annette Thompson Parkes property of record in Book 4188, Page 283, R.O.W.C.T. and 
the Daniel R. Vasta and Victoria L. Vasta, husband and wife property of record in Book 
7552, Page 3, R.O.W.C.T. and the Clark A. Presley and Tamara C. Presley property of 
record in Book 1250, Page 463, R.O.W.C.T.; on the west by the John J. Albright and 
wife, Margaret C. Albright property of record in Book 1256, Page 429, R.O.W.C.T.; at 
the northwest by the Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust  
property of record in Book 5792, Page 540 (Tract 3) R.O.W.C.T., and being more 
particularly described as follows:

Commencing at the centerline intersection of Sunset Road (right-of-way width varies) 
with said Split Log Road (right-of-way width varies), said intersection being the 
northeast corner of Sunset Road Development, LLC property of record in Book 8670, 
Page 432, R.OW.C.T.;

Thence, leaving said Sunset Road, with the centerline of said Split Log Road the 
following three (3) calls:

1. With a curve to the left having a radius of 1500.00 feet, an arc length of 183.29 
feet, a delta angle of 07 degrees 00 minutes 05 seconds, a tangent of 91.76 feet 
and a chord bearing and distance of South 10 degrees 37 minutes 11 seconds 
West, 183.18 feet;

2. South 07 degrees 07 minutes 09 seconds West, 520.57 feet to the northeast corner 
of the Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust property 
of record in Book 5792, Page 540 (Tract 2), R.O.W.C.T.;

3. South 06 degrees 19 minutes 07 seconds West, 570.11 feet;

Thence, leaving the centerline of said Split Log Road with the common line of said 
Taube property and said Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert H. Adcock Marital Trust 
property (Tract 3), South 06 degrees 24 minutes 03 seconds West, 1232.68 feet to a 1/2-
inch iron rod (old) at the northeast corner of said Albright property and the Point of 
Beginning of herein described tract;

Thence, with the south line of Taube, South 79 degrees 44 minutes 16 seconds East, 
1179.27 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) in the west line of said Open Space 1 as shown 
on “Bennington, Section 10”;



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 9

Thence, with said west line, South 06 degrees 30 minutes 27 seconds West, 977.34 feet to 
a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap at the northwest corner of said Parkes property and 
the northeast corner of said Parkes property;

Thence, with the north line of Parkes, North 81 degrees 43 minutes 58 seconds West, 
231.62 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap at the northeast corner of said Vasta 
property;

Thence, with the north line of Vasta, North 82 degrees 36 minutes 15 seconds West, 
1167.82 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with no cap;

Thence, North 06 degrees 38 minutes 30 seconds East, 1004.24 feet to the Point of 
Beginning containing 1,252,288 square feet or 28.75 acres, more less.

Being a portion of the same property conveyed to Deborah Moskal, Trustee of the Robert 
H. Adcock Marital Trust by Trustee’s Quitclaim Deed of record in Book 5792, Page 540 
(Tract 1), R.O.W.C.T, Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee.

Total land area to include 122.107 acres, not including that portion of the Split Log 
Road right-of-way as shown on the attached concept plan

And a Portion of the Split Log Road right-of-way to include the following:

A portion of Split Log Road that fronts the subject properties to include the east side 
measured from the centerline of Split Log Road along Adcock (056 08400), then the 
entire portion of Split Log Road that bisects Adcock and the westerly portion measured 
from the centerline of Split Log Road to the northerly boundary of Adcock.

SECTION 2. That the Plan of Services for this territory which is attached as Exhibit A hereto is 
approved and the same is hereby adopted.

SECTION 3. That the City Recorder will cause a copy of this Resolution to be forwarded to the 
Mayor of Williamson County including the Plan of Services.

SECTION 4. That a copy of this Resolution shall be recorded with the Williamson County 
Register of Deeds, and a copy shall also be sent to the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury 
and the Williamson County Assessor of Property.

SECTION 5. That a copy of this Resolution, as well as the portion of the Plan of Services 
related to emergency services and a detailed map of the annexed area, shall be filed with the 
Brentwood Emergency Communication District.



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 10

SECTION 6. That this resolution shall take effect from and after its passage, the general welfare 
of the City of Brentwood, Williamson County, Tennessee requiring it.

ADOPTED:  

RECORDER Holly Earls

MAYOR Rhea E. Little, III

Approved as to form:

CITY ATTORNEY Kristen L. Corn



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 11

RESOLUTION 2022-33
EXHIBIT “A”

VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION
PROPOSED PLAN OF SERVICES

ROSEBROOKE EAST PROPERTY
MAP 056 PARCEL 08400, MAP 056  PARCEL 09300, MAP 055  PARCEL 01200 AND 

MAP 055  PARCEL 01205

Police

Regular patrolling, radio responses to calls and other routine police services, using present 
personnel and equipment, will be provided on the effective date of annexation.  Property 
adjacent to the area proposed for annexation is is already located in the City limits, so services 
can be easily extended to this area. The Brentwood City Hall, located at 5211 Maryland Way is 
approximately 9.5 miles from the property. The new Police Headquarters building, which  
opened in April 2021, located at 910 Heritage Way and is approximately 7.6 miles from the 
subject property. The Safety Center East is located approximately 2.0 miles from the subject 
property. 

Fire

Fire protection provided by present personnel and equipment of the firefighting force, within the 
standard limitations of available water and distances from existing fire stations, will be extended 
to the property on the effective date of annexation.  Fire Station No. 4, located at the Safety 
Center East, is  approximately 2.0 miles from the area to be annexed.  The property proposed for 
annexation will be located within the primary response zone for Station No. 5, when it is 
completed with Station No. 4 providing back-up response as needed. 

Fire Station No. 5 is a  state of the art facility, having an area of 10,440 square feet, is currently 
under construction at 9551 Split Log Road and is expected to open in the Fall of 2022. The new 
station is located approximately 2.4 miles from the area proposed for annexation. The station 
has been designed to serve as a neighborhood facility,  housing a single response unit and one 
crew. 

All stations are staffed with full-time firefighters that provide 24 hour/seven days per week fire 
protection.

Currently, the area to be annexed is served by the Nolensville Fire and Rescue Department,  
located at 7347 Nolensville Road, and approximately 3.0 miles from the subject property. Note 
that Nolensville employs a full-time Fire Chief and nine full-time firefighters, supplemented by 
part-time and volunteer firefighters.  A new Fire Station is in the planning stages, which will be 
located at 7231 Haley Industrial Boulevard, on the north side of Town. The existing station on 
Nolensville Road will be converted by Williamson County to an ambulance station. Due to 
improved fire protection offered by the City of Brentwood, the ISO fire insurance rating for the 
newly constructed residences in the annexed area will be improved.



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 12

Emergency Communications

Upon the effective date of the annexation, the property and any existing or future residences will 
be incorporated into the City’s 911 Emergency Communications District and all 911 emergency 
calls will be routed to the Brentwood emergency dispatch center. 

Public Works / Road Improvements

The area to be annexed includes a portion of Split Log Road that bisects the northerly portion of 
the property. This portion of the roadway is not presently with in the City, but is within the City’s
Urban Growth Boundary. The proposed concept development plan shows a proposed future 
alignment of Split Log Road. The developer will be expected to provide the necessary additional 
right-of-way to accommodate the future roadway improvements. 

The Board of Commissioners recently approved Resolution 2021-141, with Sullivan Engineering 
Inc., for preliminary Engineering and right-of-way design services for improvements for a 2.39 
mile section of Split Log Road from the end of the Phase 2 project (approximately 1,500 linear 
feet east of its intersection with Pleasant Hill Road) to its intersection with Sunset Road and a 
small portion of Sunset Road. The project will include widening of the road to provide two 12-
foot wide travel lanes and a continuous 12-foot wide center turn lane (with periodic islands). The 
improvements will also include a curb and gutter section with a 10-foot wide multi-use path 
along the south side, separated from the roadway by a 5-foot wide green strip. The recently 
annexed Taube property also included a proposed future alignment of the road through the 
project, which will eventually connect at the intersection of Sunset and Waller Roads. This 
project will be funded entirely by the City with a portion of the funding coming from road impact 
fees.

As part of the project, a corridor study will be prepared to include an estimate of future traffic 
demand based on the Urban Growth Boundary potential and surrounding development. The 
study will evaluate six intersections between Waller Road and Wilson Pike including Waller 
Road, Sunset Road, Sam Donald Road, Pleasant Hill Road, Ragsdale Road and Wilson Pike.

The City will extend routine road maintenance service (resurfacing, pot-hole repair, striping, 
signs, mowing and snow removal) to the additional portion of Split Log Road following the 
effective date of annexation. The future streets constructed within the proposed subdivision will 
become public streets in accordance with the City’s normal development process and will be 
maintained in the same manner as existing neighborhood streets within the City. 

Brush pickup service will be provided to all future residences in accordance with City policy.

The City does not provide refuse collection services. Future residents will have the option to 
contract with private haulers in a manner consistent with collection inside the city limits.

Planning and Development Oversight

All planning, zoning and development regulations and standards of the City will extend to the 
annexed area upon the effective date of annexation.  Existing personnel will handle oversight 
and enforcement of existing regulations.  



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 13

Zoning and Subdivision Plan Approvals in Area

The applicant will be requesting that the property to be annexed be rezoned to the Open Space 
Residential Development (OSRD) zoning classification, while the adjacent properties, in the 
County are zoned Municipal Growth Area (MGA-1). The adjacent properties in Nolensville are 
located within the Benington Subdivision and zoned Suburban Residential (SR). These properties 
also lie within the Annexation Buffer Overlay zone as established by an agreement between the 
City and the Town of Nolensville.

The remaining surrounding properties immediately north of the subject property are located in 
Brentwood and zoned OSRD and R-2. The remaining properties are zoned Suburban Residential 
– R-2.

The installation/extension of the underground public utilities within annexed area, as authorized 
by the Brentwood Planning Commission will be completed by the property owner at his expense 
under the City’s current Subdivision Regulations and construction standards. The final platting 
of tract(s), infrastructure security, and future acceptance of public improvements for perpetual 
maintenance shall be carried out in accordance with applicable codes and ordinances.

Code Enforcement

Using existing personnel, all inspection services now provided by the City (building, plumbing, 
mechanical, gas, and other municipal codes and ordinances) will begin in the area with permits 
issued by the City after the effective date of annexation. The enforcement of nuisance related 
codes such as high weeds and grass, abandoned vehicles, illegal signs, etc. will be handled on a 
complaint basis beginning on the effective date of annexation.

Parks and Recreation

New residents in the annexed area will enjoy full access to all existing and future recreational 
facilities, parks, greenways, bikeways, etc., in the City in a manner similar to other City 
residents.  As now occurs with existing property owners in the City, property owners in the 
annexed area will be required to pay City property taxes, a portion of which is used to support 
improvements and upkeep to existing parks and recreation facilities. This will eliminate any 
requirement for new residents to pay non-resident fees to participate in athletic programs in city 
parks.    

Brentwood residents enjoy over 1,100 acres of parkland, including active and passive parks and 
greenways. 

Public Library

New residents in the annexed area will have access to the John P. Holt Brentwood Library, 
which is conveniently located at 8109 Concord Road. The full-service library is open seven (7) 
days a week and currently has a collection in excess of 184,000 items and other materials, 
including audiobooks, DVD’s, music CD’s, eBooks, eAudiobooks, video streaming, and online 
resources. (2020).  As now occurs with existing property owners in the city limits, existing and 
future property owners in the annexed area will be required to pay City property taxes, a portion 
of which is used to support the operation of the Library including expansion of the collections, 



Resolution 2022-33 -- Page | 14

materials, and programs and for upkeep of the facility. This will eliminate any requirement for 
new residents to pay non-resident fees to fully use Library services.

Water and Sewer 

Water service within the area proposed to be annexed is provided by the Nolensville College 
Grove Utility District. Sewer service is provided by the Metropolitan Department of Water 
Services. All future residents will be subject to the standard billing and service standards of 
these utility providers.  

The developer in the annexed area will be responsible for upgrading and extending new 
sewer/water lines and fire hydrants to serve the property in conformance with the rules and 
regulations of each utility at the time of construction.  Service is currently available in the area 
and must be extended or upgraded by the developer of the annexed property at their expense 
from existing gravity sewer lines to serve the new residential development.  

Revenues (Taxes and Fees)

When fully developed, the City expects to generate sufficient new revenue to pay for the cost of 
service delivery. The primary sources will be the property taxes, state shared taxes distributed to 
the City on a per capita basis and residential building permits. The concept plan developed for 
the property shows 74 lots.  

The annual tax bill for a house and land valued at $1,000,000 is projected to be approximately 
$725.00 based upon the current City tax rate of $0.29 cents per $100 of assessed value.  Shared 
taxes received from the State of Tennessee are projected to average $157.00 per person annually
for the 2021/2022 fiscal year (https://www.mtas.tennessee.edu/reference/state-shared-taxes-and-
appropriations-coming-fiscal-year), while building permits will average approximately 
$2,000.00 per new house, based upon fees received during FY 2021

Additional one-time revenue will be received from the City’s Road impact fee (Public Works 
Project Fees), which is currently established at $5,860.00 for each new home constructed within 
the future subdivision. 



Rosebrook East and South – Community Meeting  

Thursday, April 28, 2022 

Annex Room – City Hall  

6:00PM – 7:00PM 

 

Brett Smith, Ragan Smith Associates  

Rob Pease, CPS Land 

Craig Leanza, CPS Land 

6 residents in attendance 

Janet Donahue – Planning Commission  

 

Meeting Notes:  

• The residents had a question about if Split Log Road was planned to be widened. 
Split Log Road will be three lanes with one lane each way with a center turn lane. 
Ragan Smith told them that the road project was being handled by Sullivan 
Engineering and was a city project.  

•  Rosebrooke South will begin construction sometime next year where Rosebrook 
East will begin construction in two to three years.  

• Rosebrooke Section 2 will be platted in the fall of this year.  
• Rosebrooke South and East will have ponds, wetlands, as well as detention.  
• There will be 124 lots in Rosebrooke South and East as well as 124 lots in 

Rosebrook Main. The total number of lots for the Rosebrooke Subdivision will be 
248 lots.  

• The average size of lot in Rosebrooke will be 0.5 acres to 0.75 acres.  
• There are no amenities proposed for Rosebrooke South and East. The only 

amenity is proposed for Rosebrooke Main. 
• The residents had a concern about tree removal on the properties. CPS Land let 

them know that trees would be removed for the road as well as for grading 
purposes on the lots. They put together a worse case scenario for tree removal 
to make sure that they meet the tree preservation requirements from the City. 
Ragan Smith let them know that both projects far exceed the required caliber 
inch. 



 
PLANNING AND CODES DEPARTMENT MEMORANDUM 

2022-08 
 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Commission Members 
 
THROUGH: Kirk Bednar, City Manager 
  
FROM: Jeff Dobson, Planning and Codes Director  
 
SUBJECT: ORDINANCE 2022-01 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF 

BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE TO AMEND  THE ZONING ORDINANCE, 
SAME BEING CHAPTER 78 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 
CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TO ESTABLISH A CERTAIN ZONING 
CLASSIFICATION, SAME BEING THE OSRD (OPEN SPACE 
RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT) FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED 
EAST OF SPLIT LOG ROAD AND NORTH OF SAM DONALD ROAD, 
SAID TERRITORY BEING ADJACENT TO AND INCLUDING SECTIONS 
OF SPLIT LOG ROAD, BEING MORE SPECIFICALLY DESCRIBED IN 
THE PROPERTY DESCRIPTION ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A 
PART OF THIS ORDINANCE BY REFERENCE, AND SHOWN ON THE 
MAP ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A PART OF THIS ORDINANCE 
BY REFERENCE; AND TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP 
ACCORDINGLY 

 
 DATE: May 3, 2022 
 
 
At its May 2, 2022, regular meeting, the Planning Commission voted nine for and zero against 
(9-0) to recommend approval of Ordinance 2022-01 to the Board of Commissioners.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

  



   
    Public Hearing    2.        

Brentwood City Commission Agenda
Meeting Date: 05/09/2022  
Public hearing for Ordinance 2022-04 -- As Amended, which Proposes to Assign the OSRD and R-2
Zoning Districts to the Properties Annexed Pursuant to Resolution 2022-34
Submitted by: Jeff Dobson, Planning & Codes
Department: Planning & Codes

Information
Subject
Ordinance 2022-04 - An Ordinance proposing the establishment of a City zoning district for ≈ 84
acres of land, located west of Split Log Road. The subject properties are located within the
Brentwood UGB and are currently zoned MGA-1 by Williamson County and would be assigned
the OSRD (Open Space Residential Development) and R-2 (Suburban Residential) zoning
districts. 

Background
The attached ordinance requests approval of the assignment of the Open Space Residential
Development (OSRD), and R-2 (Suburban Residential) zoning districts to ≈ 84 acres
located north and west of Split Log Road. The subject properties are all currently zoned MGA-1
by Williamson County and are located within the City's Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) and
adjacent to the existing city limits. The assignment of zoning is being considered in conjunction
with an annexation request for the properties.

The properties for which annexation is requested are summarized in the table below. The total
combined area of the properties as included as part of the development plan is ≈ 77.21 acres. The
area proposed for annexation includes one property that will remain under separate ownership
that is not part of the development plan and has an area of 7.12 acres, bringing the total land area
proposed for annexation to 84.33 acres. Please note that this area does not include the Split Log
Road ROW.

A total of 69.69 acres is proposed to be assigned the OSRD district, while a total of 7.52 acres,
which is also shown on the development plan and fronts on Split Log Road, is proposed to be
assigned the R-2 district.  This area is proposed to be divided into three lots having an average
area of 2.26 acres. There is also a 0.75 acre ROW dedication. Additionally, the McArthur
property, which includes an area of 7.12 acres will also be assigned the R-2 district.  Since first
reading of the ordinance the owners of the other "enclave" property (the Culbreths -- 2.21 ac.)
decided to withdraw their consent for annexation. 

Staff is requesting that the McArthur property be assigned the R-2 zoning district because the
technical standards of the R-2 district most closely resemble those of the MGA-1 district. 

The properties under consideration for annexation are currently under the ownership of three



different property owners. Refer to the following table.  
  

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION -- ROSEBROOKE SOUTH 
OWNER ADDRESS PARCEL # AREA (AC)

Split Log Farms LLC Split Log Rd. 055 01400 52.21
Bruce Sudano 2015 Family Trust 9814 Split Log Rd.  055 01401 25.00
John A. & Norma D. McArthur 9824 Split Log Rd. 055 01001 7.12
 

TOTAL 84.33 +/-

The proposed development plan shows a proposed future alignment of Split Log Road, which
was developed in 2014.  A current alignment has for the road not yet been established. The
developer will be expected to provide the necessary additional right-of-way and/or adjust the lot
layout to accommodate the future roadway improvements once an alignment has been
established.

According to the Property Assessor there is one home currently located on Parcel Number 055
01401 (Sudano) that includes a total area of 13,279 square feet. The house will remain as part of
the development plan and is shown on Lot 160. There are also a house and barn on the McArthur
property. 

The proposed OSRD Development Plan for a portion of the property includes a total of 47 lots,
which yields an overall OSRD density of 0.67 dwelling units per acre (DUPA).  The average lot
size for the OSRD portion of the property is 35,132 sq. ft. or 0.81 acres. 

Overall, the density of the Rosebrooke South project -- 50 lots, is 0.65 DUPA (including the three
R-2 lots, but not including the McArthur property as it will remain under separate ownership and
is not part of the development).

An R-2 concept plan was also included as part of the submittal.  That plan also showed a total of
47 lots, all at or above the required one-acre lot area.  

Since first reading of the ordinance, several changes have concurred to the plans, as a result of
staff comments: 

The splitter islands in the entrance streets have been revised, relocating them outside the
proposed Split Log Road ROW.

1.

If the property is annexed Split Log Road will be designated as an arterial street. 2.
Based upon the recommendation of Mr. Judy, Road K has been redesigned as a "Collector"
street from its intersection with Southwick Drive to Split Log Road.  

3.

The 100-year floodplain has been added to the plans. 4.

Several other comments were provided by staff, which will be addressed as part of the
preliminary plan and/or construction plan review process.

Note that Lot 174 is shown as a "Flag Lot". The configuration of this lot will meet the



requirements of Article 6.15 of the Subdivision Regulations. The Planning Commission has the
authority to approve flag lots if all the requirements in the article are met. 

The changes have resulted in a slight modification to the open space calculations, reducing the
amount of excess open space from 16.84 acres to 16.60 acres (0.24 ac.). The comparison of the
open space calculations as originally submitted and those provided as part of the re-submittal are
attached below.   

Utility service to the property is provided by the Nolensville/College Grove Utility District
(water) and Metro Nashville Water Services (sewer). The provision of utilities will not change
with the annexation of the property into the City of Brentwood. The future development will not
be served by Brentwood’s Water and Sewer system and therefore, the project will not impact the
City's water/sewer infrastructure. 

The tract can be developed under the existing zoning classification in the County. As noted
above, the properties are currently zoned MGA-1 by Williamson County.  The district was
established in 2013 and assigned to all properties outside municipal boundaries and within the
various UGBs around the County. The district standards require a minimum lot area of one acre
and a gross density of one dwelling unit per acre, similar to the City's Suburban Residential (R-2)
district.  However, there are differences in the technical standards related to accessory uses and
structure standards. MGA-1 allows the following accessory uses/structure standards: 

Accessory dwelling units within an existing dwelling unit (interior apartment) or as a
separate or converted structure (converted garage, carriage house or stable);

1.

Only one accessory dwelling unit, regardless of the number of principle dwellings located
on a single parcel are permitted;

2.

Accessory dwellings shall be limited to 750 sq. ft. or 25% of the square footage of the
principal structure, whichever is greater. In no case shall the accessory dwelling be more
that 75% of the square footage of the principal dwelling; and 

3.

Interior apartments may be contained within the existing house or attached onto the
exterior. They must be constructed so that the exterior appearance of the home is
maintained. A second front door is not permitted.

4.

Please note that the County does not regulate the existence or operation of Short Term Rentals
(STRs) in the MGA-1 district.  Requirements are that each operator must register with the County
and collect the applicable Hotel/Motel taxes, which are charged to the occupant and collected by
the property owner. 

SCHOOLS 

The proposed plan was provided to Williamson County Schools (WCS) for an assessment of the
impact of the proposed development on the schools in the area. The properties lie between the
Ravenwood and Nolensville High zone lines.  WCS will review to determine if the school board
needs to vote on a line change.  WCS is rezoning for the new elementary schools this fall.  Based
upon the WCS review, the approximate student enrollment projections at build-out for the
Rosebrooke East properties are as follows:
  

Jordan Elementary -- 21 Students;
Sunset Middle -- 12 Students 



Sunset Middle -- 12 Students 
Ravenwood High -- 9 Students 

The current capacity and enrollment numbers for the 2020/2021 school year, according to WCS
data for the three impacted schools as of September 2, 2021, are as follows: Jordan Elementary
(890 capacity/593 students enrolled), Sunset Middle (869 capacity/621 students enrolled),
and Ravenwood High (1,649 capacity/1,875 students enrolled).  Note that the enrollment for 
Ravenwood High exceeds its capacity, but construction is underway to enlarge the school.

TRAFFIC IMPACTS

A Traffic Impact Study (TIS) was provided as part of the initial request for annexation of the
property.  A copy of the TIS was forwarded to Mr. Greg Judy with Neel-Shaffer Inc., who assists
staff in the review of the submitted TIS. The applicant will pay for the Neel-Shaffer review per
the requirements of Section 50-29(b) of the Municipal Code.

Site Traffic 
  

ROSEBROOKE ADDITION
TRIP GENERATION (1)

  
Proposed Development

ITE
Land
Use

Code

 
Total
Units

 
Daily
Trips

A.M. Peak
Hour

P.M. Peak
Hour

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total
Rosebrooke South (50 Single Family
Detached Homes)

 
210

 
50
Homes

 
550

 
10

 
30

 
40

 
33

 
19

 
52

Rosebrooke East (74 Single Family
Detached Homes)

 
210

 
74
Homes

 
788

 
14

 
43

 
57

 
48

 
28

 
76

(1)       Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition published by the Institute of Transportation
Engineers (ITE)
 
A copy of the Executive Summary, which is included as part of the TIS is attached below. 
Additionally, the entire TIS is also attached below. 

The TIS recommends the following improvements be incorporated to the design of the proposed
access to Split Log Road (Access #1) include the following.  

Split Log Road at Project Access #1 

The intersection is projected to operate at acceptable levels of service in total traffic
conditions during the am. and p.m. peak hours. 
The project access should be constructed to allow a minimum of one ingress lane and two
(2) egress lanes with a storage length of 75 feet.
This proposed access will be near the location of an existing driveway on a generally
straight section of Split Log Road and should provide acceptable intersection sight



distance. Site plans for the Rosebrooke Addition should confirm that acceptable intersection
sight distance per AASHTO guidelines will be available at this intersection.

As mentioned above the TIS was forwarded to Neel-Shaffer for their staff review. Their review
will be attached below upon receipt. 

The developer will be expected to design the project in consideration of the recommendations
included as part of the TIS and the recommendations from Neel-Shaffer. 

The request will track along the following hearing schedule.  
  

REMAINING HEARING SCHEDULE
April 11,
2022

Board of Commissioners -- First Reading of the Ordinance Assigning OSRD and
R-2 to the Properties

April 28,
2022 Required Community Meeting -- 6:00 p.m. -- Annex Room 

May 2,
2022

Planning Commission -- Review & Recommendation of the Ordinance Assigning
OSRD and R-2 to the Properties

May 9,
2022

Board of Commissioners -- Public Hearing on the Ordinance Assigning OSRD and
R-2 to the Properties

May 23,
2022

Board of Commissioners – Second and Final Reading of the Ordinance Assigning
OSRD and R-2 to the Properties

  
May 23,
2022

Board of Commissioners – Review of Resolution Annexing the properties into the
City of Brentwood

 
A total of six residents attended the community meeting.  A copy of the staff notes from the
meeting is attached below. 

As noted above the Planning Commission will provide their review and recommendation of the
ordinance at their May 2, 2022, regular meeting.  

Should you have any questions or require additional information, please contact the Planning and
Codes Director.  

Staff Recommendation
Not Applicable.

Previous Commission Action
On April 11, 2022, the Board of Commissioners voted unanimously, seven for and zero against
(7-0) to approve Ordinance 2022-04 on first reading.  

On March 28, 2022, the Board of Commissioners conducted the required public hearing for the
plan of services and the annexation.  No one spoke during the public hearing. 

On February 14, 2022, the Board of Commissioners voted unanimously six for and zero



against (6-0) to approve Resolution 2022-09, scheduling the required public hearing for the plan
of services for March 28, 2022.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Ordinance 2022-04 -- As Amended 
Revised Dev. Plan & OS Calcs 
OS Comparison -- Rosebrooke South 
R-2 Concept Plan 
Project Rendering 
Rosebrooke South Landscape Sheets 
Rosebrooke South -- Tree Preservation Sheets 
Rosebrooke South -- Trees to Remain Listing 
Rosebrooke South -- Trees to be Removed Listing 
Owner Authorizations 
Resolution 2022-34 
Staff Notes -- Community Meeting 
PC Review Memo -- Ordinance 2022-04 



ORDINANCE 2022-04
AS AMENDED 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE TO AMEND  THE 
ZONING ORDINANCE, SAME BEING CHAPTER 78 OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TO ESTABLISH CERTAIN 
ZONING CLASSIFICATIONS, SAME BEING THE OSRD (OPEN SPACE 

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT) AND THE R-2 (SUBURBAN RESIDENTIAL) 
ZONING DISTRICTS FOR CERTAIN PROPERTIES LOCATED WEST OF SPLIT 

LOG ROAD AND SOUTH OF THE EXISTING ROSEBROOKE SUBDIVISION
SAID TERRITORY BEING ADJACENT TO AND INCLUDING SECTIONS OF SPLIT 

LOG ROAD, BEING MORE SPECIFICALLY DESCRIBED IN THE PROPERTY 
DESCRIPTIONS ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A PART OF THIS ORDINANCE 
BY REFERENCE, AND SHOWN ON THE MAP ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A
PART OF THIS ORDINANCE BY REFERENCE; AND TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL 

ZONING MAP ACCORDINGLY

WHEREAS, the City of Brentwood intends to annex certain territory, adjacent to and including a 
certain section Split Log Road into its corporate limits by Resolution 2022-34, pursuant to 
Tennessee Code Annotated Section 6-51-101 et seq.; and

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Brentwood and the said annexed territory that a 
zoning classification be established for said territory: and

WHEREAS, the City of Brentwood intends to establish a zoning classification for a portion of the
property lying west of Split Log Road and south of the existing Rosebrooke Subdivision same being 
the OSRD Open Space Residential Development zoning district: and

WHEREAS, the City of Brentwood also intends to establish a zoning classification for a portion of 
the property also lying west of Split Log Road and southeasterly of the existing Rosebrooke 
Subdivision same being the the the R-2 Suburban Residential zoning district: and

WHEREAS, the zoning of the property shall be contingent upon approval of the proposed
annexation, pursuant to Resolution 2022-34.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE, 
AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. That the OSRD (Open Space Residential Development) zoning district, as defined by 
the zoning ordinance of the City of Brentwood, Tennessee, be and the same is hereby established for 
portion of the property identified on the current Williamson County tax maps as Map 055, Parcel
01400, and Map 055, Parcel 01401 said property being more particularly described in the property 
description attached hereto as Attachment “A,” and being more particularly shown on Attachment 
“C,” said attachments being made a part of this ordinance by reference.

SECTION 2.  That the R-2 Suburban Residential zoning district, as defined by the zoning 
ordinance of the City of Brentwood, Tennessee, be and the same is hereby established for a portion 



Page 2 of Ordinance 2022-04

of certain property identified on the current Williamson County tax maps as Map 055, Parcel 01400,
and the entire property identified on the current Williamson County tax maps as Map 055, Parcel
01001 said property being more particularly described in the property description attached hereto as 
Attachment “B,” and being more particularly shown on Attachment “C,” said attachments being 
made a part of this ordinance by reference.

SECTION 3. That approval of the zoning shall be contingent upon approval of the proposed
annexation of the property, pursuant to Resolution 2022-34

SECTION 4. That the official zoning map be and the same is hereby amended accordingly.

SECTION 5.  That the development plan attached hereto as Attachment “C” is hereby approved as 
the basis for design and layout of the subdivision plat, pursuant to Section 78-185 of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Brentwood.

SECTION 6. That this ordinance shall take effect from and after its final passage, or fifteen days 
after its first passage, whichever occurs later, the general welfare of the City of Brentwood,
Williamson County, Tennessee, requiring it.

PASSED: 1st reading

2nd reading

PUBLIC HEARING
Notice published in: Williamson A.M.
Date of publication:
Date of hearing:

MAYOR Rhea E. Little III

Approved as to form:

CITY ATTORNEY Kristen L. Corn

PLANNING COMMISSION

NOTICE OF PASSAGE
Notice published in:
Date of publication:

EFFECTIVE DATE

RECORDER Holly Earls



Page 3 of Ordinance 2022-04

ATTACHMENT A
ORDINANCE 2022-04

LANDS LYING WITHIN WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TENNESSEE
SPLIT LOG ROAD

ANNEXATION DESCRIPTION

SPLIT-LOG FARMS, LLC PROPERTY
MAP 055, P/O PARCEL 014.00
BRUCE SUDANO PROPERTY
MAP 055, P/O PARCEL 014.01
SPLIT LOG ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
PROPOSED OSRD ZONING DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District of 
Williamson County, Tennessee. Being bounded on the north by the Sunset Road Development, LLC 
property of record in Book 8670, Page 432, Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee 
(R.O.W.C.T.) and; at the northeast by the John A. McArthur and wife, Norma D. McArthur 
property of record in Book 220, Page 602, R.O.W.C.T.; on the east by the Michael D. Culbreth and 
Lynette Culbreth property of record in Book 6010, Page 811, R.O.W.C.T., the remainder of the 
Split-Log Farms, LLC Property of record in Book 8075, Page 31, R.O.W.C.T., the remainder of the 
Bruce Sudano Property of record in Book 7044, Page 324, and Split Log Road (right-of-way width 
varies); on the south by: the Larry R. Williams, Trustee property of record in Book 1010, Page 991, 
R.O.W.C.T. and the Split Log Farm, LLC property of record in Book 4155, Page 912, R.O.W.C.T.; 
on the south and west by the Alan D. Jeffries and wife, Jill Carlene Jeffries property of record in 
Book 782, Pag 586, R.O.W.C.T.; on the west by the Rex Elbert H. Arendall, II and wife, Carol B. 
Arendall property of record in Will Book 1008, Page 159, R.O.W.C.T. and being more particularly 
described as follows:

Beginning in the centerline of Split Log Road at the northeast corner of said Split Log Farm 
property of record in Book 4155, Page 912, R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, leaving said centerline of Split Log Road with the north line of Split Log Farm property the 
following five (5) calls:

1. North 82 degrees 59 minutes 59 seconds West, 518.72 feet to an iron rod (old) with cap 
stamped “Cherry”;

2. South 52 degrees 58 minutes 32 seconds West, 362.37 feet to an iron rod (old) with cap 
stamped “Cherry”;

3. North 67 degrees 39 minutes 25 seconds West, 347.21 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

4. North 26 degrees 31 minutes 29 seconds West, 103.37 feet to an iron rod (old) with cap 
stamped “Cherry”;

5. North 73 degrees 06 minutes 29 seconds West, 419.64 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc" to the southeast corner of said Jeffries property;

Thence, with the east line of Jeffries, North 07 degrees 44 minutes 54 seconds East, 1006.38 feet to 



Page 4 of Ordinance 2022-04

a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc” at the northeast corner of Jeffries;

Thence, with the north line of Jeffries and said Williams property, North 83 degrees 10 minutes 32 
seconds West, 732.71 feet to 1/2-inch iron rod (old) at the southeast corner of said Arendall, II 
property;

Thence, with the east line of Arendall the following two (2) calls:

1. North 07 degrees 41 minutes 27 seconds East, 427.32 feet to an iron rod (old) with cap 
stamped “Cherry”;

2. North 05 degrees 39 minutes 27 seconds East, 268.53 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with 
cap stamped “Cherry” in the south line of said Sunset Road Development, LLC property;

Thence, with the south line of said Sunset Road Development, LLC the following seven (7) calls:

1. South 85 degrees 15 minutes 25 seconds East, 158.67 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

2. South 83 degrees 15 minutes 35 seconds East, 417.87 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

3. South 83 degrees 04 minutes 30 seconds East, 200.87 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

4. South 83 degrees 16 minutes 49 seconds East, 245.37 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

5. South 83 degrees 28 minutes 51 seconds East, 599.99 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

6. South 79 degrees 08 minutes 40 seconds East, 337.28 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with 
cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

7. South 75 degrees 25 minutes 08 seconds East, 111.08 feet to an iron rod (old) with cap 
stamped “Cherry” at a northwest corner of said McArthur property;

Thence, with the easterly line of the herein described tract of land and proposed OSRD (Open Space 
Residential Development) Zoning Line the following eight (8) calls:

1. South 10 degrees 44 minutes 11 seconds West, 160.01 feet;
2. South 07 degrees 59 minutes 27 seconds East, 176.53 feet;
3. South 06 degrees 21 minutes 31 seconds West, 158.95 feet;
4. South 75 degrees 24 minutes 49 seconds West, 100.95 feet;
5. South 02 degrees 39 minutes 45 seconds West, 154.39 feet;
6. South 13 degrees 48 minutes 03 seconds East, 166.79 feet;
7. South 12 degrees 22 minutes 00 seconds East, 198.09 feet;
8. South 79 degrees 49 minutes 19 seconds East, 151.90 feet to a point in the west right-of-way 

line of said Split Log Road;

Thence, with the west line of Split Log Road the following two (2) calls:



Page 5 of Ordinance 2022-04

1. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 360.15 feet, a radius of 3,853.75 feet, a 
delta angle of 05 degrees 21 minutes 16 seconds and a chord bearing and distance of South 
07 degrees 26 minutes 21 seconds West, 360.02 feet;

2. South 04 degrees 45 minutes 43 seconds West, 95.14 feet to the Point of Beginning, 
containing 3,035,660 square feet or 69.69 acres, more or less.

Being a portion of the same property conveyed to Split-Log Farms, LLC by Warranty Deed of 
record in Book 8075, page 31, Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee, and a portion 
of the same property conveyed to Bruce Sudano, Trustee of the Bruce Sudano 2015 Family Trust by 
Quitclaim Deed of record in Book 7044, page 324, Register’s Office for Williamson County, 
Tennessee.



Page 6 of Ordinance 2022-04

ATTACHMENT B
ORDINANCE 2022-04

ANNEXED TERRITORY
LANDS LYING WITHIN WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TENNESSEE

SPLIT LOG ROAD
ANNEXATION DESCRIPTION

SPLIT-LOG FARMS, LLC PROPERTY
MAP 055, P/O PARCEL 014.00
BRUCE SUDANO PROPERTY
MAP 055, P/O PARCEL 014.01
SPLIT LOG ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
R-2 ZONING DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District of 
Williamson County, Tennessee. Being bounded on the north by the Michael D. Culbreth and 
Lynette Culbreth property of record in Book 6010, Page 811, R.O.W.C.T.; on the east by Split Log 
Road (right-of-way width varies); on the south and west by the remainder of the Bruce Sudano 
Property of record in Book 7044, Page 324, R.O.W.C.T.; on the west by the remainder of the Split-
Log Farms, LLC Property of record in Book 8075, Page 31, R.O.W.C.T., and being more 
particularly described as follows:

Beginning on a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc" in the west right-
of-way line of said Split Log Road and in the north line of said Sudano property;

Thence, leaving said right-of-way line with the north line of Sudano, South 82 degrees 59 minutes 
59 seconds East, 25.84 feet to the centerline of Split Log Road;

Thence, with the centerline of said Split Log Road the following two (2) calls:

1. South 11 degrees 09 minutes 08 seconds West, 111.37 feet;
2. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 69.66 feet, a radius of 3853.75 feet, a delta 

angle of 01 degrees 02 minutes 09 seconds and a chord bearing and distance of South 10 
degrees 38 minutes 04 seconds West, 69.66 feet;

Thence, with the southerly and westerly line of the herein described tract of land and proposed    R-
2 (Suburban Residential) Zoning Line the following eight (8) calls:

1. North 79 degrees 49 minutes 19 seconds West, 151.90 feet;
2. North 12 degrees 22 minutes 00 seconds West, 198.09 feet;
3. North 13 degrees 48 minutes 03 seconds West, 166.79 feet;
4. North 02 degrees 39 minutes 45 seconds East, 154.39 feet;
5. North 75 degrees 24 minutes 49 seconds East, 100.95 feet;
6. North 06 degrees 21 minutes 31 seconds East, 158.95 feet;
7. North 07 degrees 59 minutes 27 seconds West, 176.53 feet;



Page 7 of Ordinance 2022-04

8. North 10 degrees 44 minutes 11 seconds East, 160.01 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (old) with 
no cap at the southwest corner of Culbreth;

Thence, with the south line of Culbreth, South 82 degrees 27 minutes 16 seconds East, 604.80 feet 
to an iron rod (old) with cap stamped “H&H” in the west right-of-way line of said Split Log Road;

Thence, with the west line of Split Log Road the following five (5) calls:

1. South 51 degrees 40 minutes 26 seconds West, 114.04 feet to an iron rod (old) with cap 
stamped “H&H”;

2. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 174.22 feet, a radius of 611.67 feet, a delta 
angle of 16 degrees 19 minutes 09 seconds and a chord bearing and distance of South 43 
degrees 30 minutes 51 seconds West, 173.63 feet to an iron rod (old) with cap stamped 
“H&H”

3. South 35 degrees 21 minutes 16 seconds West, 236.58 feet to an iron rod (old) with cap 
stamped “H&H”

4. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 289.84 feet, a radius of 687.33 feet, a delta 
angle of 24 degrees 09 minutes 41 seconds and a chord bearing and distance of South 23 
degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds West, 287.70 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with cap 
stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

5. South 11 degrees 11 minutes 21 seconds West, 140.45 feet to the Point of Beginning
containing 327,778 square feet or 7.52 acres, more or less;

Being a portion of the same property conveyed to Split-Log Farms, LLC by Warranty Deed of 
record in Book 8075, page 31, Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee, and a portion 
of the same property conveyed to Bruce Sudano, Trustee of the Bruce Sudano 2015 Family Trust by 
Quitclaim Deed of record in Book 7044, page 324, Register’s Office for Williamson County, 
Tennessee.



Page 8 of Ordinance 2022-04

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION
JOHN A. MCARTHUR SR, AND NORMA D. MCARTHUR PROPERTY
MAP 055, PARCEL 01001
9824 SPLIT LOG ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
ANNEXATION DESCRIPTION
R-2 ZONING DESCRIPTION

Williamson County Paracel Number 055 01001 00016055, including an area of approximately 7.12 
acres and located at 9824 Split Log Road. The current property owners are John A. McArthur Sr, 
And Norma D. McArthur. As recorded in Plat Book 14, Page 99.

To include a Portion of the Split Log Road right-of-way as follows:

A portion of Split Log Road that fronts the subject properties to include a portion of Split Log Road 
fronting along the Sudano property – 9814 Split Log Road (055 01401), and portion of Split Log 
Road fronting along the Split Log Farms property – (055 01400),



G
:
\
2

1
-
0

3
3

7
\
1

-
C

I
V

I
L

 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
I
N

G
\
O

S
R

D
 
P

L
A

N
\
P

L
A

N
 
S

H
E

E
T

S
\
S

O
U

T
H

\
0

3
3

7
 
S

O
U

T
H

 
O

S
R

D
.
D

W
G

P
L
O

T
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

M
A

N
D

A
 
R

E
E

D
 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
4

:
5

9
 
P

M
 
 
 
L

A
S

T
 
U

P
D

A
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

R
E

E
D

 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
4

:
5

4
 
P

M

G
:
\
2

1
-
0

3
3

7
\
1

-
C

I
V

I
L

 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
I
N

G
\
O

S
R

D
 
P

L
A

N
\
P

L
A

N
 
S

H
E

E
T

S
\
S

O
U

T
H

\
0

3
3

7
 
S

O
U

T
H

 
O

S
R

D
.
D

W
G

P
L
O

T
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

M
A

N
D

A
 
R

E
E

D
 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
4

:
5

9
 
P

M
 
 
 
L

A
S

T
 
U

P
D

A
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

R
E

E
D

 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
4

:
5

4
 
P

M

S
P

L
I
T

 
L
O

G
 
R

O
A

D
,
 
B

R
E

N
T

W
O

O
D

,
 
T

E
N

N
E

S
S

E
E

 
3

7
0

2
7

 
1

6
T

H
 
C

I
V

I
L

 
D

I
S

T
R

I
C

T
 
O

F
 
W

I
L
L
I
A

M
S

O
N

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y

2

-

-

-

-

1

GENERAL NOTES,

AREA TABLES,

ROADWAY SECTIONS

2

21-0337

JFV

N/A

JANUARY 5, 2022

R
O

S
E

B
R

O
O

K
E

 
S

O
U

T
H

C
P

S
 
L

A
N

D
,
 
L

L
C

F
O

R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga

ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

GENERAL NOTES AND SITE DATA 

*

TYPICAL LOT SETBACK LINESTYPICAL LOT EASEMENT LINES TYPICAL LOT SETBACK LINES

OR

OSRD LOT AREA TABLES

OPEN SPACE

OVERALL OSRD CALCULATIONS

(OSRD LOTS 128-174)

TYPICAL LOT SETBACK LINES

(R-2 LOTS 125-127)

R-2 AREA TABLES

LEGEND

*  - TRANSITIONAL LOT

*
*
*
*

ROADWAY CROSS SECTION 50' R.O.W.

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

*
*
*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*
*

*
*

*

*

*
*

ROADWAY CROSS SECTION

36.5' R.O.W. (CUL DE SAC)

ROADWAY CROSS SECTION 60' R.O.W. (COLLECTOR)

04   28 2022



190

7
2
0

6

9

0

6

9

0

7

0

0

7
1
0

6

9

0

7

0

0

6
8
0

6

9

0

7

5

0

7

4

0

7

4

0

7

4

0

7

4

0

7

3

0

7
3
0

7

2

0

7

3

0

7
4
0

7

4

0

7

3

0

7

3

0

7

4

0

7

5

0

7

6

0

7

7

0

7
4
0

7

3

0

7

3

0

7

3

0

7

3

0

7

4

0

7

5

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

9

0

6
9
0

6

8

0

6
8
0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

7

0

6

7

0

6

7

0

710

7

0

0

7

1

0

7

2

0

7

2

0

7

0

0

7

0

0

7

1

0

7

0

0

7

1

0

7

2

0

7

2

0

7

2

0

7

1

0

6

9

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

9

0

7
5
0

7

5

0

7

5

0

7

4

0

740

7
3
0

7

3

0

730

7

1

0

7

1

0

7

2

0

710

7
6
0

7

6

0

7

5

0

7

4

0

7

5

0

7

5

0

7

4

0

7

4

0

7
3
0

7

3

0

7
3
0

7
4
0

7

5

0

7

6

0

7

6

0

7
6
0

7

6

0

7
6
0

7

6

0

7

5

0

7

5

0

7

5

0

7

5

0

7
4
0

7
4
0

7

4

0

7

6

0

7

5

0

7

4

0

7

3

0

7

3

0

7
3
0

7

2

0

7
2
0

7

2

0

7

1

0

7

1

0

7
1
0

7

0

0

6

9

0

6

9

0

6
9
0

6

9

0

7

0

0

7

0

0

7

0

0

6
8
0

6

8

0

6
8
0

6
8
0

6

7

0

6

7

0

6
7
0

6

7

0

6

6

0

6
6
0

6

6

0

6

6

0

6
9
0

680

6

8

0

6

7

0

6
7
0

6

7

0

6

7

0

6

7

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

9

0

6

9

0

6

9

0

6

6

0

134

135

136

137

138

139

151

152

157

158

164

174

140

148

149

150

153

154

155

156

161

162

168

169

170

171

172

173

F

A

I

R

H

I

L

L

 

D

R

I

V

E

S

O

U

T

H

W

I

C

K

 

D

R

I

V

E

S

O

U

T

H

W

I
C

K

 
D

R

I
V

E

S

O

U

T

H

W

I

C

K

 

D

R

I

V

E

127

125

126

OPEN SPACE 20

OS

 22

OS

 23

OPEN SPACE 24

OS

 25

163

W

N

A

W

N

A

W
N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W

N

A

W
N

A

R

O

A

D

 

L

R

O

A

D

 

K

R

O

A

D

 

K

R

O

A

D

 

M

165

166

167

128

129

130

131

132

133

159

160

OPEN SPACE 18

OPEN SPACE 19

141

142

143

144

145

146

147

OPEN SPACE 21

S

O

U

T

H

W

I
C

K

 
D

R

I
V

E

F
A

I
R

H
I
L
L
 
D

R
I
V

E

G

A

R

D

E

N

W

O

O

D

OPEN SPACE 12

42

43

83

84

85

86

41

15

81

82

OPEN SPACE 7

109

 
(
5

0

'
 
R

O

W

 
-

L

O

C

A

L

 
S

T

R

E

E

T

)

 
(
5

0

' 
R

O

W

 
-

L

O

C

A

L

 
S

T

R

E

E

T

)

T

E

R

R

A

C

E

(
R

-
2
)

(
O

S

R

D

)

P

R

O

P

O

S

E

D

 
Z

O

N

E

 
L

I
N

E

(
R

-
2

)

(
O

S

R

D

)

(

R

-

2

)

(
O

S

R

D

)

P
R

O

P
O

S
E

D
 
Z

O

N
E

 
L
I
N

E

P

R

O

P

O

S

E

D

 
Z

O

N

E

 
L

I
N

E

N

6

7

°

3

9

'

2

5

"

W

 

 

 

3

4

7

.

2

1

'

S

5

2

°

5

8

'

3

2

"

W

 

 

 

3

6

2

.

3

7

'

N

8
2
°
5
9
'5

9
"
W

   5
1
8
.7

2
'

N

7

3

°

0

6

'
2

9

"

W

 
 
 
4

1

9

.
6

4

'

N

0
7
°
4
4
'
5
4
"
E

 
 
 
1
0
0
6
.
3
8
'

N

8
3
°
1
0
'3

2
"
W

   7
3
2
.7

1
'

N

0
7
°
4
1
'
2
7
"
E

 
 
 
4
2
7
.
3
2
'

N
0
5
°
3
9
'
2
7
"
E

 
 
 
2
6
8
.
5
3
'

S
8
5
°1

5
'2

5
"
E

   1
5
8
.6

7
'

S
8
3
°
1
5
'3

5
"
E

   4
1
7
.8

7
'

S
8
3
°
0
4
'3

0
"
E

   2
0
0
.8

7
'

S
8
3
°
1
6
'4

9
"
E

   2
4
5
.3

7
'

S
8
3
°
2
8
'5

1
"
E

   5
9
9
.9

9
'

S

7

9

°
0

8

'
4

0

"

E

 
 
 
3

3

7

.
2

8

'

S

7

5

°

2

5

'
0

8

"

E

1

1

1

.
0

8

'

S
0
5
°
5
2
'
2
8
"
W

 
 
 
1
8
8
.
9
2
'

S

8
2
°
2
7
'1

6
"
E

 
 
 
6
0
4
.
8
0
'

S

5

1

°

4

0

'

2

6

"

W

1

1

4

.

0

4

'

S

1

1

°
0

9

'
0

8

"

W

1

1

1

.
3

7

'

S
0
4
°
4
5
'
4
3
"
W

9
5
.
1
4
'

S

1

1

°
1

1

'
2

1

"

W

1

4

0

.
4

5

'

N

2

6

°

3

1

'

2

9

"

W

1

0

3

.

3

7

'

S

3

5

°

2

1

'

1

6

"

W

 

 

 

2

3

6

.

5

8

'

C

1

C

2

C

3

S82°59'59"E

25.84'

(
R

-
2

)

(
O

S

R

D

)

1

0

0

 

Y

R

1
0
0
 
Y

R

1
0
0
 
Y

R

1

0

0

 
Y

R

1

0

0

 
Y

R

1

0

0

 
Y

R

1

0

0

 
Y

R

1

0

0

 
Y

R

1
0
0
 
Y

R

1
0
0
 
Y

R

R

E
X

 
E

L
B

E
R

T
 
H

.
 
A

R

E
N

D

A
L
L
,
 
I
I

 
A

N

D

 
W

I
F

E
,

C

A
R

O

L
 
B

.
 
A

R

E
N

D

A
L
L

ALAN D. JEFFRIES AND WIFE,

JILL CARLENE JEFFRIES

M

I
C

H

A

E

L
 
D

.
 
C

U

L
B

R

E

T
H

 
A

N

D

L
Y

N

E

T
T

E

 
C

U

L
B

R

E

T
H

JOHN A. McARTHUR AND WIFE,

NORMA D. McARTHUR

LARRY R. WILLIAMS, TRUSTEE

SPLIT LOG FARM, LLC

NADIR MARDONOV

S

O

U

T

H

E

R

N

U

P

 

L

L

C

ERIC S. SIMON AND WIFE,

 ANCA R. SIMON

JOE ANN W. GRIGGS, TRUSTEE

JOE ANN WILBURN GRIGGS

SPLIT LOG FARM, LLC

OPEN SPACE 19

OPEN SPACE 20

OPEN SPACE 20

WATERWAY

NATURAL

AREA

WATERWAY

NATURAL

AREA

C

I

T

Y

 

O

F

 

B

R

E

N

T

W

O

O

D

W

I

L

L

I

A

M

S

O

N

 

C

O

U

N

T

Y

C
IT

Y
 O

F
 B

R
E

N
T

W

O

O

D

W

IL
L
IA

M

S
O

N
 C

O

U
N

T
Y

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

F

U

T

U

R

E

 
S

P

L
I
T

 
L
O

G

 
R

O

A

D

R

E

A

L
I
G

N

M

E

N

T

9

0

'

1

5

0

'

F

U

T

U

R

E

 

S

P

L

I

T

 

L

O

G

 

R

O

A

D

R

E

A

L

I

G

N

M

E

N

T

1
5
0
'

1
5
3
.8

'

1

5

'

1

5

'

6

0

'

6

0

'

1

5

'

1

5

'

6

0

'

A

V

G

.

6

0

'

A

V

G

.

6
0
'

6

0

'

1

5

'

1

5

'

6

0

'

6

0

'

6

0

'

A

V

G

.

6
0
'

6

0

'

6

0

'

6

0

'

6

0

'

1

5

0

'

1

5

0

'

3
5
'

3

0

'

3

0

'

3

0

'

3

0

'

30'

3

0

'

3

0

'

9

0

'

5

0

'

5

5

'

5

0

'

5
5
'

5

0

'

4

0

'

4

0

'

4

0

'

5

0

'

5

0

'

5

0

'

5

5

'

C

I
T

Y

 
O

F
 
B

R

E

N

T
W

O

O

D

W

I
L
L
I
A

M

S
O

N

 
C

O

U

N

T
Y

SUNSET ROAD

DEVELOPMENT, LLC

(R-2 LOT)

(R-2 LOT)

(R-2 LOT)

1
5
1
.
9
'

1
5
0
'

A

R

T
E

R

I
A

L

B

U

F
F

E

R

3
0
3
'

1

3

8

'

3

7

1

'

2

0

4

'

1

3

8

'

1

4

8

'

5

0

'

7
5
'

7
5
'

9
0
°
0
'
0
"
'

9

0

°

0

'
0

"

'

9

0

°
0

'0

"
'

9

0

°

0

'
0

"

'

(

5

0

'

 

R

.

O

.

W

.

)

(

4

0

'

 

R

.

O

.

W

.

 

-

 

O

N

E

 

W

A

Y

)

(
5

0

'
 
R

.
O

.
W

.
)

(

5

0

'
 
R

.
O

.
W

.
)

(

5

0

'

 

R

.

O

.

W

.

)

(

6

0

'

 

R

.

O

.

W

.

)

(

5

0

'

 

R

.

O

.

W

.

)

(

6

0

'

 

R

.

O

.

W

.

)

6

0

'

6

0

'

1

5

5

'

4

3

1

'

2

1

4

'

7

8

'

CURVE TABLE

G
:
\
2

1
-
0

3
3

7
\
1

-
C

I
V

I
L

 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
I
N

G
\
O

S
R

D
 
P

L
A

N
\
P

L
A

N
 
S

H
E

E
T

S
\
S

O
U

T
H

\
0

3
3

7
 
S

O
U

T
H

 
O

S
R

D
.
D

W
G

P
L
O

T
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

M
A

N
D

A
 
R

E
E

D
 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
4

:
5

9
 
P

M
 
 
 
L

A
S

T
 
U

P
D

A
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

R
E

E
D

 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
4

:
5

4
 
P

M

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:
\
2

1
-
0

3
3

7
\
1

-
C

I
V

I
L

 
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
I
N

G
\
O

S
R

D
 
P

L
A

N
\
P

L
A

N
 
S

H
E

E
T

S
\
S

O
U

T
H

\
0

3
3

7
 
S

O
U

T
H

 
O

S
R

D
.
D

W
G

P
L
O

T
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

M
A

N
D

A
 
R

E
E

D
 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
4

:
5

9
 
P

M
 
 
 
L

A
S

T
 
U

P
D

A
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

R
E

E
D

 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
4

:
5

4
 
P

M

S
P

L
I
T

 
L
O

G
 
R

O
A

D
,
 
B

R
E

N
T

W
O

O
D

,
 
T

E
N

N
E

S
S

E
E

 
3

7
0

2
7

 
1

6
T

H
 
C

I
V

I
L

 
D

I
S

T
R

I
C

T
 
O

F
 
W

I
L
L
I
A

M
S

O
N

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y

2

-

-

-

-

1

OVERALL SITE PLAN

3

21-0337

JFV

1"=100'

JANUARY 5, 2022

R
O

S
E

B
R

O
O

K
E

 
S

O
U

T
H

C
P

S
 
L

A
N

D
,
 
L

L
C

F
O

R

N

P

L

A

N

 

 

 

 
 

S

U

R

V

E

Y

 
 

 

 

 

 

D

E

S
I

G

N

 

 

 

 

 

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga

ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

*

GENERAL NOTES 

LEGEND

*

04   28 2022



1/2022 4/2022

Total Site Area (AC) 69.69 69.69

Less R.O.W. dedication ‐‐ Split Log Road 0.47 0.47

Less R.O.W. dedication ‐‐ Internal streets 5.38 5.62

TOTAL 63.84 63.60

Less Areas in 25% Slopes 0.90 0.90

Plus 25% of slopes over 25% 0.23 0.23

Less Areas in Floodway 0.00 0.00

Plus 25% Areas in Floodways 0.00 0.00

Less Areas in Electrical Natural & Gas Easements 0.00 0.00

Plus 25% of Areas in Electrical Natural & Gas Easements 0.00 0.00

Total Usable Land Area (AC) 63.17 62.93

Less area in lots>1 acre 2.48 4.06

TOTAL LAND AREA AVAILABLE 60.69 58.87

Total Land Area Required @ 1 DUPA (AC) 47.00 47.00

Land Area in Lots 38.09 37.91

Open Space Required 8.91 9.09

Dedicated Open Space 25.75 25.69

EXCESS OPEN SPACE 16.84 16.60
AVERAGE LOT SIZE (AC)  0.81 0.81

ROSEBROOKE SOUTH OVERALL OSRD CALCULATIONS ‐‐ COMPARISON



S

O

U

T

H

W

I

C

K

 

D

R

I

V

E

B
R

I
A

R
M

O
N

T
 
P

L
A

C
E

E

A

S

T

O

N

 

D

R

I

V

E

OPEN SPACE 6

OPEN SPACE 12

OPEN SPACE 13

35

36

42

43

44

45

69

70

71

74

75

76

77

78

79

83

84

85

86

87

88

89

90

91

92

104

105

106

107

111

112

113

37

38

39

40

41

OS

14

OS

15

80

81

82

OPEN SPACE 7

OS

17

109

110

OPEN SPACE 11

108

 

(

5

0

'

 

R

O

W

 

-

L

O

C

A

L

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

)

 

(

5

0

'

 

R

O

W

 

-

L

O

C

A

L

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

)

 
(
5

0

'
 
R

O

W

 
-

L
O

C

A

L
 
S

T

R

E

E

T

)

 (
5

0

' R

O

W

 -

L

O

C

A

L

 S

T

R

E

E

T

)

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

21

22

23

26

27

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

39

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

49

50

2

3

47

48

20

24

25

28

1

36

37

38

R

E
X

 
E

L
B

E
R

T
 
H

.
 
A

R

E
N

D

A
L
L
,
 
I
I

 
A

N

D

 
W

I
F

E
,

C

A
R

O

L
 
B

.
 
A

R

E
N

D

A
L
L

ALAN D. JEFFRIES AND WIFE,

JILL CARLENE JEFFRIES

M

I
C

H

A

E

L
 
D

.
 
C

U

L
B

R

E

T
H

 
A

N

D

 
L
Y

N

E

T
T

E

 
C

U

L
B

R

E

T
H

JOHN A. McARTHUR AND WIFE,

NORMA D. McARTHUR

LARRY R. WILLIAMS, TRUSTEE

SPLIT LOG FARM, LLC

NADIR MARDONOV

S

O

U

T

H

E

R

N

U

P

 

L

L

C

ERIC S. SIMON AND WIFE,

 ANCA R. SIMON

JOE ANN W. GRIGGS, TRUSTEE

JOE ANN WILBURN GRIGGS

SPLIT LOG FARM, LLC

ROSEBROOKE

SUNSET ROAD

DEVELOPMENT, LLC

F

U

T

U

R

E

 
S

P

L
I
T

 
L
O

G

 
R

O

A

D

R

E

A

L
I
G

N

M

E

N

T

7
2
0

6

9

0

6

9

0

7

0

0

7
1
0

6

9

0

7

0

0

7

5

0

7

4

0

7

4

0

7

4

0

7

4

0

7

3

0

7

3

0

7

2

0

7
4
0

7

4

0

7

3

0

7

3

0

7

4

0

7

5

0

7

6

0

7

7

0

7
4
0

7

3

0

7

3

0

7

3

0

7

4

0

7

5

0

6

8

0

6
9
0

6
8
0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

7

0

6

7

0

6

7

0

710

7

0

0

7

1

0

7

2

0

7

2

0

7

0

0

7

1

0

7

1

0

7

2

0

7

2

0

7

2

0

7

1

0

6

9

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

7
5
0

7

5

0

7

5

0

7

4

0

740

7
3
0

7

3

0

730

7

1

0

7

1

0

7

2

0

710

7

6

0

7

6

0

7

5

0

7

4

0

7

5

0

7

5

0

7

4

0

7

4

0

7

3

0

7
3
0

7
4
0

7

5

0

7

6

0

7

6

0

7
6
0

7

6

0

7
6
0

7

6

0

7

5

0

7

5

0

7

5

0

7
4
0

7
4
0

7

4

0

7

6

0

7

5

0

7

4

0

7

3

0

7
3
0

7

2

0

7
2
0

7

2

0

7

1

0

7

1

0

7
1
0

7

0

0

6

9

0

6

9

0

6
9
0

6

9

0

7

0

0

7

0

0

7

0

0

6
8
0

6

8

0

6
8
0

6
8
0

6

7

0

6

7

0

6
7
0

6

7

0

6

6

0

6
6
0

6

6

0

6

8

0

6

7

0

6
7
0

6

7

0

6

7

0

6

7

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

8

0

6

9

0

6

9

0

6

9

0

6

9

0

6

9

0

7

0

0

7

1

0

7

2

0

7

3

0

7
0
0

7

1

0

7

1

0

7

0

0

7

0

0

7

0

0

6

6

0

S

A

M

 
D

O

N

A

L

D

 
R

O

A

D

**

*

*

**

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*
*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*
*

*

*

*

*

WATERWAY

NATURAL

AREA

WATERWAY

NATURAL

AREA

N

6

7

°

3

9

'

2

5

"

W

 

 

 

3

4

7

.

2

1

'

S

5

2

°

5

8

'

3

2

"

W

 

 

 

3

6

2

.

3

7

'
N

8
2
°
5
9
'5

9
"
W

   5
1
8
.7

2
'

N

7

3

°

0

6

'
2

9

"

W

 
 
 
4

1

9

.
6

4

'

N

0
7
°
4
4
'
5
4
"
E

 
 
 
1
0
0
6
.
3
8
'

N
8
3
°
1
0
'3

2
"
W

   7
3
2
.7

1
'

N

0
7
°
4
1
'
2
7
"
E

 
 
 
4
2
7
.
3
2
'

N
0
5
°
3
9
'
2
7
"
E

 
 
 
2
6
8
.
5
3
'

S
8
5
°1

5
'2

5
"
E

1
5
8
.6

7
'

S
8
3
°
1
5
'3

5
"
E

   4
1
7
.8

7
'

S
8
3
°
0
4
'3

0
"
E

2
0
0
.8

7
'

S
8
3
°
1
6
'4

9
"
E

   2
4
5
.3

7
'

S
8
3
°
2
8
'5

1
"
E

   5
9
9
.9

9
'

S

7

9

°
0

8

'
4

0

"

E

 
 
 
3

3

7

.
2

8

'

S

7

5

°

2

5

'
0

8

"

E
1

1

1

.
0

8

'

S
0
5
°
5
2
'
2
8
"
W

1
8
8
.
9
2
'

S
8
2
°
2
7
'1

6
"
E

 
 
 
6
0
4
.
8
0
'

S

5

1

°

4

0

'

2

6

"

W

1

1

4

.

0

4

'

S11°09'08"W

111.37'

S
0
4
°
4
5
'
4
3
"
W

9
5
.
1
4
'

S11°11'21"W

140.45'

N26°31'29"W

103.37'

S

3

5

°

2

1

'

1

6

"

W

2

3

6

.

5

8

'

C

1

C

2

C

3

S82°59'59"E

25.84'

F
A

I
R

H
I
L
L
 
D

R
I
V

E

S

O

U

T

H

W

I

C

K

 

D

R

I

V

E

S
O

U
T

H
W

I
C

K
 
D

R
I
V

E

R

O

A

D

 
L

R

O

A

D

 
K

LOT AREA TABLE

CURVE TABLE

G
:
\
2

1
-
0

3
3

7
\
1

-
S

U
R

V
E

Y
\
L

A
Y

O
U

T
\
R

-
2

 
A

L
T

E
R

N
A

T
E

 
P

L
A

N
\
S

O
U

T
H

 
R

-
2

 
L

A
Y

O
U

T
.
D

W
G

P
L
O

T
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

M
A

N
D

A
 
R

E
E

D
 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
5

:
0

1
 
P

M
 
 
 
L

A
S

T
 
U

P
D

A
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

R
E

E
D

 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
2

:
5

8
 
P

M

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:
\
2

1
-
0

3
3

7
\
1

-
S

U
R

V
E

Y
\
L

A
Y

O
U

T
\
R

-
2

 
A

L
T

E
R

N
A

T
E

 
P

L
A

N
\
S

O
U

T
H

 
R

-
2

 
L

A
Y

O
U

T
.
D

W
G

P
L
O

T
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

M
A

N
D

A
 
R

E
E

D
 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
5

:
0

1
 
P

M
 
 
 
L

A
S

T
 
U

P
D

A
T

E
D

 
B

Y
 
A

R
E

E
D

 
O

N
:
 
4

/
2

8
/
2

0
2

2
 
2

:
5

8
 
P

M

S
P

L
I
T

 
L
O

G
 
R

O
A

D
,
 
B

R
E

N
T

W
O

O
D

,
 
T

E
N

N
E

S
S

E
E

 
3

7
0

2
7

 
1

6
T

H
 
C

I
V

I
L

 
D

I
S

T
R

I
C

T
 
O

F
 
W

I
L
L
I
A

M
S

O
N

 
C

O
U

N
T

Y

2

-

-

-

-

1

ALTERNATE R-2

SITE PLAN

4

21-0337

JFV

1"=200'

JANUARY 5, 2022

R
O

S
E

B
R

O
O

K
E

 
S

O
U

T
H

C
P

S
 
L

A
N

D
,
 
L

L
C

F
O

R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga

ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

N

P

L

A

N

 

 

 

 
 

S

U

R

V

E

Y

 
 

 

 

 

 

D

E

S
I

G

N

 

 

 

 

 

LEGEND

GENERAL NOTES AND SITE DATA 

TYPICAL LOT SETBACK LINES TYPICAL LOT EASEMENT LINES

*

04   28 2022





ROAD K

166
167

128

129

(R
-2

)
(O

SR
D

)

(R-2)
(OSRD)

(R
-2

)
(O

SR
D

)

(R-2)
(OSRD)

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:3
5 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:3
5 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 C
IV

IL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

C
O

U
N

TY

2
-
-
-
-

1

LANDSCAPE
BUFFER A

L1.1
21-0337

TF

1"=50'

JANUARY 5, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
SO

U
TH

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
 

 
   

LANDSCAPE BUFFER "A" REQUIREMENT:

ROAD FRONTAGE (SPLIT LOG ROAD) 458 L.F.
BUFFER WIDTH PROVIDED: 150

TREES REQUIRED (458/100 X 45): 207

TREES PROVIDED: 207

EXISTING VEGETATION: 45 TREES
PROPOSED VEGETATION: 162 TREES

EVERGREEN (MIN. 75%): 169 (81.6%)
DECIDUOUS: 38

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

D
. (

FU
TU

R
E)

OVERHEAD POWER
EASEMENT TO BE RELOCATED

BUFFER "A"

CONTEXT MAP

BUFFER "A"

LANDSCAPE SITE DATA

PROPERTY INFORMATION:
STREET ADDRESS: 9814 SPLIT LOG ROAD
SITE ACREAGE: OSRD - 69.69 AC , R2 - 6.77 AC

TOTAL - 76.46 AC
OWNER/DEVELOPER:
ROB PEASE
CPS LAND, LLC
213 OVERLOOK CT.
BRENTWOOD, TN 37027
(615) 376-5177
ROB.PEASE@CPSLAND.COM

PROJECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
TYLOR FISCHER, PLA
RAGAN-SMITH ASSOCIATES, INC.
315 WOODLAND STREET
NASHVILLE, TN 37206
(615) 244-8591
TFISCHER@RAGANSMITH.COM

RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS:
CALIPERS REQUIRED (25 CAL PER AC) 76.46 X 25: 1,911.50"
CALIPERS PROVIDED: 25,019.00"
STREET TREES (138 X 3"): 414.00"
BUFFER TREES (162 X 2"): 324.00"
EXISTING VEGETATION TO REMAIN: 24,281.00"

4/28/22



187

188

189

190

134

135

136

137

138

139

151

152

157

158

164

174

140

148

149

150

153

154

155

156

161

162

168

169

170

171

172

173

FA
IR

HI
LL

 D
RI

VE

SOUTHWICK DRIVE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

127

125

126

163

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

WNA

WNA

WNA

W
N

A

WNA

WNA

WNA

WNA

W
NA

W
NA

W
NA

WNA

WNA

WNA

W
NA

WNA

W
NA

WNA

ROAD L

ROAD K

ROAD K

ROAD
 M

165

166 167

128

129

130

131

132

133

159

160

141

142
143

144

145

146

147

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
EFA

IR
H

IL
L 

D
R

IV
E GARDENWOOD

*
*

42

83

84

85

86

41

81
82

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (50' ROW -LOCAL STREET)

TERRACE

(R
-2

)
(O

SR
D

)

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 Z

O
N

E 
LI

N
E

(R
-2

)
(O

SR
D

)

(R-2)
(OSRD) PR

O
PO

SE
D

 Z
O

N
E 

LI
N

E
PR

O
PO

SE
D

 Z
O

N
E 

LI
N

E

(R-2)
(OSRD)

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
EFA

IR
H

IL
L 

D
R

IV
E GARDENWOOD

*
*

42

83

84

85

86

41

81
82

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (50' ROW -LOCAL STREET)

TERRACE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:3
6 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:3
6 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 C
IV

IL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

C
O

U
N

TY

2
-
-
-
-

1

TF

1"=100'

JANUARY 5, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
SO

U
TH

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

D
. (

FU
TU

R
E)

PLANT TREES 2.5' MIN
FROM WATERLINE,

TYP.

STREET
TREE PLAN

L1.2
21-0337

4/28/22



TYPICAL MULCH RING SIZING
CHART

CALIPER
MIN. ROOT

BALL
DIAMETER

MULCH RING
DIAMETER

1" 16" 4' MIN.
1.5" 20" 4-6' MIN.
2" 2'-0" 6' MIN.

2.5" 28" 6-8' MIN.
3" 32" 8' MIN.

3.5" 38" 8-10' MIN.
4" 42" 10' MIN.
5" 54" 12' MIN.
6" 60" 12-14' MIN.
7" 70" 16' MIN.
8" 80" 20' MIN.

SET ROOT BALL FLUSH TO FINISH GRADE (OR 2-3" HIGHER IN POORLY
DRAINING SOILS). TRUNK ROOT FLARE MUST BE VISIBLE AND/OR ABOVE
FINISH GRADE. DO NOT COVER THE TOP OF THE ROOT BALL WITH SOIL.

SCARIFY OUTER 12" PERIMETER BASE OF ROOT BALL PIT 6" TO
LOOSEN ALL HARDENED SOIL.

3" MULCH AS SPECIFIED (DO NOT INSTALL MULCH IN
CONTACT WITH THE TREE TRUNK).
DIG A WIDE & SHALLOW HOLE AND INSTALL PLANTING SOIL
MIX AS SPECIFIED.

TAMP SOIL SOLIDLY AROUND BASE OF ROOT BALL FIRMLY WITH
FOOT PRESSURE SO THAT ROOT BALL DOES NOT SHIFT. BACKFILL
WITH TOPSOIL IN 9" LAYERS. WATER EACH LAYER UNTIL SETTLED.
DO NOT TAMP AFTER WATER.

DO NOT PRUNE TREE AT PLANTING EXCEPT FOR SPECIFIC
STRUCTURAL CORRECTIONS (CROSS OVER LIMBS / CO-DOMINANT
LEADER / DEAD BRANCHES). DO NOT REMOVE THE TERMINAL BUDS
OF THE BRANCHES THAT EXTEND TO THE EDGE OF THE CROWN.

MARK THE NORTH SIDE OF THE TREE IN
THE NURSERY, AND ROTATE TREE TO FACE
NORTH AT THE SITE WHENEVER POSSIBLE.

REMOVE ALL TWINE, ROPE, WIRE, AND BURLAP FROM TOP 12
OF THE ROOT BALL.NOTES:

1.DO NOT STAKE TREES UNLESS APPROVED BY THE LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT. IF STAKED, REMOVE AFTER ONE GROWING SEASON.

2.DO NOT WRAP TREE TRUNKS UNLESS APPROVED BY THE
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT. REMOVE WRAP AFTER PLANTING.

3.NON-BIODEGRADABLE BURLAP TO BE REMOVED OR ROLLED UNDER
ROOT BALL AFTER PLANT IS PLACED IN HOLE.

FINISH GRADE

EXISTING SOIL

PLACE ROOT BALL ON UNEXCAVATED OR TAMPED SOIL

CENTRAL LEADER

TREE CALIPER
(SEE CHART)

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:3
6 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM
G

:\2
1-

03
37

\1
-C

IV
IL

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

\O
SR

D
 P

LA
N

\L
AN

D
SC

AP
E\

LA
N

D
SC

AP
E 

SH
EE

TS
 S

O
U

TH
.D

W
G

PL
O

TT
ED

 B
Y 

G
R

AC
E 

LE
N

TZ
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 3
:3

6 
PM

   
LA

ST
 U

PD
AT

ED
 B

Y 
G

LE
N

TZ
 O

N
: 4

/2
8/

20
22

 3
:2

8 
PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 C
IV

IL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

C
O

U
N

TY

2
-
-
-
-

1

LANDSCAPE NOTES,
SCHEDULES, AND
DETAILS

L1.3
21-0337

TF

NTS

JANUARY 5, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
SO

U
TH

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

 SEEDING NOTES:
1. SEED ALL DISTURBED AREAS WITH KY-31 AT THE RATE OF 5 POUNDS PER 1,000 S.F. ALL SEED TO BE 98% PURE WITH 85% GERMINATION AND CONFORM TO ALL STATE REQUIREMENTS

FOR GRASS SEED. THE FERTILIZER TO BE 6-12-12 COMMERCIAL TYPE WITH 50% OF ITS ELEMENTS DERIVED FROM ORGANIC SOURCES.
2. PLACE STRAW MULCH ON SEEDED AREAS. STRAW TO BE OATS OR WHEAT STRAW, FREE FROM WEEDS, FOREIGN MATTER DETRIMENTAL TO PLANT LIFE, AND DRY. HAY OR CHOPPED

CORNSTALKS ARE NOT ACCEPTABLE.
3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THAT THE PREPARED SOIL BASE IS READY TO RECEIVE WORK. CULTIVATE THE TOPSOIL TO A DEPTH OF 4 INCHES WITH A MECHANICAL TILLER AND

SUBSEQUENTLY RAKE UNTIL SMOOTH.  REMOVE FOREIGN MATERIALS COLLECTED DURING CULTIVATION AND RAKING OPERATIONS.
4. APPLY FERTILIZER ACCORDING TO THE MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS.  LIMESTONE MAY BE APPLIED WITH THE FERTILIZER. APPLY FERTILIZER AFTER SMOOTH RAKING AND

PRIOR TO ROLLER COMPACTION AND MIX THOROUGHLY IN THE UPPER 2 INCHES OF TOPSOIL.
5. APPLY SEED EVENLY IN TWO INTERSECTING DIRECTIONS AND RAKE IN LIGHTLY. WATER TOPSOIL LIGHTLY PRIOR TO APPLYING SEED. DO NOT SEED AREA IN EXCESS OF THAT WHICH

CAN BE MULCHED ON THE SAME DAY.
6. ROLL SEEDED AREA WITH ROLLER NOT EXCEEDING 112 POUNDS.
7. IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING SEEDING AND COMPACTING, APPLY STRAW MULCH AT THE RATE OF ONE AND ONE HALF BALES PER 1,000 SQUARE FEET.  IMMEDIATELY AFTER MULCHING,

APPLY WATER WITH A FINE SPRAY AND SATURATE THE GROUND TO A DEPTH OF 4 INCHES.
8. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR WATERING SEEDED AREAS TO PREVENT GRASS AND SOIL FROM DRYING OUT UNTIL THE INSTALLATION IS INSPECTED AND ACCEPTED BY THE

OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE.
9. CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR RESEEDING BARE SPOTS FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR AFTER ACCEPTANCE OF INSTALLATION.

PLANTING NOTES:
1. ANY SERIES OF TREES TO BE PLACED IN A PARTICULAR ARRANGEMENT WILL BE FIELD CHECKED FOR ACCURACY. ANY PLANTS MISARRANGED WILL BE RELOCATED.
2. SOIL USED IN BACKFILLING PLANTING PITS SHALL BE TOPSOIL AND MIXED WITH 25% PEAT BY VOLUME. EXCEPT FOR ERICACEOUS PLANTS, VERY ACID OR SOUR SOIL (SOIL HAVING A pH less than 6)  SHALL BE MIXED

WITH SUFFICIENT LIME TO PRODUCE A SLIGHTLY ACID REACTION (A pH of 6.0 to 6.5). ADD 10-10-10 COMMERCIAL FERTILIZER AT THE RATE OF 2 POUNDS PER CUBIC YARD. MIX BOTH FERTILIZER AND PEAT
THOROUGHLY BY HAND OR ROTARY TILLER.

3. SOIL USED IN BACKFILLING ERICACEOUS PLANTS SHALL BE TOPSOIL MIXED WITH 50% PEAT BY VOLUME. ADD 5-10-5 COMMERCIAL FERTILIZER AT THE RATE OF 5 POUNDS PER CUBIC YARD.  MIX BOTH FERTILIZER
AND PEAT THOROUGHLY BY HAND OR ROTARY TILLER.

4. UPON SECURING PLANT MATERIAL AND BEFORE INSTALLATION, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OR OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE FOR A PRE-INSTALLATION INSPECTION TO VERIFY
ALL PLANT MATERIAL MEETS SPECIFICATION. MATCH TREES OF SAME SPECIES IN GROWTH CHARACTER AND UNIFORMITY.

5. APPLY HERBICIDE (TREFLAN OR EQUIVALENT) TO ALL PLANT BEDS PRIOR TO PLANTING FOR NOXIOUS WEED CONTROL AT A RATE OF 2 POUNDS PER 1,000 SQUARE FEET.
6. CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT A 10 OUNCE SAMPLE OF THE TOPSOIL PROPOSED TO A TESTING LABORATORY FOR ANALYSIS. SUBMIT TEST RESULTS WITH RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SUITABILITY TO THE OWNER'S

REPRESENTATIVE FOR APPROVAL.
7. PLANTS SHALL BE ORIENTED FOR BEST APPEARANCE AND VERTICAL. ALL NON-BIODEGRADABLE ROOT CONTAINERS SHALL BE REMOVED.
8. SELECTIVELY TRIM TREE BRANCHES BY 25%, MAINTAINING NATURAL SHAPE.  PRUNE ALL DEAD AND BROKEN BRANCHES IN TREES AND SHRUBS. REMOVE TAGS, TWINE OR OTHER NON-BIODEGRADABLE MATERIAL.
9. SCARIFY SUBSOIL IN PLANTING BEDS TO A DEPTH OF 3 INCHES. ALL PLANTING BEDS SHALL RECEIVE A MINIMUM OF 6 INCHES OF TOPSOIL.
10. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE SMOOTH, NEATLY TRENCHED (3 INCH DEEP) BED EDGES.
11. ALL PLANTING BEDS TO HAVE A MINIMUM 4 INCH DEEP PINE BARK MULCH, PINE STRAW MULCH OR OTHER MULCH AS SPECIFIED.
12. DIMENSIONS FOR TRUNK CALIPER, HEIGHTS, AND SPREAD SPECIFIED ON THE MATERIAL SCHEDULE ARE A GENERAL GUIDE FOR THE MINIMUM REQUIRED SIZE OF EACH PLANT. QUALITY AND SIZE OF PLANTS,

SPREAD OF ROOTS AND SIZE OF BALLS SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH A.N.S.I. Z80 “AMERICAN STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK” (CURRENT EDITION) AS PUBLISHED BY THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF
NURSERYMEN, INC.

13. THE QUANTITIES INDICATED ON THE MATERIAL SCHEDULE ARE PROVIDED FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE CONTRACTOR, BUT SHOULD NOT BE ASSUMED TO ALWAYS BE CORRECT. IN THE EVENT OF A DISCREPANCY,
THE PLANTING PLAN (PLANT SYMBOLS) WILL TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER THE MATERIAL SCHEDULE. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR HIS/HER OWN QUANTITY CALCULATIONS AND THE LIABILITY
PERTAINING TO THOSE QUANTITIES AND ANY RELATED CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND/OR PRICE QUOTATIONS.

14. CONTRACTOR TO WARRANTY ALL MATERIAL FOR ONE YEAR AFTER DATE OF FINAL ACCEPTANCE.

TREE PROTECTION DETAIL

NOTES:
1. TREE PROTECTION TO BE INSTALLED AT A

MINIMUM DISTANCE OF ONE AND A HALF TIMES
THE RADIUS OF THE DRIP LINE.

2. ALL TREE PROTECTION FENCING SHALL BE IN
PLACE PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF A GRADING
PERMIT.

1.5X DRIP LINE

PLANT SCHEDULE OSRD LANDSCAPE

4/28/22



177

178

179

180

181

182

183

184

185

186

187

188

189

198

199

200

201

241

242

243

244

245

246

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

RO
AD

 J

ROAD J

190

191

134

135

136

137

138

139

151

152

157

158

164

174

140

148

149

150

153

154

155

156

161

162

168

169

170

171
172

173

FA
IR

HI
LL

 D
RI

VE

SOUTHWICK DRIVE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

127

125

126

163

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

WNA

WNA
WNA W

N
A

W
NA

WNA
WNA

WNA

W
NA

W
NA

W
NA

WNA

WNA

WNA

WNA

WNA

W
NA

WNA

ROAD L

ROAD K

ROAD K

ROAD
 M

165

166 167

128
129

130

131

132

133

159

160

141

142143

144

145

146

147

ROSEBROOKE DRIVE

H
EA

R
TW

O
O

D
 L

AN
E

HEA
RTW

OOD LA
NE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

BR
IA

RM
ON

T 
PL

AC
E

FA
IR

H
IL

L 
D

R
IV

E

EASTON DRIVE

EASTON DRIVE

HARTWICK COURT

GARDENWOOD

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

 (50' ROW -

LOCAL STREET)

 (5
0' 

ROW
 -

LO
CAL S

TR
EET)

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (50' ROW -LOCAL STREET)

TERRACE

(R
-2

)
(O

SR
D

)

(R-2)
(OSRD)

ROSEBROOKE DRIVE

H
EA

R
TW

O
O

D
 L

AN
E

HEA
RTW

OOD LA
NE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

BR
IA

R
M

O
N

T 
PL

AC
E

BR
IA

RM
ON

T 
PL

AC
E

FA
IR

H
IL

L 
D

R
IV

E

EASTON DRIVE

EASTON DRIVE

HARTWICK COURT

GARDENWOOD

SPRINGWOOD TRAIL

 (50' ROW -

LOCAL STREET)

 (5
0' 

ROW
 -

LO
CAL S

TR
EET)

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (5
0'

 R
O

W
 -

LO
C

AL
 S

TR
EE

T)

 (50' ROW -LOCAL STREET)

TERRACE

LEGEND

TREES TO REMAIN

TREES TO REMOVE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:3
7 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:3
7 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 C
IV

IL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

C
O

U
N

TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

TREE
PRESERVATION
SHEET KEY

L2.0
21-0337

TF

1"=200'

MARCH 14, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
SO

U
TH

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

LANDSCAPE SITE DATA

PROPERTY INFORMATION:
STREET ADDRESS: 9814 SPLIT LOG ROAD
SITE ACREAGE: OSRD - 69.69 AC , R2 - 6.77 AC

TOTAL - 76.46 AC
OWNER/DEVELOPER:
ROB PEASE
CPS LAND, LLC
213 OVERLOOK CT.
BRENTWOOD, TN 37027
(615) 376-5177
ROB.PEASE@CPSLAND.COM

PROJECT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT:
TYLOR FISCHER, PLA
RAGAN-SMITH ASSOCIATES, INC.
315 WOODLAND STREET
NASHVILLE, TN 37206
(615) 244-8591
TFISCHER@RAGANSMITH.COM

RESIDENTIAL STANDARDS:
CALIPERS REQUIRED (25 CAL PER AC) 76.46 X 25: 1,911.50"
CALIPERS PROVIDED: 25,019.00"
STREET TREES (138 X 3"): 414.00"
BUFFER TREES (162 X 2"): 324.00"
EXISTING VEGETATION TO REMAIN: 24,281.00"

R2

OSRD/ R2 SPLIT

R2

R2

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

D
. (

FU
TU

R
E)

SAM DONALD RD.

SPLIT LOG RD. (FUTURE)

SEE SHEET L2.1

SEE SHEET L2.2

SEE SHEET L2.3 SEE SHEET L2.4

REFER TO TREE PRESERVATION REPORT FOR SIZE AND SPECIES OF TREES TO
BE REMOVED AND TREES TO REMAIN.

4/28/22



134

135

174

148

168

169

170

171

172

173

FA
IR

HI
LL

 D
RI

VE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

WNA

WNA

WNA

W
N

A

WNA

WNA

WNA

WNA

W
NA

W
NA

W
NA

WNA

WNA

WNA

WNA

WNA

W
NA

ROAD
 M

142
143

144

145

146

147

FA
IR

H
IL

L 
D

R
IV

E

* 42

81

82FA
IR

H
IL

L 
D

R
IV

E

* 42

81

82

LEGEND

TREES TO REMAIN

TREES TO REMOVE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:3
9 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:3
9 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 C
IV

IL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

C
O

U
N

TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

TREE PRESERVATION
PLAN

L2.1
21-0337

TF

1"=50'

MARCH 14, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
SO

U
TH

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmith

REFER TO TREE PRESERVATION REPORT FOR SIZE AND SPECIES OF TREES TO
BE REMOVED AND TREES TO REMAIN.

SEE SHEET L2.3

SE
E 

SH
EE

T 
L2

.2

4/28/22



134

135

136

137

138

139

140

SOUTHWICK DRIVE

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

127

125

126

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A

W
N

A
WNA

133

141

142

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

85

(R
-2

)
(O

SR
D

)

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

85

LEGEND

TREES TO REMAIN

TREES TO REMOVE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:4
0 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:4
0 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 C
IV

IL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

C
O

U
N

TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

TREE PRESERVATION
PLAN

L2.2
21-0337

TF

1"=50'

MARCH 14, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
SO

U
TH

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmithREFER TO TREE PRESERVATION REPORT FOR SIZE AND SPECIES OF TREES TO
BE REMOVED AND TREES TO REMAIN.

SEE SHEET L2.4

SEE SH
EET L2.1

4/28/22



151

152

157

158

164

148

149

150

153

154

155

156

161

162

SO
U

TH
W

IC
K 

D
R

IV
E

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

163

W
NA

WNA

WNA

ROAD L

ROAD K

132

133

159

160

LEGEND

TREES TO REMAIN

TREES TO REMOVE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:4
1 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:4
1 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 C
IV

IL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

C
O

U
N

TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

TREE PRESERVATION
PLAN

L2.1
21-0337

TF

1"=50'

MARCH 14, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
SO

U
TH

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmithREFER TO TREE PRESERVATION REPORT FOR SIZE AND SPECIES OF TREES TO
BE REMOVED AND TREES TO REMAIN.

SE
E 

SH
EE

T 
L2

.4

SEE SHEET L2.1

4/28/22



157

158

164

148

161

162

SO
UT

HW
IC

K 
DR

IV
E

127

163

ROAD L

ROAD K

ROAD K

165

166
167

128

129

130

131

132

133

159

160

(R
-2

)
(O

SR
D

)

(R-2)
(OSRD)

LEGEND

TREES TO REMAIN

TREES TO REMOVE

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:4
2 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

Know what'sbelow.
before you dig.Call

G
:\2

1-
03

37
\1

-C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
\O

SR
D

 P
LA

N
\L

AN
D

SC
AP

E\
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E 
SH

EE
TS

 S
O

U
TH

.D
W

G
PL

O
TT

ED
 B

Y 
G

R
AC

E 
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:4
2 

PM
   

LA
ST

 U
PD

AT
ED

 B
Y 

G
LE

N
TZ

 O
N

: 4
/2

8/
20

22
 3

:2
8 

PM

SP
LI

T 
LO

G
 R

O
AD

, B
R

EN
TW

O
O

D
, T

EN
N

ES
SE

E 
37

02
7 

16
TH

 C
IV

IL
 D

IS
TR

IC
T 

O
F 

W
IL

LI
AM

SO
N

C
O

U
N

TY

-
-
-
-
-

1

TREE PRESERVATION
PLAN

L2.4
21-0337

TF

1"=50'

MARCH 14, 2022

R
O

SE
B

R
O

O
K

E 
SO

U
TH

C
PS

 L
AN

D
, L

LC

FO
R

N

PLA
N

 
 

 
 

 
S

U
R

V
E Y     

 

 
D

E
S

I
G

N

 
 

   

Drawing No.

Drawing Title:

Scale:

Date:

Approved By:

Revisions:

Nashville - Murfreesboro - Chattanooga
ragansmith.com

Project No.

RaganSmithREFER TO TREE PRESERVATION REPORT FOR SIZE AND SPECIES OF TREES TO
BE REMOVED AND TREES TO REMAIN.

SEE SHEET L2.2

SE
E 

SH
EE

T 
L2

.3

4/28/22



TREES TO REMAIN ‐ ROSEBROOKE SOUTH

POINT CALIPER

11020 36 OAK

63000 10 HICKORY

63001 17 HACKBERRY

63005 9 MAPLE

63007 11 HICKORY

63008 11 HICKORY

63009 17 MAPLE

63010 11 MAPLE

63011 15 OAK

63012 24 OAK

63013 13 OAK

63014 17 CEDAR

63491 17 CEDAR

63492 14 SASSAFRAS

63493 9 PERSIMMON

63494 22 OAK

63495 10 OAK

63496 12 OAK

63497 22 OAK

63498 18 OAK

63499 15 OAK

63500 12 OAK

63501 16 CEDAR

63502 10 CEDAR

63503 14 ELM

63504 37 OAK

63505 27 OAK

63506 14 HICKORY

63507 4 CEDAR

63508 30 OAK

63509 25 OAK

63510 12 CEDAR

63511 13 OAK

63512 5 OAK

63513 15 OAK

63514 13 OAK

63515 15 OAK

63516 20 DBL10SYCAMORE

63517 8 SYCAMORE

63518 6 CEDAR

63519 13 OAK

63520 11 OAK

63521 17 OAK

63522 11 OAK

63523 11 OAK

63524 8 OAK

63525 20 DBL10HICKORY

63526 17 OAK

63527 15 CEDAR

63528 14 CEDAR

63529 12 CEDAR

63530 10 CEDAR

63531 11 ELM

63532 14 CEDAR

63533 16 CEDAR

63534 15 OAK

63535 13 OAK

63536 15 ELM

63537 18 ASH

63538 13 CEDAR

63539 9 ELM

63540 15 OAK

63541 13 HICKORY

63542 13 OAK

63543 16 OAK

63545 10 OAK

63546 10 OAK

63547 7 OAK

63548 14 OAK

63549 10 CEDAR

63550 10 CEDAR

63551 11 CEDAR

63552 6 CEDAR

63553 9 CEDAR

63554 10 PERSIMMON

63555 8 HICKORY

63556 12 HICKORY

63557 22 OAK

63558 14 ASH

63559 15 ASH

63560 16 PERSIMMON

63561 15 OAK

63562 16 OAK

63563 12 PERSIMMON

63564 13 PERSIMMON

63565 8 PERSIMMON

63566 21 OAK

63567 15 ELM

63568 12 ELM

63569 17 ASH

63701 22 OAK

63702 12 MAGNOLIA

SPECIES



63703 4 HOLLY

63704 4 HOLLY

63705 5 HOLLY

63706 5 HOLLY

63707 5 HOLLY

63708 6 HOLLY

63709 4 HACKBERRY

63710 9 HOLLY

63711 6 ASH

63712 8 HOLLY

63713 9 HOLLY

63714 10 HOLLY

63715 10 HOLLY

63716 8 HOLLY

63717 13 CHERRY

63718 26 DBL13WILLOW

63719 20 DBL10WILLOW

63720 9 HOLLY

63721 7 MAGNOLIA

63722 8 HOLLY

63723 22 OAK

63724 14 MAPLE

63725 15 MAPLE

63726 18 OAK

63727 10 HOLLY

63728 18 OAK

63729 7 OAK

63730 10 OAK

63731 12 OAK

63732 11 MAPLE

63733 16 OAK

63734 9 ELM

63738 14 ASH

63740 12 MAGNOLIA

63741 7 SYCAMORE

63742 7 SYCAMORE

63930 16 LOCUST

63931 16 PERSIMMON

63932 20 LOCUST

63934 31 ASH

63935 37 ASH

63936 24 OAK

63937 9 ELM

63938 14 DBL7PERSIMMON

63939 16 OAK

63940 9 OAK

63941 12 OAK

63942 18 OAK

63943 11 OAK

63944 13 OAK

63945 9 PERSIMMON

63952 11 OAK

63953 12 HACKBERRY

63954 12 OAK

63955 38 OAK

63956 44 OAK

63957 37 OAKBADCONDITION

63958 32 OAK

63959 34 OAK

63960 10 ELM

63961 15 OAK

63962 17 CEDAR

63963 12 OAK

63964 13 OAK

63965 4 HACKBERRY

63966 18 CEDAR

63967 6 HACKBERRY

63968 11 OAK

63986 8 HACKBERRY

63987 18 HACKBERRY

63988 12 HACKBERRY

63989 12 OAK

63990 10 OAK

63991 14 OAK

63992 10 ASH

63993 23 OAK

63994 12 HACKBERRY

63995 8 ASH

63996 12 HACKBERRY

63997 7 ELM

63998 6 HACKBERRY

63999 5 ASH

64000 10 HACKBERRY

64005 11 HACKBERRY

64006 8 ELM

64007 6 HACKBERRY

64008 18 OAK

64009 11 OAK

64010 7 HACKBERRY

64011 10 CATALPA

64012 22 DBL11CATALPA

64013 10 HACKBERRY

64014 19 OAK

64015 16 OAK



64016 12 OAK

64017 15 HACKBERRY

64018 16 HACKBERRY

64019 15 HACKBERRY

64022 18 HACKBERRY

64023 14 HACKBERRY

64024 12 HACKBERRY

64025 18 OAK

64026 14 ELM

64027 20 HACKBERRY

64028 21 HACKBERRY

64029 19 OAK

64030 23 OAK

64031 20 HACKBERRY

64032 8 HACKBERRY

64033 8 HACKBERRY

64034 9 HACKBERRY

64035 5 HACKBERRY

64036 6 WILLOW

64037 8 WILLOW

64038 4 HACKBERRY

64039 5 HACKBERRY

64040 23 OAK

64041 23 OAK

64042 4 BODDOCK

64043 28 DBL14CEDAR

64044 4 HACKBERRY

64045 5 HACKBERRY

64046 14 CEDAR

64047 19 HACKBERRY

64048 8 PERSIMMON

64049 9 PERSIMMON

64050 19 OAK

64051 20 OAK

64052 24 OAK

64053 14 CEDAR

64054 34 OAK

64055 12 OAK

64056 27 OAK

64057 6 HACKBERRY

64058 10 OAK

64059 4 OAK

64060 4 CEDAR

64061 4 ELM

64062 4 REDBUD

64063 7 ELM

64064 8 CEDAR

64065 6 HACKBERRY

64066 7 WALNUT

64067 28 OAK

64068 6 OAK

64069 4 HACKBERRY

64070 8 ELM

64071 10 WALNUT

64072 4 HACKBERRY

64073 4 HACKBERRY

64074 6 REDBUD

64075 6 REDBUD

64076 15 CEDAR

64077 10 LOCUST

64078 4 HACKBERRY

64079 7 HACKBERRY

64080 5 OAK

64081 16 ELM

64082 4 BODDOCK

64083 11 OAK

64084 14 OAK

64085 10 HACKBERRY

64086 6 HACKBERRY

64087 6 ASH

64088 7 HACKBERRY

64089 8 CEDAR

64090 13 ELM

64091 10 OAK

64092 32 OAK

64093 7 CEDAR

64094 13 OAK

64095 6 CEDAR

64096 10 CEDAR

64097 10 HACKBERRY

64098 9 CEDAR

64099 10 CEDAR

64100 12 CEDAR

64101 4 OAK

64102 4 OAK

64103 4 CEDAR

64104 4 HACKBERRY

64105 4 HACKBERRY

64106 4 CEDAR

64107 9 CEDAR

64108 10 CEDAR

64109 2 CEDAR

64110 9 CEDAR

64111 13 CEDAR



64112 9 HACKBERRY

64113 4 REDBUD

64114 64 OAK

64115 52 OAK

64116 5 BODDOCK

64117 13 ELM

64118 8 ELM

64119 16 OAK

64120 5 REDBUD

64121 6 REDBUD

64122 15 ELM

64123 8 ASH

64124 4 BODDOCK

64125 13 OAK

64126 12 CEDAR

64127 6 CEDAR

64128 5 BODDOCK

64129 23 MULBERRY

64130 9 HACKBERRY

64131 9 HACKBERRY

64132 9 HACKBERRY

64133 8 HACKBERRY

64134 8 HACKBERRY

64135 4 HACKBERRY

64136 9 HACKBERRY

64137 8 HACKBERRY

64138 6 HACKBERRY

64139 14 HACKBERRY

64140 7 LOCUST

64141 4 WALNUT

64142 20 OAK

64143 7 CEDAR

64144 7 BODDOCK

64145 4 CEDAR

64146 6 CEDAR

64147 5 CEDAR

64148 5 CEDAR

64149 4 CEDAR

64150 36 OAK

64151 8 CEDAR

64152 4 CEDAR

64153 4 ELM

64154 4 CEDAR

64155 4 CEDAR

64156 22 OAK

64157 5 CEDAR

64158 4 CEDAR

64159 16 OAK

64160 4 BODDOCK

64161 5 CEDAR

64162 6 CEDAR

64163 6 CEDAR

64164 5 CEDAR

64165 8 CEDAR

64166 32 OAK

64167 5 HACKBERRY

64168 9 ELM

64169 9 CEDAR

64170 6 CEDAR

64175 11 CEDAR

64176 9 CEDAR

64177 13 CEDAR

64178 4 CEDAR

64179 10 CEDAR

64180 15 CEDAR

64181 8 CEDAR

64182 9 CEDAR

64183 17 CEDAR

64184 6 CEDAR

64185 10 CEDAR

64186 15 CEDAR

64187 17 CEDAR

64188 16 CEDAR

64189 7 HACKBERRY

64191 22 CEDAR

64192 10 CEDAR

64193 16 CEDAR

64194 12 CEDAR

64195 6 CEDAR

64196 8 CEDAR

64197 6 CEDAR

64198 10 PERSIMMON

64199 9 PERSIMMON

64200 6 PERSIMMON

64201 9 PERSIMMON

64202 4 HACKBERRY

64203 5 CEDAR

64204 4 CEDAR

64205 9 PERSIMMON

64206 7 PERSIMMON

64207 7 PERSIMMON

64208 4 WALNUT

64213 7 CEDAR

64214 7 CEDAR



64215 6 CEDAR

64216 6 CEDAR

64217 6 CEDAR

64218 6 CEDAR

64219 6 CEDAR

64220 7 CEDAR

64221 9 CEDAR

64222 6 CEDAR

64223 13 CEDAR

64224 7 ELM

64225 5 CEDAR

64226 5 CEDAR

64227 4 HACKBERRY

64228 5 CEDAR

64229 4 REDBUD

64230 5 REDBUD

64231 6 CEDAR

64232 6 HACKBERRY

64233 4 WALNUT

64234 5 HACKBERRY

64235 6 PERSIMMON

64236 8 ELM

64237 8 PERSIMMON

64238 6 PERSIMMON

64239 7 PERSIMMON

64240 10 PERSIMMON

64241 5 CEDAR

64242 12 LOCUST

64243 11 CEDAR

64244 12 CEDAR

64245 13 CEDAR

64246 13 LOCUST

64247 12 PERSIMMON

64248 12 PERSIMMON

64249 4 REDBUD

64250 11 LOCUST

64251 10 PERSIMMON

64252 4 HACKBERRY

64253 6 PERSIMMON

64254 6 PERSIMMON

64255 8 ELM

64256 4 CEDAR

64257 4 CEDAR

64258 9 HACKBERRY

64259 6 HACKBERRY

64260 9 HACKBERRY

64261 10 AILANTHUS

64262 21 AILANTHUS

64263 14 HACKBERRY

64264 5 HACKBERRY

64265 5 CEDAR

64266 4 ELM

64267 5 ELM

64268 5 PERSIMMON

64269 8 PERSIMMON

64270 7 CEDAR

64271 5 CEDAR

64272 9 PERSIMMON

64273 6 PERSIMMON

64274 6 PERSIMMON

64275 4 PERSIMMON

64276 4 PERSIMMON

64277 5 HACKBERRY

64278 5 CEDAR

64279 13 ASH

64280 8 PERSIMMON

64281 8 CEDAR

64282 6 PERSIMMON

64283 9 PERSIMMON

64284 5 PERSIMMON

64285 5 PERSIMMON

64286 6 PERSIMMON

64287 6 CEDAR

64288 6 CEDAR

64289 7 PERSIMMON

64290 6 OAK

64291 9 CEDAR

64292 4 PERSIMMON

64293 6 PERSIMMON

64294 4 PERSIMMON

64295 9 PERSIMMON

64296 9 PERSIMMON

64297 5 PERSIMMON

64298 5 PERSIMMON

64299 5 PERSIMMON

64300 4 PERSIMMON

64301 6 PERSIMMON

64302 6 PERSIMMON

64303 5 PERSIMMON

64304 4 CEDAR

64305 4 CEDAR

64306 4 CEDAR

64307 10 CEDAR

64308 11 CEDAR



64309 9 CEDAR

64310 4 REDBUD

64311 18 LOCUST

64312 9 HACKBERRY

64313 4 CEDAR

64314 4 CEDAR

64315 6 ELM

64316 9 CEDAR

64317 9 LOCUST

64318 8 PERSIMMON

64319 6 PERSIMMON

64320 9 CEDAR

64321 6 CEDAR

64322 5 REDBUD

64323 4 HACKBERRY

64324 4 CEDAR

64325 5 PERSIMMON

64326 5 PERSIMMON

64327 5 CEDAR

64328 10 OAK

64329 9 CEDAR

64330 12 PERSIMMON

64331 9 PERSIMMON

64332 8 PERSIMMON

64333 4 PERSIMMON

64334 9 PERSIMMON

65538 4 CEDAR

65539 4 CEDAR

65540 11 LOCUST

65541 5 ASH

65542 8 HACKBERRY

65763 4 ASH

65765 5 ASH

65766 10 HACKBERRY

65767 4 HACKBERRY

65769 6 MAPLE

65770 5 HACKBERRY

65771 6 ELM

65772 10 HACKBERRY

65773 6 HACKBERRY

65774 4 MAPLE

65776 7 ASH

65777 4 CEDAR

65778 5 ASH

65779 4 ASH

65780 10 HACKBERRY

65781 14 ASH

65782 4 HACKBERRY

65783 6 HACKBERRY

65784 5 ASH

65785 8 ASH

65786 7 HACKBERRY

65787 4 ELM

65788 13 ASH

65789 7 MAPLE

65790 4 ELM

65791 4 ELM

65792 12 ASH

65793 15 ASH

65794 6 ELM

65795 5 REDBUD

65796 4 HACKBERRY

65797 4 ELM

65798 7 HACKBERRY

65799 5 HACKBERRY

65800 9 ELM

65801 4 ELM

65802 4 ELM

65803 4 ASH

65804 9 ASH

65805 5 ASH

65806 4 ASH

65807 4 ASH

65808 9 ELM

65836 9 HACKBERRY

65837 4 ASH

65838 11 ASH

65839 8 ASH

65840 5 HACKBERRY

65841 10 PERSIMMON

65842 10 PERSIMMON

65843 4 ASH

65844 9 PERSIMMON

65845 4 MAPLE

65846 13 ASH

65847 10 ELM

65848 9 ELM

65849 8 ELM

65850 14 MAPLE

65851 10 MAPLE

65852 4 WALNUT

65853 5 ELM

65854 13 ASH

65855 6 PERSIMMON



65856 4 ELM

65857 6 HACKBERRY

65858 4 CEDAR

65859 8 ASH

65860 6 ASH

65861 6 ASH

65862 4 ASH

65863 6 PERSIMMON

65864 7 ASH

65865 4 ASH

65866 6 ASH

65867 16 OAK

65868 4 OAK

65869 4 HACKBERRY

65870 4 HACKBERRY

65872 8 ELM

65873 6 ELM

65874 7 ASH

65875 7 HACKBERRY

65876 18 HACKBERRY

65877 4 CEDAR

65880 10 CEDAR

65881 26 OAK

65882 8 ASH

65883 4 ELM

65884 4 CEDAR

65885 4 ASH

65886 4 ASH

65887 5 ASH

65888 9 ASH

65889 8 ASH

65890 20 OAK

65891 4 ASH

65892 9 ELM

65893 9 ELM

65894 6 ASH

65895 10 ASH

65896 10 MAPLE

65897 14 ASH

65898 13 ASH

65899 6 ELM

65900 4 CEDAR

65901 10 ASH

65902 4 ASH

65903 8 MAPLE

65904 8 MAPLE

65905 9 MAPLE

65906 4 REDBUD

65907 5 ASH

65908 11 ASH

65909 11 ASH

65910 7 ASH

65911 4 ASH

65912 5 PERSIMMON

65913 9 PERSIMMON

65914 7 MAPLE

65915 10 OAK

65916 7 HACKBERRY

65917 5 HACKBERRY

65918 4 CEDAR

65919 5 CEDAR

65920 6 ELM

65921 4 ELM

65922 4 CEDAR

65923 4 CEDAR

65924 5 CEDAR

65925 7 CEDAR

65926 7 CEDAR

65927 4 ELM

65928 5 ELM

65929 8 CEDAR

65930 11 MAPLE

65931 11 ASH

65932 5 CEDAR

65933 5 ASH

65934 7 CEDAR

65935 7 CEDAR

65936 6 CEDAR

65937 6 ELM

65938 4 CEDAR

65939 5 CEDAR

65940 5 CEDAR

65941 12 CEDAR

65942 6 HACKBERRY

65943 4 HACKBERRY

65944 4 HACKBERRY

65945 10 HACKBERRY

65946 5 ELM

65947 6 ASH

65948 8 CEDAR

65949 8 CEDAR

65950 7 MULLBERRY

65951 10 BODDOCK

65952 4 MAPLE



65953 11 REDBUD

65954 12 CEDAR

65955 6 CEDAR

65956 12 HACKBERRY

65957 10 HACKBERRY

65958 4 CEDAR

65959 14 MAPLE

65960 16 MAPLEBADCONDITION

65961 4 CEDAR

65962 5 CEDAR

65963 10 ASH

65964 12 ASH

65965 8 ELM

65966 9 WALNUT

65967 6 HACKBERRY

65968 5 HACKBERRY

65969 6 ASH

65970 5 MAPLE

65971 4 ELM

65972 18 BODDOCK

65973 17 CEDAR

65974 8 ELM

65975 6 ELM

65976 7 MAPLE

65977 7 MAPLE

65978 5 MAPLE

65979 14 CEDAR

65980 6 ELM

65981 4 ELM

65982 10 ELM

65983 6 MAPLE

65984 6 MULLBERRY

65985 17 ASH

65986 8 HACKBERRY

65987 18 ELM

65988 10 ELM

65989 5 CEDAR

65990 10 ASH

65991 5 ELM

65992 4 ELM

65993 14 DBL7MAPLE

65994 10 ASH

65995 4 CEDAR

65996 6 ELM

65997 34 OAK

65998 10 ASH

65999 7 ASH

66000 5 HACKBERRY

66001 12 ASH

66002 4 ELM

66003 7 ELM

66004 7 ELM

66005 4 ELM

66006 4 ELM

66007 14 ELM

66008 4 CEDAR

66009 5 CEDAR

66010 6 PERSIMMON

66011 6 ASH

66012 10 ASH

66013 4 ELM

66014 12 OAK

66015 7 MAPLE

66016 13 ELM

66017 9 HACKBERRY

66018 5 CEDAR

66019 10 ELM

66020 6 ELM

66021 10 HACKBERRY

66022 9 CEDAR

66023 12 ELM

66024 4 CEDAR

66025 8 CEDAR

66026 10 ASH

66027 9 ELM

66028 9 ELM

66029 4 ELM

66030 8 HACKBERRY

66031 10 CEDAR

66032 10 CEDAR

66033 6 ELM

66034 5 ASH

66035 5 HACKBERRY

66036 8 HACKBERRY

66037 8 HACKBERRY

66038 10 ELM

66046 18 BODDOCK

66051 17 ASH

66052 13 CEDAR

66053 20 OAK

66072 17 ASH

66084 6 HACKBERRY

66085 16 HACKBERRY

66086 10 ASH



66087 4 CEDAR

66094 10 HACKBERRY

66095 8 HACKBERRY

66096 8 HACKBERRY

66097 5 HACKBERRY

66098 10 ASH

66099 4 REDBUD

66100 6 HACKBERRY

66101 6 HACKBERRY

66102 6 HACKBERRY

66103 10 LOCUST

66104 4 HACKBERRY

66105 6 HACKBERRY

66106 6 PERSIMMON

66107 6 PERSIMMON

66108 15 WALNUT

66109 8 WALNUT

66110 9 HACKBERRY

66111 7 HACKBERRY

66112 10 WALNUT

66113 5 WALNUT

66114 6 PERSIMMON

66115 6 PERSIMMON

66116 9 PERSIMMON

66117 10 HACKBERRY

66118 13 SASSAFRAS

66119 14 SASSAFRAS

66120 22 SASSAFRAS

66121 16 SASSAFRAS

66122 4 SASSAFRAS

66123 4 SASSAFRAS

66124 5 SASSAFRAS

66125 9 SASSAFRAS

66126 6 HACKBERRY

66127 10 WALNUT

66128 6 HACKBERRY

66129 6 MULLBERRY

66130 9 OAK

66131 4 OAK

66132 11 HACKBERRY

66133 8 ELM

66134 4 MAPLE

66135 6 ELM

66136 8 ELM

66137 8 WALNUT

66138 4 WALNUT

66139 13 HACKBERRY

66140 18 ASH

66141 10 ASH

66142 14 ASH

66143 18 ASH

66144 5 ELM

66145 7 ELM

66146 5 ELM

66147 15 OAK

66148 12 MAPLE

66149 7 ELM

66150 8 ELM

66151 10 HACKBERRY

66152 4 HACKBERRY

66153 9 HACKBERRY

66154 9 CEDAR

66155 5 ELM

66156 10 HACKBERRY

66157 7 HACKBERRY

66158 15 ASH

66159 14 HICKORY

66160 5 OAK

66161 4 OAK

66162 17 ASH

66163 6 ELM

66164 4 ELM

66165 20 ASH

66166 16 ASH

66167 6 HACKBERRY

66168 4 MAPLE

66169 5 ELM

66170 5 ELM

66171 8 ELM

66172 12 ELM

66173 4 OAK

66174 4 ELM

66175 6 ELM

66176 4 HACKBERRY

66177 19 ASH

66178 4 ELM

66179 5 HACKBERRY

66180 5 HACKBERRY

66181 5 HACKBERRY

66182 6 ELM

66183 5 OAK

66184 26 OAK

66185 10 HACKBERRY

66186 28 HACKBERRY



66187 5 HACKBERRY

66188 10 HACKBERRY

66189 14 OAK

66190 9 OAK

66191 5 MAPLE

66192 4 PERSIMMON

66193 4 CEDAR

66194 9 OAK

66195 5 ELM

66196 12 ASH

66197 7 ASH

66198 7 ASH

66199 6 ELM

66200 5 ELM

66201 8 PERSIMMON

66202 16 OAK

66203 5 HACKBERRY

66204 10 OAK

66205 10 HACKBERRY

66206 15 BODDOCK

66207 9 PERSIMMON

66208 12 OAK

66209 4 CEDAR

66210 4 CEDAR

66211 6 CEDAR

66212 4 CEDAR

66213 4 CEDAR

66214 9 ELM

66215 17 HACKBERRY

66216 38 OAK

66217 5 CEDAR

66218 4 WALNUT

66219 6 HACKBERRY

66220 8 HACKBERRY

66221 5 HACKBERRY

66222 6 HACKBERRY

66223 8 HACKBERRY

66224 10 HACKBERRY

66225 4 HACKBERRY

66226 6 HACKBERRY

66227 6 HACKBERRY

66228 6 HACKBERRY

66229 9 HACKBERRY

66230 5 HACKBERRY

66231 7 CEDAR

66232 6 CEDAR

66233 8 HACKBERRY

66234 17 HACKBERRY

66235 14 HACKBERRY

66236 7 HACKBERRY

66237 10 HICKORY

66239 33 HACKBERRY

66242 8 HACKBERRY

66243 6 HACKBERRY

66244 10 LOCUST

66245 31 OAK

66246 4 CEDAR

66247 10 PERSIMMON

66248 4 HACKBERRY

66249 16 OAK

66250 4 BODDOCK

66251 9 HACKBERRY

66252 6 HACKBERRY

66253 13 HACKBERRY

66254 7 HACKBERRY

66255 10 HACKBERRY

66256 4 CEDAR

66257 5 HACKBERRY

66258 6 HACKBERRY

66259 6 HACKBERRY

66260 9 HACKBERRY

66261 8 BODDOCK

66262 4 ASH

66263 8 ELM

66264 7 HACKBERRY

66265 5 HACKBERRY

66266 4 HACKBERRY

66267 10 HACKBERRY

66268 8 HACKBERRY

66269 8 HACKBERRY

66270 8 BODDOCK

66271 12 LOCUST

66272 4 OAK

66273 6 ELM

66274 6 HACKBERRY

66275 5 BODDOCK

66276 5 HACKBERRY

66277 5 HACKBERRY

66278 9 HACKBERRY

66279 5 BODDOCK

66280 7 HACKBERRY

66281 25 OAK

66282 4 HACKBERRY

66283 7 HACKBERRY



66284 10 PERSIMMON

66285 7 ELM

66286 4 HACKBERRY

66287 7 MAPLE

66288 4 HACKBERRY

66289 5 ELM

66290 8 ELM

66291 5 ELM

66292 4 HACKBERRY

66293 11 PERSIMMON

66294 6 ELM

66295 20 OAK

66296 5 OAK

66297 4 ELM

66298 4 ELM

66299 4 OAK

66300 16 OAK

66301 32 DBL16OAK

66302 4 OAK

66303 22 OAK

66304 25 OAK

66305 7 OAK

66306 10 OAK

66307 9 CEDAR

66308 12 DBL6ELM

66309 5 ELM

66310 6 HACKBERRY

66311 9 ELM

66312 4 MAPLE

66313 10 ELM

66314 7 ELM

66315 7 ASH

66316 8 ELM

66317 8 ELM

66318 10 ELM

66319 4 ELM

66320 8 MAPLE

66321 8 HACKBERRY

66322 8 ELM

66323 9 ELM

66324 5 ELM

66325 6 ELM

66326 10 ELM

66327 15 OAK

66328 6 ELM

66329 6 MAPLE

66330 6 ASH

66331 4 ELM

66332 10 ELM

66333 5 ASH

66334 10 ELM

66335 14 ELM

66336 6 OAK

66337 23 OAK

66338 9 OAK

66339 9 OAK

66340 4 ELM

66341 5 CEDAR

66342 4 CEDAR

66343 7 LOCUST

66344 12 LOCUST

66345 4 ELM

66346 4 ELM

66347 4 ELM

66348 4 ELM

66349 12 LOCUST

66350 13 ASH

66351 4 ASH

66352 9 LOCUST

66353 6 ELM

66354 6 ELM

66355 6 ELM

66356 5 ELM

66357 14 ELM

66358 4 MAPLE

66359 5 ELM

66360 7 ASH

66361 7 ASH

66362 5 ASH

66363 5 ASH

66364 4 ASH

66365 5 ASH

66366 5 OAK

66367 12 OAK

66368 10 OAK

66369 10 OAK

66370 17 OAK

66371 9 ASH

66372 4 ELM

66373 4 REDBUD

66374 5 HACKBERRY

66375 5 REDBUD

66376 6 ELM

66377 10 ELM



66378 6 ELM

66379 4 CEDAR

66380 9 LOCUST

66381 11 ASH

66382 5 ELM

66383 5 ELM

66384 9 ELM

66385 7 PERSIMMON

66386 8 CEDAR

66387 8 LOCUST

66388 9 OAK

66389 9 LOCUST

66390 7 ELM

66391 7 HACKBERRY

66392 9 ASH

66393 10 HACKBERRY

66394 9 ELM

66395 10 ELM

66396 6 ELM

66397 4 ELM

66398 4 ELM

66399 6 LOCUST

66400 4 CEDAR

66401 6 CEDAR

66402 5 ELM

66403 4 ELM

66404 10 HACKBERRY

66405 5 LOCUST

66406 7 LOCUST

66407 7 LOCUST

66411 4 LOCUST

66412 4 LOCUST

66413 4 LOCUST

66414 5 LOCUST

66415 12 ASH

66416 4 ELM

66417 7 PERSIMMON

66418 6 ELM

66419 10 ELM

66420 5 PERSIMMON

66421 6 PERSIMMON

66422 6 PERSIMMON

66423 6 ELM

66424 5 ELM

66425 7 CEDAR

66426 12 CEDAR

66427 6 ELM

66428 4 HACKBERRY

66429 5 ELM

66430 7 ELM

66431 7 ELM

66432 5 ELM

66433 4 CEDAR

66512 5 CEDAR

66548 7 CEDAR

66549 6 CEDAR

66550 6 CEDAR

66551 5 CEDAR

66552 8 ELM

66553 8 CEDAR

66554 10 CEDAR

66606 7 CEDAR

66610 8 CEDAR

66611 4 HACKBERRY

66612 9 OAK

66613 8 ELM

66614 8 HACKBERRY

66615 17 OAK

66616 15 ELM

66617 5 HACKBERRY

66618 4 HACKBERRY

66619 5 HACKBERRY

66620 10 HACKBERRY

66621 4 ELM

66622 5 HACKBERRY

66623 6 CEDAR

66624 4 CEDAR

66627 8 LOCUST

66628 10 CEDAR

66629 6 CEDAR

66630 5 CEDAR

66631 4 CEDAR

66632 5 CEDAR

66634 8 CEDAR

66635 7 CEDAR

66636 10 ELM

66648 4 CEDAR

66650 8 ELM

66651 5 ASH

66652 12 OAK

66653 4 CEDAR

66654 17 OAK

66655 16 OAK

66656 10 HACKBERRY



66657 4 ASH

66658 18 OAK

66659 18 ELM

66662 9 ASH

66663 9 ASH

66664 9 CEDAR

66665 10 CEDAR

66698 6 CEDAR

66699 6 CEDAR

66700 6 CEDAR

66701 5 PERSIMMON

66702 6 ASH

66703 7 ELM

66704 4 HACKBERRY

66705 8 WILLOW

66706 5 HACKBERRY

66707 8 BOXELDER

66708 10 CEDAR

66724 21 OAK

66726 4 CEDAR

66775 10 ELM

66777 6 OAK

66778 13 OAK

66779 5 OAK

66780 27 OAK

66781 13 OAK

66782 13 OAK

66783 25 OAK

66784 10 OAK

66785 10 ASH

66786 44 OAK

66787 17 OAK

66788 9 ASH

66789 8 OAK

66790 5 HACKBERRY

66791 6 CEDAR

66792 4 CEDAR

66793 6 ASH

66794 10 ASH

66795 16 ASH

66796 4 ELM

66800 26 OAK

66801 9 CEDAR

66802 8 ASH

66803 22 OAK

66804 4 ELM

66805 22 OAK

66806 9 ASH

66807 6 ASH

66808 18 OAK

66884 18 HACKBERRY

66885 18 HACKBERRY

66908 16 DBL8PERSIMMON

66909 18 DBL9PERSIMMON

66910 7 PERSIMMON

66911 16 DBL8PERSIMMON

66912 24 DBL12PERSIMMON

66913 6 PERSIMMON

67187 12 CEDAR

67188 11 CEDAR

67189 9 CEDAR

67190 5 HACKBERRY

67191 4 HACKBERRY

67192 4 CEDAR

67193 4 HACKBERRY

67194 5 ELM

67195 5 ELM

67196 7 CEDAR

67197 6 PERSIMMON

67198 5 CEDAR

67206 4 BODOCK

67207 15 HACKBERRY

67208 6 CEDAR

67210 10 HACKBERRY

67211 5 HACKBERRY

67212 9 HACKBERRY

67214 12 HACKBERRY

67215 10 DBL5BODDOCK

67216 6 HACKBERRY

67217 5 CEDAR

67218 10 HACKBERRY

67219 24 DBL12HACKBERRY

67220 10 HACKBERRY

67221 10 HACKBERRY

67222 7 WILLOW

67223 5 WILLOW

67224 6 WILLOW

67225 6 WILLOW

67226 6 WILLOW

67227 6 WILLOW

67228 6 WILLOW

67229 4 WILLOW

67230 4 WILLOW

67231 4 COTTONWOOD



67232 8 COTTONWOOD

67233 8 COTTONWOOD

67234 10 COTTONWOOD

67235 12 COTTONWOOD

67236 4 WILLOW

67237 4 WILLOW

67238 6 COTTONWOOD

67239 7 WILLOW

67240 5 WILLOW

67241 5 WILLOW

67242 4 WILLOW

67243 4 WILLOW

67244 11 COTTONWOOD

67245 10 ASH

67246 4 PERSIMMON

67247 4 PERSIMMON

67248 6 HACKBERRY

67249 7 HACKBERRY

67250 5 HACKBERRY

67251 6 ELM

67252 10 HACKBERRY

67253 6 HACKBERRY

67254 6 HACKBERRY

67255 6 HACKBERRY

67256 10 HACKBERRY

67257 7 ASH

67258 9 HACKBERRY

67259 10 DBL5WILLOW

67260 8 DBL4WILLOW

67261 10 HACKBERRY

67262 9 BOXELDER

67263 17 PERSIMMON

68968 18 CEDAR

68969 12 ELM

68970 6 ELM

68971 9 HACKBERRY

68972 7 CEDAR

68973 8 ELM

68974 10 ELM

68975 7 HACKBERRY

68976 9 PERSIMMON

68977 9 PERSIMMON

68978 10 PERSIMMON

68979 10 PERSIMMON

68980 12 PERSIMMON

68981 18 PERSIMMON

68982 4 HACKBERRY

68983 6 HACKBERRY

68984 4 HACKBERRY

68985 4 HACKBERRY

68986 5 PERSIMMON

68987 6 BODOCK

68988 13 ELM

68989 4 HACKBERRY

68990 8 HACKBERRY

68991 6 ELM

68992 4 OAK

68993 10 LOCUST

68994 9 HACKBERRY

68995 6 HACKBERRY

68996 13 HACKBERRY

68997 8 ELM

68998 7 HACKBERRY

68999 4 HACKBERRY

69000 10 ELM

69001 8 BODOCK

69002 4 ELM

69003 5 ELM

69004 7 ELM

69005 4 HACKBERRY

69006 7 HACKBERRY

69007 12 HACKBERRY

69008 9 HACKBERRY

69009 9 ELM

69010 8 HACKBERRY

69011 13 WALNUT

69012 10 HACKBERRY

69013 6 HACKBERRY

69014 4 HACKBERRY

69015 4 HACKBERRY

69016 10 HACKBERRY

69017 10 HACKBERRY

69018 6 HACKBERRY

69019 4 HACKBERRY

69020 8 HACKBERRY

69021 12 HACKBERRY

69022 5 HACKBERRY

69023 10 HACKBERRY

69024 4 HACKBERRY

69025 10 HACKBERRY

69026 4 HACKBERRY

69027 8 HACKBERRY

69028 4 HACKBERRY

69029 6 HACKBERRY



69030 7 OAK

69031 8 PERSIMMON

69032 5 HACKBERRY

69033 5 HACKBERRY

69034 5 HACKBERRY

69035 7 ELM

69036 5 ELM

69037 4 CEDAR

69038 4 ELM

69039 5 ELM

69040 5 CEDAR

69041 8 REDBUD

69042 15 OAK

69043 4 ELM

69044 5 ELM

69045 5 ELM

69046 5 ELM

69047 5 ELM

69048 5 CEDAR

69049 15 OAK

69050 5 OAK

69051 17 OAK

69052 5 ASH

69053 5 ASH

69054 13 OAK

69055 16 OAK

69056 4 CEDAR

69057 16 ELM

69058 4 ELM

69059 5 CEDAR

69060 13 ELM

69061 4 HACKBERRY

69062 8 HACKBERRY

69063 6 ELM

69064 9 HACKBERRY

69065 9 ELM

69066 6 HACKBERRY

69067 4 HACKBERRY

69068 8 HACKBERRY

69069 5 ELM

69070 9 HACKBERRY

69071 12 LOCUST

69072 5 HACKBERRY

69073 13 LOCUST

69074 6 HACKBERRY

69075 11 ELM

69076 6 ELM

69077 7 HACKBERRY

69078 11 HACKBERRY

69079 10 HACKBERRY

69080 10 ELM

69081 10 ELM

69082 10 CEDAR

69083 9 LOCUST

69084 4 HACKBERRY

69085 12 HACKBERRY

69086 4 ELM

69087 10 HACKBERRY

69088 6 HACKBERRY

69089 6 HACKBERRY

69090 7 HACKBERRY

69091 7 HACKBERRY

69092 7 HACKBERRY

69093 4 CEDAR

69094 5 ELM

69095 7 HACKBERRY

69096 8 ELM

69097 8 HACKBERRY

69098 5 HACKBERRY

69099 10 ELM

69100 5 ELM

69101 6 HACKBERRY

69102 11 HACKBERRY

69103 7 CEDAR

69104 10 ELM

69105 8 HACKBERRY

69106 5 ELM

69107 6 HACKBERRY

69108 5 HACKBERRY

69109 11 ELM

69110 12 CEDAR

69111 10 ELM

69112 8 HACKBERRY

69113 8 HACKBERRY

69114 5 ELM

69115 6 PERSIMMON

69116 9 CEDAR

69117 7 CEDAR

69118 6 ELM

69119 4 ELM

69120 4 ASH

69121 8 ELM

69122 40 BODOCK

69127 9 ELM



69128 10 ELM

69129 15 ASH

69130 10 DBL5HACKBERRY

69131 6 CEDAR

69132 4 CEDAR

69133 12 LOCUST

69134 8 ASH

69135 6 REDBUD

69136 6 REDBUD

69137 6 REDBUD

69138 6 REDBUD

69139 8 WALNUT

69140 10 ELM

69141 22 OAK

69142 7 ELM

69143 13 ASH

69144 4 ASH

69145 36 DBL18OAK

69146 27 OAK

69147 20 OAK

69148 25 OAK

69149 10 OAK

69150 28 OAK

69151 5 ELM

69152 5 ELM

69153 5 OAK

69154 5 REDBUD

69155 4 ELM

69156 10 ASH

69157 5 ELM

69158 12 ASH

69159 12 ASH

69160 16 OAK

69161 8 ASH

69162 13 ASH

69163 9 ASH

69164 10 ASH

69165 9 CEDAR

69166 6 ELM

69167 6 CEDAR

69168 6 CEDAR

69169 9 PERSIMMON

69170 15 OAK

69171 13 HACKBERRY

69172 14 CEDAR

69173 4 ASH

69174 6 MAPLE

69175 10 HACKBERRY

69176 12 CEDAR

69177 7 HACKBERRY

69178 4 HACKBERRY

69179 9 HACKBERRY

69180 9 HACKBERRY

69181 10 CEDAR

69182 5 CEDAR

69183 6 CEDAR

69184 6 CEDAR

69185 4 CEDAR

69186 13 HACKBERRY

69187 10 CEDAR

69188 8 ASH

69189 10 ELM

69190 4 ELM

69203 10 ELM

69204 13 CEDAR

69205 12 ASH

69206 12 ASH

69207 5 CEDAR

69208 11 CEDAR

69209 4 ASH

69210 6 ELM

69211 19 CEDAR

69212 10 ELM

69213 13 ASH

69214 4 ELM

69215 11 ELM

69216 8 ASH

69217 6 ELM

69218 5 ELM

69219 5 ELM

69220 4 ELM

69221 23 OAK

69222 4 ELM

69223 10 ASH

69224 8 ELM

69225 10 ASH

69226 8 ASH

69227 8 ASH

69228 11 ELM

69229 10 OAK

69230 20 OAK

69231 10 ASH

69232 17 OAK

69233 4 ASH



69234 10 ELM

69235 27 OAK

69236 4 OAK

69237 19 OAK

69238 32 OAK

69239 5 OAK

69240 10 OAK

69241 10 ASH

69242 6 OAK

69243 6 OAK

69244 11 ASH

69245 11 OAK

69246 9 ELM

69247 8 CEDAR

69248 4 ELM

69249 10 ELM

69250 14 ASH

69251 4 OAK

69252 4 OAK

69253 11 ASH

69254 8 ELM

69255 4 ELM

69256 8 ELM

69257 7 ELM

69258 4 REDBUD

69259 4 REDBUD

69260 7 ASH

69261 5 ASH

69262 17 OAK

69263 13 ASH

69264 12 ASH

69265 8 ASH

69266 7 CEDAR

69267 5 ELM

69268 5 ELM

69269 15 ELM

69270 25 OAK

69271 26 OAK

69272 6 CEDAR

69273 5 CEDAR

69274 16 OAK

69275 12 OAK

69276 7 OAK

69277 29 OAK

69278 14 OAK

69664 10 ELM

69665 8 HACKBERRY

69666 4 ELM

69824 15 ASH

69825 15 ASH

69826 11 ASH

69827 11 ASH

69828 17 ASH

69829 13 MAPLE

69830 5 OAK

69831 12 ASH

69832 6 ELM

69833 29 OAK

69834 12 ASH

69835 6 ELM

69836 13 MAPLE

69837 10 ASH

69838 11 HICKORY

69839 17 HICKORY

69840 10 MAPLE

69841 7 ELM

69842 10 HICKORY

69843 13 MAPLE

69844 38 OAK

69845 12 HICKORY

69846 5 MAPLE

69847 7 MAPLE

69848 18 MAPLE

69849 4 MAPLE

69850 22 ELM

69851 12 MAPLE

69852 5 MAPLE

69853 7 HICKORY

69854 16 OAK

69855 24 OAK

69856 7 ELM

69857 13 HICKORY

69858 9 MAPLE

69859 9 HICKORY

69860 8 MAPLE

69861 5 MAPLE

69862 10 MAPLE

69863 10 MAPLE

69864 31 OAK

69865 14 OAK

69866 14 OAK

69867 10 MAPLE

69868 10 MAPLE

69869 8 MAPLE



69870 18 OAK

69871 7 MAPLE

69872 7 MAPLE

69873 7 ASH

69874 6 HICKORY

69875 16 HICKORY

69876 26 OAK

69877 7 ASH

69878 34 OAK

69879 5 MAPLE

69880 6 ASH

69881 18 HICKORY

69882 5 MAPLE

69883 6 ELM

69884 16 ASH

69885 6 ELM

69886 6 ELM

69887 6 ELM

69888 4 ELM

69889 9 HACKBERRY

69890 13 ASH

69986 12 OAK

69990 12 ASH

69991 4 ELM

69992 4 ELM

69993 5 ASH

69994 14 OAK

69995 12 ASH

69996 12 ASH

69997 6 HICKORY

69998 10 HICKORY

69999 14 HICKORY

70000 20 ASH

70001 12 MAPLE

70002 8 MAPLE

70003 12 OAK

70004 7 MAPLE

70005 11 MAPLE

70006 22 OAK

70007 10 ASH

70008 6 MAPLE

70009 8 ASH

70010 10 ASH

70011 7 MAPLE

70012 10 ASH

70013 11 MAPLE

70014 10 ASH

70015 13 MAPLE

70016 15 MAPLE

70017 10 ASH

70018 10 ASH

70019 4 MAPLE

70020 16 HICKORY

70021 8 MAPLE

70022 12 MAPLE

70023 11 ASH

70024 7 ASH

70025 12 ASH

70026 7 MAPLE

70027 9 MAPLE

70028 17 MAPLE

70029 7 MAPLE

70030 6 MAPLE

70031 13 ASH

70032 15 MAPLE

70033 17 MAPLE

70034 14 ASH

70035 12 MAPLE

70036 6 MAPLE

70037 5 MAPLE

70038 19 ASH

70039 7 OAK

70040 17 ASH

70041 11 HICKORY

70042 13 HICKORY

70043 4 MAPLE

70044 13 ASH

70045 10 MAPLE

70046 24 OAK

70047 10 MAPLE

70048 10 MAPLE

70049 7 MAPLE

70050 7 MAPLE

70051 11 HICKORY

70124 9 HACKBERRY

70125 10 HACKBERRY

70126 4 HACKBERRY

70127 5 HACKBERRY

70128 5 HACKBERRY

70129 5 HACKBERRY

70130 8 HACKBERRY

70131 15 ELM

70132 10 HACKBERRY

70133 6 HACKBERRY



70134 12 TRI4HACKBERRY

70135 12 HACKBERRY

70136 6 HACKBERRY

70137 10 HACKBERRY

70138 4 HACKBERRY

70139 4 HACKBERRY

70140 8 HACKBERRY

70141 5 ELM

70142 5 ELM

70143 5 CEDAR

70144 10 ELM

70145 6 ELM

70146 6 HACKBERRY

70147 7 CEDAR

70148 4 ELM

70149 4 ELM

70150 8 ELM

70151 4 HACKBERRY

70152 5 MAPLE

70153 10 CEDAR

70154 14 HACKBERRY

70155 9 HACKBERRY

70156 10 ELM

70157 4 ELM

70158 4 ELM

70159 10 LOCUST

70328 10 WILLOW

70329 13 WILLOW

70330 9 WILLOW

70331 12 WILLOW

70332 15 WILLOW

70333 8 WILLOW

70334 5 WILLOW

70335 5 WILLOW

70336 5 WILLOW

70337 14 DBL7WILLOW

70338 12 WILLOW

70339 10 WILLOW

70340 10 DBL5WILLOW

70341 8 DBL4WILLOW

70342 14 DBL7WILLOW

70343 12 DBL6WILLOW

70344 10 DBL5WILLOW

70345 10 DBL5WILLOW

70346 12 DBL6WILLOW

70347 5 COTTONWOOD

70752 7 ASH

70753 4 ELM

70754 8 ASH

70755 8 ASH

70757 6 CEDAR

70758 6 ASH

70759 6 HACKBERRY

70760 12 ASH

70761 4 HACKBERRY

70762 12 ASH

70763 12 ASH

70764 4 ELM

70765 6 ELM

70766 8 HACKBERRY

70767 11 CEDAR

70768 14 ASH

70769 12 ASH

70770 8 HICKORY

70771 10 MAPLE

70772 15 ASH

70773 15 ASH

70774 10 MAPLE

70775 10 ASH

70776 16 OAK

70777 18 ASH

70778 7 MAPLE

70779 5 MAPLE

70780 5 MAPLE

70781 5 OAK

70782 11 ASH

70783 10 MAPLE

70784 8 MAPLE

70785 8 MAPLE

70786 15 MAPLE

70787 15 MAPLE

70788 12 MAPLE

70789 4 MAPLE

70790 10 ASH

70791 13 ASH

70792 4 CEDAR

70793 12 ASH

70794 10 ASH

70795 5 MAPLE

70796 5 MAPLE

70797 11 ASH

70798 8 ASH

70799 11 ASH

70800 5 CEDAR



72080 11 HACKBERRY

72090 12 OAK

72128 6 ELM

72130 6 ELM

72131 10 ELM

72132 4 ELM

72133 5 HACKBERRY

72134 6 ELM

72135 20 OAK

72136 18 OAK

72137 12 OAK

72138 13 PERSIMMON

72139 5 OAK

72140 7 OAK

72141 9 OAK

72142 12 DBL6OAK

72143 5 ELM

72144 8 ELM

72145 4 HACKBERRY

72146 6 HACKBERRY

72147 7 OAK

72148 21 OAK

72149 24 OAK

72150 5 HACKBERRY

72151 12 OAK

72152 4 OAK

72153 15 OAK

72154 6 HACKBERRY

72155 12 HACKBERRY

72156 10 HACKBERRY

72157 4 HACKBERRY

72158 6 OAK

72159 14 OAK

72160 14 OAK

72161 5 OAK

72162 5 OAK

72163 5 ELM

72164 5 CEDAR

72165 4 CEDAR

72166 12 HACKBERRY

72167 12 HACKBERRY

72168 4 ELM

72169 12 HACKBERRY

72171 10 HACKBERRY

72264 5 CEDAR

72265 14 HACKBERRY

72267 10 HACKBERRY

72268 11 HACKBERRY

72269 11 HACKBERRY

72270 10 HACKBERRY

72271 7 HACKBERRY

72272 4 HACKBERRY

72273 15 OAK

72274 5 HACKBERRY

72275 22 HACKBERRY

72276 28 ELM

72277 11 HACKBERRY

72278 4 MULBERRY

72279 10 HACKBERRY

72280 8 HACKBERRY

72281 9 HACKBERRY

72282 5 BOXELDER

72283 11 HACKBERRY

72290 7 HACKBERRY

72291 13 ELM

72292 10 HACKBERRY

72295 4 HACKBERRY

72296 15 PERSIMMON

72297 13 ELM

72298 11 HACKBERRY

72299 5 ELM

72300 7 ELM

72301 15 ELM

72302 8 ELM

72303 7 HACKBERRY

72304 9 PERSIMMON

72305 7 PERSIMMON

72306 5 ELM

72307 6 HACKBERRY

72308 12 HACKBERRY

72309 11 ELM

72310 8 HACKBERRY

72312 22 HACKBERRY

72313 7 HACKBERRY

72314 13 HACKBERRY

72315 8 HACKBERRY

72316 10 HACKBERRY

72317 8 PERSIMMON

72318 8 PERSIMMON

72319 6 HACKBERRY

72320 12 HACKBERRY

72321 7 ELM

72322 6 HACKBERRY

72323 11 HACKBERRY



72324 5 HACKBERRY

72325 12 HACKBERRY

72326 7 HACKBERRY

72327 10 HACKBERRY

72328 8 HACKBERRY

72329 8 HACKBERRY

72330 23 HACKBERRY

72331 6 HACKBERRY

72332 7 HACKBERRY

72333 7 ELM

72334 10 HACKBERRY

72335 10 HACKBERRY

72336 5 ELM

72337 8 HACKBERRY

72338 8 HACKBERRY

72339 5 HACKBERRY

72340 8 HACKBERRY

72341 8 WALNUT

72343 4 HACKBERRY

72344 12 HACKBERRY

72345 7 LOCUST

72346 7 ELM

72347 10 HACKBERRY

72348 5 HACKBERRY

72349 8 HACKBERRY

72350 8 HACKBERRY

72351 11 HACKBERRY

72352 7 ELM

72353 12 ELM

72354 7 ELM

72355 5 HACKBERRY

72356 4 HACKBERRY

72357 11 HACKBERRY

72358 9 HACKBERRY

72359 13 ASH

72360 10 HACKBERRY

72365 6 ASH

72373 6 HACKBERRY

72374 11 HACKBERRY

72375 6 HACKBERRY

72376 5 ELM

72377 7 BODDOCK

72378 11 OAK

72379 6 HACKBERRY

72380 6 HACKBERRY

72381 4 CEDAR

72382 10 ELM

72383 4 ELM

72384 4 ASH

72385 12 PERSIMMON

72386 4 ELM

72387 4 ELM

72388 6 ASH

72395 5 HACKBERRY

72396 5 HACKBERRY

72397 7 HACKBERRY

72398 10 HACKBERRY

72399 9 ELM

72400 5 PERSIMMON

72412 8 ASH

72414 12 OAK

72415 10 HACKBERRY

72416 5 ELM

72417 15 ELM

72418 9 ELM

72421 8 OAK

72422 5 CEDAR

72423 5 CEDAR

72424 10 HACKBERRY

72425 6 HACKBERRY

72426 12 HACKBERRY

72427 5 ASH

72428 17 HACKBERRY

72429 7 HACKBERRY

72431 6 ELM

72433 8 HACKBERRY

72434 6 HACKBERRY

72436 14 HACKBERRY

72437 10 ELM

72438 7 HACKBERRY

72439 5 HACKBERRY

72440 6 ELM

72441 14 ELM

72442 8 ELM

72443 14 HACKBERRY

72445 7 HACKBERRY

72446 6 HACKBERRY

72447 8 BODDOCK

72448 4 CEDAR

72449 4 CEDAR

72450 20 DBL10BODDOCK

72451 15 HACKBERRY

72452 18 HACKBERRY

72453 20 QUAD5BODDOCK



72454 7 HACKBERRY

72455 5 HACKBERRY

72456 6 HACKBERRY

72459 11 WALNUT

72486 10 HACKBERRY

72487 5 ELM

72488 8 OAK

72489 4 CEDAR

72561 11 HACKBERRY

72565 8 ELM

72566 8 HACKBERRY

72567 8 HACKBERRY

72568 6 HACKBERRY

73346 6 WALNUT

73438 10 PERSIMMON

73439 5 HACKBERRY

73441 5 ELM

73442 4 BOXELDER

73443 6 HACKBERRY

73444 6 HACKBERRY

73445 7 HACKBERRY

73446 10 BOXELDER

73447 5 HACKBERRY

73455 12 HACKBERRY

73456 12 HACKBERRY

73457 9 HACKBERRY

73458 10 ELM

73459 4 OAK

73460 5 HACKBERRY

73462 7 HACKBERRY

73463 13 HACKBERRY

73465 10 HACKBERRY

73466 12 HACKBERRY

73467 15 HACKBERRY

73469 15 ASH

73470 10 HACKBERRY

73471 10 WALNUT

73512 6 ELM

73513 6 HACKBERRY

73514 4 BOXELDER

73517 4 ELM

73518 6 ELM

73519 6 BOXELDER

73520 4 BOXELDER

73521 6 ELM

73522 27 ASH

73527 14 OAK

73536 5 HACKBERRY

73537 13 MAPLE

73547 4 MAPLE

73548 13 ELM

73549 10 ELM

73550 4 OAK

73551 8 ELM

73552 11 ELM

73553 4 HICKORY

73554 12 MAPLE

73555 10 SASSAFRAS

73556 10 SASSAFRAS

73557 4 MAPLE

73558 4 ELM

73559 11 SASSAFRAS

73560 11 SASSAFRAS

73561 12 SASSAFRAS

73562 12 SASSAFRAS

73563 12 MAPLE

73564 6 HACKBERRY

73565 21 WALNUT

73566 10 HACKBERRY

73567 8 MULBERRY

73568 4 HACKBERRY

73569 4 OAK

73570 15 ELM

73571 6 HACKBERRY

73572 8 HACKBERRY

73573 11 WALNUT

73574 12 HACKBERRY

73575 12 HACKBERRY

73576 12 HACKBERRY

73577 6 ASH

73578 8 SASSAFRAS

73579 11 HACKBERRY

73580 15 HACKBERRY

73581 15 ASH

73582 12 ASH

73615 6 ELM

73616 15 ASH

73639 9 SASSAFRAS

73640 9 SASSAFRAS

73641 9 SASSAFRAS

73642 7 SASSAFRAS

73643 6 MAPLE

73644 4 BOXELDER

73645 5 CEDAR



73646 10 ASH

73647 13 SASSAFRAS

73648 10 SASSAFRAS

73649 10 SASSAFRAS

73650 10 SASSAFRAS

73651 10 SASSAFRAS

73652 8 SASSAFRAS

73653 10 SASSAFRAS

73654 5 ASH

73655 4 ELM

73656 4 MAPLE

73657 8 SASSAFRAS

73658 8 SASSAFRAS

73659 8 SASSAFRAS

73660 8 SASSAFRAS

73661 8 SASSAFRAS

73662 10 SASSAFRAS

73663 12 SASSAFRAS

73664 4 MAPLE

73665 5 SASSAFRAS

73666 8 SASSAFRAS

73667 8 SASSAFRAS

73668 14 SASSAFRAS

73669 14 SASSAFRAS

73670 7 SASSAFRAS

73671 10 SASSAFRAS

73672 8 MAPLE

73673 4 MAPLE

73674 10 SASSAFRAS

73675 13 SASSAFRAS

73676 5 SASSAFRAS

73677 12 SASSAFRAS

73678 12 SASSAFRAS

73679 6 SASSAFRAS

73680 17 SASSAFRAS

73681 10 SASSAFRAS

73682 4 MAPLE

73683 6 ASH

73684 6 ELM

73685 4 BOXELDER

73686 10 HACKBERRY

73687 5 HACKBERRY

73688 4 ELM

73689 7 HACKBERRY

73690 7 HACKBERRY

73691 7 OAK

73692 5 ASH

73693 15 WALNUT

73694 4 HACKBERRY

73695 10 ELM

73696 9 ELM

73697 5 OAK

73698 7 MAPLE

73699 7 ELM

73700 19 MAPLE

73701 12 SASSAFRAS

73702 10 SASSAFRAS

73703 10 SASSAFRAS

73704 10 SASSAFRAS

73705 12 SASSAFRAS

73706 7 SASSAFRAS

73707 11 ELM

73708 4 ELM

73709 4 MAPLE

73710 6 MAPLE

73711 12 SASSAFRAS

73715 4 MAPLE

73716 8 MAPLE

73717 11 SASSAFRAS

73718 11 SASSAFRAS

73719 25 OAK

73720 28 OAK

73721 24 OAK

73722 6 ASH

73723 10 HACKBERRY

73724 4 ELM

73725 8 ELM

73726 9 ASH

73727 7 HACKBERRY

73728 7 MAPLE

73729 8 MAPLE

73730 10 PERSIMMON

73731 17 ASH

73732 9 ASH

73733 5 ELM

73734 10 ASH

73735 15 ASH

73736 7 MAPLE

73737 4 OAK

73738 13 ASH

73739 6 ELM

73740 22 OAK

73741 6 ELM

73742 6 ELM



73743 6 ELM

73744 10 MAPLE

73745 5 ASH

73746 4 ELM

73747 12 HACKBERRY

73748 10 MAPLE

73749 5 ELM

73750 12 OAK

73751 31 OAK

73752 5 ELM

73753 13 MAPLE

73754 13 MAPLE

73755 10 MAPLE

73756 14 ASH

73757 9 MAPLE

73758 15 ASH

73759 26 OAK

73760 8 ELM

73761 11 MAPLE

73762 18 OAK

73763 26 OAK

73764 12 MAPLE

73765 8 HACKBERRY

73766 7 MAPLE

73767 13 SASSAFRAS

73768 9 MAPLE

73769 10 SASSAFRAS

73770 5 ELM

73771 4 ELM

73772 12 SASSAFRAS

73773 5 MAPLE

73774 11 SASSAFRAS

73775 13 SASSAFRAS

73776 14 SASSAFRAS

73777 14 SASSAFRAS

73778 18 ELM

73779 5 ELM

73780 18 HACKBERRY

73781 17 MAPLE

73782 8 HACKBERRY

73783 5 ELM

73784 7 ELM

73785 8 HACKBERRY

73786 8 HACKBERRY

73787 13 HACKBERRY

73788 5 BOXELDER

73790 10 HACKBERRY

73792 10 HACKBERRY

73793 12 HACKBERRY

73794 13 BOXELDER

73795 6 HACKBERRY

73797 5 MAPLE

73798 20 WALNUT

73799 13 SASSAFRAS

73800 12 MAPLE

73801 6 MAPLE

73802 9 MAPLE

73803 8 OAK

73804 10 SASSAFRAS

73805 15 SASSAFRAS

73806 15 ELM

73807 6 MAPLE

73808 5 MAPLE

73809 10 SASSAFRAS

73810 10 SASSAFRAS

73811 10 SASSAFRAS

73812 10 SASSAFRAS

73813 8 SASSAFRAS

73814 5 MAPLE

73815 16 OAK

73816 9 HICKORY

73817 12 MAPLE

73818 7 MAPLE

73819 11 MAPLE

73820 31 ASH

73821 5 OAK

73822 6 MAPLE

73823 8 MAPLE

73824 13 ASH

73825 8 OAK

73826 4 ELM

73827 18 ASH

73828 5 ELM

73829 5 ASH

73830 14 OAK

73831 12 OAK

73832 12 OAK

73833 7 ASH

73834 16 OAK

73835 4 ELM

73836 7 MAPLE

73837 10 OAK

73838 6 MAPLE

73839 19 ASH



73840 7 ELM

73841 6 MAPLE

73842 16 ASH

73843 9 MAPLE

73844 12 MAPLE

73845 13 ASH

73846 4 ELM

73847 4 ELM

73848 14 ASH

73849 38 OAK

73850 6 ELM

73851 13 OAK

73852 7 ELM

73853 8 OAK

73854 5 ELM

73855 15 ASH

73856 4 MAPLE

73857 9 OAK

73858 5 ASH

73859 9 ASH

73860 32 OAK

73861 19 OAK

73862 6 MAPLE

73863 4 ELM

73864 4 ASH

73868 4 ELM

73879 4 OAK

73880 6 ELM

73881 5 MAPLE

73882 6 ELM

73883 9 MAPLE

73884 24 OAK

73885 9 MAPLE

73886 28 OAK

73887 26 ASH

73888 13 ASH

73889 11 ASH

73890 9 MAPLE

73891 5 MAPLE

73892 8 MAPLE

73893 10 MAPLE

73894 15 ASH

73895 6 ASH

73896 6 ASH

73897 5 ELM

73898 26 DBL13ASH

73899 4 HICKORY

73900 4 HICKORY

73901 18 ASH

73902 4 ELM

73903 7 ELM

73904 5 ELM

73905 10 ASH

73906 11 ASH

73907 6 ASH

73908 8 OAK

73909 18 OAK

73910 30 OAK

73911 6 MULBERRY

73912 11 MAPLE

73913 11 MAPLE

73914 14 ASH

73915 7 HACKBERRY

73916 16 OAK

73917 11 ELM

73918 6 ELM

73919 14 OAK

73920 18 OAK

73921 4 MAPLE

73922 8 HACKBERRY

73923 4 ELM

73924 7 ASH

73925 8 MAPLE

73926 4 ELM

73927 12 OAK

73928 5 HICKORY

73929 4 OAK

73930 4 ELM

73931 20 ASH

73932 9 CEDAR

73933 6 MAPLE

73934 6 HICKORY

73935 4 ELM

73936 17 OAK

73937 4 ELM

73938 6 ELM

73939 9 HACKBERRY

73940 8 HACKBERRY

73941 20 ASH

73942 6 CEDAR

73943 13 MAPLE

73944 16 OAK

73945 10 OAK

73946 5 ELM



73947 10 SASSAFRAS

73948 6 OAK

73949 5 ELM

73950 6 MAPLE

73951 19 OAK

73952 4 MULBERRY

73953 6 MULBERRY

73954 4 ELM

73955 5 REDBUD

73961 7 ASH

73962 12 OAK

73963 14 ASH

73964 14 ASH

73965 6 ASH

73966 6 MAPLE

73967 8 ASH

73968 10 ASH

73969 6 ASH

73970 5 ASH

73971 4 ASH

73972 5 OAK

73973 6 ASH

73974 9 ASH

73975 7 ASH

73976 16 ASH

73977 7 ASH

73978 10 ASH

73979 6 ASH

73980 20 ASH

73981 4 ELM

73982 4 ELM

73983 10 HACKBERRY

73984 12 DBL6HACKBERRY

73985 14 ASH

73986 5 ASH

73987 5 ASH

73988 7 ASH

73989 5 ASH

73990 7 ASH

73991 5 ASH

73992 4 ASH

73993 4 ASH

73994 4 ASH

73995 7 ASH

73996 7 ASH

73997 4 ELM

73998 15 ASH

73999 19 HACKBERRY

74000 8 HACKBERRY

74001 4 HACKBERRY

74002 10 HACKBERRY

74003 10 HACKBERRY

74004 17 ASH

74005 7 ASH

74006 4 ELM

74007 4 ELM

74008 13 OAK

74009 11 ASH

74010 6 HACKBERRY

74011 4 HICKORY

74012 12 ASH

74013 8 HICKORY

74014 10 ASH

74015 8 ASH

74016 8 ASH

74017 6 ASH

74018 6 ELM

74019 5 ELM

74020 5 ELM

74021 5 HICKORY

74022 16 ASH

74023 5 ASH

74024 5 ASH

74025 22 ASH

74026 8 OAK

74027 7 ASH

74028 12 ASH

74029 8 ASH

74030 5 ASH

74031 9 ASH

74032 9 ASH

74033 5 HICKORY

74034 12 ASH

74035 4 ELM

74036 8 CEDAR

74037 17 ASH

74038 6 MAPLE

74039 8 MAPLE

74040 20 OAK

74041 25 OAK

74042 10 MAPLE

74043 17 OAK

74044 11 MAPLE

74045 16 ASH



74046 10 MAPLE

74047 15 ASH

74048 5 MAPLE

74049 8 MAPLE

74050 16 ASH

74051 9 CEDAR

74052 8 MAPLE

74053 10 MAPLE

74054 8 ASH

74055 18 ASH

74056 10 ASH

74057 12 MAPLE

74058 6 MAPLE

74059 6 ASH

74060 13 ASH

74061 14 OAK

74062 4 ASH

74063 4 ASH

74064 5 ASH

74065 5 ASH

74066 16 ASH

74067 9 ASH

74068 6 ASH

74069 6 ASH

74070 12 ASH

74071 8 ASH

74072 8 ASH

74073 5 ASH

74074 4 ASH

74075 6 ASH

74076 9 ASH

74077 9 CEDAR

74078 6 CEDAR

74079 9 OAK

74080 16 ASH

74081 4 ASH

74082 4 ASH

74083 18 ASH

74084 13 ASH

74085 9 ASH

74086 16 ASH

74087 6 WALNUT

74088 10 ASH

74089 7 ASH

74090 7 ASH

74091 8 ASH

74092 8 ASH

74093 6 ASH

74094 10 ASH

74095 14 ASH

74096 5 ASH

74097 6 ASH

74098 7 ELM

74099 15 ASH

74100 15 ASH

74101 12 ASH

74102 7 ASH

74103 7 ASH

74104 4 ASH

74105 4 ELM

74106 8 ASH

74107 7 ASH

74108 4 ELM

74109 10 ASH

74110 7 ASH

74111 5 ASH

74112 15 ASH

74113 8 BUCKEYE

74114 10 ASH

74115 13 ASH

74116 7 HACKBERRY

74117 10 MAPLE

74118 5 HACKBERRY

74119 19 OAK

74120 5 MAPLE

74121 15 ASH

74122 7 HACKBERRY

74123 7 OAK

74124 14 ASH

74125 4 BOXELDER

74126 7 CEDAR

74127 6 HACKBERRY

74128 6 ASH

74129 5 CEDAR

74130 18 OAK

74131 4 ASH

74132 10 OAK

74133 18 ASH

74134 6 CEDAR

74135 7 ELM

74138 4 ASH

74139 8 ASH

74144 6 CEDAR

74166 5 OAK



74167 8 MAPLE

74168 18 ASH

74169 16 OAK

74170 21 OAK

74171 7 ASH

74172 12 ASH

74173 9 ASH

74174 9 CEDAR

74175 8 ASH

74176 13 ASH

74177 6 ASH

74178 10 ASH

74179 20 OAK

74180 4 ELM

74181 12 ASH

74182 8 ASH

74183 12 HACKBERRY

74184 5 ASH

74185 5 ASH

74186 11 ASH

74187 5 ASH

74188 12 ASH

74189 10 ASH

74190 10 ASH

74191 8 OAK

74192 17 ASH

74193 5 HICKORY

74194 13 OAK

74195 6 CEDAR

74196 6 CEDAR

74197 9 ASH

74198 4 ASH

74199 6 ELM

74229 14 OAK

74230 5 ELM

74231 10 MAPLE

74364 18 WALNUT

74405 38 OAK

74432 10 CEDAR

74433 5 CEDAR

74434 5 CEDAR

74435 5 CEDAR

74436 5 CEDAR

74437 6 CEDAR

74439 8 CEDAR

74440 6 CEDAR

74441 6 BODDOCK

74442 4 CEDAR

74443 7 CEDAR

74444 6 CEDAR

74445 6 CEDAR

74448 12 CEDAR

74449 7 CEDAR

74450 7 CEDAR

74451 6 CEDAR

74452 12 CEDAR

74453 5 CEDAR

74454 9 ELM

74455 4 CEDAR

74456 7 HACKBERRY

74457 7 HACKBERRY

74458 5 ELM

74540 7 ASH

74541 13 HACKBERRY

92165 9 CEDAR

24281 CALIPERS TO REMAIN



TREES TO REMOVE ‐ ROSEBROOKE SOUTH

POINT CALIPER

63002 11 PERSIMMON

63003 10 PERSIMMON

63004 12 PERSIMMON

63006 25 OAK

63015 10 PERSIMMON

63016 12 PERSIMMON

63017 7 PERSIMMON

63018 10 HICKORY

63019 10 ASH

63020 5 ASH

63021 16 CEDAR

63022 4 PERSIMMON

63023 11 CEDAR

63024 5 ELM

63025 13 CEDAR

63026 9 ELM

63027 9 ELM

63028 10 ELM

63029 10 ELM

63030 4 ELM

63031 5 CEDAR

63032 8 ELM

63033 13 ASH

63034 10 HACKBERRY

63035 5 ELM

63036 5 ELM

63037 5 CEDAR

63038 8 ELM

63039 14 ASH

63040 9 ELM

63041 8 ELM

63042 8 ELM

63043 8 ELM

63044 9 ELM

63045 7 ELM

63046 6 ELM

63047 10 ELM

63048 5 HACKBERRY

63049 7 ELM

63050 12 HACKBERRY

63051 9 HACKBERRY

63052 12 ELM

63053 9 CEDAR

63054 10 HACKBERRY

63055 8 PERSIMMON

63056 5 ASH

63057 5 HACKBERRY

63058 4 HACKBERRY

63059 5 ELM

63060 7 ELM

63061 5 ASH

63062 4 ASH

63063 9 LOCUST

63064 5 HACKBERRY

63065 10 ELM

63066 10 ELM

63067 11 CEDAR

63068 4 ASH

63069 6 PERSIMMON

63070 8 LOCUST

63071 4 PERSIMMON

63072 5 HACKBERRY

63073 5 ELM

63074 5 ELM

63075 4 HACKBERRY

63076 10 PERSIMMON

63077 5 PERSIMMON

63078 5 ELM

63079 5 ELM

63080 8 HACKBERRY

63081 8 ELM

63082 8 HACKBERRY

63083 8 ELM

63084 4 HACKBERRY

63085 5 HACKBERRY

63086 4 PERSIMMON

63087 11 ELM

63088 5 REDBUD

63089 6 ELM

63090 14 ELM

63091 10 PERSIMMON

63092 7 CEDAR

63093 10 ELM

63094 10 ELM

63095 6 ASH

63096 5 ASH

63097 9 ELM

63098 4 ELM

63099 7 ELM

63100 9 ELM

63101 5 ELM

63102 6 HACKBERRY

SPECIES



63103 6 CEDAR

63104 10 HACKBERRY

63105 4 ELM

63106 6 ELM

63107 6 LOCUST

63108 5 ELM

63109 5 ELM

63110 5 ASH

63111 4 ELM

63112 6 OAK

63113 8 HACKBERRY

63114 4 HACKBERRY

63115 9 ELM

63116 4 ELM

63117 4 ELM

63118 5 ELM

63119 10 ELM

63120 6 OAK

63121 4 ASH

63122 5 OAK

63123 10 ELM

63124 7 HACKBERRY

63125 11 HACKBERRY

63126 10 ELM

63127 10 ELM

63128 5 ELM

63129 7 ELM

63130 5 ELM

63131 6 ELM

63132 7 ASH

63133 11 ELM

63134 8 LOCUST

63135 4 ASH

63136 9 ASH

63137 22 OAK

63138 5 HACKBERRY

63139 4 ELM

63140 8 ELM

63141 5 OAK

63142 9 ELM

63143 6 ELM

63144 9 CEDAR

63145 9 HACKBERRY

63146 4 ASH

63147 5 ASH

63148 6 ASH

63149 6 CEDAR

63150 11 HACKBERRY

63151 11 HACKBERRY

63152 8 ELM

63153 8 ASH

63154 6 ASH

63155 7 CEDAR

63156 7 CEDAR

63157 10 HACKBERRY

63158 4 OAK

63159 8 ELM

63160 12 HACKBERRY

63161 8 HICKORY

63162 8 OAK

63163 7 OAK

63164 4 ELM

63165 4 HACKBERRY

63166 16 ASH

63167 9 OAK

63168 10 CEDAR

63169 5 ASH

63170 4 ELM

63171 14 HACKBERRY

63172 5 ELM

63173 4 OAK

63174 10 ELM

63175 10 ELM

63176 9 LOCUST

63177 6 ASH

63178 8 ASH

63179 5 ASH

63180 5 ASH

63181 4 ELM

63182 5 ASH

63183 7 ELM

63184 8 ASH

63185 8 PERSIMMON

63186 6 PERSIMMON

63187 4 CEDAR

63188 10 ELM

63189 12 ELM

63190 10 PERSSIMON

63191 10 OAK

63192 9 ELM

63193 9 ELM

63194 4 HACKBERRY

63195 4 HACKBERRY

63196 7 ASH



63197 9 ASH

63198 9 ASH

63199 6 ASH

63200 4 LOCUST

63201 11 ELM

63202 4 CEDAR

63203 4 CEDAR

63204 4 CEDAR

63205 4 CEDAR

63206 5 REDBUD

63207 5 CEDAR

63208 5 CEDAR

63209 5 CEDAR

63210 5 CEDAR

63211 4 CEDAR

63212 7 CEDAR

63213 5 CEDAR

63214 7 CEDAR

63215 6 CEDAR

63216 10 ASH

63217 5 PERSIMMON

63218 12 ELM

63219 9 OAK

63220 16 OAK

63221 9 CEDAR

63222 10 OAK

63223 8 CEDAR

63224 11 CEDAR

63225 5 CEDAR

63226 7 LOCUST

63227 4 CEDAR

63228 6 CEDAR

63229 4 CEDAR

63230 4 CEDAR

63231 5 CEDAR

63232 5 LOCUST

63233 5 CEDAR

63234 5 CEDAR

63235 4 CEDAR

63236 6 LOCUST

63237 4 LOCUST

63238 6 HACKBERRY

63239 8 ASH

63240 14 CEDAR

63241 7 ELM

63242 5 HACKBERRY

63243 12 CEDAR

63244 4 REDBUD

63245 8 ASH

63246 6 ASH

63247 9 ASH

63248 8 LOCUST

63249 4 HACKBERRY

63250 6 ASH

63251 9 LOCUST

63252 12 CEDAR

63253 8 HACKBERRY

63254 10 LOCUST

63255 27 CEDAR

63256 5 HACKBERRY

63257 7 ELM

63258 10 ELM

63259 4 ELM

63260 4 ASH

63261 13 ELM

63262 21 ASH

63263 9 MAPLE

63264 8 ASH

63265 13 CEDAR

63266 4 ELM

63267 8 OAK

63268 5 ELM

63269 5 ELM

63270 5 ELM

63271 5 ASH

63272 6 LOCUST

63273 5 LOCUST

63274 4 ASH

63275 4 ASH

63276 7 LOCUST

63277 9 LOCUST

63278 11 CEDAR

63279 4 ASH

63280 6 ASH

63281 5 OAK

63282 5 OAK

63283 5 ASH

63284 5 ASH

63285 4 MAPLE

63286 20 OAK

63287 15 OAK

63288 11 OAK

63289 8 ASH

63290 12 CEDAR



63291 18 CEDAR

63292 6 ASH

63293 8 LOCUST

63294 23 OAK

63295 6 ASH

63296 13 ASH

63297 4 MAPLE

63298 11 ASH

63299 12 CEDAR

63300 10 OAK

63301 10 CEDAR

63302 15 OAK

63303 10 CEDAR

63304 12 CEDAR

63305 15 CEDAR

63306 10 CEDAR

63307 15 ASH

63308 32 OAK

63309 14 ELM

63310 28 OAK

63311 15 ASH

63312 7 MAPLE

63313 15 OAK

63314 21 OAK

63315 10 OAK

63316 16 ASH

63317 9 MAPLE

63318 14 CEDAR

63319 11 MAPLE

63320 11 ASH

63321 10 ASH

63322 26 ASH

63323 14 ELM

63324 14 ELM

63325 9 MAPLE

63326 10 MAPLE

63327 10 MAPLE

63328 10 PERSIMMON

63329 10 MAPLE

63330 9 MAPLE

63331 10 ELM

63332 12 ELM

63333 8 ELM

63334 8 ASH

63335 7 ASH

63336 24 DOUBLE12ASH

63337 9 ASH

63338 6 WALNUT

63339 25 OAK

63340 17 ASH

63341 8 OAK

63342 18 ASH

63343 12 ASH

63344 26 OAK

63345 12 MAPLE

63346 24 OAK

63347 20 OAK

63348 5 HICKORY

63349 33 OAK

63350 18 OAK

63351 18 CEDAR

63352 20 OAK

63353 26 OAK

63354 5 HICKORY

63355 6 HICKORY

63356 9 ASH

63357 9 MAPLE

63358 15 CEDAR

63359 11 CEDAR

63360 13 ELM

63361 5 CEDAR

63362 11 HACKBERRY

63363 12 CEDAR

63364 18 ASH

63365 13 HACKBERRY

63366 11 HACKBERRY

63367 17 CEDAR

63368 9 MAPLE

63369 16 HACKBERRY

63370 18 CEDAR

63371 13 ELM

63372 12 ELM

63373 12 ELM

63374 10 ELM

63375 10 MAPLE

63376 10 MAPLE

63377 32 OAK

63378 21 OAK

63379 23 OAK

63380 27 OAK

63381 8 MAPLE

63382 9 MAPLE

63383 29 OAK

63384 18 OAK



63385 17 OAK

63386 17 HICKORY

63387 19 OAK

63388 5 ELM

63389 8 ELM

63390 20 ASH

63391 23 OAK

63392 32 OAK

63393 24 OAK

63394 19 ASH

63395 22 OAK

63396 25 OAK

63397 14 OAK

63398 15 PERSIMMON

63399 26 OAK

63400 24 DOUBLE12CEDAR

63401 19 CEDAR

63402 17 ELM

63403 4 ELM

63404 6 ELM

63405 6 HACKBERRY

63406 5 CEDAR

63407 6 CEDAR

63408 4 CEDAR

63409 4 PERSIMMON

63410 6 CEDAR

63411 6 CEDAR

63412 4 PERSIMMON

63413 4 CEDAR

63414 8 CEDAR

63415 6 CEDAR

63416 6 CEDAR

63417 15 PERSIMMON

63418 10 PERSIMMON

63419 8 PERSIMMON

63420 14 CEDAR

63421 11 PERSIMMON

63422 10 PERSIMMON

63423 10 PERSIMMON

63424 9 PERSIMMON

63425 9 PERSIMMON

63426 8 PERSIMMON

63427 12 CEDAR

63428 10 PERSIMMON

63429 8 CEDAR

63430 8 CEDAR

63431 8 CEDAR

63432 8 CEDAR

63433 9 CEDAR

63434 10 CEDAR

63435 12 CEDAR

63436 4 CEDAR

63437 20 DBL10PERSIMMON

63438 12 PERSIMMON

63439 10 PERSIMMON

63440 4 CEDAR

63441 6 CEDAR

63442 10 ELM

63443 4 ELM

63444 6 HICKORY

63445 27 OAK

63446 35 OAK

63447 13 MAPLE

63448 16 MAPLE

63449 14 ASH

63450 10 SASSAFRAS

63451 6 SASSAFRAS

63452 11 WALNUT

63453 15 MAPLE

63454 12 MAPLE

63455 16 ELM

63456 22 DBL11HICKORY

63457 8 ASH

63458 9 ELM

63459 10 OAK

63460 9 OAK

63461 13 OAK

63462 9 CEDAR

63463 4 WALNUT

63464 6 OAK

63465 12 ELM

63466 10 OAK

63467 9 OAK

63468 22 OAK

63469 12 ELM

63470 12 CEDAR

63471 26 OAK

63472 20 OAK

63473 15 OAK

63474 12 PERSIMMON

63475 18 OAK

63476 13 ELM

63477 13 CEDAR

63478 17 ELM



63479 5 CEDAR

63480 12 CEDAR

63481 10 ELM

63482 10 CEDAR

63483 17 HACKBERRY

63484 16 CEDAR

63485 10 CEDAR

63486 9 CEDAR

63487 13 CEDAR

63488 16 ELM

63489 10 PERSIMMON

63490 11 CEDAR

63544 31 OAK

63570 6 OAK

63571 12 OAK

63572 17 OAK

63573 5 OAK

63574 4 OAK

63575 12 CEDAR

63576 11 ELM

63577 11 MAPLE

63578 8 HICKORY

63579 9 OAK

63580 13 OAK

63581 7 OAK

63582 4 ASH

63583 4 ASH

63584 5 OAK

63585 12 OAK

63586 6 OAK

63587 4 OAK

63588 5 ASH

63589 10 OAK

63590 7 CEDAR

63591 7 CEDAR

63592 14 OAK

63593 6 OAK

63594 6 ASH

63595 33 OAK

63596 34 OAK

63597 10 CEDAR

63598 10 OAK

63599 16 OAK

63600 14 OAK

63601 14 OAK

63602 14 OAK

63603 21 OAK

63604 16 OAK

63605 9 CEDAR

63606 5 CEDAR

63607 14 OAK

63608 14 OAK

63609 14 CEDAR

63610 20 OAK

63611 7 ELM

63612 6 OAK

63613 5 OAK

63614 11 OAK

63615 12 OAK

63616 4 OAK

63617 9 OAK

63618 17 OAK

63619 17 OAK

63620 56 OAKBADCONDITION

63621 9 OAK

63622 6 OAK

63623 7 CEDAR

63624 11 OAK

63625 11 OAK

63626 8 OAK

63627 4 OAK

63628 6 OAK

63629 17 OAK

63630 23 OAK

63631 12 OAK

63632 7 ELM

63633 10 OAK

63634 10 OAK

63635 17 OAK

63636 17 OAK

63637 20 OAK

63638 15 OAK

63639 13 OAK

63640 19 CEDAR

63641 14 OAK

63642 8 OAK

63643 9 OAK

63644 8 OAK

63645 4 OAK

63646 4 CEDAR

63647 24 ASH

63648 9 ELM

63649 9 CEDAR

63650 15 OAK



63651 24 OAK

63652 4 CEDAR

63653 8 CEDAR

63654 11 OAK

63655 13 OAK

63656 9 OAK

63657 5 OAK

63658 5 OAK

63659 4 ELM

63660 17 OAK

63661 9 OAK

63662 4 ASH

63663 9 OAK

63664 13 OAK

63665 10 OAK

63666 29 OAK

63667 7 ELM

63668 15 OAK

63669 6 OAK

63670 16 OAK

63671 16 OAK

63672 17 OAK

63673 4 CEDAR

63674 10 PERSIMMON

63675 6 REDBUD

63676 8 HACKBERRY

63677 12 CEDAR

63678 6 CEDAR

63679 6 CEDAR

63680 6 CEDAR

63681 7 CEDAR

63682 23 ASH

63683 14 CEDAR

63684 11 CEDAR

63685 10 CEDAR

63686 8 CEDAR

63687 8 CEDAR

63688 9 CEDAR

63689 10 CEDAR

63690 8 CEDAR

63691 9 CEDAR

63692 4 CEDAR

63693 7 CEDAR

63694 8 CEDAR

63695 9 CEDAR

63696 9 CEDAR

63697 9 CEDAR

63698 6 CEDAR

63699 6 CEDAR

63700 13 OAK

63735 19 OAK

63736 15 OAK

63737 15 ASH

63743 16 OAK

63744 32 OAKBADCONDITION

63745 17 OAK

63746 18 OAK

63747 12 ASH

63748 4 ASH

63749 11 ELM

63750 15 CEDAR

63751 6 ASH

63752 16 CEDAR

63753 5 ASH

63754 6 ASH

63755 10 ELM

63756 16 OAK

63757 12 OAK

63758 15 OAK

63759 8 OAK

63760 6 HACKBERRY

63761 12 CEDAR

63762 4 ELM

63763 15 OAK

63764 5 OAK

63765 8 ASH

63766 8 ASH

63767 4 ELM

63768 9 ASH

63769 5 ASH

63770 10 ELM

63771 6 OAK

63772 6 ASH

63773 6 OAK

63774 9 ASH

63775 6 MAPLE

63776 12 CEDAR

63777 18 OAK

63778 5 ASH

63779 9 ASH

63780 10 ASH

63781 6 ASH

63782 5 CEDAR

63783 8 ASH



63784 7 ASH

63785 7 ASH

63786 7 ELM

63787 13 CEDAR

63788 10 ASH

63789 6 OAK

63790 5 ASH

63791 5 ASH

63792 4 ASH

63793 16 OAK

63794 9 ASH

63795 9 OAK

63796 15 OAK

63797 8 ASH

63798 8 ASH

63799 4 ELM

63800 4 CEDAR

63801 6 ASH

63802 6 ASH

63803 4 ASH

63804 8 ASH

63805 9 ASH

63806 12 ASH

63807 5 ASH

63808 5 ASH

63809 10 ASH

63810 9 ASH

63811 4 ASH

63812 12 ASH

63813 14 CEDAR

63814 19 CEDAR

63815 10 ASH

63816 9 ASH

63817 10 OAK

63818 10 ASH

63819 16 CEDAR

63820 9 CEDAR

63821 9 ASH

63822 15 CEDAR

63823 13 CEDAR

63824 9 ASH

63825 10 ASH

63826 10 ASH

63827 6 ASH

63828 12 OAK

63829 11 CEDAR

63830 5 ASH

63831 5 ASH

63832 7 MAPLE

63833 9 CEDAR

63834 11 ASH

63835 13 CEDAR

63836 17 OAK

63837 11 OAK

63838 6 OAK

63839 10 ASH

63840 10 ASH

63841 7 OAK

63842 7 OAK

63843 8 CEDAR

63844 4 ELM

63845 12 OAK

63846 9 OAK

63847 6 MAPLE

63848 10 CEDAR

63849 10 CEDAR

63850 18 ASH

63851 4 MAPLE

63852 7 ASH

63853 7 ELM

63854 8 CEDAR

63855 6 ASH

63856 7 ASH

63857 7 HACKBERRY

63858 4 ELM

63859 5 ELM

63860 5 ELM

63861 5 ELM

63862 9 ASH

63863 8 CEDAR

63864 7 CEDAR

63865 9 CEDAR

63866 10 DBL5CEDAR

63867 7 ASH

63868 9 ELM

63869 10 ELM

63870 9 ELM

63871 8 CEDAR

63872 11 OAK

63873 9 ELM

63874 12 OAK

63875 8 ASH

63876 9 ASH

63877 8 ASH



63878 10 CEDAR

63879 12 CEDAR

63880 12 CEDAR

63881 8 OAK

63882 8 ASH

63883 14 OAK

63884 13 OAK

63885 5 ASH

63886 9 ASH

63887 10 ASH

63888 10 ASH

63889 11 CEDAR

63890 8 PERSIMMON

63891 10 ASH

63892 6 OAK

63893 15 OAK

63894 11 OAK

63895 11 OAK

63896 7 ASH

63897 10 CEDAR

63898 13 CEDAR

63899 23 ASH

63900 18 ASH

63901 10 CEDAR

63902 12 CEDAR

63903 5 ELM

63904 6 ASH

63905 14 ASH

63906 8 CEDAR

63907 10 CEDAR

63908 8 OAK

63909 10 ASH

63910 10 CEDAR

63911 14 CEDAR

63912 8 CEDAR

63913 5 ELM

63914 7 CEDAR

63915 16 CEDAR

63916 10 CEDAR

63917 4 ELM

63918 8 CEDAR

63919 10 CEDAR

63920 6 ELM

63921 8 CEDAR

63922 9 CEDAR

63923 9 CEDAR

63924 9 CEDAR

63925 10 CEDAR

63926 7 ELM

63927 12 ASH

63928 4 CEDAR

63929 29 OAK

63933 18 LOCUST

63946 26 OAK

63947 19 OAK

63948 12 OAK

63949 9 OAK

63950 13 ELM

63951 17 OAK

63969 17 OAK

63970 7 OAK

63971 12 CEDAR

63972 11 ELM

63973 6 HACKBERRY

63974 12 ELM

63975 4 CEDAR

63976 12 OAK

63977 10 ASH

63978 4 OAK

63979 6 OAK

63980 6 OAK

63981 9 HACKBERRY

63982 20 OAK

63983 4 REDBUD

63984 15 CEDAR

63985 23 CEDAR

64001 7 BODDOCK

64002 15 BODDOCK

64003 10 HACKBERRY

64004 4 HACKBERRY

64020 24 BODDOCK

64021 16 ELM

64209 4 HACKBERRY

64210 4 BODDOCK

64211 5 ELM

64212 11 PERSIMMON

64335 9 AILANTHUS

64336 4 AILANTHUS

64337 4 AILANTHUS

64338 4 ELM

64339 10 CEDAR

64340 10 CEDAR

64341 13 CEDAR

64342 9 CEDAR



64343 7 CEDAR

64344 22 OAK

64345 20 CEDAR

64346 6 CEDAR

64347 9 CEDAR

64348 8 ELM

64350 5 AILANTHUS

64351 14 ASH

64352 12 WALNUT

64353 13 CEDAR

64354 6 OAK

64355 5 OAK

64356 7 CEDAR

64357 12 CEDAR

64358 5 CEDAR

64359 9 ELM

64360 8 ASH

64361 16 CEDAR

64362 6 OAK

64363 8 OAK

64364 10 OAK

64365 9 OAK

64366 11 ASH

64367 9 ASH

64368 5 ASH

64369 4 CEDAR

64370 4 CEDAR

64371 10 ASH

64372 4 HACKBERRY

64373 13 CEDAR

64374 7 ASH

64375 5 ELM

64376 5 ELM

64377 11 OAK

64378 6 ELM

64379 4 MAPLE

64380 5 OAK

64381 9 ASH

64382 9 CEDAR

64383 7 ELM

64384 10 CEDAR

64385 10 CEDAR

64386 4 CEDAR

64387 4 CEDAR

64388 7 CEDAR

64389 8 CEDAR

64390 5 HACKBERRY

64391 11 CEDAR

64392 9 CEDAR

64393 21 OAK

64394 4 ASH

64395 8 WALNUT

64396 13 CEDAR

64397 6 ELM

64398 8 ELM

64399 8 CEDAR

64400 9 ASH

64401 8 ASH

64402 5 OAK

64403 12 ASH

64404 9 CEDAR

64405 11 CEDAR

64406 7 HACKBERRY

64407 7 ELM

64408 7 ELM

64409 7 ELM

64410 7 ELM

64411 4 ELM

64412 8 CEDAR

64413 9 ASH

64414 4 ELM

64415 6 ELM

64416 6 ELM

64417 6 ELM

64418 10 CEDAR

64419 5 ASH

64420 8 ELM

64421 11 CEDAR

64422 8 CEDAR

64423 8 ASH

64424 8 ASH

64425 6 ASH

64426 17 OAK

64427 6 MAPLE

64428 9 ASH

64429 7 CEDAR

64430 6 ASH

64431 8 CEDAR

64432 11 CEDAR

64433 12 ASH

64434 9 ASH

64435 11 ASH

64436 4 ASH

64437 10 ELM



64438 6 ELM

64439 9 CEDAR

64440 6 ELM

64441 9 OAK

64442 4 ASH

64443 7 OAK

64444 7 CEDAR

64445 7 ELM

64446 4 ASH

64447 12 OAK

64448 8 CEDAR

64449 8 CEDAR

64450 8 CEDAR

64451 9 CEDAR

64452 6 ELM

64453 10 ASH

64454 14 CEDAR

64455 4 ELM

64456 4 ASH

64457 4 ASH

64458 7 ELM

64459 5 ELM

64460 9 ASH

64461 9 CEDAR

64462 9 OAK

64463 9 ELM

64464 6 ASH

64465 8 CEDAR

64466 10 ASH

64467 10 ASH

64468 10 OAK

64469 10 OAK

64470 6 OAK

64471 4 OAK

64472 10 OAK

64473 11 CEDAR

64474 8 CEDAR

64475 16 OAK

64476 6 ASH

64477 8 ASH

64478 10 ASH

64479 7 CEDAR

64480 7 HACKBERRY

64481 13 OAK

64482 7 WALNUT

64483 10 OAK

64484 10 ASH

64485 5 HACKBERRY

64486 7 HACKBERRY

64487 6 HACKBERRY

64488 5 OAK

64489 11 ELM

64490 7 ELM

64491 4 ELM

64492 10 ELM

64493 7 OAK

64494 12 CEDAR

64495 7 CEDAR

64496 8 ELM

64497 21 OAK

64498 10 OAK

64499 10 CEDAR

64500 12 CEDAR

64501 10 OAK

64502 10 ASH

64503 10 ASH

64504 10 ASH

64505 10 ASH

64506 5 OAK

64507 4 ELM

64508 6 ASH

64509 7 ASH

64510 7 ASH

64511 4 ELM

64512 9 WALNUT

64513 6 OAK

64514 5 ELM

64515 10 OAK

64516 9 OAK

64517 10 OAK

64518 7 OAK

64519 8 ASH

64520 6 ASH

64521 5 ASH

64522 14 CEDAR

64523 6 OAK

64524 6 ELM

64525 11 ELM

64526 11 OAK

64527 11 OAK

64528 10 ELM

64529 16 CEDAR

64530 7 ASH

64531 8 WALNUT



64532 8 ASH

64533 4 ASH

64534 4 CEDAR

64535 10 OAK

64536 9 ASH

64537 9 ASH

64538 13 CEDAR

64539 6 ELM

64540 9 ASH

64541 6 ASH

64542 6 ASH

64543 4 ASH

64544 7 ASH

64545 9 CEDAR

64546 5 ELM

64547 9 ASH

64548 10 CEDAR

64549 5 OAK

64550 13 CEDAR

64551 7 CEDAR

64552 12 CEDAR

64553 9 CEDAR

64554 7 CEDAR

64555 9 CEDAR

64556 8 CEDAR

64557 12 CEDAR

64558 14 CEDAR

64559 7 CEDAR

64560 9 CEDAR

64561 9 CEDAR

64562 4 ASH

64563 10 CEDAR

64564 10 CEDAR

64565 9 CEDAR

64566 9 CEDAR

64567 10 CEDAR

64568 8 ELM

64569 10 CEDAR

64570 6 ASH

64571 4 AILANTHUS

64572 7 AILANTHUS

64573 7 AILANTHUS

64574 6 ASH

64575 9 CEDAR

64576 11 CEDAR

64577 7 ELM

64578 9 OAK

64579 10 OAK

64580 12 CEDAR

64581 5 HACKBERRY

64582 10 ASH

64583 10 ASH

64584 9 CEDAR

64585 10 CEDAR

64586 8 ELM

64587 12 CEDAR

64588 10 ASH

64589 7 OAK

64590 8 ASH

64591 14 CEDAR

64592 7 OAK

64593 14 OAK

64594 6 ELM

64595 7 WALNUT

64596 6 ASH

64597 7 ELM

64598 8 ELM

64599 9 OAK

64600 6 OAK

64601 7 ELM

64602 10 ASH

64603 4 OAK

64604 8 ELM

64605 9 ELM

64606 5 WALNUT

64607 6 ELM

64608 8 ASH

64609 15 OAK

64610 12 ASH

64611 4 ASH

64612 4 HICKORY

64613 10 CEDAR

64614 11 CEDAR

64615 8 WALNUT

64616 6 CEDAR

64617 12 CEDAR

64618 16 OAK

64619 8 ELM

64620 11 CEDAR

64621 11 CEDAR

64622 17 CEDAR

64623 13 CEDAR

64624 10 ELM

64626 10 CEDAR



64627 17 OAK

64628 5 CEDAR

64629 7 CEDAR

64630 7 CEDAR

64631 9 ASH

64632 6 ASH

64633 8 ASH

64634 14 ASH

64635 6 CEDAR

64636 4 CEDAR

64637 11 HACKBERRY

64638 5 CEDAR

64639 12 OAK

64640 8 CEDAR

64641 4 CEDAR

64642 7 CEDAR

64643 11 LOCUST

64644 8 ASH

64645 14 CEDAR

64646 11 OAK

64647 17 OAK

64648 12 CEDAR

64649 12 CEDAR

64650 11 CEDAR

64651 9 ASH

64652 7 CEDAR

64653 11 CEDAR

64654 9 ELM

64655 8 ELM

64656 10 ASH

64657 9 ELM

64658 6 ELM

64659 7 ASH

64660 5 OAK

64661 7 ASH

64662 7 ASH

64663 10 ASH

64664 10 ASH

64665 11 CEDAR

64666 12 CEDAR

64667 14 OAK

64668 4 ELM

64669 6 ELM

64670 5 ELM

64671 5 ELM

64672 4 ELM

64673 12 OAK

64674 5 ELM

64675 19 ASH

64676 6 CEDAR

64677 9 CEDAR

64678 10 CEDAR

64679 6 ELM

64680 8 ELM

64681 4 REDBUD

64682 9 HACKBERRY

64683 9 ELM

64684 8 ELM

64685 8 CEDAR

64686 8 CEDAR

64687 12 CEDAR

64688 9 HACKBERRY

64689 6 CEDAR

64690 5 CEDAR

64691 6 CEDAR

64692 6 CEDAR

64693 4 CEDAR

64694 9 MAPLE

64695 7 MAPLE

64696 10 ELM

64697 6 CEDAR

64698 8 CEDAR

64699 13 CEDAR

64700 12 CEDAR

64701 6 CEDAR

64702 5 HACKBERRY

64703 4 ELM

64704 11 ASH

64705 10 ASH

64706 8 ELM

64707 6 WALNUT

64708 6 ELM

64709 6 ELM

64710 6 ELM

64711 7 ELM

64712 6 ELM

64713 6 ELM

64714 5 ELM

64715 5 HACKBERRY

64716 8 CEDAR

64717 9 ELM

64718 7 ELM

64719 6 ELM

64720 22 OAK



64721 5 ASH

64722 6 ASH

64723 9 ASH

64724 9 LOCUST

64725 7 ELM

64726 4 ELM

64727 9 OAK

64728 8 ASH

64729 9 ASH

64730 5 ASH

64731 9 ASH

64732 7 ASH

64733 13 CEDAR

64734 10 CEDAR

64735 9 ELM

64736 8 PERSIMMON

64737 7 OAK

64738 8 ELM

64739 9 CEDAR

64740 9 ELM

64741 8 CEDAR

64742 6 ELM

64743 5 ELM

64744 9 ASH

64745 6 ASH

64746 4 ASH

64747 5 WALNUT

64748 5 ASH

64749 9 ASH

64750 10 ELM

64751 9 CEDAR

64752 9 ELM

64753 8 LOCUST

64754 8 LOCUST

64755 9 CEDAR

64756 7 CEDAR

64757 8 CEDAR

64758 4 ELM

64759 10 MAPLE

64760 7 HACKBERRY

64761 14 CEDAR

64762 12 OAK

64763 4 ELM

64764 4 ASH

64765 10 OAK

64766 14 ELM

64767 7 ELM

64768 9 ASH

64769 9 ELM

64770 5 ELM

64771 5 ASH

64772 10 ELM

64773 7 ELM

64774 15 OAK

64775 11 CEDAR

64776 10 ELM

64777 8 ELM

64778 9 ELM

64779 6 ELM

64780 4 ELM

64781 6 ASH

64782 10 ELM

64783 6 ELM

64784 6 ASH

64785 10 ASH

64786 10 ASH

64787 6 ELM

64788 10 HICKORY

64789 12 CEDAR

64790 17 CEDAR

64791 9 ELM

64792 9 ASH

64793 10 ELM

64794 10 CEDAR

64795 7 CEDAR

64796 6 ELM

64797 6 LOCUST

64798 8 ELM

64799 10 ELM

64800 10 OAK

64801 6 ELM

64802 7 ASH

64803 14 ELM

64804 14 OAK

64805 17 OAK

64806 6 ASH

64807 6 ELM

64808 6 ELM

64809 10 ELM

64810 10 CEDAR

64811 11 OAK

64812 7 ELM

64813 6 ELM

64814 17 CEDAR



64815 8 ELM

64816 5 OAK

64817 11 CEDAR

64818 6 CEDAR

64819 16 OAK

64820 13 OAK

64821 20 CEDAR

64822 8 ELM

64823 8 ELM

64824 5 ELM

64825 5 ELM

64826 9 ELM

64827 6 ELM

64828 5 ASH

64829 16 CEDAR

64830 11 OAK

64831 8 ELM

64832 7 CEDAR

64833 10 ASH

64834 6 ASH

64835 4 ASH

64836 4 ASH

64837 9 ASH

64838 7 ELM

64839 8 ELM

64840 9 ASH

64841 4 MAPLE

64842 14 OAK

64843 9 CEDAR

64844 10 CEDAR

64845 15 OAK

64846 9 ELM

64847 9 HACKBERRY

64848 7 ELM

64849 7 ELM

64850 8 DBL4ELM

64851 9 ELM

64852 11 CEDAR

64853 12 CEDAR

64854 12 CEDAR

64855 11 ASH

64856 7 ASH

64857 9 ASH

64858 8 ASH

64859 6 ASH

64860 13 CEDAR

64861 7 OAK

64862 8 OAK

64863 9 LOCUST

64864 10 ELM

64865 15 OAK

64866 11 ELM

64867 10 OAK

64868 6 OAK

64869 6 HACKBERRY

64870 5 ELM

64871 5 HACKBERRY

64872 9 ELM

64873 14 ASH

64874 14 ASH

64875 9 CEDAR

64876 6 ELM

64877 5 ASH

64878 9 ASH

64879 7 PERSIMMON

64880 10 ELM

64881 13 OAK

64882 11 CEDAR

64883 11 ELM

64884 5 ASH

64885 14 OAK

64886 10 ASH

64887 10 ELM

64888 19 OAK

64889 38 CEDAR

64890 16 CEDAR

64891 8 ASH

64892 9 BODDOCK

64893 9 WALNUT

64894 5 ELM

64895 10 ELM

64896 10 ASH

64897 5 CEDAR

64898 6 CEDAR

64899 14 OAK

64900 17 OAK

64901 17 OAK

64902 8 MULBERRY

64903 16 OAK

64904 18 OAK

64905 10 CEDAR

64906 9 OAK

64907 11 OAK

64908 8 HACKBERRY



64909 7 ASH

64910 8 HACKBERRY

64911 13 CEDAR

64912 9 ELM

64913 9 OAK

64914 8 OAK

64915 5 ELM

64916 7 ELM

64917 9 ELM

64918 6 OAK

64919 16 OAK

64920 9 ELM

64921 10 CEDAR

64922 14 ELM

64923 7 ELM

64924 5 OAK

64925 10 ASH

64926 6 ELM

64927 6 ELM

64928 5 ELM

64929 11 CEDAR

64930 9 ELM

64931 8 ELM

64932 10 ELM

64933 10 HACKBERRY

64934 8 ELM

64935 10 ELM

64936 10 CEDAR

64937 5 ELM

64938 6 ELM

64939 8 OAK

64940 13 CEDAR

64941 4 OAK

64942 4 ASH

64943 5 ASH

64944 9 ASH

64945 6 ELM

64946 9 ELM

64947 21 OAK

64948 4 ELM

64949 6 ELM

64950 9 ASH

64951 9 ELM

64952 4 ELM

64953 4 ELM

64954 10 CEDAR

64955 8 ELM

64956 35 OAK

64957 14 ASH

64958 9 CEDAR

64959 4 ASH

64960 4 MAPLE

64961 10 ELM

64962 9 ELM

64963 6 ELM

64964 4 ELM

64965 6 ASH

64966 8 ASH

64967 8 OAK

64968 4 ASH

64969 4 ASH

64970 4 OAK

64971 10 OAK

64972 4 ASH

64973 4 ELM

64974 15 TRIPLE5PERSIMMON

64975 4 ELM

64976 10 PERSIMMON

64977 9 CEDAR

64978 5 CEDAR

64979 5 CEDAR

64980 16 CEDAR

64981 10 ELM

64982 4 ELM

64983 8 HACKBERRY

64984 14 CEDAR

64985 4 CEDAR

64986 4 CEDAR

64987 9 ASH

64988 4 ELM

64989 20 OAK

64990 9 CEDAR

64991 10 ASH

64992 10 ASH

64993 10 PERSIMMON

64994 4 OAK

64995 4 OAK

64996 10 ASH

64997 10 OAK

64998 6 PERSIMMON

64999 4 ASH

65000 14 HICKORY

65001 6 CEDAR

65002 8 CEDAR



65003 4 CEDAR

65004 4 CEDAR

65005 6 CEDAR

65006 37 OAK

65007 5 ELM

65008 6 CEDAR

65009 18 DBL9PERSIMMON

65010 17 CEDAR

65011 5 HACKBERRY

65012 6 ELM

65013 10 ELM

65014 4 HACKBERRY

65015 12 HACKBERRY

65016 23 OAK

65017 13 OAK

65018 18 OAK

65019 7 CEDAR

65020 15 ASH

65021 17 CEDAR

65022 19 OAK

65023 11 OAK

65024 22 ASH

65025 22 OAK

65026 10 OAK

65027 23 OAK

65028 24 OAK

65029 19 OAK

65030 15 OAK

65031 18 OAK

65032 5 ELM

65033 10 DBL5DOGWOOD

65034 12 DBL6DOGWOOD

65035 10 ELM

65036 5 ELM

65037 4 ELM

65038 15 TRIPLE5PERSIMMON

65039 7 PERSIMMON

65040 10 ELM

65041 10 IRONWOOD

65042 9 ELM

65043 12 ELM

65044 4 REDBUD

65045 8 ELM

65046 4 CEDAR

65047 6 CEDAR

65048 5 ASH

65049 9 PERSIMMON

65050 6 PERSIMMON

65051 4 ASH

65052 8 PERSIMMON

65053 4 ELM

65056 8 CEDAR

65057 8 CEDAR

65058 12 ELM

65059 16 HICKORY

65060 4 ASH

65061 9 ELM

65062 5 ELM

65063 7 ELM

65064 5 ELM

65065 9 ELM

65066 5 OAK

65067 4 ELM

65068 4 ELM

65069 10 ELM

65070 5 ELM

65071 7 ELM

65072 7 OAK

65073 20 ELM

65074 4 HICKORY

65075 15 ELM

65076 14 MAPLE

65077 10 PERSSIMON

65078 6 ELM

65079 4 ELM

65080 4 ELM

65081 8 ASH

65082 9 ELM

65083 7 OAK

65084 15 MAPLE

65085 6 ELM

65086 16 MAPLE

65087 13 ELM

65088 24 MAPLE

65089 12 MAPLE

65090 11 ELM

65091 12 MAPLE

65092 4 MAPLE

65093 12 ASH

65094 10 ELM

65095 5 OAK

65096 12 ASH

65097 9 WALNUT

65098 12 ASH



65099 5 ELM

65100 6 ASH

65101 9 ASH

65102 6 OAK

65103 12 ELM

65104 8 CEDAR

65105 8 DBL4DOGWOOD

65106 5 REDBUD

65107 5 REDBUD

65108 26 OAK

65109 4 ELM

65110 4 ASH

65111 4 WALNUT

65112 5 HACKBERRY

65113 13 PERSIMMON

65114 4 ELM

65115 6 ELM

65116 10 CEDAR

65117 13 CEDAR

65118 10 LOCUST

65119 4 LOCUST

65120 8 CEDAR

65121 5 CEDAR

65122 5 HACKBERRY

65123 12 ELM

65124 8 CEDAR

65125 4 HACKBERRY

65126 10 ELM

65127 8 ELM

65128 4 PERSIMMON

65129 4 HACKBERRY

65130 15 ELM

65131 4 CEDAR

65132 7 CEDAR

65133 14 CEDAR

65134 16 DBL8CEDAR

65135 12 CEDAR

65136 12 CEDAR

65137 5 REDBUD

65138 8 CEDAR

65139 13 CEDAR

65140 10 CEDAR

65141 8 CEDAR

65142 10 CEDAR

65143 4 PERSIMMON

65144 8 CEDAR

65145 5 PERSIMMON

65146 5 PERSIMMON

65147 10 PERSIMMON

65148 6 ELM

65149 6 REDBUD

65150 8 CEDAR

65151 8 CEDAR

65152 4 ELM

65153 7 ELM

65154 5 CEDAR

65155 5 CEDAR

65156 12 ELM

65157 4 CEDAR

65158 7 CEDAR

65159 9 CEDAR

65160 4 ELM

65161 6 ELM

65162 4 ELM

65163 6 CEDAR

65164 9 CEDAR

65165 6 ELM

65166 6 HACKBERRY

65167 8 HACKBERRY

65168 5 HACKBERRY

65169 6 HACKBERRY

65170 4 BODDOCK

65171 6 BODDOCK

65172 4 CEDAR

65173 8 CEDAR

65174 10 CEDAR

65175 5 ELM

65176 5 ELM

65177 5 ELM

65178 4 ELM

65179 6 ELM

65180 6 ELM

65181 10 ELM

65182 6 WALNUT

65183 8 ELM

65184 4 ELM

65185 8 CEDAR

65186 4 CEDAR

65187 6 LOCUST

65188 9 CEDAR

65189 9 CEDAR

65190 4 REDBUD

65191 6 ASH

65192 8 CEDAR



65193 14 DBL7PERSIMMON

65194 10 ELM

65195 6 ELM

65196 6 ELM

65197 7 ELM

65198 10 CEDAR

65199 10 CEDAR

65200 6 CEDAR

65201 6 MAPLE

65202 8 HACKBERRY

65203 7 HACKBERRY

65204 12 ELM

65205 5 ELM

65206 6 ELM

65207 9 ELM

65208 6 ELM

65209 8 HACKBERRY

65210 8 DOGWOOD

65211 7 CEDAR

65212 7 CEDAR

65213 9 CEDAR

65214 4 ELM

65215 7 ELM

65216 5 ELM

65217 5 ELM

65218 4 ELM

65219 6 SASSAFRAS

65220 6 SASSAFRAS

65221 6 SASSAFRAS

65222 5 SASSAFRAS

65223 5 SASSAFRAS

65224 5 SASSAFRAS

65225 6 SASSAFRAS

65226 4 ELM

65227 6 ELM

65228 6 HACKBERRY

65229 17 CEDAR

65230 17 CEDAR

65231 13 ASH

65232 5 ELM

65233 4 ELM

65234 7 ASH

65235 4 ELM

65236 6 CEDAR

65237 11 ASH

65238 4 HACKBERRY

65239 8 LOCUST

65240 5 CEDAR

65241 5 CEDAR

65242 6 HACKBERRY

65243 8 ELM

65244 4 ELM

65245 12 CEDAR

65246 4 ASH

65247 24 OAK

65248 31 OAK

65249 7 ELM

65250 16 ASH

65251 10 PERSIMMON

65252 6 CEDAR

65253 29 OAK

65254 4 CEDAR

65255 8 ELM

65256 4 ELM

65257 8 ELM

65258 4 ELM

65259 8 ASH

65260 5 ASH

65261 4 ELM

65262 5 ASH

65263 5 ASH

65264 6 ELM

65265 6 ELM

65266 6 ELM

65267 7 ASH

65268 4 ELM

65269 4 ELM

65270 5 ASH

65271 6 ASH

65272 11 CEDAR

65273 8 CEDAR

65274 6 CEDAR

65275 9 CEDAR

65276 5 CEDAR

65277 4 CEDAR

65278 5 ASH

65279 7 ELM

65280 7 ASH

65281 10 ELM

65282 6 ASH

65283 8 ELM

65284 4 ELM

65285 4 ELM

65286 8 DBL4ELM



65287 9 ELM

65288 4 ELM

65289 8 ELM

65290 9 CEDAR

65291 5 CEDAR

65292 4 ELM

65293 7 ASH

65294 4 HACKBERRY

65295 4 HACKBERRY

65296 7 CEDAR

65297 11 ELM

65298 6 ELM

65299 7 CEDAR

65300 8 DBL4CEDAR

65301 4 ELM

65302 5 ELM

65303 8 CEDAR

65304 12 CEDAR

65305 10 CEDAR

65306 8 ASH

65307 6 ELM

65308 10 CEDAR

65309 6 CEDAR

65310 8 PERSIMMON

65311 9 PERSIMMON

65312 6 HACKBERRY

65313 5 CEDAR

65314 5 ELM

65315 4 ELM

65316 4 ASH

65317 6 ASH

65318 5 ELM

65319 5 ELM

65320 4 ELM

65321 4 PERSIMMON

65322 6 CEDAR

65323 9 ASH

65324 7 PERSIMMON

65325 6 CEDAR

65326 5 PERSIMMON

65327 5 CEDAR

65328 6 ASH

65329 5 PERSIMMON

65330 5 PERSIMMON

65331 8 CEDAR

65332 5 ELM

65333 6 PERSIMMON

65334 5 OAK

65335 4 CEDAR

65336 5 HACKBERRY

65337 4 ELM

65338 6 HACKBERRY

65339 5 PERSIMMON

65340 6 PERSIMMON

65341 6 PERSIMMON

65342 5 ELM

65343 7 HACKBERRY

65344 10 ELM

65345 10 ASH

65346 7 CEDAR

65347 4 CEDAR

65348 4 CEDAR

65349 5 ELM

65350 5 ELM

65351 10 ELM

65352 4 CEDAR

65353 4 CEDAR

65354 16 ASH

65355 6 CEDAR

65356 6 ELM

65357 4 ELM

65358 6 ELM

65359 5 ELM

65360 5 HACKBERRY

65361 7 HACKBERRY

65362 6 ELM

65363 6 MULLBERRY

65364 9 ELM

65365 6 HACKBERRY

65366 6 HACKBERRY

65367 4 ELM

65368 5 ELM

65369 6 ELM

65370 13 LOCUST

65371 5 HACKBERRY

65372 11 ELM

65373 4 CEDAR

65374 6 CEDAR

65375 10 CEDAR

65376 7 CEDAR

65377 10 ASH

65378 9 OAK

65379 5 CEDAR

65380 11 OAK



65381 7 ASH

65382 17 HICKORY

65383 4 MAPLE

65384 7 MAPLE

65385 8 HACKBERRY

65386 23 ELM

65387 14 ASH

65388 16 HACKBERRY

65389 5 ASH

65390 6 ASH

65391 5 ELM

65392 34 OAK

65393 15 OAK

65394 6 ELM

65395 6 HACKBERRY

65396 18 DBL9HACKBERRY

65397 16 HACKBERRY

65398 11 HACKBERRY

65399 4 ASH

65400 6 CEDAR

65401 4 ASH

65402 10 ELM

65403 10 ELM

65404 4 ELM

65405 4 ELM

65406 4 ASH

65407 8 ELM

65408 6 HACKBERRY

65409 7 HACKBERRY

65410 16 HACKBERRY

65411 4 CEDAR

65412 4 CEDAR

65413 4 CEDAR

65414 6 CEDAR

65415 9 CEDAR

65416 10 HACKBERRY

65417 20 QUAD5HACKBERRY

65418 11 HACKBERRY

65419 4 ASH

65420 10 HACKBERRY

65421 4 ASH

65422 6 HACKBERRY

65423 9 HACKBERRY

65424 12 ELM

65425 4 ELM

65426 4 ELM

65427 4 CEDAR

65428 4 CEDAR

65429 4 ASH

65430 4 ASH

65431 12 ASH

65432 5 HACKBERRY

65433 4 ASH

65434 4 HACKBERRY

65435 4 OAK

65436 7 ASH

65437 4 ASH

65438 4 CEDAR

65439 8 ELM

65440 6 HACKBERRY

65441 12 OAK

65442 5 ELM

65443 4 CEDAR

65444 8 HACKBERRY

65445 8 HACKBERRY

65446 6 CEDAR

65447 10 ELM

65448 10 HACKBERRY

65449 8 ELM

65450 12 OAK

65451 5 LOCUST

65452 5 CEDAR

65453 6 ELM

65454 19 ASH

65455 13 ELM

65456 8 HACKBERRY

65457 6 ELM

65458 6 ELM

65459 9 PERSIMMON

65460 13 PERSIMMON

65461 9 CEDAR

65462 12 CEDAR

65463 17 CEDAR

65464 8 ASH

65465 10 HACKBERRY

65466 8 HACKBERRY

65467 4 ELM

65468 6 PERSIMMON

65469 7 PERSIMMON

65470 8 PERSIMMON

65471 4 OAK

65472 8 PERSIMMON

65473 8 PERSIMMON

65474 8 PERSIMMON



65475 9 CEDAR

65476 8 CEDAR

65477 6 ELM

65478 6 ELM

65479 6 ELM

65480 4 HACKBERRY

65481 5 ELM

65482 15 ASH

65483 10 ASH

65484 14 ASH

65485 8 MAPLE

65486 15 ASH

65487 7 ELM

65488 12 ASH

65489 4 ELM

65490 8 ELM

65491 5 OAK

65492 5 OAK

65493 18 OAK

65494 7 HACKBERRY

65495 7 ELM

65496 4 ASH

65497 7 HACKBERRY

65498 6 OAK

65499 10 OAK

65500 5 HACKBERRY

65501 4 OAK

65502 14 OAK

65503 8 ASH

65504 6 ASH

65505 4 HACKBERRY

65506 8 ASH

65507 4 ASH

65508 6 ASH

65509 13 ELM

65510 7 ASH

65511 4 ASH

65512 7 HACKBERRY

65513 4 ASH

65514 7 ASH

65515 10 ASH

65516 5 ASH

65517 5 ASH

65518 5 ASH

65519 6 ASH

65520 4 ASH

65521 8 HACKBERRY

65522 10 HACKBERRY

65523 11 CEDAR

65524 4 ASH

65525 5 ASH

65526 5 ASH

65527 13 LOCUST

65528 8 ASH

65529 6 ASH

65530 4 ELM

65531 6 ASH

65532 6 ASH

65533 4 ASH

65534 4 CEDAR

65535 4 CEDAR

65536 4 ASH

65537 9 ASH

65543 4 HACKBERRY

65544 4 HACKBERRY

65545 7 ASH

65546 4 ASH

65547 6 ASH

65548 6 ASH

65549 4 ASH

65550 5 ASH

65551 5 ASH

65552 5 ASH

65553 4 ASH

65554 6 ASH

65555 4 BODDOCK

65556 6 WALNUT

65557 7 ASH

65558 5 ELM

65559 4 ASH

65560 10 HACKBERRY

65561 5 ASH

65562 7 ASH

65563 11 ASH

65564 4 CEDAR

65565 5 ASH

65566 6 ASH

65567 7 ASH

65568 7 ASH

65569 4 ASH

65570 4 CEDAR

65571 6 ELM

65572 10 HACKBERRY

65573 14 CEDAR



65574 9 ELM

65575 7 ELM

65576 9 HACKBERRY

65577 12 OAK

65578 10 ELM

65579 19 OAK

65580 9 CEDAR

65581 4 ASH

65582 4 ASH

65583 4 CEDAR

65584 6 CEDAR

65585 4 ASH

65586 5 ELM

65587 4 CEDAR

65588 14 ASH

65589 8 MAPLE

65590 12 OAK

65591 8 MAPLE

65592 6 ASH

65593 5 HACKBERRY

65594 18 ELM

65595 9 MAPLE

65596 8 ELM

65597 9 ASH

65598 6 HACKBERRY

65599 6 HACKBERRY

65600 4 HACKBERRY

65601 10 ASH

65602 10 ASH

65603 6 ELM

65604 4 ELM

65605 7 HACKBERRY

65606 12 ASH

65607 6 ELM

65608 6 HACKBERRY

65609 5 HACKBERRY

65610 4 HACKBERRY

65611 8 ASH

65612 6 CEDAR

65613 18 ASH

65614 5 ELM

65615 4 PERSIMMON

65616 4 REDBUD

65617 4 ELM

65618 6 PERSIMMON

65619 6 ELM

65620 7 ELM

65621 5 REDBUD

65622 10 CEDAR

65623 5 ELM

65624 4 ELM

65625 7 ELM

65626 5 LOCUST

65627 6 LOCUST

65628 4 CEDAR

65629 10 CEDAR

65630 4 ASH

65631 5 ELM

65632 10 ELM

65633 11 ELM

65634 5 ELM

65635 8 CEDAR

65636 12 ELM

65637 6 ELM

65638 6 ELM

65639 6 ELM

65640 9 ELM

65641 6 ELM

65642 8 ELM

65643 12 ELM

65644 4 ELM

65645 5 CEDAR

65646 4 ELM

65647 4 ELM

65648 4 ELM

65649 6 ASH

65650 10 OAK

65651 4 ELM

65652 16 DBL8PERSIMMON

65653 4 CEDAR

65654 11 ELM

65655 11 ELM

65656 11 ELM

65657 7 HACKBERRY

65658 7 HACKBERRY

65659 7 HACKBERRY

65660 9 CEDAR

65661 6 CEDAR

65662 5 CEDAR

65663 12 CEDAR

65664 14 ELM

65665 11 ELM

65666 6 HACKBERRY

65667 17 HACKBERRY



65668 12 CEDAR

65669 10 CEDAR

65670 5 ELM

65671 9 ASH

65672 10 ASH

65673 6 CEDAR

65674 5 ELM

65675 8 PERSIMMON

65676 4 HACKBERRY

65677 10 DBL5ELM

65678 6 CEDAR

65679 4 ELM

65680 8 PERSIMMON

65681 9 ELM

65682 7 ELM

65683 4 ELM

65684 5 ELM

65685 5 ELM

65686 4 CEDAR

65687 4 ASH

65688 4 ASH

65689 9 ASH

65690 6 HACKBERRY

65691 4 ELM

65692 6 ELM

65693 6 ELM

65694 10 ELM

65695 9 ASH

65696 6 BODDOCK

65697 4 BODDOCK

65698 6 ELM

65699 5 PERSIMMON

65700 4 ELM

65701 4 ELM

65702 7 ELM

65703 16 DBL8PERSIMMON

65704 5 ELM

65705 4 ELM

65706 4 ELM

65707 4 ELM

65708 4 ELM

65709 8 ELM

65710 5 LOCUST

65711 5 ELM

65712 4 HACKBERRY

65713 5 ELM

65714 5 ELM

65715 4 ELM

65716 4 ELM

65717 9 ELM

65718 5 ELM

65719 5 ELM

65720 10 ELM

65721 5 HACKBERRY

65722 6 ELM

65723 5 ELM

65724 4 PERSIMMON

65725 10 PERSIMMON

65726 10 ASH

65727 4 CEDAR

65728 4 CEDAR

65729 7 LOCUST

65730 8 ELM

65731 5 HACKBERRY

65732 4 HACKBERRY

65733 4 HACKBERRY

65734 4 HACKBERRY

65735 4 MULLBERRY

65736 6 HACKBERRY

65737 4 HACKBERRY

65738 9 HACKBERRY

65739 10 ASH

65740 5 HACKBERRY

65741 4 HACKBERRY

65742 6 HACKBERRY

65743 6 ASH

65744 7 ASH

65745 5 HACKBERRY

65746 6 HACKBERRY

65747 6 HACKBERRY

65748 5 HACKBERRY

65749 4 ASH

65750 4 ASH

65751 4 ELM

65752 7 LOCUST

65753 7 HACKBERRY

65754 5 HACKBERRY

65755 4 HACKBERRY

65756 5 ELM

65757 5 HACKBERRY

65758 13 LOCUST

65759 11 HACKBERRY

65760 10 ELM

65761 6 BODDOCK



65762 5 ASH

65764 6 ELM

65768 4 HACKBERRY

65775 4 HACKBERRY

65809 4 HACKBERRY

65810 4 HACKBERRY

65811 10 ELM

65812 6 HACKBERRY

65813 5 ASH

65814 4 HACKBERRY

65815 5 HACKBERRY

65816 5 HACKBERRY

65817 10 BODDOCK

65818 5 HACKBERRY

65819 5 HACKBERRY

65820 8 LOCUST

65821 8 OAK

65822 9 LOCUST

65823 9 ELM

65824 6 HACKBERRY

65825 8 LOCUST

65826 12 PERSIMMON

65827 9 ELM

65828 10 OAK

65829 19 OAK

65830 18 OAK

65831 9 PERSIMMON

65832 9 ELM

65833 6 HACKBERRY

65834 7 ASH

65835 4 ELM

65871 4 ELM

65878 4 CEDAR

65879 11 ASH

66039 5 HACKBERRY

66040 8 HACKBERRY

66041 8 HACKBERRY

66042 16 HACKBERRY

66043 8 CEDAR

66044 4 CEDAR

66045 10 CEDAR

66047 5 ASH

66048 7 CEDAR

66049 6 HACKBERRY

66050 13 HACKBERRY

66054 5 PERSIMMON

66055 8 PERSIMMON

66056 10 ASH

66057 4 ASH

66058 11 ASH

66059 9 PERSIMMON

66060 7 OAK

66061 7 OAK

66062 25 OAK

66063 7 CEDAR

66064 9 ASH

66065 5 CEDAR

66066 9 ASH

66067 9 ELM

66068 9 ELM

66069 10 ELM

66070 12 CEDAR

66071 10 CEDAR

66073 7 HACKBERRY

66074 10 HACKBERRY

66075 7 HACKBERRY

66076 5 ELM

66077 6 ELM

66078 8 CEDAR

66079 4 CEDAR

66080 9 HACKBERRY

66081 9 HACKBERRY

66082 5 HACKBERRY

66083 9 HACKBERRY

66088 6 ELM

66089 18 ASH

66090 27 OAK

66091 9 OAK

66092 9 HACKBERRY

66093 15 HACKBERRY

66238 4 HACKBERRY

66240 7 OAK

66241 8 WALNUT

66408 10 ELM

66409 7 CEDAR

66410 4 HACKBERRY

66434 5 ELM

66435 4 ELM

66436 6 ELM

66437 6 CEDAR

66438 7 CEDAR

66439 21 HACKBERRY

66440 8 ELM

66441 9 ELM



66442 13 OAK

66443 13 OAK

66444 18 OAK

66445 18 OAK

66446 7 CEDAR

66447 7 CEDAR

66448 7 CEDAR

66449 4 CEDAR

66450 6 CEDAR

66451 8 CEDAR

66452 4 CEDAR

66453 5 CEDAR

66454 12 ELM

66455 7 ELM

66456 23 OAK

66457 4 ELM

66458 6 ELM

66459 6 OAK

66460 6 OAK

66461 6 OAK

66462 7 OAK

66463 13 ELM

66464 13 ASH

66465 6 CEDAR

66466 13 OAK

66467 18 OAK

66468 8 BODDOCK

66469 11 BODDOCK

66470 8 CEDAR

66471 18 OAK

66472 24 OAK

66473 13 OAK

66474 24 OAK

66475 6 CEDAR

66476 28 OAK

66477 12 OAK

66478 21 OAK

66479 10 BOXELDER

66480 4 CEDAR

66481 6 CEDAR

66482 6 CEDAR

66483 6 CEDAR

66484 6 CEDAR

66485 6 CEDAR

66486 4 REDBUD

66487 4 REDBUD

66488 12 CEDAR

66489 4 CEDAR

66490 6 CEDAR

66491 5 ELM

66492 5 CEDAR

66493 8 CEDAR

66494 8 ASH

66495 5 ASH

66497 5 CEDAR

66498 5 CEDAR

66499 5 CEDAR

66500 4 CEDAR

66501 4 CEDAR

66502 4 CEDAR

66503 6 CEDAR

66504 4 ELM

66505 9 ASH

66506 6 ASH

66507 10 OAK

66508 4 CEDAR

66509 4 CEDAR

66510 4 CEDAR

66511 5 CEDAR

66513 6 CEDAR

66514 6 CEDAR

66515 4 CEDAR

66516 12 CEDAR

66517 4 CEDAR

66518 4 ASH

66519 6 ASH

66520 7 HACKBERRY

66521 5 CEDAR

66522 10 CEDAR

66523 13 CEDAR

66524 8 CEDAR

66525 8 CEDAR

66526 7 CEDAR

66527 7 CEDAR

66528 4 CEDAR

66529 10 MULLBERRY

66530 4 CEDAR

66531 7 CEDAR

66532 7 CEDAR

66533 8 CEDAR

66534 8 CEDAR

66535 9 CEDAR

66536 6 CEDAR

66537 15 ELM



66538 6 ASH

66539 11 CEDAR

66540 15 CEDAR

66541 4 SASSAFRAS

66542 12 ELM

66543 10 CEDAR

66544 5 CEDAR

66545 4 ASH

66546 4 CEDAR

66547 13 CEDAR

66555 7 ELM

66556 5 ELM

66557 6 HACKBERRY

66558 6 HACKBERRY

66559 6 CEDAR

66560 12 CEDAR

66561 13 CEDAR

66562 4 CEDAR

66563 10 CEDAR

66564 6 CEDAR

66565 8 CEDAR

66566 9 ELM

66567 20 OAK

66568 4 ELM

66569 5 PERSIMMON

66570 10 CEDAR

66571 4 CEDAR

66572 4 ELM

66573 4 ELM

66574 5 CEDAR

66575 4 CEDAR

66576 9 ELM

66577 12 OAK

66578 8 OAK

66579 22 CEDAR

66580 13 OAK

66581 7 OAK

66582 17 OAK

66583 12 ELM

66584 8 ELM

66585 5 ASH

66586 4 DOGWOOD

66587 5 CEDAR

66588 4 CEDAR

66589 8 CEDAR

66590 5 CEDAR

66591 5 CEDAR

66592 4 CEDAR

66593 5 CEDAR

66594 5 CEDAR

66595 4 CEDAR

66596 6 CEDAR

66597 7 ELM

66598 14 ELM

66599 4 SASSAFRAS

66600 4 SASSAFRAS

66601 4 SASSAFRAS

66602 4 SASSAFRAS

66603 5 OAK

66604 4 SASSAFRAS

66605 4 SASSAFRAS

66607 6 CEDAR

66608 8 CEDAR

66609 5 CEDAR

66625 6 CEDAR

66626 8 CEDAR

66633 4 HACKBERRY

66637 12 OAK

66638 7 CEDAR

66639 5 CEDAR

66640 4 CEDAR

66641 4 CEDAR

66642 7 CEDAR

66643 5 CEDAR

66644 5 ELM

66645 6 CEDAR

66646 6 ASH

66647 6 CEDAR

66649 6 CEDAR

66660 5 ELM

66661 18 OAK

66666 10 CEDAR

66667 13 OAK

66668 4 CEDAR

66669 8 CEDAR

66670 5 CEDAR

66671 5 CEDAR

66672 7 CEDAR

66673 7 CEDAR

66674 5 CEDAR

66675 13 BODDOCK

66676 5 AILANTHUS

66677 8 CEDAR

66678 4 REDBUD



66679 5 WALNUT

66680 4 ELM

66681 6 CEDAR

66682 9 ELM

66683 7 OAK

66684 5 OAK

66685 15 OAK

66686 5 CEDAR

66687 12 OAK

66688 12 OAK

66689 8 OAK

66690 7 CEDAR

66691 10 CEDAR

66692 26 OAK

66693 4 HACKBERRY

66694 14 PERSIMMON

66695 4 CEDAR

66696 4 CEDAR

66697 5 CEDAR

66709 4 PERSIMMON

66710 4 PERSIMMON

66711 4 PERSIMMON

66712 4 PERSIMMON

66713 4 PERSIMMON

66714 4 PERSIMMON

66715 4 PERSIMMON

66716 4 PERSIMMON

66717 4 PERSIMMON

66718 4 PERSIMMON

66719 4 PERSIMMON

66720 4 PERSIMMON

66721 4 PERSIMMON

66722 4 PERSIMMON

66723 10 OAK

66725 5 CEDAR

66727 17 OAK

66728 18 OAK

66729 30 DBL15OAK

66730 19 OAK

66731 17 OAK

66732 12 ELM

66733 5 OAK

66734 8 CEDAR

66735 4 OAK

66736 6 OAK

66737 4 OAK

66738 4 ELM

66739 4 LOCUST

66740 11 OAK

66741 6 CEDAR

66742 10 OAK

66743 16 OAK

66744 19 OAK

66745 12 OAK

66746 12 OAK

66747 10 OAK

66748 4 CEDAR

66749 5 CEDAR

66750 9 OAK

66751 6 ELM

66752 8 ELM

66753 8 CEDAR

66754 6 ELM

66755 7 OAK

66756 4 CEDAR

66757 4 CEDAR

66758 4 ELM

66759 9 ELM

66760 7 OAK

66761 4 CEDAR

66762 15 OAK

66763 9 ASH

66764 5 ASH

66765 5 ASH

66766 16 OAK

66767 20 OAK

66768 5 ELM

66769 12 CEDAR

66770 10 CEDAR

66771 6 ELM

66772 4 ELM

66773 10 CEDAR

66774 4 CEDAR

66776 6 ELM

66797 4 CEDAR

66798 6 CEDAR

66799 10 ASH

66809 13 ASH

66810 8 CEDAR

66811 5 CEDAR

66812 5 PERSIMMON

66813 5 REDBUD

66814 4 CEDAR

66815 4 CEDAR



66816 4 CEDAR

66817 6 CEDAR

66818 4 ELM

66819 4 MULBERRY

66820 4 ELM

66821 5 PERSIMMON

66822 6 REDBUD

66823 4 REDBUD

66824 4 REDBUD

66825 7 CEDAR

66826 10 ELM

66827 10 ELM

66828 8 CEDAR

66829 4 CEDAR

66830 7 CEDAR

66831 4 CEDAR

66832 5 CEDAR

66833 10 ASH

66834 15 ASH

66835 20 ASH

66836 9 PERSIMMON

66837 10 HACKBERRY

66838 4 CEDAR

66839 5 CEDAR

66840 4 CEDAR

66841 6 CEDAR

66842 5 ASH

66843 6 CEDAR

66844 7 CEDAR

66845 5 REDBUD

66846 10 OAK

66847 13 OAK

66848 12 ASH

66849 4 ELM

66850 6 ASH

66851 4 ELM

66852 7 ELM

66853 6 ELM

66854 4 ELM

66855 7 ELM

66856 12 ASH

66857 17 ELM

66858 4 CEDAR

66859 20 OAK

66860 12 OAK

66861 4 ASH

66862 6 ELM

66863 8 DBL4HACKBERRY

66864 8 CEDAR

66865 4 CEDAR

66866 6 CEDAR

66867 11 ELM

66868 6 CEDAR

66869 4 PERSIMMON

66870 14 ASH

66871 10 ELM

66872 7 ELM

66873 7 ELM

66874 5 ELM

66875 10 CEDAR

66876 4 ELM

66877 5 ELM

66878 6 ELM

66879 14 DBL7HACKBERRY

66880 6 ASH

66881 5 ELM

66882 10 ELM

66883 7 ELM

66886 42 ASH

66887 42 OAK

66888 10 HACKBERRY

66889 14 HACKBERRY

66890 30 CEDAR

66891 18 HACKBERRY

66892 13 CEDAR

66893 13 CEDAR

66894 12 CEDAR

66895 16 ELM

66896 13 ELM

66897 13 HACKBERRY

66898 8 HACKBERRY

66899 20 DBL10HACKBERRY

66900 10 CEDAR

66901 18 ASH

66902 10 PERSIMMON

66903 12 PERSIMMON

66904 8 CEDAR

66905 14 CEDAR

66906 8 CEDAR

66907 7 ELM

66914 15 CEDAR

66915 13 CEDAR

66916 13 CEDAR

66917 13 CEDAR



66918 7 CEDAR

66919 4 CEDAR

66920 4 CEDAR

66921 8 CEDAR

66922 11 HACKBERRY

66923 15 ASH

66924 13 ELM

66925 9 CEDAR

66926 19 HACKBERRY

66927 10 HACKBERRY

66928 11 CEDAR

66929 8 CEDAR

66930 11 CEDAR

66931 27 ASH

66932 13 ELM

66933 36 ASH

66934 17 CEDAR

66935 4 SASSAFRAS

66936 10 SASSAFRAS

66937 17 ASH

66938 17 ASH

66939 10 ELM

66940 7 HACKBERRY

66941 9 CEDAR

66942 4 CEDAR

66943 6 CEDAR

66944 4 HACKBERRY

66945 11 ASH

66946 5 CEDAR

66947 4 CEDAR

66948 4 CEDAR

66949 8 CEDAR

66950 6 CEDAR

66951 8 CEDAR

66952 10 CEDAR

66953 5 BODDOCK

66954 5 CEDAR

66955 10 CEDAR

66956 10 CEDAR

66957 9 CEDAR

66958 9 CEDAR

66959 6 ELM

66960 7 CEDAR

66961 6 CEDAR

66962 7 CEDAR

66963 4 CEDAR

66964 4 CEDAR

66965 7 CEDAR

66966 5 CEDAR

66967 15 ASH

66968 12 ELM

66969 7 ELM

66970 8 ELM

66971 6 CEDAR

66972 6 CEDAR

66973 15 CEDAR

66974 10 HACKBERRY

66975 6 CEDAR

66976 4 CEDAR

66977 4 CEDAR

66978 5 CEDAR

66979 5 CEDAR

66980 4 CEDAR

66981 4 CEDAR

66982 6 HACKBERRY

66983 13 ASH

66984 14 ASH

66985 15 ASH

66986 16 ASH

66987 15 ASH

66988 8 ELM

66989 6 CEDAR

66990 4 CEDAR

66991 6 ELM

66992 5 ELM

66993 18 DBL9ELM

66994 4 CEDAR

66995 9 HACKBERRY

66996 16 ELM

66997 13 CEDAR

66998 7 CEDAR

66999 10 CEDAR

67000 14 CEDAR

67001 5 ELM

67002 4 ELM

67003 10 ELM

67004 6 ELM

67005 9 HACKBERRY

67006 16 CEDAR

67007 15 CEDAR

67008 4 HACKBERRY

67009 5 ELM

67010 7 ELM

67011 7 CEDAR



67012 10 CEDAR

67013 10 CEDAR

67014 12 CEDAR

67015 12 CEDAR

67016 6 CEDAR

67017 6 CEDAR

67018 6 CEDAR

67019 7 CEDAR

67020 11 CEDAR

67021 6 CEDAR

67022 7 ELM

67023 8 ELM

67024 9 CEDAR

67025 9 CEDAR

67026 4 CEDAR

67027 6 CEDAR

67028 6 CEDAR

67029 9 CEDAR

67030 5 CEDAR

67031 10 CEDAR

67032 4 CEDAR

67033 10 CEDAR

67034 10 CEDAR

67035 13 CEDAR

67036 12 DBL6CEDAR

67037 6 ELM

67038 5 CEDAR

67039 5 CEDAR

67040 5 LOCUST

67041 6 LOCUST

67042 4 HACKBERRY

67043 8 HACKBERRY

67044 8 BODDOCK

67045 8 ELM

67046 14 LOCUST

67047 4 CEDAR

67048 4 CEDAR

67049 4 PERSIMMON

67050 10 ELM

67051 13 LOCUST

67052 15 LOCUST

67053 5 ELM

67054 10 ELM

67055 6 CEDAR

67056 6 ELM

67057 4 ELM

67058 4 PERSIMMON

67059 4 PERSIMMON

67060 9 HACKBERRY

67061 8 ELM

67062 4 ELM

67063 5 CEDAR

67064 4 ELM

67065 9 BODDOCK

67066 10 OAK

67067 7 CEDAR

67068 7 CEDAR

67069 6 CEDAR

67070 5 CEDAR

67071 8 CEDAR

67072 5 CEDAR

67073 7 CEDAR

67074 6 ELM

67075 6 PERSIMMON

67076 11 CEDAR

67077 4 LOCUST

67078 6 LOCUST

67079 4 HACKBERRY

67080 4 ELM

67081 7 CEDAR

67082 6 CEDAR

67083 6 CEDAR

67084 4 CEDAR

67085 10 ELM

67086 6 CEDAR

67087 7 CEDAR

67088 4 CEDAR

67089 4 CEDAR

67090 6 CEDAR

67091 6 CEDAR

67092 9 CEDAR

67093 9 CEDAR

67094 4 CEDAR

67095 8 CEDAR

67096 4 HACKBERRY

67098 4 ELM

67099 4 HACKBERRY

67100 10 CEDAR

67101 10 CEDAR

67102 8 CEDAR

67103 5 ELM

67104 7 ELM

67105 7 ELM

67106 6 CEDAR



67107 6 CEDAR

67108 6 CEDAR

67109 6 CEDAR

67110 7 CEDAR

67111 6 CEDAR

67112 8 CEDAR

67113 6 ELM

67114 7 LOCUST

67115 4 CEDAR

67116 10 CEDAR

67117 6 CEDAR

67118 7 CEDAR

67119 5 CEDAR

67120 5 CEDAR

67121 4 CEDAR

67122 4 CEDAR

67123 5 CEDAR

67124 8 ELM

67125 5 ELM

67126 5 ELM

67127 5 CEDAR

67128 5 CEDAR

67129 6 CEDAR

67130 6 CEDAR

67131 6 CEDAR

67132 4 CEDAR

67133 4 CEDAR

67134 5 CEDAR

67135 4 ELM

67136 4 ELM

67137 4 BODDOCK

67138 4 HACKBERRY

67139 5 HACKBERRY

67140 5 ELM

67141 5 HACKBERRY

67142 6 HACKBERRY

67143 6 HACKBERRY

67144 15 ASH

67145 7 ELM

67146 5 ELM

67147 5 ELM

67148 4 CEDAR

67149 9 CEDAR

67150 9 CEDAR

67151 4 CEDAR

67152 6 CEDAR

67153 7 CEDAR

67154 4 PERSIMMON

67155 4 PERSIMMON

67156 5 PERSIMMON

67157 10 PERSIMMON

67158 5 ELM

67159 7 ELM

67160 4 HACKBERRY

67161 5 CEDAR

67162 6 CEDAR

67163 11 CEDAR

67164 7 ELM

67165 4 HACKBERRY

67166 5 HACKBERRY

67167 5 ELM

67168 4 ELM

67169 4 CEDAR

67170 4 CEDAR

67171 5 HACKBERRY

67172 10 HACKBERRY

67173 6 ASH

67174 12 ASH

67175 5 PERSIMMON

67176 5 PERSIMMON

67177 5 ELM

67178 5 CEDAR

67179 10 CEDAR

67180 8 ELM

67181 4 CEDAR

67182 8 CEDAR

67183 8 CEDAR

67184 5 CEDAR

67185 9 CEDAR

67186 12 ELM

67199 5 PERSIMMON

67200 9 CEDAR

67201 7 CEDAR

67202 6 PERSIMMON

67203 32 OAK

67204 5 CEDAR

67205 4 BODOCK

67209 7 CEDAR

67213 8 CEDAR

67264 9 PERSIMMON

67265 14 PERSIMMON

67266 4 CEDAR

67267 16 PERSIMMON

67268 4 CEDAR



68959 5 MAPLE

68960 5 HACKBERRY

68961 4 PERSIMMON

68962 8 HACKBERRY

68963 4 ASH

68964 4 ASH

68965 4 ASH

68966 16 CEDAR

68967 13 ELM

69123 19 ELM

69124 4 ELM

69125 4 ASH

69126 18 DBL9PERSIMMON

69191 4 MAPLE

69192 9 ELM

69193 11 CEDAR

69194 16 ASH

69195 10 CEDAR

69196 7 ELM

69197 11 ELM

69198 10 ASH

69199 9 ASH

69200 13 ASH

69201 11 ELM

69202 9 ASH

69279 8 ELM

69280 7 ASH

69281 9 WALNUT

69282 20 OAK

69283 11 OAK

69284 11 OAK

69285 12 ELM

69286 5 CEDAR

69287 9 HACKBERRY

69288 5 ELM

69289 15 ASH

69290 4 CEDAR

69291 10 ELM

69292 15 HACKBERRY

69293 6 HACKBERRY

69294 13 ASH

69295 12 HACKBERRY

69296 6 HACKBERRY

69297 6 HACKBERRY

69298 5 ELM

69299 4 ELM

69300 12 ELM

69301 12 ELM

69302 6 CEDAR

69303 5 HACKBERRY

69304 24 OAK

69305 6 CEDAR

69306 9 ELM

69307 12 LOCUST

69308 4 CEDAR

69309 4 HACKBERRY

69310 6 CEDAR

69311 7 CEDAR

69312 12 CEDAR

69313 7 PERSIMMON

69314 4 CEDAR

69315 9 CEDAR

69316 39 OAK

69317 4 MAPLE

69318 4 CEDAR

69319 8 HACKBERRY

69320 10 HACKBERRY

69321 6 ASH

69322 18 MULBERRY

69323 18 MULBERRY

69324 14 MULBERRY

69325 6 HACKBERRY

69326 16 WALNUT

69327 11 HACKBERRY

69328 9 HACKBERRY

69329 12 LOCUST

69330 4 ASH

69331 12 HACKBERRY

69332 5 HACKBERRY

69333 10 HACKBERRY

69334 10 HACKBERRY

69335 8 HACKBERRY

69336 5 HACKBERRY

69337 5 HACKBERRY

69338 5 HACKBERRY

69339 4 CEDAR

69340 4 CEDAR

69341 17 HACKBERRY

69342 8 HACKBERRY

69343 4 HACKBERRY

69344 10 DBL5HACKBERRY

69345 20 CEDAR

69346 5 BODOCK

69347 10 HACKBERRY



69348 12 HACKBERRY

69349 13 HACKBERRY

69350 12 HACKBERRY

69351 16 HACKBERRY

69352 8 CEDAR

69354 4 CEDAR

69355 4 ASH

69356 6 ELM

69357 5 ELM

69358 5 ELM

69359 8 ASH

69360 15 BODOCK

69361 14 LOCUST

69362 5 HACKBERRY

69363 13 HACKBERRY

69364 4 CEDAR

69365 9 BODOCK

69366 4 CEDAR

69367 6 HACKBERRY

69368 7 HACKBERRY

69369 7 HACKBERRY

69370 4 HACKBERRY

69371 5 CEDAR

69372 6 HACKBERRY

69373 6 HACKBERRY

69374 7 HACKBERRY

69375 7 HACKBERRY

69376 7 HACKBERRY

69377 7 HACKBERRY

69378 9 CEDAR

69379 12 HACKBERRY

69380 9 PERSIMMON

69381 9 PERSIMMON

69382 5 LOCUST

69383 5 ELM

69384 10 CEDAR

69385 8 HACKBERRY

69386 8 HACKBERRY

69387 12 CEDAR

69388 10 CEDAR

69389 5 CEDAR

69390 12 CEDAR

69391 6 CEDAR

69392 4 HACKBERRY

69393 13 HACKBERRY

69394 13 HACKBERRY

69395 4 ELM

69396 9 HACKBERRY

69397 4 HACKBERRY

69398 9 ELM

69399 7 ELM

69400 6 HACKBERRY

69401 4 ELM

69402 5 ELM

69403 6 HACKBERRY

69404 10 HACKBERRY

69405 20 ELM

69406 8 HACKBERRY

69407 7 ELM

69408 6 HACKBERRY

69409 8 CEDAR

69410 10 ELM

69411 4 HACKBERRY

69412 4 HACKBERRY

69413 6 HACKBERRY

69414 6 HACKBERRY

69415 6 ELM

69416 7 ELM

69417 16 DBL8LOCUST

69418 6 CEDAR

69419 10 ASH

69420 8 BODOCK

69421 4 BODOCK

69422 7 ASH

69423 11 ASH

69424 4 ELM

69425 8 OAK

69426 14 ASH

69427 6 CEDAR

69428 6 ELM

69429 9 CEDAR

69430 4 ELM

69431 5 ELM

69432 4 BODOCK

69433 6 CEDAR

69434 12 ELM

69435 25 OAK

69436 4 HACKBERRY

69437 4 ELM

69438 7 HACKBERRY

69439 6 HACKBERRY

69440 10 ELM

69441 4 CEDAR

69442 6 OAK



69443 23 HACKBERRY

69444 5 CEDAR

69445 5 CEDAR

69446 5 CEDAR

69447 4 CEDAR

69448 18 ASH

69449 9 LOCUST

69450 6 HACKBERRY

69451 6 HACKBERRY

69452 6 HACKBERRY

69453 4 HACKBERRY

69454 8 HACKBERRY

69455 20 DBL10ELM

69456 16 OAK

69457 12 OAK

69458 6 ELM

69459 6 ELM

69460 4 ELM

69461 8 BODOCK

69462 6 CEDAR

69463 4 CEDAR

69464 4 CEDAR

69465 6 HACKBERRY

69466 6 HACKBERRY

69467 6 HACKBERRY

69468 4 CEDAR

69469 4 ELM

69470 6 ASH

69471 6 ASH

69472 21 OAK

69473 8 HACKBERRY

69474 6 HACKBERRY

69475 15 HACKBERRY

69476 14 OAK

69477 10 HACKBERRY

69478 7 HACKBERRY

69479 5 CEDAR

69480 13 ELM

69481 10 OAK

69482 13 OAK

69483 8 CEDAR

69484 12 CEDAR

69485 8 CEDAR

69486 10 CEDAR

69487 5 CEDAR

69488 8 CEDAR

69489 8 CEDAR

69490 6 LOCUST

69491 10 OAK

69492 6 HACKBERRY

69493 7 CEDAR

69494 20 OAK

69495 12 OAK

69496 10 LOCUST

69497 4 CEDAR

69498 4 CEDAR

69499 5 ASH

69500 4 ASH

69501 6 ELM

69502 6 ELM

69503 30 OAK

69504 6 CEDAR

69505 6 CEDAR

69506 18 OAK

69507 6 OAK

69508 10 OAK

69509 6 ELM

69510 6 ELM

69511 6 ELM

69512 18 OAK

69513 4 HACKBERRY

69514 10 HACKBERRY

69515 8 DBL4PERSIMMON

69516 15 ELM

69517 4 PERSIMMON

69518 6 CEDAR

69519 17 CEDAR

69520 8 PERSIMMON

69521 6 ELM

69522 6 PERSIMMON

69523 7 PERSIMMON

69524 10 PERSIMMON

69525 6 PERSIMMON

69526 8 PERSIMMON

69527 7 CEDAR

69528 6 PERSIMMON

69529 4 OAK

69530 4 ELM

69531 4 ELM

69532 4 ELM

69533 4 ELM

69534 4 ELM

69535 4 HACKBERRY

69536 5 ASH



69537 4 ASH

69538 4 ELM

69539 4 ELM

69540 4 ELM

69541 4 ELM

69542 4 ELM

69543 4 LOCUST

69544 7 LOCUST

69545 5 LOCUST

69546 5 HACKBERRY

69547 4 LOCUST

69548 5 ELM

69549 4 WALNUT

69550 5 HACKBERRY

69551 5 ELM

69552 4 ELM

69553 4 ELM

69555 4 ELM

69556 4 ELM

69557 4 ELM

69558 4 ASH

69559 4 ELM

69560 6 BOXELDER

69561 5 HACKBERRY

69562 5 HACKBERRY

69563 4 ASH

69564 5 ELM

69565 4 ASH

69566 4 ASH

69567 7 LOCUST

69568 5 LOCUST

69569 5 LOCUST

69570 5 LOCUST

69571 5 LOCUST

69572 9 LOCUST

69573 9 LOCUST

69574 4 LOCUST

69575 4 LOCUST

69576 5 LOCUST

69577 4 LOCUST

69578 19 ELM

69579 21 ELM

69580 4 ELM

69581 5 ELM

69582 4 CEDAR

69583 4 CEDAR

69585 6 ELM

69586 12 ASH

69587 10 ELM

69588 7 ASH

69589 10 ELM

69590 6 ASH

69591 10 LOCUST

69592 10 ASH

69593 8 ELM

69594 8 ELM

69595 5 HACKBERRY

69596 5 CEDAR

69597 6 ELM

69598 4 HACKBERRY

69599 10 ELM

69600 10 ELM

69601 10 BODOCK

69602 10 BODOCK

69603 6 BODOCK

69604 5 HACKBERRY

69605 10 CEDAR

69606 10 ELM

69607 7 ELM

69608 10 ELM

69609 6 ELM

69610 4 HACKBERRY

69611 4 HACKBERRY

69612 6 ELM

69613 6 ELM

69614 6 ELM

69615 9 REDBUD

69616 10 ELM

69617 6 ELM

69618 7 HACKBERRY

69619 8 ELM

69620 4 HACKBERRY

69621 14 CEDAR

69622 7 CEDAR

69623 9 CEDAR

69624 4 ELM

69625 6 ELM

69626 6 ELM

69627 5 REDBUD

69628 12 ELM

69629 10 CEDAR

69630 6 SASSAFRAS

69631 6 SASSAFRAS

69632 6 SASSAFRAS



69633 6 SASSAFRAS

69634 10 SASSAFRAS

69635 4 ELM

69636 4 SASSAFRAS

69637 12 DBL6PERSIMMON

69638 7 CEDAR

69639 12 ELM

69640 10 ELM

69641 5 ELM

69642 6 CEDAR

69643 6 CEDAR

69644 4 SASSAFRAS

69645 4 SASSAFRAS

69646 11 CEDAR

69647 10 SASSAFRAS

69648 6 SASSAFRAS

69649 6 SASSAFRAS

69650 12 LOCUST

69651 12 OAK

69652 11 LOCUST

69653 4 SASSAFRAS

69654 4 SASSAFRAS

69655 4 SASSAFRAS

69656 6 SASSAFRAS

69657 6 SASSAFRAS

69658 8 HACKBERRY

69659 10 CEDAR

69660 10 LOCUST

69661 7 CEDAR

69662 6 CEDAR

69663 10 ELM

69667 8 ELM

69668 5 ELM

69669 7 LOCUST

69670 7 LOCUST

69671 5 ELM

69672 5 CEDAR

69673 11 LOCUST

69674 12 PERSIMMON

69675 7 ELM

69676 5 HACKBERRY

69677 5 HACKBERRY

69678 15 HACKBERRY

69679 4 ELM

69680 5 SASSAFRAS

69681 7 ELM

69682 8 CEDAR

69683 6 ELM

69684 8 BODOCK

69685 9 HACKBERRY

69686 4 ELM

69687 6 ELM

69688 9 WALNUT

69689 4 ELM

69690 4 HACKBERRY

69691 7 HACKBERRY

69692 4 ELM

69693 6 ELM

69694 14 WALNUT

69695 7 ELM

69696 8 ELM

69697 4 ELM

69698 17 WALNUT

69699 5 CEDAR

69700 5 CEDAR

69701 6 HACKBERRY

69702 9 HACKBERRY

69703 6 MULBERRY

69704 5 ELM

69705 13 ELM

69706 4 HACKBERRY

69707 5 ELM

69708 16 WALNUT

69709 18 WALNUT

69710 5 ELM

69711 4 HACKBERRY

69712 4 HACKBERRY

69713 10 WALNUT

69714 17 CEDAR

69715 5 HACKBERRY

69716 6 CEDAR

69717 8 WALNUT

69718 7 ELM

69719 11 ELM

69720 4 HACKBERRY

69721 5 CEDAR

69722 7 ELM

69723 14 DBL7PERSIMMON

69724 7 CEDAR

69725 5 CEDAR

69726 12 CEDAR

69727 6 ELM

69728 4 ELM

69729 7 ELM



69730 5 BODOCK

69731 7 ELM

69733 4 ELM

69734 4 ELM

69735 6 ELM

69736 6 ELM

69737 8 ELM

69738 5 HACKBERRY

69739 6 ELM

69740 6 ELM

69741 6 ELM

69742 6 ELM

69743 5 ELM

69744 8 ELM

69745 8 ELM

69746 8 ELM

69747 4 ELM

69748 4 ELM

69749 4 PERSIMMON

69750 7 ELM

69751 7 ELM

69752 7 ELM

69753 5 ELM

69754 5 ELM

69755 5 ELM

69756 9 ELM

69757 9 ELM

69758 6 ELM

69759 4 ELM

69760 4 ELM

69761 4 PERSIMMON

69762 4 PERSIMMON

69764 7 PERSIMMON

69765 6 PERSIMMON

69766 8 ELM

69767 4 ELM

69768 5 PERSIMMON

69769 5 PERSIMMON

69770 5 PERSIMMON

69771 6 ELM

69772 4 ELM

69773 9 ELM

69774 4 CEDAR

69775 8 PERSIMMON

69776 8 PERSIMMON

69777 6 CEDAR

69778 8 LOCUST

69779 7 WALNUT

69780 11 CATALPA

69781 9 BOXELDER

69782 15 LOCUST

69783 6 LOCUST

69784 8 LOCUST

69785 19 LOCUST

69786 10 LOCUST

69787 4 WALNUT

69788 5 LOCUST

69789 4 LOCUST

69790 6 LOCUST

69791 8 LOCUST

69792 4 LOCUST

69793 5 BOXELDER

69794 12 LOCUST

69795 4 LOCUST

69796 4 LOCUST

69797 11 HACKBERRY

69798 22 ELM

69799 6 WALNUT

69800 5 LOCUST

69801 8 LOCUST

69802 8 LOCUST

69803 6 LOCUST

69804 5 CEDAR

69805 30 HICKORY

69806 16 HACKBERRY

69807 12 HICKORY

69808 4 HICKORY

69809 9 OAK

69810 14 HACKBERRY

69811 17 ASH

69812 14 MAPLE

69813 18 HICKORY

69814 12 HACKBERRY

69815 13 WALNUT

69816 23 OAK

69817 25 MAPLE

69818 13 HACKBERRY

69819 31 OAK

69820 4 MAPLE

69821 5 ASH

69822 24 OAK

69823 14 HICKORY

69891 7 HICKORY

69892 23 OAK



69893 6 ELM

69894 9 ASH

69895 22 DBL11OAK

69896 16 OAK

69897 9 ASH

69898 12 HICKORY

69899 20 OAK

69900 6 ASH

69901 6 ASH

69902 15 CEDAR

69903 4 BODDOCK

69904 5 CEDAR

69905 5 CEDAR

69906 7 ASH

69907 24 OAK

69908 22 OAK

69909 8 MAPLE

69910 6 MAPLE

69911 6 ELM

69912 11 ASH

69913 5 OAK

69914 10 MAPLE

69915 5 OAK

69916 12 OAK

69917 17 HICKORY

69918 6 ELM

69919 12 MAPLE

69920 10 OAK

69921 32 OAK

69922 6 MAPLE

69923 6 MAPLE

69924 6 MAPLE

69925 7 ASH

69926 9 MAPLE

69927 13 OAK

69928 5 MAPLE

69929 4 HACKBERRY

69930 16 ASH

69931 15 ASH

69932 15 ASH

69933 19 MAPLE

69934 8 HICKORY

69935 8 ELM

69936 18 HICKORY

69937 6 ELM

69938 8 AILANTHUS

69939 6 SASSAFRAS

69940 4 MAPLE

69941 4 ELM

69942 18 HACKBERRY

69943 15 ELM

69944 4 ELM

69945 16 OAK

69946 27 OAK

69947 16 HICKORY

69948 5 MAPLE

69949 4 MAPLE

69950 4 MAPLE

69951 6 CEDAR

69952 14 MAPLE

69953 5 CEDAR

69954 4 MAPLE

69955 5 CEDAR

69956 5 MAPLE

69957 7 MAPLE

69958 13 ASH

69959 6 ASH

69960 4 OAK

69961 10 ASH

69962 10 ASH

69963 13 ASH

69964 10 ASH

69965 5 CEDAR

69966 4 CEDAR

69967 5 ASH

69968 6 ASH

69969 5 LOCUST

69970 5 ASH

69971 6 ASH

69972 6 ASH

69973 7 HICKORY

69974 6 ASH

69975 9 ASH

69976 7 ELM

69977 11 ASH

69978 4 ELM

69979 11 ASH

69980 6 MAPLE

69981 6 MAPLE

69982 4 ELM

69983 17 ASH

69984 12 OAK

69985 12 OAK

69987 6 HACKBERRY



69988 6 HICKORY

69989 6 MAPLE

70052 5 ELM

70053 19 ASH

70054 7 OAK

70055 15 ASH

70056 9 ASH

70057 9 MAPLE

70058 7 MAPLE

70059 5 DOGWOOD

70060 5 MAPLE

70061 26 ASH

70062 12 MAPLE

70063 15 HACKBERRY

70064 9 MAPLE

70065 10 WALNUT

70066 4 ELM

70067 6 HACKBERRY

70068 6 HACKBERRY

70069 20 WALNUT

70070 15 ELM

70071 6 ASH

70072 7 ASH

70073 16 LOCUST

70074 6 ELM

70075 12 ELM

70076 15 HACKBERRY

70077 6 ELM

70078 12 ELM

70079 4 ELM

70080 13 ELM

70082 4 BRADFORD

70083 6 LOCUST

70084 5 LOCUST

70085 7 AILANTHUS

70086 10 HACKBERRY

70087 8 HACKBERRY

70088 22 LOCUST

70089 7 HACKBERRY

70090 5 WALNUT

70091 4 HACKBERRY

70092 12 LOCUST

70093 12 MAPLE

70094 5 HACKBERRY

70095 16 LOCUST

70096 13 WALNUT

70097 7 BOXELDER

70098 11 HACKBERRY

70099 4 HACKBERRY

70100 9 LOCUST

70101 16 LOCUST

70102 23 LOCUST

70103 5 LOCUST

70104 11 LOCUST

70105 4 ELM

70106 10 HACKBERRY

70107 6 WALNUT

70108 7 LOCUST

70109 5 BOXELDER

70110 5 HACKBERRY

70111 13 HACKBERRY

70112 7 HACKBERRY

70113 4 HACKBERRY

70114 12 LOCUST

70115 8 LOCUST

70116 6 HACKBERRY

70117 9 LOCUST

70118 10 WALNUT

70119 4 MAPLE

70120 12 LOCUST

70121 10 LOCUST

70122 6 HACKBERRY

70123 7 OAK

70160 7 LOCUST

70161 6 ELM

70162 16 ELM

70163 5 ELM

70164 11 ELM

70165 13 ELM

70166 14 HACKBERRY

70167 6 HACKBERRY

70168 6 ELM

70169 6 ELM

70170 10 LOCUST

70171 8 PERSIMMON

70172 4 ELM

70173 6 ELM

70174 16 WALNUT

70175 30 ASH

70176 6 HACKBERRY

70177 6 HACKBERRY

70178 9 ELM

70179 5 CEDAR

70180 7 BOXELDER



70181 4 ASH

70182 5 MAPLE

70183 7 HACKBERRY

70184 10 PERSIMMON

70185 5 CEDAR

70186 15 CEDAR

70187 5 ELM

70188 5 ELM

70189 7 ELM

70190 5 ELM

70191 5 ELM

70192 10 ELM

70193 10 ELM

70194 27 HACKBERRY

70195 44 OAK

70196 12 ELM

70197 16 ELM

70198 15 HACKBERRY

70199 10 HACKBERRY

70200 13 ELM

70201 8 HACKBERRY

70202 14 HACKBERRY

70203 17 CEDAR

70204 15 CEDAR

70205 12 HACKBERRY

70206 10 ELM

70207 10 CEDAR

70208 20 DBL10CEDAR

70209 8 ASH

70210 10 HACKBERRY

70211 10 HACKBERRY

70212 12 HACKBERRY

70213 7 HACKBERRY

70214 6 HACKBERRY

70215 6 HACKBERRY

70216 9 HACKBERRY

70217 11 HACKBERRY

70218 13 HACKBERRY

70219 12 ELM

70220 4 ELM

70221 13 HACKBERRY

70222 13 HACKBERRY

70223 24 DBL12HACKBERRY

70224 12 HACKBERRY

70225 18 HACKBERRY

70226 19 HACKBERRY

70227 9 CEDAR

70228 6 ELM

70229 12 ELM

70230 17 ELM

70231 10 ELM

70232 6 CEDAR

70233 8 CEDAR

70234 15 CEDAR

70235 15 CEDAR

70236 6 HACKBERRY

70237 8 CEDAR

70238 5 CEDAR

70239 10 CEDAR

70240 8 ELM

70241 6 BODDOCK

70242 13 CEDAR

70243 9 CEDAR

70244 9 CEDAR

70245 9 CEDAR

70246 5 CEDAR

70247 15 LOCUST

70248 6 HACKBERRY

70249 9 HACKBERRY

70250 9 CEDAR

70251 6 CEDAR

70252 6 CEDAR

70253 18 ELM

70254 5 CEDAR

70255 5 CEDAR

70256 5 CEDAR

70257 5 CEDAR

70258 16 ELM

70259 4 CEDAR

70260 4 CEDAR

70261 4 CEDAR

70262 4 CEDAR

70263 5 CEDAR

70264 5 CEDAR

70265 16 CEDAR

70266 12 CEDAR

70267 4 PERSIMMON

70268 4 PERSIMMON

70269 4 PERSIMMON

70270 4 PERSIMMON

70271 4 PERSIMMON

70272 4 PERSIMMON

70273 26 OAK

70274 5 WALNUT



70275 5 HACKBERRY

70276 3 DBL15PERSIMMON

70277 13 PERSIMMON

70278 4 HACKBERRY

70279 5 WALNUT

70280 9 CEDAR

70281 6 CEDAR

70282 4 CEDAR

70283 8 CEDAR

70284 12 ELM

70285 16 CEDAR

70286 22 DBL11CEDAR

70287 7 CEDAR

70288 10 CEDAR

70289 4 CEDAR

70290 10 CEDAR

70291 8 CEDAR

70292 8 LOCUST

70293 10 ELM

70294 10 CEDAR

70295 12 CEDAR

70296 8 CEDAR

70297 8 CEDAR

70298 13 LOCUST

70299 12 CEDAR

70300 5 OAK

70301 9 CEDAR

70302 7 ELM

70303 6 CEDAR

70304 8 CEDAR

70305 6 ELM

70306 13 CEDAR

70307 6 CEDAR

70308 15 CEDAR

70309 5 HACKBERRY

70310 7 ELM

70311 10 ELM

70312 7 ELM

70313 7 CEDAR

70314 10 CEDAR

70315 12 ELM

70316 10 CEDAR

70317 10 CEDAR

70318 12 CEDAR

70319 6 CEDAR

70320 7 PERSIMMON

70321 7 PERSIMMON

70322 7 PERSIMMON

70323 7 PERSIMMON

70324 7 PERSIMMON

70325 6 ELM

70326 15 CEDAR

70327 14 DBL7CEDAR

70348 12 CEDAR

70349 12 CEDAR

70350 6 CEDAR

70351 10 CEDAR

70352 21 TRI7CEDAR

70353 20 DBL10CEDAR

70354 22 CEDAR

70355 9 PERSIMMON

70356 9 PERSIMMON

70357 10 HACKBERRY

70358 7 BODDOCK

70359 7 CEDAR

70360 10 HACKBERRY

70361 12 ELM

70362 8 ELM

70363 5 ELM

70364 5 ELM

70365 12 ELM

70366 8 ELM

70367 5 PERSIMMON

70368 10 PERSIMMON

70369 7 PERSIMMON

70370 6 ELM

70371 6 ELM

70372 9 ELM

70373 5 HACKBERRY

70374 5 ELM

70375 20 OAK

70376 8 HACKBERRY

70377 7 ELM

70378 5 ELM

70379 11 BODDOCK

70380 5 PERSIMMON

70381 5 PERSIMMON

70382 5 HACKBERRY

70383 5 HACKBERRY

70384 12 ELM

70385 14 WALNUT

70386 16 DBL8HACKBERRY

70387 8 CEDAR

70388 8 CEDAR



70389 6 ELM

70390 6 ELM

70391 8 PERSIMMON

70392 15 PERSIMMON

70393 4 ASH

70394 4 HACKBERRY

70395 8 WALNUT

70396 4 WALNUT

70397 4 CEDAR

70398 5 ELM

70399 5 ELM

70400 6 PERSIMMON

70401 6 PERSIMMON

70402 6 PERSIMMON

70403 6 PERSIMMON

70404 6 PERSIMMON

70405 10 PERSIMMON

70406 6 ELM

70407 6 PERSIMMON

70408 6 PERSIMMON

70409 8 PERSIMMON

70410 18 DBL9PERSIMMON

70411 12 ELM

70412 12 ELM

70413 5 ELM

70414 5 ELM

70415 5 ELM

70416 8 ELM

70417 8 ELM

70418 6 ELM

70419 13 WALNUT

70420 11 ELM

70421 11 ELM

70422 7 LOCUST

70423 4 LOCUST

70424 4 LOCUST

70425 6 LOCUST

70426 30 TRI10LOCUST

70427 5 LOCUST

70428 7 LOCUST

70429 5 LOCUST

70430 8 LOCUST

70431 4 ELM

70432 10 LOCUST

70433 7 LOCUST

70434 7 ELM

70435 5 LOCUST

70436 5 ELM

70437 5 ELM

70438 10 ELM

70439 7 ASH

70440 8 LOCUST

70441 4 LOCUST

70442 6 ELM

70443 5 LOCUST

70444 6 ELM

70445 10 ELM

70446 8 ELM

70447 5 ELM

70448 9 ELM

70449 5 LOCUST

70450 6 ELM

70451 4 ELM

70452 9 ELM

70453 4 ELM

70454 4 ELM

70455 6 WALNUT

70456 6 ELM

70457 9 ELM

70458 9 ELM

70459 4 CEDAR

70460 4 CEDAR

70461 4 ELM

70462 5 ELM

70463 5 ELM

70464 4 ELM

70465 5 ELM

70466 10 ELM

70467 6 ELM

70468 6 ELM

70469 6 ELM

70470 6 ELM

70471 4 ELM

70472 9 ELM

70473 7 ELM

70474 7 ELM

70475 5 ELM

70476 5 ELM

70477 5 ELM

70478 5 ELM

70479 5 ELM

70480 7 ELM

70481 7 ELM

70482 4 ELM



70483 4 ELM

70484 6 ELM

70485 6 ELM

70486 7 HACKBERRY

70487 5 ELM

70488 5 CEDAR

70489 10 ELM

70490 4 ELM

70491 5 ELM

70492 5 HACKBERRY

70493 5 ELM

70494 5 ELM

70495 8 HACKBERRY

70496 10 ELM

70497 6 HACKBERRY

70498 6 HACKBERRY

70499 4 HACKBERRY

70500 4 ELM

70501 4 ELM

70502 4 ELM

70503 5 ASH

70504 7 HACKBERRY

70505 7 HACKBERRY

70506 7 HACKBERRY

70507 10 HACKBERRY

70508 10 HACKBERRY

70509 9 OAK

70510 7 HACKBERRY

70511 10 HACKBERRY

70512 6 BODDOCK

70513 4 ELM

70514 6 HACKBERRY

70515 4 ELM

70516 4 ELM

70517 5 ELM

70518 13 HACKBERRY

70519 4 ELM

70520 4 ELM

70521 9 ELM

70522 5 ELM

70523 5 ELM

70524 6 ELM

70525 4 CEDAR

70526 8 WALNUT

70527 4 ELM

70528 12 DBL6BODDOCK

70529 7 ELM

70530 4 ELM

70531 8 ELM

70532 8 ELM

70533 8 ELM

70534 6 ELM

70535 4 ELM

70536 4 ELM

70537 5 ELM

70538 5 ELM

70539 5 ELM

70540 4 ELM

70541 4 ELM

70542 6 ELM

70543 6 WALNUT

70544 5 BODDOCK

70545 13 CEDAR

70546 7 ELM

70547 10 ELM

70548 5 CEDAR

70549 11 ELM

70550 12 CEDAR

70551 11 WALNUT

70552 24 DBL12CEDAR

70553 9 BODDOCK

70554 5 ELM

70555 5 ELM

70556 6 ELM

70557 6 CEDAR

70558 6 ELM

70559 8 PERSIMMON

70560 10 CEDAR

70561 13 CEDAR

70562 13 CEDAR

70563 6 CEDAR

70564 4 ELM

70565 4 ELM

70566 9 ELM

70567 6 ELM

70568 6 ELM

70569 4 ELM

70570 7 ELM

70571 7 ELM

70572 4 ELM

70573 10 HACKBERRY

70574 10 LOCUST

70575 6 CEDAR

70576 6 CEDAR



70577 6 CEDAR

70578 5 ELM

70579 9 CEDAR

70580 10 ELM

70581 5 ELM

70582 11 CEDAR

70583 11 CEDAR

70584 4 ASH

70585 7 CEDAR

70586 7 CEDAR

70587 9 CEDAR

70588 20 DBL10CEDAR

70589 6 CEDAR

70590 9 CEDAR

70591 6 ELM

70592 6 ELM

70593 5 PERSIMMON

70594 5 PERSIMMON

70595 6 PERSIMMON

70596 6 ELM

70597 4 CEDAR

70598 4 ELM

70599 5 ELM

70600 10 ELM

70601 9 LOCUST

70602 4 ELM

70603 4 ELM

70604 4 ELM

70605 5 ELM

70606 7 ELM

70607 6 ELM

70608 7 LOCUST

70609 7 ELM

70610 7 ELM

70611 4 ELM

70612 8 ELM

70613 8 ELM

70614 12 LOCUST

70615 8 ELM

70616 10 ELM

70617 4 ELM

70618 10 LOCUST

70619 7 ELM

70620 5 ELM

70621 5 ELM

70622 4 ELM

70623 5 ELM

70624 10 LOCUST

70625 4 ELM

70626 8 ELM

70627 4 ELM

70628 11 HACKBERRY

70629 4 ELM

70630 10 HACKBERRY

70631 6 HACKBERRY

70632 6 ASH

70633 8 HACKBERRY

70634 8 HACKBERRY

70635 5 HACKBERRY

70636 4 HACKBERRY

70637 6 HACKBERRY

70638 27 OAK

70639 5 ELM

70640 8 ASH

70641 5 ELM

70642 10 HACKBERRY

70643 4 ELM

70644 4 HACKBERRY

70645 10 HACKBERRY

70646 8 HACKBERRY

70647 8 HACKBERRY

70648 10 HACKBERRY

70649 5 ELM

70650 5 ELM

70651 10 HACKBERRY

70652 10 HACKBERRY

70653 10 LOCUST

70654 4 HACKBERRY

70655 6 ELM

70656 7 LOCUST

70657 5 ELM

70658 5 ELM

70659 12 HACKBERRY

70660 5 HACKBERRY

70661 20 DBL10HACKBERRY

70662 5 ELM

70663 8 ASH

70664 17 HACKBERRY

70665 5 ELM

70666 16 HACKBERRY

70667 7 HACKBERRY

70668 5 HACKBERRY

70669 5 HACKBERRY

70670 12 HACKBERRY



70671 7 HACKBERRY

70672 9 HACKBERRY

70673 6 ASH

70674 8 ELM

70675 12 HACKBERRY

70676 7 OAK

70677 9 HACKBERRY

70678 7 HACKBERRY

70679 12 WALNUT

70680 9 ELM

70681 6 HACKBERRY

70682 6 HACKBERRY

70683 4 MAPLE

70684 6 SASAFRAS

70685 7 BOXELDER

70686 4 MAPLE

70687 4 MAPLE

70688 12 MAPLE

70689 8 HACKBERRY

70690 20 ELM

70691 21 WALNUT

70692 5 ELM

70693 10 MAPLE

70694 10 MAPLE

70695 13 MAPLE

70696 4 ELM

70697 18 MAPLE

70698 4 ELM

70699 5 MAPLE

70700 13 PERSIMON

70701 11 SASAFRAS

70702 13 SASAFRAS

70703 13 SASAFRAS

70704 5 MAPLE

70705 9 MAPLE

70706 11 SASAFRAS

70707 4 MAPLE

70708 4 HACKBERRY

70709 10 MAPLE

70710 4 ASH

70711 16 MAPLE

70712 4 ELM

70713 8 HACKBERRY

70714 21 OAK

70715 9 ELM

70716 4 OAK

70717 6 OAK

70718 6 ELM

70719 4 ELM

70720 11 ASH

70721 5 ASH

70722 13 ASH

70723 4 ELM

70724 5 ASH

70725 5 HACKBERRY

70726 5 ELM

70727 10 ASH

70728 9 CEDAR

70729 4 ASH

70730 12 ASH

70731 7 ASH

70732 7 ASH

70733 10 ASH

70734 6 OAK

70735 6 ASH

70736 22 OAK

70737 4 ELM

70738 7 ASH

70739 10 ASH

70740 8 ASH

70741 5 ELM

70742 5 ASH

70743 8 ASH

70744 4 ASH

70745 6 ASH

70746 6 ASH

70747 4 ASH

70748 10 ASH

70749 6 ELM

70750 4 HICKORY

70751 10 CEDAR

70756 4 HICKORY

70801 7 ELM

70802 10 HACKBERRY

70803 6 ELM

70804 12 MAPLE

70805 8 MAPLE

70806 12 SASAFRAS

70807 12 SASAFRAS

70808 12 SASAFRAS

70809 12 SASAFRAS

70810 5 ELM

70811 5 MAPLE

70812 13 SASAFRAS



70813 13 SASAFRAS

70814 13 SASAFRAS

70815 10 SASAFRAS

70816 10 SASAFRAS

70817 14 SASAFRAS

70818 16 SASAFRAS

70819 7 MAPLE

70820 7 ASH

70821 13 SASAFRAS

70822 11 SASAFRAS

70823 8 SASAFRAS

70824 8 SASAFRAS

70825 8 SASAFRAS

70826 11 SASAFRAS

70827 6 MAPLE

70828 14 SASAFRAS

70829 10 SASAFRAS

70830 10 MAPLE

70831 5 HACKBERRY

72078 11 HACKBERRY

72079 9 ELM

72081 11 HACKBERRY

72082 10 OAK

72083 10 PERSIMMON

72084 15 OAK

72085 4 CEDAR

72086 9 HACKBERRY

72087 4 ELM

72089 12 OAK

72091 12 OAK

72092 12 HACKBERRY

72093 12 HACKBERRY

72094 4 HACKBERRY

72095 4 HACKBERRY

72096 11 HACKBERRY

72097 7 OAK

72098 7 HACKBERRY

72099 8 BODDOCK

72100 22 OAK

72101 10 HACKBERRY

72102 25 OAK

72103 9 OAK

72104 8 HACKBERRY

72105 4 HACKBERRY

72106 5 ELM

72107 5 ELM

72108 5 ELM

72109 11 LOCUST

72110 8 OAK

72111 8 OAK

72112 4 ELM

72113 4 ELM

72114 6 HACKBERRY

72115 8 CEDAR

72116 6 HACKBERRY

72117 6 ELM

72118 4 HACKBERRY

72119 9 LOCUST

72120 18 ELM

72121 17 WALNUT

72122 10 ASH

72123 15 HACKBERRY

72124 18 ELMBADCONDITION

72125 5 HACKBERRY

72126 10 HACKBERRY

72127 5 BODDOCK

72129 6 ELM

72170 8 HACKBERRY

72172 4 ELM

72173 6 ELM

72174 4 OAK

72175 22 OAK

72176 10 ELM

72177 6 HACKBERRY

72178 6 ELM

72179 4 HACKBERRY

72180 4 HACKBERRY

72181 7 HACKBERRY

72182 10 WALNUT

72183 10 HACKBERRY

72184 4 HACKBERRY

72185 13 ELM

72186 11 ELM

72187 6 ELM

72188 7 ELM

72189 5 ELM

72190 10 CEDAR

72191 6 ELM

72192 5 ELM

72193 7 ELM

72194 8 CEDAR

72195 8 WALNUT

72196 8 HACKBERRY

72197 10 HACKBERRY



72198 10 HACKBERRY

72199 4 ELM

72200 8 ELM

72201 10 ELM

72202 5 CEDAR

72203 4 ELM

72204 24 OAK

72205 4 ELM

72211 13 WALNUT

72212 10 HACKBERRY

72213 4 ELM

72214 5 ELM

72215 6 HACKBERRY

72216 10 HACKBERRY

72217 10 HACKBERRY

72218 11 HACKBERRY

72219 5 HACKBERRY

72220 8 HACKBERRY

72221 10 ELM

72222 4 HACKBERRY

72223 10 HACKBERRY

72224 13 LOCUST

72225 4 HACKBERRY

72226 7 HACKBERRY

72227 7 HACKBERRY

72228 10 HACKBERRY

72229 8 HACKBERRY

72230 14 HACKBERRY

72231 13 WALNUT

72232 19 HACKBERRY

72233 10 OAK

72234 5 ELM

72235 8 HACKBERRY

72236 10 ELM

72237 14 LOCUST

72238 10 ELM

72239 12 WALNUT

72240 4 ELM

72241 10 HACKBERRY

72242 6 HACKBERRY

72243 5 ELM

72244 4 ELM

72245 4 HACKBERRY

72246 11 WALNUT

72247 15 ELM

72248 4 ELM

72249 7 HACKBERRY

72250 8 HACKBERRY

72251 10 ELM

72252 6 BODOCK

72253 4 ELM

72254 6 ELM

72255 7 BODDOCK

72256 5 CEDAR

72257 4 ELM

72258 4 ELM

72259 4 ELM

72260 4 ELM

72261 7 HACKBERRY

72262 10 ELM

72263 7 ELM

72266 14 HACKBERRY

72284 6 HACKBERRY

72285 10 HACKBERRY

72286 11 WALNUT

72287 11 WALNUT

72288 10 HACKBERRY

72289 4 ELM

72293 4 CEDAR

72294 10 ELM

72342 12 OAK

72361 6 ASH

72362 16 LOCUST

72363 5 HACKBERRY

72364 10 HACKBERRY

72366 5 HACKBERRY

72367 7 HACKBERRY

72368 7 HACKBERRY

72369 10 HACKBERRY

72370 10 HACKBERRY

72371 10 HACKBERRY

72372 4 HACKBERRY

72389 5 HACKBERRY

72390 5 HACKBERRY

72391 13 HACKBERRY

72392 12 ELM

72393 7 HACKBERRY

72394 4 HACKBERRY

72401 12 HACKBERRY

72402 10 HACKBERRY

72403 20 HACKBERRY

72404 4 CEDAR

72405 10 HACKBERRY

72406 4 CEDAR



72407 15 HACKBERRY

72408 6 HACKBERRY

72409 6 HACKBERRY

72410 19 HACKBERRY

72411 16 HACKBERRY

72413 4 ASH

72419 7 HACKBERRY

72420 10 OAK

72430 4 ELM

72432 8 BODDOCK

72435 10 HACKBERRY

72444 17 HACKBERRY

72457 7 ELM

72458 9 HACKBERRY

72460 9 HACKBERRY

72461 6 HACKBERRY

72462 13 HACKBERRY

72463 6 HACKBERRY

72464 9 ELM

72465 12 ELM

72466 5 HACKBERRY

72467 4 HACKBERRY

72468 7 HACKBERRY

72469 5 HACKBERRY

72470 9 HACKBERRY

72471 20 HACKBERRY

72472 9 HACKBERRY

72473 12 HACKBERRY

72474 12 HACKBERRY

72477 7 HACKBERRY

72478 9 HACKBERRY

72479 4 HACKBERRY

72480 4 HACKBERRY

72481 6 ELM

72482 5 CEDAR

72483 10 HACKBERRY

72484 12 HACKBERRY

72485 6 ELM

72490 12 HACKBERRY

72491 12 HACKBERRY

72492 15 HACKBERRY

72493 4 HACKBERRY

72494 6 ASH

72495 5 HACKBERRY

72496 4 OAK

72497 5 HACKBERRY

72498 5 ASH

72499 5 ELM

72500 7 ELM

72501 20 HACKBERRY

72502 6 HACKBERRY

72503 4 HACKBERRY

72504 4 HACKBERRY

72505 10 HACKBERRY

72506 15 HACKBERRY

72507 4 OAK

72508 11 AILANTHUS

72509 5 CEDAR

72510 5 CEDAR

72511 6 ELM

72512 7 OAK

72513 20 OAK

72514 6 HACKBERRY

72515 8 HACKBERRY

72516 6 HACKBERRY

72517 6 HACKBERRY

72518 9 OAK

72519 12 OAK

72520 6 HACKBERRY

72521 6 HACKBERRY

72522 4 HACKBERRY

72523 4 HACKBERRY

72524 8 HACKBERRY

72525 15 HACKBERRY

72526 11 HACKBERRY

72527 6 ELM

72528 11 HACKBERRY

72529 6 HACKBERRY

72530 8 HACKBERRY

72531 8 HACKBERRY

72532 16 WALNUT

72533 14 ELM

72534 8 HACKBERRY

72535 10 BOXELDER

72536 10 HACKBERRY

72537 13 PERSIMMON

72538 4 ELM

72539 10 HACKBERRY

72540 4 HACKBERRY

72541 10 HACKBERRY

72542 5 HACKBERRY

72543 6 ELM

72544 4 ELM

72545 4 HACKBERRY



72546 25 HACKBERRY

72547 11 PERSIMMON

72548 11 PERSIMMON

72549 9 PERSIMMON

72550 9 HACKBERRY

72551 5 ELM

72552 4 ELM

72553 4 HACKBERRY

72554 12 HACKBERRY

72555 10 HACKBERRY

72556 10 HACKBERRY

72557 10 HACKBERRY

72558 23 OAK

72559 7 HACKBERRY

72560 11 LOCUST

72562 5 HACKBERRY

72563 8 HACKBERRY

72564 10 ELM

72569 12 HACKBERRY

72570 5 ELM

72571 8 ELM

72572 4 HACKBERRY

72573 4 HACKBERRY

72574 10 HACKBERRY

72575 4 HACKBERRY

72576 5 HACKBERRY

72577 5 HACKBERRY

72578 15 HACKBERRY

72579 18 HACKBERRY

72580 8 HACKBERRY

72581 13 WALNUT

72582 10 ELM

72583 17 MAPLE

72584 6 HACKBERRY

72585 13 HACKBERRY

72586 15 HACKBERRY

72587 10 HACKBERRY

72588 7 HACKBERRY

72589 7 BODDOCK

72590 6 ELM

72591 11 HACKBERRY

72592 26 HACKBERRY

72593 6 HACKBERRY

72594 5 ELM

72595 4 HACKBERRY

72596 4 HACKBERRY

72597 10 HACKBERRY

72598 6 HACKBERRY

72599 11 HACKBERRY

72600 4 ASH

72601 5 ASH

72602 9 HACKBERRY

72603 16 HACKBERRY

72604 5 HACKBERRY

72605 30 DBL15WALNUT

72606 4 HACKBERRY

72607 4 HACKBERRY

72608 12 HACKBERRY

72609 10 HACKBERRY

72610 8 HACKBERRY

72611 10 WALNUT

72612 12 BOXELDER

72613 11 ELM

72614 10 BOXELDER

72615 7 HACKBERRY

72616 12 HACKBERRY

72617 9 HACKBERRY

72618 6 HACKBERRY

72619 12 WALNUT

72620 15 HACKBERRY

72621 9 HACKBERRY

72622 11 HACKBERRY

72623 8 HACKBERRY

72624 7 ELM

72625 10 HACKBERRY

72626 8 HACKBERRY

72627 4 ELM

72628 10 HACKBERRY

72629 4 HACKBERRY

72630 10 SASSAFRAS

72631 7 HACKBERRY

72632 10 SASSAFRAS

72633 10 SASSAFRAS

72634 19 OAK

72635 15 ELM

72636 10 OAK

72637 28 OAK

72638 20 HACKBERRY

72639 19 HACKBERRY

72640 25 OAK

72641 13 HACKBERRY

72642 4 ELM

72643 13 HACKBERRY

72644 9 ELM



72645 20 HACKBERRY

72646 7 HACKBERRY

72647 10 HACKBERRY

72648 9 HACKBERRY

72649 8 ELM

72650 8 HACKBERRY

72651 8 LOCUST

72652 4 LOCUST

72653 10 HACKBERRY

72654 11 OAK

72655 7 HACKBERRY

72656 6 HACKBERRY

72657 10 PERSIMMON

72658 10 PERSIMMON

72659 6 HACKBERRY

72660 8 HACKBERRY

72661 4 HACKBERRY

72662 7 HACKBERRY

72663 9 HACKBERRY

72664 14 HACKBERRY

72665 4 HACKBERRY

72666 10 HACKBERRY

72667 12 HACKBERRY

72668 6 HACKBERRY

72669 4 HACKBERRY

72670 4 ELM

72671 5 CEDAR

72672 5 CEDAR

72673 9 ELM

72674 4 HACKBERRY

72675 4 HACKBERRY

72676 4 HACKBERRY

72677 10 HACKBERRY

72678 10 HACKBERRY

72679 18 ELM

72680 6 OAK

72681 5 HACKBERRY

72682 7 HACKBERRY

72683 4 HACKBERRY

72684 14 HACKBERRY

72685 6 HACKBERRY

72686 9 ELM

72687 7 HACKBERRY

72688 10 HACKBERRY

72689 10 HACKBERRY

72690 5 HACKBERRY

72691 21 HACKBERRY

72692 7 HACKBERRY

72693 10 HACKBERRY

72694 9 OAK

72695 14 WALNUT

72696 9 HACKBERRY

72697 5 HACKBERRY

72698 5 HACKBERRY

72699 7 HACKBERRY

72700 4 HACKBERRY

72701 4 HACKBERRY

72702 4 HACKBERRY

72703 4 HACKBERRY

72704 8 HACKBERRY

72705 6 HACKBERRY

72706 6 HACKBERRY

72707 6 HACKBERRY

72708 6 HACKBERRY

72709 9 ELM

72710 4 HACKBERRY

72711 6 HACKBERRY

72712 15 WALNUT

72713 10 HACKBERRY

72714 14 HACKBERRY

72715 18 WALNUT

72716 16 ELM

72717 9 WALNUT

72718 7 CEDAR

72719 10 LOCUST

72720 10 LOCUST

72721 4 HACKBERRY

72722 5 ELM

72723 9 SASSAFRAS

72724 7 SASSAFRAS

72725 10 SASSAFRAS

72726 14 SASSAFRAS

72727 6 SASSAFRAS

72728 6 SASSAFRAS

72729 9 SASSAFRAS

72730 6 MULBERRY

72731 4 ELM

72732 12 SASSAFRAS

72733 13 SASSAFRAS

72734 8 HACKBERRY

72735 4 ELM

72736 17 HACKBERRY

72737 7 HACKBERRY

72738 4 OAK



72739 12 HACKBERRY

72740 12 HACKBERRY

72741 6 ELM

72742 12 ELM

72743 6 HACKBERRY

72744 5 HACKBERRY

72745 12 HACKBERRY

72746 8 HACKBERRY

72747 8 HACKBERRY

72748 8 HACKBERRY

72749 12 HACKBERRY

72750 5 HACKBERRY

72751 7 HACKBERRY

72752 10 HACKBERRY

72753 5 HACKBERRY

72754 18 HACKBERRY

72755 13 HACKBERRY

72756 6 MAPLE

72757 6 BOXELDER

72758 15 WALNUT

72759 7 HACKBERRY

72760 4 HACKBERRY

72761 9 HACKBERRY

72762 9 HACKBERRY

72763 8 BODDOCK

72764 6 BOXELDER

72765 10 ELM

72766 6 BOXELDER

72767 10 ASH

72768 5 CEDAR

72769 5 CEDAR

72770 6 MAPLE

72771 5 HACKBERRY

72772 4 DOGWOOD

72773 10 BOXELDER

72774 6 HACKBERRY

72775 7 PERSIMMON

72776 4 MAPLE

72777 5 MAPLE

72778 12 BOXELDER

72779 7 ELM

72780 12 ELM

72781 12 BOXELDER

72782 10 HACKBERRY

72783 8 HACKBERRY

72784 12 HACKBERRY

72785 6 PERSIMMON

72786 10 PERSIMMON

72787 7 HACKBERRY

72788 4 ELM

72789 12 HACKBERRY

72790 12 HACKBERRY

72791 4 ELM

72792 11 SASSAFRAS

72793 5 SASSAFRAS

72794 6 OAK

72795 15 HACKBERRY

72796 12 SASSAFRAS

72797 14 SASSAFRAS

72798 8 SASSAFRAS

72799 13 SASSAFRAS

72800 6 SASSAFRAS

72801 4 SASSAFRAS

72802 4 ELM

72803 12 HACKBERRY

72804 9 SASSAFRAS

72805 12 SASSAFRAS

72806 6 SASSAFRAS

72807 6 ELM

72808 5 CEDAR

72809 13 ELM

72810 12 ASH

72811 5 SASSAFRAS

72812 8 ELM

72813 8 ELM

72814 10 ELM

72815 5 HACKBERRY

72816 13 HACKBERRY

72817 13 ELM

72818 20 CEDAR

72819 14 HACKBERRY

72820 9 AILANTHUS

72821 9 BRADFORD

72822 20 OAK

72823 5 HACKBERRY

72824 4 WALNUT

72825 5 BODDOCK

72826 5 BODDOCK

72827 6 ELM

72828 4 ELM

72829 8 HACKBERRY

72830 8 HACKBERRY

72831 16 WALNUT

72832 6 OAK



72833 14 HACKBERRY

72834 11 LOCUST

72835 12 ELM

72836 7 HACKBERRY

72837 8 HACKBERRY

72838 4 HACKBERRY

72839 4 HACKBERRY

72840 5 HACKBERRY

72841 10 HACKBERRY

72842 10 HACKBERRY

72843 20 DBL10ASH

72844 6 HACKBERRY

72845 6 HACKBERRY

72846 6 MAPLE

72847 7 CEDAR

72848 14 ASH

72849 16 BOXELDER

72850 15 HACKBERRY

72851 4 HACKBERRY

72852 4 HACKBERRY

72853 4 HACKBERRY

72854 4 ASH

72855 10 HACKBERRY

72856 8 HACKBERRY

72857 21 BOXELDER

72858 12 WALNUT

72859 4 HACKBERRY

72860 7 HACKBERRY

72861 4 HACKBERRY

72862 6 ELM

72863 13 PERSIMMON

72864 4 HACKBERRY

72865 4 HACKBERRY

72866 16 ASH

72867 11 BOXELDER

72868 12 HACKBERRY

72869 10 HACKBERRY

72870 10 HACKBERRY

72871 5 MAPLE

72872 7 DOGWOOD

72873 12 LOCUST

72874 7 ASH

72875 5 HACKBERRY

72876 16 PERSIMMON

72877 12 PERSIMMON

72878 12 HACKBERRY

72879 5 HACKBERRY

72880 7 HACKBERRY

72881 7 MAPLE

72882 12 PERSIMMON

72883 12 HACKBERRY

72884 5 HACKBERRY

72885 8 HACKBERRY

72886 7 MAPLE

72887 4 HACKBERRY

72888 8 HACKBERRY

72889 14 HACKBERRY

72890 5 HACKBERRY

72891 5 HACKBERRY

72892 10 HACKBERRY

72893 7 HACKBERRY

72894 4 ASH

72895 5 HACKBERRY

72896 12 HACKBERRY

72897 8 HACKBERRY

72898 16 OAK

72899 5 HACKBERRY

72900 10 HACKBERRY

72901 9 HACKBERRY

72902 6 HACKBERRY

72903 10 HACKBERRY

72904 4 HACKBERRY

72905 10 HACKBERRY

72906 6 HACKBERRY

72907 8 HACKBERRY

72908 6 HACKBERRY

72909 15 HACKBERRY

72910 7 HACKBERRY

72911 7 HACKBERRY

72912 5 HACKBERRY

72913 5 ELM

72914 9 HACKBERRY

72915 5 HACKBERRY

72916 6 HACKBERRY

72917 13 WALNUT

72918 13 LOCUST

72919 8 HACKBERRY

72920 13 HACKBERRY

72921 6 HACKBERRY

72922 12 MAPLE

72923 7 HACKBERRY

72924 7 HACKBERRY

72925 15 HACKBERRY

72926 10 HACKBERRY



72927 6 HACKBERRY

72928 6 HACKBERRY

72929 9 HACKBERRY

72930 7 ELM

72931 26 CHERRY

72932 12 HACKBERRY

72933 10 HACKBERRY

72934 5 LOCUST

72935 8 AILANTHUS

72936 9 AILANTHUS

72937 12 AILANTHUS

72938 10 AILANTHUS

72939 8 HACKBERRY

72940 5 CEDAR

72941 12 HACKBERRY

72942 12 HACKBERRY

72943 4 MAPLE

72944 12 HACKBERRY

72945 8 HACKBERRY

72946 13 HACKBERRY

72947 13 HACKBERRY

72948 4 HACKBERRY

72949 15 ELM

72950 9 HACKBERRY

72951 12 WALNUT

72952 6 BOXELDER

72953 5 HACKBERRY

72954 8 HACKBERRY

72955 13 HACKBERRY

72956 9 BODDOCK

72957 17 ASH

72958 5 WALNUT

72959 11 LOCUST

72960 5 HACKBERRY

72961 5 HACKBERRY

72962 12 WALNUT

72963 13 OAK

72964 6 HACKBERRY

72965 4 HACKBERRY

72966 14 HACKBERRY

72967 10 HACKBERRY

72968 8 HACKBERRY

72969 14 HICKORY

72970 4 HACKBERRY

72971 12 HACKBERRY

72972 12 HACKBERRY

72973 10 HACKBERRY

72974 4 ELM

72975 4 HACKBERRY

72976 14 HICKORY

72977 4 HACKBERRY

72978 11 WALNUT

72979 6 MAPLE

72980 14 HICKORY

72981 7 HACKBERRY

72982 7 HACKBERRY

72983 13 HACKBERRY

72984 10 HACKBERRY

72985 9 HACKBERRY

72986 9 HACKBERRY

72987 11 HACKBERRY

72988 7 HACKBERRY

72989 14 HACKBERRY

72990 6 HACKBERRY

72991 16 HACKBERRY

72992 11 HACKBERRY

72993 11 HACKBERRY

72994 11 BODDOCK

72995 5 HACKBERRY

72996 14 HACKBERRY

72997 5 HACKBERRY

72998 11 HACKBERRY

72999 8 HACKBERRY

73000 4 HACKBERRY

73001 12 HACKBERRY

73002 6 HACKBERRY

73003 6 HACKBERRY

73004 4 HACKBERRY

73005 4 HACKBERRY

73006 5 CEDAR

73007 17 HACKBERRY

73008 12 HACKBERRY

73009 10 LOCUST

73010 10 LOCUST

73011 4 PERSIMMON

73012 4 PERSIMMON

73013 5 BOXELDER

73014 5 BOXELDER

73015 5 BOXELDER

73016 5 BOXELDER

73017 7 BOXELDER

73018 15 ELM

73019 10 CEDAR

73020 10 CEDAR



73021 11 LOCUST

73022 12 LOCUST

73023 4 ASH

73024 8 LOCUST

73025 6 LOCUST

73026 6 LOCUST

73027 6 LOCUST

73028 6 LOCUST

73029 6 LOCUST

73030 4 HACKBERRY

73031 4 HACKBERRY

73032 21 HACKBERRY

73033 4 ELM

73034 6 BODDOCK

73035 5 ASH

73036 4 BOXELDER

73037 4 AILANTHUS

73038 4 LOCUST

73039 5 LOCUST

73040 8 CEDAR

73041 20 CEDAR

73042 6 HACKBERRY

73043 4 AILANTHUS

73044 4 AILANTHUS

73045 4 AILANTHUS

73046 4 AILANTHUS

73047 4 AILANTHUS

73048 4 HACKBERRY

73049 4 LOCUST

73050 7 LOCUST

73051 7 LOCUST

73052 10 CEDAR

73053 6 AILANTHUS

73054 6 AILANTHUS

73055 6 AILANTHUS

73056 6 AILANTHUS

73057 8 AILANTHUS

73058 4 AILANTHUS

73059 6 WALNUT

73060 8 LOCUST

73061 9 CEDAR

73062 9 CEDAR

73063 5 AILANTHUS

73064 5 AILANTHUS

73065 5 AILANTHUS

73066 5 AILANTHUS

73067 6 AILANTHUS

73068 6 BODDOCK

73069 4 ASH

73070 12 HACKBERRY

73071 10 CEDAR

73072 4 WALNUT

73073 10 MAPLE

73074 10 WALNUT

73075 8 WALNUT

73076 6 WALNUT

73077 5 BOXELDER

73078 5 AILANTHUS

73079 5 AILANTHUS

73080 5 AILANTHUS

73081 5 AILANTHUS

73082 5 AILANTHUS

73083 6 ELM

73084 5 AILANTHUS

73085 4 HACKBERRY

73086 4 HACKBERRY

73087 4 AILANTHUS

73088 4 AILANTHUS

73089 8 PERSIMMON

73090 9 AILANTHUS

73091 9 AILANTHUS

73092 8 AILANTHUS

73093 4 HACKBERRY

73094 5 HACKBERRY

73095 5 HACKBERRY

73096 9 LOCUST

73097 9 LOCUST

73098 9 LOCUST

73099 9 LOCUST

73100 12 HACKBERRY

73101 12 CEDAR

73102 21 CEDAR

73103 5 ELM

73104 8 BODDOCK

73105 8 LOCUST

73106 9 ASH

73107 8 HACKBERRY

73108 13 LOCUST

73109 5 HACKBERRY

73110 7 HACKBERRY

73111 9 LOCUST

73112 13 CEDAR

73113 12 CEDAR

73114 5 ASH



73115 5 ASH

73116 8 CEDAR

73117 14 ELM

73118 9 PERSIMMON

73119 12 ELM

73120 14 CEDAR

73121 14 OAK

73122 16 ELM

73123 11 CEDAR

73124 17 CEDAR

73125 9 ELM

73126 12 CEDAR

73127 12 CEDAR

73128 20 DBL10ASH

73129 10 ASH

73130 10 ASH

73131 8 ELM

73132 12 ASH

73133 12 ELM

73134 11 HACKBERRY

73135 4 WALNUT

73136 13 ELM

73137 12 ASH

73138 6 PERSIMMON

73139 6 PERSIMMON

73140 7 LOCUST

73141 7 LOCUST

73142 4 ELM

73143 9 HACKBERRY

73144 6 LOCUST

73145 13 HACKBERRY

73146 12 ELM

73147 12 ELM

73148 4 WALNUT

73149 9 PERSIMMON

73150 13 CEDAR

73151 16 CEDAR

73152 8 LOCUST

73153 10 HACKBERRY

73154 12 HACKBERRY

73155 10 CEDAR

73156 6 LOCUST

73157 7 ELM

73158 7 WILLOW

73159 4 HACKBERRY

73160 9 LOCUST

73161 8 WALNUT

73162 4 WALNUT

73163 7 LOCUST

73164 4 HACKBERRY

73165 10 CEDAR

73166 9 BOXELDER

73167 6 HACKBERRY

73168 17 ELM

73169 12 HACKBERRY

73170 6 LOCUST

73171 6 LOCUST

73172 6 WALNUT

73173 10 ELM

73174 4 LOCUST

73175 12 ELM

73176 12 ELM

73177 12 ELM

73178 15 ELM

73179 7 ELM

73180 16 CEDAR

73182 4 BODDOCK

73183 8 ELM

73184 15 HACKBERRY

73185 8 CEDAR

73186 8 CEDAR

73187 15 ELM

73188 12 BOXELDER

73189 11 HACKBERRY

73190 11 HACKBERRY

73191 7 HACKBERRY

73192 5 ELM

73193 15 ELM

73194 9 ELM

73195 7 ELM

73196 17 ASH

73197 7 HACKBERRY

73198 17 ELM

73199 6 HACKBERRY

73200 5 MAPLE

73201 11 HACKBERRY

73202 14 HACKBERRY

73203 9 HACKBERRY

73204 9 HACKBERRY

73205 5 HACKBERRY

73206 15 HACKBERRY

73207 15 WALNUT

73208 4 HACKBERRY

73209 10 HACKBERRY



73210 8 HACKBERRY

73211 14 HACKBERRY

73212 4 HACKBERRY

73213 4 ELM

73214 14 HACKBERRY

73215 11 ASH

73216 4 HACKBERRY

73217 6 HACKBERRY

73218 14 HACKBERRY

73219 9 HACKBERRY

73220 5 HACKBERRY

73221 6 HACKBERRY

73222 8 ELM

73223 12 ELM

73224 10 ELM

73225 4 HACKBERRY

73226 8 HACKBERRY

73227 10 HACKBERRY

73228 14 HACKBERRY

73229 12 HACKBERRY

73230 7 HACKBERRY

73231 6 ELM

73232 5 HACKBERRY

73233 14 HACKBERRY

73234 8 ELM

73235 4 HACKBERRY

73236 5 MAPLE

73237 7 HACKBERRY

73238 5 WALNUT

73239 6 HACKBERRY

73240 15 ELM

73241 17 WALNUT

73242 9 PERSIMMON

73243 9 PERSIMMON

73244 6 HACKBERRY

73245 6 HACKBERRY

73246 6 HACKBERRY

73247 6 HACKBERRY

73248 6 HACKBERRY

73249 9 LOCUST

73250 12 ASH

73251 13 ELM

73252 10 ELM

73253 12 ELM

73254 5 CEDAR

73255 4 ELM

73256 11 ELM

73257 9 BODDOCK

73258 5 LOCUST

73259 5 LOCUST

73260 7 CEDAR

73261 5 CEDAR

73262 5 ELM

73263 8 LOCUST

73264 4 CEDAR

73265 5 CEDAR

73266 5 CEDAR

73267 11 CEDAR

73268 5 ELM

73269 6 ASH

73270 7 ASH

73271 4 BODDOCK

73272 4 ASH

73273 4 ASH

73274 6 ASH

73275 4 CEDAR

73276 4 OAK

73277 6 ELM

73278 7 CEDAR

73279 17 OAK

73280 4 OAK

73281 12 CEDAR

73282 6 ELM

73283 22 DBL11CEDAR

73284 10 CEDAR

73285 6 OAK

73286 8 ELM

73287 4 HACKBERRY

73288 12 ELM

73289 9 CEDAR

73290 4 HACKBERRY

73291 43 OAK

73292 6 ASH

73293 8 ELM

73294 10 CEDAR

73295 17 OAK

73296 5 HACKBERRY

73297 10 ASH

73298 8 BODDOCK

73299 11 BODDOCK

73300 6 OAK

73301 8 ASH

73302 7 CEDAR

73303 32 OAK



73304 4 ELM

73305 10 ASH

73306 7 ASH

73307 8 ELM

73308 5 ASH

73309 5 OAK

73310 4 ASH

73311 11 CEDAR

73312 14 ELM

73313 10 CEDAR

73314 10 HACKBERRY

73315 6 OAK

73316 7 ASH

73317 8 OAK

73318 20 ELM

73319 14 WALNUT

73320 7 OAK

73321 7 OAK

73322 10 ELM

73323 10 ELM

73324 6 HACKBERRY

73325 11 HACKBERRY

73326 13 HACKBERRY

73327 12 OAK

73328 7 ELM

73329 36 OAK

73330 12 ELM

73331 9 ELM

73332 9 ELM

73333 12 HACKBERRY

73334 4 HACKBERRY

73335 13 WALNUT

73336 12 ELM

73337 10 HACKBERRY

73338 4 ELM

73339 8 HACKBERRY

73340 8 ELM

73341 8 ELM

73342 10 LOCUST

73343 27 OAK

73344 4 ELM

73345 4 ELM

73347 17 HACKBERRY

73349 7 HACKBERRY

73350 4 HACKBERRY

73351 4 BODDOCK

73352 6 BODDOCK

73353 9 HACKBERRY

73354 12 BODDOCK

73355 8 ASH

73356 4 ELM

73357 4 HACKBERRY

73358 4 HACKBERRY

73359 4 ELM

73360 4 HACKBERRY

73361 4 HACKBERRY

73362 4 HACKBERRY

73363 4 HACKBERRY

73364 10 HACKBERRY

73365 10 HACKBERRY

73366 4 CEDAR

73367 12 ASH

73368 6 HACKBERRY

73369 5 CEDAR

73370 5 CEDAR

73371 6 ELM

73372 16 OAK

73373 8 ELM

73374 8 ELM

73375 6 ELM

73376 4 CEDAR

73377 6 HACKBERRY

73378 16 ASH

73379 17 BOXELDER

73380 12 ELM

73381 10 HACKBERRY

73382 12 HACKBERRY

73383 5 HACKBERRY

73384 18 PERSIMMON

73385 4 HACKBERRY

73386 9 BOXELDER

73387 15 ELM

73388 12 HACKBERRY

73389 12 HACKBERRY

73390 5 ELM

73391 11 HACKBERRY

73392 4 ELM

73393 10 HACKBERRY

73394 7 HACKBERRY

73395 12 HACKBERRY

73396 6 HACKBERRY

73397 11 HACKBERRY

73398 6 HACKBERRY

73399 7 ELM



73400 9 ELM

73401 16 WALNUT

73402 10 BOXELDER

73403 17 WALNUT

73404 6 ELM

73405 12 WALNUT

73406 17 MAPLE

73407 7 HACKBERRY

73408 5 ELM

73409 10 HACKBERRY

73410 4 ELM

73411 10 WALNUT

73412 10 ELM

73413 4 ASH

73414 5 MAPLE

73415 8 BOXELDER

73416 4 HACKBERRY

73417 10 HACKBERRY

73418 7 ELM

73419 5 ELM

73420 4 HACKBERRY

73421 8 HACKBERRY

73422 15 WALNUT

73423 5 ELM

73424 4 MAPLE

73425 6 HACKBERRY

73426 5 HICKORY

73427 13 ELM

73428 5 ELM

73429 5 HACKBERRY

73430 15 LOCUST

73431 14 HACKBERRY

73432 7 WALNUT

73433 5 HACKBERRY

73434 7 MAPLE

73435 15 ELM

73436 12 MAPLE

73437 5 BOXELDER

73440 12 HACKBERRY

73448 4 HACKBERRY

73449 10 HACKBERRY

73450 10 HACKBERRY

73451 4 ASH

73452 11 HACKBERRY

73453 5 HACKBERRY

73454 7 HACKBERRY

73461 7 HACKBERRY

73464 10 HACKBERRY

73468 12 HACKBERRY

73472 6 OAK

73473 7 HACKBERRY

73474 7 HACKBERRY

73475 7 HACKBERRY

73476 16 ELM

73477 4 HACKBERRY

73478 12 HACKBERRY

73479 12 PERSIMMON

73480 10 HACKBERRY

73481 12 HACKBERRY

73482 12 HACKBERRY

73483 5 MAPLE

73484 8 MAPLE

73485 7 ELM

73486 10 MAPLE

73487 15 WALNUT

73488 12 OAK

73489 4 MAPLE

73490 20 OAK

73491 5 ELM

73492 8 OAK

73493 13 OAK

73494 10 ELM

73495 7 ELM

73496 26 OAK

73497 10 ELM

73498 13 OAK

73499 4 HACKBERRY

73500 4 HACKBERRY

73501 14 ASH

73502 14 ASH

73503 4 MAPLE

73504 4 MAPLE

73505 9 HACKBERRY

73506 4 OAK

73507 5 ASH

73508 7 ELM

73509 5 BOXELDER

73510 14 HACKBERRY

73511 4 ASH

73515 10 ELM

73516 11 ELM

73523 14 HACKBERRY

73524 21 ASH

73525 4 ELM



73526 5 MAPLE

73528 4 ELM

73529 17 MAPLE

73530 7 ELM

73531 7 MAPLE

73532 4 HACKBERRY

73533 8 ELM

73534 14 ELM

73535 16 WALNUT

73538 10 SASSAFRAS

73539 7 SASSAFRAS

73540 4 MAPLE

73541 12 SASSAFRAS

73542 14 SASSAFRAS

73543 17 HACKBERRY

73544 7 ELM

73545 10 HACKBERRY

73546 4 MAPLE

73583 8 ELM

73584 6 OAK

73585 17 ASH

73586 8 ELM

73587 5 HACKBERRY

73588 4 ELM

73589 14 PERSIMMON

73590 4 ELM

73591 9 MAPLE

73592 4 HACKBERRY

73593 4 HACKBERRY

73594 4 MAPLE

73595 6 HACKBERRY

73596 7 ELM

73597 10 HACKBERRY

73598 7 ELM

73599 7 ELM

73600 15 AILANTHUS

73601 17 ASH

73602 6 ELM

73603 7 ELM

73604 5 ELM

73605 18 ASH

73606 16 ASH

73607 6 HACKBERRY

73608 21 HACKBERRY

73609 15 WALNUT

73610 20 ASH

73611 8 ASH

73612 10 ELM

73613 5 ELM

73614 7 ASH

73617 34 DBL17ASH

73618 4 HACKBERRY

73619 4 MAPLE

73620 5 MAPLE

73621 5 ELM

73622 34 DBL17ASH

73623 4 ASH

73624 9 ASH

73625 14 ASH

73626 22 ASH

73627 4 ELM

73628 17 ASH

73629 12 ASH

73630 5 HACKBERRY

73631 4 HACKBERRY

73632 7 ASH

73633 4 MAPLE

73634 5 ELM

73635 12 ELM

73636 6 MAPLE

73637 7 HACKBERRY

73638 12 ELM

73712 12 SASSAFRAS

73713 12 SASSAFRAS

73714 6 MAPLE

73789 10 MULBERRY

73791 7 ELM

73796 5 MAPLE

73865 6 CEDAR

73866 7 ASH

73867 12 ASH

73869 6 MAPLE

73870 22 ASH

73871 4 ELM

73872 15 ASH

73873 7 ASH

73874 9 ASH

73875 9 ASH

73876 12 ASH

73877 12 ASH

73878 4 ELM

74136 6 HICKORY

74137 8 ASH

74140 5 ELM



74141 14 ASH

74142 10 ASH

74143 8 HICKORY

74145 4 ELM

74146 7 CEDAR

74147 7 CEDAR

74148 6 ASH

74149 5 ELM

74150 5 ELM

74151 4 ASH

74152 4 ASH

74153 9 OAK

74154 12 ASH

74155 7 ASH

74156 16 ASH

74157 5 ASH

74158 10 CEDAR

74159 6 ASH

74160 5 ASH

74161 4 ASH

74162 6 CEDAR

74163 9 ASH

74164 6 ASH

74165 12 ASH

74200 6 ASH

74201 4 ASH

74202 8 ASH

74203 13 ASH

74204 7 ELM

74205 5 ELM

74206 20 ASH

74207 6 ELM

74208 5 HICKORY

74209 10 ASH

74210 6 HACKBERRY

74211 6 ASH

74212 10 CEDAR

74213 14 CEDAR

74214 20 DBL10ASH

74215 8 HICKORY

74216 11 OAK

74217 15 OAK

74218 26 OAK

74219 20 HICKORY

74220 16 ASH

74221 14 ASH

74222 14 ASH

74223 5 HICKORY

74224 5 OAK

74225 4 ELM

74226 10 MAPLE

74227 6 HACKBERRY

74228 5 ASH

74232 10 MAPLE

74233 24 ASH

74234 16 HACKBERRY

74235 10 HICKORY

74236 13 ASH

74237 24 DBL12HACKBERRY

74238 5 ELM

74239 8 MAPLE

74240 13 ASH

74241 13 ASH

74242 7 MAPLE

74243 19 ASH

74244 9 MAPLE

74245 5 OAK

74246 6 ELM

74247 6 MAPLE

74248 6 HACKBERRY

74249 5 MAPLE

74250 7 SASSAFRAS

74251 7 SASSAFRAS

74252 9 SASSAFRAS

74253 5 MAPLE

74254 13 SASSAFRAS

74255 13 SASSAFRAS

74256 10 SASSAFRAS

74257 10 SASSAFRAS

74258 10 SASSAFRAS

74259 14 SASSAFRAS

74260 12 SASSAFRAS

74261 10 SASSAFRAS

74262 12 SASSAFRAS

74263 12 SASSAFRAS

74264 5 MAPLE

74265 12 SASSAFRAS

74266 12 SASSAFRAS

74267 4 MAPLE

74268 4 MAPLE

74269 6 MAPLE

74270 8 HACKBERRY

74271 8 SASSAFRAS

74272 12 SASSAFRAS



74273 14 SASSAFRAS

74274 12 SASSAFRAS

74275 12 SASSAFRAS

74276 7 SASSAFRAS

74277 10 SASSAFRAS

74278 4 ELM

74279 4 ASH

74280 7 MAPLE

74281 10 SASSAFRAS

74282 10 SASSAFRAS

74283 4 MAPLE

74284 11 SASSAFRAS

74285 6 ELM

74286 10 SASSAFRAS

74287 10 SASSAFRAS

74288 12 SASSAFRAS

74289 7 SASSAFRAS

74290 9 SASSAFRAS

74291 7 CEDAR

74292 12 HACKBERRY

74293 4 HACKBERRY

74294 4 HACKBERRY

74295 6 ELM

74296 24 OAK

74297 9 OAK

74298 23 OAK

74299 7 ELM

74300 4 MAPLE

74301 10 SASSAFRAS

74302 13 SASSAFRAS

74303 13 SASSAFRAS

74304 11 SASSAFRAS

74305 12 SASSAFRAS

74306 12 SASSAFRAS

74307 14 SASSAFRAS

74308 16 SASSAFRAS

74309 10 MAPLE

74310 6 ELM

74311 14 SASSAFRAS

74312 14 SASSAFRAS

74313 11 SASSAFRAS

74314 11 SASSAFRAS

74315 11 SASSAFRAS

74316 11 SASSAFRAS

74317 4 ELM

74318 4 ELM

74319 8 SASSAFRAS

74320 12 SASSAFRAS

74321 12 SASSAFRAS

74322 12 SASSAFRAS

74323 12 SASSAFRAS

74324 12 SASSAFRAS

74325 12 SASSAFRAS

74326 14 SASSAFRAS

74327 14 SASSAFRAS

74328 14 SASSAFRAS

74329 15 SASSAFRAS

74330 11 SASSAFRAS

74331 11 SASSAFRAS

74332 9 SASSAFRAS

74333 13 SASSAFRAS

74334 15 SASSAFRAS

74335 10 SASSAFRAS

74336 10 SASSAFRAS

74337 13 SASSAFRAS

74338 12 SASSAFRAS

74339 12 SASSAFRAS

74340 17 SASSAFRAS

74341 17 SASSAFRAS

74342 9 MAPLE

74343 8 ELM

74344 8 MAPLE

74345 6 MAPLE

74346 8 HACKBERRY

74347 9 ELM

74348 11 OAK

74349 15 OAK

74350 32 CHERRY

74351 4 ELM

74352 10 OAK

74353 13 OAK

74354 17 OAK

74355 5 ELM

74356 8 ASH

74357 13 OAK

74358 18 OAK

74359 4 ELM

74360 6 ELM

74361 15 OAK

74362 4 MAPLE

74363 4 MAPLE

74365 4 ASH

74366 7 REDBUD

74367 6 MAPLE



74368 4 HACKBERRY

74369 13 SASSAFRAS

74370 7 ELM

74371 13 SASSAFRAS

74372 13 SASSAFRAS

74373 15 SASSAFRAS

74374 8 HACKBERRY

74375 4 MAPLE

74376 5 HACKBERRY

74377 4 DOGWOOD

74378 5 HACKBERRY

74379 9 MAPLE

74380 4 MAPLE

74381 7 MAPLE

74382 15 HACKBERRY

74383 10 HACKBERRY

74384 5 HACKBERRY

74385 9 BOXELDER

74386 9 ASH

74387 13 BOXELDER

74388 13 BOXELDER

74389 10 BOXELDER

74390 13 BOXELDER

74391 8 ELM

74392 12 HACKBERRY

74393 6 HACKBERRY

74394 18 CEDAR

74395 10 ELM

74396 9 SASSAFRAS

74397 8 ELM

74398 10 ELM

74399 9 SASSAFRAS

74400 7 SASSAFRAS

74401 6 HACKBERRY

74402 6 ELM

74403 15 CEDAR

74404 20 CEDAR

74406 5 CEDAR

74407 6 CEDAR

74408 6 CEDAR

74409 4 CEDAR

74410 9 CEDAR

74411 9 CEDAR

74412 4 CEDAR

74413 6 CEDAR

74414 4 CEDAR

74415 4 CEDAR

74416 19 ASH

74417 4 CEDAR

74418 8 CEDAR

74419 8 CEDAR

74420 4 CEDAR

74421 8 CEDAR

74422 11 CEDAR

74423 7 CEDAR

74424 19 OAK

74425 6 CEDAR

74426 4 CEDAR

74427 4 CEDAR

74428 4 CEDAR

74429 4 CEDAR

74430 4 CEDAR

74431 7 CEDAR

74446 4 PERSIMMON

74447 5 PERSIMMON

74459 8 HACKBERRY

74460 6 HACKBERRY

74461 8 HACKBERRY

74462 10 OAK

74463 6 ELM

74464 6 LOCUST

74465 6 HACKBERRY

74466 8 CEDAR

74467 6 CEDAR

74468 4 CEDAR

74469 11 LOCUST

74470 9 LOCUST

74471 17 LOCUST

74472 15 LOCUST

74473 6 HACKBERRY

74474 16 WALNUT

74475 4 BODDOCK

74476 8 HACKBERRY

74477 12 LOCUST

74478 5 ELM

74479 15 HACKBERRY

74480 6 WALNUT

74481 5 WALNUT

74482 7 LOCUST

74483 12 CEDAR

74484 8 CEDAR

74485 4 CEDAR

74486 4 WALNUT

74487 4 WALNUT



74488 10 WALNUT

74489 4 HACKBERRY

74490 6 HACKBERRY

74491 6 HACKBERRY

74492 18 LOCUST

74493 11 LOCUST

74494 12 LOCUST

74495 6 HACKBERRY

74496 10 HACKBERRY

74497 10 CEDAR

74498 11 ELM

74499 23 LOCUST

74500 13 HACKBERRY

74501 6 HACKBERRY

74502 10 HACKBERRY

74503 12 HACKBERRY

74504 8 HACKBERRY

74505 13 HACKBERRY

74506 8 HACKBERRY

74507 7 ELM

74508 12 HACKBERRY

74509 14 HACKBERRY

74510 17 HACKBERRY

74511 13 HACKBERRY

74512 10 HACKBERRY

74513 7 HACKBERRY

74514 19 ELM

74515 8 HACKBERRY

74516 12 HACKBERRY

74517 12 HACKBERRY

74518 4 HACKBERRY

74519 6 BODDOCK

74520 10 BODDOCK

74521 8 HACKBERRY

74522 17 HACKBERRY

74523 5 HACKBERRY

74524 22 ELM

74525 12 ELM

74526 10 HACKBERRY

74527 10 HACKBERRY

74528 8 ELM

74529 10 HACKBERRY

74530 12 HACKBERRY

74531 5 CEDAR

74532 14 ELM

74533 4 CEDAR

74534 10 HACKBERRY

74535 5 HACKBERRY

74536 4 HACKBERRY

74537 6 ASH

74538 10 ASH

74539 24 OAK

74542 28 QUAD9HACKBERRY

74543 10 LOCUST

74544 11 HACKBERRY

74545 7 LOCUST

74546 8 LOCUST

74547 13 ELM

74548 19 ASH

74549 19 HACKBERRY

74550 10 HACKBERRY

74551 6 HACKBERRY

74552 14 HACKBERRY

74553 8 LOCUST

74554 10 HACKBERRY

74555 10 ELM

74556 13 HACKBERRY

74557 13 LOCUST

74558 10 HACKBERRY

74559 10 HACKBERRY

74560 6 HACKBERRY

74561 6 HACKBERRY

74562 7 HACKBERRY

74563 10 HACKBERRY

74564 10 HACKBERRY

74565 10 HACKBERRY

74566 5 AILANTHUS

74567 7 AILANTHUS

74568 15 LOCUST

74569 13 AILANTHUS

74570 6 MAPLE

74571 20 HICKORY

74572 27 HICKORY

74573 4 AILANTHUS

74574 5 AILANTHUS

74575 7 HACKBERRY

74576 5 BOXELDER

74577 12 MULBERRY

74578 9 AILANTHUS

74579 5 HACKBERRY

74580 19 LOCUST

74581 19 LOCUST

74582 12 BODDOCK

74583 6 MAPLE



74584 7 MAPLE

74585 6 HACKBERRY

74586 14 HACKBERRY

74587 7 HACKBERRY

74588 9 HACKBERRY

74589 10 MAPLE

74590 4 ELM

74591 8 HACKBERRY

74592 5 HACKBERRY

74593 10 HACKBERRY

74594 9 HACKBERRY

74595 5 MAPLE

74596 8 HACKBERRY

74597 16 ELM

74598 8 ELM

74599 8 ELM

74600 16 LOCUST

74601 12 HACKBERRY

74602 12 HACKBERRY

74603 4 HACKBERRY

74604 4 ELM

74605 4 ELM

74606 9 HACKBERRY

74607 11 HACKBERRY

74608 13 ELM

74609 7 ELM

74610 7 ELM

74611 8 MAPLE

74612 13 HACKBERRY

74613 6 HACKBERRY

74614 4 OAK

74615 4 MAPLE

74616 16 HACKBERRY

74617 9 ELM

74618 12 ELM

74619 8 ELM

74620 14 PERSIMMON

74621 10 MAPLE

74622 12 SASSAFRAS

74623 12 SASSAFRAS

74624 15 SASSAFRAS

74625 11 SASSAFRAS

74626 5 PERSIMMON

74627 7 MAPLE

74628 6 ELM

74629 10 MAPLE

74630 7 ELM

74631 7 ELM

74632 6 BOXELDER

74633 20 MAPLE

74634 21 HACKBERRY

74635 4 OAK

74636 6 HACKBERRY

74637 5 ELM

74638 5 ELM

74639 5 ELM

74640 4 ELM

74641 12 HACKBERRY

74642 4 HACKBERRY

74643 17 HACKBERRY

74644 4 ASH

74645 12 HACKBERRY

74646 7 MAPLE

74647 12 BOXELDER

74648 16 HACKBERRY

74649 13 HACKBERRY

74650 15 MULBERRY

74651 6 HACKBERRY

74652 4 ELM

74653 14 SASSAFRAS

74654 14 SASSAFRAS

74655 12 SASSAFRAS

74656 12 SASSAFRAS

74657 12 SASSAFRAS

74658 10 SASSAFRAS

74659 13 SASSAFRAS

74660 13 SASSAFRAS

74661 13 SASSAFRAS

74662 13 SASSAFRAS

74663 11 SASSAFRAS

74664 11 SASSAFRAS

74665 6 HACKBERRY

74666 11 SASSAFRAS

74667 10 MAPLE

74668 5 MAPLE

74669 9 MAPLE

74670 8 MAPLE

74671 8 HACKBERRY

74672 4 HACKBERRY

74673 10 HACKBERRY

74674 10 HACKBERRY

74675 4 ELM

74676 4 HACKBERRY

74677 4 BOXELDER



74678 14 PERSIMMON

74679 7 HACKBERRY

74680 16 ELM

74681 7 MAPLE

74682 7 HACKBERRY

74683 4 MAPLE

74684 8 SASSAFRAS

74685 7 ELM

74686 8 SASSAFRAS

74687 12 SASSAFRAS

74688 12 SASSAFRAS

74689 4 MAPLE

74690 10 SASSAFRAS

74691 8 HACKBERRY

74692 16 PERSIMMON

74693 7 MAPLE

74694 9 MAPLE

74695 12 HACKBERRY

74696 12 ELM

74697 10 HACKBERRY

74698 8 HACKBERRY

74699 13 HACKBERRY

74700 6 HACKBERRY

74701 11 HACKBERRY

74702 15 HACKBERRY

74703 10 HACKBERRY

74704 7 HACKBERRY

74705 9 HACKBERRY

74706 8 ELM

74707 7 HACKBERRY

74708 4 ELM

92129 12 LOCUST

92130 23 HICKORY

92132 34 OAK

92141 6 HACK

92160 10 HACK

53308 CALIPERS TO REMOVE









RESOLUTION 2022-34

A RESOLUTION TO ANNEX CERTAIN TERRITORY UPON WRITTEN CONSENT 
OF THE OWNERS AND TO INCORPORATE THE SAME WITHIN THE 

BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE, SAID TERRITORY 
BEING LOCATED ON THE WEST SIDE OF SPLIT LOG ROAD SOUTH OF THE 
ROSEBROOKE SUBDIVISION TO INCLUDE THE ADJOINING PORTIONS OF 

SPLIT LOG ROAD ADJACENT TO THE EXISTING CITY LIMITS TO

WHEREAS, the City of Brentwood, having been petitioned by interested persons, proposes the 
extension of its corporate limits by the annexation of certain territory adjoining its existing 
boundaries and within its urban growth area; and

WHEREAS, the owners of the property within the territory proposed for annexation have given 
their written consent by notarized petition so that a referendum is not required; and

WHEREAS, a copy of this Resolution, describing the territory proposed for annexation, was 
promptly sent by the City of Brentwood to the last known address listed in the office of the 
Williamson County Property Assessor for each property owner of record within the territory
proposed for annexation, with such being sent by first class mail and mailed no later than 
fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the scheduled date of the hearing on the proposed annexation 
by owner consent; and

WHEREAS, this Resolution was also published by posting copies of it in at least three (3) 
public places in the City of Brentwood (it being noted that there are no “public places” in the 
territory proposed for annexation) and by publishing notice of the Resolution at or about the 
same time in the “Williamson” section of The Tennessean, a newspaper of general circulation in 
such territory and the City of Brentwood; and

WHEREAS, a Plan of Services for the area proposed for annexation is attached as Exhibit A 
hereto, which Plan of Services addresses the same services and timing of services as required in
Tennessee Code Annotated § 6-51-102; and

WHEREAS, the proposed annexation and Plan of Services were submitted to the Brentwood 
Planning Commission for study, and the Planning Commission has recommended the same; and

WHEREAS, notice of the time, place and purpose of a public hearing on the proposed 
annexation and the Plan of Services was published in the “Williamson” section of The 
Tennessean, a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Brentwood, not less than fifteen 
(15) days before the hearing, which notice included the locations of a minimum of three (3) 
copies of the Plan of Services for public inspection during all business hours from the date of 
notice until the public hearing; and

WHEREAS, a public hearing on the proposed Plan of Services was held by the governing body 
on March 28, 2022.



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, 
TENNESSEE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. That the following territory is hereby annexed and incorporated into boundaries of 
the City of Brentwood, to be effective as of May 23, 2022, to wit:

LANDS LYING WITHIN WILLIAMSON COUNTY, TENNESSEE
SPLIT LOG ROAD
ANNEXATION DESCRIPTION

SPLIT-LOG FARMS, LLC PROPERTY
MAP 055, P/O PARCEL 014.00
BRUCE SUDANO PROPERTY
MAP 055, P/O PARCEL 014.01
SPLIT LOG ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
PROPOSED OSRD REZONING DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District 
of Williamson County, Tennessee. Being bounded on the north by the Sunset Road 
Development, LLC property of record in Book 8670, Page 432, Register’s Office for 
Williamson County, Tennessee (R.O.W.C.T.) and; at the northeast by the John A. 
McArthur and wife, Norma D. McArthur property of record in Book 220, Page 602, 
R.O.W.C.T.; on the east by the Michael D. Culbreth and Lynette Culbreth property of 
record in Book 6010, Page 811, R.O.W.C.T., the remainder of the Split-Log Farms, LLC 
Property of record in Book 8075, Page 31, R.O.W.C.T., the remainder of the Bruce 
Sudano Property of record in Book 7044, Page 324, and Split Log Road (right-of-way 
width varies); on the south by: the Larry R. Williams, Trustee property of record in Book
1010, Page 991, R.O.W.C.T. and the Split Log Farm, LLC property of record in Book 
4155, Page 912, R.O.W.C.T.; on the south and west by the Alan D. Jeffries and wife, Jill 
Carlene Jeffries property of record in Book 782, Pag 586, R.O.W.C.T.; on the west by the 
Rex Elbert H. Arendall, II and wife, Carol B. Arendall property of record in Will Book 
1008, Page 159, R.O.W.C.T. and being more particularly described as follows:

Beginning in the centerline of Split Log Road at the northeast corner of said Split Log 
Farm property of record in Book 4155, Page 912, R.O.W.C.T.;

Thence, leaving said centerline of Split Log Road with the north line of Split Log Farm 
property the following five (5) calls:

1. North 82 degrees 59 minutes 59 seconds West, 518.72 feet to an iron rod (old) 
with cap stamped “Cherry”;

2. South 52 degrees 58 minutes 32 seconds West, 362.37 feet to an iron rod (old) 
with cap stamped “Cherry”;

3. North 67 degrees 39 minutes 25 seconds West, 347.21 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc";

4. North 26 degrees 31 minutes 29 seconds West, 103.37 feet to an iron rod (old) 
with cap stamped “Cherry”;



5. North 73 degrees 06 minutes 29 seconds West, 419.64 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc" to the southeast corner of said 
Jeffries property;

Thence, with the east line of Jeffries, North 07 degrees 44 minutes 54 seconds East, 
1006.38 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc” at the 
northeast corner of Jeffries;

Thence, with the north line of Jeffries and said Williams property, North 83 degrees 10 
minutes 32 seconds West, 732.71 feet to 1/2-inch iron rod (old) at the southeast corner of 
said Arendall, II property;

Thence, with the east line of Arendall the following two (2) calls:

1. North 07 degrees 41 minutes 27 seconds East, 427.32 feet to an iron rod (old) 
with cap stamped “Cherry”;

2. North 05 degrees 39 minutes 27 seconds East, 268.53 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(old) with cap stamped “Cherry” in the south line of said Sunset Road 
Development, LLC property;

Thence, with the south line of said Sunset Road Development, LLC the following seven 
(7) calls:

1. South 85 degrees 15 minutes 25 seconds East, 158.67 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

2. South 83 degrees 15 minutes 35 seconds East, 417.87 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

3. South 83 degrees 04 minutes 30 seconds East, 200.87 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

4. South 83 degrees 16 minutes 49 seconds East, 245.37 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

5. South 83 degrees 28 minutes 51 seconds East, 599.99 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

6. South 79 degrees 08 minutes 40 seconds East, 337.28 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 
(new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

7. South 75 degrees 25 minutes 08 seconds East, 111.08 feet to an iron rod (old) 
with cap stamped “Cherry” at a northwest corner of said McArthur property;

Thence, with the easterly line of the herein described tract of land and proposed OSRD 
(Open Space Residential Development) Zoning Line the following eight (8) calls:

1. South 10 degrees 44 minutes 11 seconds West, 160.01 feet;
2. South 07 degrees 59 minutes 27 seconds East, 176.53 feet;
3. South 06 degrees 21 minutes 31 seconds West, 158.95 feet;
4. South 75 degrees 24 minutes 49 seconds West, 100.95 feet;
5. South 02 degrees 39 minutes 45 seconds West, 154.39 feet;
6. South 13 degrees 48 minutes 03 seconds East, 166.79 feet;
7. South 12 degrees 22 minutes 00 seconds East, 198.09 feet;



8. South 79 degrees 49 minutes 19 seconds East, 151.90 feet to a point in the west 
right-of-way line of said Split Log Road;

Thence, with the west line of Split Log Road the following two (2) calls:

1. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 360.15 feet, a radius of 3,853.75 
feet, a delta angle of 05 degrees 21 minutes 16 seconds and a chord bearing and 
distance of South 07 degrees 26 minutes 21 seconds West, 360.02 feet;

2. South 04 degrees 45 minutes 43 seconds West, 95.14 feet to the Point of 
Beginning, containing 3,035,660 square feet or 69.69 acres, more or less.

Being a portion of the same property conveyed to Split-Log Farms, LLC by Warranty 
Deed of record in Book 8075, page 31, Register’s Office for Williamson County, 
Tennessee, and a portion of the same property conveyed to Bruce Sudano, Trustee of the 
Bruce Sudano 2015 Family Trust by Quitclaim Deed of record in Book 7044, page 324, 
Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee.



SPLIT-LOG FARMS, LLC PROPERTY
MAP 055, P/O PARCEL 014.00
BRUCE SUDANO PROPERTY
MAP 055, P/O PARCEL 014.01
SPLIT LOG ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
R-2 REZONING DESCRIPTION

Being a certain tract or parcel of land lying and being in the Sixteenth (16th) Civil District 
of Williamson County, Tennessee. Being bounded on the north by the Michael D. 
Culbreth and Lynette Culbreth property of record in Book 6010, Page 811, R.O.W.C.T.; 
on the east by Split Log Road (right-of-way width varies); on the south and west by the 
remainder of the Bruce Sudano Property of record in Book 7044, Page 324, R.O.W.C.T.; 
on the west by the remainder of the Split-Log Farms, LLC Property of record in Book 
8075, Page 31, R.O.W.C.T., and being more particularly described as follows:

Beginning on a 1/2-inch iron rod (new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc" in the 
west right-of-way line of said Split Log Road and in the north line of said Sudano 
property;

Thence, leaving said right-of-way line with the north line of Sudano, South 82 degrees 59 
minutes 59 seconds East, 25.84 feet to the centerline of Split Log Road;

Thence, with the centerline of said Split Log Road the following two (2) calls:

1. South 11 degrees 09 minutes 08 seconds West, 111.37 feet;
2. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 69.66 feet, a radius of 3853.75 

feet, a delta angle of 01 degrees 02 minutes 09 seconds and a chord bearing and 
distance of South 10 degrees 38 minutes 04 seconds West, 69.66 feet;

Thence, with the southerly and westerly line of the herein described tract of land and 
proposed    R-2 (Suburban Residential) Zoning Line the following eight (8) calls:

1. North 79 degrees 49 minutes 19 seconds West, 151.90 feet;
2. North 12 degrees 22 minutes 00 seconds West, 198.09 feet;
3. North 13 degrees 48 minutes 03 seconds West, 166.79 feet;
4. North 02 degrees 39 minutes 45 seconds East, 154.39 feet;
5. North 75 degrees 24 minutes 49 seconds East, 100.95 feet;
6. North 06 degrees 21 minutes 31 seconds East, 158.95 feet;
7. North 07 degrees 59 minutes 27 seconds West, 176.53 feet;
8. North 10 degrees 44 minutes 11 seconds East, 160.01 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 

(old) with no cap at the southwest corner of Culbreth;

Thence, with the south line of Culbreth, South 82 degrees 27 minutes 16 seconds East, 
604.80 feet to an iron rod (old) with cap stamped “H&H” in the west right-of-way line of 
said Split Log Road;

Thence, with the west line of Split Log Road the following five (5) calls:



1. South 51 degrees 40 minutes 26 seconds West, 114.04 feet to an iron rod (old) 
with cap stamped “H&H”;

2. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 174.22 feet, a radius of 611.67 
feet, a delta angle of 16 degrees 19 minutes 09 seconds and a chord bearing and 
distance of South 43 degrees 30 minutes 51 seconds West, 173.63 feet to an iron 
rod (old) with cap stamped “H&H”

3. South 35 degrees 21 minutes 16 seconds West, 236.58 feet to an iron rod (old) 
with cap stamped “H&H”

4. Along a curve to the left, having an arc length of 289.84 feet, a radius of 687.33 
feet, a delta angle of 24 degrees 09 minutes 41 seconds and a chord bearing and 
distance of South 23 degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds West, 287.70 feet to a 1/2-
inch iron rod (new) with cap stamped "Ragan Smith Assoc”;

5. South 11 degrees 11 minutes 21 seconds West, 140.45 feet to the Point of 
Beginning containing 327,778 square feet or 7.52 acres, more or less;

Being a portion of the same property conveyed to Split-Log Farms, LLC by Warranty 
Deed of record in Book 8075, page 31, Register’s Office for Williamson County, 
Tennessee, and a portion of the same property conveyed to Bruce Sudano, Trustee of the 
Bruce Sudano 2015 Family Trust by Quitclaim Deed of record in Book 7044, page 324, 
Register’s Office for Williamson County, Tennessee.



PROPERTY DESCRIPTION
MICHAEL D. AND LYNNETTE CULBRETH PROPERTY
MAP 055, PARCEL 01000
9820 SPLIT LOG ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
ANNEXATION DESCRIPTION
R-2 REZONING DESCRIPTION

Williamson County Paracel Number 055 01000 00016055, including an area of 
approximately 2.21 acres and located at 9820 Split Log Road. The current property 
owners are Michael D. Culbreth, and Lynette Culbreth. As recorded in Plat Book 14, 
Page 99. 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION
JOHN A. MCARTHUR SR, AND NORMA D. MCARTHUR PROPERTY
MAP 055, PARCEL 01001
9824 SPLIT LOG ROAD
WILLIAMSON COUNTY
ANNEXATION DESCRIPTION
R-2 REZONING DESCRIPTION

Williamson County Paracel Number 055 01001 00016055, including an area of 
approximately 7.12 acres and located at 9824 Split Log Road. The current property 
owners are John A. McArthur Sr, And Norma D. McArthur. As recorded in Plat Book 14, 
Page 99.

Said parcels including a combined area of approximately 9.33 +/- acres 

SECTION 2. That the Plan of Services for this territory which is attached as Exhibit A hereto is 
approved and the same is hereby adopted.

SECTION 3. That the City Recorder will cause a copy of this Resolution to be forwarded to the 
Mayor of Williamson County including the Plan of Services.

SECTION 4. That a copy of this Resolution shall be recorded with the Williamson County 
Register of Deeds, and a copy shall also be sent to the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury 
and the Williamson County Assessor of Property.

SECTION 5. That a copy of this Resolution, as well as the portion of the Plan of Services 
related to emergency services and a detailed map of the annexed area, shall be filed with the 
Brentwood Emergency Communication District.



SECTION 6. That this resolution shall take effect from and after its passage, the general welfare 
of the City of Brentwood, Williamson County, Tennessee requiring it.

ADOPTED:  

RECORDER Holly Earls

MAYOR Rhea E. Little, III

Approved as to form:

CITY ATTORNEY Kristen L. Corn



RESOLUTION 2022-34
EXHIBIT “A”

VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION
PROPOSED PLAN OF SERVICES

ROSEBROOKE SOUTH PROPERTY
MAP 055 PARCEL 01400, MAP 055 PARCEL 01401, MAP 055 PARCEL 01000

AND MAP 055 PARCEL 01001

Police

Regular patrolling, radio responses to calls and other routine police services, using present personnel 
and equipment, will be provided on the effective date of annexation. Property adjacent to the area 
proposed for annexation is is already located in the City limits, so servicescan be easily extended to 
this area. The Brentwood City Hall, located at 5211 Maryland Way isapproximately 10.0 miles from 
the property. The new Police Headquarters building, which opened in April 2021, located at 910 
Heritage Way and is approximately 8.6 miles from the subject property. The Safety Center East is 
located approximately 2.0, miles from the subject property.

Fire

Fire protection provided by present personnel and equipment of the firefighting force, within the
standard limitations of available water and distances from existing fire stations, will be extendedto the 
property on the effective date of annexation. Fire Station No. 4, located at the Safety Center East, is
approximately 2.0 miles from the area to be annexed. The property proposed for annexation is located 
within the response zone for Station No. 4. The new Station No. 5, when completed, will provide back-
up response as needed.

Fire Station No. 5 ,is a state of the art facility, having an area of 10,440 square feet, is currentlyunder
construction at 9551 Split Log Road and is expected to open in the Fall of 2022. The new station is 
located approximately 2.4 miles from the area proposed for annexation. The station has been designed 
to serve as a neighborhood facility, housing a single response unit and onecrew.

All stations are staffed with full-time firefighters that provide 24 hour/seven days per week fire
protection.

Currently, the area to be annexed is served by the Nolensville Fire and Rescue Department, located at 
7347 Nolensville Road, and approximately 3.0 miles from the subject property. Note that Nolensville 
employs a full-time Fire Chief and nine full-time firefighters, supplemented by part-time and volunteer 
firefighters. A new Fire Station is in the planning stages, which will be located at 7231 Haley 
Industrial Boulevard, on the north side of Town. The existing station on Nolensville Road will be 
converted by Williamson County to an ambulance station. Due to improved fire protection offered by 
the City of Brentwood, the ISO fire insurance rating for the newly constructed residences in the 
annexed area will be improved.

Emergency Communications

Upon the effective date of the annexation, the property and any existing or future residences will be 
incorporated into the City’s 911 Emergency Communications District and all 911 emergencycalls will
be routed to the Brentwood emergency dispatch center.



Public Works/ Road Improvements

The area to be annexed includes a portion of Split Log Road that bisects the northerly portion of the 
property. This portion of the roadway is not presently with in the City, but is within the City’sUrban 
Growth Boundary. The proposed concept development plan shows a proposed future alignment of split 
log Road. The developer will be expected to provide the necessary additional right-of-way to 
accommodate the future roadway improvements.

The Board of Commissioners recently approved Resolution 2021-141, with Sullivan Engineering Inc.
(SEI), for preliminary Engineering and right-of-way design services for improvements for a
2.39 mile section of Split Log Road from the end of the Phase 2 project (approximately 1,500 linear 
feet (LF) east of its intersection with Pleasant Hill Road) to its intersection with Sunset Road and a
small portion of Sunset Road. The project will include widening of the road to providetwo 12-foot travel 
lanes and a continuous 12-foot center turn lane (with periodic islands). The improvements will also
include a curb and gutter section with a 10-foot wide multi-use path alongthe south side, separated from 
the roadway by a 5-foot wide green strip. The recently annexed Taube property also included a
proposed future alignment through the project, which will connect the road to at the intersection of 
Sunset and Waller Roads. This project will be funded entirely by the City with a portion of City funding 
coming from road impact fees.

As part of the project, a corridor study will be prepared to include an estimate of future traffic demand 
based on the Urban Growth Boundary potential and surrounding development. The study assessment
will evaluate six intersections between Waller Road and Wilson Pike including Waller Road, Sunset 
Road, Sam Donald Road, Pleasant Hill Road, Ragsdale Road and WilsonPike.

The City will extend routine road maintenance service (resurfacing, pot-hole repair, striping, signs, 
mowing and snow removal) to the additional portion of Split Log Road following the effective date of 
annexation. The future streets constructed within the proposed subdivision willbecome public streets in 
accordance with the City’s normal development process and will be maintained in the same manner as
existing neighborhood streets within the City.

Brush pickup service will be provided to all future residences in accordance with City policy.

The City does not provide refuse collection services. Future residents will have the option to contract
with private haulers in a manner consistent with collection inside the city limits.

Planning and Development Oversight

All planning, zoning and development regulations and standards of the City will extend to the annexed 
area upon the effective date of annexation. Existing personnel will handle oversight and enforcement of
existing regulations.



Zoning and Subdivision Plan Approvals in Area

The applicant will be requesting that the property to be annexed be rezoned to the Open Space
Residential Development (OSRD) and Suburban Residential (R-2) zoning classifications, while the 
adjacent properties, in the County are zoned Municipal Growth Area (MGA-1). The adjacent 
properties in Nolensville are located within the Benington Subdivision and zoned Suburban Residential
(SR). These properties also lie within the Annexation Buffer Overlay zone as established by an 
agreement between the City and the Town of Nolensville.

The remaining surrounding properties immediately north of the subject property are located in
Brentwood and zoned OSRD and R-2. The remaining properties are zoned Suburban Residential – R-2.

The installation/extension of the underground public utilities within annexed area, as authorized by the
Brentwood Planning Commission will be completed by the property owner at his expense under the 
City’s current Subdivision Regulations and construction standards. The final platting of tract(s), 
infrastructure security, and future acceptance of public improvements for perpetual maintenance shall
be carried out in accordance with applicable codes and ordinances.

Code Enforcement

Using existing personnel, all inspection services now provided by the City (building, plumbing,
mechanical, gas, and other municipal codes and ordinances) will begin in the area with permitsissued 
by the City after the effective date of annexation. The enforcement of nuisance related codes such as
high weeds and grass, abandoned vehicles, illegal signs, etc. will be handled on a complaint basis
beginning on the effective date of annexation.

Parks and Recreation

New residents in the annexed area will enjoy full access to all existing and future recreational
facilities, parks, greenways, bikeways, etc., in the City in a manner similar to other City residents.As now 
occurs with existing property owners in the City, property owners in the annexed area will be required 
to pay City property taxes, a portion of which is used to support improvements and upkeep to existing
parks and recreation facilities. This will eliminate any requirement for newresidents to pay non-resident
fees to participate in athletic programs in city parks.

Brentwood residents enjoy over 1,100 acres of parkland, including active and passive parks and
greenways.

Public Library

New residents in the annexed area will have access to the John P. Holt Brentwood Library, which is 
conveniently located at 8109 Concord Road. The full-service library is open seven (7) days aweek and 
currently has a collection in excess of 184,000 items and other materials, including audiobooks,
DVD’s, music CD’s, eBooks, eAudiobooks, video streaming, and online resources. (2020). As now 
occurs with existing property owners in the city limits, existing and future property owners in the
annexed area will be required to pay City property taxes, a portion of which is used to support the 
operation of the Library including expansion of the collections, materials, and programs and for 
upkeep of the facility. This will eliminate any requirement for new residents to pay non-resident fees to 



fully use Library services.

Water and Sewer

Water service within the area proposed to be annexed is provided by the Nolensville College Grove 
Utility District. Sewer service is provided by the Metropolitan Department of Water Services. All future
residents will be subject to the standard billing and service standards of theseutility providers.

The developer in the annexed area will be responsible for upgrading and extending new sewer/water 
lines and fire hydrants to serve the property in conformance with the rules and regulations of each 
utility at the time of construction. Service is currently available in the area and must be extended or 
upgraded by the developer of the annexed property at their expense from existing gravity sewer lines to
serve the new residential development.

Revenues (Taxes and Fees)

When fully developed, the City expects to generate sufficient new revenue to pay for the cost ofservice 
delivery. The primary sources will be the property taxes, state shared taxes distributed to the City on a 
per capita basis and residential building permits. The concept plan developed for the property shows
47 lots, plus the three lots proposed to be zoned R-2 and the two enclavelots, also requested to be zoned 
R-2.

The annual tax bill for a house and land valued at $1,000,000 is projected to be approximately $725.00
based upon the current City tax rate of $0.29 cents per $100 of assessed value. Sharedtaxes received from 
the State of Tennessee are projected to average $157.00 per person annually for the 2021/2022 fiscal
year (https://www.mtas.tennessee.edu/reference/state-shared- taxes-and-appropriations-coming-fiscal-
year), while building permits will average approximately $2,000.00 per new house, based upon fees
received during FY 2021

Additional one-time revenue will be received from the City’s Road impact fee (Public Works Project
Fees), which is currently established at $5,860.00 for each new home constructed within the future 
subdivision.

http://www.mtas.tennessee.edu/reference/state-shared-


Rosebrook East and South – Community Meeting  

Thursday, April 28, 2022 

Annex Room – City Hall  

6:00PM – 7:00PM 

 

Brett Smith, Ragan Smith Associates  

Rob Pease, CPS Land 

Craig Leanza, CPS Land 

6 residents in attendance 

Janet Donahue – Planning Commission  

 

Meeting Notes:  

• The residents had a question about if Split Log Road was planned to be widened. 
Split Log Road will be three lanes with one lane each way with a center turn lane. 
Ragan Smith told them that the road project was being handled by Sullivan 
Engineering and was a city project.  

•  Rosebrooke South will begin construction sometime next year where Rosebrook 
East will begin construction in two to three years.  

• Rosebrooke Section 2 will be platted in the fall of this year.  
• Rosebrooke South and East will have ponds, wetlands, as well as detention.  
• There will be 124 lots in Rosebrooke South and East as well as 124 lots in 

Rosebrook Main. The total number of lots for the Rosebrooke Subdivision will be 
248 lots.  

• The average size of lot in Rosebrooke will be 0.5 acres to 0.75 acres.  
• There are no amenities proposed for Rosebrooke South and East. The only 

amenity is proposed for Rosebrooke Main. 
• The residents had a concern about tree removal on the properties. CPS Land let 

them know that trees would be removed for the road as well as for grading 
purposes on the lots. They put together a worse case scenario for tree removal 
to make sure that they meet the tree preservation requirements from the City. 
Ragan Smith let them know that both projects far exceed the required caliber 
inch. 



 
PLANNING AND CODES DEPARTMENT MEMORANDUM 

2022-09 
 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Commission Members 
 
THROUGH: Kirk Bednar, City Manager 
  
FROM: Jeff Dobson, Planning and Codes Director  
 

SUBJECT: ORDINANCE 2022-04 (AS AMENDED) AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY 
OF BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE TO AMEND  THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE, SAME BEING CHAPTER 78 OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TO ESTABLISH 
CERTAIN ZONING CLASSIFICATIONS, SAME BEING THE OSRD 
(OPEN SPACE RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT) AND THE R-2 
(SUBURBAN RESIDENTIAL) ZONING DISTRICTS FOR CERTAIN 
PROPERTIES LOCATED WEST OF SPLIT LOG ROAD AND SOUTH OF 
THE EXISTING ROSEBROOKE SUBDIVISION SAID TERRITORY BEING 
ADJACENT TO AND INCLUDING SECTIONS OF SPLIT LOG ROAD, 
BEING MORE SPECIFICALLY DESCRIBED IN THE PROPERTY 
DESCRIPTIONS ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A PART OF THIS 
ORDINANCE BY REFERENCE, AND SHOWN ON THE MAP ATTACHED 
HERETO AND MADE A PART OF THIS ORDINANCE BY REFERENCE; 
AND TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP ACCORDINGLY 

 
 DATE: May 3, 2022 
 
 
At its May 2, 2022, regular meeting, the Planning Commission voted nine for and zero against 
(9-0) to recommend approval of Ordinance 2022-04 to the Board of Commissioners.  
 
 

 

 

 

 



Planning Commission Review Memorandum 
Resolution 2022-08 
March 8, 2022 
Page | 2 
 
 
  



   
Brentwood City Commission Agenda        
Meeting Date: 05/09/2022  
Approval or correction of minutes from Regular Scheduled Commission meeting
Submitted by: Holly Earls, Administration
Department: Administration

Information
Subject
Approval or correction of minutes from the April 25, 2022 meeting

Background

Staff Recommendation

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Draft Minutes 



D R A F T
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING OF BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

 
BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE

 
The Brentwood Board of Commissioners met in regular session on Monday, April 25, 2022 at 7:00 pm at
Brentwood City Hall.
 

Present: Vice Mayor Nelson Andrews; Commissioner Anne Dunn; Commissioner Mark Gorman;
Commissioner Susannah Macmillan; Commissioner Regina Smithson; Commissioner Ken
Travis 

Absent: Mayor Rhea Little 

Staff
Present:

City Manager Kirk Bednar; Assistant City Manager Jay Evans; City Attorney Kristen Corn;
City Recorder Holly Earls 

               

Commissioner Dunn led the Invocation.  The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Commissioner Gorman.
 

Approval or Correction of Minutes
 

April 11, 2022   

 
  Moved by Commissioner Susannah Macmillan for approval of the minutes as written, seconded

by Commissioner Ken Travis 
  Vote: 6 - 0 Approved - Unanimously
 

Consent Agenda
 

Resolution 2022-44 - A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT WITH NATIONWIDE
FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS, INC. REGARDING THE 401(a) MONEY PURCHASE PLAN
ADMINISTERED FOR THE CITY BY NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT SOLUTIONS, for adoption

  

 

Resolution 2022-45 - A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT WITH BLANKENSHIP
CPA GROUP, PLLC, FOR FINANCIAL AND COMPLIANCE AUDIT SERVICES, for adoption

  

 

Resolution 2022-47 - A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT WITH GRAYBAR
ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC., FOR THE PURCHASE OF FIFTY-THREE (53) FIBER
TERMINATION PANELS WITH SPLICING TRAYS, for adoption

  

 

Approval to purchase office chairs for the Emergency Communications Center   

 

Approval to purchase a tandem-axle dump truck for the Public Works Department   

 

Approval to purchase a stock Mack/Petersen TLC3 grapple truck for the Public Works Department   

 



Approval to purchase Microsoft Windows server licenses   

 

Approval to purchase server upgrade for computer aided dispatch   

 

Approval to purchase lightning protection and upgraded grounding for the Emergency Communications
Center

  

 
  Moved by Commissioner Susannah Macmillan for approval of the items on the Consent Agenda, 

seconded by Commissioner Regina Smithson 
  Vote: 6 - 0 Approved - Unanimously
 

New Business
 

Resolution 2022-46 - A RESOLUTION APPROVING EXTENSION OF SEWER SERVICE TO 9725
SPLIT LOG ROAD

  

 
  Moved by Commissioner Ken Travis for approval, seconded by Commissioner Anne Dunn 
 
  Moved by Commissioner Mark Gorman to defer to the May 23, 2022 meeting, seconded by

Commissioner Susannah Macmillan 
  Vote: 6 - 0 Approved - Unanimously
 

With no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:51 pm.
 

APPROVED ________________

Holly Earls, City Recorder



   
    Consent    1.        

Brentwood City Commission Agenda
Meeting Date: 05/09/2022  
Res 2022-48 - Authorizing an Agreement with Four Star Paving, LLC for Annual Roadway Repairs
and Improvements
Submitted by: Todd Hoppenstedt, Public Works
Department: Public Works

Information
Subject
Resolution 2022-48 - Authorizing an Agreement with Four Star Paving, LLC for Annual
Roadway Repairs and Improvements.

Background
With the expiration of the current Roadway Repairs and Improvements contract approaching on
June 30, 2022, Public Works has solicited bids for annual roadway repairs and improvements. 
The majority of the work under this contract is for the City's Annual Asphalt Resurfacing
Program.  Additional services covered under the paving contract can include smaller work
elements, such as storm drainage improvements, sidewalk/bikeway repairs and construction, and
ADA retrofits all contained within the CIP and Annual Public Works Department budget.  The
contract is structured to provide unit prices for the types of repair and improvement work that is
typically undertaken by the City on a routine or annual basis.

After publicly advertising for bids for a period of six weeks, bids were received on April 12,
2022.  Only two bids were received, with the lowest aggregate bid being $3,955,990.61 from
Four Star Paving, LLC. of Nashville, Tennessee.

The unit quantities included in the bid form are estimated amounts for each repair or
improvement the City may perform throughout the year.  They are used for comparison purposes
only, in order to determine the lowest-cost bidder using items and quantities representative of
actual work.  Not all bid items or quantities will be utilized in the course of the contract period. 
The contract provides that the City is not obligated to the dollar amount of the contract, and the
actual amount spent in a year will be based solely on the amount of work issued and authorized
by the City.  This approach provides the City the advantages of competitive pricing and the
flexibility to expand or contract the scope of work as needed throughout the year. 



The bids received were as follows (bid tab attached):
  
Company Name Bid Amount
Four Star Paving, LLC $3,955,990.61
   
Sessions Paving Co. $4,114,179.51

The agreement, copy attached, includes an option to extend the contract for four additional years
if the City and the Contractor mutually agree to the extension on a year-by-year basis.  Because
of the volatility of asphalt prices, staff has included a provision in this contract that allows the
price of asphalt mix to vary based on the TDOT AC index, which is published monthly.  Use of
this index is standard practice in the industry.  Prior to FY 2019, staff required a fixed price which
resulted in contractors inflating their bids to financially protect themselves against loss during the
contract period.  The timing of this bid aligned with historically high asphalt costs, and as those
costs hopefully begin to come down, the use of the index will allow us to take advantage of those
cost savings relative to the bid amount.  Given experience, it is staff's opinion that using the
TDOT AC Index is prudent and appropriate. 

The FY 2023 Budget includes a total of $2,600,000 in Capital Improvements for Annual
Roadway Repairs and Improvements. There are also several other line items that work from this
contract could be performed under.  The total amount approved may or may not be used in its
entirety, and each project will be priced according to the unit pricing in the attached agreement.  

Staff, along with Sullivan Engineering, Inc., agree that the contract for the 2022-2023 season
should be awarded to Four Star Paving, LLC as the lowest and most qualified bidder (see
attached letter of recommendation).  

Please direct any questions to the Public Works Director.

Staff Recommendation
Staff, along with Paul Collins, our representative from Sullivan Engineering, Inc. recommend the
contract be awarded to Four Star Paving, LLC as the lowest and most qualified bidder.
 

Fiscal Impact
Amount : $3,190,000
Source of Funds: See Explanation Below
Account Number:
Fiscal Impact:
The following projects and funding are included in the proposed FY 2023 budget.  It is unlikely
the full amount for all these projects will be expended.  The actual amount expended will be
solely dependent on the work authorized by the City based upon the unit pricing included in this
contract.
  



FY 2023 Street Resurfacing 2,600,000
FY 2023 Minor Street Repairs $50,000
ADA Retrofits $285,000
Storm Drainage Work $200,000
Bike and Pedestrian Work $50,000
Guardrail Repair $5,000
Total Contract Allowance $3,190,000

Attachments
Resolution 2022-48 
Contract No. 2022-066 
Bid Recommendation 
Bid Tab 
Notice of Award 
Notice to Proceed 



RESOLUTION 2022-48

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE AUTHORIZING 
THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF 

BRENTWOOD AND FOUR STAR PAVING, LLC FOR ANNUAL ROADWAY REPAIRS 
AND IMPROVEMENTS, A COPY OF SAID AGREEMENT BEING ATTACHED 

HERETO AND MADE A PART OF THIS RESOLUTION BY REFERENCE

WHEREAS, bids were received by the City of Brentwood on April 12, 2022 for annual roadway 
repairs and improvements; and

WHEREAS, it is appropriate that the bid submitted by Four Star Paving, LLC be accepted.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, 
TENNESSEE, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1.  That the Mayor is hereby authorized to execute an agreement by and between the 
City of Brentwood and Four Star Paving, LLC for roadway repairs and improvements, a copy of 
said agreement being attached hereto and made a part of this resolution by reference.

SECTION 2. That this resolution shall take effect from and after its passage, the general welfare 
of the City of Brentwood, Williamson County, Tennessee requiring it.

ADOPTED:  

RECORDER Holly Earls

MAYOR Rhea E. Little, III

Approved as to form:

CITY ATTORNEY Kristen L. Corn



 
 

 

 
 
 STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT 
 BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 
 ON THE BASIS OF STIPULATED PRICE 
 
 
 Prepared by 

 
 
 ENGINEERS JOINT CONTRACT DOCUMENTS COMMITTEE 
 
 And 
 

SULLIVAN ENGINEERING, INC. 
 
 
 PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS IN PRIVATE PRACTICE 
 a practice division of the 
 NATIONAL SOCIETY OF PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS 
 ___________________ 
 
 AMERICAN CONSULTING ENGINEERS COUNCIL 
 ___________________ 
 
 AMERICAN SOCIETY OF CIVIL ENGINEERS 
 

 

This Standard Form of Agreement has been prepared for use with the Standard General Conditions of the Construction 
Contract (No. 1910-8, 1996 Edition).  Their provisions are interrelated, and a change in one may necessitate a change 
in the others.  The suggested language for instructions of bidders contained in the Guide to the Preparation of 
Instructions to Bidders (No. 1910-12, 1996 Edition) is also carefully interrelated with the language of this Agreement.  
Comments concerning their usage are contained in the EJCDC Users Guide (No. 1910-50).  See also Guide to the 
Preparation of Supplementary Conditions (No. 1910-17, 1996 Edition). 

 

Copyright © 1996 
 

National Society of Professional Engineers 
1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2715 

 
American Consulting Engineers Council 

1015 15th Street, N.W., Washington, DC 20005 
 

American Society of Civil Engineers 
345 East 47th Street, New York, NY 10017 

EJCDC No. 1910-8-A-2 (1996 Edition) 
 EJCDC 
 STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT 
 BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR 



 

 

 
 
 00500-2

Article I.  ON THE BASIS OF STIPULATED PRICE 
 
 
THIS AGREEMENT is by and between     The City of Brentwood,  (hereinafter called OWNER) and _Four Star 
Paving, LLC , (hereinafter called CONTRACTOR).  OWNER and CONTRACTOR, in consideration of the mutual covenants 
hereinafter set forth, agree as follows: 
 
 
ARTICLE 1 - WORK 
 

Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents.  The Work is generally described 
as follows: 

1. The contractor shall provide all labor, materials and equipment necessary for street repair projects within the City 
of Brentwood. 

2. This project is to be constructed under the Standard Specifications of the Tennessee Department of Transportation 
Dated: January 1, 2021 and additional specifications and special provisions contained in the construction 
documents.  

3. The cost of this project shall be based on a unit price bid for various items required on each work order issued by 
the City. 

 
ARTICLE 2 - THE PROJECT 
 
2.01  The Project for which the Work under the Contract Documents may be the whole or only a part is generally described 
as follows: 
  General Construction - Roadway Repairs and Improvements in the City of Brentwood for fiscal Year 2022 - 2023. 
Section 1.01  
 Sullivan Engineering Project No. 22-002 
 
ARTICLE 3 - ENGINEER 
 
3.01 The Project has been designed by Mr. Richard Sullivan, PE, Sullivan Engineering, Inc. who is hereinafter called 
ENGINEER and who is to act as OWNER’s representative, assume all duties and responsibilities, and have the rights and 
authority assigned to ENGINEER in the Contract Documents in connection with the completion of the Work in accordance with 
the Contract Documents. 
 
ARTICLE 4 - CONTRACT TIMES 
 
4.01 Time of the Essence 
 
 A. All time limits for Milestones, if any, Substantial Completion, and completion and readiness for final payment 
as stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract. 
 
4.02 Dates for Substantial Completion and Final Payment   
 
 A. The Roadway Work will be substantially complete as indicated in section 6.01; 6.02; and 6.05 of the “BID FORM”. 
 
4.03 Liquidated Damages 
 

A. CONTRACTOR and OWNER recognize that time is of the essence of this Agreement and that OWNER will 
suffer financial loss if the Work is not completed within the times specified in paragraph 4.02 above, plus any 
extensions thereof allowed in accordance with Article 12 of the General Conditions.  The parties also 
recognize the delays, expense, and difficulties involved in proving in a legal or arbitration proceeding the 
actual loss suffered by OWNER if the Work is not completed on time.  Accordingly, instead of requiring any 
such proof, OWNER and CONTRACTOR agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty), 



 

 

 
 
 00500-3

CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER $500.00 for each day that expires after the time specified in paragraph 
4.02 for Substantial Completion until the Work is substantially complete.  After Substantial Completion, if 
CONTRACTOR shall neglect, refuse, or fail to complete the remaining Work within the Contract Time or any 
proper extension thereof granted by OWNER, CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER $500.00 for each day that 
expires after the time specified in paragraph 4.02 for completion and readiness for final payment until the 
Work is completed and ready for final payment. 

 
B. The contractor understands that any penalty, fine, enforcement or other type of monetary judgment levied on 

any and all firms, agencies or individuals while under contract with the City of Brentwood is the responsibility 
of the contractor and will not be paid or reimbursed by the City of Brentwood. 

 
 
ARTICLE 5 - CONTRACT PRICE 

 
 
5.01 OWNER shall pay CONTRACTOR for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents an amount in current funds equal to the sum of the amounts determined pursuant to paragraph 
5.01.A below: 
 

A. For all Unit Price Work, an amount equal to the sum of the established unit price for each 
separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the agreed upon estimated quantity of that 
item as indicated and attached hereto as an exhibit. 

 
B. As provided in paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions, estimated quantities are not 

guaranteed, and determinations of actual quantities and classifications are to be made by 
ENGINEER as provided in paragraph 9.08 of the General Conditions.  Unit prices have been 
computed as provided in paragraph 11.03 of the General Conditions. 
 

C. C. For all Work, at the prices stated in CONTRACTOR’s Bid, attached hereto as an exhibit. 
 

CONSTRUCTION ESTIMATE 
This project is to be constructed under the Standard and Supplemental Specifications of the Tennessee Department of 

Transportation Dated: January 1, 2015 and additional specifications and special provisions contained in the construction 
documents. 

 

UNIT PRICE WORK 
 

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

  202-03 
REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF RIGID 
PAVEMENT 

S.Y. 2,500 $0.01 $25.00 

  
202-
03.01 

REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF ASPHALT 
PAVEMENT 

S.Y. 5,000 $24.00 $120,000.00 

  
202-
08.10 

REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF EXISTING CURB 
(EXTRUDED & CURB/GUTTER) 

L.F. 3,000 $0.01 $30.00 

  203-01 
ROAD & DRAINAGE EXCAVATION 
(UNCLASSIFIED) 

C.Y. 2,000 $0.01 $20.00 

  203-03 BORROW EXCAVATION (UNCLASSIFIED) C.Y. 500 $0.01 $5.00 



 

 

 
 
 00500-4

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

  203-07 FURNISHING & SPREADING TOPSOIL C.Y. 500 $0.01 $5.00 

  
209-
08.03 

TEMPORARY FILTER BARRIER (WITHOUT 
BACKING), (AFTER THE INITIAL 
INSTALLATION ALL COST ASSOCIATED 
WITH REPAIR, MAINTENANCE AND 
REPLACEMENT SHALL BE AT THE 
CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.) 

L.F. 500 $0.01 $5.00 

  
209-
08.06 

ENHANCED SILT FENCE CHECK 
(TRAPEZOIDAL), DEPTH, OR AS DIRECTED 
BY THE ENGINEER, AFTER THE INITIAL 
INSTALLATION ALL COST ASSOCIATED 
WITH REPAIR, MAINTENANCE AND 
REPLACEMENT SHALL BE AT THE 
CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.) 

EACH 5 $100.00 $500.00 

  303-01 
MINERAL AGGREGATE TYPE A BASE 
GRADING D 

TON 5,000 $5.00 $25,000.00 

9 
303-
10.04 

MINERAL AGGREGATE (SIZE #9) TONS 500 $0.01 $5.00 

1 
307-
01.01 

ASPHALT CONCRETE MIX (PG64-22) (BPMB-
HM) GRADING A 

TON 2,500 $70.00 $175,000.00 

1 
307-
01.08 

ASPHALT CONCRETE MIX (PG64-22) (BPMB-
HM) GRADING B-M2 

TON 5,000 $72.00 $360,000.00 

1 402-01 
BITUMINOUS MATERIAL FOR PRIME COAT 
(PC) 

TON 28 $0.01 $0.28 

  402-02 AGGREGATE FOR COVER MATERIAL (PC) TON 112 $0.01 $1.12 

1 
403-
02.01 

TRACKLESS TACK COAT (TC) TON 10 $1,100.00 $11,000.00 

15 
405-
03.01 

PM REJUVENATING SCRUB SEAL S.Y 1,300 $0.01 $13.00 

13, 14 
407-
02.14 

ASPHALT PAVEMENT REPAIR  (INFRARED) L.S. 5 $1,100.00 $5,500.00 

1 
411-
01.11 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING “E” ROADWAY TON 6,000 $125.00 $750,000.00 

1, 11 
411-
01.11 
(SH) 

SPEED HUMP ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING 
“E” 

EACH 1 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 

1, 17 
411-
01.12 
(ST) 

SPEED TABLE ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING 
“E” 

EACH 1 $7,000.00 $7,000.00 

1 
411-
03.07 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) THIN LIFT ASPHALT TON 500 $88.00 $44,000.00 

1 
411-
03.10 

ACS MIX(PG76-22) GRADING D TON 6,000 $130.00 $780,000.00 

1 
411-
03.11 

ACS MIX(PG76-22) GRADING E ROADWAY TON 6,000 $130.00 $780,000.00 



 

 

 
 
 00500-5

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

1 
411-
03.12 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) THIN LIFT D ASPHALT TON 2,000 $130.00 $260,000.00 

2 
415-
01.02 

COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT S.Y. 11,250 $5.00 $56,250.00 

23 
415-
01.02 
(A) 

COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT S.Y. 3,750 $8.00 $30,000.00 

22 
502-
08.01 

RESEALING JOINTS (HOT POURED ELASTIC) S.F. 8,000 $0.01 $80.00 

20 
604-
07.01 

RETAINING WALL (REINFORCED EARTH, 
"MSE") 

S.F. 1,000 $10.00 $10,000.00 

  
604-
07.01 

RETAINING WALL (CLASS “A” CONCRETE, 
NOT TO EXCEED 24” IN HEIGHT)  

L.F. 200 $25.00 $5,000.00 

  
604-
07.02 

RETAINING WALL (CLASS “A” CONCRETE, 
6" to 12” IN HEIGHT)  

L.F. 750 $27.00 $20,250.00 

20 
604-
07.75 

RESTORATION OF REINFORCED 
EARTHWALLS 

S.F. 1,000 $10.00 $10,000.00 

3, 4 
607-
03.02 

18" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
05.02 

24" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
06.02 

30" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
07.02 

36" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
03.30 

18" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
05.30 

24" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
06.30 

30" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
07.30 

36" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

  
611-
01.20 

ADJUSTMENT OF MANHOLE COVERS & 
FRAMES 

EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 

18 
611-
03.04 

GRAY IRON CASTINGS (CATCHBASIN)  LB. 4,380 $0.01 $43.80 

  
611-
07.01 

CLASS A CONCRETE (PIPE ENDWALLS) C.Y. 200 $0.01 $2.00 

  
611-
07.02 

STEEL BAR REINFORCEMENT (PIPE 
ENDWALLS) 

LB. 1,000 $0.01 $10.00 

  
611-
07.03 

STRUCTURAL STEEL (PIPE ENDWALLS) LB. 500 $0.01 $5.00 



 

 

 
 
 00500-6

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

  
611-
07.54 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 18 IN 
@ 3;1) 

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
611-
07.57 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 24 IN 
@ 3;1) 

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
611-
07.60 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 30 IN 
@ 3;1) 

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
611-
07.63 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 36 IN) EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
611-
09.01 

ADJUSTMENT OF EXISTING CATCHBASIN 
GRATES & FRAMES 

EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 

18 
611-
12.01 

CATCHBASINS, TYPE 12, DEPTH 0' - 4' (D-CB-
12P, D-CB-12RA, & D-CBB-12A) 

EACH 5 $0.01 $0.05 

  
611-
12.01 
(A) 

CATCHBASINS, ADJUSTMENT TYPE 12, 
DEPTH +/- 1'            

PER FT 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 

18 
611-
14.01 

CATCHBASINS, TYPE 14, DEPTH 0' - 4' (D-CB-
14P, D-CB-14RB & D-CBB-12A) 

EACH 5 $0.01 $0.05 

  
611-
14.01 
(A) 

CATCHBASINS, ADJUSTMENT TYPE 14, 
DEPTH +/- 1'            

PER FT 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.01 

CONCRETE SIDEWALK (4-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 10,000 $8.00 $80,000.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.01 
(A) 

CONCRETE SIDEWALK (8-INCH DEPTH FOR 
RADIUS RETURNS, CLASS “A” W/FIBER 
MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 10,000 $0.01 $100.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.06 

PEBBLE FINISH CONCRETE SIDEWALK (4-
INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 2,000 $0.01 $20.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.07 

EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE 
DRIVEWAY (4-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” 
W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.07 
(A) 

EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE 
DRIVEWAY (6-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” 
W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 701-02 
CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (4-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-02 

(A) 
CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (6-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-
02.01 

CONCRETE HANDICAP RAMP (RETROFIT, 8-
INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, 
DETECTABLE WARNINGS) 

EACH 50 $1,500.00 $75,000.00 

5, 21 
701-02 

.02   
CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (8-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-
02.07 
(B)   

EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE 
DRIVEWAY (8-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” 
W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

6, 21 702-01 
CONCRETE CURB, (TURN DOWN - TO BE 
USED AS DIRECTED) 

L.F. 1,500 $26.00 $39,000.00 



 

 

 
 
 00500-7

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

6, 21 
702-
01.01 

EXTRUDED SLOPING CURB (NEW 
INSTALLATION W/RUBBERIZED 
EXPANSION JOINT, GREATER THAN 300' 
Section, RP-MC-2) 

L.F. 7,500 $0.01 $75.00 

6, 21 
702-
01.01 
(A) 

EXTRUDED SLOPING CURB (REMOVAL AND 
REPAIR INSTALLATION LESS THAN 300' 
SECTION W/RUBBERIZED EXPANSION 
JOINT, RP-MC-2) 

L.F. 2,500 $28.00 $70,000.00 

  
702-
01.02 

CONCRETE CURB, (12”-TO BE USED AS 
DIRECTED AT RADIUS RETURNS) 

L.F. 200 $25.00 $5,000.00 

6, 21 702-03 

CONCRETE COMBINED CURB & GUTTER 
(NEW INSTALLATION W/RUBBERIZED 
EXPANSION JOINT, GREATER THAN 300' 
SECTION, RP-NMC-10) 

L.F. 5,000 $0.01 $50.00 

6, 21 
702-03 

(A) 

CONCRETE COMBINED CURB & GUTTER 
(REMOVAL AND REPAIR INSTALLATION 
LESS THAN 300' SECTION W/RUBBERIZED 
EXPANSION JOINT, RP-NMC-10) 

L.F. 500 $60.00 $30,000.00 

  
920-
12.01 

RUBBERIZED EXPANSION JOINT (ASTM D-
1751-97) 

L.F. 1,000 $0.01 $10.00 

19 
705-
01.04 

METAL BEAM GUARD FENCE L.F. 200 $125.00 $25,000.00 

  
705-
02.02 

SINGLE GUARDRAIL (TYPE 2, NEW 
INSTALLATION) 

L.F. 250 $60.00 $15,000.00 

  
705-
04.09 

EARTH PAD FOR TYPE 38 GR END 
TREATMENT 

EACH 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 

  
705-
06.20 

TAN ENERGY ABSORBING TERMINAL 
(MASH  TL3) 

EACH 1 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 

  
705-
06.30 

GUARDRAIL TERMINAL (MASH  TL2) EACH 1 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 

  
705-
12.11 

GUARDRAIL STEEL POST TYPE 2 (8 FT.) L.F. 125 $80.00 $10,000.00 

  
705-
06.10 

GR TERMINAL TRAILING END (TYPE 13) 
MASH TL-3 

EACH 2 $2,600.00 $5,200.00 

  
706-
02.01 

GUARDRAIL (REMOVE & RESET) L.F. 500 $30.00 $15,000.00 

  710-02 
AGGREGATE UNDERDRAINS (WITH 4 IN. 
PIPE) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  710-04 FILTER CLOTH UNDERDRAIN (WITH PIPE) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

7 
712-
04.01 

FLEXIBLE DRUMS (CHANNELIZING) EACH 1 $150.00 $150.00 

7 
712-
04.10 

TEMPORARY FLEXIBLE TUBULAR 
DELINEATOR 

EACH 1 $150.00 $150.00 

7 
712-
05.01 

WARNING LIGHTS (TYPE A) EACH 1 $125.00 $125.00 



 

 

 
 
 00500-8

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

7 
712-
05.03 

WARNING LIGHTS (TYPE C) EACH 1 $125.00 $125.00 

7 712-06 SIGNS (CONSTRUCTION) S.F. 1 $25.00 $25.00 

  
730-

12.02(A
) 

CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.02(B) 
CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.03(A
) 

CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.03(B) 
CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.08(A
) 

CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.08(B) 
CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.09(A
) 

CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.09(B) 
CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-
12.13 

CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (JACKED OR 
BORED) 

L.F. 100 $0.01 $1.00 

  
730-
12.14 

CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (JACK AND BORE) L.F. 100 $0.01 $1.00 

  
740-
11.03 

TEMPORARY SEDIMENT TUBE 18 INCH (TO 
BE USED FOR EROSION CONTROL OF "V-
DITCH", AFTER THE INITIAL INSTALLATION 
ALL COST ASSOCIATED WITH REPAIR, 
MAINTENANCE AND REPLACEMENT SHALL 
BE AT THE CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.) 

L.F. 500 $0.01 $5.00 

8 
795-
09.09 

RELOCATE/RECONNECT EXISTING WATER 
METERS            

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

10 
795-
09.09 
(A) 

ADJUST HEIGHT OF EXISTING WATER 
METERS            

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
795-
12.20 

ADJUSTMENT OF EXISTING WATER VALVE 
BOXES 

EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 

  
797-
07.63 

REPLACE MANHOLE CASTING  EACH 0 $0.01 $0.00 

16 801-01 SEEDING (WITH MULCH) UNIT 200 $5.00 $1,000.00 

  801-03 WATER (SEEDING & SODDING) M.G. 100 $1.00 $100.00 



 

 

 
 
 00500-9

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

16 803-01 SODDING (NEW SOD) S.Y. 1,500 $7.00 $10,500.00 

  
805-
12.02 

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET (TYPE II) S.Y. 5,000 $0.01 $50.00 

  SUB-TOTAL ROADWAY BASE BID    $3,904,085.50 

FOOTNOTES ITEM  
NO. 

THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 
BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 

UNIT QTY. 
UNIT 

PRICE 
AMOUNT 

  
202-
03.01 

REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF ASPHALT 
PAVEMENT 

S.Y. 250 $30.00 $7,500.00 

  203-01 
ROAD & DRAINAGE EXCAVATION 
(UNCLASSIFIED) 

C.Y. 200 $10.00 $2,000.00 

  203-07 FURNISHING & SPREADING TOPSOIL C.Y. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

  
209-
08.03 

TEMPORARY FILTER BARRIER (WITHOUT 
BACKING) 

L.F. 500 $5.00 $2,500.00 

  303-01 
MINERAL AGGREGATE TYPE A BASE 
GRADING D 

TON 375 $25.00 $9,375.00 

1 402-01 
BITUMINOUS MATERIAL FOR PRIME COAT 
(PC) 

TON 2 $0.01 $0.02 

  402-02 AGGREGATE FOR COVER MATERIAL (PC) TON 9 $0.01 $0.09 

1, 12 
411-
01.07 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING “E” SHOULDER TON 150 $135.00 $20,250.00 

3, 4 
607-

00(A) 

6" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-
00(B) 

8" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-

01(A) 

12" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-02 

(A) 

15" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-
03.30 

18" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

5, 21 
701-
02.01 

CONCRETE HANDICAP RAMP (RETROFIT, 8-
INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, 
DETECTABLE WARNINGS) 

EACH 4 $1,500.00 $6,000.00 

16 801-01 SEEDING (WITH MULCH) UNIT 10 $5.00 $50.00 

  801-03 WATER (SEEDING & SODDING) M.G. 5 $1.00 $5.00 



 

 

 
 
 00500-10

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

16 803-01 SODDING (NEW SOD) S.Y. 350 $6.50 $2,275.00 

  
805-
12.02 

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET (TYPE II) S.Y. 150 $5.00 $750.00 

  SUB-TOTAL PARK BASE BID    $51,905.11 

 TOTAL PROJECT COST $3,955,990.61 

 
FOOTNOTES     
 
(1)     UNIT COST IS ARE SUBJECT TO ADJUSTMENT PER TDOT'S SPECIAL PROVISION 109B, PRICE 
ADJUSTMENT FOR BITUMINOUS MATERIAL     
(2)     COLD PLANE OPERATIONS SHALL BE BASED ON AN AVERAGE DEPTH OF ZERO TO THREE INCHES 
OVER THE ENTIRE AREA.  AREAS TO BE COLD PLANNED SHALL BE RESURFACED WITHIN 30 DAYS OF 
COMPLETION OF THAT SECTION OF ROADWAY UNLESS AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CITY 
OF BRENTWOOD HAS OBTAINED PRIOR APPROVAL.     
(3)     ALL EXCAVATION FOR STORM DRAINAGE PIPE SHALL BE CONSIDERED UNCLASSIFIED MATERIAL AT 
A DEPTH OF PIPE DIAMETER PLUS 3 FEET.     
(4)     UNIT COST INCLUDES BEDDING MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH TDOT STANDARD DRAWING D-PB-
1 AND D-PB-2.     
(5)     UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES EXCAVATION, 4” STONE BEDDING, RUBBERIZED EXPANSION MATERIAL 
(ASTM D-1751-97), TOPSOIL BACKFILL, 2-FOOT SOD STRIP ON EACH SIDE AND ALL APPURTENANCES TO 
COMPLETE THE WORK     
(6)     UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES EXCAVATION, STONE BEDDING, RUBBERIZED EXPANSION MATERIAL 
(ASTM D-1751-97), TOPSOIL BACKFILL, 2-FOOT SOD STRIP, AND ALL APPURTENANCES TO COMPLETE THE 
WORK.     
(7)     TO BE USED AS DIRECTED BY THE BRENTWOOD PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR OR AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE.     
(8)   INCLUDES ALL MATERIALS, LABOR AND EQUIPMENT FOR REMOVAL OF EXISTING WATER SERVICE 
METER ASSEMBLY AND INSTALLING AT NEWLY IDENTIFIED LOCATION.     
(9)     TO BE USED FOR ADDITIONAL PIPE BEDDING MATERIAL AS DIRECTED BY THE PUBLIC WORKS 
DIRECTOR OR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE.     
(10) 
INCLUDES ALL MATERIALS, LABOR AND EQUIPMENT FOR REMOVAL OF EXISTING WATER METER BOX AN
D ADJUSTING TO MATCH ADJOINING GRADE     
(11) COORDINATE WITH CITY OF BRENTWOOD SPECIAL PROVISION CB-111, DECEMBER 28, 2018     
(12) RESURFACING OF EXISTING TRAILS VARIES FROM 8 TO 10 FEET.  NEW TRAIL CONSTRUCTION SHALL 
BE A MINIMUM OF 10 FEET IN WIDTH.      
(13) UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES ALL EQUIPMENT, MATERIALS AND LABOR FOR REPAIR OF AN ASPHALT 
SURFACE.  UNIT PRICE INCLUDES UP TO 126 SF OF SURFACE AREA AND A 4 HOUR ON SITE VISIT, WHICH 
MAY INCLUDE MULTIPLE LOCATIONS.     
(14) INFRARED PAVEMENT REPAIR USES AN INFRARED HEATING UNIT TO HEAT IN-PLACE ASPHALT TO 
SOFTEN IT TO A WORKABLE STATE, THEN NEW ASPHALT CAN BE ADDED WHICH FUSES SEAMLESSLY TO 
THE OLD.  THE CONTRACTOR WILL BE COMPENSATED ON A LUMP SUM BASIS PER FOUR HOUR INCREMENT 



 

 

 
 
 00500-11

WITH AN AVERAGE REPAIR OF 120 SQUARE FEET WHICH MAY INCLUDE MULTIPLE SITES. THE STEP-BY-
STEP PROCESS FOR POTHOLE REPAIR USING A TRUCK-MOUNTED INFRARED PAVEMENT HEATER IS:     
 a.       SWEEP AND DRY THE AREA.    
 b.       POSITION THE INFRARED HEATING ARRAY OVER THE POTHOLE FOR SEVEN TO 10 MINUTES.    
 c.        REMOVE THE HEATER AND RAKE THE SOFTENED (350 DEGREE) ASPHALT.    
 d.       MIX IN A REJUVENATOR TO REPLENISH LIGHT OILS THAT HAVE OXIDIZED AWAY.    
 e.        ADD A SMALL AMOUNT OF FRESH ASPHALT AND GRADE IT TO LEVEL WITH A LUTE.    
 f.        USE A VIBRATORY ROLLER TO COMPACT AND FUSE THE PATCH WITH THE SURROUNDING 
PAVEMENT.    
 g.        12-MONTH WARRANTY ON REPAIRED AREA.     
 h.       TIME BEGINS UPON ARRIVAL TO FIRST JOBSITE AND ENDS UPON DEPARTURE FROM FINAL JOB.    
 i.         TRAFFIC CONTROL INCLUDED    
(15)  REJUVENATING SCRUB SEAL     
 a.       PREP AND CLEAN ASPHALT FROM DIRT, DEBRIS, AND VEGETATION, WHICH MAY REQUIRE 
PRESSURE WASHING    
 b.       SEALER WILL NOT BOND TO SEVERE OIL ON ASPHALT DAMAGE    
(16) SEED AND SOD SHALL BE PER TDOT SECTION 918.01.  THE ONLY ALLOWABLE MIXTURE WIL BE 
LIMITED TO TABLE 918.01-1 GROUP A (FEBRUARY 1 – JULY 1) AND TABLE 918.01-4 GROUP C (AUGUST  1 – 
DECEMBER 1).     
(17) COORDINATE WITH CITY OF BRENTWOOD SPECIAL PROVISION CB-112, DECENBER 31, 2018.     
     
(18) CURB IRON TO HAVE A SOLID BACK.  THE CONTRACTOR MAY SUBSTITUTE NEENAH R-3067V OR 
APPROVED EQUAL HAVING A SOLID BACK.  TOP OF CATCHBASIN MAY REQUIRE MINOR MODIFICATIONS 
TO ACCOMMODATE THE NEENAH R-3067V SOLID BACK CASTING.     
     
(19) ATTACHMENT TO TOP DECK OF BOX/SLAB.     
     
(20) UNIT COST DOES NOT INCLUDE PREPARATION OR SUBMITTAL OF NECESSARY PERMITS.  UNIT PRICE 
BID IS FOR WALL HEIGHTS 6 FEET OR LESS, INCLUSIVE OF  COFFER DAMS (IF REQUIRED), CLEARING, SITE 
PREPARATION, STRIP/PLACE TOPSOIL, EXCAVATION , BACKFILL AND ALL OTHER ITEMS NECESSARY FOR A 
COMPLETED WALL SYSTEM.  EROSION CONTROL FEATURES, OTHER THAN COFFER DAMS, WILL BE PAID 
FOR SEPARATELY.     
     
(21) BEGIN WORK WITHIN FOURTEEN (14) DAYS AFTER WRITTEN NOTIFICATION OF THE WORK ORDER 
ISSUED UNDER THIS CONTRACT.  EACH AND EVERY WORK ORDER ISSUED SHALL HAVE A MUTUALLY 
AGREED UPON DATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION, AND ALL WORK SHALL BE COMPLETED AND READY 
FOR FINAL PAYMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH PARAGRAPH 14.07.B OF THE GENERAL CONDITIONS.  THE 
CONTRACTOR FURTHER AGREES THAT IF WORK IS NOT INITIATED AND COMPLETED WITHIN THE 
MUTUALLY AGREED UPON CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE THE OWNER RESERVES THE OPTION TO IMPOSE 
LIQUIDATED DAMAGES IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 4.03 OF THE “STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR ON THE BASIS OF STIPULATED PRICE”.     
     
(22) UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES PRIOR INSTALLATION OF THE SEAL COAT, CLEANING OF ALL SURFACES TO 
BE SEALED BY SWEEPING WITH A MOTORIZED BROOM TO REMOVE ANY LOOSE MATERIAL. CLEAN 
DEPRESSIONS AND CRACKS NOT REACHED BY THE POWER BROOM USING HAND BROOMS OR 
PRESSURIZED AIR. DEPENDING ON SEVERITY OF THE CRACK ADDITIONAL ROUTING MAY BE REQUIRED AS 
DIRECTED BY THE CITY OR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE. MATERIAL TO BE COORDINATED WITH TDOT 
SPECIFICATION 905.05.     
     



 

 

 
 
 00500-12

(23)     COLD PLANE OPERATIONS SHALL BE BASED ON AN AVERAGE DEPTH OF THREE TO FIVE INCHES 
OVER THE ENTIRE AREA.  AREAS TO BE COLD PLANNED SHALL BE RESURFACED WITHIN 30 DAYS OF 
COMPLETION OF THAT SECTION OF ROADWAY UNLESS AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CITY 
OF BRENTWOOD HAS OBTAINED PRIOR APPROVAL.     
     
GENERAL NOTES (ALL ITEMS)     
     
(1)     WORKING HOURS WILL BE FROM 7:00 AM UNTIL DARK MONDAY THROUGH SATURDAY.  NO WORK 
WILL BE ALLOWED ON SUNDAY UNLESS IT HAS BEEN CLASSIFIED AS AN EMERGENCY AND APPROVED BY 
THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS.     
     
(2)     AN INITIAL WORK ORDER IS TENTATIVELY SCHEDULED TO BE ISSUED ON JUNE 1, 2022.  ONCE A 
CONTRACT HAS BEEN ISSUED, ON OR ABOUT JULY 1, 2022 ALL DOCUMENTS FROM THAT POINT, FORWARD 
WILL SENT TO THE ATTENTION OF MR. TODD HOPPENSTEDT, BRENTWOOD DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS.    
     
(3)     BONDS WILL BE REQUIRED AS NOTED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  HOWEVER, BONDS WILL NOT 
BE REQUIRED FOR INDIVIDUAL WORK ORDERS ISSUED.  A RETAINER WILL NOT BE WITHHELD FROM EACH 
WORK ORDER ISSUED.     
     
(4)     UNIT PRICE BID FOR ALL ITEMS SHALL INCLUDE ALL MOBILIZATION AND LAYOUT FOR A COMPLETE 
SYSTEM INCLUSIVE OF ALL WATER QUALITY, EROSION, AND TRAFFIC CONTROL MEASURE INCLUSIVE OF 
PERMIT PREPARATION TO COMPLY WITH LOCAL, STATE, AND FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS.  PERMIT 
APPLICATION FEES SHALL BE REIMBURSED BY THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD.     
     
(5)     MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT OF QUANTITIES SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STANDARD 
AND SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS OF THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION DATED: 
JANUARY 1, 2015 AND ADDITIONAL SPECIFICATIONS AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE 
CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.     
     
(6)     ALL ITEMS WITHIN THIS CONTRACT INCLUDE INSTALLATION OF NECESSARY TRAFFIC AND EROSION 
CONTROL IN THE UNIT PRICE BID, IN ACCORDANCE WITH CITY REQUIREMENTS.  TEMPORARY LANE LINE 
AND SPECIALTY MARKINGS WILL NOT BE REQUIRED AND SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CITY OF 
BRENTWOOD.     
     
(7)     TDOT STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR ROAD AND BRIDGE CONSTRUCTION, SECTION 104 SCOPE OF 
WORK, ARTICLE 104.02 CHANGES IN PLANS OR IN CHARACTER OF CONSTRUCTION, SUB-SECTION C HAS 
BEEN DELETED AND NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS CONTRACT.     
     
(8)   PAYMENT FOR THE TOP TWO LAYERS OF ASPHALT ON MAINLINE AND SIDE ROAD PAVING SHALL BE 
BASED ON THE RATE OF APPLICATION NOTED ON THE PAVING SCHEDULE WITH A TOLERANCE OF 1/4"+/-.  
AN AVERAGE COMPACTED THICKNESS SHALL BE DETERMINED BASED ON CORE SAMPLES OBTAINED IN 
ACCORDANCE SPECIAL PROVISION 407DEN "TEST STRIPS.”  ALL QUANTITY OUTSIDE THE TOLERANCE 
RANGE SHALL NOT BE PAID BY THE OWNER AND SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR    

Total of All Unit Prices: 
 

Three Million Nine Hundred Fifty Five Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Dollars and 61/100 Cents 
(WORDS) 

 
$3,955,990.61 
(DOLLARS)



 

 

 
 
 00500-13

 
 
 
ARTICLE 6 – N/A 
 
ARTICLE 7 – N/A 
 
ARTICLE 8 – N/A 
 
ARTICLE 9 – N/A 
 
ARTICLE 10 - PAYMENT PROCEDURES 
 
10.01 Submittal and Processing of Payments 
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 14 of the General 
Conditions.  Applications for Payment will indicate the amount of the CONTRACTOR’s fee then payable.  Applications for 
Payment will be processed by ENGINEER as provided in the General Conditions. 
 
10.02 Progress Payments; Retainage 
 
 A. OWNER shall make progress payments on account of the Contract Price on the basis of CONTRACTOR’S 
Applications for Payment as recommended by ENGINEER on or about the 25th day of each month during construction as 
provided in paragraphs 10.02.A.1 and 10.02.A.2 below.  All such payments will be measured by the schedule of values 
established in paragraph 2.07.A of the General Conditions (and in the case of Unit Price Work based on the number of units 
completed) or, in the event there is no schedule of values, as provided in the General Requirements: 
 

1. For Cost of Work:  Progress payments on account of the Cost of the Work will be made: 
 

a. Prior to Substantial Completion, progress payments will be made in an amount equal to the 
percentage indicated below but, in each case, less the aggregate of payments previously made and less such 
amounts as ENGINEER may determine or OWNER may withhold, in accordance with paragraph 14.02 of the 
General Conditions: 

 
(1) 100% Cost of Work completed (with the balance being retainage).  If the Work 

has been 50% completed as determined by ENGINEER, and if the character and progress of the 
Work have been satisfactory to OWNER and ENGINEER, OWNER, on recommendation of 
ENGINEER, may determine that as long as the character and progress of the Work remain 
satisfactory to them, there will be no retainage on account of Work subsequently completed, in which 
case the remaining progress payments prior to Substantial Completion will be in an amount equal to 
100% of the Work completed less the aggregate of payments previously made; and 

 
(2) 100% of cost of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work (with the 

balance being retainage). 
 

b. Upon Substantial Completion of each work order, OWNER shall pay an amount sufficient 
to increase total payments to CONTRACTOR to 100% of the Work completed, less such amounts as 
ENGINEER shall determine in accordance with paragraph 14.02.B.5 of the General Conditions and less 100% 
of ENGINEER’s estimate of the value of Work to be completed or corrected as shown on the tentative list of 
items to be completed or corrected attached to the certificate of Substantial Completion. 

 
10.03 Final Payment 
 



 

 

 
 
 00500-14

 A. Upon final completion and acceptance of the Work in accordance with paragraph 14.07 of the General 
Conditions, OWNER shall pay the remainder of the Contract Price as recommended by ENGINEER as provided in said 
paragraph 14.07. 
 
ARTICLE 11 - INTEREST 
 
11.01 All moneys not paid when due as provided in Article 14 of the General Conditions shall bear interest at the rate of  
 prime plus 1% per annum. 
 
 
ARTICLE 12 - CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS 
 
12.01 In order to induce OWNER to enter into this Agreement CONTRACTOR makes the following representations: 
 
 A. CONTRACTOR has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents and the other related data 
identified in the Bidding Documents. 
 
 B. CONTRACTOR has visited the Site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site 
conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 
 
 C. CONTRACTOR is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that 
may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 
 
 D. CONTRACTOR has carefully studied all:  (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or 
contiguous to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at or 
contiguous to the Site (except Underground Facilities) which have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided 
in paragraph 4.02 of the General Conditions and (2) reports and drawings of a Hazardous Environmental Condition, if any, at the 
Site which has been identified in the Supplementary Conditions as provided in paragraph 4.06 of the General Conditions. 
 
 E. CONTRACTOR has obtained and carefully studied (or assumes responsibility for having done so) all 
additional or supplementary examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data concerning conditions (surface, 
subsurface, and Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the Site which may affect cost, progress, or performance of the Work 
or which relate to any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by 
CONTRACTOR, including applying the specific means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, if any, 
expressly required by the Contract Documents to be employed by CONTRACTOR, and safety precautions and programs 
incident thereto.  
 
 F. CONTRACTOR does not consider that any further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, 
or data are necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Times, and in accordance with 
the other terms and conditions of the Contract Documents. 
 
 G. CONTRACTOR is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by OWNER and others at the Site 
that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents. 
 
 H. CONTRACTOR has correlated the information known to CONTRACTOR, information and observations 
obtained from visits to the Site, reports and drawings identified in the Contract Documents, and all additional examinations, 
investigations, explorations, tests, studies, and data with the Contract Documents. 
 
 I. CONTRACTOR has given ENGINEER written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies 
that CONTRACTOR has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by ENGINEER is acceptable 
to CONTRACTOR. 
 
 J. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and 
conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work. 
 



 

 

 
 
 00500-15

ARTICLE 13 - ACCOUNTING RECORDS 
 
13.01 CONTRACTOR shall check all materials, equipment, and labor entering into the Work and shall keep such full and 
detailed accounts as may be necessary for proper financial management under this Agreement, and the accounting methods shall 
be satisfactory to OWNER.  OWNER shall be afforded access to all CONTRACTOR’s records, books, correspondence, 
instructions, drawings, receipts, vouchers, memoranda, and similar data relating to the Cost of the Work and CONTRACTOR’s 
fee.  CONTRACTOR shall preserve all such documents for a period of three years after the final payment by OWNER. 
 
ARTICLE 14 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 
14.01 Contents 
 
 A. The Contract Documents consist of the following: 
 
  1. This Agreement (pages 1 to 17, inclusive). 
 
  2. Performance Bond (pages 1 to 2, inclusive). 
 
  3. Payment Bond (pages 1 to 2, inclusive). 
 
  4. Bid Bonds  
 

a. Penal Sum Form (pages 1 to 3, inclusive). 
    
  5. General Conditions (pages 1 to 43, inclusive). 
 

6. Supplementary Conditions (pages 1 to 6, inclusive). 
 
a. Exhibit 1 “Indemnification Agreement” (pages 1 to 7, inclusive). 
b. Drug-Free Workplace: Contractor’s Affidavit. (pages 1 to 3, inclusive). 
c. Equal Opportunity “Title VI Policy Statements “.(pages 1 to 1, inclusive). 

 
  7. Specifications as listed in the table of contents of the Project Manual. 
 
  8. Addenda (numbers -1- to -2-, inclusive). 
 
  10. Exhibits to this Agreement (enumerated as follows): 
 
   a. Notice to Award (pages -1- to -11-, inclusive); 
 
   b. CONTRACTOR’s Bid (pages -1- to -32-, inclusive); 
 

c. Documentation submitted by CONTRACTOR prior to Notice of Award in accordance with 
“INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS”; 

 
d. Certificate of Insurance 
 
e. Notice to Proceed (pages -1- to -1- inclusive) 

 
f. Contractor’s Bid Package. 

 
11. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement and 

are not attached hereto: 
 

a. Written Amendments; 



 

 

 
 
 00500-16

 
b. Work Change Directives; 

 
c. Change Order(s); 
 
d. Proposal Request. 

 
 B. The documents listed in paragraph 14.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as expressly noted 
otherwise above). 
 
 C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 14. 
 
 D. The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in paragraph 3.05 of 
the General Conditions. 
 
 
ARTICLE 15 - MISCELLANEOUS 
 
15.01 Terms 
 
 A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions. 
 
15.02 Assignment of Contract 
 
 A. No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on another 
party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound; and, specifically but without limitation, moneys that 
may become due and moneys that are due may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this 
restriction may be limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, no 
assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract Documents. 
 
15.03 Successors and Assigns 
 
 A. OWNER and CONTRACTOR each binds itself, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives to 
the other party hereto, its partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, and 
obligations contained in the Contract Documents. 
 
15.04 Severability 
 
 A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any Law or 
Regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR, who agree that the Contract Documents shall be reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof 
with a valid and enforceable provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken provision. 
 



 

 

 
 
 00500-17

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, OWNER and CONTRACTOR have signed this Agreement in duplicate.  One counterpart each has 
been delivered to OWNER and CONTRACTOR.  All portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or identified by 
OWNER and CONTRACTOR or on their behalf. 
 
This Agreement will be effective on     ,   (which is the Effective Date of the Agreement). 
 
OWNER: CONTRACTOR:
 
 
By:  By: 
 
 [CORPORATE SEAL] [CORPORATE SEAL] 
 
Attest  Attest 
 
 
Address for giving notices: Address for giving notices: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(If OWNER is a corporation, attach evidence of authority 
to sign.  If OWNER is a public body, attach evidence of 
authority to sign and resolution or other documents 
authorizing execution of OWNER-CONTRACTOR 
Agreement.) 

License No.   
 (Where applicable) 
 
Agent for service of process:   
 
  
 
(If CONTRACTOR is a corporation or a partnership, attach 
evidence of authority to sign.) 

 
Designated Representative: Designated Representative: 
 
Name:  Name: 
 
Title:  Title: 
 
Address:  Address: 
 
 
 
Phone:  Phone: 
 
Facsimile:  Facsimile: 

 



 

EJCDC No. 1910-28-A (1996 Edition) 
 00610-1

 Performance Bond 
 
 Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 
  
 
CONTRACTOR (Name and Address):    SURETY (Name and Address of Principal Place   
        of Business): 

 
 
 
 

OWNER (Name and Address): 
City of Brentwood 
 ATTN. Mr. Todd Hoppenstedt, Director of Public Works 
 P.O. Box 788 
 1750 General George Patton Drive 
 Brentwood, TN 37027 
 
CONTRACT 
  Date: _____________________ 
 
 Amount: $__________________ 
 
  Description (Name and Location):  

Contract: General Construction 

Project: Roadway Repairs and Improvements in the City of Brentwood for fiscal Year 2022 - 2023. 
 

OWNER's Contract No.                                             ENGINEER's Contract No. 22-002 

ENGINEER: Mr. Richard Sullivan, PE, Sullivan Engineering, Inc. 

        P.O. Box 1708, Brentwood, TN 37024 

BOND 
  Date (Not earlier than Contract Date):___________________ 
  Amount: $______________________ 
  Modifications to this Bond Form: 
 N/A 
 
Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms printed on the reverse side hereof, do each cause this 
Performance Bond to be duly executed on its behalf by its authorized officer, agent or representative. 
 
CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL     SURETY 
  Company:   (Corp. Seal)     Company:    (Corp. Seal) 
 
  Signature:          Signature:       
  Name and Title:         Name and Title: 
          (Attach Power of Attorney) 
(Space is provided below for signatures of additional parties, if required.) 
 
 
CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL     SURETY 
  Company:   (Corp. Seal)       Company:    (Corp. Seal) 
 
  Signature:            Signature:       
  Name and Title:           Name and Title: 



 

EJCDC No. 1910-28-A (1996 Edition) 
 00610-2

Originally prepared through the joint efforts of the Surety Association of America, Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee, the Associated General 
Contractors of America, and the American Institute of Architects. 

 
1.  The CONTRACTOR and the Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the Owner for the 
performance of the Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference. 
 
2.  If the CONTRACTOR performs the Contract, the Surety and the CONTRACTOR 
have no obligation under this Bond, except to participate in conferences as provided 
in paragraph 3.1. 
 
3.  If there is no OWNER Default, the Surety's obligation under this Bond shall arise 
after: 
 
 3.1. The OWNER has notified the CONTRACTOR and the Surety at the 
addresses described in paragraph 10 below, that the OWNER is considering 
declaring a CONTRACTOR Default and has requested and attempted to arrange a 
conference with the CONTRACTOR and the Surety to be held not later than fifteen 
days after receipt of such notice to discuss methods of performing the Contract.  If 
the OWNER, the CONTRACTOR and the Surety agree, the CONTRACTOR shall 
be allowed a reasonable time to perform the Contract, but such an agreement shall 
not waive the OWNER's right, if any, subsequently to declare a CONTRACTOR 
Default; and 
 
 3.2. The OWNER has declared a CONTRACTOR Default and formally 
terminated the CONTRACTOR's right to complete the Contract.  Such 
CONTRACTOR Default shall not be declared earlier than twenty days after the 
CONTRACTOR and the Surety have received notice as provided in paragraph 3.1; 
and 
 
 3.3. The OWNER has agreed to pay the Balance of the Contract Price to: 
 
   3.3.1.  The Surety in accordance with the terms of the Contract; 
 
   3.3.2 Another contractor selected pursuant to paragraph 4.3 to 
perform the Contract. 
 
4.  When the OWNER has satisfied the conditions of paragraph 3, the Surety shall 
promptly and at the Surety's expense take one of the following actions: 
 
 4.1. Arrange for the CONTRACTOR, with consent of the OWNER, to 
perform and complete the Contract; or 
 
 4.2. Undertake to perform and complete the Contract itself, through its agents 
or through independent contractors; or 
 
 4.3. Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified contractors 
acceptable to the OWNER for a contract for performance and completion of the 
Contract, arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution by the OWNER and the 
contractor selected with the OWNER's concurrence, to be secured with performance 
and payment bonds executed by a qualified surety equivalent to the Bonds issued on 
the Contract, and pay to the OWNER the amount of damages as described in 
paragraph 6 in excess of the Balance of the Contract Price incurred by the OWNER 
resulting from the CONTRACTOR  Default; or 
 
 4.4. Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange for completion, or 
obtain a new contractor and with reasonable promptness under the circumstances; 
 
   4.4.1 After investigation, determine the amount for which it may 
be liable to the OWNER and, as soon as practicable after the amount is determined, 
tender payment therefor to the OWNER; or 
 
   4.4.2 Deny liability in whole or in part and notify the OWNER 
citing reasons therefor. 
 
5.  If the Surety does not proceed as provided in paragraph 4 with reasonable 
promptness, the Surety shall be deemed to be in default on this Bond fifteen days 
after receipt of an additional written notice from the OWNER to the Surety 
demanding that the Surety perform its obligations under this Bond, and the OWNER 
shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the OWNER.  If the Surety 
proceeds as provided in paragraph 4.4, and the OWNER refuses the payment 
tendered or the Surety has denied liability, in whole or in part, without further notice 
the OWNER shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the OWNER. 
 
6.  After the OWNER has terminated the CONTRACTOR's right to complete the 
Contract, and if the Surety elects to act under paragraph 4.1, 4.2, or 4.3 above, then 
the responsibilities of the Surety to the OWNER shall not be greater than those of the 
CONTRACTOR under the Contract, and the responsibilities of the OWNER to the 
Surety shall not be greater than those of the OWNER under the Contract.  To a limit 
of the amount of this Bond, but subject to commitment by the OWNER of the 

Balance of the Contract Price to mitigation of costs and damages on the Contract, the 
Surety is obligated without duplication for: 
 
 6.1. The responsibilities of the CONTRACTOR for correction of defective 
Work and completion of the Contract; 
 
 6.2. Additional legal, design professional and delay costs resulting from the 
CONTRACTOR's Default, and resulting from the actions or failure to act of the 
Surety under paragraph 4; and 
 
 6.3. Liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the 
Contract, actual damages caused by delayed performance or non-performance of the 
CONTRACTOR. 
 
7.  The Surety shall not be liable to the OWNER or others for obligations of the 
CONTRACTOR that are unrelated to the Contract, and the Balance of the Contract 
Price shall not be reduced or set off on account of any such unrelated obligations.  
No right of action shall accrue on this Bond to any person or entity other than the 
OWNER or its heirs, executors, administrators, or successors. 
 
8.  The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the  
Contract or to related subcontracts, purchase orders and other obligations. 
 
9.  Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be instituted in any court 
of competent jurisdiction in the location in which the Work or part of the Work is 
located and shall be instituted within two years after CONTRACTOR Default or 
within two years after the CONTRACTOR ceased working or within two years after 
the Surety refuses or fails to perform its obligations under this Bond, whichever 
occurs first.  If the provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the 
minimum period of limitation available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of 
the suit shall be applicable. 
 
10.  Notice to the Surety, the OWNER or the CONTRACTOR shall be mailed or 
delivered to the address shown on the signature page. 
 
11.  When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal 
requirement in the location where the Contract was be performed, any provision in 
this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed 
deleted here from and provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal 
requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein.  The intent is that this Bond shall 
be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond. 
 
12.  Definitions. 
 
 12.1 Balance of the Contract Price: The total amount payable by the OWNER 
to the CONTRACTOR under the Contract after all proper adjustments have been 
made, including allowance to the CONTRACTOR of any amounts received or to be 
received by the OWNER in settlement of insurance or other Claims for damages to 
which the CONTRACTOR is entitled, reduced by all valid and proper payments 
made to or on behalf of the CONTRACTOR under the Contract.   
 
 12.2. Contract: The agreement between the OWNER and the CONTRACTOR 
identified on the signature page, including all Contract Documents and changes 
thereto.  
 
 12.3. CONTRACTOR Default: Failure of the CONTRACTOR, which has 
neither been remedied nor waived, to perform or otherwise to comply with the terms 
of the Contract. 
 
 12.4. OWNER Default: Failure of the OWNER, which has neither been 
remedied nor waived, to pay the CONTRACTOR as required by the Contract or to 
perform and complete or comply with the other terms thereof. 
 

OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE: 
 Mr. Richard Sullivan, PE 
 Sullivan Engineering, Inc. 
 P.O. Box 1708 
 Brentwood, TN 37024 



 

EJCDC No. 1910-28-B (1996 Edition) 

 00620-1

 Payment Bond 
 
 Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner or other party shall be considered plural where applicable. 
  
CONTRACTOR (Name and Address):    SURETY (Name and Address of Principal Place   
        of Business): 

 
 
 
 

  
OWNER (Name and Address): 
City of Brentwood 
 ATTN. Mr. Todd Hoppenstedt, Director of Public Works 
 P.O. Box 788 
 1750 General George Patton Drive 
 Brentwood, TN 37027 
 
CONTRACT 
  Date: _____________________ 
 
 Amount: $__________________ 
 
  Description (Name and Location):  

Contract: General Construction 

Project: Roadway Repairs and Improvements in the City of Brentwood for fiscal Year 2022 - 2023. 
 

OWNER's Contract No.                                             ENGINEER's Contract No. 22-002 

ENGINEER: Mr. Richard Sullivan, PE, Sullivan Engineering, Inc. 

        P.O. Box 1708, Brentwood, TN 37024 

BOND 
  Date (Not earlier than Contract Date): ___________________ 
   
Amount: $___________________ 
  
 Modifications to this Bond Form: 
 
Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms printed on the reverse side hereof, do each cause this 
Payment Bond to be duly executed on its behalf by its authorized officer, agent, or representative. 
 
CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL     SURETY 
  Company:    (Corp. Seal)    Company:    (Corp. Seal) 
 
  Signature:          Signature:       
  Name and Title:         Name and Title: 
          (Attach Power of Attorney) 
(Space is provided below for signatures of additional parties, if required.) 
 
CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL     SURETY 
  Company:    (Corp. Seal)    Company:    (Corp. Seal) 
   
  Signature:          Signature:       
  Name and Title:         Name and Title: 



 

EJCDC No. 1910-28-B (1996 Edition) 

 00620-2

Originally prepared through the joint efforts of the Surety Association of America, Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee, the Associated General 
Contractors of America, the American Institute of Architects, the American Subcontractors Association, and the Associated Specialty Contractors. 
 
1.  The CONTRACTOR and the Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, 
their heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns to the OWNER to 
pay for labor, materials and equipment furnished for use in the performance of 
the Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference. 
 
2.  With respect to the OWNER, this obligation shall be null and void if the 
CONTRACTOR: 
 
 2.1. Promptly makes payment, directly or indirectly, for all sums due 
Claimants, and 
 
 2.2. Defends, indemnifies and holds harmless the OWNER from all 
claims, demands, liens or suits by any person or entity who furnished labor, 
materials or equipment for use in the performance of the Contract, provided the 
OWNER has promptly notified the CONTRACTOR and the Surety (at the 
addresses described in paragraph 12) of any claims, demands, liens or suits and 
tendered defense of such claims, demands, liens or suits to the CONTRACTOR 
and the Surety, and provided there is no OWNER Default. 
 
3.  With respect to Claimants, this obligation shall be null and void if the 
CONTRACTOR promptly makes payment, directly or indirectly, for all sums 
due. 
 
4.  The Surety shall have no obligation to Claimants under this Bond until: 
 
 4.1. Claimants who are employed by or have a direct contract with the 
CONTRACTOR have given notice to the Surety (at the addresses described in 
paragraph 12) and sent a copy, or notice thereof, to the OWNER, stating that a 
claim is being made under this Bond and, with substantial accuracy, the amount 
of the claim. 
 
 4.2. Claimants who do not have a direct contract with the 
CONTRACTOR: 
 
   1. Have furnished written notice to the CONTRACTOR and 
sent a copy, or notice thereof, to the OWNER, within 90 days after having last 
performed labor or last furnished materials or equipment included in the claim 
stating, with substantial accuracy, the amount of the claim and the name of the 
party to whom the materials were furnished or supplied or for whom the labor 
was done or performed; and 
 
   2. Have either received a rejection in whole or in part from 
the CONTRACTOR, or not received within 30 days of furnishing the above 
notice any communication from the CONTRACTOR by which the 
CONTRACTOR had indicated the claim will be paid directly or indirectly; and 
 
   3. Not having been paid within the above 30 days, have sent 
a written notice to the Surety and sent a copy, or notice thereof, to the OWNER, 
stating that a claim is being made under this Bond and enclosing a copy of the 
previous written notice furnished to the CONTRACTOR. 
 
5.  If a notice required by paragraph 4 is given by the OWNER to the 
CONTRACTOR or to the Surety, that is sufficient compliance. 
 
6.  When the Claimant has satisfied the conditions of paragraph 4, the Surety 
shall promptly and at the Surety's expense take the following actions: 
 
 6.1. Send an answer to the Claimant, with a copy to the OWNER, within 
45 days after receipt of the claim, stating the amounts that are undisputed and the 
basis for challenging any amounts that are disputed. 
 
 6.2. Pay or arrange for payment of any undisputed amounts. 
 
7.  The Surety's total obligation shall not exceed the amount of this Bond, and the 
amount of this Bond shall be credited for any payments made in good faith by the 
Surety. 
 
8.  Amounts owed by the OWNER to the CONTRACTOR under the Contract 
shall be used for the performance of the Contract and to satisfy claims, if any, 
under any Performance Bond.  By the CONTRACTOR furnishing and the 
OWNER accepting this Bond, they agree that all funds earned by the 
CONTRACTOR in the performance of the Contract are dedicated to satisfy 

obligations of the CONTRACTOR and the Surety under this Bond, subject to the 
OWNER's priority to use the funds for the completion of the Work. 
 
9.  The Surety shall not be liable to the OWNER, Claimants or others for 
obligations of the CONTRACTOR that are unrelated to the Contract.  The 
OWNER shall not be liable for payment of any costs or expenses of any 
Claimant under this Bond, and shall have under this Bond no obligations to make 
payments to, give notices on behalf of, or otherwise have obligations to 
Claimants under this Bond. 
 
10.  The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, 
to the Contract or to related Subcontracts, purchase orders and other obligations. 
 
11.  No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant under this Bond other 
than in a court of competent jurisdiction in the location in which the Work or part 
of the Work is located or after the expiration of one year from the date (1) on 
which the Claimant gave the notice required by paragraph 4.1 or paragraph 4.2.3, 
or (2) on which the last labor or service was performed by anyone or the last 
materials or equipment were furnished by anyone under the Construction 
Contract, whichever of (1) or (2) first occurs.  If the provisions of this paragraph 
are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation available to 
sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable. 
 
12.  Notice to the Surety, the OWNER or the CONTRACTOR shall be mailed or 
delivered to the addresses shown on the signature page.  Actual receipt of notice 
by Surety, the OWNER or the CONTRACTOR, however accomplished, shall be 
sufficient compliance as of the date received at the address shown on the 
signature page. 
 
13.  When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal 
requirement in the location where the Contract was to be performed, any 
provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall 
be deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory or other 
legal requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein.  The intent is, that this 
Bond shall be construed as a statutory Bond and not as a common law bond.   
 
14.  Upon request of any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary 
of this Bond, the CONTRACTOR shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or 
shall permit a copy to be made. 
 
15.  DEFINITIONS 
 
 15.1. Claimant: An individual or entity having a direct contract with the 
CONTRACTOR or with a Subcontractor of the CONTRACTOR to furnish 
labor, materials or equipment for use in the performance of the Contract.  The 
intent of this Bond shall be to include without limitation in the terms "labor, 
materials or equipment" that part of water, gas, power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, 
telephone service or rental equipment used in the  Contract, architectural and 
engineering services required for performance of the Work of the 
CONTRACTOR and the CONTRACTOR's Subcontractors, and all other items 
for which a mechanic's lien may be asserted in the jurisdiction where the labor, 
materials or equipment were furnished. 
 
 15.2. Contract: The agreement between the OWNER and the 
CONTRACTOR identified on the signature page, including all Contract 
Documents and changes thereto.   
 15.3. OWNER Default: Failure of the OWNER, which has neither been 
remedied nor waived, to pay the CONTRACTOR as required by the Contract or 
to perform and complete or comply with the other terms thereof. 
 
 
OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE: 
 Mr. Richard Sullivan, PE 
 Sullivan Engineering, Inc. 
 P.O. Box 1708 
 Brentwood, TN 37024 



PENAL SUM FORM 
 

  
EJCDC NO. 1910-28-C (1996 Edition) 00410-1 

 BID BOND 
 
 
BIDDER (Name and Address): 
              
              
              
 
 
 
SURETY (Name and Address of Principal Place of Business): 
              
              
              
 
 
OWNER (Name and Address): 
 City of Brentwood 
 ATTN. Mr. Todd Hoppenstedt, Director of Public Works 
 P.O. Box 788 
 1750 General George Patton Drive 
 Brentwood, TN 37027 
 
BID 
  PROJECT (Brief Description Including Location):     

Contract: General Construction 

Project: Roadway Repairs and Improvements in the City of Brentwood for fiscal Year 2022 - 2023. 
 

OWNER's Contract No.____________   ENGINEER's Contract No. 22-002 

 
Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents.  The Work is 

generally described as follows: 

1. The contractor shall supply all labor, materials and equipment necessary for street repair projects 

within the City of Brentwood. 

2. This project is to be constructed under the Standard Specifications of the Tennessee Department of 

Transportation Dated: January 1, 2021 and additional specifications and special provisions contained 

in the construction documents.  

3. The cost of this project shall be based on a unit price bid. 



PENAL SUM FORM 
 

  
EJCDC NO. 1910-28-C (1996 Edition) 00410-2 

BOND 
 
  BOND NUMBER:         
  DATE (Not later than Bid due date):       
  PENAL SUM:               
     (Words)      (Figures) 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Surety and Bidder, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms printed on 
the reverse side hereof, do each cause this Bid Bond to be duly executed on its behalf by its authorized officer, 
agent, or representative. 
 
BIDDER      SURETY 
 
     (Seal)       (Seal) 
Bidder's Name and Corporate Seal    Surety's Name and Corporate Seal 
 
By:        By:       
  Signature and Title     Signature and Title 
         (Attach Power of Attorney) 
 
Attest:        Attest:       
  Signature and Title     Signature and Title 
 

  
 
Note: (1) Above addresses are to be used for giving required notice. 

(2) Any singular reference to Bidder, Surety, OWNER or other party shall be considered plural where 
applicable. 



PENAL SUM FORM 
 

  
EJCDC NO. 1910-28-C (1996 Edition) 00410-3 

1.  Bidder and Surety, jointly and severally, bind 
themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, 
successors and assigns to pay to OWNER upon default 
of Bidder the penal sum set forth on the face of this 
Bond. 
  
2.  Default of Bidder shall occur upon the failure of 
Bidder to deliver within the time required by the Bidding 
Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing 
by OWNER) the executed Agreement required by the 
Bidding Documents and any performance and payment 
Bonds required by the Bidding Documents. 
 
3.  This obligation shall be null and void if: 
 3.1. OWNER accepts Bidder's Bid and Bidder 
delivers within the time required by the Bidding 
Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing 
by OWNER) the executed Agreement required by the 
Bidding Documents and any performance and payment 
Bonds required by the Bidding Documents, or 
 3.2. All Bids are rejected by OWNER, or 
 3.3. OWNER fails to issue a Notice of Award to 
Bidder within the time specified in the Bidding 
Documents (or any extension thereof agreed to in writing 
by Bidder and, if applicable, consented to by Surety 
when required by paragraph 5 hereof). 
 
4.  Payment under this Bond will be due and payable 
upon default by Bidder and within 30 calendar days after 
receipt by Bidder and Surety of written notice of default 
from OWNER, which notice will be given with 
reasonable promptness, identifying this Bond and the 
Project and including a statement of the amount due. 
 
5.  Surety waives notice of and any and all defenses 
based on or arising out of any time extension to issue 
Notice of Award agreed to in writing by OWNER and 
Bidder, provided that the total time for issuing Notice of 
Award including extensions shall not in the aggregate 
exceed 120 days from Bid due date without Surety's 
written consent. 
 
6.  No suit or action shall be commenced under this Bond 
prior to 30 calendar days after the notice of default 
required in paragraph 4 above is received by Bidder and 
Surety and in no case later than one year after Bid due 
date. 
 
7.  Any suit or action under this Bond shall be 
commenced only in a court of competent jurisdiction 
located in the state in which the Project is located. 
 
8.  Notices required hereunder shall be in writing and 
sent to Bidder and Surety at their respective addresses 
shown on the face of this Bond.  Such notices may be 
sent by personal delivery, commercial courier or by 

United States Registered or Certified Mail, return receipt 
requested, postage pre-paid, and shall be deemed to be 
effective upon receipt by the party concerned. 
 
9.  Surety shall cause to be attached to this Bond a 
current and effective Power or Attorney evidencing the 
authority of the officer, agent or representative who 
executed this Bond on behalf of Surety to execute, seal 
and deliver such Bond and bind the Surety thereby. 
 
10.  This Bond is intended to conform to all applicable 
statutory requirements.  Any applicable requirement of 
any applicable statute that has been omitted from this 
Bond shall be deemed to be included herein as if set forth 
at length.  If any provision of this Bond conflicts with 
any applicable statute, then the provision of said statute 
shall govern and the remainder of this Bond that is not in 
conflict therewith shall continue in full force and effect. 
 
11.  The term "Bid" as used herein includes a Bid, offer 
or proposal as applicable. 
  



 

 

  
 
 

 STANDARD 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 OF THE 
 CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 
 
 Prepared by 
 
 ENGINEERS JOINT CONTRACT DOCUMENTS COMMITTEE 
 
 and 
 
 Issued and Published Jointly By 
 
 
 SULLIVAN ENGINEERING, INC. 
 
 PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS IN PRIVATE PRACTICE 
 
 a practice division of the 
 
 NATIONAL SOCIETY OF PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS 
 ___________________ 
 
 AMERICAN CONSULTING ENGINEERS COUNCIL 
 ___________________ 
 
 AMERICAN SOCIETY OF CIVIL ENGINEERS 
 

This document has been approved and endorsed by 
 

The Associated General Contractors of America 
 

Construction Specifications Institute 
 
 

Copyright ©1996 
 

National Society of Professional Engineers 
1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314 

 
American Consulting Engineers Council 

1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005 
 

American Society of Civil Engineers 
345 East 47th Street, New York, NY 10017 

 
 
 
 
EJCDC No. 1910-8 (1996 Edition) 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 2

 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 Page 
 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY ................................................................................................................5 
1.01 Defined Terms ...................................................................................................................................................5 
1.02 Terminology .......................................................................................................................................................7 

ARTICLE 2 - PRELIMINARY MATTERS ..................................................................................................................................8 
2.01 Delivery of Bonds ..............................................................................................................................................8 
2.02 Copies of Documents .........................................................................................................................................8 
2.03 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed ...................................................................................8 
2.04 Starting the Work ..............................................................................................................................................8 
2.05 Before Starting Construction ............................................................................................................................9 
2.06 Preconstruction Conference .............................................................................................................................9 
2.07 Initial Acceptance of Schedules ........................................................................................................................9 

ARTICLE 3 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: INTENT, AMENDING, REUSE .........................................................................10 
3.01 Intent ..................................................................................................................................................................10 
3.02 Reference Standards ..........................................................................................................................................10 
3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies ...........................................................................................................10 
3.04 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents ........................................................................................10 
3.05 Reuse of Documents ..........................................................................................................................................11 

ARTICLE 4 - AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; REFERENCE 

POINTS .....................................................................................................................................................................11 
4.01 Availability of Lands .........................................................................................................................................11 
4.02 Subsurface and Physical Conditions ................................................................................................................11 
4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions ...................................................................................................12 
4.04 Underground Facilities .....................................................................................................................................12 
4.05 Reference Points ................................................................................................................................................13 
4.06 Hazardous Environmental Condition at Site ....................................................................................................13 

ARTICLE 5 - BONDS AND INSURANCE ..................................................................................................................................15 
5.01 Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds ........................................................................................................15 
5.02 Licensed Sureties and Insurers .........................................................................................................................15 
5.03 Certificates of Insurance ...................................................................................................................................15 
5.04 CONTRACTOR’s Liability Insurance ..............................................................................................................15 
5.05 OWNER’s Liability Insurance ..........................................................................................................................16 
5.06 Property Insurance ............................................................................................................................................16 
5.07 Waiver of Rights ................................................................................................................................................17 
5.08 Receipt and Application of Insurance Proceeds...............................................................................................18 
5.09 Acceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to Replace .................................................................................18 
5.10 Partial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property Insurer ...............................................................................18 

ARTICLE 6 - CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES ..............................................................................................................18 
6.01 Supervision and Superintendence .....................................................................................................................18 
6.02 Labor; Working .................................................................................................................................................19 
6.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment .................................................................................................................19 
6.04 Progress Schedule .............................................................................................................................................19 
6.05 Substitutes and “Or-Equals” ............................................................................................................................19 
6.06 Concerning Sub-Contractors, Suppliers and Others .........................................................................................21 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 3

6.07 Patent Fees and Royalties .................................................................................................................................22 
6.08 Permits ...............................................................................................................................................................22 
6.09 Laws and Regulations .......................................................................................................................................22 
6.10 Taxes ..................................................................................................................................................................22 
6.11 Use of Site and Other Areas ..............................................................................................................................22 
6.12  Record ...............................................................................................................................................................23 
6.13 Safety and Protection ........................................................................................................................................23 
6.14 Safety Representative ........................................................................................................................................24 
6.15 Hazard Communication Programs ...................................................................................................................24 
6.16 Emergencies ......................................................................................................................................................24 
6.17 Shop Drawings and Samples ............................................................................................................................24 
6.18 Continuing the Work .........................................................................................................................................25 
6.19 CONTRACTOR’s General Warranty and Guarantee ......................................................................................25 
6.20 Indemnification ..................................................................................................................................................26 

ARTICLE 7 - OTHER WORK .......................................................................................................................................................26 
7.01 Related Work at Site ..........................................................................................................................................26 
7.02 Coordination .....................................................................................................................................................27 

ARTICLE 8 - OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES ...........................................................................................................................27 
8.01 Communications to Contractor ........................................................................................................................27 
8.02 Replacement of ENGINEER .............................................................................................................................27 
8.03 Furnish Data .....................................................................................................................................................27 
8.04 Pay Promptly When Due ...................................................................................................................................27 
8.05 Lands and Easements; Reports and Tests ........................................................................................................27 
8.06 Insurance ...........................................................................................................................................................27 
8.07 Change Orders ..................................................................................................................................................27 
8.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals .....................................................................................................................28 
8.09 Limitations on OWNER’s Responsibilities .......................................................................................................28 
8.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition ..........................................................................................28 
8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements ...............................................................................................................28 

ARTICLE 9 - ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION ........................................................................................28 
9.01 OWNER’S Representative .................................................................................................................................28 
9.02 Visits to Site .......................................................................................................................................................28 
9.03 Project Representative ......................................................................................................................................28 
9.04 Clarifications and Interpretations ....................................................................................................................28 
9.05 Authorized Variations in Work .........................................................................................................................29 
9.06 Rejecting Defective Work ..................................................................................................................................29 
9.07 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments ...............................................................................................29 
9.08 Determinations for Unit Price ..........................................................................................................................29 
9.09 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work ............................................29 
9.10 Limitations on ENGINEER’s Authority and Responsibilities ..........................................................................29 

ARTICLE 10 - CHANGES IN THE WORK; CLAIMS ...............................................................................................................30 
10.01 Authorized Changes in the Work ....................................................................................................................30 
10.02 Unauthorized Changes in the Work ................................................................................................................30 
10.03 Execution of Change Orders ...........................................................................................................................30 
10.04 Notification to Surety ......................................................................................................................................30 
10.05 Claims and Disputes .......................................................................................................................................30 

ARTICLE 11 - COST OF THE WORK; CASH ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK .........................................................31 
11.01 Cost of the Work ..............................................................................................................................................31 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 4

11.02 Cash Allowances .............................................................................................................................................33 
11.03 Unit Price Work ..............................................................................................................................................33 

ARTICLE 12 - CHANGE OF CONTRACT PRICE; CHANGE OF CONTRACT TIMES .......................................................34 
12.01 Change of Contract Price ...............................................................................................................................34 
12.02 Change of Contract Times ..............................................................................................................................35 
12.03 Delays Beyond CONTRACTOR’s Control .....................................................................................................35 
12.04 Delays Within CONTRACTOR’s Control ......................................................................................................35 
12.05 Delay's Beyond OWNER's and CONTRACTOR's Control ..........................................................................35 
12.06 Delay Damages ...............................................................................................................................................35 

ARTICLE 13 - TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF 

DEFECTIVE WORK ................................................................................................................................................35 
13.01 Notice of Defects .............................................................................................................................................35 
13.02 Access to Work ................................................................................................................................................35 
13.03 Tests and Inspections ......................................................................................................................................36 
13.04 Uncovering Work ............................................................................................................................................36 
13.05 OWNER May Stop the Work ...........................................................................................................................36 
13.06 Correction or Removal of Defective Work .....................................................................................................37 
13.07 Correction Period ...........................................................................................................................................37 
13.08 Acceptance of Defective Work ........................................................................................................................37 
13.09 OWNER May Correct Defective Work ...........................................................................................................37 

ARTICLE 14 - PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR AND COMPLETION ..................................................................................38 
14.01 Schedule of Values ..........................................................................................................................................38 
14.02 Progress Payments ..........................................................................................................................................38 
14.03 CONTRACTOR’s Warranty of Title ...............................................................................................................40 
14.04 Substantial Completion ...................................................................................................................................40 
14.05 Partial Utilization ............................................................................................................................................40 
14.06 Final Inspection ...............................................................................................................................................41 
14.07 Final  Payment ................................................................................................................................................41 
14.08 Final Completion Delayed ..............................................................................................................................42 
14.09 Waiver of Claims .............................................................................................................................................42 

ARTICLE 15 - SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION ............................................................................................42 
15.01 OWNER May Suspend Work.........................................................................................................................42 
15.02 OWNER May Terminate for Cause ................................................................................................................42 
15.03 OWNER May Terminate For Convenience ....................................................................................................43 
15.04 CONTRACTOR May Stop Work or Terminate ..............................................................................................43 

ARTICLE 16 - DISPUTE RESOLUTION .....................................................................................................................................43 
16.01 Methods and Procedures ................................................................................................................................43 

ARTICLE 17 - MISCELLANEOUS ..............................................................................................................................................44 
17.01 Giving Notice ...................................................................................................................................................44 
17.02 Computation of Times .....................................................................................................................................44 
17.03 Cumulative Remedies ......................................................................................................................................44 
17.04 Survival of Obligations ...................................................................................................................................44 
17.05 Controlling Law ..............................................................................................................................................44 

 
 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 5

 
 GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY 
                                                                                            _    
 
1.01 Defined Terms1.01  
 
 A. Wherever used in the Contract Documents and 
printed with initial or all capital letters, the terms listed 
below will have the meanings indicated which are 
applicable to both the singular and plural thereof. 
 
  1. Addenda--Written or graphic instruments 
issued prior to the opening of Bids which clarify, correct, or 
change the Bidding Requirements or the Contract 
Documents. 
 
  2. Agreement--The written instrument which is 
evidence of the agreement between OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR covering the Work.   
 
  3. Application for Payment--The form 
acceptable to ENGINEER which is to be used by CON-
TRACTOR during the course of the Work in requesting 
progress or final payments and which is to be accompanied 
by such supporting documentation as is required by the 
Contract Documents. 
 
  4. Asbestos--Any material that contains more 
than one percent asbestos and is friable or is releasing 
asbestos fibers into the air above current action levels 
established by the United States Occupational Safety and 
Health Administration. 
 
  5. Bid--The offer or proposal of a bidder submit-
ted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices for the 
Work to be performed. 
 
  6. Bidding Documents--The Bidding 
Requirements and the proposed Contract Documents (in-
cluding all Addenda issued prior to receipt of Bids). 
 
  7. Bidding Requirements--The Advertisement or 
Invitation to Bid, Instructions to Bidders, Bid security form, 
if any, and the Bid form with any supplements. 
 
  8. Bonds--Performance and payment bonds and 
other instruments of security. 
 
  9. Change Order--A document recommended 
by ENGINEER which is signed by CONTRACTOR and 
OWNER and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in 
the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or the 

Contract Times, issued on or after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement. 
 
  10. Claim--A demand or assertion by OWNER or 
CONTRACTOR seeking an adjustment of Contract Price 
or Contract Times, or both, or other relief with respect to 
the terms of the Contract.  A demand for money or services 
by a third party is not a Claim. 
 
  11. Contract--The entire and integrated written 
agreement between the OWNER and CONTRACTOR 
concerning the Work.  The Contract supersedes prior 
negotiations, representations, or agreements, whether 
written or oral. 
 
  12. Contract Documents--The Contract Docu-
ments establish the rights and obligations of the parties and 
include the Agreement, Addenda (which pertain to the 
Contract Documents), CONTRACTOR’s Bid (including 
documentation accompanying the Bid and any post Bid 
documentation submitted prior to the Notice of Award) 
when attached as an exhibit to the Agreement, the Notice to 
Proceed, the Bonds, these General Conditions, the 
Supplementary Conditions, the Specifications and the 
Drawings as the same are more specifically identified in the 
Agreement, together with all Written Amendments, Change 
Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, and 
ENGINEER’s written interpretations and clarifications 
issued  on or after the Effective Date of the Agreement.  
Approved Shop Drawings and the reports and drawings of 
subsurface and physical conditions are not Contract 
Documents.  Only printed or hard copies of the items listed 
in this paragraph are Contract Documents.  Files in 
electronic media format of text, data, graphics, and the like 
that may be furnished by OWNER to CONTRACTOR are 
not Contract Documents. 
 
  13. Contract Price--The moneys payable by 
OWNER to CONTRACTOR for completion of the Work 
in accordance with the Contract Documents as stated in the 
Agreement (subject to the provisions of paragraph 11.03 in 
the case of Unit Price Work). 
 
  14. Contract Times--The number of days or the 
dates stated in the Agreement to: (i) achieve Substantial 
Completion; and (ii) complete the Work so that it is ready 
for final payment as evidenced by ENGINEER’s written 
recommendation of final payment.  
 
  15. CONTRACTOR--The individual or entity 
with whom OWNER has entered into the Agreement. 
 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 6

  16. Cost of the Work--See paragraph 11.01.A for 
definition. 
  
  17. Drawings--That part of the Contract 
Documents prepared or approved by ENGINEER which 
graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the 
Work to be performed by CONTRACTOR.   Shop 
Drawings and other CONTRACTOR submittals are not 
Drawings as so defined. 
 
  18. Effective Date of the Agreement--The date 
indicated in the Agreement on which it becomes effective, 
but if no such date is indicated, it means the date on which 
the Agreement is signed and delivered by the last of the two 
parties to sign and deliver. 
 
  19. ENGINEER--The individual or entity named 
as such in the Agreement. 
 
  20. ENGINEER's Consultant--An individual or 
entity having a contract with ENGINEER to furnish 
services as ENGINEER’s independent professional 
associate or consultant with respect to the Project and who 
is identified as such in the Supplementary Conditions. 
 
  21. Field Order--A written order issued by 
ENGINEER which requires minor changes in the Work but 
which does not involve a change in the Contract Price or 
the Contract Times. 
 
  22. General Requirements--Sections of Division 
1 of the Specifications.  The General Requirements pertain 
to all sections of the Specifications. 
 
  23. Hazardous Environmental Condition--The 
presence at the Site of Asbestos, PCBs, Petroleum, 
Hazardous Waste, or Radioactive Material in such 
quantities or circumstances that may present a substantial 
danger to persons or property exposed thereto in connection 
with the Work. 
 
  24. Hazardous Waste--The term Hazardous 
Waste shall have the meaning provided in Section 1004 of 
the Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 USC Section 6903) as 
amended from time to time. 
 
  25. Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations--
Any and all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, 
codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, 
agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction. 
 
  26. Liens--Charges, security interests, or 
encumbrances upon Project funds, real property, or 
personal property. 
 

  27. Milestone--A principal event specified in the 
Contract Documents relating to an intermediate completion 
date or time prior to Substantial Completion of all the 
Work. 
 
  28. Notice of Award--The written notice by 
OWNER to the apparent successful bidder stating that upon 
timely compliance by the apparent successful bidder with 
the conditions precedent listed therein, OWNER will sign 
and deliver the Agreement. 
 
  29. Notice to Proceed--A written notice given by 
OWNER to CONTRACTOR fixing the date on which the 
Contract Times will commence to run and on which 
CONTRACTOR shall start to perform the Work under the 
Contract Documents. 
 
  30. OWNER--The individual, entity, public body, 
or authority with whom CONTRACTOR has entered into 
the Agreement and for whom the Work is to be performed. 
 
  31. Partial Utilization--Use by OWNER of a 
substantially completed part of the Work for the purpose 
for which it is intended (or a related purpose) prior to 
Substantial Completion of all the Work. 
 
  32. PCBs--Polychlorinated biphenyls. 
 
  33. Petroleum--Petroleum, including crude oil or 
any fraction thereof which is liquid at standard conditions 
of temperature and pressure (60 degrees Fahrenheit and 
14.7 pounds per square inch absolute), such as oil, 
petroleum, fuel oil, oil sludge, oil refuse, gasoline, 
kerosene, and oil mixed with other non-Hazardous Waste 
and crude oils. 
 
  34. Project--The total construction of which the 
Work to be performed under the Contract Documents may 
be the whole, or a part as may be indicated elsewhere in the 
Contract Documents. 
 
  35. Project Manual--The bound documentary 
information prepared for bidding and constructing the 
Work.  A listing of the contents of the Project Manual, 
which may be bound in one or more volumes, is contained 
in the table(s) of contents. 
 
  36. Radioactive Material--Source, special nucle-
ar, or byproduct material as defined by the Atomic Energy 
Act of 1954 (42 USC Section 2011 et seq.) as amended 
from time to time. 
 
  37. Resident Project Representative--The autho-
rized representative of ENGINEER who may be assigned 
to the Site or any part thereof. 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 7

 
  38. Samples--Physical examples of materials, 
equipment, or workmanship that are representative of some 
portion of the Work and which establish the standards by 
which such portion of the Work will be judged. 
 
  39. Shop Drawings--All drawings, diagrams, 
illustrations, schedules, and other data or information which 
are specifically prepared or assembled by or for CON-
TRACTOR and submitted by CONTRACTOR to illustrate 
some portion of the Work. 
 
  40. Site--Lands or areas indicated in the Contract 
Documents as being furnished by OWNER upon which the 
Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and 
easements for access thereto, and such other lands 
furnished by OWNER which are designated for the use of 
CONTRACTOR. 
 
  41. Specifications--That part of the Contract 
Documents consisting of written technical descriptions of 
materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship 
as applied to the Work and certain administrative details 
applicable thereto. 
 
  42. Subcontractor--An individual or entity 
having a direct contract with CONTRACTOR or with any 
other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the 
Work at the Site. 
 
  43. Substantial Completion--The time at which 
the Work (or a specified part thereof) has progressed to the 
point where, in the opinion of ENGINEER, the Work (or a 
specified part thereof) is sufficiently complete, in 
accordance with the Contract Documents, so that the Work 
(or a specified part thereof) can be utilized for the purposes 
for which it is intended.  The terms “substantially 
complete” and “substantially completed” as applied to all or 
part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof. 
 
  44. Supplementary Conditions--That part of the 
Contract Documents which amends or supplements these 
General Conditions. 
 
  45. Supplier--A manufacturer, fabricator, suppli-
er, distributor, materialman, or vendor having a direct 
contract with CONTRACTOR or with any Subcontractor 
to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in the 
Work by CONTRACTOR or any Subcontractor. 
 
  46. Underground Facilities--All underground 
pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, 
tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and 
any encasements containing such facilities, including those 
that convey electricity, gases, steam, liquid petroleum 

products, telephone or other communications, cable 
television, water, wastewater, storm water, other liquids or 
chemicals, or traffic or other control systems.  
 
  47. Unit Price Work--Work to be paid for on the 
basis of unit prices. 
 
  48. Work--The entire completed construction or 
the various separately identifiable parts thereof required to 
be provided under the Contract Documents.  Work includes 
and is the result of performing or providing all labor, 
services, and documentation necessary to produce such 
construction, and furnishing, installing, and incorporating 
all materials and equipment into such construction, all as 
required by the Contract Documents. 
 
  49. Work Change Directive--A written statement 
to CONTRACTOR issued on or after the Effective Date of 
the Agreement and signed by OWNER and recommended 
by ENGINEER ordering an addition, deletion, or revision 
in the Work, or responding to differing or unforeseen 
subsurface or physical conditions under which the Work is 
to be performed or to emergencies.  A Work Change 
Directive will not change the Contract Price or the Contract 
Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the change 
ordered or documented by a Work Change Directive will 
be incorporated in a subsequently issued Change Order 
following negotiations by the parties as to its effect, if any, 
on the Contract Price or Contract Times.  
 
  50. Written Amendment--A written statement 
modifying the Contract Documents, signed by OWNER 
and CONTRACTOR on or after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement and normally dealing with the nonengineering 
or nontechnical rather than strictly construction-related 
aspects of the Contract Documents. 
 
1.02 Terminology  
 
 A. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives 
 

1. Whenever in the Contract Documents the 
terms “as allowed,” “as approved,” or terms of like 
effect or import are used, or the adjectives “reasonable,” 
“suitable,” “acceptable,” “proper,” “satisfactory,” or 
adjectives of like effect or import are used to describe 
an action or determination of ENGINEER as to the 
Work, it is intended that such action or determination 
will be solely to evaluate, in general, the completed 
Work for compliance with the requirements of and 
information in the Contract Documents and confor-
mance with the design concept of the completed Project 
as a functioning whole as shown or indicated in the 
Contract Documents (unless there is a specific 
statement indicating otherwise).  The use of any such 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 8

term or adjective shall not be effective to assign to 
ENGINEER any duty or authority to supervise or direct 
the  performance of the Work or any duty or authority 
to undertake responsibility contrary to the provisions of 
paragraph 9.10 or any other provision of the Contract 
Documents. 

 
 B. Day 
 

1. The word “day” shall constitute a 
calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to 
the next midnight. 

 
 C. Defective 
 

1. The word “defective,” when modifying 
the word “Work,” refers to Work that is 
unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it does not 
conform to the Contract Documents or does not 
meet the requirements of any inspection, reference 
standard, test, or approval referred to in the Contract 
Documents, or has been damaged prior to 
ENGINEER’s recommendation of final payment 
(unless responsibility for the protection thereof has 
been assumed by OWNER at Substantial 
Completion in accordance with paragraph 14.04 or 
14.05). 

 
 D. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide 
 

1. The word “furnish,” when used in 
connection with services, materials, or equipment, 
shall mean to supply and deliver said services, 
materials, or equipment to the Site (or some other 
specified location) ready for use or installation and 
in usable or operable condition. 

 
2. The word “install,” when used in 

connection with services, materials, or equipment, 
shall mean to put into use or place in final position 
said services, materials, or equipment complete and 
ready for intended use. 

 
3. The words “perform” or “provide,” when 

used in connection with services, materials, or 
equipment, shall mean to furnish and install said 
services, materials, or equipment complete and 
ready for intended use. 

 
4. When “furnish,” “install,” “perform,” or 

“provide” is not used in connection with services, 
materials, or equipment in a context clearly requiring an 
obligation of CONTRACTOR, “provide” is implied. 

 

 E. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Docu-
ments, words or phrases which have a well-known 
technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used 
in the Contract Documents in accordance with such 
recognized meaning. 
 
 
ARTICLE 2 - PRELIMINARY MATTERS 
_______________________________________________ 
 
2.01 Delivery of Bonds  
 
 A. When CONTRACTOR delivers the executed 
Agreements to OWNER, CONTRACTOR shall also 
deliver to OWNER such Bonds as CONTRACTOR may be 
required to furnish. 
 
2.02 Copies of Documents 
 
 A. OWNER shall furnish to CONTRACTOR up to 
ten copies of the Contract Documents.  Additional copies 
will be furnished upon request at the cost of reproduction. 
 
2.03 Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to 
Proceed 
 
 A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the 
thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the Agreement or, if 
a Notice to Proceed is given, on the day indicated in the 
Notice to Proceed.  A Notice to Proceed may be given at 
any time within 30 days after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement.  In no event will the Contract Times commence 
to run later than the sixtieth day after the day of Bid 
opening or the thirtieth day after the Effective Date of the 
Agreement, whichever date is earlier. 
 
2.04 Starting the Work 
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall start to perform the Work 
on the date when the Contract Times commence to run.  No 
Work shall be done at the Site prior to the date on which 
the Contract Times commence to run. 
 
2.05 Before Starting Construction 
 
 A. CONTRACTOR’s Review of Contract Documents: 
 Before undertaking each part of the Work, 
CONTRACTOR shall carefully study and compare the 
Contract Documents and check and verify pertinent figures 
therein and all applicable field measurements.  
CONTRACTOR shall promptly report in writing to 
ENGINEER any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy 
which CONTRACTOR may discover and shall obtain a 
written interpretation or clarification from ENGINEER 
before proceeding with any Work affected thereby; 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 9

however, CONTRACTOR shall not be liable to OWNER 
or ENGINEER for failure to report any conflict, error, 
ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents 
unless CONTRACTOR knew or reasonably should have 
known thereof. 
 
 B. Preliminary Schedules:  Within ten days after the 
Effective Date of the Agreement (unless otherwise speci-
fied in the General Requirements), CONTRACTOR shall 
submit to ENGINEER for its timely review: 
 

1. a preliminary progress schedule indicat-
ing the times (numbers of days or dates) for starting 
and completing the various stages of the Work, 
including any Milestones specified in the Contract 
Documents; 

 
2. a preliminary schedule of Shop Drawing 

and Sample submittals which will list each required 
submittal and the times for submitting, reviewing, 
and processing such submittal; and 

 
3. a preliminary schedule of values for all 

of the Work which includes quantities and prices of 
items which when added together equal the Contract 
Price and subdivides the Work into component parts 
in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress 
payments during performance of the Work.  Such 
prices will include an appropriate amount of 
overhead and profit applicable to each item of 
Work. 

 
 C. Evidence of Insurance:  Before any Work at the 
Site is started, CONTRACTOR and OWNER shall each 
deliver to the other, with copies to each additional insured 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of 
insurance (and other evidence of insurance which either of 
them or any additional insured may reasonably request) 
which CONTRACTOR and OWNER respectively are 
required to purchase and maintain in accordance with 
Article 5. 
 
2.06 Preconstruction  
 
 A. Within 20 days after the Contract Times start to 
run, but before any Work at the Site is started, a conference 
attended by CONTRACTOR, ENGINEER, and others as 
appropriate will be held to establish a working 
understanding among the parties as to the Work and to 
discuss the schedules referred to in paragraph 2.05.B, 
procedures for handling Shop Drawings and other 
submittals, processing Applications for Payment, and 
maintaining required records. 
 

2.07 Initial Acceptance of  
 
 A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Docu-
ments, at least ten days before submission of the first 
Application for Payment a conference attended by CON-
TRACTOR, ENGINEER, and others as appropriate will be 
held to review for acceptability to ENGINEER as provided 
below the schedules submitted in accordance with 
paragraph 2.05.B.  CONTRACTOR shall have an 
additional ten days to make corrections and adjustments 
and to complete and resubmit the schedules.  No progress 
payment shall be made to CONTRACTOR until acceptable 
schedules are submitted to  ENGINEER. 
 

1. The progress schedule will be acceptable 
to ENGINEER if it provides an orderly progression 
of the Work to completion within any specified 
Milestones and the Contract Times.  Such accep-
tance will not impose on ENGINEER responsibility 
for the progress schedule, for sequencing, schedul-
ing, or progress of the Work nor interfere with or 
relieve CONTRACTOR from CONTRACTOR’s 
full responsibility therefor. 

 
2. CONTRACTOR’s schedule of Shop 

Drawing and Sample submittals will be acceptable 
to ENGINEER if it provides a workable 
arrangement for reviewing and processing the 
required submittals. 

 
3. CONTRACTOR’s schedule of values 

will be acceptable to ENGINEER as to form and 
substance if it provides a reasonable allocation of 
the Contract Price to component parts of the Work. 

 
 
ARTICLE 3 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: INTENT, 
AMENDING, REUSE 
                                                                                                 
 
3.01 Intent 
  
 A.   The Contract Documents are complementary; 
what is called for by one is as binding as if called for by all. 
  
 
 B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to 
describe a functionally complete Project (or part thereof) to 
be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 Any labor, documentation, services, materials, or equip-
ment that may reasonably be inferred from the Contract 
Documents or from prevailing custom or trade usage as 
being required to produce the intended result will be 
provided whether or not specifically called for at no 
additional cost to OWNER. 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 10

 
 C. Clarifications and interpretations of the Contract 
Documents shall be issued by ENGINEER as provided in 
Article 9. 
 
3.02 Reference Standards  
 
 A. Standards, Specifications, Codes, Laws, and 
Regulations 
 

1. Reference to standards, specifications, 
manuals, or codes of any technical society, 
organization, or association, or to Laws or 
Regulations, whether such reference be specific or 
by implication, shall mean the  standard, 
specification, manual, code, or Laws or Regulations 
in effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the 
Effective Date of the Agreement if there were no 
Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated 
in the Contract Documents. 

 
2. No provision of any such standard, 

specification, manual or code, or any instruction of 
a Supplier shall be effective to change the duties or 
responsibilities of OWNER, CONTRACTOR, or 
ENGINEER, or any of their subcontractors, consul-
tants, agents, or employees from those set forth in 
the Contract Documents, nor shall any such 
provision or instruction be effective to assign to 
OWNER, ENGINEER, or any of ENGINEER’s 
Consultants, agents, or employees any duty or 
authority to supervise or direct the performance of 
the Work or any duty or authority to undertake 
responsibility inconsistent with the provisions of the 
Contract Documents. 

 
3.03 Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies  
 
 A. Reporting Discrepancies 
 

1. If, during the performance of the Work, 
CONTRACTOR discovers any conflict, error, 
ambiguity, or discrepancy within the Contract 
Documents or between the Contract Documents and 
any provision of any Law or Regulation applicable 
to the performance of the Work or of any  standard, 
specification, manual or code, or of any instruction 
of any Supplier, CONTRACTOR shall report it to 
ENGINEER in writing at once.  CONTRACTOR 
shall not proceed with the Work affected thereby 
(except in an emergency as required by paragraph 
6.16.A) until an amendment or supplement to the 
Contract Documents has been issued by one of the 
methods indicated in paragraph 3.04; provided, 
however, that CONTRACTOR shall not be liable to 

OWNER or ENGINEER for failure to report any 
such conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy 
unless CONTRACTOR knew or reasonably should 
have known thereof. 

 
 B. Resolving Discrepancies 
 

1. Except as may be otherwise specifically 
stated in the Contract Documents, the provisions of 
the Contract Documents shall take precedence in 
resolving any conflict, error, ambiguity, or 
discrepancy between the provisions of the Contract 
Documents and: 

 
a. the provisions of any standard, 

specification, manual, code, or instruction 
(whether or not specifically incorporated by 
reference in the Contract Documents); or 

 
b. the provisions of any  Laws or 

Regulations applicable to the performance of the 
Work (unless such an interpretation of the provi-
sions of the Contract Documents would result in 
violation of such Law or Regulation). 

 
3.04 Amending and Supplementing Contract  
 
 A. The Contract Documents may be amended to 
provide for additions, deletions, and revisions in the Work 
or to modify the terms and conditions thereof in one or 
more of the following ways: (i) a Written Amendment; (ii) 
a Change Order; or (iii) a Work Change Directive. 
 
 B. The requirements of the Contract Documents may 
be supplemented, and minor variations and deviations in 
the Work may be authorized, by one or more of the 
following ways: (i) a Field Order; (ii) ENGINEER’s 
approval of a Shop Drawing or Sample; or (iii) 
ENGINEER’s written interpretation or clarification.  
 
3.05 Reuse of Documents  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR and any Subcontractor or 
Supplier or other individual or entity performing or 
furnishing any of the Work under a direct or indirect 
contract with OWNER: (i) shall not have or acquire any 
title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, 
Specifications, or other documents (or copies of any 
thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of ENGINEER or 
ENGINEER’s Consultant, including electronic media 
editions; and (ii) shall not reuse any of such Drawings, 
Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on 
extensions of the Project or any other project without 
written consent of OWNER and ENGINEER and specific 
written verification or adaption by ENGINEER.  This 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 11

prohibition will survive final payment, completion, and 
acceptance of the Work, or termination or completion of 
the Contract.  Nothing herein shall preclude 
CONTRACTOR from retaining copies of the Contract 
Documents for record purposes. 
 
 
ARTICLE 4 - AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; 
SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; 
REFERENCE POINTS 
                                                                                                  
 
4.01 Availability of Lands  
 
 A. OWNER shall furnish the Site.  OWNER shall 
notify CONTRACTOR of any encumbrances or restrictions 
not of general application but specifically related to use of 
the Site with which CONTRACTOR must comply in 
performing the Work.  OWNER will obtain in a timely 
manner and pay for easements for permanent structures or 
permanent changes in existing facilities.  If CON-
TRACTOR and OWNER are unable to agree on entitle-
ment to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjust-
ment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a 
result of any delay in OWNER’s furnishing the Site, 
CONTRACTOR may make a Claim therefor as provided in 
paragraph 10.05. 
 
 B. Upon reasonable written request, OWNER shall 
furnish CONTRACTOR with a current statement of record 
legal title and legal description of the lands upon which the 
Work is to be performed and OWNER’s interest therein as 
necessary for giving notice of or filing a mechanic's or 
construction lien against such lands in accordance with 
applicable Laws and Regulations. 
 
 C. CONTRACTOR shall provide for all additional 
lands and access thereto that may be required for temporary 
construction facilities or storage of materials and equip-
ment. 
 
4.02 Subsurface and Physical Conditions  
 
 A. Reports and Drawings:  The Supplementary 
Conditions identify: 
 

1. those reports of explorations and tests of 
subsurface conditions at or contiguous to the Site 
that  ENGINEER has used in preparing the Contract 
Documents; and 

 
2.   those drawings of physical conditions in 

or relating to existing surface or subsurface struc-
tures at or contiguous to the Site (except 

Underground Facilities) that ENGINEER has used 
in preparing the Contract Documents. 

 
 B. Limited Reliance by CONTRACTOR on Technical 
Data Authorized:   CONTRACTOR may rely upon the 
general accuracy of the “technical data” contained in such 
reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not 
Contract Documents.  Such “technical data” is identified in 
the Supplementary Conditions.  Except for such reliance on 
such “technical data,” CONTRACTOR may not rely upon 
or make any Claim against OWNER, ENGINEER, or any 
of ENGINEER’s Consultants with respect to: 
 

1. the completeness of such reports and 
drawings for CONTRACTOR’s purposes, includ-
ing, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 
construction to be employed by CONTRACTOR, 
and safety precautions and programs incident 
thereto; or 

 
2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and 

information contained in such reports or shown or 
indicated in such drawings; or 

 
3. any CONTRACTOR interpretation of or 

conclusion drawn from any "technical data" or any 
such other data, interpretations, opinions, or infor-
mation. 

 
4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions 
 
 A. Notice:  If CONTRACTOR believes that any 
subsurface or physical condition at or contiguous to the Site 
that is uncovered or revealed either: 
 

1. is of such a nature as to establish that any 
“technical data” on which CONTRACTOR is 
entitled to rely as provided in paragraph 4.02 is 
materially inaccurate; or 

 
2. is of such a nature as to require a change 

in the Contract Documents; or 
 
3. differs materially from that shown or 

indicated in the Contract Documents; or 
 

 4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially 
from conditions ordinarily encountered and generally 
recognized as inherent in work of the character provid-
ed for in the Contract Documents;  

 
then CONTRACTOR shall, promptly after becoming aware 
thereof and before further disturbing the subsurface or 
physical conditions or performing any Work in connection 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 12

therewith (except in an emergency as required by paragraph 
6.16.A), notify OWNER and ENGINEER in writing about 
such condition.  CONTRACTOR shall not further disturb 
such condition or perform any Work in connection 
therewith (except as aforesaid) until receipt of written order 
to do so. 
 
 B. ENGINEER’s Review:  After receipt of written 
notice as required by paragraph 4.03.A, ENGINEER will 
promptly review the pertinent condition, determine the 
necessity of OWNER's obtaining additional exploration or 
tests with respect thereto, and advise OWNER in writing 
(with a copy to CONTRACTOR) of ENGINEER’s 
findings and conclusions. 
 
 C. Possible Price and Times Adjustments  
 

1.  The Contract Price or the Contract 
Times, or both, will be equitably adjusted to the 
extent that the existence of such differing subsurface 
or physical condition causes an increase or decrease 
in CONTRACTOR’s cost of, or time required for, 
performance of the Work; subject, however, to the 
following: 

 
a. such condition must meet any one or 

more of the categories described in paragraph 
4.03.A; and 

 
b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a 

Unit Price Basis, any adjustment in Contract 
Price will be subject to the provisions of para-
graphs 9.08 and 11.03.  

 
2. CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to 

any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract 
Times if: 

 
a. CONTRACTOR knew of the existence 

of such conditions at the time CONTRACTOR 
made a final commitment to OWNER in respect 
of Contract Price and Contract Times by the 
submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a 
negotiated contract; or 

 
b. the existence of such condition could 

reasonably have been discovered or revealed as 
a result of any examination, investigation, explo-
ration, test, or study of the Site and contiguous 
areas required by the Bidding Requirements or 
Contract Documents to be conducted by or for 
CONTRACTOR prior to CONTRACTOR's 
making such final commitment; or 

 

c. CONTRACTOR failed to give the 
written notice within the time and as required by 
paragraph 4.03.A. 

 
3. If OWNER and CONTRACTOR are 

unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount 
or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract 
Price or Contract Times, or both, a Claim may be 
made therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.  
However, OWNER, ENGINEER, and 
ENGINEER’s Consultants shall not be liable to 
CONTRACTOR for any claims, costs, losses, or 
damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) sustained by 
CONTRACTOR on or in connection with any other 
project or anticipated project. 

 
4.04 Underground Facilities  
 
 A. Shown or Indicated: The information and data 
shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect 
to existing Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the 
Site is based on information and data furnished to OWNER 
or ENGINEER by the owners of such Underground Facili-
ties, including OWNER, or by others.  Unless it is 
otherwise expressly provided in the Supplementary Condi-
tions: 
 

1. OWNER and ENGINEER shall not be 
responsible for the accuracy or completeness of any 
such information or data; and 

 
2. the cost of all of the following will be 

included in the Contract Price, and CONTRACTOR 
shall have full responsibility for:  

 
a. reviewing and checking all such 

information and data,  
 
b. locating all Underground Facilities 

shown or indicated in the Contract Documents,  
 
c. coordination of the Work with the 

owners of such Underground Facilities, 
including OWNER, during construction, and  

 
d. the safety and protection of all such 

Underground Facilities  and repairing any 
damage thereto resulting from the Work. 

 
 B. Not Shown or Indicated  
 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 13

1. If an Underground Facility is uncovered 
or revealed at or contiguous to the Site which was 
not shown or indicated, or not shown or indicated 
with reasonable accuracy in the Contract 
Documents, CONTRACTOR shall, promptly after 
becoming aware thereof and before further 
disturbing conditions affected thereby or performing 
any Work in connection therewith (except in an 
emergency as required by paragraph 6.16.A), 
identify the owner of such Underground Facility 
and give written notice to that owner and to 
OWNER and ENGINEER.  ENGINEER will 
promptly review the Underground Facility and 
determine the extent, if any, to which a change is 
required in the Contract Documents to reflect and 
document the consequences of the existence or 
location of the Underground Facility.  During such 
time, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for the 
safety and protection of such Underground Facility. 
  

 
2. If ENGINEER concludes that a change 

in the Contract Documents is required, a Work 
Change Directive or a Change Order will be issued 
to reflect and document such consequences.  An 
equitable adjustment shall be made in the Contract 
Price or Contract Times, or both, to the extent that 
they are attributable to the existence or location of 
any Underground Facility that was not shown or 
indicated or not shown or indicated with reasonable 
accuracy in the Contract Documents and that 
CONTRACTOR did not know of and could not 
reasonably have been expected to be aware of or to 
have anticipated.  If OWNER and CONTRACTOR 
are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the 
amount or extent, if any, of any such adjustment in 
Contract Price or Contract Times, OWNER or 
CONTRACTOR may make a Claim therefor as 
provided in paragraph 10.05.   

 
4.05 Reference Points  
 
 A. OWNER shall provide engineering surveys to 
establish reference points for construction which in 
ENGINEER’s judgment are necessary to enable CON-
TRACTOR to proceed with the Work.  CONTRACTOR 
shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect 
and preserve the established reference points and property 
monuments, and shall make no changes or relocations 
without the prior written approval of OWNER.  
CONTRACTOR shall report to ENGINEER whenever any 
reference point or property monument is lost or destroyed 
or requires relocation because of necessary changes in 
grades or locations, and shall be responsible for the 
accurate replacement or relocation of such reference points 

or property monuments by professionally qualified 
personnel. 
 
4.06 Hazardous Environmental Condition at Site  
 
 A. Reports and Drawings:  Reference is made to the 
Supplementary Conditions for the identification of those 
reports and drawings relating to a Hazardous 
Environmental Condition identified at the Site, if any, that 
have been utilized by the ENGINEER in the preparation of 
the Contract Documents. 
 
 B. Limited Reliance by CONTRACTOR on Technical 
Data Authorized:  CONTRACTOR may rely upon the 
general accuracy of the “technical data” contained in such 
reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not 
Contract Documents.   Such “technical data” is identified in 
the Supplementary Conditions.  Except for such reliance on 
such “technical data,” CONTRACTOR may not rely upon 
or make any Claim against OWNER, ENGINEER or any 
of ENGINEER’s Consultants with respect to: 
 

1. the completeness of such reports and 
drawings for CONTRACTOR’s purposes, 
including, but not limited to, any aspects of the 
means, methods, techniques, sequences and 
procedures of construction to be employed by 
CONTRACTOR and safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto; or 

 
2. other data, interpretations, opinions and 

information contained in such reports or shown or 
indicated in such drawings; or 

 
3. any CONTRACTOR interpretation of or 

conclusion drawn from any “technical data” or any 
such other data, interpretations, opinions or 
information. 

 
 C. CONTRACTOR shall not be responsible for any 
Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed 
at the Site which was not shown or indicated in Drawings 
or Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to 
be within the scope of the Work.  CONTRACTOR shall be 
responsible for a Hazardous Environmental Condition 
created with any materials brought to the Site by CON-
TRACTOR, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or anyone else for 
whom CONTRACTOR is responsible. 
 
 D. If CONTRACTOR encounters a Hazardous 
Environmental Condition or if CONTRACTOR or anyone 
for whom CONTRACTOR is responsible creates a 
Hazardous Environmental Condition, CONTRACTOR 
shall immediately: (i) secure or otherwise isolate such 
condition; (ii) stop all Work in connection with such  



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 14

condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an 
emergency as required by paragraph 6.16); and (iii) notify 
OWNER and ENGINEER (and promptly thereafter 
confirm such notice in writing).  OWNER shall promptly 
consult with ENGINEER concerning the necessity for 
OWNER to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such  
condition or take corrective action, if any.   
 
 E. CONTRACTOR shall not be required to resume 
Work in connection with such  condition or in any  affected 
area until after OWNER has obtained any required permits 
related thereto and delivered to CONTRACTOR written 
notice: (i) specifying that such condition and any affected 
area is or has been rendered safe for the resumption of 
Work; or (ii) specifying any special conditions under which 
such Work may be resumed safely.  If OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the 
amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract 
Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of such Work 
stoppage or such special conditions under which Work is 
agreed to be resumed by CONTRACTOR, either party may 
make a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05. 
 
 F. If after receipt of such written notice 
CONTRACTOR does not agree to resume such Work 
based on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree 
to resume such Work under such special conditions, then 
OWNER may order the portion of the Work that is in the 
area affected by such condition to be deleted from the 
Work.  If OWNER and CONTRACTOR cannot agree as to 
entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of an 
adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times as a result 
of deleting such portion of the Work, then either party may 
make a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05.  
OWNER may have such deleted portion of the Work 
performed by OWNER’s own forces or others in accor-
dance with Article 7. 
 
 G. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 
Regulations, OWNER shall indemnify and hold harmless 
CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, ENGINEER, 
ENGINEER’s Consultants and the officers, directors, 
partners, employees, agents, other consultants, and 
subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all 
claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition, 
provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition:  
(i) was not shown or indicated in the Drawings or 
Specifications or identified in the Contract Documents to be 
included within the scope of the Work, and (ii) was not 
created by CONTRACTOR or by anyone for whom 
CONTRACTOR is responsible.  Nothing in this paragraph 

4.06.E shall obligate OWNER to indemnify any individual 
or entity from and against the consequences of that 
individual’s or entity’s own negligence. 
 
 H. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 
Regulations, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold 
harmless OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s Consul-
tants, and the officers, directors, partners, employees, 
agents, other consultants, and subcontractors of each and 
any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and 
damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges 
of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) 
arising out of or relating to a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition created by CONTRACTOR or by anyone for 
whom CONTRACTOR is responsible.  Nothing in this 
paragraph 4.06.F shall obligate CONTRACTOR to 
indemnify any individual or entity from and against the 
consequences of that individual’s or entity’s own negli-
gence. 
 
 I. The provisions of paragraphs 4.02, 4.03, and 4.04 
are not intended to apply to a Hazardous Environmental 
Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site. 
 
 
ARTICLE 5 - BONDS AND INSURANCE 
                                                                                                  
 
5.01 Performance, Payment, and Other  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall furnish performance and 
payment Bonds, each in an amount at least equal to the 
Contract Price as security for the faithful performance and 
payment of all CONTRACTOR’s obligations under the 
Contract Documents.  These Bonds shall remain in effect at 
least until one year after the date when final payment 
becomes due, except as provided otherwise by Laws or 
Regulations or by the Contract Documents.  CONTRAC-
TOR shall also furnish such other Bonds as are required by 
the Contract Documents.   
 
 B. All Bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the 
Contract Documents except as provided otherwise by Laws 
or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as 
are named in the current list of “Companies Holding 
Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal 
Bonds and as Acceptable Reinsuring Companies” as pub-
lished in Circular 570 (amended) by the Financial 
Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. 
Department of the Treasury.  All Bonds signed by an agent 
must be accompanied by a certified copy of such agent’s 
authority to act. 
 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 15

 C. If the surety on any Bond furnished by CON-
TRACTOR is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent or 
its right to do business is terminated in any state where any 
part of the Project is located or it ceases to meet the 
requirements of paragraph 5.01.B, CONTRACTOR shall 
within 20 days thereafter substitute another Bond and 
surety, both of which shall comply with the requirements of 
paragraphs 5.01.B and 5.02. 
 
5.02 Licensed Sureties and Insurers  
 
 A. All Bonds and insurance required by the Contract 
Documents to be purchased and maintained by OWNER or 
CONTRACTOR shall be obtained from surety or insurance 
companies that are duly licensed or authorized in the 
jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue Bonds or 
insurance policies for the limits and coverages so required.  
Such surety and insurance companies shall also meet such 
additional requirements and qualifications as may be 
provided in the Supplementary Conditions. 
 
5.03 Certificates of Insurance  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall deliver to OWNER, with 
copies to each additional insured identified in the Supple-
mentary Conditions, certificates of insurance (and other 
evidence of insurance requested by OWNER or any other 
additional insured) which CONTRACTOR is required to 
purchase and maintain.  OWNER shall deliver to 
CONTRACTOR, with copies to each additional insured 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions, certificates of 
insurance (and other evidence of insurance requested by 
CONTRACTOR or any other additional insured) which 
OWNER is required to purchase and maintain.  
 
5.04 CONTRACTOR’s Liability Insurance  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain such 
liability and other insurance as is appropriate for the Work 
being performed and as will provide protection from claims 
set forth below which may arise out of or result from 
CONTRACTOR’s performance of the Work and 
CONTRACTOR’s other obligations under the Contract 
Documents, whether it is to be performed by 
CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them to 
perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts any 
of them may be liable: 
 

1. claims under workers’ compensation, 
disability benefits, and other similar employee 
benefit acts; 

 

2. claims for damages because of bodily 
injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of 
CONTRACTOR’s employees; 

 
3. claims for damages because of bodily 

injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person 
other than CONTRACTOR’s employees; 

 
4. claims for damages insured by 

reasonably available personal injury liability 
coverage which are sustained: (i) by any person as a 
result of an offense directly or indirectly related to 
the employment of such person by 
CONTRACTOR, or (ii) by any other person for any 
other reason; 

 
5. claims for damages, other than to the 

Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of 
tangible property wherever located, including loss 
of use resulting therefrom; and 

 
6. claims for damages because of bodily 

injury or death of any person or property damage 
arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of 
any motor vehicle. 

 
 B. The policies of insurance so required by this 

paragraph 5.04 to be purchased and maintained shall: 
 

1. with respect to insurance required by 
paragraphs 5.04.A.3 through 5.04.A.6 inclusive, 
include as additional insureds (subject to any 
customary exclusion in respect of professional 
liability) OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER's 
Consultants, and any other individuals or entities 
identified in the Supplementary Conditions, all of 
whom shall be listed as additional insureds, and 
include coverage for the respective officers, 
directors, partners, employees, agents, and other 
consultants and subcontractors of each and any of 
all such additional insureds, and the insurance 
afforded to these additional insureds shall provide 
primary coverage for all claims covered thereby; 

 
2. include at least the specific coverages 

and be written for not less than the limits of liability 
provided in the Supplementary Conditions or 
required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is 
greater; 

 
3. include completed operations insurance; 
 
4. include contractual liability insurance 

covering CONTRACTOR’s indemnity obligations 
under paragraphs 6.07, 6.11, and 6.20; 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 16

 
5. contain a provision or endorsement that 

the coverage afforded will not be canceled, materi-
ally changed or renewal refused until at least thirty 
days prior written notice has been given to OWNER 
and CONTRACTOR and to each other additional 
insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions 
to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued 
(and the certificates of insurance furnished by the 
CONTRACTOR pursuant to paragraph 5.03 will so 
provide); 

 
6. remain in effect at least until final 

payment and at all times thereafter when CON-
TRACTOR may be correcting, removing, or replac-
ing defective Work in accordance with paragraph 
13.07; and 

 
7. with respect to completed operations 

insurance, and any insurance coverage written on a 
claims-made basis, remain in effect for at least two 
years after final payment (and CONTRACTOR 
shall furnish OWNER and each other additional 
insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions, 
to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued, 
evidence satisfactory to OWNER and any such 
additional insured of continuation of such insurance 
at final payment and one year thereafter). 

 
5.05 OWNER’s Liability Insurance  
 
 A. In addition to the insurance required to be provid-
ed by CONTRACTOR under paragraph 5.04, OWNER, at 
OWNER’s option, may purchase and maintain at 
OWNER’s expense OWNER’s own liability insurance as 
will protect OWNER against claims which may arise from 
operations under the Contract Documents. 
 
5.06 Property Insurance  
 
 A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary 
Conditions, OWNER shall purchase and maintain property 
insurance upon the Work at the Site in the amount of the 
full replacement cost thereof (subject to such deductible 
amounts as may be provided in the Supplementary 
Conditions or required by Laws and Regulations).  This 
insurance shall: 
 

1. include the interests of OWNER, CON-
TRACTOR, Subcontractors, ENGINEER, 
ENGINEER’s Consultants, and any other 
individuals or entities identified in the 
Supplementary Conditions, and the officers, 
directors, partners, employees, agents, and other 
consultants and subcontractors of each and any of 

them, each of whom is deemed to have an insurable 
interest and shall be listed as an additional insured; 

 
2. be written on a Builder’s Risk “all-risk” 

or open peril or special causes of loss policy form 
that shall at least include insurance for physical loss 
or damage to the Work, temporary buildings, false 
work, and materials and equipment in transit, and 
shall insure against at least the following perils or 
causes of loss: fire, lightning, extended coverage, 
theft, vandalism and malicious mischief, earthquake, 
collapse, debris removal, demolition occasioned by 
enforcement of Laws and Regulations, water dam-
age, and such other perils or causes of loss as may 
be specifically required by the Supplementary 
Conditions; 

 
3. include expenses incurred in the repair or 

replacement of any insured property (including but 
not limited to fees and charges of engineers and 
architects); 

 
4. cover materials and equipment stored at 

the Site or at another location that was agreed to in 
writing by OWNER prior to being incorporated in 
the Work, provided that such materials and equip-
ment have been included in an Application for 
Payment recommended by ENGINEER; 

 
5. allow for partial utilization of the Work 

by OWNER; 
 
6. include testing and startup; and 
 
7. be maintained in effect until final pay-

ment is made unless otherwise agreed to in writing 
by OWNER, CONTRACTOR, and ENGINEER 
with 30 days written notice to each other additional 
insured to whom a certificate of insurance has been 
issued. 

 
 B. OWNER shall purchase and maintain such boiler 
and machinery insurance or additional property insurance 
as may be required by the Supplementary Conditions or 
Laws and Regulations which will include the interests of 
OWNER, CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, ENGINEER, 
ENGINEER’s Consultants, and any other individuals or 
entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, each of 
whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be 
listed as an insured or additional insured. 
 
 C. All the policies of insurance (and the certificates 
or other evidence thereof) required to be purchased and 
maintained in accordance with paragraph 5.06 will contain 
a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 17

not be canceled or materially changed or renewal refused 
until at least 30 days prior written notice has been given to 
OWNER and CONTRACTOR and to each other additional 
insured to whom a certificate of insurance has been issued 
and will contain waiver provisions in accordance with 
paragraph 5.07. 
 
 D. OWNER shall not be responsible for purchasing 
and maintaining any property insurance specified in this 
paragraph 5.06 to protect the interests of CONTRACTOR, 
Subcontractors, or others in the Work to the extent of any 
deductible amounts that are identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions.  The risk of loss within such identified 
deductible amount will be borne by CONTRACTOR, 
Subcontractors, or others suffering any such loss, and if any 
of them wishes property insurance coverage within the 
limits of such amounts, each may purchase and maintain it 
at the purchaser’s own expense. 
 
 E. If CONTRACTOR requests in writing that other 
special insurance be included in the property insurance 
policies provided under paragraph 5.06, OWNER shall, if 
possible, include such insurance, and the cost thereof will 
be charged to CONTRACTOR by appropriate Change 
Order or Written Amendment.  Prior to commencement of 
the Work at the Site, OWNER shall in writing advise 
CONTRACTOR whether or not such other insurance has 
been procured by OWNER. 
 
5.07 Waiver of Rights  
 
 A. OWNER and CONTRACTOR intend that all 
policies purchased in accordance with paragraph 5.06 will 
protect OWNER, CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, 
ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s Consultants, and all other 
individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary 
Conditions to be listed as insureds or additional insureds  
(and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and 
other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of 
them) in such policies and will provide primary coverage 
for all losses and damages caused by the perils or causes of 
loss covered thereby.  All such policies shall contain 
provisions to the effect that in the event of payment of any 
loss or damage the insurers will have no rights of recovery 
against any of the insureds or additional insureds 
thereunder.  OWNER and CONTRACTOR waive all rights 
against each other and their respective officers, directors, 
partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and 
subcontractors of each and any of them for all losses and 
damages caused by, arising out of or resulting from any of 
the perils or causes of loss covered by such policies and any 
other property insurance applicable to the Work; and, in 
addition, waive all such rights against Subcontractors, 
ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s Consultants, and all other 
individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary 

Conditions to be listed as insureds or additional insureds 
(and the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and 
other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of 
them) under such policies for losses and damages so 
caused.  None of the above waivers shall extend to the 
rights that any party making such waiver may have to the 
proceeds of insurance held by OWNER as trustee or other-
wise payable under any policy so issued. 
 
 B.  OWNER waives all rights against 
CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, ENGINEER, 
ENGINEER’s Consultants, and the officers, directors, 
partners, employees, agents, and other consultants and 
subcontractors of each and any of them for: 
 

1. loss due to business interruption, loss of 
use, or other consequential loss extending beyond 
direct physical loss or damage to OWNER’s 
property or the Work caused by, arising out of, or 
resulting from fire or other peril whether or not 
insured by OWNER; and 

 
2. loss or damage to the completed Project 

or part thereof caused by, arising out of, or resulting 
from fire or other insured peril or cause of loss 
covered by any property insurance maintained on 
the completed Project or part thereof by OWNER 
during partial utilization pursuant to paragraph 
14.05, after Substantial Completion pursuant to 
paragraph 14.04, or after final payment pursuant to 
paragraph 14.07. 

 
 C. Any insurance policy maintained by OWNER 
covering any loss, damage or consequential loss referred to 
in paragraph 5.07.B shall contain provisions to the effect 
that in the event of payment of any such loss, damage, or 
consequential loss, the insurers will have no rights of 
recovery against CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, 
ENGINEER, or ENGINEER’s Consultants and the 
officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and other 
consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them. 
 
5.08 Receipt and Application of Insurance Proceeds  
 
 A. Any insured loss under the policies of insurance 
required by paragraph 5.06 will be adjusted with OWNER 
and made payable to OWNER as fiduciary for the insureds, 
as their interests may appear, subject to the requirements of 
any applicable mortgage clause and of paragraph 5.08.B. 
OWNER shall deposit in a separate account any money so 
received and shall distribute it in accordance with such 
agreement as the parties in interest may reach.  If no other 
special agreement is reached, the damaged Work shall be 
repaired or replaced, the moneys so received applied on 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 18

account thereof, and the Work and the cost thereof covered 
by an appropriate Change Order or Written Amendment. 
 
 B. OWNER as fiduciary shall have power to adjust 
and settle any loss with the insurers unless one of the 
parties in interest shall object in writing within 15 days 
after the occurrence of loss to OWNER’s exercise of this 
power.  If such objection be made, OWNER as fiduciary 
shall make settlement with the insurers in accordance with 
such agreement as the parties in interest may reach.  If no 
such agreement among the parties in interest is reached, 
OWNER as fiduciary shall adjust and settle the loss with 
the insurers and, if required in writing by any party in 
interest, OWNER as fiduciary shall give bond for the 
proper performance of such duties. 
 
5.09 Acceptance of Bonds and Insurance; Option to 
Replace  
 
 A. If either OWNER or CONTRACTOR has any 
objection to the coverage afforded by or other provisions of 
the Bonds or insurance required to be purchased and 
maintained by the other party in accordance with Article 5 
on the basis of non-conformance with the Contract 
Documents, the objecting party shall so notify the other 
party in writing within 10 days after receipt of the 
certificates (or other evidence requested) required by 
paragraph 2.05.C.  OWNER and CONTRACTOR shall 
each provide to the other such additional information in 
respect of insurance provided as the other may reasonably 
request.  If either party does not purchase or maintain all of 
the Bonds and insurance required of such party by the Con-
tract Documents, such party shall notify the other party in 
writing of such failure to purchase prior to the start of the 
Work, or of such failure to maintain prior to any change in 
the required coverage.  Without prejudice to any other right 
or remedy, the other party may elect to obtain equivalent 
Bonds or insurance to protect such other party's interests at 
the expense of the party who was required to provide such 
coverage, and a Change Order shall be issued to adjust the 
Contract Price accordingly. 
 
5.10 Partial Utilization, Acknowledgment of Property 
Insurer  
 
 A. If OWNER finds it necessary to occupy or use a 
portion or portions of the Work prior to Substantial 
Completion of all the Work as provided in paragraph 14.05, 
no such use or occupancy shall commence before the 
insurers providing the property insurance pursuant to 
paragraph 5.06 have acknowledged notice thereof and in 
writing effected any changes in coverage necessitated 
thereby.  The insurers providing the property insurance 
shall consent by endorsement on the policy or policies, but 

the property insurance shall not be canceled or permitted to 
lapse on account of any such partial use or occupancy. 
 
 
ARTICLE 6 - CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
_______________________________________________ 
 
6.01 Supervision and Superintendence 
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall supervise, inspect, and 
direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such 
attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as 
may be necessary to perform the Work in accordance with 
the Contract Documents.  CONTRACTOR shall be solely 
responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, 
and procedures of construction, but CONTRACTOR shall 
not be responsible for the negligence of OWNER or 
ENGINEER in the design or specification of a specific 
means, method, technique, sequence, or procedure of 
construction which is shown or indicated in and expressly 
required by the Contract Documents.  CONTRACTOR 
shall be responsible to see that the completed Work 
complies accurately with the Contract Documents. 
 
 B.  At all times during the progress of the Work, 
CONTRACTOR shall assign a competent resident superin-
tendent thereto who shall not be replaced without written 
notice to OWNER and ENGINEER except under 
extraordinary circumstances.  The superintendent will be 
CONTRACTOR’s representative at the Site and shall have 
authority to act on behalf of CONTRACTOR.  All 
communications given to or received from the superin-
tendent shall be binding on CONTRACTOR. 
 
6.02 Labor; Working Hours  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall provide competent, 
suitably qualified personnel to survey, lay out, and 
construct the Work as required by the Contract Documents. 
 CONTRACTOR shall at all times maintain good discipline 
and order at the Site. 
 
 B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or 
protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or 
adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the 
Contract Documents, all Work at the Site shall be 
performed during regular working hours, and CON-
TRACTOR will not permit overtime work or the 
performance of Work on Saturday, Sunday, or any legal 
holiday without OWNER’s written consent (which will not 
be unreasonably withheld) given after prior written notice 
to ENGINEER. 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 19

 
 
6.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment  
 
 A. Unless otherwise specified in the General Re-
quirements, CONTRACTOR shall provide and assume full 
responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, 
transportation, construction equipment and machinery, 
tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, 
sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other 
facilities and incidentals necessary for the performance, 
testing, start-up, and completion of the Work. 
 
 B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the 
Work shall be as specified or, if not specified, shall be of 
good quality and new, except as otherwise provided in the 
Contract Documents.  All warranties and guarantees 
specifically called for by the Specifications shall expressly 
run to the benefit of OWNER.  If required by ENGINEER, 
CONTRACTOR shall furnish satisfactory evidence 
(including reports of required tests) as to the source, kind, 
and quality of materials and equipment.  All materials and 
equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, 
erected, protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in 
accordance with instructions of the applicable Supplier, 
except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Docu-
ments. 
 
6.04 Progress Schedule  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall adhere to the progress 
schedule established in accordance with paragraph 2.07 as 
it may be adjusted from time to time as provided below. 
 

1. CONTRACTOR shall submit to ENGI-
NEER for acceptance (to the extent indicated in 
paragraph 2.07) proposed adjustments in the prog-
ress schedule that will not result in changing the 
Contract Times (or Milestones).  Such adjustments 
will conform generally to the progress schedule then 
in effect and additionally will comply with any 
provisions of the General Requirements applicable 
thereto. 

 
2. Proposed adjustments in the progress 

schedule that will change the Contract Times (or 
Milestones) shall be submitted in accordance with 
the requirements of Article 12.  Such adjustments 
may only be made by a Change Order or Written 
Amendment in accordance with Article 12. 

 
6.05 Substitutes and “Or-Equals”  
 
 A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is 
specified or described in the Contract Documents by using 

the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular 
Supplier, the specification or description is intended to 
establish the type, function, appearance, and quality 
required.  Unless the specification or description contains 
or is followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, or 
“or-equal” item or no substitution is permitted, other items 
of material or equipment or material or equipment of other 
Suppliers may be submitted to ENGINEER for review 
under the circumstances described below. 
 

1. “Or-Equal” Items: If in ENGINEER’s 
sole discretion an item of material or equipment pro-
posed by CONTRACTOR is functionally equal to 
that named and sufficiently similar so that no 
change in related Work will be required, it may be 
considered by ENGINEER as an “or-equal” item, in 
which case review and approval of the proposed 
item may, in ENGINEER’s sole discretion, be 
accomplished without compliance with some or all 
of the requirements for approval of proposed substi-
tute items.  For the purposes of this paragraph 
6.05.A.1, a proposed item of material or equipment 
will be considered functionally equal to an item so 
named if:  

 
a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment 

ENGINEER determines that:  (i) it is at least 
equal in quality, durability, appearance, strength, 
and design characteristics; (ii) it will reliably 
perform at least equally well the function 
imposed by the design concept of the completed 
Project as a functioning whole, and; 

 
b. CONTRACTOR certifies that: (i) there is 

no increase in cost to the OWNER;  and (ii) it 
will conform substantially, even with deviations, 
to the detailed requirements of the item named 
in the Contract Documents. 

 
2. Substitute Items 

 
a. If in ENGINEER’s sole discretion an 

item of material or equipment proposed by 
CONTRACTOR does not qualify as an 
“or-equal” item under paragraph 6.05.A.1, it 
will be considered a proposed substitute item.   

 
b. CONTRACTOR shall submit sufficient 

information as provided below to allow ENGI-
NEER to determine that the item of material or 
equipment proposed is essentially equivalent to 
that named and an acceptable substitute therefor. 
 Requests for review of proposed substitute 
items of material or equipment will not be 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 20

accepted by ENGINEER from anyone other 
than CONTRACTOR.  

 
c. The procedure for review by  ENGI-

NEER will be as set forth in paragraph 
6.05.A.2.d, as supplemented in the General 
Requirements and as ENGINEER may decide is 
appropriate under the circumstances.     

 
d. CONTRACTOR shall first make written 

application to ENGINEER for review of a 
proposed substitute item of material or 
equipment that CONTRACTOR seeks to furnish 
or use.  The application shall certify that the 
proposed substitute item will perform ade-
quately the functions and achieve the results 
called for by the general design, be similar in 
substance to that specified, and be suited to the 
same use as that specified.  The application will 
state the extent, if any, to which the use of the 
proposed substitute item will prejudice 
CONTRACTOR’s achievement of Substantial 
Completion on time, whether or not use of the 
proposed substitute item in the Work will re-
quire a change in any of the Contract Docu-
ments (or in the provisions of any other direct 
contract with OWNER for work on the Project) 
to adapt the design to the proposed substitute 
item  and whether or not incorporation or use of 
the proposed substitute item in connection with 
the Work is subject to payment of any license 
fee or royalty.  All variations of the proposed 
substitute item from that specified will be identi-
fied in the application, and available 
engineering, sales, maintenance, repair, and 
replacement services will be indicated.  The 
application will also contain an itemized esti-
mate of all costs or credits that will result 
directly or indirectly from use of such substitute 
item, including costs of redesign and claims of 
other contractors affected by any resulting 
change, all of which will be considered by 
ENGINEER in evaluating the proposed 
substitute item.  ENGINEER may require CON-
TRACTOR to furnish additional data about the 
proposed substitute item. 

 
 B. Substitute Construction Methods or Procedures:  
If a specific means, method, technique, sequence, or 
procedure of construction is shown or indicated in and 
expressly required by the Contract Documents, CON-
TRACTOR may furnish or utilize a substitute means, meth-
od, technique, sequence, or procedure of construction 
approved by ENGINEER. CONTRACTOR shall submit 
sufficient information to allow ENGINEER, in 

ENGINEER’s sole discretion, to determine that the 
substitute proposed is equivalent to that expressly called for 
by the Contract Documents.  The procedure for review by 
ENGINEER will be similar to that provided in subpara-
graph 6.05.A.2. 
 
 C. Engineer’s Evaluation:  ENGINEER will be 
allowed a reasonable time within which to evaluate each 
proposal or submittal made pursuant to paragraphs 6.05.A 
and 6.05.B.  ENGINEER will be the sole judge of accept-
ability.  No “or-equal” or substitute will be ordered, 
installed or utilized until ENGINEER’s review is complete, 
which will be evidenced by either a Change Order for a 
substitute or an approved Shop Drawing for an “or equal.”  
ENGINEER will advise CONTRACTOR in writing of any 
negative determination. 
 
 D. Special Guarantee:  OWNER may require CON-
TRACTOR to furnish at CONTRACTOR’s expense a 
special performance guarantee or other surety with respect 
to any substitute.  
 
 E. ENGINEER’s Cost Reimbursement:  ENGINEER 
will record time required by ENGINEER and 
ENGINEER’s Consultants in evaluating substitute 
proposed or submitted by CONTRACTOR pursuant to 
paragraphs 6.05.A.2 and 6.05.B and in making changes in 
the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other 
direct contract with OWNER for work on the Project) 
occasioned thereby.  Whether or not ENGINEER approves 
a substitute item so proposed or submitted by CON-
TRACTOR, CONTRACTOR shall reimburse OWNER for 
the charges of ENGINEER and ENGINEER’s Consultants 
for evaluating each such proposed substitute. 
 
 F. CONTRACTOR’s Expense: CONTRACTOR shall 
provide all data in support of any proposed substitute or 
“or-equal” at CONTRACTOR’s expense. 
 
6.06  Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and 
Others  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall not employ any Subcon-
tractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity (including 
those acceptable to OWNER as indicated in paragraph 
6.06.B), whether initially or as a replacement, against 
whom OWNER may have reasonable objection.  CON-
TRACTOR shall not be required to employ any Sub-
contractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity to furnish 
or perform any of the Work against whom 
CONTRACTOR has reasonable objection. 
 
 B. If the Supplementary Conditions require the 
identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other 
individuals or entities to be submitted to OWNER in 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 21

advance for acceptance by OWNER by a specified date 
prior to the Effective Date of the Agreement, and if 
CONTRACTOR has submitted a list thereof in accordance 
with the Supplementary Conditions, OWNER’s acceptance 
(either in writing or by failing to make written objection 
thereto by the date indicated for acceptance or objection in 
the Bidding Documents or the Contract Documents) of any 
such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity 
so identified may be revoked on the basis of reasonable 
objection after due investigation.  CONTRACTOR shall 
submit an acceptable replacement for the rejected 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, and 
the Contract Price will be adjusted by the difference in the 
cost occasioned by such replacement, and an appropriate 
Change Order will be issued or Written Amendment 
signed.  No acceptance by OWNER of any such Subcon-
tractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, whether 
initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of any 
right of OWNER or ENGINEER to reject defective Work. 
 
 C. CONTRACTOR shall be fully responsible to 
OWNER and ENGINEER for all acts and omissions of the 
Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities 
performing or furnishing any of the Work just as 
CONTRACTOR is responsible for CONTRACTOR’s own 
acts and omissions.  Nothing in the Contract Documents 
shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, 
Supplier, or other individual or entity any contractual 
relationship between OWNER or ENGINEER and any 
such Subcontractor, Supplier or other individual or entity, 
nor shall it create any obligation on the part of OWNER or 
ENGINEER to pay or to see to the payment of any moneys 
due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or 
entity except as may otherwise be required by Laws and 
Regulations. 
 
 D. CONTRACTOR shall be solely responsible for 
scheduling and coordinating the Work of Subcontractors, 
Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or 
furnishing any of the Work under a direct or indirect 
contract with CONTRACTOR.  
 
 E. CONTRACTOR shall require all Subcontractors, 
Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities performing 
or furnishing any of the Work to communicate with  ENGI-
NEER through CONTRACTOR. 
 
 F. The divisions and sections of the Specifications 
and the identifications of any Drawings shall not control 
CONTRACTOR in dividing the Work among Subcon-
tractors or Suppliers or delineating the Work to be 
performed by any specific trade. 
 
 G. All Work performed for CONTRACTOR by a 
Subcontractor or Supplier will be pursuant to an appro-

priate agreement between CONTRACTOR and the 
Subcontractor or Supplier which specifically binds the 
Subcontractor or Supplier to the applicable terms and 
conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of 
OWNER and ENGINEER.  Whenever any such agreement 
is with a Subcontractor or Supplier who is listed as an 
additional insured on the property insurance provided in 
paragraph 5.06, the agreement between the CONTRAC-
TOR and the Subcontractor or Supplier will contain 
provisions whereby the Subcontractor or Supplier waives 
all rights against OWNER, CONTRACTOR, ENGINEER, 
ENGINEER’s Consultants, and all other individuals or 
entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions to be 
listed as insureds or additional insureds (and the officers, 
directors, partners, employees, agents, and other consultants 
and subcontractors of each and any of them) for all losses 
and damages caused by, arising out of, relating to, or 
resulting from any of the perils or causes of loss covered by 
such policies and any other property insurance applicable to 
the Work.  If the insurers on any such policies require 
separate waiver forms to be signed by any Subcontractor or 
Supplier, CONTRACTOR will obtain the same. 
 
6.07 Patent Fees and Royalties  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall pay all license fees and 
royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in the 
performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work 
of any invention, design, process, product, or device which 
is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others.  
If a particular invention, design, process, product, or device 
is specified in the Contract Documents for use in the 
performance of the Work and if to the actual knowledge of 
OWNER or ENGINEER its use is subject to patent rights 
or copyrights calling for the payment of any license fee or 
royalty to others, the existence of such rights shall be 
disclosed by OWNER in the Contract Documents.  To the 
fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, 
CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless 
OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s Consultants, and the 
officers, directors, partners, employees or agents, and other 
consultants of each and any of them from and against all 
claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to any infringement of patent rights or 
copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the 
Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of 
any invention, design, process, product, or device not 
specified in the Contract Documents. 
 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 22

6.08 Permits  
 
 A. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary 
Conditions, CONTRACTOR shall obtain and pay for all 
construction permits and licenses.  OWNER shall assist 
CONTRACTOR, when necessary, in obtaining such 
permits and licenses.  CONTRACTOR shall pay all 
governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the 
prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time of 
opening of Bids, or, if there are no Bids, on the Effective 
Date of the Agreement.  CONTRACTOR shall pay all 
charges of utility owners for connections to the Work, and 
OWNER shall pay all charges of such utility owners for 
capital costs related thereto, such as plant investment fees. 
 
6.09 Laws and Regulations  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall give all notices and comply 
with all Laws and Regulations applicable to the 
performance of the Work.  Except where otherwise 
expressly required by applicable Laws and Regulations, 
neither OWNER nor ENGINEER shall be responsible for 
monitoring CONTRACTOR’s compliance with any Laws 
or Regulations. 
 
 B. If CONTRACTOR performs any Work knowing 
or having reason to know that it is contrary to Laws or 
Regulations, CONTRACTOR shall bear all claims, costs, 
losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees 
and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such Work; 
however, it shall not be CONTRACTOR’s primary 
responsibility to make certain that the Specifications and 
Drawings are in accordance with Laws and Regulations, 
but this shall not relieve CONTRACTOR of 
CONTRACTOR’s obligations under paragraph 3.03. 
 
 C. Changes in Laws or Regulations not known at the 
time of opening of Bids (or, on the Effective Date of the 
Agreement if there were no Bids) having an effect on the 
cost or time of performance of the Work may be the subject 
of an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times.  If 
OWNER and CONTRACTOR are unable to agree on 
entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any 
such adjustment, a Claim may be made therefor as provided 
in paragraph 10.05. 
 
6.10 Taxes  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall pay all sales, consumer, 
use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by 
CONTRACTOR in accordance with the Laws and 
Regulations of the place of the Project which are applicable 
during the performance of the Work. 

 
6.11 Use of Site and Other Areas  
 
 A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas 
 

1. CONTRACTOR shall confine 
construction equipment, the storage of materials and 
equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site 
and other areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, 
and shall not unreasonably encumber the Site and 
other areas with construction equipment or other 
materials or equipment.  CONTRACTOR shall 
assume full responsibility for any damage to any 
such land or area, or to the owner or occupant 
thereof, or of any adjacent land or areas resulting 
from the performance of the Work.   

 
2. Should any claim be made by any such 

owner or occupant because of the performance of 
the Work, CONTRACTOR shall promptly settle 
with such other party by negotiation or otherwise 
resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute 
resolution proceeding or at law. 

 
3. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws 

and Regulations, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify 
and hold harmless OWNER, ENGINEER, 
ENGINEER’s Consultant, and the officers, 
directors, partners, employees, agents, and other 
consultants of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to 
any claim or action, legal or equitable, brought by 
any such owner or occupant against OWNER, 
ENGINEER, or any other party indemnified 
hereunder to the extent caused by or based upon 
CONTRACTOR's performance of the Work. 

 
 B. Removal of Debris During Performance of the 
Work:  During the progress of the Work CONTRACTOR 
shall keep the Site and other areas free from accumulations 
of waste materials, rubbish, and other debris.  Removal and 
disposal of such waste materials, rubbish, and other debris 
shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations. 
 
 C. Cleaning:  Prior to Substantial Completion of the 
Work CONTRACTOR shall clean the Site and make it 
ready for utilization by OWNER.  At the completion of the 
Work CONTRACTOR shall remove from the Site all tools, 
appliances, construction equipment and machinery, and 
surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 23

property not designated for alteration by the Contract 
Documents. 
 
 D. Loading Structures:  CONTRACTOR shall not 
load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded in any 
manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall 
CONTRACTOR subject any part of the Work or adjacent 
property to stresses or pressures that will endanger it. 
 
6.12  Record  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall maintain in a safe place at 
the Site one record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, 
Addenda, Written Amendments, Change Orders, Work 
Change Directives, Field Orders, and written interpretations 
and clarifications in good order and annotated to show 
changes made during construction.  These record 
documents together with all approved Samples and a 
counterpart of all approved Shop Drawings will be 
available to ENGINEER for reference.  Upon completion 
of the Work, these record documents, Samples, and Shop 
Drawings will be delivered to ENGINEER for OWNER. 
 
6.13 Safety and Protection  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall be solely responsible for 
initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precau-
tions and programs in connection with the Work.  
CONTRACTOR shall take all necessary precautions for the 
safety of, and shall provide the necessary protection to 
prevent damage, injury or loss to: 
 

1. all persons on the  Site or who may be 
affected by the Work; 

 
2. all the Work and materials and equip-

ment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage 
on or off the Site; and 

 
3. other property at the Site or adjacent 

thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pave-
ments, roadways, structures, utilities, and Under-
ground Facilities not designated for removal, reloca-
tion, or replacement in the course of construction. 

 
 B. CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable 
Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of persons or 
property, or to the protection of persons or property from 
damage, injury, or loss; and shall erect and maintain all 
necessary safeguards for such safety and protection.  
CONTRACTOR shall notify owners of adjacent property 
and of Underground Facilities and other utility owners 
when prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall 
cooperate with them in the protection, removal, relocation, 
and replacement of their property.  All damage, injury, or 

loss to any property referred to in paragraph 6.13.A.2 or 
6.13.A.3 caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, 
by CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, Supplier, or any 
other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by 
any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for 
whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be remedied by 
CONTRACTOR (except damage or loss attributable to the 
fault of Drawings or Specifications or to the acts or 
omissions of OWNER or ENGINEER or ENGINEER’s 
Consultant, or anyone employed by any of them, or anyone 
for whose acts any of them may be liable, and not 
attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the 
fault or negligence of CONTRACTOR or any 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them).  
CONTRACTOR’s duties and responsibilities for safety and 
for protection of the Work shall continue until such time as 
all the Work is completed and ENGINEER has issued a 
notice to OWNER and CONTRACTOR in accordance 
with paragraph 14.07.B that the Work is acceptable (except 
as otherwise expressly provided in connection with 
Substantial Completion). 
 
6.14 Safety Representative  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall designate a qualified and 
experienced safety representative at the Site whose duties 
and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and 
the maintaining and supervising of safety precautions and 
programs. 
 
6.15 Hazard Communication Programs  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for coordi-
nating any exchange of material safety data sheets or other 
hazard communication information required to be made 
available to or exchanged between or among employers at 
the Site in accordance with Laws or Regulations. 
 
6.16 Emergencies  
 
 A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection 
of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent 
thereto, CONTRACTOR is obligated to act to prevent 
threatened damage, injury, or loss.  CONTRACTOR shall 
give ENGINEER prompt written notice if CONTRACTOR 
believes that any significant changes in the Work or 
variations from the Contract Documents have been caused 
thereby or are required as a result thereof.  If ENGINEER 
determines that a change in the Contract Documents is 
required because of the action taken by CONTRACTOR in 
response to such an emergency, a Work Change Directive 
or Change Order will be issued. 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 24

 
6.17 Shop Drawings and Samples  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall submit Shop Drawings to 
ENGINEER for review and approval in accordance with 
the acceptable schedule of Shop Drawings and Sample 
submittals.  All submittals will be identified as ENGINEER 
may require and in the number of copies specified in the 
General Requirements.  The data shown on the Shop 
Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, 
dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, 
materials, and similar data to show ENGINEER the 
services, materials, and equipment CONTRACTOR 
proposes to provide and to enable ENGINEER to review 
the information for the limited purposes required by 
paragraph 6.17.E. 
 
 B. CONTRACTOR shall also submit Samples to 
ENGINEER for review and approval in accordance with 
the acceptable schedule of Shop Drawings and Sample 
submittals.  Each Sample will be identified clearly as to 
material, Supplier, pertinent data such as catalog numbers, 
and the use for which intended and otherwise as ENGI-
NEER may require to enable ENGINEER to review the 
submittal for the limited purposes required by paragraph 
6.17.E. The numbers of each Sample to be submitted will 
be as specified in the Specifications. 
 
 C. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by 
the Contract Documents or the schedule of Shop Drawings 
and Sample submittals acceptable to ENGINEER as 
required by paragraph 2.07, any related Work performed 
prior to ENGINEER’s review and approval of the pertinent 
submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of 
CONTRACTOR. 
 
 D. Submittal Procedures   
 

1. Before submitting each Shop Drawing or 
Sample, CONTRACTOR shall have determined and 
verified: 

 
a. all field measurements, quantities, 

dimensions, specified performance criteria, 
installation requirements, materials, catalog 
numbers, and similar information with respect 
thereto; 

 
b. all materials with respect to intended use, 

fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, assem-
bly, and installation pertaining to the perfor-
mance of the Work; 

 
c. all information relative to means, meth-

ods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of 

construction and safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto; and 

 
d. CONTRACTOR shall also have 

reviewed and coordinated each Shop Drawing 
or Sample with other Shop Drawings and 
Samples and with the requirements of the Work 
and the Contract Documents. 

 
2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or 

specific written indication that CONTRACTOR has 
satisfied CONTRACTOR’s obligations under the 
Contract Documents with respect to 
CONTRACTOR’s review and approval of that 
submittal. 

 
3. At the time of each submittal, CON-

TRACTOR shall give ENGINEER specific written 
notice of such variations, if any, that the Shop 
Drawing or Sample submitted may have from the 
requirements of the Contract Documents, such 
notice to be in a written communication separate 
from the submittal; and, in addition, shall cause a 
specific notation to be made on each Shop Drawing 
and Sample submitted to ENGINEER for review 
and approval of each such variation.  

 
 E. ENGINEER’s Review 
 

1. ENGINEER will timely review and 
approve Shop Drawings and Samples in accordance 
with the schedule of Shop Drawings and Sample 
submittals acceptable to ENGINEER.  
ENGINEER’s review and approval will be only to 
determine if the items covered by the submittals 
will, after installation or incorporation in the Work, 
conform to the information given in the Contract 
Documents and be compatible with the design 
concept of the completed Project as a functioning 
whole as indicated by the Contract Documents.   

 
2. ENGINEER’s review and approval will 

not extend to means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, or procedures of construction (except 
where a particular means, method, technique, 
sequence, or procedure of construction is 
specifically and expressly called for by the Contract 
Documents) or to safety precautions or programs 
incident thereto.  The review and approval of a 
separate item as such will not indicate approval of 
the assembly in which the item functions. 

 
3. ENGINEER’s review and approval of 

Shop Drawings or Samples shall not relieve CON-
TRACTOR from responsibility for any variation 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 25

from the requirements of the Contract Documents 
unless CONTRACTOR has in writing called 
ENGINEER’s attention to each such variation at the 
time of each submittal as required by paragraph 
6.17.D.3 and ENGINEER has given written 
approval of each such variation by specific written 
notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying 
the Shop Drawing or Sample approval; nor will any 
approval by ENGINEER relieve CONTRACTOR 
from responsibility for complying with the require-
ments of paragraph 6.17.D.1. 

 
 F. Resubmittal Procedures 
 

1. CONTRACTOR shall make corrections 
required by ENGINEER and shall return the 
required number of corrected copies of Shop 
Drawings and submit as required new Samples for 
review and approval. CONTRACTOR shall direct 
specific attention in writing to revisions other than 
the corrections called for by ENGINEER on previ-
ous submittals. 

 
6.18 Continuing the Work  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall carry on the Work and 
adhere to the progress schedule during all disputes or 
disagreements with OWNER.  No Work shall be delayed or 
postponed pending resolution of any disputes or 
disagreements, except as permitted by paragraph 15.04 or 
as OWNER and CONTRACTOR may otherwise agree in 
writing. 
 
6.19 CONTRACTOR’s General Warranty and 
Guarantee  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR warrants and guarantees to 
OWNER, ENGINEER, and ENGINEER’s Consultants that 
all Work will be in accordance with the Contract Docu-
ments and will not be defective.  CONTRACTOR’s 
warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or 
damage caused by: 
 

1. abuse, modification, or improper main-
tenance or operation by persons other than CON-
TRACTOR, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other 
individual or entity for whom CONTRACTOR is 
responsible; or  

 
2. normal wear and tear under normal 

usage. 
 
 B. CONTRACTOR’s obligation to perform and 
complete the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents shall be absolute.  None of the following will 

constitute an acceptance of Work that is not in accordance 
with the Contract Documents or a release of 
CONTRACTOR’s obligation to perform the Work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents: 
 

1. observations by ENGINEER; 
 
2. recommendation by ENGINEER or pay-

ment by OWNER of any progress or final payment; 
 
3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial 

Completion by ENGINEER or any payment related 
thereto by OWNER;  

 
4. use or occupancy of the Work or any 

part thereof by OWNER; 
 
5. any acceptance by OWNER or any 

failure to do so; 
 
6. any review and approval of a Shop 

Drawing or Sample submittal or the issuance of a 
notice of acceptability by ENGINEER; 

 
7. any inspection, test, or approval by 

others; or 
 
8. any correction of defective Work by 

OWNER. 
 
6.20 Indemnification  
 
 A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and 
Regulations, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold 
harmless OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s Consul-
tants, and the officers, directors, partners, employees, 
agents, and other consultants and subcontractors of each 
and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, 
and damages (including but not limited to all fees and 
charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the perfor-
mance of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, 
loss, or damage: 
 

1. is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, 
disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of 
tangible property (other than the Work itself), 
including the loss of use resulting therefrom; and  

 
2.  is caused in whole or in part by any 

negligent act or omission of CONTRACTOR, any 
Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or 
entity directly or indirectly employed by any of 
them to perform any of the Work or anyone for 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 26

whose acts any of them may be liable, regardless of 
whether or not caused in part by any negligence or 
omission of an individual or entity indemnified 
hereunder or whether liability is imposed upon such 
indemnified party by Laws and Regulations regard-
less of the negligence of any such individual or 
entity. 

 
 B. In any and all claims against OWNER or ENGI-
NEER or any of their respective consultants, agents, 
officers, directors, partners, or employees by any employee 
(or the survivor or personal representative of such 
employee) of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, any 
Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly 
employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or 
anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the 
indemnification obligation under paragraph 6.20.A shall 
not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount 
or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for CONTRACTOR or any such Subcontractor, Suppli-
er, or other individual or entity under workers’ compen-
sation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit 
acts. 
 
 C. The indemnification obligations of CONTRAC-
TOR under paragraph 6.20.A shall not extend to the 
liability of ENGINEER and ENGINEER’s Consultants or 
to the officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, and 
other consultants and subcontractors of each and any of 
them arising out of: 
 

1. the preparation or approval of, or the 
failure to prepare or approve, maps, Drawings, 
opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, 
or Specifications; or 

 
2. giving directions or instructions, or 

failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of 
the injury or damage. 

 
 
ARTICLE 7 - OTHER WORK 
_______________________________________________ 
 
7.01 Related Work at Site  
 
 A. OWNER may perform other work related to the 
Project at the Site by OWNER’s employees, or let other 
direct contracts therefor, or have other work performed by 
utility owners.  If  such other work is not noted in the Con-
tract Documents, then:  
 

1. written notice thereof will be given to 
CONTRACTOR prior to starting any such other 
work; and  

 
2. if OWNER and CONTRACTOR are 

unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount 
or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract 
Price or Contract Times that should be allowed as a 
result of such other work, a Claim may be made 
therefor as provided in  paragraph 10.05.   

 
 B. CONTRACTOR shall afford each other 
contractor who is a party to such a direct contract and each 
utility owner (and OWNER, if OWNER is performing the 
other work with OWNER’s employees) proper and safe 
access to the Site and a reasonable opportunity for the 
introduction and storage of materials and equipment and 
the execution of such other work and shall properly 
coordinate the Work with theirs.  Unless otherwise 
provided in the Contract Documents, CONTRACTOR 
shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that 
may be required to properly connect or otherwise make its 
several parts come together and properly integrate with 
such other work.  CONTRACTOR shall not endanger any 
work of others by cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering 
their work and will only cut or alter their work with the 
written consent of ENGINEER and the others whose work 
will be affected.  The duties and responsibilities of 
CONTRACTOR under this paragraph are for the benefit of 
such utility owners and other contractors to the extent that 
there are comparable provisions for the benefit of 
CONTRACTOR in said direct contracts between OWNER 
and such utility owners and other contractors. 
 
 C. If the proper execution or results of any part of 
CONTRACTOR’s Work depends upon work performed by 
others under this Article 7, CONTRACTOR shall inspect 
such other work and promptly report to ENGINEER in 
writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other 
work that render it unavailable or unsuitable for the proper 
execution and results of CONTRACTOR’s Work.  
CONTRACTOR’s failure to so report will constitute an 
acceptance of such other work as fit and proper for 
integration with CONTRACTOR’s Work except for latent 
defects and deficiencies in such other work. 
 
7.02 Coordination  
 
 A. If OWNER intends to contract with others for the 
performance of other work on the Project at the Site, the 
following will be set forth in Supplementary Conditions: 
 

1. the individual or entity who will have 
authority and responsibility for coordination of the 
activities among the various contractors will be 
identified; 

 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 27

2. the specific matters to be covered by 
such authority and responsibility will be itemized; 
and 

 
3. the extent of such authority and responsi-

bilities will be provided. 
 
 B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary 
Conditions, OWNER shall have sole authority and respon-
sibility for such coordination. 
 
 
ARTICLE 8 - OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
_______________________________________________ 
 
8.01 Communications to Contractor  
 
 A. Except as otherwise provided in these General 
Conditions, OWNER shall issue all communications to 
CONTRACTOR through ENGINEER. 
 
8.02 Replacement of ENGINEER  
 
 A. In case of termination of the employment of 
ENGINEER, OWNER shall appoint an engineer to whom 
CONTRACTOR makes no reasonable objection, whose 
status under the Contract Documents shall be that of the 
former ENGINEER. 
 
8.03 Furnish Data  
 
 A. OWNER shall promptly furnish the data required 
of OWNER under the Contract Documents. 
 
8.04 Pay Promptly When  
 
 A. OWNER shall make payments to CONTRAC-
TOR promptly when they are due as provided in 
paragraphs 14.02.C and 14.07.C. 
 
8.05 Lands and Easements; Reports and Tests  
 
 A. OWNER’s duties in respect of providing lands 
and easements and providing engineering surveys to 
establish reference points are set forth in paragraphs 4.01 
and 4.05. Paragraph 4.02 refers to OWNER’s identifying 
and making available to CONTRACTOR copies of reports 
of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions and 
drawings of physical conditions in or relating to existing 
surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the Site 
that have been utilized by ENGINEER in preparing the 
Contract Documents. 
 
8.06 Insurance  
 

 A. OWNER’s responsibilities, if any, in respect to 
purchasing and maintaining liability and property insurance 
are set forth in Article 5. 
 
8.07 Change Orders  
 
 A. OWNER is obligated to execute Change Orders as 
indicated in paragraph 10.03. 
 
8.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals  
 
 A. OWNER’s responsibility in respect to certain 
inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in paragraph 
13.03.B. 
 
8.09 Limitations on OWNER’s Responsibilities  
 
 A. The OWNER shall not supervise, direct, or have 
control or authority over, nor be responsible for, 
CONTRACTOR’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, 
or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto, or for any failure of CON-
TRACTOR to comply with Laws and Regulations applica-
ble to the performance of the Work.  OWNER will not be 
responsible for CONTRACTOR’s failure to perform  the 
Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
8.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental 
Condition  
 
 A. OWNER’s responsibility in respect to an undis-
closed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set forth in 
paragraph 4.06. 
 
8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements  
 
 A. If and to the extent OWNER has agreed to furnish 
CONTRACTOR reasonable evidence that financial 
arrangements have been made to satisfy OWNER’s 
obligations under the Contract Documents, OWNER’s 
responsibility in respect thereof will be as set forth in the 
Supplementary Conditions. 
 
 
ARTICLE 9 - ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING 
CONSTRUCTION 
_______________________________________________ 
 
9.01 OWNER’S  
 
 A. ENGINEER will be OWNER’s representative 
during the construction period.  The duties and responsi-
bilities and the limitations of authority of ENGINEER as 
OWNER’s representative during construction are set forth 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 28

in the Contract Documents and will not be changed without 
written consent of OWNER and ENGINEER. 
 
9.02 Visits to Site  
 
 A. ENGINEER will make visits to the Site at inter-
vals appropriate to the various stages of construction as 
ENGINEER deems necessary in order to observe as an 
experienced and qualified design professional the progress 
that has been made and the quality of the various aspects of 
CONTRACTOR’s executed Work.  Based on information 
obtained during such visits and observations, ENGINEER, 
for the benefit of OWNER, will determine, in general, if the 
Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract 
Documents.  ENGINEER will not be required to make 
exhaustive or continuous  inspections on the Site to check 
the quality or quantity of the Work.  ENGINEER’s efforts 
will be directed toward providing for OWNER a greater 
degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform 
generally to the Contract Documents.  On the basis of such 
visits and observations, ENGINEER will keep OWNER 
informed of the progress of the Work and will endeavor to 
guard OWNER against defective Work. 
 
 B. ENGINEER’s visits and observations are subject 
to all the limitations on ENGINEER’s authority and 
responsibility set forth in paragraph 9.10, and particularly, 
but without limitation, during or as a result of 
ENGINEER's  visits or observations of CONTRACTOR's 
Work ENGINEER will not supervise, direct, control, or 
have authority over or be responsible for 
CONTRACTOR’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, 
or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto, or for any failure of 
CONTRACTOR to comply with Laws and Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work. 
 
9.03 Project Representative  
 
 A. If OWNER and ENGINEER agree, ENGINEER 
will furnish a Resident Project Representative to assist 
ENGINEER in providing more extensive observation of the 
Work.  The responsibilities and authority and limitations 
thereon of any such Resident Project Representative and 
assistants will be as provided in paragraph 9.10 and in the 
Supplementary Conditions.  If OWNER designates another 
representative or agent to represent OWNER at the Site 
who is not ENGINEER’s Consultant, agent or employee, 
the responsibilities and authority and limitations thereon of 
such other individual or entity will be as provided in the 
Supplementary Conditions. 
 

9.04 Clarifications and Interpretations  
 
 A. ENGINEER will issue with reasonable prompt-
ness such written clarifications or interpretations of the 
requirements of the Contract Documents as ENGINEER 
may determine necessary, which shall be consistent with 
the intent of and reasonably inferable from the Contract 
Documents.  Such written clarifications and interpretations 
will be binding on OWNER and CONTRACTOR.  If 
OWNER and CONTRACTOR are unable to agree on 
entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any 
adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, 
that should be allowed as a result of a written clarification 
or interpretation, a Claim may be made therefor as provided 
in paragraph 10.05. 
 
9.05 Authorized Variations in  
 
 A. ENGINEER may authorize minor variations in the 
Work from the requirements of the Contract Documents 
which do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Price or 
the Contract Times and are compatible with the design 
concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as 
indicated by the Contract Documents.  These may be 
accomplished by a Field Order and will be binding on 
OWNER and also on CONTRACTOR, who shall perform 
the Work involved promptly.  If OWNER and CONTRAC-
TOR are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount 
or extent, if any, of any adjustment in the Contract Price or 
Contract Times, or both, as a result of  a Field Order, a 
Claim may be made therefor as provided in paragraph 
10.05. 
 
9.06 Rejecting Defective Work  
 
 A. ENGINEER will have authority to disapprove or 
reject Work which ENGINEER believes to be defective, or 
that ENGINEER believes will not produce a completed 
Project that conforms to the Contract Documents or that 
will prejudice the integrity of the design concept of the 
completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by 
the Contract Documents.  ENGINEER will also have 
authority to require special inspection or testing of the 
Work as provided in paragraph 13.04, whether or not the 
Work is fabricated, installed, or completed. 
 
9.07 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments  
 
 A. In connection with ENGINEER’s authority as to 
Shop Drawings and Samples, see paragraph 6.17. 
 
 B. In connection with ENGINEER’s authority as to 
Change Orders, see Articles 10, 11, and 12. 
 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 29

 C. In connection with ENGINEER’s authority as to 
Applications for Payment, see Article 14. 
 
9.08  Determinations for Unit Price  
 
 A. ENGINEER will determine the actual quantities 
and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by 
CONTRACTOR.  ENGINEER will review with CON-
TRACTOR the ENGINEER’s preliminary determinations 
on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon 
(by recommendation of an Application for Payment or 
otherwise).  ENGINEER’s written decision thereon will be 
final and binding (except as modified by ENGINEER to 
reflect changed factual conditions or more accurate data) 
upon OWNER and CONTRACTOR, subject to the 
provisions of paragraph 10.05. 
 
9.09 Decisions on Requirements of Contract 
Documents and Acceptability of Work  
 
 A. ENGINEER will be the initial interpreter of the 
requirements of the Contract Documents and judge of the 
acceptability of the Work thereunder.  Claims, disputes and 
other matters relating to the acceptability of the Work, the 
quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work, the 
interpretation of the requirements of the Contract 
Documents pertaining to the performance of the Work, and 
Claims seeking changes in the Contract Price or Contract 
Times will be referred initially to ENGINEER in writing, in 
accordance with the provisions of paragraph 10.05, with a 
request for a formal decision.    
 
 B. When functioning as interpreter and judge under 
this paragraph 9.09, ENGINEER will not show partiality to 
OWNER or CONTRACTOR and will not be liable in 
connection with any interpretation or decision rendered in 
good faith in such capacity.  The rendering of a decision by 
ENGINEER pursuant to this paragraph 9.09 with respect to 
any such Claim, dispute, or other matter (except any which 
have been waived by the making or acceptance of final 
payment as provided in paragraph 14.07) will be a 
condition precedent to any exercise by OWNER or 
CONTRACTOR of such rights or remedies as either may 
otherwise have under the Contract Documents or by Laws 
or Regulations in respect of any such Claim, dispute, or 
other matter.  
 
9.10 Limitations on ENGINEER’s Authority and  
 
 A. Neither ENGINEER’s authority or responsibility 
under this Article 9 or under any other provision of the 
Contract Documents nor any decision made by 
ENGINEER in good faith either to exercise or not exercise 
such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, 
exercise, or performance of any authority or responsibility 

by ENGINEER shall create, impose, or give rise to any 
duty in contract, tort, or otherwise owed by ENGINEER to 
CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any 
other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee 
or agent of any of them. 
 
 B. ENGINEER will not supervise,  direct, control, or 
have authority over or be responsible for 
CONTRACTOR’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, 
or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and 
programs incident thereto, or for any failure of 
CONTRACTOR to comply with Laws and Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work.  ENGINEER 
will not be responsible for CONTRACTOR’s failure to 
perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents. 
 
 C. ENGINEER will not be responsible for the acts or 
omissions of CONTRACTOR or of any Subcontractor, any 
Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing  
any of the Work. 
 
 D. ENGINEER’s review of the final Application for 
Payment and accompanying documentation and all mainte-
nance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, 
Bonds, certificates of inspection, tests and approvals, and 
other documentation required to be delivered by paragraph 
14.07.A will only be to determine generally that their 
content complies with the requirements of, and in the case 
of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals that the 
results certified indicate compliance with, the Contract 
Documents. 
 
 E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility 
set forth in this paragraph 9.10 shall also apply to 
ENGINEER’s Consultants, Resident Project Repre-
sentative, and assistants. 
 
ARTICLE 10 - CHANGES IN THE WORK; CLAIMS 
                                                                            __________ 
 
10.01 Authorized Changes in the Work  
 
 A. Without invalidating the Agreement and without 
notice to any surety, OWNER may, at any time or from 
time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the 
Work by a Written Amendment, a Change Order, or a 
Work Change Directive.  Upon receipt of any such 
document, CONTRACTOR shall promptly proceed with 
the Work involved which will be performed under the 
applicable conditions of the Contract Documents (except as 
otherwise specifically provided). 
 
 B. If OWNER and CONTRACTOR are unable to 
agree on entitlement to, or on the amount or extent, if any, 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 30

of an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or 
both, that should be allowed as a result of a Work Change 
Directive, a Claim may be made therefor as provided in 
paragraph 10.05. 
 
10.02 Unauthorized Changes in the Work  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to an 
increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the 
Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is 
not required by the Contract Documents as amended, 
modified, or supplemented as provided in paragraph 3.04, 
except in the case of an emergency as provided in 
paragraph 6.16 or in the case of uncovering Work as 
provided in paragraph 13.04.B. 
 
10.03 Execution of Change Orders  
 
 A. OWNER and CONTRACTOR shall execute 
appropriate Change Orders recommended by ENGINEER 
(or Written Amendments) covering: 
 

1. changes in the Work which are: (i) 
ordered by OWNER pursuant to paragraph 10.01.A, 
(ii) required because of acceptance of defective 
Work under paragraph 13.08.A or OWNER’s 
correction of defective Work under paragraph 
13.09, or (iii) agreed to by the parties; 

 
2. changes in the Contract Price or Contract 

Times which are agreed to by the parties, including 
any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work 
actually performed in accordance with a Work 
Change Directive; and 

 
3. changes in the Contract Price or Contract 

Times which embody the substance of any written 
decision rendered by ENGINEER pursuant to para-
graph 10.05; provided that, in lieu of executing any 
such Change Order, an appeal may be taken from 
any such decision in accordance with the provisions 
of the Contract Documents and applicable Laws and 
Regulations, but during any such appeal, 
CONTRACTOR shall carry on the Work and 
adhere to the progress schedule as provided in 
paragraph 6.18.A. 

 
10.04 Notification to Surety  
 
 A. If notice of any change affecting the general scope 
of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents 
(including, but not limited to, Contract Price or Contract 
Times) is required by the provisions of any Bond to be 
given to a surety, the giving of any such notice will be 
CONTRACTOR’s responsibility. The amount of each 

applicable Bond will be adjusted  to reflect the effect of any 
such change. 
 
10.05 Claims and Disputes  
 
 A. Notice:  Written notice stating the general nature 
of each Claim, dispute, or other matter shall be delivered by 
the claimant to ENGINEER and the other party to the 
Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after 
the start of the event giving rise thereto.  Notice of the 
amount or extent of the Claim, dispute, or other matter with 
supporting data shall be delivered to the ENGINEER and 
the other party to the Contract within 60 days after the start 
of such event (unless ENGINEER allows additional time 
for claimant to submit additional or more accurate data in 
support of such Claim, dispute, or other matter).  A Claim 
for an adjustment in Contract Price shall be prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of paragraph 12.01.B.  A 
Claim for an adjustment in Contract Time shall be prepared 
in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 12.02.B.  
Each Claim shall be accompanied by claimant's written 
statement that the adjustment claimed is the entire 
adjustment to which the claimant believes it is entitled as a 
result of said event.  The opposing party shall submit any 
response to ENGINEER and the claimant within 30 days 
after receipt of the claimant’s last submittal (unless 
ENGINEER allows additional time). 
 
 B. ENGINEER’s Decision:   ENGINEER will render 
a formal decision in writing within 30 days after receipt of 
the last submittal of the claimant or the last submittal of the 
opposing party, if any.  ENGINEER’s written decision on 
such Claim, dispute, or other matter will be final and 
binding upon OWNER and CONTRACTOR unless: 
 

1. an appeal from ENGINEER’s decision is 
taken within the time limits and in accordance with 
the dispute resolution procedures set forth in Article 
16; or 

 
2. if no such dispute resolution procedures 

have been set forth in Article 16, a written notice of 
intention to appeal from ENGINEER’s written 
decision is delivered by OWNER or CONTRAC-
TOR to the other and to ENGINEER within 30 days 
after the date of such decision, and a formal 
proceeding is instituted by the appealing party in a 
forum of competent jurisdiction within 60 days after 
the date of such decision or within 60 days after 
Substantial Completion, whichever is later (unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR), to exercise such rights or 
remedies as the appealing party may have with 
respect to such Claim, dispute, or other matter in 
accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations.  



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 31

 
 C. If ENGINEER does not render a formal decision 
in writing within the time stated in paragraph 10.05.B, a 
decision denying the Claim in its entirety shall be deemed 
to have been issued 31 days after receipt of the last 
submittal of  the claimant or the last submittal of the 
opposing party, if any. 
 
 D. No Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price or 
Contract Times (or Milestones) will be valid if not 
submitted in accordance with this paragraph 10.05. 
 
 
ARTICLE 11 - COST OF THE WORK; CASH 
ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK 
_______________________________________________ 
 
11.01 Cost of the Work  
 
 A. Costs Included:  The term Cost of the Work 
means the sum of all costs necessarily incurred and paid by 
CONTRACTOR in the proper performance of the Work.  
When the value of any Work covered by a Change Order or 
when a Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price is 
determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, the costs to be 
reimbursed to CONTRACTOR will be only those 
additional or incremental costs required because of the 
change in the Work or because of the event giving rise to 
the Claim.  Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing 
by OWNER, such costs shall be in amounts no higher than 
those prevailing in the locality of the Project, shall include 
only the following items, and shall not include any of the 
costs itemized in paragraph 11.01.B. 
 

1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct 
employ of CONTRACTOR in the performance of 
the Work under schedules of job classifications 
agreed upon by OWNER and CONTRACTOR.  
Such employees shall include without limitation 
superintendents, foremen, and other personnel 
employed full time at the Site.  Payroll costs for 
employees not employed full time on the Work shall 
be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on 
the Work.  Payroll costs shall include, but not be 
limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of fringe 
benefits, which shall include social security 
contributions, unemployment, excise, and payroll 
taxes, workers’ compensation, health and retirement 
benefits, bonuses, sick leave, vacation and holiday 
pay applicable thereto.  The expenses of performing 
Work outside of regular working hours, on 
Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be 
included in the above to the extent authorized by 
OWNER. 

 

2. Cost of all materials and equipment fur-
nished and incorporated in the Work, including 
costs of transportation and storage thereof, and 
Suppliers’ field services required in connection 
therewith.  All cash discounts shall accrue to 
CONTRACTOR unless OWNER deposits funds 
with CONTRACTOR with which to make pay-
ments, in which case the cash discounts shall accrue 
to OWNER.  All trade discounts, rebates and 
refunds and returns from sale of surplus materials 
and equipment shall accrue to OWNER, and 
CONTRACTOR shall make provisions so that they 
may be obtained. 

 
3. Payments made by CONTRACTOR to  

Subcontractors for Work performed  by 
Subcontractors.  If required by OWNER, CON-
TRACTOR shall obtain competitive bids from 
subcontractors acceptable to OWNER and CON-
TRACTOR and shall deliver such bids to OWNER, 
who will then determine, with the advice of ENGI-
NEER, which bids, if any, will be acceptable.  If 
any subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to 
be paid on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, 
the Subcontractor’s Cost of the Work and fee shall 
be determined in the same manner as 
CONTRACTOR’s Cost of the Work and fee as 
provided in this paragraph 11.01. 

 
4. Costs of special consultants (including 

but not limited to engineers, architects, testing 
laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) 
employed for services specifically related to the 
Work. 

 
5. Supplemental costs including the 

following: 
 

a. The proportion of necessary transportation, 
travel, and subsistence expenses of 
CONTRACTOR’s employees incurred in discharge 
of duties connected with the Work. 

 
b. Cost, including transportation and main-

tenance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, 
machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facili-
ties at the Site, and hand tools not owned by the 
workers, which are consumed in the performance of 
the Work, and cost, less market value, of such items 
used but not consumed which remain the property 
of CONTRACTOR. 

 
c.  Rentals of all construction equipment 

and machinery, and the parts thereof whether rented 
from CONTRACTOR or others in accordance with 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 32

rental agreements approved by OWNER with the 
advice of ENGINEER, and the costs of 
transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, 
dismantling, and removal thereof.  All such costs 
shall be in accordance with the terms of said rental 
agreements.  The rental of any such equipment, ma-
chinery, or parts shall cease when the use thereof is 
no longer necessary for the Work. 

 
d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar 

taxes related to the Work, and for which CON-
TRACTOR is liable, imposed by Laws and Regu-
lations. 

 
e . Deposits lost for causes other than negli-

gence of CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of 
them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, 
and royalty payments and fees for permits and 
licenses. 

 
f.  Losses and damages (and related 

expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not 
compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained 
by CONTRACTOR in connection with the perfor-
mance of the Work (except losses and damages 
within the deductible amounts of property insurance 
established in accordance with paragraph 5.06.D), 
provided such losses and damages have resulted 
from causes other than the negligence of 
CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, or anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them or 
for whose acts any of them may be liable.  Such 
losses shall include settlements made with the 
written consent and approval of OWNER.  No such 
losses, damages, and expenses shall be included in 
the Cost of the Work for the purpose of determining 
CONTRACTOR’s fee. 

 
g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary 

facilities at the Site. 
 
h. Minor expenses such as telegrams, long 

distance telephone calls, telephone service at the 
Site, expressage, and similar petty cash items in 
connection with the Work. 

 
i.  When the Cost of the Work is used to 

determine the value of a Change Order or of a 
Claim, the cost of premiums for additional Bonds 
and insurance required because of the changes in the 
Work or caused by the event giving rise to the 
Claim. 

 

j. When all the Work is performed on the basis 
of cost-plus, the costs of premiums for all Bonds 
and insurance CONTRACTOR is required by the 
Contract Documents to purchase and maintain. 

 
 B. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work shall 
not include any of the following items: 
 

1. Payroll costs and other compensation of 
CONTRACTOR’s officers, executives, principals 
(of partnerships and sole proprietorships), general 
managers, engineers, architects, estimators, attor-
neys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and con-
tracting agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and 
other personnel employed by CONTRACTOR, 
whether at the Site or in CONTRACTOR’s princi-
pal or branch office for general administration of the 
Work and not specifically included in the agreed 
upon schedule of job classifications referred to in 
paragraph 11.01.A.1 or specifically covered by 
paragraph 11.01.A.4, all of which are to be 
considered administrative costs covered by the 
CONTRACTOR’s fee. 

 
2. Expenses of CONTRACTOR’s principal 

and branch offices other than CONTRACTOR’s 
office at the Site. 

 
3. Any part of CONTRACTOR’s capital 

expenses, including interest on CONTRACTOR’s 
capital employed for the Work and charges against 
CONTRACTOR for delinquent payments. 

 
4. Costs due to the negligence of CON-

TRACTOR, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly 
or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose 
acts any of them may be liable, including but not 
limited to, the correction of defective Work, 
disposal of materials or equipment wrongly 
supplied, and making good any damage to property. 

 
5. Other overhead or general expense costs 

of any kind and the costs of any item not 
specifically and expressly included in paragraphs 
11.01.A and 11.01.B. 

 
 C. CONTRACTOR’s Fee:  When all the Work is 
performed on the basis of cost-plus, CONTRACTOR’s fee 
shall be determined as set forth in the Agreement.  When 
the value of any Work covered by a Change Order or when 
a Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price is determined 
on the basis of Cost of the Work, CONTRACTOR’s fee 
shall be determined as set forth in paragraph 12.01.C. 
 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 33

 D. Documentation:  Whenever the Cost of the Work 
for any purpose is to be determined pursuant to paragraphs 
11.01.A and 11.01.B, CONTRACTOR will establish and 
maintain records thereof in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices and submit in a form 
acceptable to ENGINEER an itemized cost breakdown 
together with supporting data. 
 
11.02 Cash Allowances  
 
 A. It is understood that CONTRACTOR has includ-
ed in the Contract Price all allowances so named in the 
Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered 
to be  performed for such sums as may be acceptable to 
OWNER and ENGINEER.  CONTRACTOR agrees that: 
 

1. the allowances include the cost to CON-
TRACTOR (less any applicable trade discounts) of 
materials and equipment required by the allowances 
to be delivered at the Site, and all applicable taxes; 
and 

 
2. CONTRACTOR’s costs for unloading 

and handling on the Site, labor, installation costs, 
overhead, profit, and other expenses contemplated 
for the allowances have been included in the 
Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no 
demand for additional payment on account of any of 
the foregoing will be valid. 

 
 B. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change 
Order will be issued as recommended by ENGINEER to 
reflect actual amounts due CONTRACTOR on account of 
Work covered by allowances, and the Contract Price shall 
be correspondingly adjusted. 
 
11.03 Unit Price Work  
 
 A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or 
part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, initially the 
Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price 
Work an amount equal to the sum of the unit price for each 
separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the 
estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agree-
ment.  The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work 
are not guaranteed and are solely for the purpose of 
comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract 
Price.  Determinations of the actual quantities and 
classifications of Unit Price Work performed by 
CONTRACTOR will be made by ENGINEER subject to 
the provisions of paragraph 9.08. 
 
 B. Each unit price will be deemed to include an 
amount considered by CONTRACTOR to be adequate to 

cover CONTRACTOR’s overhead and profit for each 
separately identified item. 
 
 C. OWNER or CONTRACTOR may make a Claim 
for an adjustment in the Contract Price in accordance with 
paragraph 10.05 if: 
 

1. the quantity of any item of Unit Price 
Work performed by CONTRACTOR differs mate-
rially and significantly from the estimated quantity 
of such item indicated in the Agreement; and  

 
2. there is no corresponding adjustment 

with respect any other item of Work; and 
 
3. if CONTRACTOR believes that 

CONTRACTOR is entitled to an increase in 
Contract Price as a result of having incurred addi-
tional expense or OWNER believes that OWNER is 
entitled to a decrease in Contract Price and the 
parties are unable to agree as to the amount of any 
such increase or decrease. 

 
 
ARTICLE 12 - CHANGE OF CONTRACT PRICE; 
CHANGE OF CONTRACT TIMES 
_______________________________________________ 
 
12.01 Change of Contract Price  
 
 A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a 
Change Order or by a Written Amendment.  Any Claim for 
an adjustment in the Contract Price shall be based on 
written notice submitted by the party making the Claim to 
the ENGINEER and the other party to the Contract in 
accordance with the provisions of paragraph 10.05.   
 
 B. The value of any Work covered by a Change 
Order or of any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract 
Price will be determined as follows: 
 

1. where the Work involved is covered by 
unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, by 
application of such unit prices to the quantities of 
the items involved (subject to the provisions of 
paragraph 11.03 ); or 

 
2. where the Work involved is not covered 

by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, 
by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include 
an allowance for overhead and profit not necessarily 
in accordance with paragraph 12.01.C.2); or 

 
3. where the Work involved is not covered 

by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 34

and agreement to a lump sum is not reached under 
paragraph 12.01.B.2, on the basis of the Cost of the 
Work (determined as provided in paragraph 11.01) 
plus a CONTRACTOR’s fee for overhead and 
profit (determined as provided in paragraph 
12.01.C). 

 
 C. CONTRACTOR’s Fee:  The CONTRACTOR’s 
fee for overhead and profit shall be determined as follows: 
 

1. a mutually acceptable fixed fee; or  
 
2. if a fixed fee is not agreed upon, then a 

fee based on the following percentages of the 
various portions of the Cost of the Work: 

 
a. for costs incurred under paragraphs 

11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2, the CONTRACTOR’s 
fee shall be 15 percent; 

 
b. for costs incurred under paragraph 

11.01.A.3, the CONTRACTOR’s fee shall be 
five percent;  

 
c. where one or more tiers of subcon-

tracts are on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a 
fee and no fixed fee is agreed upon, the intent of 
paragraph 12.01.C.2.a is that the Subcontractor 
who actually performs  the Work, at whatever 
tier, will be paid a fee of 15 percent of the costs 
incurred by such Subcontractor under 
paragraphs 11.01.A.1 and 11.01.A.2 and that 
any higher tier Subcontractor and CON-
TRACTOR will each be paid a fee of five 
percent of the amount paid to the next lower tier 
Subcontractor; 

 
d. no fee shall be payable on the basis of 

costs itemized under paragraphs 11.01.A.4, 
11.01.A.5, and 11.01.B;  

 
e. the amount of credit to be allowed by 

CONTRACTOR to OWNER for any change 
which results in a net decrease in cost will be the 
amount of the actual net decrease in cost plus a 
deduction in CONTRACTOR’s fee by an 
amount equal to five percent of such net 
decrease; and 

 
f. when both additions and credits are in-

volved in any one change, the adjustment in 
CONTRACTOR’s fee shall be computed on the 
basis of the net change in accordance with para-
graphs 12.01.C.2.a through 12.01.C.2.e, inclu-
sive. 

 
12.02 Change of Contract Times  
 
 A. The Contract Times (or Milestones) may only be 
changed by a Change Order or by a Written Amendment.  
Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times (or 
Milestones) shall be based on written notice submitted by 
the party making the claim to the ENGINEER and the other 
party to the Contract in accordance with the provisions of 
paragraph 10.05.  
 
 B. Any adjustment of the Contract Times (or 
Milestones) covered by a Change Order or of any Claim for 
an adjustment in the Contract Times (or Milestones) will be 
determined in accordance with the provisions of this 
Article 12. 
 
12.03 Delays Beyond CONTRACTOR’s Control  
 
 A. Where CONTRACTOR is prevented from 
completing any part of the Work within the Contract Times 
(or Milestones) due to delay beyond the control of 
CONTRACTOR, the Contract Times (or Milestones) will 
be extended in an amount equal to the time lost due to such 
delay if a Claim is made therefor as provided in paragraph 
12.02.A.  Delays beyond the control of CONTRACTOR 
shall include, but not be limited to, acts or neglect by 
OWNER, acts or neglect of utility owners or other 
contractors performing other work as contemplated by 
Article 7, fires, floods, epidemics, abnormal weather 
conditions, or acts of God.   
 
12.04 Delays Within CONTRACTOR’s Control  
 
 A. The Contract Times (or Milestones) will not be 
extended due to delays within the control of 
CONTRACTOR.  Delays attributable to and within the 
control of a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed to 
be delays within the control of CONTRACTOR. 
 
12.05 Delays Beyond OWNER’s and CONTRACTOR’s 
Control  
 A. Where CONTRACTOR is prevented from 
completing any part of the Work within the Contract Times 
(or Milestones) due to delay beyond the control of both 
OWNER and CONTRACTOR, an extension of the 
Contract Times (or Milestones) in an amount equal to the 
time lost due to such delay shall be CONTRACTOR’s sole 
and exclusive remedy for such delay. 
 
12.06 Delay Damages  
 
 A. In no event shall OWNER or ENGINEER be 
liable to CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, 
or any other person or organization, or to any surety for or 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 35

employee or agent of any of them, for damages arising out 
of or resulting from: 
 

1. delays caused by or within the control of 
CONTRACTOR; or  

 
2. delays beyond the control of both 

OWNER and CONTRACTOR including but not 
limited to fires, floods, epidemics, abnormal 
weather conditions, acts of God, or acts or neglect 
by utility owners or other contractors performing 
other work as contemplated by Article 7. 

 
 B. Nothing in this paragraph 12.06 bars a change in 
Contract Price pursuant to this Article 12 to compensate 
CONTRACTOR due to delay, interference, or disruption 
directly attributable to actions or inactions of OWNER or 
anyone for whom OWNER is responsible. 
 
 
ARTICLE 13 - TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; 
CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF 
DEFECTIVE WORK 
_______________________________________________ 
 
13.01 Notice of Defects  
 
 A. Prompt notice of all defective Work of which 
OWNER or ENGINEER has actual knowledge will be 
given to CONTRACTOR.  All defective Work may be 
rejected, corrected, or accepted as provided in this 
Article 13. 
 
13.02 Access to Work  
 
 A. OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s Con-
sultants, other representatives and personnel of OWNER, 
independent testing laboratories, and governmental 
agencies with jurisdictional interests will have access to the 
Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, 
inspecting, and testing.  CONTRACTOR shall provide 
them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise 
them of CONTRACTOR’s Site safety procedures and 
programs so that they may comply therewith as applicable. 
 
13.03 Tests and Inspections  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall give ENGINEER timely 
notice of readiness of the Work for all required inspections, 
tests, or approvals and shall cooperate with inspection and 
testing personnel to facilitate required inspections or tests. 
 
 B. OWNER shall employ and pay for the services of 
an independent testing laboratory to perform all 

inspections, tests, or approvals required by the Contract 
Documents except: 
 

1. for inspections, tests, or approvals 
covered by paragraphs 13.03.C and 13.03.D below; 

 
2. that costs incurred in connection with 

tests or inspections conducted pursuant to paragraph 
13.04.B  shall be paid as provided in said paragraph 
13.04.B; and 

 
3. as otherwise specifically provided in the 

Contract Documents. 
 
 C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having 
jurisdiction require any Work (or part thereof) specifically 
to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or 
other representative of such public body, CONTRACTOR 
shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining 
such inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in 
connection therewith, and furnish ENGINEER the required 
certificates of inspection or approval.   
 
 D. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for 
arranging and obtaining and shall pay all costs in connec-
tion with any inspections, tests, or approvals required for 
OWNER’s and ENGINEER’s acceptance of materials or 
equipment to be incorporated in the Work; or acceptance of 
materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for 
approval prior to CONTRACTOR’s purchase thereof for 
incorporation in the Work.  Such inspections, tests, or 
approvals shall be performed by organizations acceptable to 
OWNER and ENGINEER. 
 
 E. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be 
inspected, tested, or approved is covered by CONTRAC-
TOR without written concurrence of ENGINEER, it must, 
if requested by ENGINEER, be uncovered for observation. 
 
 F. Uncovering Work as provided in paragraph 
13.03.E shall be at CONTRACTOR’s expense unless 
CONTRACTOR has given ENGINEER timely notice of 
CONTRACTOR’s intention to cover the same and ENGI-
NEER has not acted with reasonable promptness in 
response to such notice. 
 
13.04 Uncovering Work  
 
 A. If any Work is covered contrary to the written 
request of ENGINEER, it must, if requested by ENGI-
NEER, be uncovered for ENGINEER’s observation and 
replaced at CONTRACTOR’s expense. 
 
 B. If ENGINEER considers it necessary or advisable 
that covered Work be observed by ENGINEER or inspect-



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 36

ed or tested by others, CONTRACTOR, at ENGINEER’s 
request, shall uncover, expose, or otherwise make available 
for observation, inspection, or testing as ENGINEER may 
require, that portion of the Work in question, furnishing all 
necessary labor, material, and equipment.  If it is found that 
such Work is defective, CONTRACTOR shall pay all 
Claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not 
limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and all court or 
arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of 
or relating to such uncovering, exposure, observation, 
inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory replacement or 
reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of 
repair or replacement of work of others); and OWNER 
shall be entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract 
Price.  If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount 
thereof, OWNER may make a Claim therefor as provided 
in paragraph 10.05. If, however, such Work is not found to 
be defective, CONTRACTOR shall be allowed an increase 
in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times 
(or Milestones), or both, directly attributable to such 
uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, 
replacement, and reconstruction.  If the parties are unable to 
agree as to the amount or extent thereof, CONTRACTOR 
may make a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05. 
 
13.05 OWNER May Stop the Work  
 
 A. If the Work is defective, or CONTRACTOR fails 
to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or 
equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that 
the completed Work will conform to the Contract 
Documents, OWNER may order CONTRACTOR to stop 
the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such 
order has been eliminated; however, this right of OWNER 
to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part 
of OWNER to exercise this right for the benefit of 
CONTRACTOR, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any 
other individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or 
agent of any of them. 
 
13.06 Correction or Removal of Defective Work  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR shall correct all defective Work, 
whether or not fabricated, installed, or completed, or, if the 
Work has been rejected by ENGINEER, remove it from the 
Project and replace it with Work that is not defective.  
CONTRACTOR shall pay all Claims, costs, losses, and 
damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges 
of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) 
arising out of or relating to such correction or removal 
(including but not limited to all costs of repair or 
replacement of work of others). 
 

13.07 Correction Period  
 
 A. If within one year after the date of Substantial 
Completion or such longer period of time as may be 
prescribed by Laws or Regulations or by the terms of any 
applicable special guarantee required by the Contract 
Documents or by any specific provision of the Contract 
Documents, any Work is found to be defective, or if the 
repair of any damages to the land or areas made available 
for CONTRACTOR’s use by OWNER or permitted by 
Laws and Regulations as contemplated in paragraph 6.11.A 
is found to be defective, CONTRACTOR shall promptly, 
without cost to OWNER and in accordance with 
OWNER’s written instructions: (i) repair such defective 
land or areas, or (ii) correct such defective Work or, if the 
defective Work has been rejected by OWNER, remove it 
from the Project and replace it with Work that is not 
defective, and (iii) satisfactorily correct or repair or remove 
and replace any damage to other Work, to the work of 
others or other land or areas resulting therefrom.  If 
CONTRACTOR does not promptly comply with the terms 
of such instructions, or in an emergency where delay would 
cause serious risk of loss or damage, OWNER may have 
the defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the 
rejected Work removed and replaced, and all Claims, costs, 
losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees 
and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute 
resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction 
or repair or such removal and replacement (including but 
not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of 
others) will be paid by CONTRACTOR. 
 
 B. In special circumstances where a particular item of 
equipment is placed in continuous service before 
Substantial Completion of all the Work, the correction 
period for that item may start to run from an earlier date if 
so provided in the Specifications or by Written Amend-
ment. 
 
 C. Where defective Work (and damage to other 
Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected or removed 
and replaced under this paragraph 13.07, the correction 
period hereunder with respect to such Work will be 
extended for an additional period of one year after such 
correction or removal and replacement has been 
satisfactorily completed. 
 
 D. CONTRACTOR’s obligations under this 
paragraph 13.07 are in addition to any other obligation or 
warranty.  The provisions of this paragraph 13.07 shall not 
be construed as a substitute for or a waiver of the 
provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose. 
 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 37

13.08 Acceptance of Defective Work  
 
 A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and 
replacement of defective Work, OWNER (and, prior to 
ENGINEER’s recommendation of final payment,  
ENGINEER) prefers to accept it, OWNER may do so.  
CONTRACTOR shall pay all Claims, costs, losses, and 
damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges 
of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals 
and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) 
attributable to OWNER’s evaluation of and determination 
to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved 
by ENGINEER as to reasonableness) and the diminished 
value of the Work to the extent not otherwise paid by 
CONTRACTOR pursuant to this sentence.  If any such 
acceptance occurs prior to ENGINEER’s recommendation 
of final payment, a Change Order will be issued 
incorporating the necessary revisions in the Contract 
Documents with respect to the Work, and OWNER shall be 
entitled to an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price, 
reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted.  If the 
parties are unable to agree as to the amount thereof, 
OWNER may make a Claim therefor as provided in 
paragraph 10.05.  If the acceptance occurs after such 
recommendation, an appropriate amount will be paid by 
CONTRACTOR to OWNER. 
 
13.09 OWNER May Correct Defective Work  
 
 A. If CONTRACTOR fails within a reasonable time 
after written notice from ENGINEER to correct defective 
Work or to remove and replace rejected Work as required 
by ENGINEER in accordance with paragraph 13.06.A, or 
if CONTRACTOR fails to perform the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents, or if CONTRACTOR fails to 
comply with any other provision of the Contract 
Documents, OWNER may, after seven days written notice 
to CONTRACTOR, correct and remedy any such 
deficiency. 
 
 B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this 
paragraph, OWNER shall proceed expeditiously.  In 
connection with such corrective and remedial action, 
OWNER may exclude CONTRACTOR from all or part of 
the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and 
suspend CONTRACTOR’s services related thereto, take 
possession of CONTRACTOR’s tools, appliances, con-
struction equipment and machinery at the Site, and incorpo-
rate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the 
Site or for which OWNER has paid CONTRACTOR but 
which are stored elsewhere.  CONTRACTOR shall allow 
OWNER, OWNER’s representatives, agents and employ-
ees, OWNER’s other contractors, and ENGINEER and 
ENGINEER’s Consultants access to the Site to enable 

OWNER to exercise the rights and remedies under this 
paragraph. 
 
 C. All Claims, costs, losses, and damages (including 
but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 
architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court 
or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) incurred or 
sustained by OWNER in exercising the rights and remedies 
under this paragraph 13.09 will be charged against CON-
TRACTOR, and a Change Order will be issued incorpo-
rating the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents 
with respect to the Work; and OWNER shall be entitled to 
an appropriate decrease in the Contract Price.  If the parties 
are unable to agree as to the amount of the adjustment, 
OWNER may make a Claim therefor as provided in 
paragraph 10.05.  Such claims, costs, losses and damages 
will include but not be limited to all costs of repair, or 
replacement of work of others destroyed or damaged by 
correction, removal, or replacement of CONTRACTOR’s 
defective Work. 
 
 D. CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed an exten-
sion of the Contract Times (or Milestones) because of any 
delay in the performance of the Work attributable to the 
exercise by OWNER of OWNER’s rights and remedies 
under this paragraph 13.09. 
 
 
ARTICLE 14 - PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR AND 
COMPLETION 
_______________________________________________ 
 
14.01 Schedule of Values  
 
 A. The schedule of values established as provided in 
paragraph 2.07.A will serve as the basis for progress 
payments and will be incorporated into a form of Applica-
tion for Payment acceptable to ENGINEER.  Progress 
payments on account of Unit Price Work will be based on 
the number of units completed. 
 
14.02 Progress Payments  
 
 A. Applications for Payments 
 

1. At least 20 days before the date estab-
lished for each progress payment (but not more 
often than once a month), CONTRACTOR shall 
submit to ENGINEER for review an Application for 
Payment filled out and signed by CONTRACTOR 
covering the Work completed as of the date of the 
Application and accompanied by such supporting 
documentation as is required by the Contract Docu-
ments.  If payment is requested on the basis of 
materials and equipment not incorporated in the 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 38

Work but delivered and suitably stored at the Site or 
at another location agreed to in writing, the Applica-
tion for Payment shall also be accompanied by a bill 
of sale, invoice, or other documentation warranting 
that OWNER has received the materials and equip-
ment free and clear of all Liens and evidence that 
the materials and equipment are covered by 
appropriate property insurance or other arrange-
ments to protect OWNER’s interest therein, all of 
which must be satisfactory to OWNER.   

 
2. Beginning with the second Application 

for Payment, each Application shall include an 
affidavit of CONTRACTOR stating that all 
previous progress payments received on account of 
the Work have been applied on account to discharge 
CONTRACTOR’s legitimate obligations associated 
with prior Applications for Payment. 

 
3. The amount of retainage with respect to 

progress payments will be as stipulated in the 
Agreement. 

 
 B. Review of Applications 
 

1. ENGINEER will, within 10 days after 
receipt of each Application for Payment, either 
indicate in writing a recommendation of payment 
and present the Application to OWNER or return 
the Application to CONTRACTOR indicating in 
writing ENGINEER’s reasons for refusing to 
recommend payment.  In the latter case, CON-
TRACTOR may make the necessary corrections 
and resubmit the Application. 

 
2. ENGINEER’s recommendation of any 

payment requested in an Application for Payment 
will constitute a representation by ENGINEER to 
OWNER, based on ENGINEER’s observations on 
the Site of the executed Work as an experienced and 
qualified design professional and on ENGINEER's 
review of the Application for Payment and the 
accompanying data and schedules, that to the best of 
ENGINEER’s knowledge, information and belief:  

 
a. the Work has progressed to the point 

indicated; 
 
b. the quality of the Work is generally in 

accordance with the Contract Documents (sub-
ject to an evaluation of the Work as a function-
ing whole prior to or upon Substantial Comple-
tion, to the results of any subsequent tests called 
for in the Contract Documents, to a final deter-
mination of quantities and classifications for 

Unit Price Work under paragraph 9.08, and to 
any other qualifications stated in the 
recommendation); and  

 
c. the conditions precedent to 

CONTRACTOR’s being entitled to such pay-
ment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it 
is ENGINEER’s responsibility to observe the 
Work. 

 
3.  By recommending any such payment 

ENGINEER will not thereby be deemed to have 
represented that: (i) inspections made to check the 
quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been 
performed have been exhaustive, extended to every 
aspect of the Work in progress, or involved detailed 
inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities 
specifically assigned to ENGINEER in the Contract 
Documents; or (ii) that there may not be other 
matters or issues between the parties that might 
entitle CONTRACTOR to be paid additionally by 
OWNER or entitle OWNER to withhold payment to 
CONTRACTOR. 

 
4. Neither ENGINEER’s review of 

CONTRACTOR’s Work for the purposes of recom-
mending payments nor ENGINEER’s recommenda-
tion of any payment, including final payment, will 
impose responsibility on ENGINEER to supervise, 
direct, or control the Work or for the means, meth-
ods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of 
construction, or the safety precautions and programs 
incident thereto, or for  CONTRACTOR’s failure to 
comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to 
CONTRACTOR’s performance of the Work. 
Additionally, said review or recommendation will 
not impose responsibility on ENGINEER to make 
any examination to ascertain how or for what 
purposes CONTRACTOR has used the moneys 
paid on account of the Contract Price, or to 
determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or 
equipment has passed to OWNER free and clear of 
any Liens. 

 
5. ENGINEER may refuse to recommend 

the whole or any part of any payment if, in 
ENGINEER’s opinion, it would be incorrect to 
make the representations to OWNER referred to in 
paragraph 14.02.B.2.  ENGINEER may also refuse 
to recommend any such payment or, because of 
subsequently discovered evidence or the results of 
subsequent inspections or tests, revise or revoke any 
such payment recommendation previously made, to 
such extent as may be necessary in ENGINEER’s 
opinion to protect OWNER from loss because: 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 39

 
a. the Work is defective, or completed 

Work has been damaged, requiring correction or 
replacement; 

 
b. the Contract Price has been reduced by 

Written Amendment or Change Orders; 
 
c. OWNER has been required to correct 

defective Work or complete Work in accordance 
with paragraph 13.09; or 

 
d. ENGINEER has actual knowledge of the 

occurrence of any of the events enumerated in 
paragraph 15.02.A. 

 
 C. Payment Becomes Due 
 

1. Ten days after presentation of the 
Application for Payment to OWNER with 
ENGINEER’s recommendation, the amount recom-
mended will (subject to the provisions of paragraph 
14.02.D) become due, and when due will be paid by 
OWNER to CONTRACTOR. 

 
 D. Reduction in Payment 
 

1. OWNER may refuse to make payment of 
the full amount recommended by ENGINEER 
because: 

 
a. claims have been made against OWNER 

on account of CONTRACTOR’s performance 
or furnishing of the Work; 

 
b. Liens have been filed in connection with 

the Work, except where CONTRACTOR has 
delivered a specific Bond satisfactory to OWN-
ER to secure the satisfaction and discharge of 
such Liens; 

 
c. there are other items entitling OWNER 

to a set-off against the amount recommended; or 
 
d. OWNER has actual knowledge of the 

occurrence of any of the events enumerated in 
paragraphs 14.02.B.5.a through 14.02.B.5.c or 
paragraph 15.02.A. 

 
2. If OWNER refuses to make payment of 

the full amount recommended by ENGINEER, 
OWNER must give CONTRACTOR immediate 
written notice (with a copy to ENGINEER) stating 
the reasons for such action and promptly pay CON-
TRACTOR any amount remaining after deduction 

of the amount so withheld.  OWNER shall promptly 
pay CONTRACTOR the amount so withheld, or 
any adjustment thereto agreed to by OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR, when CONTRACTOR corrects to 
OWNER’s satisfaction the reasons for such action. 

 
3. If it is subsequently determined that 

OWNER’s refusal of payment was not justified, the 
amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an 
amount due as determined by paragraph 14.02.C.1. 

 
14.03 CONTRACTOR’s Warranty of Title  
 
 A. CONTRACTOR warrants and guarantees that title 
to all Work, materials, and equipment covered by any 
Application for Payment, whether incorporated in the 
Project or not, will pass to OWNER no later than the time 
of payment free and clear of all Liens. 
 
14.04 Substantial Completion  
 
 A. When CONTRACTOR considers the entire Work 
ready for its intended use CONTRACTOR shall notify 
OWNER and ENGINEER in writing that the entire Work 
is substantially complete (except for items specifically 
listed by CONTRACTOR as incomplete) and request that 
ENGINEER issue a certificate of Substantial Completion.  
Promptly thereafter, OWNER, CONTRACTOR, and 
ENGINEER shall make an inspection of the Work to 
determine the status of completion.  If ENGINEER does 
not consider the Work substantially complete, ENGINEER 
will notify CONTRACTOR in writing giving the reasons 
therefor.  If ENGINEER considers the Work substantially 
complete, ENGINEER will prepare and deliver to OWNER 
a tentative certificate of Substantial Completion which shall 
fix the date of Substantial Completion.  There shall be 
attached to the certificate a tentative list of items to be 
completed or corrected before final payment.  OWNER 
shall have seven days after receipt of the tentative certifi-
cate during which to make written objection to ENGINEER 
as to any provisions of the certificate or attached list.  If, 
after considering such objections, ENGINEER concludes 
that the Work is not substantially complete, ENGINEER 
will within 14 days after submission of the tentative certifi-
cate to OWNER notify CONTRACTOR in writing, stating 
the reasons therefor.  If, after consideration of OWNER’s 
objections, ENGINEER considers the Work substantially 
complete, ENGINEER will within said 14 days execute and 
deliver to OWNER and CONTRACTOR a definitive 
certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised 
tentative list of items to be completed or corrected) 
reflecting such changes from the tentative certificate as 
ENGINEER believes justified after consideration of any 
objections from OWNER.  At the time of delivery of the 
tentative certificate of Substantial Completion ENGINEER 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 40

will deliver to OWNER and CONTRACTOR a written 
recommendation as to division of responsibilities pending 
final payment between OWNER and CONTRACTOR with 
respect to security, operation, safety, and protection of the 
Work, maintenance, heat, utilities, insurance, and 
warranties and guarantees.  Unless OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR agree otherwise in writing and so inform 
ENGINEER in writing prior to ENGINEER’s issuing the 
definitive certificate of Substantial Completion, 
ENGINEER’s aforesaid recommendation will be binding 
on OWNER and CONTRACTOR until final payment. 
 
 B. OWNER shall have the right to exclude 
CONTRACTOR from the Site after the date of Substantial 
Completion, but OWNER shall allow CONTRACTOR 
reasonable access to complete or correct items on the 
tentative list. 
 
14.05 Partial Utilization  
 
 A. Use by OWNER at OWNER’s option of any 
substantially completed part of the Work which has 
specifically been identified in the Contract Documents, or 
which OWNER, ENGINEER, and CONTRACTOR agree 
constitutes a separately functioning and usable part of the 
Work that can be used by OWNER for its intended purpose 
without significant interference with CONTRACTOR’s 
performance of the remainder of the Work, may be 
accomplished prior to Substantial Completion of all the 
Work subject to the following conditions. 
 

1. OWNER at any time may request CON-
TRACTOR in writing to permit OWNER to use any 
such part of the Work which OWNER believes to 
be ready for its intended use and substantially 
complete.  If CONTRACTOR agrees that such part 
of the Work is substantially complete, CON-
TRACTOR will certify to OWNER and ENGI-
NEER that such part of the Work is substantially 
complete and request ENGINEER to issue a 
certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of 
the Work.  CONTRACTOR at any time may notify 
OWNER and ENGINEER in writing that 
CONTRACTOR considers any such part of the 
Work ready for its intended use and substantially 
complete and request ENGINEER to issue a certifi-
cate of Substantial Completion for that part of the 
Work.  Within a reasonable time after either such 
request, OWNER, CONTRACTOR, and 
ENGINEER shall make an inspection of that part of 
the Work to determine its status of completion.  If 
ENGINEER does not consider that part of the Work 
to be substantially complete, ENGINEER will 
notify OWNER and CONTRACTOR in writing 
giving the reasons therefor.  If ENGINEER 

considers that part of the Work to be substantially 
complete, the provisions of paragraph 14.04 will 
apply with respect to certification of Substantial 
Completion of that part of the Work and the 
division of responsibility in respect thereof and 
access thereto. 

 
2. No occupancy or separate operation of 

part of the Work may occur prior to compliance 
with the requirements of paragraph 5.10 regarding 
property insurance. 

 
14.06 Final Inspection 
 
 A. Upon written notice from CONTRACTOR that 
the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is complete, 
ENGINEER will promptly make a final inspection with 
OWNER and CONTRACTOR and will notify CON-
TRACTOR in writing of all particulars in which this 
inspection reveals that the Work is incomplete or defective. 
 CONTRACTOR shall immediately take such measures as 
are necessary to complete such Work or remedy such 
deficiencies. 
 
14.07 Final  Payment  
 
 A. Application for Payment 
 

1. After CONTRACTOR has, in the 
opinion of ENGINEER, satisfactorily completed all 
 corrections identified during the final inspection 
and has delivered, in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, all maintenance and operating 
instructions, schedules, guarantees, Bonds, 
certificates or other evidence of insurance  
certificates of inspection, marked-up record docu-
ments (as provided in paragraph 6.12), and other 
documents, CONTRACTOR may make application 
for final payment following the procedure for 
progress payments. 

 
2. The final Application for Payment shall 

be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by: 
(i) all documentation called for in the Contract 
Documents, including but not limited to the 
evidence of insurance required by subparagraph 
5.04.B.7; (ii) consent of the surety, if any, to final 
payment; and (iii) complete and legally effective 
releases or waivers (satisfactory to OWNER) of all 
Lien rights arising out of or Liens filed in 
connection with the Work. 

 
3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens 

specified in paragraph 14.07.A.2 and as approved 
by OWNER, CONTRACTOR may furnish receipts 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 41

or releases in full and an affidavit of 
CONTRACTOR that: (i) the releases and receipts 
include all labor, services, material, and equipment 
for which a Lien could be filed; and (ii) all payrolls, 
material and equipment bills, and other indebtedness 
connected with the Work for which OWNER or 
OWNER's property might in any way be 
responsible have been paid or otherwise satisfied.  If 
any Subcontractor or Supplier fails to furnish such a 
release or receipt in full, CONTRACTOR may 
furnish a Bond or other collateral satisfactory to 
OWNER to indemnify OWNER against any Lien. 

 
 B. Review of Application and Acceptance 
 

1. If, on the basis of ENGINEER’s obser-
vation of the Work during construction and final 
inspection, and ENGINEER’s review of the final 
Application for Payment and accompanying docu-
mentation as required by the Contract Documents, 
ENGINEER is satisfied that the Work has been 
completed and CONTRACTOR’s other obligations 
under the Contract Documents have been fulfilled, 
ENGINEER will, within ten days after receipt of the 
final Application for Payment, indicate in writing  
ENGINEER’s recommendation of payment and 
present the Application for Payment to OWNER for 
payment.  At the same time ENGINEER will also 
give written notice to OWNER and CON-
TRACTOR that the Work is acceptable subject to 
the provisions of paragraph 14.09.  Otherwise, 
ENGINEER will return the Application for 
Payment to CONTRACTOR, indicating in writing 
the reasons for refusing to recommend final 
payment, in which case CONTRACTOR shall make 
the necessary corrections and resubmit the 
Application for Payment.   

 
 C. Payment Becomes Due 
 

1. Thirty days after the presentation to 
OWNER of the Application for Payment and 
accompanying documentation, the amount 
recommended by ENGINEER will become due and, 
when due, will be paid by OWNER to CON-
TRACTOR. 

 
14.08 Final Completion Delayed 
 
 A. If, through no fault of CONTRACTOR, final 
completion of the Work is significantly delayed, and if 
ENGINEER so confirms, OWNER shall, upon receipt of 
CONTRACTOR’s final Application for Payment and 
recommendation of ENGINEER, and without terminating 
the Agreement, make payment of the balance due for that 

portion of the Work fully completed and accepted.  If the 
remaining balance to be held by OWNER for Work not 
fully completed or corrected is less than the retainage 
stipulated in the Agreement, and if Bonds have been 
furnished as required in paragraph 5.01, the written consent 
of the surety to the payment of the balance due for that 
portion of the Work fully completed and accepted shall be 
submitted by CONTRACTOR to ENGINEER with the 
Application for such payment.  Such payment shall be 
made under the terms and conditions governing final 
payment, except that it shall not constitute a waiver of 
Claims. 
 
14.09 Waiver of Claims  
 
 A. The making and acceptance of final payment will 
constitute: 
 

1. a waiver of all Claims by OWNER 
against CONTRACTOR, except Claims arising 
from unsettled Liens, from defective Work appear-
ing after final inspection pursuant to paragraph 
14.06, from failure to comply with the Contract 
Documents or the terms of any special guarantees 
specified therein, or from CONTRACTOR’s 
continuing obligations under the Contract Docu-
ments; and 

 
2. a waiver of all Claims by CONTRAC-

TOR against OWNER other than those previously 
made in writing which are still unsettled. 

 
 
ARTICLE 15 - SUSPENSION OF WORK AND 
TERMINATION 
_______________________________________________ 
 
15.01 OWNER May Suspend Work  
 
 A. At any time and without cause, OWNER may 
suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of not 
more than 90 consecutive days by notice in writing to 
CONTRACTOR and ENGINEER which will fix the date 
on which Work will be resumed.  CONTRACTOR shall 
resume the Work on the date so fixed.  CONTRACTOR 
shall be allowed an adjustment in the Contract Price or an 
extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly 
attributable to any such suspension if CONTRACTOR 
makes a Claim therefor as provided in paragraph 10.05. 
 
15.02 OWNER May Terminate for Cause  
 
 A.  The occurrence of any one or more of the 
following events will justify termination for cause: 
 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 42

1.  CONTRACTOR’s persistent failure to 
perform the Work in accordance with the Contract 
Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to 
supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materi-
als or equipment or failure to adhere to the progress 
schedule established under paragraph 2.07 as 
adjusted from time to time pursuant to paragraph 
6.04); 

 
2.  CONTRACTOR’s disregard of Laws or 

Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction; 
 
3.  CONTRACTOR’s disregard of the 

authority of ENGINEER; or 
 
4.  CONTRACTOR’s violation in any 

substantial way of any provisions of the Contract 
Documents. 

 
 B. If one or more of the events identified in 
paragraph 15.02.A occur, OWNER may, after giving 
CONTRACTOR (and the surety, if any) seven days written 
notice, terminate the services of CONTRACTOR, exclude 
CONTRACTOR from the Site, and take possession of the 
Work and of all CONTRACTOR’s tools, appliances, con-
struction equipment, and machinery at the Site, and use the 
same to the full extent they could be used by 
CONTRACTOR (without liability to CONTRACTOR for 
trespass or conversion), incorporate in the Work all 
materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which 
OWNER has paid CONTRACTOR but which are stored 
elsewhere, and finish the Work as OWNER may deem 
expedient.  In such case, CONTRACTOR shall not be 
entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is 
finished.  If the unpaid balance of the Contract Price 
exceeds all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including 
but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 
architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court 
or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) sustained by 
OWNER arising out of or relating to completing the Work, 
such excess will be paid to CONTRACTOR.  If such 
claims, costs, losses, and damages exceed such unpaid 
balance, CONTRACTOR shall pay the difference to 
OWNER.  Such claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred 
by OWNER will be reviewed by ENGINEER as to their 
reasonableness and, when so approved by ENGINEER, 
incorporated in a Change Order.  When exercising any 
rights or remedies under this paragraph OWNER shall not 
be required to obtain the lowest price for the Work 
performed. 
 
 C. Where CONTRACTOR’s services have been so 
terminated by OWNER, the termination will not affect any 
rights or remedies of OWNER against CONTRACTOR 
then existing or which may thereafter accrue.  Any 

retention or payment of moneys due CONTRACTOR by 
OWNER will not release CONTRACTOR from liability. 
 
15.03 OWNER May Terminate For Convenience  
 
 A. Upon seven days written notice to CON-
TRACTOR and ENGINEER, OWNER may, without cause 
and without prejudice to any other right or remedy of 
OWNER, elect to terminate the Contract.  In such case, 
CONTRACTOR shall be paid (without duplication of any 
items): 
 

1. for completed and acceptable Work 
executed in accordance with the Contract Docu-
ments prior to the effective date of termination, 
including fair and reasonable sums for overhead and 
profit on such Work; 

 
2. for expenses sustained prior to the 

effective date of  termination in performing services 
and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as re-
quired by the Contract Documents in connection 
with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable 
sums for overhead and profit on such expenses; 

 
3. for all claims, costs, losses, and damages 

(including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs)  incurred in settlement of 
terminated contracts with Subcontractors, Suppliers, 
and others; and 

 
4. for reasonable expenses directly 

attributable to termination. 
 
 B. CONTRACTOR shall not be paid on account of 
loss of anticipated profits or revenue or other economic loss 
arising out of or resulting from such termination. 
 
15.04 CONTRACTOR May Stop Work or Terminate  
 
 A. If, through no act or fault of CONTRACTOR, the 
Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive days by 
OWNER or under an order of court or other public 
authority, or ENGINEER fails to act on any Application for 
Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or OWNER 
fails for 30 days to pay CONTRACTOR any sum finally 
determined to be due, then CONTRACTOR may, upon 
seven days written notice to OWNER and ENGINEER, 
and provided OWNER or ENGINEER do not remedy such 
suspension or failure within that time, terminate the 
Contract and recover from OWNER payment on the same 
terms as provided in paragraph 15.03.  In lieu of terminat-
ing the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or 



 

 

 
 

 00700 - 43

remedy, if ENGINEER has failed to act on an Application 
for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or 
OWNER has failed for 30 days to pay CONTRACTOR 
any sum finally determined to be due, CONTRACTOR 
may, seven days after written notice to OWNER and 
ENGINEER, stop the Work until payment is made of all 
such amounts due CONTRACTOR, including interest 
thereon.  The provisions of this paragraph 15.04 are not 
intended to preclude CONTRACTOR from making a 
Claim under paragraph 10.05 for an adjustment in Contract 
Price or Contract Times or otherwise for expenses or 
damage directly attributable to CONTRACTOR’s stopping 
the Work as permitted by this paragraph. 
 
 
ARTICLE 16 - DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
                                                                                                 
 
16.01 Methods and Procedures  
 
 A. Dispute resolution methods and procedures, if 
any, shall be as set forth in the Supplementary Conditions.  
If no method and procedure has been set forth, and subject 
to the provisions of paragraphs 9.09 and 10.05, OWNER 
and CONTRACTOR may exercise such rights or remedies 
as either may otherwise have under the Contract Docu-
ments or by Laws or Regulations in respect of any dispute. 
 
 
ARTICLE 17 - MISCELLANEOUS 
_______________________________________________ 
 
17.01 Giving Notice  
 
 A. Whenever any provision of the Contract 
Documents requires the giving of written notice, it will be 
deemed to have been validly given if delivered in person to 
the individual or to a member of the firm or to an officer of 
the corporation for whom it is intended, or if delivered at or 
sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the 
last business address known to the giver of the notice. 
 
17.02 Computation of Times  
 
 A. When any period of time is referred to in the 
Contract Documents by days, it will be computed to 
exclude the first and include the last day of such period.  If 
the last day of any such period falls on a Saturday or 
Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the 
applicable jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the 
computation. 
 
17.03 Cumulative Remedies  
 

 A. The duties and obligations imposed by these 
General Conditions and the rights and remedies available 
hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are 
not to be construed in any way as a limitation of, any rights 
and remedies available to any or all of them which are 
otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by 
special warranty or guarantee, or by other provisions of the 
Contract Documents, and the provisions of this paragraph 
will be as effective as if repeated specifically in the 
Contract Documents in connection with each particular 
duty, obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply. 
 
17.04 Survival of Obligations  
 
 A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, 
and guarantees made in, required by, or given in accor-
dance with the Contract Documents, as well as all continu-
ing obligations indicated in the Contract Documents, will 
survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the 
Work or termination or completion of the Agreement. 
 
17.05 Controlling Law  
 
 A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the 
state in which the Project is located. 

 



 

 

 SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS 
 
 
 Prepared by 
 
 
 ENGINEERS JOINT CONTRACT DOCUMENTS COMMITTEE 
 
 and 
 
 Issued and Published Jointly By 
 
 SULLIVAN ENGINEERING, INC. 
 
 
 PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS IN PRIVATE PRACTICE 
 a practice division of the 
 NATIONAL SOCIETY OF PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS 
 ___________________ 
 
 AMERICAN CONSULTING ENGINEERS COUNCIL 
 
 ___________________ 
 
 
 AMERICAN SOCIETY OF CIVIL ENGINEERS 
 
 
 This document has been approved and endorsed by 
 
 The Associated General Contractors of America 
 

Construction Specifications Institute 
 

 

This Guide to the Preparation of Supplementary Conditions has been prepared for use with the Standard General 
Conditions of the Construction Contract (No. 1910-8, 1996 Edition).  Their provisions are interrelated and a change in 
one may necessitate a change in the other.  The suggested language contained in the Guide to the Preparation of 
Instructions to Bidders (No. 1910-12, 1996 Edition) is also carefully integrated with the suggested language of this 
document.  Comments concerning their usage are contained in the EJCDC User’s Guide (No. 1910-50).  

 
EJCDC No. 1910-17 (1996 Edition) 
 

Copyright ©1996 
 

National Society of Professional Engineers 
1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314 

 
American Consulting Engineers Council 

1015 15th Street, N.W., Washington, DC 20005 
 

American Society of Civil Engineers 
345 East 47th Street, New York, NY 10017 



 

 

 
 
 i

 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 Page 

I. INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................................................................2 
A. Relationship of Supplementary Conditions to Other Contract Documents .......................................................................2 

II.  SPECIFIC COMMENTS ...........................................................................................................................................................2 
SC-1.01.50 On-Call Services ...................................................................................................................................................2 
SC-2.02 Copies of Documents .................................................................................................................................................2 
SC-4.02, SC-4.03 and SC-4.04 Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions; 

Underground Facilities .....................................................................................................................................................2 
SC-4.05 Reference Points ........................................................................................................................................................2 
SC-4.06 Hazardous Environmental Condition ........................................................................................................................2 
SC-5.04 CONTRACTOR’s Liability Insurance ......................................................................................................................2 
SC-5.06.A. Property Insurance ................................................................................................................................................2 
SC-5.06.B.  Boiler, Machinery and Other Property Insurance ................................................................................................3 
SC-5.07 Waiver of Rights ........................................................................................................................................................3 
SC-6.02 Labor; Working Hours ...............................................................................................................................................3 
SC-6.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others ..................................................................................................3 
SC-6.07 Permits ........................................................................................................................................................................3 
SC-6.09 Laws and Regulations ................................................................................................................................................3 
SC-6.11 Use of Premises ..........................................................................................................................................................3 
SC-6.12 Record Documents .....................................................................................................................................................3 
SC-6.20 Indemnification ..........................................................................................................................................................3 
SC-7.02 Coordination ...............................................................................................................................................................3 
SC-7.03 Claims Between Contractors .....................................................................................................................................4 
SC-8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements ........................................................................................................................4 
SC-11.01  Cost of the Work .....................................................................................................................................................4 
SC-12.01  Change of Contract Price ........................................................................................................................................4 
SC-13.03  Tests and Inspections ..............................................................................................................................................4 
SC-13.04  Uncovering Work ...................................................................................................................................................4 
SC-13.06  Correction or Removal of Defective Work ............................................................................................................4 
SC-14.02.A Applications for Payments ...................................................................................................................................4 
SC-14.02.B Review of Applications ........................................................................................................................................4 
SC-14.05  Partial Utilization ....................................................................................................................................................5 

 

III. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................................................................................* 
 
*Exhibit 1  Indemnification agreement & Supplemental Insurance Benefits ....................................................................... 6-12



 

 

 
 
 2

I. INTRODUCTION 
 
A. Supplementary Conditions 
 
  These Supplementary Conditions amend or 
supplement the Standard General Conditions of the 
Construction Contract (No. 1910-8, 1996 Edition) and 
other provisions of the Contract Documents as indicated 
below.  All provisions which are not so amended or 
supplemented remain in full force and effect. 
 
  The terms used in these Supplementary 
Conditions will have the meanings indicated in the General 
Conditions.  Additional terms used in these Supplementary 
Conditions have the meanings indicated below, which are 
applicable to both the singular and plural thereof. 
 
SC-1.05.51 On-Call Services – Shall be defined as 
emergency services required for roadway repairs and 
improvements. 
 
SC-2.02 Copies of Documents 
 
GC-2.02 Amend the first sentence of paragraph 2.02 to 
read as follows:  “Before starting construction the owner 
shall furnish to contractor up to five (5) copies of the 
contract documents. 
 
GC-2.05.B.4  Schedule of values are not necessary on unit 
price items unless the unit price item has multiple parts or 
functions. 
  
SC-4.02 
 
Add the following new paragraph(s) immediately after 
paragraph 4.02.B: 
 
 C.  In the preparation of Drawings and Specifications, 
ENGINEER or ENGINEER’s Consultants relied upon  the 
following reports of explorations and tests of subsurface 
conditions at the Site: 
 
  1. Subsurface investigations have not been 

performed.                  
 
 D. Copies of reports and drawings itemized in SC-
4.02.C that are included with Bidding Documents.  These 
reports and drawings are part of the Contract Documents.  
CONTRACTOR is not entitled to rely upon other 
information and data utilized by ENGINEER and 
ENGINEER’s Consultants in the preparation of Drawings 
and Specifications. 
 
SC-4.03 Differing Subsurface or Physical conditions 
 

GC-4.03.C.3 In the second sentence omit “or Arbitration”. 
 
SC-4.04 Underground Facilities 
 
GC-4.04 Replace the words “Underground Facility” with 
“Public or Private Utility Facility” throughout this section. 
  
SC-4.05 Reference Points 
 
GC-4.05.A Omit the first sentence and replace as follows: 
Owner shall provide initial engineering surveys to establish 
reference points for construction which in engineers 
judgement are necessary to enable contractor to proceed 
with work.” 
 
GC-4.06.H Omit the words “or Arbitration” throughout. 
 
SC-5.04  Add the following new paragraph immediately 
after paragraph 5.04.B: 
 
  C.  The limits of liability for the insurance required 
by paragraph 5.04 of the General Conditions shall provide 
coverage for not less than the following amounts or greater 
where required by Laws and Regulations:  SEE EXHIBIT 1 
   
SC-5.06.A.  Delete paragraph 5.06.A in its entirety and 
insert the following in its place: 
 
  A.  A CONTRACTOR shall purchase and 
maintain property insurance upon the Work at the Site in 
the amount of the full replacement cost thereof.   This 
insurance shall:   
 
   1. include the interests of OWNER, 
CONTRACTOR, Subcontractors, ENGINEER, 
ENGINEER’s Consultants and any other individuals or 
entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, and the 
officers, directors, partners, employees, agents and other 
consultants and subcontractors of any of them  each of 
whom is deemed to have an insurable interest and shall be 
listed as an insured or additional insured; 
 
   2.  be written on a Builder’s Risk “all-risk” or 
open peril or special causes of loss policy form that shall at 
least include insurance for physical loss and damage to the 
Work, temporary buildings, falsework, and materials and 
equipment in transit and shall insure against at least the 
following perils or causes of loss:  fire, lightning, extended 
coverage, theft, vandalism and malicious mischief, 
earthquake, collapse, debris removal, demolition 
occasioned by enforcement of Laws and Regulations, water 
damage, and such other perils or causes of loss as may be 
specifically required by the Supplementary Conditions. 
 



 

 

 
 
 3

   3. include expenses incurred in the repair or 
replacement of any insured property (including but not 
limited to fees and charges of engineers and architects); 
 
   4. cover materials and equipment stored at 
the Site or at another location that was agreed to in writing 
by OWNER prior to being incorporated in the Work, 
provided that such materials and equipment have been 
included in an Application for Payment recommended by 
ENGINEER; and 
 

 5.  allow for partial utilization of the Work by 
OWNER; 

 
   6.  include testing and startup; and 
 

  7. be maintained in effect until final 
payment is made unless otherwise agreed to in 
writing by OWNER, CONTRACTOR and 
ENGINEER with 30 days written notice to each 
other additional insured to whom a certificate of 
insurance has been issued. 

 
  B. CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for any 
deductible or self-insured retention. 

 
 C.  The policies of insurance required to be 
purchased and maintained by CONTRACTOR in 
accordance with this paragraph SC-5.06 shall comply 
with the requirements of paragraph 5.06.C of the 
General Conditions. 

 
GC-5.06.B Omit this section in its entirety. 
 
GC-5.06.E Omit this section in its entirety. 
 
SC-5.07 Waiver of Rights 
 
GC-5.07.E Omit this section in its entirety. 
 
SC-6.06 Concerning Subcontractors, suppliers and others. 
 
SC-6.02 Labor; working hours. 
 
GC-6.02A In the first sentence replace the words 
“competent, suitable qualified personnel to survey, layout 
and construct the work” with “ a registered licensed 
surveyor to survey and layout the work and a competent, 
suitable qualified personnel to construct the work”. 
 
SC-6.06.4  Add the new paragraph immediately after 
paragraph 6.06.G: 
 
The contractor, with his bid, shall submit the list of 
following subcontractors: 

 1. Grading 
 2. Concrete 
 3. Drainage 

 4. All others proposed in the execution of this 
contract per Document 00450. 

 
  OWNER or ENGINEER may furnish to any such 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity,  to the 
extent practicable, information about amounts paid to 
CONTRACTOR on account of Work performed for 
CONTRACTOR by a particular Subcontractor, Supplier, or 
other individual or entity. 
 
SC-6.07 Patent Fees and Royalties 
 
GC-6.07 Omit the words “or Arbitration” throughout. 
 
SC-6.09 Laws and Regulations 
 
GC-6.09.B Omit the words “or Arbitration” throughout. 
 
SC-6.11.A.3 Use of Site and Other Areas 
 
GC6.11.A.3 Omit the words “or Arbitration” throughout. 
 
SC-6.12 Record Documents 
 
GC6.12.A Add the following sentence “The Owner 
reserves the option that progress payments may be withheld 
if the requirements of GC-6.12.A are not being satisfied. 
 
SC-6.20 Indemnification 
 
GC6.20 Omit the words “or Arbitration” throughout. 
 
SC-7.02 Coordination 
 
GC-7.02.B Omit the word “Owner” and replace with 
“Contractor”. 
 
SC-7.03  Add the following new paragraph immediately 
after paragraph GC-7.02: 
 
 SC-7.03  Claims Between Contractors 
 
  A. Should CONTRACTOR cause damage to the 
work or property of any separate contractor at the Site, or 
should any claim arising out of CONTRACTOR’s 
performance of the Work at the Site be made by any 
separate contractor against CONTRACTOR, OWNER, 
ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s Consultants, or the 
construction coordinator, CONTRACTOR shall promptly 
attempt to settle with such separate contractor by 
agreement, or to otherwise resolve the dispute by 
arbitration or at law.  



 

 

 
 
 4

 
  B. CONTRACTOR shall, to the fullest extent 
permitted by Laws and Regulations, indemnify and hold 
harmless OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s 
Consultants, the construction coordinator  and the officers, 
directors, partners, employees, agents and other consultants 
and subcontractors of each and any of them from and 
against all claims, costs, losses and damages (including, but 
not limited to, fees and charges of engineers, architects, 
attorneys, and other professionals and court and arbitration 
costs) arising directly, indirectly or consequentially out of 
any action, legal or equitable, brought by any separate 
contractor against OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s 
Consultants, or the construction coordinator to the extent 
said claim is based on or arises out of CONTRACTOR’s 
performance of the Work.  Should a separate contractor 
cause damage to the Work or property of CONTRACTOR 
or should the performance of work by any separate 
contractor at the Site give rise to any other Claim, 
CONTRACTOR shall not institute any action, legal or 
equitable, against OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s 
Consultants, or the construction coordinator or permit any 
action against any of them to be maintained and continued 
in its name or for its benefit in any court or before any 
arbiter which seeks to impose liability on or to recover 
damages from OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s 
Consultants or the construction coordinator on account of 
any such damage or Claim. 
 
  C. If CONTRACTOR is delayed at any time in 
performing or furnishing Work by any act or neglect of a 
separate contractor, and OWNER and CONTRACTOR are 
unable to agree as to the extent of any adjustment in 
Contract Times attributable thereto, CONTRACTOR may 
make a Claim for an extension of times in accordance with 
Article 12.  An extension of the Contract Times shall be 
CONTRACTOR’s exclusive remedy with respect to 
OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s Consultants, and 
construction coordinator for any delay, disruption, 
interference, or hindrance caused by any separate 
contractor.  This paragraph does not prevent recovery from 
OWNER, ENGINEER, ENGINEER’s Consultant, or 
construction coordinator for activities that are their 
respective responsibilities. 
 
SC-8.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements 
 
SC-8.11  Add the following new paragraph immediately 
after paragraph 8.11.A: 
 
  B. On request of CONTRACTOR prior to the 
execution of any Change Order involving a significant 
increase in the Contract Price, OWNER shall furnish to 
CONTRACTOR reasonable evidence that adequate 
financial arrangements have been made by OWNER to 

enable OWNER to fulfill the increased financial obligations 
to be undertaken by OWNER as a result of such Change 
Order. 
 
SC-11.01  Cost of the Work 
 
GC-11.01.C Omit this section in its entirety.  
 
SC-12.01  Change of Contract Price 
 
GC-12.01.B.3 Omit this section in its entirety. 
 
GC-12.01.C Omit this section in its entirety. 
 
SC-13.03  Tests and Inspections 
 
GC-13.03  Replace the word “Engineer” with 
“Owner”. 
 
GC-13.03.A In the first sentence replace the words” 
Timely Notice with “48 hour (min.) notice”. 
 
GC-13.04 Omit the words “or arbitration” throughout. 
 
GC-13.06 Omit the words “or arbitration” throughout. 
 
SC-14.02.A Applications for Payments 
 
GC-14.02.A In the first sentence replace the words “20 
Day” with “10 Days”. 
  
SC-14.02.B Review of Applications 
 
GC-14.02.B.1 In the first sentence replace the words 
“Ten” with “Fourteen”. 
 
GC-14.02.C.1 In the first sentence replace the words 
“Ten” with “Twenty”. 
 
SC-14.05.A  Add the following new paragraph 
immediately after paragraph 14.05.A.1, which is to read as 
follows: 
 
  2. OWNER may at any time request 
CONTRACTOR in writing to permit OWNER to take over 
operation of any part of the Work although it is not 
substantially complete.  A copy of such request will be sent 
to ENGINEER, and within a reasonable time thereafter 
OWNER, CONTRACTOR, and ENGINEER shall make 
an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status 
of completion and will prepare a list of the items remaining 
to be completed or corrected thereon before final payment.  
If CONTRACTOR does not object in writing to OWNER 
and ENGINEER that such part of the Work is not ready for 
separate operation by OWNER, ENGINEER will finalize 



 

 

 
 
 5

the list of items to be completed or corrected and will 
deliver such lists to OWNER and CONTRACTOR together 
with a written recommendation as to the division of 
responsibilities pending final payment between OWNER 
and CONTRACTOR with respect to security, operation, 
safety, maintenance, utilities, insurance, warranties, and 
guarantees for that part of the Work which will become 
binding upon OWNER and CONTRACTOR at the time 
when OWNER takes over such operation (unless they shall 
have otherwise agreed in writing and so informed 
ENGINEER).  During such operation and prior to 
Substantial Completion of such part of the Work, OWNER 
shall allow CONTRACTOR reasonable access to complete 
or correct items on said list and to complete other related 
Work. 
 
 Paragraph 14.05.A.2 shall be renumbered to 
14.05.A.3. 
 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

 NOTICE OF AWARD 
 
 
 Dated: ____________ 
 
TO:  Four Star Paving, LLC 
   (BIDDER) 
 
ADDRESS:  Four Star Paving, LLC 

C/O Mr. Mike Maynard 
1441 Elm Hill Pike 
Nashville, TN  37210 

 
Contract: Roadway Repairs & Improvements Fiscal Year 2022 - 2023 
 
Project: General Construction 
 
ENGINEER's Contract No. 22-002 
 
 
You are notified that your Bid dated April 12, 2022 for the above Contract has been accepted.  
You are the apparent Successful Bidder and have been awarded the Contract for Roadway 
Repairs and Improvements, Fiscal Year 2022 – 2023 as described in the construction documents. 
 

 

UNIT PRICE WORK 
 

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

  202-03 
REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF RIGID 
PAVEMENT 

S.Y. 2,500 $0.01 $25.00 

  
202-
03.01 

REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF ASPHALT 
PAVEMENT 

S.Y. 5,000 $24.00 $120,000.00 

  
202-
08.10 

REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF EXISTING CURB 
(EXTRUDED & CURB/GUTTER) 

L.F. 3,000 $0.01 $30.00 

  203-01 
ROAD & DRAINAGE EXCAVATION 
(UNCLASSIFIED) 

C.Y. 2,000 $0.01 $20.00 

  203-03 BORROW EXCAVATION (UNCLASSIFIED) C.Y. 500 $0.01 $5.00 

  203-07 FURNISHING & SPREADING TOPSOIL C.Y. 500 $0.01 $5.00 

  
209-
08.03 

TEMPORARY FILTER BARRIER (WITHOUT 
BACKING), (AFTER THE INITIAL 
INSTALLATION ALL COST ASSOCIATED 
WITH REPAIR, MAINTENANCE AND 

L.F. 500 $0.01 $5.00 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

REPLACEMENT SHALL BE AT THE 
CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.) 

  
209-
08.06 

ENHANCED SILT FENCE CHECK 
(TRAPEZOIDAL), DEPTH, OR AS DIRECTED 
BY THE ENGINEER, AFTER THE INITIAL 
INSTALLATION ALL COST ASSOCIATED 
WITH REPAIR, MAINTENANCE AND 
REPLACEMENT SHALL BE AT THE 
CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.) 

EACH 5 $100.00 $500.00 

  303-01 
MINERAL AGGREGATE TYPE A BASE 
GRADING D 

TON 5,000 $5.00 $25,000.00 

9 
303-
10.04 

MINERAL AGGREGATE (SIZE #9) TONS 500 $0.01 $5.00 

1 
307-
01.01 

ASPHALT CONCRETE MIX (PG64-22) (BPMB-
HM) GRADING A 

TON 2,500 $70.00 $175,000.00 

1 
307-
01.08 

ASPHALT CONCRETE MIX (PG64-22) (BPMB-
HM) GRADING B-M2 

TON 5,000 $72.00 $360,000.00 

1 402-01 
BITUMINOUS MATERIAL FOR PRIME COAT 
(PC) 

TON 28 $0.01 $0.28 

  402-02 AGGREGATE FOR COVER MATERIAL (PC) TON 112 $0.01 $1.12 

1 
403-
02.01 

TRACKLESS TACK COAT (TC) TON 10 $1,100.00 $11,000.00 

15 
405-
03.01 

PM REJUVENATING SCRUB SEAL S.Y 1,300 $0.01 $13.00 

13, 14 
407-
02.14 

ASPHALT PAVEMENT REPAIR  (INFRARED) L.S. 5 $1,100.00 $5,500.00 

1 
411-
01.11 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING “E” ROADWAY TON 6,000 $125.00 $750,000.00 

1, 11 
411-
01.11 
(SH) 

SPEED HUMP ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING 
“E” 

EACH 1 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 

1, 17 
411-
01.12 
(ST) 

SPEED TABLE ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING 
“E” 

EACH 1 $7,000.00 $7,000.00 

1 
411-
03.07 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) THIN LIFT ASPHALT TON 500 $88.00 $44,000.00 

1 
411-
03.10 

ACS MIX(PG76-22) GRADING D TON 6,000 $130.00 $780,000.00 

1 
411-
03.11 

ACS MIX(PG76-22) GRADING E ROADWAY TON 6,000 $130.00 $780,000.00 

1 
411-
03.12 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) THIN LIFT D ASPHALT TON 2,000 $130.00 $260,000.00 

2 
415-
01.02 

COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT S.Y. 11,250 $5.00 $56,250.00 

23 
415-
01.02 
(A) 

COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT S.Y. 3,750 $8.00 $30,000.00 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

22 
502-
08.01 

RESEALING JOINTS (HOT POURED ELASTIC) S.F. 8,000 $0.01 $80.00 

20 
604-
07.01 

RETAINING WALL (REINFORCED EARTH, 
"MSE") 

S.F. 1,000 $10.00 $10,000.00 

  
604-
07.01 

RETAINING WALL (CLASS “A” CONCRETE, 
NOT TO EXCEED 24” IN HEIGHT)  

L.F. 200 $25.00 $5,000.00 

  
604-
07.02 

RETAINING WALL (CLASS “A” CONCRETE, 
6" to 12” IN HEIGHT)  

L.F. 750 $27.00 $20,250.00 

20 
604-
07.75 

RESTORATION OF REINFORCED 
EARTHWALLS 

S.F. 1,000 $10.00 $10,000.00 

3, 4 
607-
03.02 

18" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
05.02 

24" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
06.02 

30" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
07.02 

36" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
03.30 

18" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
05.30 

24" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
06.30 

30" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
07.30 

36" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

  
611-
01.20 

ADJUSTMENT OF MANHOLE COVERS & 
FRAMES 

EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 

18 
611-
03.04 

GRAY IRON CASTINGS (CATCHBASIN)  LB. 4,380 $0.01 $43.80 

  
611-
07.01 

CLASS A CONCRETE (PIPE ENDWALLS) C.Y. 200 $0.01 $2.00 

  
611-
07.02 

STEEL BAR REINFORCEMENT (PIPE 
ENDWALLS) 

LB. 1,000 $0.01 $10.00 

  
611-
07.03 

STRUCTURAL STEEL (PIPE ENDWALLS) LB. 500 $0.01 $5.00 

  
611-
07.54 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 18 IN 
@ 3;1) 

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
611-
07.57 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 24 IN 
@ 3;1) 

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
611-
07.60 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 30 IN 
@ 3;1) 

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
611-
07.63 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 36 IN) EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

  
611-
09.01 

ADJUSTMENT OF EXISTING CATCHBASIN 
GRATES & FRAMES 

EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 

18 
611-
12.01 

CATCHBASINS, TYPE 12, DEPTH 0' - 4' (D-CB-
12P, D-CB-12RA, & D-CBB-12A) 

EACH 5 $0.01 $0.05 

  
611-
12.01 
(A) 

CATCHBASINS, ADJUSTMENT TYPE 12, 
DEPTH +/- 1'            

PER FT 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 

18 
611-
14.01 

CATCHBASINS, TYPE 14, DEPTH 0' - 4' (D-CB-
14P, D-CB-14RB & D-CBB-12A) 

EACH 5 $0.01 $0.05 

  
611-
14.01 
(A) 

CATCHBASINS, ADJUSTMENT TYPE 14, 
DEPTH +/- 1'            

PER FT 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.01 

CONCRETE SIDEWALK (4-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 10,000 $8.00 $80,000.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.01 
(A) 

CONCRETE SIDEWALK (8-INCH DEPTH FOR 
RADIUS RETURNS, CLASS “A” W/FIBER 
MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 10,000 $0.01 $100.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.06 

PEBBLE FINISH CONCRETE SIDEWALK (4-
INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 2,000 $0.01 $20.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.07 

EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE 
DRIVEWAY (4-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” 
W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.07 
(A) 

EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE 
DRIVEWAY (6-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” 
W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 701-02 
CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (4-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-02 

(A) 
CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (6-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-
02.01 

CONCRETE HANDICAP RAMP (RETROFIT, 8-
INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, 
DETECTABLE WARNINGS) 

EACH 50 $1,500.00 $75,000.00 

5, 21 
701-02 

.02   
CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (8-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-
02.07 
(B)   

EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE 
DRIVEWAY (8-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” 
W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

6, 21 702-01 
CONCRETE CURB, (TURN DOWN - TO BE 
USED AS DIRECTED) 

L.F. 1,500 $26.00 $39,000.00 

6, 21 
702-
01.01 

EXTRUDED SLOPING CURB (NEW 
INSTALLATION W/RUBBERIZED 
EXPANSION JOINT, GREATER THAN 300' 
Section, RP-MC-2) 

L.F. 7,500 $0.01 $75.00 

6, 21 
702-
01.01 
(A) 

EXTRUDED SLOPING CURB (REMOVAL AND 
REPAIR INSTALLATION LESS THAN 300' 
SECTION W/RUBBERIZED EXPANSION 
JOINT, RP-MC-2) 

L.F. 2,500 $28.00 $70,000.00 

  
702-
01.02 

CONCRETE CURB, (12”-TO BE USED AS 
DIRECTED AT RADIUS RETURNS) 

L.F. 200 $25.00 $5,000.00 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

6, 21 702-03 

CONCRETE COMBINED CURB & GUTTER 
(NEW INSTALLATION W/RUBBERIZED 
EXPANSION JOINT, GREATER THAN 300' 
SECTION, RP-NMC-10) 

L.F. 5,000 $0.01 $50.00 

6, 21 
702-03 

(A) 

CONCRETE COMBINED CURB & GUTTER 
(REMOVAL AND REPAIR INSTALLATION 
LESS THAN 300' SECTION W/RUBBERIZED 
EXPANSION JOINT, RP-NMC-10) 

L.F. 500 $60.00 $30,000.00 

  
920-
12.01 

RUBBERIZED EXPANSION JOINT (ASTM D-
1751-97) 

L.F. 1,000 $0.01 $10.00 

19 
705-
01.04 

METAL BEAM GUARD FENCE L.F. 200 $125.00 $25,000.00 

  
705-
02.02 

SINGLE GUARDRAIL (TYPE 2, NEW 
INSTALLATION) 

L.F. 250 $60.00 $15,000.00 

  
705-
04.09 

EARTH PAD FOR TYPE 38 GR END 
TREATMENT 

EACH 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 

  
705-
06.20 

TAN ENERGY ABSORBING TERMINAL 
(MASH  TL3) 

EACH 1 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 

  
705-
06.30 

GUARDRAIL TERMINAL (MASH  TL2) EACH 1 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 

  
705-
12.11 

GUARDRAIL STEEL POST TYPE 2 (8 FT.) L.F. 125 $80.00 $10,000.00 

  
705-
06.10 

GR TERMINAL TRAILING END (TYPE 13) 
MASH TL-3 

EACH 2 $2,600.00 $5,200.00 

  
706-
02.01 

GUARDRAIL (REMOVE & RESET) L.F. 500 $30.00 $15,000.00 

  710-02 
AGGREGATE UNDERDRAINS (WITH 4 IN. 
PIPE) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  710-04 FILTER CLOTH UNDERDRAIN (WITH PIPE) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

7 
712-
04.01 

FLEXIBLE DRUMS (CHANNELIZING) EACH 1 $150.00 $150.00 

7 
712-
04.10 

TEMPORARY FLEXIBLE TUBULAR 
DELINEATOR 

EACH 1 $150.00 $150.00 

7 
712-
05.01 

WARNING LIGHTS (TYPE A) EACH 1 $125.00 $125.00 

7 
712-
05.03 

WARNING LIGHTS (TYPE C) EACH 1 $125.00 $125.00 

7 712-06 SIGNS (CONSTRUCTION) S.F. 1 $25.00 $25.00 

  
730-

12.02(A
) 

CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.02(B) 
CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.03(A
) 

CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

  
730-

12.03(B) 
CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.08(A
) 

CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.08(B) 
CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.09(A
) 

CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.09(B) 
CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-
12.13 

CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (JACKED OR 
BORED) 

L.F. 100 $0.01 $1.00 

  
730-
12.14 

CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (JACK AND BORE) L.F. 100 $0.01 $1.00 

  
740-
11.03 

TEMPORARY SEDIMENT TUBE 18 INCH (TO 
BE USED FOR EROSION CONTROL OF "V-
DITCH", AFTER THE INITIAL INSTALLATION 
ALL COST ASSOCIATED WITH REPAIR, 
MAINTENANCE AND REPLACEMENT SHALL 
BE AT THE CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.) 

L.F. 500 $0.01 $5.00 

8 
795-
09.09 

RELOCATE/RECONNECT EXISTING WATER 
METERS            

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

10 
795-
09.09 
(A) 

ADJUST HEIGHT OF EXISTING WATER 
METERS            

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
795-
12.20 

ADJUSTMENT OF EXISTING WATER VALVE 
BOXES 

EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 

  
797-
07.63 

REPLACE MANHOLE CASTING  EACH 0 $0.01 $0.00 

16 801-01 SEEDING (WITH MULCH) UNIT 200 $5.00 $1,000.00 

  801-03 WATER (SEEDING & SODDING) M.G. 100 $1.00 $100.00 

16 803-01 SODDING (NEW SOD) S.Y. 1,500 $7.00 $10,500.00 

  
805-
12.02 

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET (TYPE II) S.Y. 5,000 $0.01 $50.00 

  SUB-TOTAL ROADWAY BASE BID    $3,904,085.50 

FOOTNOTES ITEM  
NO. 

THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 
BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 

UNIT QTY. 
UNIT 

PRICE 
AMOUNT 

  
202-
03.01 

REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF ASPHALT 
PAVEMENT 

S.Y. 250 $30.00 $7,500.00 

  203-01 
ROAD & DRAINAGE EXCAVATION 
(UNCLASSIFIED) 

C.Y. 200 $10.00 $2,000.00 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

  203-07 FURNISHING & SPREADING TOPSOIL C.Y. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

  
209-
08.03 

TEMPORARY FILTER BARRIER (WITHOUT 
BACKING) 

L.F. 500 $5.00 $2,500.00 

  303-01 
MINERAL AGGREGATE TYPE A BASE 
GRADING D 

TON 375 $25.00 $9,375.00 

1 402-01 
BITUMINOUS MATERIAL FOR PRIME COAT 
(PC) 

TON 2 $0.01 $0.02 

  402-02 AGGREGATE FOR COVER MATERIAL (PC) TON 9 $0.01 $0.09 

1, 12 
411-
01.07 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING “E” SHOULDER TON 150 $135.00 $20,250.00 

3, 4 
607-

00(A) 

6" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-
00(B) 

8" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-

01(A) 

12" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-02 

(A) 

15" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-
03.30 

18" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

5, 21 
701-
02.01 

CONCRETE HANDICAP RAMP (RETROFIT, 8-
INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, 
DETECTABLE WARNINGS) 

EACH 4 $1,500.00 $6,000.00 

16 801-01 SEEDING (WITH MULCH) UNIT 10 $5.00 $50.00 

  801-03 WATER (SEEDING & SODDING) M.G. 5 $1.00 $5.00 

16 803-01 SODDING (NEW SOD) S.Y. 350 $6.50 $2,275.00 

  
805-
12.02 

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET (TYPE II) S.Y. 150 $5.00 $750.00 

  SUB-TOTAL PARK BASE BID    $51,905.11 

 TOTAL PROJECT COST $3,955,990.61 

 
FOOTNOTES     

 
(1)     UNIT COST IS ARE SUBJECT TO ADJUSTMENT PER TDOT'S SPECIAL PROVISION 109B, PRICE 
ADJUSTMENT FOR BITUMINOUS MATERIAL     



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

(2)     COLD PLANE OPERATIONS SHALL BE BASED ON AN AVERAGE DEPTH OF ZERO TO THREE 
INCHES OVER THE ENTIRE AREA.  AREAS TO BE COLD PLANNED SHALL BE RESURFACED WITHIN 30 
DAYS OF COMPLETION OF THAT SECTION OF ROADWAY UNLESS AN AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD HAS OBTAINED PRIOR APPROVAL.     
(3)     ALL EXCAVATION FOR STORM DRAINAGE PIPE SHALL BE CONSIDERED UNCLASSIFIED 
MATERIAL AT A DEPTH OF PIPE DIAMETER PLUS 3 FEET.     
(4)     UNIT COST INCLUDES BEDDING MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH TDOT STANDARD 
DRAWING D-PB-1 AND D-PB-2.     
(5)     UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES EXCAVATION, 4” STONE BEDDING, RUBBERIZED EXPANSION 
MATERIAL (ASTM D-1751-97), TOPSOIL BACKFILL, 2-FOOT SOD STRIP ON EACH SIDE AND ALL 
APPURTENANCES TO COMPLETE THE WORK     
(6)     UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES EXCAVATION, STONE BEDDING, RUBBERIZED EXPANSION 
MATERIAL (ASTM D-1751-97), TOPSOIL BACKFILL, 2-FOOT SOD STRIP, AND ALL APPURTENANCES TO 
COMPLETE THE WORK.     
(7)     TO BE USED AS DIRECTED BY THE BRENTWOOD PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR OR AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE.     
(8)   INCLUDES ALL MATERIALS, LABOR AND EQUIPMENT FOR REMOVAL OF EXISTING WATER 
SERVICE METER ASSEMBLY AND INSTALLING AT NEWLY IDENTIFIED LOCATION.     
(9)     TO BE USED FOR ADDITIONAL PIPE BEDDING MATERIAL AS DIRECTED BY THE PUBLIC WORKS 
DIRECTOR OR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE.     
(10) 
INCLUDES ALL MATERIALS, LABOR AND EQUIPMENT FOR REMOVAL OF EXISTING WATER METER B
OX AND ADJUSTING TO MATCH ADJOINING GRADE     
(11) COORDINATE WITH CITY OF BRENTWOOD SPECIAL PROVISION CB-111, DECEMBER 28, 2018     
(12) RESURFACING OF EXISTING TRAILS VARIES FROM 8 TO 10 FEET.  NEW TRAIL CONSTRUCTION 
SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF 10 FEET IN WIDTH.      
(13) UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES ALL EQUIPMENT, MATERIALS AND LABOR FOR REPAIR OF AN 
ASPHALT SURFACE.  UNIT PRICE INCLUDES UP TO 126 SF OF SURFACE AREA AND A 4 HOUR ON SITE 
VISIT, WHICH MAY INCLUDE MULTIPLE LOCATIONS.     
(14) INFRARED PAVEMENT REPAIR USES AN INFRARED HEATING UNIT TO HEAT IN-PLACE ASPHALT 
TO SOFTEN IT TO A WORKABLE STATE, THEN NEW ASPHALT CAN BE ADDED WHICH FUSES 
SEAMLESSLY TO THE OLD.  THE CONTRACTOR WILL BE COMPENSATED ON A LUMP SUM BASIS PER 
FOUR HOUR INCREMENT WITH AN AVERAGE REPAIR OF 120 SQUARE FEET WHICH MAY INCLUDE 
MULTIPLE SITES. THE STEP-BY-STEP PROCESS FOR POTHOLE REPAIR USING A TRUCK-MOUNTED 
INFRARED PAVEMENT HEATER IS:     
 a.       SWEEP AND DRY THE AREA.    
 b.       POSITION THE INFRARED HEATING ARRAY OVER THE POTHOLE FOR SEVEN TO 10 
MINUTES.    
 c.        REMOVE THE HEATER AND RAKE THE SOFTENED (350 DEGREE) ASPHALT.    
 d.       MIX IN A REJUVENATOR TO REPLENISH LIGHT OILS THAT HAVE OXIDIZED AWAY.    
 e.        ADD A SMALL AMOUNT OF FRESH ASPHALT AND GRADE IT TO LEVEL WITH A LUTE.    
 f.        USE A VIBRATORY ROLLER TO COMPACT AND FUSE THE PATCH WITH THE SURROUNDING 
PAVEMENT.    
 g.        12-MONTH WARRANTY ON REPAIRED AREA.     
 h.       TIME BEGINS UPON ARRIVAL TO FIRST JOBSITE AND ENDS UPON DEPARTURE FROM FINAL 
JOB.    
 i.         TRAFFIC CONTROL INCLUDED    
(15)  REJUVENATING SCRUB SEAL     



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

 a.       PREP AND CLEAN ASPHALT FROM DIRT, DEBRIS, AND VEGETATION, WHICH MAY REQUIRE 
PRESSURE WASHING    
 b.       SEALER WILL NOT BOND TO SEVERE OIL ON ASPHALT DAMAGE    
(16) SEED AND SOD SHALL BE PER TDOT SECTION 918.01.  THE ONLY ALLOWABLE MIXTURE WIL BE 
LIMITED TO TABLE 918.01-1 GROUP A (FEBRUARY 1 – JULY 1) AND TABLE 918.01-4 GROUP C 
(AUGUST  1 – DECEMBER 1).     
(17) COORDINATE WITH CITY OF BRENTWOOD SPECIAL PROVISION CB-112, DECENBER 31, 2018.     
     
(18) CURB IRON TO HAVE A SOLID BACK.  THE CONTRACTOR MAY SUBSTITUTE NEENAH R-3067V 
OR APPROVED EQUAL HAVING A SOLID BACK.  TOP OF CATCHBASIN MAY REQUIRE MINOR 
MODIFICATIONS TO ACCOMMODATE THE NEENAH R-3067V SOLID BACK CASTING.     
     
(19) ATTACHMENT TO TOP DECK OF BOX/SLAB.     
     
(20) UNIT COST DOES NOT INCLUDE PREPARATION OR SUBMITTAL OF NECESSARY PERMITS.  UNIT 
PRICE BID IS FOR WALL HEIGHTS 6 FEET OR LESS, INCLUSIVE OF  COFFER DAMS (IF REQUIRED), 
CLEARING, SITE PREPARATION, STRIP/PLACE TOPSOIL, EXCAVATION , BACKFILL AND ALL OTHER 
ITEMS NECESSARY FOR A COMPLETED WALL SYSTEM.  EROSION CONTROL FEATURES, OTHER 
THAN COFFER DAMS, WILL BE PAID FOR SEPARATELY.     
     
(21) BEGIN WORK WITHIN FOURTEEN (14) DAYS AFTER WRITTEN NOTIFICATION OF THE WORK 
ORDER ISSUED UNDER THIS CONTRACT.  EACH AND EVERY WORK ORDER ISSUED SHALL HAVE A 
MUTUALLY AGREED UPON DATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION, AND ALL WORK SHALL BE 
COMPLETED AND READY FOR FINAL PAYMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH PARAGRAPH 14.07.B OF THE 
GENERAL CONDITIONS.  THE CONTRACTOR FURTHER AGREES THAT IF WORK IS NOT INITIATED 
AND COMPLETED WITHIN THE MUTUALLY AGREED UPON CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE THE OWNER 
RESERVES THE OPTION TO IMPOSE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 4.03 OF 
THE “STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR ON THE BASIS OF 
STIPULATED PRICE”.     
     
(22) UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES PRIOR INSTALLATION OF THE SEAL COAT, CLEANING OF ALL 
SURFACES TO BE SEALED BY SWEEPING WITH A MOTORIZED BROOM TO REMOVE ANY LOOSE 
MATERIAL. CLEAN DEPRESSIONS AND CRACKS NOT REACHED BY THE POWER BROOM USING 
HAND BROOMS OR PRESSURIZED AIR. DEPENDING ON SEVERITY OF THE CRACK ADDITIONAL 
ROUTING MAY BE REQUIRED AS DIRECTED BY THE CITY OR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE. 
MATERIAL TO BE COORDINATED WITH TDOT SPECIFICATION 905.05.     
     
(23)     COLD PLANE OPERATIONS SHALL BE BASED ON AN AVERAGE DEPTH OF THREE TO FIVE 
INCHES OVER THE ENTIRE AREA.  AREAS TO BE COLD PLANNED SHALL BE RESURFACED WITHIN 30 
DAYS OF COMPLETION OF THAT SECTION OF ROADWAY UNLESS AN AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD HAS OBTAINED PRIOR APPROVAL.     
     
GENERAL NOTES (ALL ITEMS)     
     
(1)     WORKING HOURS WILL BE FROM 7:00 AM UNTIL DARK MONDAY THROUGH SATURDAY.  NO 
WORK WILL BE ALLOWED ON SUNDAY UNLESS IT HAS BEEN CLASSIFIED AS AN EMERGENCY AND 
APPROVED BY THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS.     
     



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

(2)     AN INITIAL WORK ORDER IS TENTATIVELY SCHEDULED TO BE ISSUED ON JUNE 1, 2022.  ONCE 
A CONTRACT HAS BEEN ISSUED, ON OR ABOUT JULY 1, 2022 ALL DOCUMENTS FROM THAT POINT, 
FORWARD WILL SENT TO THE ATTENTION OF MR. TODD HOPPENSTEDT, BRENTWOOD DIRECTOR 
OF PUBLIC WORKS.     
     
(3)     BONDS WILL BE REQUIRED AS NOTED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  HOWEVER, BONDS 
WILL NOT BE REQUIRED FOR INDIVIDUAL WORK ORDERS ISSUED.  A RETAINER WILL NOT BE 
WITHHELD FROM EACH WORK ORDER ISSUED.     
     
(4)     UNIT PRICE BID FOR ALL ITEMS SHALL INCLUDE ALL MOBILIZATION AND LAYOUT FOR A 
COMPLETE SYSTEM INCLUSIVE OF ALL WATER QUALITY, EROSION, AND TRAFFIC CONTROL 
MEASURE INCLUSIVE OF PERMIT PREPARATION TO COMPLY WITH LOCAL, STATE, AND FEDERAL 
REQUIREMENTS.  PERMIT APPLICATION FEES SHALL BE REIMBURSED BY THE CITY OF 
BRENTWOOD.     
     
(5)     MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT OF QUANTITIES SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
STANDARD AND SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS OF THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION DATED: JANUARY 1, 2015 AND ADDITIONAL SPECIFICATIONS AND SPECIAL 
PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.     
     
(6)     ALL ITEMS WITHIN THIS CONTRACT INCLUDE INSTALLATION OF NECESSARY TRAFFIC AND 
EROSION CONTROL IN THE UNIT PRICE BID, IN ACCORDANCE WITH CITY REQUIREMENTS.  
TEMPORARY LANE LINE AND SPECIALTY MARKINGS WILL NOT BE REQUIRED AND SHALL BE THE 
RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD.     
     
(7)     TDOT STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR ROAD AND BRIDGE CONSTRUCTION, SECTION 104 
SCOPE OF WORK, ARTICLE 104.02 CHANGES IN PLANS OR IN CHARACTER OF CONSTRUCTION, SUB-
SECTION C HAS BEEN DELETED AND NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS CONTRACT.     
     
(8)   PAYMENT FOR THE TOP TWO LAYERS OF ASPHALT ON MAINLINE AND SIDE ROAD PAVING 
SHALL BE BASED ON THE RATE OF APPLICATION NOTED ON THE PAVING SCHEDULE WITH A 
TOLERANCE OF 1/4"+/-.  AN AVERAGE COMPACTED THICKNESS SHALL BE DETERMINED BASED ON 
CORE SAMPLES OBTAINED IN ACCORDANCE SPECIAL PROVISION 407DEN "TEST STRIPS.”  ALL 
QUANTITY OUTSIDE THE TOLERANCE RANGE SHALL NOT BE PAID BY THE OWNER AND SHALL BE 
THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR     
 

Total of All Unit Prices: 
 

Three Million Nine Hundred Fifty Five Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Dollars and 61/100 Cents 
(WORDS) 

 
$3,955,990.61 

(DOLLARS) 
         

Four (4) copies of each of the proposed Contract Documents and Drawings accompany this 
Notice of Award.  Additional sets of drawings and specifications are available upon request. 
 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

     You must comply with the following conditions precedent within 15 days of the date you 
receive this Notice of Award. 
 
     1. Deliver to the OWNER four (4) fully executed counterparts of the Contract Documents.  
Each of the Contract Documents must bear your signature where indicated. 
 
     2. Deliver with the executed Contract Documents the Contract security (Bonds) as specified 
in the Instructions to Bidders (Article 20) and General Conditions (paragraph 5.01). 
 

3. (List other conditions precedent). N/A 
    

   Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle OWNER to 
consider your Bid in default, to annul this Notice of Award and to declare your Bid security 
forfeited. 
 
   Within ten days after you comply with the above conditions, OWNER will return to you one 
fully executed counterpart of the Contract Documents. 
 
  City of Brentwood 
  (OWNER) 
 
     By:    
  (AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE) 
    
  (TITLE) 
Copy to Engineer 



































































NOTICE TO PROCEED 
 
 
 Dated: ________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
TO:  Four Star Paving, LLC 
   (BIDDER) 
 
ADDRESS:  Four Star Paving, LLC 

C/O Mr. Mike Maynard 
1441 Elm Hill Pike 
Nashville, TN  37210 

 
Contract: Roadway Repairs & Improvements Fiscal Year 2022 - 2023 
 
Project: General Construction 
 
ENGINEER's Contract No. 22-002 
 
 You are notified that the Contract Times under the above contract will commence to run on 
_____________ ___, 2022.  By that date, you are to start performing your obligations under the 
Contract Documents. Substantial Completion shall be in accordance with Article 4 of the 
Agreement. 
  
 Before you may start any Work at the Site, paragraph 2.05.C of the General Conditions 
provides that you and Owner must each deliver to the other (with copies to Engineer and other 
identified additional insureds) certificates of insurance which each is required to purchase and 
maintain in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
  

 
  City of Brentwood 
  (OWNER) 
 
 By:   
  (AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE) 
 
     
  (TITLE) 
 
 
Copy to ENGINEER 

 



 

C:\Users\Paul\Documents\Cruzer Back up\April 2018\22-002 Brentwood 2022-2023 Annual Paving Contract\Specs\Bid Tab\Bid Recommendation.doc 

SULLIVAN ENGINEERING, INC. 
317 MAIN STREET, SUITE 201 

FRANKLIN, TN. 37064 
(615) 642-5822 

 
April 14, 2022 

 
City of Brentwood, TN 
C/o Mr. Todd Hoppenstedt, Director of Public Works 
P.O. Box 788 
Brentwood, TN 37027 
 
 
RE:  Contract: General Construction 

Project: Roadway Repairs and Improvements in the City of Brentwood for fiscal Year 
2022-2023. 
Engineer's Contract No. 22-002 

 
Dear Todd, 
 
On Tuesday, April 12, 2022 at 2:30 P.M. bids were received at Brentwood City Hall and read 
allowed, said documents for Roadway Repairs and Improvements, Fiscal Year 2022-2023.  Prior 
to opening the bids two (2) contractors had obtained construction documents for bidding this 
work.  All contractors returned their bid package, which have been reviewed for errors, omissions 
or irregularities in accordance with the contract documents.  Bids received are as follows: 

NAME BONDING COMPANY BID 

   

Four Star Paving, LLC 
Fidelity & Deposit Company of 

Maryland 
$3,955,990.61 

   

Sessions Paving Co. Berkley Insurance Company $4,114,179.51 

   

 

Four Star Paving, LLC. is low bidder having met all bidding requirements.  Mr. Mike Maynard, 
Four Star Paving, LLC will be overseeing construction efforts for the Roadway Repairs and 
Improvements, Fiscal Year 2022-2023 contract.  I have contacted Mr. Maynard about 
performance of this contract concerning the current workload of Four Star Paving, LLC.  Mr. 
Maynard, has assured me that Four Star Paving, LLC will make available the necessary work 
force, and equipment to meet the schedule set forth in the construction documents.  Having 
reviewed Four Star Paving, LLC bid package it appears to meet all of the requirements stated in 
the “Instruction to Bidders”; therefore, SEI considers their bid as acceptable for this project, and 
recommend’ s the contract be awarded to Four Star Paving, LLC.  A copy of the Bid Tabulation 
and Construction Contract has been attached for your review. 



 

C:\Users\Paul\Documents\Cruzer Back up\April 2018\22-002 Brentwood 2022-2023 Annual Paving Contract\Specs\Bid Tab\Bid Recommendation.doc 

Upon approval by the City Commissioners and Mayor, our staff will issue a package to Four Star 
Paving, LLC.  This packet will include the contract, performance bond, and insurance 
requirements, which need to be signed and executed.  Execution of the aforementioned packet 
typically takes between three to five working days.  After we receive acceptable paper work, the 
“Notice to Proceed” can be issued. 

As always, it has been a pleasure to service the City of Brentwood, and please call if you have 
any questions. 

Sincerely, 
SULLIVAN ENGINEERING INCORPORATED  
 

Paul Collins 
Paul Collins 
 
Enclosures 
 
CC: 
Mr. Mr. Kirk Bednar, Brentwood City Manager 
Ms. Karen Harper, Brentwood City Treasurer 
Ms. Kristen Corn, Brentwood City Attorney 
Mr. Mike Maynard, Four Star Paving, LLC 



CITY OF BRENTWOOD
ROADWAY REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS

2019-2020

CONSTRUCTION ESTIMATE
COUNTY WILLIAMSON

PROJ. NO. 22-002

PROJ. LIMITS 2022-2023 Annual Paving Contract 2022-2023 BID AMOUNTS
DESIGN BY SULLIVAN ENGINEERING, INC. BID DATE

ESTIMATE PREPARED BY:  Paul Collins 2/12/2019 Contract Award

Four Star Sessions Paving Co., Inc.

FOOTNOTES ITEM  NO. ITEM  DESCRIPTION UNIT QTY. UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

202-03 REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF RIGID PAVEMENT S.Y. 2,500 $0.01 $25.00 $0.01 $25.00
202-03.01 REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF ASPHALT PAVEMENT S.Y. 5,000 $24.00 $120,000.00 $30.00 $150,000.00

202-08.10 REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF EXISTING CURB (EXTRUDED & 
CURB/GUTTER) L.F. 3,000 $0.01 $30.00 $0.01 $30.00

203-01 ROAD & DRAINAGE EXCAVATION (UNCLASSIFIED C.Y. 2,000 $0.01 $20.00 $0.01 $20.00
203-03 BORROW EXCAVATION (UNCLASSIFIED) C.Y. 500 $0.01 $5.00 $0.01 $5.00
203-07 FURNISHING & SPREADING TOPSOIL C.Y. 500 $0.01 $5.00 $0.01 $5.00

209-08.03

TEMPORARY FILTER BARRIER (WITHOUT BACKING), (AFTER
THE INITIAL INSTALLATION ALL COST ASSOCIATED WITH 
REPAIR, MAINTENANCE AND REPLACEMENT SHALL BE AT 
THE CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.)

L.F. 500 $0.01 $5.00 $0.01 $5.00

209-08.06

ENHANCED SILT FENCE CHECK (TRAPEZOIDAL), DEPTH, OR
AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER, AFTER THE INITIAL 
INSTALLATION ALL COST ASSOCIATED WITH REPAIR, 
MAINTENANCE AND REPLACEMENT SHALL BE AT THE 
CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.)

EACH 5 $100.00 $500.00 $100.00 $500.00

303-01 MINERAL AGGREGATE TYPE A BASE GRADING D TON 5,000 $5.00 $25,000.00 $1.00 $5,000.00
9 303-10.04 MINERAL AGGREGATE (SIZE #9) TONS 500 $0.01 $5.00 $0.01 $5.00
1 307-01.01 ASPHALT CONCRETE MIX (PG64-22) (BPMB-HM) GRADING A TON 2,500 $70.00 $175,000.00 $69.00 $172,500.00

1 307-01.08 ASPHALT CONCRETE MIX (PG64-22) (BPMB-HM) GRADING B-
M2 TON 5,000 $72.00 $360,000.00 $71.00 $355,000.00

1 402-01 BITUMINOUS MATERIAL FOR PRIME COAT (PC) TON 28 $0.01 $0.28 $0.01 $0.28
402-02 AGGREGATE FOR COVER MATERIAL (PC) TON 112 $0.01 $1.12 $0.01 $1.12

1 403-02.01 TRACKLESS TACK COAT (TC) TON 10 $1,100.00 $11,000.00 $1,500.00 $15,000.00
15 405-03.01 PM REJUVENATING SCRUB SEAL S.Y 1,300 $0.01 $13.00 $6.00 $7,800.00

13, 14 407-02.14 ASPHALT PAVEMENT REPAIR  (INFRARED) L.S. 5 $1,100.00 $5,500.00 $2,500.00 $12,500.00
1 411-01.11 ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING “E” ROADWAY TON 6,000 $125.00 $750,000.00 $125.50 $753,000.00

1, 11 411-01.11 (SH) SPEED HUMP ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING “E” EACH 1 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00
1, 17 411-01.12 (ST) SPEED TABLE ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING “E” EACH 1 $7,000.00 $7,000.00 $8,000.00 $8,000.00

1 411-03.07 ACS MIX (PG64-22) THIN LIFT ASPHALT TON 500 $88.00 $44,000.00 $95.00 $47,500.00
1 411-03.10 ACS MIX(PG76-22) GRADING D TON 6,000 $130.00 $780,000.00 $125.50 $753,000.00
1 411-03.11 ACS MIX(PG76-22) GRADING E ROADWAY TON 6,000 $130.00 $780,000.00 $125.50 $753,000.00
1 411-03.12 ACS MIX (PG64-22) THIN LIFT D ASPHALT TON 2,000 $130.00 $260,000.00 $97.00 $194,000.00
2 415-01.02 COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT S.Y. 11,250 $5.00 $56,250.00 $7.00 $78,750.00

23 415-01.02 (A) COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT S.Y. 3,750 $8.00 $30,000.00 $12.00 $45,000.00
22 502-08.01 RESEALING JOINTS (HOT POURED ELASTIC) S.F. 8,000 $0.01 $80.00 $0.01 $80.00
20 604-07.01 RETAINING WALL (REINFORCED EARTH, "MSE" S.F. 1,000 $10.00 $10,000.00 $100.00 $100,000.00

604-07.01 RETAINING WALL (CLASS “A” CONCRETE, NOT TO EXCEED 
24” IN HEIGHT) L.F. 200 $25.00 $5,000.00 $100.00 $20,000.00

Bid Tab 4-14-22.xlsx 7 4/14/2022



CITY OF BRENTWOOD
ROADWAY REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS

2019-2020

Four Star Sessions Paving Co., Inc.

FOOTNOTES ITEM  NO. ITEM  DESCRIPTION UNIT QTY. UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

604-07.02 RETAINING WALL (CLASS “A” CONCRETE, 6" to 12” IN HEIGHT) L.F. 750 $27.00 $20,250.00 $75.00 $56,250.00

20 604-07.75 RESTORATION OF REINFORCED EARTHWALLS S.F. 1,000 $10.00 $10,000.00 $75.00 $75,000.00
3, 4 607-03.02 18" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 $0.01 $4.00
3, 4 607-05.02 24" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 $0.01 $4.00
3, 4 607-06.02 30" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 $0.01 $4.00
3, 4 607-07.02 36" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 $0.01 $4.00

3, 4 607-03.30 18" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), 
AASHTO M294, TYPE S) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 $0.01 $4.00

3, 4 607-05.30 24" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), 
AASHTO M294, TYPE S) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 $0.01 $4.00

3, 4 607-06.30 30" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), 
AASHTO M294, TYPE S) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 $0.01 $4.00

3, 4 607-07.30 36" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), 
AASHTO M294, TYPE S) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 $0.01 $4.00

611-01.20 ADJUSTMENT OF MANHOLE COVERS & FRAMES EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 $900.00 $36,000.00
18 611-03.04 GRAY IRON CASTINGS (CATCHBASIN) LB. 4,380 $0.01 $43.80 $0.01 $43.80

611-07.01 CLASS A CONCRETE (PIPE ENDWALLS) C.Y. 200 $0.01 $2.00 $0.01 $2.00
611-07.02 STEEL BAR REINFORCEMENT (PIPE ENDWALLS) LB. 1,000 $0.01 $10.00 $0.01 $10.00
611-07.03 STRUCTURAL STEEL (PIPE ENDWALLS) LB. 500 $0.01 $5.00 $0.01 $5.00
611-07.54 PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 18 IN @ 3;1) EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 $0.01 $0.20
611-07.57 PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 24 IN @ 3;1) EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 $0.01 $0.20
611-07.60 PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 30 IN @ 3;1) EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 $0.01 $0.20
611-07.63 PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 36 IN) EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 $0.01 $0.20

611-09.01 ADJUSTMENT OF EXISTING CATCHBASIN GRATES & FRAMES EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 $500.00 $20,000.00

18 611-12.01 CATCHBASINS, TYPE 12, DEPTH 0' - 4' (D-CB-12P, D-CB-12RA, & 
D-CBB-12A) EACH 5 $0.01 $0.05 $500.00 $2,500.00

611-12.01 (A) CATCHBASINS, ADJUSTMENT TYPE 12, DEPTH +/- 1'           PER FT 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $750.00 $750.00

18 611-14.01 CATCHBASINS, TYPE 14, DEPTH 0' - 4' (D-CB-14P, D-CB-14RB & 
D-CBB-12A) EACH 5 $0.01 $0.05 $500.00 $2,500.00

611-14.01 (A) CATCHBASINS, ADJUSTMENT TYPE 14, DEPTH +/- 1'           PER FT 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $750.00 $750.00

5, 21 701-01.01 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (4-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER 
MESH, BROOM FINISH) S.F. 10,000 $8.00 $80,000.00 $8.50 $85,000.00

5, 21 701-01.01 (A) CONCRETE SIDEWALK (8-INCH DEPTH FOR RADIUS RETURNS, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH S.F. 10,000 $0.01 $100.00 $0.01 $100.00

5, 21 701-01.06 PEBBLE FINISH CONCRETE SIDEWALK (4-INCH DEPTH, CLASS 
“A” W/FIBER MESH) S.F. 2,000 $0.01 $20.00 $0.01 $20.00

5, 21 701-01.07 EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (4-INCH 
DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH) S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 $0.01 $15.00

5, 21 701-01.07 (A) EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (6-INCH 
DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH) S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 $0.01 $15.00

5, 21 701-02 CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (4-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER 
MESH, BROOM FINISH) S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 $0.01 $15.00

5, 21 701-02 (A) CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (6-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER 
MESH, BROOM FINISH) S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 $0.01 $15.00

5, 21 701-02.01 CONCRETE HANDICAP RAMP (RETROFIT, 8-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, DETECTABLE WARNINGS EACH 50 $1,500.00 $75,000.00 $2,000.00 $100,000.00

Bid Tab 4-14-22.xlsx 8 4/14/2022



CITY OF BRENTWOOD
ROADWAY REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS

2019-2020

Four Star Sessions Paving Co., Inc.

FOOTNOTES ITEM  NO. ITEM  DESCRIPTION UNIT QTY. UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

5, 21 701-02 .02  CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (8-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER 
MESH, BROOM FINISH) S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 $0.01 $15.00

5, 21 701-02.07 (B)  EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (8-INCH 
DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH) S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 $0.01 $15.00

6, 21 702-01 CONCRETE CURB, (TURN DOWN - TO BE USED AS DIRECTED) L.F. 1,500 $26.00 $39,000.00 $0.01 $15.00

6, 21 702-01.01
EXTRUDED SLOPING CURB (NEW INSTALLATION 
W/RUBBERIZED EXPANSION JOINT, GREATER THAN 300' 
Section, RP-MC-2)

L.F. 7,500 $0.01 $75.00 $0.01 $75.00

6, 21 702-01.01 (A)
EXTRUDED SLOPING CURB (REMOVAL AND REPAIR 
INSTALLATION LESS THAN 300' SECTION W/RUBBERIZED 
EXPANSION JOINT, RP-MC-2)

L.F. 2,500 $28.00 $70,000.00 $25.00 $62,500.00

702-01.02 CONCRETE CURB, (12”-TO BE USED AS DIRECTED AT RADIUS 
RETURNS) L.F. 200 $25.00 $5,000.00 $0.01 $2.00

6, 21 702-03
CONCRETE COMBINED CURB & GUTTER (NEW INSTALLATION
W/RUBBERIZED EXPANSION JOINT, GREATER THAN 300' 
SECTION, RP-NMC-10)

L.F. 5,000 $0.01 $50.00 $0.01 $50.00

6, 21 702-03 (A)
CONCRETE COMBINED CURB & GUTTER (REMOVAL AND 
REPAIR INSTALLATION LESS THAN 300' SECTION 
W/RUBBERIZED EXPANSION JOINT, RP-NMC-10)

L.F. 500 $60.00 $30,000.00 $0.01 $5.00

920-12.01 RUBBERIZED EXPANSION JOINT (ASTM D-1751-97) L.F. 1,000 $0.01 $10.00 $0.01 $10.00
19 705-01.04 METAL BEAM GUARD FENCE L.F. 200 $125.00 $25,000.00 $125.00 $25,000.00

705-02.02 SINGLE GUARDRAIL (TYPE 2, NEW INSTALLATION L.F. 250 $60.00 $15,000.00 $60.00 $15,000.00
705-04.09 EARTH PAD FOR TYPE 38 GR END TREATMENT EACH 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00
705-06.20 TAN ENERGY ABSORBING TERMINAL (MASH  TL3 EACH 1 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00
705-06.30 GUARDRAIL TERMINAL (MASH  TL2 EACH 1 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 $4,500.00
705-12.11 GUARDRAIL STEEL POST TYPE 2 (8 FT.) L.F. 125 $80.00 $10,000.00 $80.00 $10,000.00
705-06.10 GR TERMINAL TRAILING END (TYPE 13) MASH TL-3 EACH 2 $2,600.00 $5,200.00 $2,600.00 $5,200.00
706-02.01 GUARDRAIL (REMOVE & RESET) L.F. 500 $30.00 $15,000.00 $30.00 $15,000.00

710-02 AGGREGATE UNDERDRAINS (WITH 4 IN. PIPE) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 $0.01 $2.50
710-04 FILTER CLOTH UNDERDRAIN (WITH PIPE) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 $0.01 $2.50

7 712-04.01 FLEXIBLE DRUMS (CHANNELIZING EACH 1 $150.00 $150.00 $150.00 $150.00
7 712-04.10 TEMPORARY FLEXIBLE TUBULAR DELINEATOR EACH 1 $150.00 $150.00 $150.00 $150.00
7 712-05.01 WARNING LIGHTS (TYPE A) EACH 1 $125.00 $125.00 $150.00 $150.00
7 712-05.03 WARNING LIGHTS (TYPE C) EACH 1 $125.00 $125.00 $150.00 $150.00
7 712-06 SIGNS (CONSTRUCTION) S.F. 1 $25.00 $25.00 $30.00 $30.00

730-12.02(A) CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES ASPHALT OR 
CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 $0.01 $2.50

730-12.02(B) CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES SOD TRENCH 
REPAIR) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 $0.01 $2.50

730-12.03(A) CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES ASPHALT OR 
CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 $0.01 $2.50

730-12.03(B) CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES SOD TRENCH 
REPAIR) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 $0.01 $2.50

730-12.08(A) CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES ASPHALT OR 
CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 $0.01 $2.50

730-12.08(B) CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES SOD TRENCH 
REPAIR) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 $0.01 $2.50

Bid Tab 4-14-22.xlsx 9 4/14/2022



CITY OF BRENTWOOD
ROADWAY REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS

2019-2020

Four Star Sessions Paving Co., Inc.

FOOTNOTES ITEM  NO. ITEM  DESCRIPTION UNIT QTY. UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

730-12.09(A) CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES ASPHALT OR 
CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 $0.01 $2.50

730-12.09(B) CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES SOD TRENCH 
REPAIR) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 $0.01 $2.50

730-12.13 CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (JACKED OR BORED) L.F. 100 $0.01 $1.00 $0.01 $1.00
730-12.14 CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (JACK AND BORE) L.F. 100 $0.01 $1.00 $0.01 $1.00

740-11.03

TEMPORARY SEDIMENT TUBE 18 INCH (TO BE USED FOR 
EROSION CONTROL OF "V-DITCH", AFTER THE INITIAL 
INSTALLATION ALL COST ASSOCIATED WITH REPAIR, 
MAINTENANCE AND REPLACEMENT SHALL BE AT THE 
CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.)

L.F. 500 $0.01 $5.00 $0.01 $5.00

8 795-09.09 RELOCATE/RECONNECT EXISTING WATER METERS           EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 $0.01 $0.20
10 795-09.09 (A) ADJUST HEIGHT OF EXISTING WATER METERS           EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 $0.01 $0.20

795-12.20 ADJUSTMENT OF EXISTING WATER VALVE BOXES EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 $900.00 $36,000.00
797-07.63 REPLACE MANHOLE CASTING EACH 0 $0.01 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 801-01 SEEDING (WITH MULCH) UNIT 200 $5.00 $1,000.00 $20.00 $4,000.00
801-03 WATER (SEEDING & SODDING) M.G. 100 $1.00 $100.00 $1.00 $100.00

16 803-01 SODDING (NEW SOD) S.Y. 1,500 $7.00 $10,500.00 $8.00 $12,000.00
805-12.02 EROSION CONTROL BLANKET (TYPE II) S.Y. 5,000 $0.01 $50.00 $0.01 $50.00

SUB-TOTAL ROADWAY BASE BID $3,904,085.50 $4,052,949.40

FOOTNOTES ITEM  NO. THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED BY 
BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT UNIT QTY. UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

202-03.01 REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF ASPHALT PAVEMENT S.Y. 250 $30.00 $7,500.00 $30.00 $7,500.00
203-01 ROAD & DRAINAGE EXCAVATION (UNCLASSIFIED C.Y. 200 $10.00 $2,000.00 $15.00 $3,000.00
203-07 FURNISHING & SPREADING TOPSOIL C.Y. 20 $10.00 $200.00 $20.00 $400.00

209-08.03 TEMPORARY FILTER BARRIER (WITHOUT BACKING L.F. 500 $5.00 $2,500.00 $4.00 $2,000.00
303-01 MINERAL AGGREGATE TYPE A BASE GRADING D TON 375 $25.00 $9,375.00 $25.00 $9,375.00

1 402-01 BITUMINOUS MATERIAL FOR PRIME COAT (PC) TON 2 $0.01 $0.02 $0.01 $0.02
402-02 AGGREGATE FOR COVER MATERIAL (PC) TON 9 $0.01 $0.09 $0.01 $0.09

1, 12 411-01.07 ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING “E” SHOULDER TON 150 $135.00 $20,250.00 $160.00 $24,000.00

3, 4 607-00(A) 6" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), 
AASHTO M294, TYPE S) L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 $15.00 $300.00

3, 4 607-00(B) 8" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), 
AASHTO M294, TYPE S) L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 $15.00 $300.00

3, 4 607-01(A) 12" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), 
AASHTO M294, TYPE S) L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 $15.00 $300.00

3, 4 607-02 (A) 15" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), 
AASHTO M294, TYPE S) L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 $15.00 $300.00

3, 4 607-03.30 18" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), 
AASHTO M294, TYPE S) L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 $15.00 $300.00

5, 21 701-02.01 CONCRETE HANDICAP RAMP (RETROFIT, 8-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, DETECTABLE WARNINGS EACH 4 $1,500.00 $6,000.00 $2,500.00 $10,000.00

16 801-01 SEEDING (WITH MULCH) UNIT 10 $5.00 $50.00 $20.00 $200.00
801-03 WATER (SEEDING & SODDING) M.G. 5 $1.00 $5.00 $1.00 $5.00

16 803-01 SODDING (NEW SOD) S.Y. 350 $6.50 $2,275.00 $8.00 $2,800.00
805-12.02 EROSION CONTROL BLANKET (TYPE II) S.Y. 150 $5.00 $750.00 $3.00 $450.00

SUBTOTAL PARK BASE BID $51,905.11 $61,230.11

Bid Tab 4-14-22.xlsx 10 4/14/2022



CITY OF BRENTWOOD
ROADWAY REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS

2019-2020

Four Star Sessions Paving Co., Inc.

FOOTNOTES ITEM  NO. ITEM  DESCRIPTION UNIT QTY. UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

TOTAL BASE BID $3,955,990.61 $4,114,179.51

BONDING COMPANY

Fidelity & 
Deposit 

Company of 
Maryland

Berkley 
Insurance 
Company

FOOTNOTES

(8)   INCLUDES ALL MATERIALS, LABOR AND EQUIPMENT FOR REMOVAL OF EXISTING WATER SERVICE METER 
ASSEMBLY AND INSTALLING AT NEWLY IDENTIFIED LOCATION.

(9)     TO BE USED FOR ADDITIONAL PIPE BEDDING MATERIAL AS DIRECTED BY THE PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR OR 
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE.

(10) 
INCLUDES ALL MATERIALS, LABOR AND EQUIPMENT FOR REMOVAL OF EXISTING WATER METER BOX AND ADJUSTING 
TO MATCH ADJOINING GRADE

(1)     UNIT COST IS ARE SUBJECT TO ADJUSTMENT PER TDOT'S SPECIAL PROVISION 109B, PRICE ADJUSTMENT FOR 
BITUMINOUS MATERIAL

(2)     COLD PLANE OPERATIONS SHALL BE BASED ON AN AVERAGE DEPTH OF ZERO TO THREE INCHES OVER THE ENTIRE 
AREA.  AREAS TO BE COLD PLANNED SHALL BE RESURFACED WITHIN 30 DAYS OF COMPLETION OF THAT SECTION OF 
ROADWAY UNLESS AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD HAS OBTAINED PRIOR APPROVAL.

(3)     ALL EXCAVATION FOR STORM DRAINAGE PIPE SHALL BE CONSIDERED UNCLASSIFIED MATERIAL AT A DEPTH OF 
PIPE DIAMETER PLUS 3 FEET.

(4)     UNIT COST INCLUDES BEDDING MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH TDOT STANDARD DRAWING D-PB-1 AND D-PB-2.

(5)     UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES EXCAVATION, 4” STONE BEDDING, RUBBERIZED EXPANSION MATERIAL (ASTM D-1751-
97), TOPSOIL BACKFILL, 2-FOOT SOD STRIP ON EACH SIDE AND ALL APPURTENANCES TO COMPLETE THE WORK

(6)     UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES EXCAVATION, STONE BEDDING, RUBBERIZED EXPANSION MATERIAL (ASTM D-1751-97), 
TOPSOIL BACKFILL, 2-FOOT SOD STRIP, AND ALL APPURTENANCES TO COMPLETE THE WORK.

(7)     TO BE USED AS DIRECTED BY THE BRENTWOOD PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR OR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE.

Bid Tab 4-14-22.xlsx 11 4/14/2022



CITY OF BRENTWOOD
ROADWAY REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS

2019-2020

Four Star Sessions Paving Co., Inc.

FOOTNOTES ITEM  NO. ITEM  DESCRIPTION UNIT QTY. UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

a.       SWEEP AND DRY THE AREA.

b.       POSITION THE INFRARED HEATING ARRAY OVER THE POTHOLE FOR SEVEN TO 10 MINUTES.

c.        REMOVE THE HEATER AND RAKE THE SOFTENED (350 DEGREE) ASPHALT.

d.       MIX IN A REJUVENATOR TO REPLENISH LIGHT OILS THAT HAVE OXIDIZED AWAY.

e.        ADD A SMALL AMOUNT OF FRESH ASPHALT AND GRADE IT TO LEVEL WITH A LUTE.

f.        USE A VIBRATORY ROLLER TO COMPACT AND FUSE THE PATCH WITH THE SURROUNDING PAVEMENT.

g.        12-MONTH WARRANTY ON REPAIRED AREA. 

h.       TIME BEGINS UPON ARRIVAL TO FIRST JOBSITE AND ENDS UPON DEPARTURE FROM FINAL JOB.

(14) INFRARED PAVEMENT REPAIR USES AN INFRARED HEATING UNIT TO HEAT IN-PLACE ASPHALT TO SOFTEN IT TO A
WORKABLE STATE, THEN NEW ASPHALT CAN BE ADDED WHICH FUSES SEAMLESSLY TO THE OLD.  THE CONTRACTOR 
WILL BE COMPENSATED ON A LUMP SUM BASIS PER FOUR HOUR INCREMENT WITH AN AVERAGE REPAIR OF 120 
SQUARE FEET WHICH MAY INCLUDE MULTIPLE SITES. THE STEP-BY-STEP PROCESS FOR POTHOLE REPAIR USING A

(12) RESURFACING OF EXISTING TRAILS VARIES FROM 8 TO 10 FEET.  NEW TRAIL CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE A MINIMUM 
OF 10 FEET IN WIDTH. 

(13) UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES ALL EQUIPMENT, MATERIALS AND LABOR FOR REPAIR OF AN ASPHALT SURFACE.  UNIT 
PRICE INCLUDES UP TO 126 SF OF SURFACE AREA AND A 4 HOUR ON SITE VISIT, WHICH MAY INCLUDE MULTIPLE 
LOCATIONS.

(11) COORDINATE WITH CITY OF BRENTWOOD SPECIAL PROVISION CB-111, DECEMBER 28, 2018

Bid Tab 4-14-22.xlsx 12 4/14/2022



CITY OF BRENTWOOD
ROADWAY REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS

2019-2020

Four Star Sessions Paving Co., Inc.

FOOTNOTES ITEM  NO. ITEM  DESCRIPTION UNIT QTY. UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

i.         TRAFFIC CONTROL INCLUDED

a.       PREP AND CLEAN ASPHALT FROM DIRT, DEBRIS, AND VEGETATION, WHICH MAY REQUIRE PRESSURE WASHING

b.       SEALER WILL NOT BOND TO SEVERE OIL ON ASPHALT DAMAGE

(19) ATTACHMENT TO TOP DECK OF BOX/SLAB.

(15)  REJUVENATING SCRUB SEAL

(16) SEED AND SOD SHALL BE PER TDOT SECTION 918.01.  THE ONLY ALLOWABLE MIXTURE WIL BE LIMITED TO TABLE 
918.01-1 GROUP A (FEBRUARY 1 – JULY 1) AND TABLE 918.01-4 GROUP C (AUGUST  1 – DECEMBER 1).

(17) COORDINATE WITH CITY OF BRENTWOOD SPECIAL PROVISION CB-112, DECENBER 31, 2018.

(18) CURB IRON TO HAVE A SOLID BACK.  THE CONTRACTOR MAY SUBSTITUTE NEENAH R-3067V OR APPROVED EQUAL 
HAVING A SOLID BACK.  TOP OF CATCHBASIN MAY REQUIRE MINOR MODIFICATIONS TO ACCOMMODATE THE NEENAH 
R-3067V SOLID BACK CASTING.

(20) UNIT COST DOES NOT INCLUDE PREPARATION OR SUBMITTAL OF NECESSARY PERMITS.  UNIT PRICE BID IS FOR
WALL HEIGHTS 6 FEET OR LESS, INCLUSIVE OF  COFFER DAMS (IF REQUIRED), CLEARING, SITE PREPARATION, 
STRIP/PLACE TOPSOIL, EXCAVATION , BACKFILL AND ALL OTHER ITEMS NECESSARY FOR A COMPLETED WALL SYSTEM
EROSION CONTROL FEATURES, OTHER THAN COFFER DAMS, WILL BE PAID FOR SEPARATELY

Bid Tab 4-14-22.xlsx 13 4/14/2022



CITY OF BRENTWOOD
ROADWAY REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS

2019-2020

Four Star Sessions Paving Co., Inc.

FOOTNOTES ITEM  NO. ITEM  DESCRIPTION UNIT QTY. UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

GENERAL NOTES (ALL ITEMS)

(1)     WORKING HOURS WILL BE FROM 7:00 AM UNTIL DARK MONDAY THROUGH SATURDAY.  NO WORK WILL BE 
ALLOWED ON SUNDAY UNLESS IT HAS BEEN CLASSIFIED AS AN EMERGENCY AND APPROVED BY THE DIRECTOR OF 
PUBLIC WORKS.

(2)     AN INITIAL WORK ORDER IS TENTATIVELY SCHEDULED TO BE ISSUED ON JUNE 1, 2022.  ONCE A CONTRACT HAS 
BEEN ISSUED, ON OR ABOUT JULY 1, 2022 ALL DOCUMENTS FROM THAT POINT, FORWARD WILL SENT TO THE 
ATTENTION OF MR. TODD HOPPENSTEDT, BRENTWOOD DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS.

(22) UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES PRIOR INSTALLATION OF THE SEAL COAT, CLEANING OF ALL SURFACES TO BE SEALED
BY SWEEPING WITH A MOTORIZED BROOM TO REMOVE ANY LOOSE MATERIAL. CLEAN DEPRESSIONS AND CRACKS 
NOT REACHED BY THE POWER BROOM USING HAND BROOMS OR PRESSURIZED AIR. DEPENDING ON SEVERITY OF THE 
CRACK ADDITIONAL ROUTING MAY BE REQUIRED AS DIRECTED BY THE CITY OR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

(23)     COLD PLANE OPERATIONS SHALL BE BASED ON AN AVERAGE DEPTH OF THREE TO FIVE INCHES OVER THE ENTIRE 
AREA.  AREAS TO BE COLD PLANNED SHALL BE RESURFACED WITHIN 30 DAYS OF COMPLETION OF THAT SECTION OF 
ROADWAY UNLESS AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD HAS OBTAINED PRIOR APPROVAL.

(21) BEGIN WORK WITHIN FOURTEEN (14) DAYS AFTER WRITTEN NOTIFICATION OF THE WORK ORDER ISSUED UNDER
THIS CONTRACT.  EACH AND EVERY WORK ORDER ISSUED SHALL HAVE A MUTUALLY AGREED UPON DATE OF 
SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION, AND ALL WORK SHALL BE COMPLETED AND READY FOR FINAL PAYMENT IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH PARAGRAPH 14.07.B OF THE GENERAL CONDITIONS.  THE CONTRACTOR FURTHER AGREES THAT IF

Bid Tab 4-14-22.xlsx 14 4/14/2022



CITY OF BRENTWOOD
ROADWAY REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS

2019-2020

Four Star Sessions Paving Co., Inc.

FOOTNOTES ITEM  NO. ITEM  DESCRIPTION UNIT QTY. UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

(3)     BONDS WILL BE REQUIRED AS NOTED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  HOWEVER, BONDS WILL NOT BE REQUIRED 
FOR INDIVIDUAL WORK ORDERS ISSUED.  A RETAINER WILL NOT BE WITHHELD FROM EACH WORK ORDER ISSUED.

(4)     UNIT PRICE BID FOR ALL ITEMS SHALL INCLUDE ALL MOBILIZATION AND LAYOUT FOR A COMPLETE SYSTEM
INCLUSIVE OF ALL WATER QUALITY, EROSION, AND TRAFFIC CONTROL MEASURE INCLUSIVE OF PERMIT PREPARATION 
TO COMPLY WITH LOCAL, STATE, AND FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS.  PERMIT APPLICATION FEES SHALL BE REIMBURSED 
BY THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD.

(5)     MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT OF QUANTITIES SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STANDARD AND 
SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS OF THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION DATED: JANUARY 1, 2015 
AND ADDITIONAL SPECIFICATIONS AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.

(6)     ALL ITEMS WITHIN THIS CONTRACT INCLUDE INSTALLATION OF NECESSARY TRAFFIC AND EROSION CONTROL IN 
THE UNIT PRICE BID, IN ACCORDANCE WITH CITY REQUIREMENTS.  TEMPORARY LANE LINE AND SPECIALTY 
MARKINGS WILL NOT BE REQUIRED AND SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD.

(7)     TDOT STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR ROAD AND BRIDGE CONSTRUCTION, SECTION 104 SCOPE OF WORK, 
ARTICLE 104.02 CHANGES IN PLANS OR IN CHARACTER OF CONSTRUCTION, SUB-SECTION C HAS BEEN DELETED AND 
NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS CONTRACT.

(8)   PAYMENT FOR THE TOP TWO LAYERS OF ASPHALT ON MAINLINE AND SIDE ROAD PAVING SHALL BE BASED ON TH
RATE OF APPLICATION NOTED ON THE PAVING SCHEDULE WITH A TOLERANCE OF 1/4"+/-.  AN AVERAGE COMPACTED 
THICKNESS SHALL BE DETERMINED BASED ON CORE SAMPLES OBTAINED IN ACCORDANCE SPECIAL PROVISION 407DEN
"TEST STRIPS.”  ALL QUANTITY OUTSIDE THE TOLERANCE RANGE SHALL NOT BE PAID BY THE OWNER AND SHALL BE

Bid Tab 4-14-22.xlsx 15 4/14/2022



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

 NOTICE OF AWARD 
 
 
 Dated: ____________ 
 
TO:  Four Star Paving, LLC 
   (BIDDER) 
 
ADDRESS:  Four Star Paving, LLC 

C/O Mr. Mike Maynard 
1441 Elm Hill Pike 
Nashville, TN  37210 

 
Contract: Roadway Repairs & Improvements Fiscal Year 2022 - 2023 
 
Project: General Construction 
 
ENGINEER's Contract No. 22-002 
 
 
You are notified that your Bid dated April 12, 2022 for the above Contract has been accepted.  
You are the apparent Successful Bidder and have been awarded the Contract for Roadway 
Repairs and Improvements, Fiscal Year 2022 – 2023 as described in the construction documents. 
 

 

UNIT PRICE WORK 
 

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

  202-03 
REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF RIGID 
PAVEMENT 

S.Y. 2,500 $0.01 $25.00 

  
202-
03.01 

REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF ASPHALT 
PAVEMENT 

S.Y. 5,000 $24.00 $120,000.00 

  
202-
08.10 

REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF EXISTING CURB 
(EXTRUDED & CURB/GUTTER) 

L.F. 3,000 $0.01 $30.00 

  203-01 
ROAD & DRAINAGE EXCAVATION 
(UNCLASSIFIED) 

C.Y. 2,000 $0.01 $20.00 

  203-03 BORROW EXCAVATION (UNCLASSIFIED) C.Y. 500 $0.01 $5.00 

  203-07 FURNISHING & SPREADING TOPSOIL C.Y. 500 $0.01 $5.00 

  
209-
08.03 

TEMPORARY FILTER BARRIER (WITHOUT 
BACKING), (AFTER THE INITIAL 
INSTALLATION ALL COST ASSOCIATED 
WITH REPAIR, MAINTENANCE AND 

L.F. 500 $0.01 $5.00 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

REPLACEMENT SHALL BE AT THE 
CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.) 

  
209-
08.06 

ENHANCED SILT FENCE CHECK 
(TRAPEZOIDAL), DEPTH, OR AS DIRECTED 
BY THE ENGINEER, AFTER THE INITIAL 
INSTALLATION ALL COST ASSOCIATED 
WITH REPAIR, MAINTENANCE AND 
REPLACEMENT SHALL BE AT THE 
CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.) 

EACH 5 $100.00 $500.00 

  303-01 
MINERAL AGGREGATE TYPE A BASE 
GRADING D 

TON 5,000 $5.00 $25,000.00 

9 
303-
10.04 

MINERAL AGGREGATE (SIZE #9) TONS 500 $0.01 $5.00 

1 
307-
01.01 

ASPHALT CONCRETE MIX (PG64-22) (BPMB-
HM) GRADING A 

TON 2,500 $70.00 $175,000.00 

1 
307-
01.08 

ASPHALT CONCRETE MIX (PG64-22) (BPMB-
HM) GRADING B-M2 

TON 5,000 $72.00 $360,000.00 

1 402-01 
BITUMINOUS MATERIAL FOR PRIME COAT 
(PC) 

TON 28 $0.01 $0.28 

  402-02 AGGREGATE FOR COVER MATERIAL (PC) TON 112 $0.01 $1.12 

1 
403-
02.01 

TRACKLESS TACK COAT (TC) TON 10 $1,100.00 $11,000.00 

15 
405-
03.01 

PM REJUVENATING SCRUB SEAL S.Y 1,300 $0.01 $13.00 

13, 14 
407-
02.14 

ASPHALT PAVEMENT REPAIR  (INFRARED) L.S. 5 $1,100.00 $5,500.00 

1 
411-
01.11 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING “E” ROADWAY TON 6,000 $125.00 $750,000.00 

1, 11 
411-
01.11 
(SH) 

SPEED HUMP ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING 
“E” 

EACH 1 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 

1, 17 
411-
01.12 
(ST) 

SPEED TABLE ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING 
“E” 

EACH 1 $7,000.00 $7,000.00 

1 
411-
03.07 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) THIN LIFT ASPHALT TON 500 $88.00 $44,000.00 

1 
411-
03.10 

ACS MIX(PG76-22) GRADING D TON 6,000 $130.00 $780,000.00 

1 
411-
03.11 

ACS MIX(PG76-22) GRADING E ROADWAY TON 6,000 $130.00 $780,000.00 

1 
411-
03.12 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) THIN LIFT D ASPHALT TON 2,000 $130.00 $260,000.00 

2 
415-
01.02 

COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT S.Y. 11,250 $5.00 $56,250.00 

23 
415-
01.02 
(A) 

COLD PLANING BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT S.Y. 3,750 $8.00 $30,000.00 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

22 
502-
08.01 

RESEALING JOINTS (HOT POURED ELASTIC) S.F. 8,000 $0.01 $80.00 

20 
604-
07.01 

RETAINING WALL (REINFORCED EARTH, 
"MSE") 

S.F. 1,000 $10.00 $10,000.00 

  
604-
07.01 

RETAINING WALL (CLASS “A” CONCRETE, 
NOT TO EXCEED 24” IN HEIGHT)  

L.F. 200 $25.00 $5,000.00 

  
604-
07.02 

RETAINING WALL (CLASS “A” CONCRETE, 
6" to 12” IN HEIGHT)  

L.F. 750 $27.00 $20,250.00 

20 
604-
07.75 

RESTORATION OF REINFORCED 
EARTHWALLS 

S.F. 1,000 $10.00 $10,000.00 

3, 4 
607-
03.02 

18" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
05.02 

24" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
06.02 

30" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
07.02 

36" CONCRETE PIPE CULVERT (CLASS III) L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
03.30 

18" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
05.30 

24" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
06.30 

30" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

3, 4 
607-
07.30 

36" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 400 $0.01 $4.00 

  
611-
01.20 

ADJUSTMENT OF MANHOLE COVERS & 
FRAMES 

EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 

18 
611-
03.04 

GRAY IRON CASTINGS (CATCHBASIN)  LB. 4,380 $0.01 $43.80 

  
611-
07.01 

CLASS A CONCRETE (PIPE ENDWALLS) C.Y. 200 $0.01 $2.00 

  
611-
07.02 

STEEL BAR REINFORCEMENT (PIPE 
ENDWALLS) 

LB. 1,000 $0.01 $10.00 

  
611-
07.03 

STRUCTURAL STEEL (PIPE ENDWALLS) LB. 500 $0.01 $5.00 

  
611-
07.54 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 18 IN 
@ 3;1) 

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
611-
07.57 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 24 IN 
@ 3;1) 

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
611-
07.60 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 30 IN 
@ 3;1) 

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
611-
07.63 

PRE-CAST HEADWALL (CROSS DRAIN 36 IN) EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

  
611-
09.01 

ADJUSTMENT OF EXISTING CATCHBASIN 
GRATES & FRAMES 

EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 

18 
611-
12.01 

CATCHBASINS, TYPE 12, DEPTH 0' - 4' (D-CB-
12P, D-CB-12RA, & D-CBB-12A) 

EACH 5 $0.01 $0.05 

  
611-
12.01 
(A) 

CATCHBASINS, ADJUSTMENT TYPE 12, 
DEPTH +/- 1'            

PER FT 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 

18 
611-
14.01 

CATCHBASINS, TYPE 14, DEPTH 0' - 4' (D-CB-
14P, D-CB-14RB & D-CBB-12A) 

EACH 5 $0.01 $0.05 

  
611-
14.01 
(A) 

CATCHBASINS, ADJUSTMENT TYPE 14, 
DEPTH +/- 1'            

PER FT 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.01 

CONCRETE SIDEWALK (4-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 10,000 $8.00 $80,000.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.01 
(A) 

CONCRETE SIDEWALK (8-INCH DEPTH FOR 
RADIUS RETURNS, CLASS “A” W/FIBER 
MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 10,000 $0.01 $100.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.06 

PEBBLE FINISH CONCRETE SIDEWALK (4-
INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 2,000 $0.01 $20.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.07 

EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE 
DRIVEWAY (4-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” 
W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-
01.07 
(A) 

EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE 
DRIVEWAY (6-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” 
W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 701-02 
CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (4-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-02 

(A) 
CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (6-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-
02.01 

CONCRETE HANDICAP RAMP (RETROFIT, 8-
INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, 
DETECTABLE WARNINGS) 

EACH 50 $1,500.00 $75,000.00 

5, 21 
701-02 

.02   
CONCRETE DRIVEWAY (8-INCH DEPTH, 
CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, BROOM FINISH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

5, 21 
701-
02.07 
(B)   

EXPOSED AGGREGATE CONCRETE 
DRIVEWAY (8-INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” 
W/FIBER MESH) 

S.F. 1,500 $0.01 $15.00 

6, 21 702-01 
CONCRETE CURB, (TURN DOWN - TO BE 
USED AS DIRECTED) 

L.F. 1,500 $26.00 $39,000.00 

6, 21 
702-
01.01 

EXTRUDED SLOPING CURB (NEW 
INSTALLATION W/RUBBERIZED 
EXPANSION JOINT, GREATER THAN 300' 
Section, RP-MC-2) 

L.F. 7,500 $0.01 $75.00 

6, 21 
702-
01.01 
(A) 

EXTRUDED SLOPING CURB (REMOVAL AND 
REPAIR INSTALLATION LESS THAN 300' 
SECTION W/RUBBERIZED EXPANSION 
JOINT, RP-MC-2) 

L.F. 2,500 $28.00 $70,000.00 

  
702-
01.02 

CONCRETE CURB, (12”-TO BE USED AS 
DIRECTED AT RADIUS RETURNS) 

L.F. 200 $25.00 $5,000.00 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

6, 21 702-03 

CONCRETE COMBINED CURB & GUTTER 
(NEW INSTALLATION W/RUBBERIZED 
EXPANSION JOINT, GREATER THAN 300' 
SECTION, RP-NMC-10) 

L.F. 5,000 $0.01 $50.00 

6, 21 
702-03 

(A) 

CONCRETE COMBINED CURB & GUTTER 
(REMOVAL AND REPAIR INSTALLATION 
LESS THAN 300' SECTION W/RUBBERIZED 
EXPANSION JOINT, RP-NMC-10) 

L.F. 500 $60.00 $30,000.00 

  
920-
12.01 

RUBBERIZED EXPANSION JOINT (ASTM D-
1751-97) 

L.F. 1,000 $0.01 $10.00 

19 
705-
01.04 

METAL BEAM GUARD FENCE L.F. 200 $125.00 $25,000.00 

  
705-
02.02 

SINGLE GUARDRAIL (TYPE 2, NEW 
INSTALLATION) 

L.F. 250 $60.00 $15,000.00 

  
705-
04.09 

EARTH PAD FOR TYPE 38 GR END 
TREATMENT 

EACH 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 

  
705-
06.20 

TAN ENERGY ABSORBING TERMINAL 
(MASH  TL3) 

EACH 1 $5,500.00 $5,500.00 

  
705-
06.30 

GUARDRAIL TERMINAL (MASH  TL2) EACH 1 $4,500.00 $4,500.00 

  
705-
12.11 

GUARDRAIL STEEL POST TYPE 2 (8 FT.) L.F. 125 $80.00 $10,000.00 

  
705-
06.10 

GR TERMINAL TRAILING END (TYPE 13) 
MASH TL-3 

EACH 2 $2,600.00 $5,200.00 

  
706-
02.01 

GUARDRAIL (REMOVE & RESET) L.F. 500 $30.00 $15,000.00 

  710-02 
AGGREGATE UNDERDRAINS (WITH 4 IN. 
PIPE) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  710-04 FILTER CLOTH UNDERDRAIN (WITH PIPE) L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

7 
712-
04.01 

FLEXIBLE DRUMS (CHANNELIZING) EACH 1 $150.00 $150.00 

7 
712-
04.10 

TEMPORARY FLEXIBLE TUBULAR 
DELINEATOR 

EACH 1 $150.00 $150.00 

7 
712-
05.01 

WARNING LIGHTS (TYPE A) EACH 1 $125.00 $125.00 

7 
712-
05.03 

WARNING LIGHTS (TYPE C) EACH 1 $125.00 $125.00 

7 712-06 SIGNS (CONSTRUCTION) S.F. 1 $25.00 $25.00 

  
730-

12.02(A
) 

CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.02(B) 
CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.03(A
) 

CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

  
730-

12.03(B) 
CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER, (PVC, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.08(A
) 

CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.08(B) 
CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.09(A
) 

CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
ASPHALT OR CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-

12.09(B) 
CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (RGS, INCLUDES 
SOD TRENCH REPAIR) 

L.F. 250 $0.01 $2.50 

  
730-
12.13 

CONDUIT 2" DIAMETER (JACKED OR 
BORED) 

L.F. 100 $0.01 $1.00 

  
730-
12.14 

CONDUIT 3" DIAMETER (JACK AND BORE) L.F. 100 $0.01 $1.00 

  
740-
11.03 

TEMPORARY SEDIMENT TUBE 18 INCH (TO 
BE USED FOR EROSION CONTROL OF "V-
DITCH", AFTER THE INITIAL INSTALLATION 
ALL COST ASSOCIATED WITH REPAIR, 
MAINTENANCE AND REPLACEMENT SHALL 
BE AT THE CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.) 

L.F. 500 $0.01 $5.00 

8 
795-
09.09 

RELOCATE/RECONNECT EXISTING WATER 
METERS            

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

10 
795-
09.09 
(A) 

ADJUST HEIGHT OF EXISTING WATER 
METERS            

EACH 20 $0.01 $0.20 

  
795-
12.20 

ADJUSTMENT OF EXISTING WATER VALVE 
BOXES 

EACH 40 $450.00 $18,000.00 

  
797-
07.63 

REPLACE MANHOLE CASTING  EACH 0 $0.01 $0.00 

16 801-01 SEEDING (WITH MULCH) UNIT 200 $5.00 $1,000.00 

  801-03 WATER (SEEDING & SODDING) M.G. 100 $1.00 $100.00 

16 803-01 SODDING (NEW SOD) S.Y. 1,500 $7.00 $10,500.00 

  
805-
12.02 

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET (TYPE II) S.Y. 5,000 $0.01 $50.00 

  SUB-TOTAL ROADWAY BASE BID    $3,904,085.50 

FOOTNOTES ITEM  
NO. 

THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 
BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 

UNIT QTY. 
UNIT 

PRICE 
AMOUNT 

  
202-
03.01 

REMOVAL & DISPOSAL OF ASPHALT 
PAVEMENT 

S.Y. 250 $30.00 $7,500.00 

  203-01 
ROAD & DRAINAGE EXCAVATION 
(UNCLASSIFIED) 

C.Y. 200 $10.00 $2,000.00 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

CONSTRUCTION  ESTIMATE 
FOOTNOTES ITEM  

NO. 
THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE TO BE USED 

BY BRENTWOOD PARKS DEPARTMENT 
UNIT QTY. 

UNIT 
PRICE 

AMOUNT 

  203-07 FURNISHING & SPREADING TOPSOIL C.Y. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

  
209-
08.03 

TEMPORARY FILTER BARRIER (WITHOUT 
BACKING) 

L.F. 500 $5.00 $2,500.00 

  303-01 
MINERAL AGGREGATE TYPE A BASE 
GRADING D 

TON 375 $25.00 $9,375.00 

1 402-01 
BITUMINOUS MATERIAL FOR PRIME COAT 
(PC) 

TON 2 $0.01 $0.02 

  402-02 AGGREGATE FOR COVER MATERIAL (PC) TON 9 $0.01 $0.09 

1, 12 
411-
01.07 

ACS MIX (PG64-22) GRADING “E” SHOULDER TON 150 $135.00 $20,250.00 

3, 4 
607-

00(A) 

6" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-
00(B) 

8" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-

01(A) 

12" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-02 

(A) 

15" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

3, 4 
607-
03.30 

18" PIPE CULVERT (HIGH-DENSITY 
POLYETHYLENE (HDPE), AASHTO M294, 
TYPE S) 

L.F. 20 $10.00 $200.00 

5, 21 
701-
02.01 

CONCRETE HANDICAP RAMP (RETROFIT, 8-
INCH DEPTH, CLASS “A” W/FIBER MESH, 
DETECTABLE WARNINGS) 

EACH 4 $1,500.00 $6,000.00 

16 801-01 SEEDING (WITH MULCH) UNIT 10 $5.00 $50.00 

  801-03 WATER (SEEDING & SODDING) M.G. 5 $1.00 $5.00 

16 803-01 SODDING (NEW SOD) S.Y. 350 $6.50 $2,275.00 

  
805-
12.02 

EROSION CONTROL BLANKET (TYPE II) S.Y. 150 $5.00 $750.00 

  SUB-TOTAL PARK BASE BID    $51,905.11 

 TOTAL PROJECT COST $3,955,990.61 

 
FOOTNOTES     

 
(1)     UNIT COST IS ARE SUBJECT TO ADJUSTMENT PER TDOT'S SPECIAL PROVISION 109B, PRICE 
ADJUSTMENT FOR BITUMINOUS MATERIAL     



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

(2)     COLD PLANE OPERATIONS SHALL BE BASED ON AN AVERAGE DEPTH OF ZERO TO THREE 
INCHES OVER THE ENTIRE AREA.  AREAS TO BE COLD PLANNED SHALL BE RESURFACED WITHIN 30 
DAYS OF COMPLETION OF THAT SECTION OF ROADWAY UNLESS AN AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD HAS OBTAINED PRIOR APPROVAL.     
(3)     ALL EXCAVATION FOR STORM DRAINAGE PIPE SHALL BE CONSIDERED UNCLASSIFIED 
MATERIAL AT A DEPTH OF PIPE DIAMETER PLUS 3 FEET.     
(4)     UNIT COST INCLUDES BEDDING MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH TDOT STANDARD 
DRAWING D-PB-1 AND D-PB-2.     
(5)     UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES EXCAVATION, 4” STONE BEDDING, RUBBERIZED EXPANSION 
MATERIAL (ASTM D-1751-97), TOPSOIL BACKFILL, 2-FOOT SOD STRIP ON EACH SIDE AND ALL 
APPURTENANCES TO COMPLETE THE WORK     
(6)     UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES EXCAVATION, STONE BEDDING, RUBBERIZED EXPANSION 
MATERIAL (ASTM D-1751-97), TOPSOIL BACKFILL, 2-FOOT SOD STRIP, AND ALL APPURTENANCES TO 
COMPLETE THE WORK.     
(7)     TO BE USED AS DIRECTED BY THE BRENTWOOD PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR OR AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE.     
(8)   INCLUDES ALL MATERIALS, LABOR AND EQUIPMENT FOR REMOVAL OF EXISTING WATER 
SERVICE METER ASSEMBLY AND INSTALLING AT NEWLY IDENTIFIED LOCATION.     
(9)     TO BE USED FOR ADDITIONAL PIPE BEDDING MATERIAL AS DIRECTED BY THE PUBLIC WORKS 
DIRECTOR OR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE.     
(10) 
INCLUDES ALL MATERIALS, LABOR AND EQUIPMENT FOR REMOVAL OF EXISTING WATER METER B
OX AND ADJUSTING TO MATCH ADJOINING GRADE     
(11) COORDINATE WITH CITY OF BRENTWOOD SPECIAL PROVISION CB-111, DECEMBER 28, 2018     
(12) RESURFACING OF EXISTING TRAILS VARIES FROM 8 TO 10 FEET.  NEW TRAIL CONSTRUCTION 
SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF 10 FEET IN WIDTH.      
(13) UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES ALL EQUIPMENT, MATERIALS AND LABOR FOR REPAIR OF AN 
ASPHALT SURFACE.  UNIT PRICE INCLUDES UP TO 126 SF OF SURFACE AREA AND A 4 HOUR ON SITE 
VISIT, WHICH MAY INCLUDE MULTIPLE LOCATIONS.     
(14) INFRARED PAVEMENT REPAIR USES AN INFRARED HEATING UNIT TO HEAT IN-PLACE ASPHALT 
TO SOFTEN IT TO A WORKABLE STATE, THEN NEW ASPHALT CAN BE ADDED WHICH FUSES 
SEAMLESSLY TO THE OLD.  THE CONTRACTOR WILL BE COMPENSATED ON A LUMP SUM BASIS PER 
FOUR HOUR INCREMENT WITH AN AVERAGE REPAIR OF 120 SQUARE FEET WHICH MAY INCLUDE 
MULTIPLE SITES. THE STEP-BY-STEP PROCESS FOR POTHOLE REPAIR USING A TRUCK-MOUNTED 
INFRARED PAVEMENT HEATER IS:     
 a.       SWEEP AND DRY THE AREA.    
 b.       POSITION THE INFRARED HEATING ARRAY OVER THE POTHOLE FOR SEVEN TO 10 
MINUTES.    
 c.        REMOVE THE HEATER AND RAKE THE SOFTENED (350 DEGREE) ASPHALT.    
 d.       MIX IN A REJUVENATOR TO REPLENISH LIGHT OILS THAT HAVE OXIDIZED AWAY.    
 e.        ADD A SMALL AMOUNT OF FRESH ASPHALT AND GRADE IT TO LEVEL WITH A LUTE.    
 f.        USE A VIBRATORY ROLLER TO COMPACT AND FUSE THE PATCH WITH THE SURROUNDING 
PAVEMENT.    
 g.        12-MONTH WARRANTY ON REPAIRED AREA.     
 h.       TIME BEGINS UPON ARRIVAL TO FIRST JOBSITE AND ENDS UPON DEPARTURE FROM FINAL 
JOB.    
 i.         TRAFFIC CONTROL INCLUDED    
(15)  REJUVENATING SCRUB SEAL     



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

 a.       PREP AND CLEAN ASPHALT FROM DIRT, DEBRIS, AND VEGETATION, WHICH MAY REQUIRE 
PRESSURE WASHING    
 b.       SEALER WILL NOT BOND TO SEVERE OIL ON ASPHALT DAMAGE    
(16) SEED AND SOD SHALL BE PER TDOT SECTION 918.01.  THE ONLY ALLOWABLE MIXTURE WIL BE 
LIMITED TO TABLE 918.01-1 GROUP A (FEBRUARY 1 – JULY 1) AND TABLE 918.01-4 GROUP C 
(AUGUST  1 – DECEMBER 1).     
(17) COORDINATE WITH CITY OF BRENTWOOD SPECIAL PROVISION CB-112, DECENBER 31, 2018.     
     
(18) CURB IRON TO HAVE A SOLID BACK.  THE CONTRACTOR MAY SUBSTITUTE NEENAH R-3067V 
OR APPROVED EQUAL HAVING A SOLID BACK.  TOP OF CATCHBASIN MAY REQUIRE MINOR 
MODIFICATIONS TO ACCOMMODATE THE NEENAH R-3067V SOLID BACK CASTING.     
     
(19) ATTACHMENT TO TOP DECK OF BOX/SLAB.     
     
(20) UNIT COST DOES NOT INCLUDE PREPARATION OR SUBMITTAL OF NECESSARY PERMITS.  UNIT 
PRICE BID IS FOR WALL HEIGHTS 6 FEET OR LESS, INCLUSIVE OF  COFFER DAMS (IF REQUIRED), 
CLEARING, SITE PREPARATION, STRIP/PLACE TOPSOIL, EXCAVATION , BACKFILL AND ALL OTHER 
ITEMS NECESSARY FOR A COMPLETED WALL SYSTEM.  EROSION CONTROL FEATURES, OTHER 
THAN COFFER DAMS, WILL BE PAID FOR SEPARATELY.     
     
(21) BEGIN WORK WITHIN FOURTEEN (14) DAYS AFTER WRITTEN NOTIFICATION OF THE WORK 
ORDER ISSUED UNDER THIS CONTRACT.  EACH AND EVERY WORK ORDER ISSUED SHALL HAVE A 
MUTUALLY AGREED UPON DATE OF SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION, AND ALL WORK SHALL BE 
COMPLETED AND READY FOR FINAL PAYMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH PARAGRAPH 14.07.B OF THE 
GENERAL CONDITIONS.  THE CONTRACTOR FURTHER AGREES THAT IF WORK IS NOT INITIATED 
AND COMPLETED WITHIN THE MUTUALLY AGREED UPON CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE THE OWNER 
RESERVES THE OPTION TO IMPOSE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 4.03 OF 
THE “STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN OWNER AND CONTRACTOR ON THE BASIS OF 
STIPULATED PRICE”.     
     
(22) UNIT PRICE BID INCLUDES PRIOR INSTALLATION OF THE SEAL COAT, CLEANING OF ALL 
SURFACES TO BE SEALED BY SWEEPING WITH A MOTORIZED BROOM TO REMOVE ANY LOOSE 
MATERIAL. CLEAN DEPRESSIONS AND CRACKS NOT REACHED BY THE POWER BROOM USING 
HAND BROOMS OR PRESSURIZED AIR. DEPENDING ON SEVERITY OF THE CRACK ADDITIONAL 
ROUTING MAY BE REQUIRED AS DIRECTED BY THE CITY OR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE. 
MATERIAL TO BE COORDINATED WITH TDOT SPECIFICATION 905.05.     
     
(23)     COLD PLANE OPERATIONS SHALL BE BASED ON AN AVERAGE DEPTH OF THREE TO FIVE 
INCHES OVER THE ENTIRE AREA.  AREAS TO BE COLD PLANNED SHALL BE RESURFACED WITHIN 30 
DAYS OF COMPLETION OF THAT SECTION OF ROADWAY UNLESS AN AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD HAS OBTAINED PRIOR APPROVAL.     
     
GENERAL NOTES (ALL ITEMS)     
     
(1)     WORKING HOURS WILL BE FROM 7:00 AM UNTIL DARK MONDAY THROUGH SATURDAY.  NO 
WORK WILL BE ALLOWED ON SUNDAY UNLESS IT HAS BEEN CLASSIFIED AS AN EMERGENCY AND 
APPROVED BY THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS.     
     



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

(2)     AN INITIAL WORK ORDER IS TENTATIVELY SCHEDULED TO BE ISSUED ON JUNE 1, 2022.  ONCE 
A CONTRACT HAS BEEN ISSUED, ON OR ABOUT JULY 1, 2022 ALL DOCUMENTS FROM THAT POINT, 
FORWARD WILL SENT TO THE ATTENTION OF MR. TODD HOPPENSTEDT, BRENTWOOD DIRECTOR 
OF PUBLIC WORKS.     
     
(3)     BONDS WILL BE REQUIRED AS NOTED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.  HOWEVER, BONDS 
WILL NOT BE REQUIRED FOR INDIVIDUAL WORK ORDERS ISSUED.  A RETAINER WILL NOT BE 
WITHHELD FROM EACH WORK ORDER ISSUED.     
     
(4)     UNIT PRICE BID FOR ALL ITEMS SHALL INCLUDE ALL MOBILIZATION AND LAYOUT FOR A 
COMPLETE SYSTEM INCLUSIVE OF ALL WATER QUALITY, EROSION, AND TRAFFIC CONTROL 
MEASURE INCLUSIVE OF PERMIT PREPARATION TO COMPLY WITH LOCAL, STATE, AND FEDERAL 
REQUIREMENTS.  PERMIT APPLICATION FEES SHALL BE REIMBURSED BY THE CITY OF 
BRENTWOOD.     
     
(5)     MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT OF QUANTITIES SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
STANDARD AND SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS OF THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION DATED: JANUARY 1, 2015 AND ADDITIONAL SPECIFICATIONS AND SPECIAL 
PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.     
     
(6)     ALL ITEMS WITHIN THIS CONTRACT INCLUDE INSTALLATION OF NECESSARY TRAFFIC AND 
EROSION CONTROL IN THE UNIT PRICE BID, IN ACCORDANCE WITH CITY REQUIREMENTS.  
TEMPORARY LANE LINE AND SPECIALTY MARKINGS WILL NOT BE REQUIRED AND SHALL BE THE 
RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD.     
     
(7)     TDOT STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR ROAD AND BRIDGE CONSTRUCTION, SECTION 104 
SCOPE OF WORK, ARTICLE 104.02 CHANGES IN PLANS OR IN CHARACTER OF CONSTRUCTION, SUB-
SECTION C HAS BEEN DELETED AND NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS CONTRACT.     
     
(8)   PAYMENT FOR THE TOP TWO LAYERS OF ASPHALT ON MAINLINE AND SIDE ROAD PAVING 
SHALL BE BASED ON THE RATE OF APPLICATION NOTED ON THE PAVING SCHEDULE WITH A 
TOLERANCE OF 1/4"+/-.  AN AVERAGE COMPACTED THICKNESS SHALL BE DETERMINED BASED ON 
CORE SAMPLES OBTAINED IN ACCORDANCE SPECIAL PROVISION 407DEN "TEST STRIPS.”  ALL 
QUANTITY OUTSIDE THE TOLERANCE RANGE SHALL NOT BE PAID BY THE OWNER AND SHALL BE 
THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR     
 

Total of All Unit Prices: 
 

Three Million Nine Hundred Fifty Five Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety Dollars and 61/100 Cents 
(WORDS) 

 
$3,955,990.61 

(DOLLARS) 
         

Four (4) copies of each of the proposed Contract Documents and Drawings accompany this 
Notice of Award.  Additional sets of drawings and specifications are available upon request. 
 



EJCDC No. 1910-22  (1996 Edition) 
Prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America and the Construction Specifications Institute. 

 

  

     You must comply with the following conditions precedent within 15 days of the date you 
receive this Notice of Award. 
 
     1. Deliver to the OWNER four (4) fully executed counterparts of the Contract Documents.  
Each of the Contract Documents must bear your signature where indicated. 
 
     2. Deliver with the executed Contract Documents the Contract security (Bonds) as specified 
in the Instructions to Bidders (Article 20) and General Conditions (paragraph 5.01). 
 

3. (List other conditions precedent). N/A 
    

   Failure to comply with these conditions within the time specified will entitle OWNER to 
consider your Bid in default, to annul this Notice of Award and to declare your Bid security 
forfeited. 
 
   Within ten days after you comply with the above conditions, OWNER will return to you one 
fully executed counterpart of the Contract Documents. 
 
  City of Brentwood 
  (OWNER) 
 
     By:    
  (AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE) 
    
  (TITLE) 
Copy to Engineer 



NOTICE TO PROCEED 
 
 
 Dated: ________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
TO:  Four Star Paving, LLC 
   (BIDDER) 
 
ADDRESS:  Four Star Paving, LLC 

C/O Mr. Mike Maynard 
1441 Elm Hill Pike 
Nashville, TN  37210 

 
Contract: Roadway Repairs & Improvements Fiscal Year 2022 - 2023 
 
Project: General Construction 
 
ENGINEER's Contract No. 22-002 
 
 You are notified that the Contract Times under the above contract will commence to run on 
_____________ ___, 2022.  By that date, you are to start performing your obligations under the 
Contract Documents. Substantial Completion shall be in accordance with Article 4 of the 
Agreement. 
  
 Before you may start any Work at the Site, paragraph 2.05.C of the General Conditions 
provides that you and Owner must each deliver to the other (with copies to Engineer and other 
identified additional insureds) certificates of insurance which each is required to purchase and 
maintain in accordance with the Contract Documents. 
 
  

 
  City of Brentwood 
  (OWNER) 
 
 By:   
  (AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE) 
 
     
  (TITLE) 
 
 
Copy to ENGINEER 

 



   
    Consent    2.        

Brentwood City Commission Agenda
Meeting Date: 05/09/2022  
Resolution 2022-49 - Acquisition of an Easement for the Arden Woods Sewer Station
Abandonment Project
Submitted by: Chris Milton, Water & Sewer
Department: Water & Sewer

Information
Subject
Resolution 2022-49 - Acquisition of an Easement for the Arden Woods Sewer Station
Abandonment Project.

Background
The Water Services Department’s Capital Improvements Program includes funding the
abandonment of the City’s Arden Woods sewer pumping station and provides for upgrades to the
Scales School sewer pumping station.  The project scope includes installing approximately 1,500
feet of gravity sewer pipe from the existing Arden Woods sewer station along Fisher Court and
connecting to an existing sewer line located near the front of the school, near Murray Lane
right-of-way. 
 
To complete the abandonment of the Arden Woods station, a small section of the new gravity
sewer line will need to be located on the adjacent parcel at 6402 Fisher Ct., which will require the
City to negotiation a permanent and temporary construction easement from the owner. 
Additionally, the upgrades planned for the Scales School pumping station will require the station
site be expanded to accommodate new equipment, including a generator and controls.  In regard
to easements associated with the section of gravity line routed across the school property, this
portion of sewer line is currently owned and maintained by the Williamson County School Board
as a private service line.  The City has proposed to take over ownership and maintenance of the
sewer line to accommodate the abandonment of the Arden Woods station project.  In 2017, as a
condition of an interlocal agreement between the City and Williamson County Schools (WCS)
for aid in funding improvements for Brentwood High and Middle School campuses, WCS agreed
to grant the City the needed easements to accommodate this section of sewer line at no additional
compensation.  However, the interlocal agreement did not specifically address the station site
easement and therefore staff believes authorization to negotiate this easement is appropriate.    
 
Accordingly, staff is requesting authorization for the Mayor, City Manager and City Attorney to
move forward with negotiations for the acquisition of easements for this sewer facilities project.
 Attached is a site map for your reference.  Please contact Chris Milton, should you have any
questions.  



Staff Recommendation
Staff recommends approval.  

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Resolution 2022-49 
Site Map 



RESOLUTION 2022-49

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE AUTHORIZING 
THE MAYOR, CITY MANAGER AND CITY ATTORNEY FOR THE CITY OF 

BRENTWOOD TO NEGOTIATE FOR, OR TO INSTITUTE EMINENT DOMAIN 
PROCEEDINGS AND/OR TO INSTITUTE OR INTERVENE IN ANY OTHER 
NECESSARY LEGAL ACTIONS FOR THE ACQUISITION OF EASEMENTS 

NECESSARY FOR THE ARDEN WOODS SEWER STATION ABANDONMENT
PROJECT

WHEREAS, the capital improvements program includes funding the abandonment of the City’s 
Arden Woods sewer pump station and upgrades to the Scales School sewer pumping station; 
and

WHEREAS, such improvements are necessary to the health, safety and welfare of area 
residents; and

WHEREAS, the City of Brentwood, under its charter, has the legal authority to condemn 
property, real or personal, or any easement or interest therein, whether within or without the 
City, for present or future public use, and the conditions may require the City of Brentwood to 
exercise this legal right.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, 
TENNESSEE, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1.  That the Mayor, City Manager and City Attorney for the City of Brentwood be 
and they are hereby authorized to negotiate for, or to institute eminent domain proceedings 
and/or to institute or intervene in any other necessary legal actions for the acquisition of 
easements necessary for the Arden Woods sewer station abandonment project.

SECTION 2. That this resolution shall take effect from and after its passage, the general 
welfare of the City of Brentwood, Williamson County, Tennessee requiring it.

ADOPTED:  

RECORDER Holly Earls

MAYOR Rhea E. Little, III

Approved as to form:

CITY ATTORNEY Kristen L. Corn





   
    Consent    3.        

Brentwood City Commission Agenda
Meeting Date: 05/09/2022  
Approval of Recommended Roadway Repairs and Improvements List for FY 2023
Submitted by: Todd Hoppenstedt, Public Works
Department: Public Works

Information
Subject
Approval of Recommended Roadway Repairs and Improvements List for FY 2023.

Background
Attached is a list of City of Brentwood maintained street segments recommended for repair and
improvement in FY 2023.  The list is mostly prepared using data from the Commission-approved
contract with StreetScan for a video assessment of all City streets which was conducted in
October 2021, with data provided to Public Works in January 2022.  In addition, staff physically
evaluates the top priorities each year to further refine the list.  We consider pavement condition,
traffic type, traffic volume, speed limit, current maintenance demands, drainage concerns, reports
of failures, and any plans for know upcoming utility work that may impact these streets before
preparing the recommended list.

The proposed FY 2023 budget for Roadway Repairs and Improvements is $2,600,000 comprised
of $800,000 from the General Fund and $1,800,000 from the State Street Aid Fund.  The attached
list of street segments represents the highest priorities at this time, except for some streets that are
intentionally delayed until upcoming utility work has been completed.  As work progresses
through the year, staff will continually review actual project costs to determine what additional
work can be added to the contract in order to optimize the use of available funds.  In addition to
the full-width paving list, there will be many smaller patches and curb repairs added throughout
the fiscal year.  The list currently represents only about 82% of the available budget. The
remaining 18% contingency is being retained to provide the flexibility to address any curb
repairs, manhole/valve box adjustments, or failures like settlement, shoving, and pavement
buckles.  Additionally, the contingency protects against any fluctuations in the TDOT bituminous
cost index throughout the course of the year.  

Staff Recommendation
Staff recommends the approval of the FY 2023 Paving List.

Please direct any questions to the Public Works Director. 



Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Recommended Paving List FY 2023 



GIS ID # Street Limits
SP_54_72 Montclair Blvd Moores to roundabout
SP_54_55 Forsyth Park Drive Roundabout
SP_54_69 Forsyth Park Drive Roundabout to Richborgh Park Drive
SP_54_54 Burnham Park Drive Richborgh Park Drive to Roundabout
SP_54_66 Knightsbridge Park Close Richborgh Park Drive to Cul‐de‐sac
SP_54_57 Richborgh Park Drive Surrey Drive to Cul‐de‐sac
SP_54_68 Claybrook Park Drive Forsyth Park to Cul‐de‐sac
SP_54_56 Lockinver Park Drive Roundabout to Cul‐de‐sac
SP_54_65 Danforth Park Close Lochinver Park Drive to Cul‐de‐sac
SP_54_53 Surrey Drive Northern Cul‐de‐sac to 1735 Surrey Drive
SP_54_51 Saddle Ct. Carriage Hills to Cul‐de‐sac
SP_54_48 Harness Ct. Carriage Hills to Cul‐de‐sac

SP_12_21 Wellesley Way Landmark Pl to Eastern Cul‐de‐sac
SP_12_22 Wellesley Way Landmark Pl to Western Cul‐de‐sac
SP_8_19 Landmark Place Maryland Way to Cul‐de‐sac
SP_12_20 Atrium Court Wellesley Way to Cul‐de‐sac
SP_8_18 Courtyard Drive Wellesley Way to Landmark Place S/B
SP_8_22 Courtyard Drive Wellesley Way to Landmark Place N/B

SP_12_112 Foxborough Square Foxland Drive to Roundabout
SP_12_113 Foxborough Square Roundabout to Foxland Drive
SP_12_111 Foxborough Square Roundabout  
SP_12_109 Foxborough Square E. Roundabout to roundabout
SP_12_110 Foxborough Square N.  Roundabout to roundabout

SP_11_4 Old Smyrna Road Wilson Pike to Cul‐de‐sac
SP_11_91 Old Smyrna Road Wilson Pike to Jones Parkway
SP_11_13 Ford Drive Old Smyrna Road to Davis Drive
SP_29_50 Carondelet Place Davis Drive To Shenandoah Drive
SP_11_93 Carondelet Place Davis Drive to Wilson Pike
SP_29_54 Hood Place Wilson Pike to Davis Drive
SP_29_55 Hood Place Davis Drive to Cul‐de‐sac
SP_29_51 Davis Drive Old Smyrna Road to 616 Davis Drive
SP_29_59 Shenandoah Drive Ford Drive to 618 Shenandoah Drive

Upon Completion of Water Line Replacement Project



   
    Consent    4.        

Brentwood City Commission Agenda
Meeting Date: 05/09/2022  
Approval to purchase a Network Data Storage Backup Solution from Pure Storage
Submitted by: Sarah VanWormer, Technology
Department: Technology

Information
Subject
Approval to purchase a Network Data Storage Backup Solution from Pure Storage

Background
The City of Brentwood's current network storage arrays were implemented four and a half years
ago.  The current storage solution has not met expectations as they relate to recovery times,
speed, and expansion.  For example, in the event of a disaster requiring full restoration of network
data, our current solution takes 1-2 weeks to bring up backups.

In anticipation of the scheduled replacement/upgrade of the network storage arrays as
programmed in the Equipment Replacement Fund, Technology staff researched various options. 
As a result of this research, the Pure Storage solution was identified as the preferred solution. 
The Pure Storage solution will allow the City to restore backups in a few hours, and the solution
also has enhanced Cybersecurity features that do not exist in our current solution. One of these
features is the inability to delete backups.  Pure Storage has a required validation process that
must be completed prior to deletion, reducing the risk of a hacker getting into the network
and deleting backup without staff knowledge. Another benefit of this solution is the ease of
implementation which is projected at approximately half a day.  The proposal price for this
solution under the State of Tennessee NASPO purchasing cooperative includes implementation,
training, support monitors, and three years of service and maintenance.

Staff Recommendation
Staff is recommending approval to purchase the Pure Storage Network Data Storage solution
from Presidio for the total amount of $451,379.28. This purchase will be made pursuant to the
State of Tennessee NASPO purchasing cooperative.  



Fiscal Impact
Amount : $451,379.28
Source of Funds: Equipment Replacement Fund
Account Number: Multiple
Fiscal Impact:
The total cost of the equipment ($221,662.24) and support/maintenance ($229,757.04) is
$451,379.28.  The support/maintenance component of the quote is an annual fee of $76,585.68,
which has the benefit of locking in pricing over that timeframe.  The City will pay a total of
$298,207.92 in Year 1,and $76,585.68 each in Years 2 and 3. 

Approximately $350,000 have accumulated in the Equipment Replacement Fund for
replacement of the network storage, and this purchase is proposed in the draft FY 2023 Annual
Budget.  An additional $100,000 is proposed to be transferred at FYE 2022 from General Fund
excess revenues to cover the difference between actual replacement costs and what has
accumulated to-date.      

Attachments
Pure Storage Quote 
NASPO Contract 



2001721026416-03QUOTE:
04/21/2022DATE:

PAGE: 1 of 2

FROM: Presidio Networked Solutions
Eddie Orfale
12 Cadillac Drive
Suite 130
Brentwood, TN 37027

eorfale@presidio.com
(p) +1.407.641.0550

TO: City of Brentwood
Dan Harrison
5211 Maryland Way
Brentwood, TN 37027

dan.harrison@brentwoodtn.gov
(p) 615-371-7000

SHIP TO: City of Brentwood
Dan Harrison
5211 Maryland Way
Brentwood, TN 37027

Dan.Harrison@brentwoodtn.gov
(p) 615-371-2221

BILL TO: City of Brentwood
Accounts Payable Michelle
PO BOX 788
Brentwood, TN 37024

Michele.kramer@brentwoodtn.gov
(p) (615) 371-7000

Eddie Orfale

Jeff Hodges

Title:

Inside Sales Rep:

Account Manager:

City of Brentwood  -  Pure Storage

Contract Vehicle: Tennessee (City of Franklin) Pure Storage MNWNC-125
TN#

Customer#: CITYO509

# Part # Description Unit Price Ext PriceQty

PROD X20

1 FA-X20R3-ETH-63TB-45/18-
EMEZZ

Pure Storage FlashArray X20R3-ETH-63TB-45/18-EMEZZ 1.0000 $97,722.24$97,722.24

2 FA-X20R3-63TB
1MO,ADV,GOLD

FA-X20R3-63TB 1 Month Evergreen Gold Subscription, NBD Delivery, 24/7
Support

36.0000 $68,006.52$1,889.07

$165,728.76Total (PROD X20):

PROD X20

3 FA-X20R3-ETH-63TB-45/18-
EMEZZ

Pure Storage FlashArray X20R3-ETH-63TB-45/18-EMEZZ 1.0000 $0.00$0.00

4 FA-X20R3-63TB
1MO,ADV,GOLD

FA-X20R3-63TB 1 Month Evergreen Gold Subscription, NBD Delivery, 24/7
Support

36.0000 $68,006.52$1,889.07

$68,006.52Total (PROD X20):

PROD //C40

5 FA-C40R3-ETH-247TB-
247/0

Pure Storage FlashArray C40R3-ETH-247TB-247/0 1.0000 $123,900.00$123,900.00

6 FA-C40R3-247TB
1MO,ADV,GOLD

FA-C40R3-247TB 1 Month Evergreen Gold Subscription, NBD Delivery, 24/7
Support

36.0000 $46,872.00$1,302.00

$170,772.00Total (PROD //C40):

PROD //C40

7 FA-C40R3-ETH-247TB-
247/0

Pure Storage FlashArray C40R3-ETH-247TB-247/0 1.0000 $0.00$0.00

8 FA-C40R3-247TB
1MO,ADV,GOLD

FA-C40R3-247TB 1 Month Evergreen Gold Subscription, NBD Delivery, 24/7
Support

36.0000 $46,872.00$1,302.00

$46,872.00Total (PROD //C40):

Sub Total: $451,379.28

Grand Total: $451,379.28



2001721026416-03QUOTE:
04/21/2022DATE:

PAGE: 2 of 2

This quote is governed by Terms and Conditions of NASPO ValuePoint Pure Storage Contract MNWNC-125 TN#

Quote valid for 30 days from date shown above.

Pursuant to this contract your PO must reflect the following contract:
NASPO ValuePoint Pure Storage Contract MNWNC-125TN#

Tax ID# 58-1667655; Size Business: Large; CAGE Code: 0KD05; DUNS#15-405-0959

Credit: Net 30 days (all credit terms subject to prior Presidio credit department approval)

Delivery:  FOB Terms Destination



1

PARTICIPATING ADDENDUM
NASPO ValuePoint COOPERATIVE PURCHASING PROGRAM

Computer Equipment
Administered by the State of Minnesota (hereinafter “Lead State”)

MASTER AGREEMENT  
Master Agreement No: MNWNC-125

Pure Storage
(hereinafter “Contractor”)

And
City of Brentwood

(hereinafter “Participating Entity”)

1. Scope: This addendum allows for purchase of the following Computer Equipment and 
Services: Band 5: Storage led by the State of Minnesota along with a multi-state sourcing team
for use by purchasing entities authorized to utilize this contract.

The original solicitation contains the requirements and definitions establishing the Product 
Bands allowed on the Master Agreement. The Master Agreement identifies the bands 
awarded to the Contract Vendor. The configuration limits and restrictions for the Master 
Agreement are provided with revisions identified by each Participating Entity placing orders 
under this Participating Addendum. 

2. Participation: Use of this NASPO ValuePoint cooperative contract by all departments under 
the authority of City of Brentwood, TN are eligible to procure under this Participating 
Addendum.

3. Order of Precedence:

1. This Participating Addendum
2. Minnesota NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement No. MNWNC-125
3. The Solicitation including all Addendums; and
4. Contract Vendor's response to the Solicitation

These documents shall be read to be consistent and complementary. Any conflict among 
these documents shall be resolved by giving priority to these documents in the order listed 
above. Contract Vendor terms and conditions that apply to this Master Agreement are only 
those that are expressly accepted by the Participating Entity and must be in writing and 
attached to the Master Agreement as an Exhibit or Attachment.  No other terms and conditions 
shall apply, including terms and conditions listed in the Contract Vendor’s response to the 
Solicitation, or terms listed or referenced on the Contract Vendor's website, in the Contract 
Vendor quotation/sales order or in similar documents subsequently provided by the Contract 
Vendor. The solicitation language prevails unless a mutually agreed exception has been 
negotiated These documents shall be read to be consistent and complementary. Any conflict 
among these documents shall be resolved by giving priority to these documents in the order 
listed above. Contract Vendor terms and conditions that apply to this Master Agreement are 
only those that are expressly accepted by the Participating Entity and must be in writing and 



2

attached to the Master Agreement as an Exhibit or Attachment.  No other terms and conditions 
shall apply, including terms and conditions listed in the Contract Vendor’s response to the 
Solicitation, or terms listed or referenced on the Contract Vendor's website, in the Contract 
Vendor quotation/sales order or in similar documents subsequently provided by the Contract 
Vendor. The solicitation language prevails unless a mutually agreed exception has been 
negotiated.

4. Participating Entity Modifications or Additions to Master Agreement:

A. Approval of this Participating Addendum by City of Brentwood will extend to any 
subsequent addendums/amendments of this executed Participating Addendum.

B.  Purchases are authorized only if a Purchase Order is issued in advance of the transaction. 
Purchase orders under this Participating Addendum shall be issued to an Authorized Reseller 
identified in Attachment 1.  A Purchase Order must indicate that the ordering agency has 
sufficient funds available to pay for the purchase.  Such a Purchase Order is to be provided to 
the Authorized Reseller by the ordering agency.  The Participating Entity will not be liable for 
payment for any purchases made by its employees without appropriate purchase 
authorization issued by a Purchasing Agent.  If the Authorized Reseller provides goods or 
services without a signed Purchase Order, it does so at its own risk and expense.

C.  NONDISCRIMINATION:  The Contractor warrants and represents that all of its employees 
are treated equally during employment without regard to race, color, religion, disability, sex, 
age, national origin, ancestry, marital status, familial status, sexual orientation, gender 
identity and expression, or genetic information.

5. Primary Contacts: The primary contact individuals for this Participating Addendum are as 
follows (or their named successors):

Contractor:

Name Kim Bradbury, Sr. Director Public Sector Contracts
Address 650 Castro Street, Ste. 260, Mountain View, CA  94041

Telephone 301-717-9968
Fax 410-414-2117
E-mail kim.bradbury@purestorage.com

Participating Entity:

Name
Address
Cell
Office
E-mail

6.  Partner Utilization: Each Entity represented by NASPO ValuePoint participating in this 
Master Agreement independently have the option of utilizing partners. Only partners 
approved by this Participating Entity may be deployed. The participating Entity will define 



3

the process to add and remove partners and may define the partner’s role in their 
participating addendum. The Contractors partners’ participation will be in accordance with 
the terms and conditions set forth in the aforementioned Master Agreement. Approved 
partners shall have the authority to issue quotes, accept purchase order, issue invoices and 
receive payments in their own name on behalf of the Contractor: Approved partners are listed 
in Attachment 1.

7. Terms. The Participating Entity is agreeing to the terms of the Master Agreement only to 
the extent the terms are not in conflict with applicable law.

8. Orders: Any Order placed by a Participating Entity or Purchasing Entity for a Product 
and/or Service available from this Master Agreement shall be deemed to be a sale under 
(and governed by the prices and other terms and conditions) of the Master Agreement unless 
the parties to the Order agree in writing that another contract or agreement applies to such 
Order.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Addendum as of the date of execution 
by both parties below.

Participating Entity: City of Brentwood Contractor: Pure Storage, Inc.

By: By:

Name: Name: Michael Wiseman

Title: Title: VP, Americas Public Sector

Date: Date: 6/29/2021



4

Attachment 1
Approved Partners

Pure Storage Authorized Reseller Point of Contact Email Phone

Presidio Networked Solutions Group, LLC Jeff Hodges jhodges@presidio.com (615) 866-5762

Sirius Computer Solutions, Inc. Phyllis (PJ) Byrd Phyllis.byrd@siriuscom.com (210) 369-8000



   
    Consent    5.        

Brentwood City Commission Agenda
Meeting Date: 05/09/2022  
Approval to purchase ammunition for the Police Department 
Submitted by: Richard Hickey, Police
Department: Police

Information
Subject
Approval to purchase ammunition for the Police Department from Gulf States Distributors under
Tennessee Statewide Contract #331

Background
In the last several months, international supply chain disruptions have created backlogs in many
industries in the United States.  Ammunition manufactures have been impacted by the increase in
demand for their products and supply chain issues in manufacturing their products.  As a result,
long lead times have developed in the delivery of ammunition.  Currently, manufacturers are
unable to estimate delivery dates of orders.  As of April 15, the Police Department has not
received its full order of ammunition that was placed in July 2021.  To ensure the Police
Department can meet the State of Tennessee mandatory annual training requirements with
firearms, we must have ammunition.  It is important that the City recognize the long delivery
times associated with items such as ammunition and order these items well in advance, even if the
items are not budgeted for the current fiscal year.
 
Staff requests approval to pre-order all the ammunition for the Police Department being proposed
in the FY 2023 draft annual budget.  A delivery date for this order cannot be estimated.   This
order will include:
  

QuantityDescription Mfg. Part
number

Unit
price Total

8 cases Speer Gold Dot G2 147 gr bonded 9mm 54226 $420.00 $3,360.00
20 cases Speer Gold Dot .223 REM 55 gr bonded SP 24446 $295.00 $5,900.00
118 casesSpeer Lawman 147 gr FMJ 9mm 53620 $245.00 $28,910.00
80 cases Federal American Eagle .223 REM 55 gr FMJ AE223 $219.00 $17,520.00
        $55,690.00

The total for this order is $55,690.00

Staff Recommendation
Staff recommends approval of this advance order of ammunition, budgeted for in the proposed
FY 2023 Police Operating Budget, from Gulf States Distributors under Tennessee Statewide
Contract #331.  



Fiscal Impact
Amount : $55,690.00
Source of Funds: Police Operating Budget
Account Number: 110-42100-83270
Fiscal Impact:
Funds for this purchase will come from the FY2023 Police Operating Budget.  

Attachments
Purchase Order & Pricing 
State Contract 





 

 
STATE OF TENNESSEE, DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES 

CENTRAL PROCUREMENT OFFICE 
 

Statewide Contract Issued to: 

 

Gulf State Distributors  

6000 E Shirley Ln   

       

Montgomery,  AL  36117   

 

Vendor ID: 0000001318  

 

 

Contract Number: 0000000000000000000055311    

 

Title: SWC 331 Ammunition         

 

Start Date : July 14, 2017 End Date:  July 13, 2022  

 

      

Is this contract available to local government agencies in addition to State agencies?: Yes 

 
Authorized Users. This Contract establishes a source or sources of supply for all Tennessee 
State Agencies. "Tennessee State Agency" refers to the various departments, institutions, boards, 
commissions, and agencies of the executive branch of government of the State of Tennessee 
with exceptions as addressed in Tenn. Comp. R. & Regs. 0690-03-01-.01. The Contractor shall 
provide all goods or services and deliverables as required by this Contract to all Tennessee State 
Agencies. The Contractor shall make this Contract available to the following entities, who are 
authorized to and who may purchase off of this Statewide Contract ("Authorized Users"): 
 

a. all Tennessee State governmental entities (this includes the legislative branch; judicial 
branch; and, commissions and boards of the State outside of the executive branch of 
government);   
 

b. Tennessee local governmental agencies;  
 

c. members of the University of Tennessee or Tennessee Board of Regents systems;  
 

d. any private nonprofit institution of higher education chartered in Tennessee; and,  
 

e. any corporation which is exempted from taxation under 26 U.S.C. Section 501(c)(3), as 
amended, and which contracts with the Department of Mental Health and Substance 
Abuse to provide services to the public (Tenn. Code Ann. § 33-2-1001). 
 

These Authorized Users may utilize this Contract by purchasing directly from the Contractor 
according to their own procurement policies and procedures. The State is not responsible or 



liable for the transactions between the Contractor and Authorized Users. 
 
 
Note: If "no", attach exemption request addressed to the Central Procurement Officer. 

Contract Contact Information: 
State of Tennessee 

Department of General Services, Central Procurement Office 

Contract Administrator:  Joshua Polk 

3rd Floor, William R Snodgrass, Tennessee Tower 

312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue 

Nashville, TN 37243-1102 

Phone: 615-360-4460 

Email: Joshua.Polk@tn.gov 

Fax: 615-741-0684 

 

Line Information 

Line 1   

Item ID: 1000120199   

Ammunition, Shells, Shotgun: 12 Gauge, #8, plastic case, loaded with 1.125 ounces of #8 shot. Powder 

equivalent minimum of 2.75 drams, 2.75 inch length, 25 rounds per box. pricing per 1,000 rounds. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: TGL12#8 

Manufacturer Item #: TGL12#8 

 Unit Price: $ 396 

Line 2   

Item ID: 1000120201   

Ammunition, Shells, Shotgun: 12 Gauge, #9, plastic case. Loaded with 1.125 oz. of? #9 shot. Powder 

equivalent to 2.75 drams, 2.75 inch length, 25 rounds per box, min. 200 max. 500 rounds per case. pricing 

per 1,000 rounds. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: TGL12#9 

Manufacturer Item #: TGL12#9 

 Unit Price: $ 396 

Line 3   

Item ID: 1000120196   

Ammunition, Shells, Shotgun: 20 Gauge, plastic case, loaded 7/8 ounce of #9 shot. Powder equivalent 

minimum of 2.5drams, 2.75 inch length. Twenty five rounds per box. Min. 200 max. 500 rounds per case. 

pricing per 1,000 rounds. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: TGL20#9 

Manufacturer Item #: TG20#9 

 Unit Price: $ 396 

Line 4   

Item ID: 1000120205   

Ammunition, cartridges, .22 caliber long rifle, standard velocity bullet with brass cartridge case, weight 40 

grains, style lead or copper plated.100 each per box, pricing is per 1000 rounds. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: AE5022 

Manufacturer Item #: AE5022 

 Unit Price: $ 55.80 

 

 

 

 

 



Line 5   

Item ID: 1000120210   

Ammunition, cartridges, Rifle, .223 Remington. 55 grain semi jacketed Soft Point with brass cartridge case. 

20 rounds per box. Min. 200 max. 500 rounds per case. priced at 1,000 rounds. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: T223A 

Manufacturer Item #: R223R1 

 Unit Price: $ 490 

Line 6   

Item ID: 1000120217   

Ammunition, .357 SIG, 125 grain hot bonded, brass jacket. Water-resistant primer. 50 per box, Min. 500 

max. 1000 rounds per case. pricing per 1000 rounds. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: 53918 

Manufacturer Item #: 53918 

 Unit Price: $ 385 

Line 7   

Item ID: 1000120219   

Ammunition, .357 caliber SIG, 125 grain, full metal jacket. 50 per box, 200 min. 1000 max. rounds per 

case. No reloads or remanufactured will be accepted. pricing per 1000 rounds. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: 53919 

Manufacturer Item #: L357S1 

 Unit Price: $ 340 

Line 8   

Item ID: 1000120220   

Ammunition, 410 Gauge, 2.5inch length, #9 shot powder dram equivalent max. 25 rounds per box. Min. 

200 max. 1000 rounds per case. pricing per 1,000 rounds. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: T412#9 

Manufacturer Item #: STS4109 

 Unit Price: $ 312 

Line 9   

Item ID: 1000143111   

Ammunition, Handgun, .380 ACP, 95 grain full metal jacket bullet. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: 53608 

Manufacturer Item #: 53608 

 Unit Price: $ 295 

Line 10   

Item ID: 1000142237   

Ammunition, Handgun, 9mm Luger + P, 124 to 127 grain, premium jacketed hollow point bullet. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: P9HST3 

Manufacturer Item #: RA9124TP 

 Unit Price: $ 375 

Line 11   

Item ID: 1000143116   

Ammunition, Handgun, 9mm Luger, 147 grain, full metal jacket. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: 53620 

Manufacturer Item #: 53620 

 Unit Price: $ 245 

 

 

 



Line 12   

Item ID: 1000143117   

Ammunition, Handgun, 9mm Luger, 147 grain, premium jacketed, hollow point bullet. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: P9HST2 

Manufacturer Item #: P9HST4 

 Unit Price: $ 375 

Line 13   

Item ID: 1000143118   

*Discontinued* Ammunition, Handgun, .45 ACP, 185 grain, premium bonded jacket, hollow point bullet. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: 53964 

Manufacturer Item #: 53964 

 Unit Price: $ 352 

Line 14   

Item ID: 1000142230   

Ammunition, Rifle .308, 168 grain, Premium jacketed,? boat tail hollow point bullet. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: GM308M-500 

Manufacturer Item #: RM308W7 

 Unit Price: $ 930 

Line 15   

Item ID: 1000142231   

Ammunition, Rifle, 5.56 NATO, 55 Grain, FMJ, Do Not use in Rifles chambered for.233. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: XM193 

Manufacturer Item #: XM193 

 Unit Price: $ 438 

Line 16   

Item ID: 1000142232   

*Discontinued* Ammunition, Rifle, 5.56 NATO, 62 Grain, FMJ, Not use in Rifles chambered for.233. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: XM855CS 

Manufacturer Item #: XM855CS 

 Unit Price: $ 331.5 

Line 17   

Item ID: 1000142235   

Ammunition, Rifle, 7.62 NATO, 168 grain, FMJ, open tip bullet. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: A76251M1A 

Manufacturer Item #: A76251M1A 

 Unit Price: $ 745 

Line 18   

Item ID: 1000143110   

Ammunition, Rifle .22LR, 37 to 40 grain, copper plated, round nose bullet. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: 710 

Manufacturer Item #: 1522 

 Unit Price: $ 47.52 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Line 19   

Item ID: 1000179164   

Ammunition, cartridges, Rifle, .223 Remington,55 grain boat tail Hollow Points with brass cartridge case. 

20 rounds per box. Min. 200 max. 500 rounds per case. priced at 1,000 rounds. 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: T223E 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 590 

Line 20   

Item ID: 1000179165   

Ammunition, Handgun, 9mm Luger, Force on Force Marking Rd, Green, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF9G2 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 518 

Line 21   

Item ID: 1000179166   

Ammunition, Handgun, 9mm Luger, Force on Force Marking Rd, White, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: CS 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF9W2 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 478 

Line 22   

Item ID: 1000179167   

Ammunition, Handgun, 9mm Luger, Force on Force Marking Rd, Red, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF9R2 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 518 

Line 23   

Item ID: 1000179168   

Ammunition, Handgun, 9mm Luger, Force on Force Marking Rd, Blue, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF9B2 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 518 

Line 24   

Item ID: 1000179169   

Ammunition, Handgun, 9mm Luger, Force on Force Marking Rd, Yellow, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF9Y2 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 518 

Line 25   

Item ID: 1000179170   

Ammunition, Handgun, 9mm Luger, Force on Force Marking Rd, Non-Marking, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF9NM2 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 578 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Line 26   

Item ID: 1000179171   

Ammunition, Handgun, 9mm Luger, Force on Force Marking Rd, Blank, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF9BLK2 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 558 

Line 27   

Item ID: 1000179172   

Ammunition, Rifle, 5.56 NATO, Force on Force Marking Rd, Green, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF556G1 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 620 

Line 28   

Item ID: 1000179173   

Ammunition, Rifle, 5.56 NATO, Force on Force Marking Rd, White, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: CS 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF556W1 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 550 

Line 29   

Item ID: 1000179174   

Ammunition, Rifle, 5.56 NATO, Force on Force Marking Rd, Red, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF556R1 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 620 

Line 30   

Item ID: 1000179175   

Ammunition, Rifle, 5.56 NATO, Force on Force Marking Rd, Blue, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF556B1 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 620 

Line 31   

Item ID: 1000179176   

Ammunition, Rifle, 5.56 NATO, Force on Force Marking Rd, Yellow, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF556Y1 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 620 

Line 32   

Item ID: 1000179177   

Ammunition, Rifle, 5.56 NATO, Force on Force Marking Rd, Non-Marking, 500/Case 

Unit of Measure: CS 

Vendor Item/Part #: FF556NM1 

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 550 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Line 33   

Item ID:    

APCAT - Percentage off Law Enforcement Catalog ¿ Federal, Speer, Hornady 12 to 47% (see Usage 

Instructions for Catalog) 

Unit of Measure: TH 

Vendor Item/Part #:  

Manufacturer Item #:  

 Unit Price: $ 0 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED:                 BY:                                               

CHIEF PROCUREMENT OFFICER             PURCHASING AGENT  DATE       

 



   
    Old Business    1.        

Brentwood City Commission Agenda
Meeting Date: 05/09/2022  
Ordinance 2022-05 -- An Ordinance Proposing the Rezoning of 5.62 +/- Acres Located in the NE
Quadrant of Maryland Way and Brentwood Blvd
Submitted by: Jeff Dobson, Planning & Codes
Department: Planning & Codes

Information
Subject
The attached ordinance requests consideration of the proposed rezoning of ≈ 5.62 acres of land
located in the northeast quadrant of the intersection of Maryland Way and Brentwood
Boulevard.  The requested change is from the C-1 (Commercial -- Office) zoning district to the
C-2 (Commercial -- Retail) zoning district.  

Background
Ordinance 2022-05 requests the rezoning of ≈ 5.62 acres located in the NE quadrant of the
intersection of Maryland Way and Brentwood Boulevard.  The requested change is from the C-1
zoning district to the C-2 zoning district.  The surrounding properties are zoned C-1, C-2, and
SI-3. The subject property is immediately across Maryland Way from Maryland Way Park. The
address is 2 Maryland Way. 

The subject property includes some of the oldest buildings constructed in Maryland Farms having
been completed around 1974. Historically, the three buildings were referred to as "OB" (Office
Building) 1, 2 and 3.  Now they are called EastPark 1, 2 and 3. All three buildings include three
stories each. EastPark 1 and 2 are included as part of the rezoning request, while EastPark 3 is
not.

The building areas are summarized in the following table.  
  

BUILDING NAME AREA (SF)
EastPark One-- (OB 1)  32,437
EastPark Two -- (OB 2) 87,917
EastPark Three -- (OB 3) 83,008

The rezoning plan proposes the demolition of EastPark One, which includes an area of ≈ 32,437
square feet. According to the owner, the building has become functionally obsolete and is
no longer considered feasible or efficient to continue to maintain for office uses.  The EastPark
Two building is under renovation and will remain.

In addition to the EastPark One demolition, the submitted plan proposes a mixed use project that
will include the construction of a four-story, 120-room hotel and a 6,000 sq. ft. restaurant with an



outdoor patio seating/dining area having an additional area of 1,000 sq. ft. The restaurant will be
located at the corner of Maryland Way and Brentwood Boulevard. Tenants for the hotel and
restaurant have not yet been selected. The parking lots will also be reconfigured as a result of the
new uses.

City staff and staff from Neel-Shaffer met with the developers' representative to design the scope
for a traffic impact study.  Additionally, a shared parking analysis has been provided. The TIS
and the shared parking analysis have been forwarded to Mr. Greg Judy with Neel-Shaffer Inc.,
who assists staff in the review of the submitted TIS. The applicant will pay for the Neel-Shaffer
review per the requirements of Section 50-29(b) of the Municipal Code.

Please note that the submitted site plan is not binding as with an OSRD Development Plan. The
plan is meant to provide an idea of how the site may develop in the future. If the rezoning is
approved, the property owner will present a plan that complies with all applicable technical
requirements of the Zoning Ordinance to the Planning Commission for review and approval. The
plans would also address grading and stormwater issues associated with the redevelopment of the
property.  As part of the plan, the applicant will also provide a pedestrian access plan that
includes a crosswalk across Brentwood Boulevard and sidewalks in accordance with the
requirements of the Subdivision Regulations. There are no sidewalks on either frontage of the
property.  

TRAFFIC IMPACTS

A Traffic Impact Study (TIS) was provided as part of the initial request for annexation of the
property.  A copy of the TIS was forwarded to Mr. Greg Judy with Neel-Shaffer Inc., who assists
staff in the review of the submitted TIS. Mr. Judy is in the process of conducting his review,
however, the complete review will not be available until after first reading of the ordinance. The
applicant will pay for the Neel-Shaffer review per the requirements of Section 50-29(b) of the
Municipal Code. 

The TIS recommends the following improvements be incorporated into the design of the project.
  

Brentwood Boulevard and Driveways A & B

Driveways A & B should continue to operate with a minimum of one entering lane
and one exiting lane.
The westbound approach of Driveway A should continue to be stop-controlled. 

Maryland Way and Driveway C

Driveway C should continue to operate with a minimum of one entering lane and one
exiting lane.
The southbound approach of Driveway C should continue to be stop- controlled.

 Travel Demand Management

Off-peak loading and deliveries for the restaurant development should be encouraged
to minimize impacts to traffic operations.

 Additional Recommendations



As part of the construction of the project, all internal and external driveway
connections should be designed such that the departure sight triangles, as specified by
AASHTO, will be clear of all sight obstructions, including landscaping, existing
vegetation, monument signs/walls, fences, etc.

Based on the analyses conducted, no further recommendations are presented for the proposed
EastPark development.

Additionally, a Shared Parking Study was provided as part of the submittal.  The purpose of the
study is to determine the minimum number of parking spaces required to accommodate the
proposed mixed use development at peak periods. Since the site includes a mix of land uses, the
peak parking demand for each use will not occur at the same time. 

Section 78-454 of the zoning ordinance includes the following minimum parking requirements
based on the proposed land uses.
  

LAND USE AREA PARKING REQUIRED # OF SPACES
REQUIRED

OFFICE 168,180 SF  1 SPACE/300 SF  561

HOTEL 120
ROOMS

1 SPACE/ROOM + 1 SPACE
PER EMPLOYEE ON MAX.

SHIFT
130

RESTAURANT* 7,000 SF  1 SPACE/100 SF GROSS 70
* Note that the restaurant patio area is also calculated at 1 space/ 100 sf 

TOTAL 761

Note that the area as shown in the table above includes the existing third office building (OB3) as
part of the study. The OB3 building is included as part of the shared parking study, but is not part
of the area proposed for rezoning. The study determined April to be the peak month, while the
hourly peak demand is expected to be 11:00 a.m. in April. According to the study, the projected
parking demand for the mixed use development that includes a hotel may be reduced 41% on
weekdays and 31% on weekends. 
  

DEVELOPMENT 
PEAK PARKING

DEMAND 
WEEKDAY WEEKEND

     
EASTPARK 600 SPACES 597 SPACES

As shown in the first table above a total of 761 parking spaces would be required if shared
parking was not considered. The shared parking analysis would reduce the total spaces required
from 761 to 600 (161 spaces), a reduction of approximately 21%. 

SEWER IMPACTS

City consultants conducted an evaluation of the existing sewer to determine if the system would



have adequate capacity to receive requested flows from the proposed development. 
  

USE AREA GPD TOTAL
(GPD) 

Hotel 120 rooms  75 9,000
Existing Office Bldg. 88,000 8,800 8,800
Restaurant (6,000 sf w/1,000 patio)
-- 200 seats (Est.) 7,000 8,000 8,000

TOTAL 25,800

Based on the evaluation models, the local impact of the proposed development on Brentwood’s
receiving sewer is negligible based on predicted levels during both dry and wet weather
conditions. However, resulting surcharge in the downstream trunk sewer is predicted that will
need to be addressed separately from this project. It is assumed that the master plan
recommendations will be implemented to address surcharging in the trunk sewer as appropriate.

The review of the plan will track along the following revised schedule.
  

HEARING SCHEDULE
May 9, 2022   Board of Commissioners -- First Reading of Ordinance

2022-05 Rezoning Property to C-2 
May 26, 2022  Required Community Meeting -- TENTATIVE
June 6, 2022  Planning Commission -- Review & Recommendation of Ordinance 2022-05
June 13, 2022  Board of Commissioners -- Public Hearing of Ordinance 2022-05
June 27,
2022  

 Board of Commissioners – Second and Final Reading of Ordinance 2022-05

 
 Should you have any questions or require additional information, please contact the Planning and
Codes Director.  

Staff Recommendation
Staff has reviewed the proposed request for rezoning and the associated plans and found that
they comply with the applicable provisions of the Zoning Ordinance for consideration by the
Board of Commissioners.

Previous Commission Action
On April 8, 2022, the property owner deferred consideration of the request from the April 11,
2022 City Commission agenda to allow City staff and consultants to finalize sewer modeling
numbers.  The request was tentatively placed on the May 9, 2022, regular agenda.  



Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Ordinance 2022-05 
Attachment B - Concept Plan 
Owners Affidavit 
Statement of Owners Interest 
TIS Study Intersections -- EastPark 
EastPark TIS 
EastPark Shared Parking Study 
Sewer Capacity Evaluation 
EastPark Utility Capacity Memo -- Kimley-Horn 



ORDINANCE 2022-05

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE TO AMEND  THE 
ZONING ORDINANCE, SAME BEING CHAPTER 78 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF BRENTWOOD, BY CHANGING THE PRESENT ZONING CLASSIFICATION 
ON CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED IN THE NORTH EAST QUADRANT OF THE 

INTERSECTION OF MARYLAND WAY AND BRENTWOOD BOULEVARD FROM THE C-1 
(COMMERCIAL -- OFFICE) ZONING DISTRICT TO THE C-2 (COMMERCIAL – RETAIL) 

ZONING DISTRICT, SAID PROPERTY BEING MORE SPECIFICALLY DESCRIBED IN 
THE PROPERTY DESCRIPTION ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A PART OF THIS 

ORDINANCE BY REFERENCE, AND SHOWN ON THE MAP ATTACHED HERETO AND 
MADE A PART OF THIS ORDINANCE BY REFERENCE; AND TO AMEND THE OFFICIAL 

ZONING MAP ACCORDINGLY

SECTION 1. That the present zoning classification for certain property located in the northeastern quadrant of 
the intersection of Maryland Way and Brentwood Boulevard from the C-1 (Commercial – Office) zoning 
district to the C-2 (Commercial – Retail) zoning district, said property being more particularly described in the 
property description attached hereto as Attachment A, and being more particularly shown on Attachment B, said 
attachments being made a part of this ordinance by reference.

SECTION 2. That the official zoning map be and the same is hereby amended accordingly.

SECTION 3.  That this ordinance shall take effect from and after its final passage, or fifteen days after its 
first passage, whichever occurs later, the general welfare of the City of Brentwood, Williamson County, 
Tennessee, requiring it.

PASSED: 1st reading

2nd reading

PUBLIC HEARING
Notice published in: Williamson A.M.
Date of publication:
Date of hearing:

MAYOR Rhea E. Little III

Approved as to form:

CITY ATTORNEY Kristen L. Corn

PLANNING COMMISSION

NOTICE OF PASSAGE
Notice published in:
Date of publication:

EFFECTIVE DATE

RECORDER Holly Earls



Page 2 of Ordinance 2022-05

ATTACHMENT A
ORDINANCE 2022-05



Page 3 of Ordinance 2022-05

EASTPARK OFFICE BUILDING 2



Page 4 of Ordinance 2022-05



SHEET INDEX: Initial Submittal

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT
 / APPLICANT

CIVIL ENGINEER

KLVHU�9RJULQ DHVLJQ
���� 0HULGLDQ %OYG
SXLWH ���
)UDQNOLQ� TN �����
&RQWDFW: *DU\ 9RJULQ

    ������������
    JDU\#NLVHUYRJULQ�FRP

Sheet #:

&2% � : XXXX
K9D PR2-E&T� : �����

EASTPARK

TAX MAP 011A
PARCEL 00600, GROUP D

ADDRESS: 1-2 MARYLAND WAY
&2% � XXXX

%RENT:22D� :I//IA0S2N &2�� TN

&29ER

N
2

T 
)2

R 
&

2
N

ST
R8

&
TI

2
N

&���
DATE: ����������

%R\OH NDVKYLOOH //&
���� 0HULGLDQ %OYG�
SXLWH ���
)UDQNOLQ� TN �����
&RQWDFW: -HII HD\QHV              

    ������������
   MKD\QHV#ER\OH�FRP

KLPOH\�HRUQ AVVRF�
10 Lea Avenue, Suite 400,
Nashville, TN  37210
&RQWDFW: 0DU\ 0F*RZDQ

    ������������
    PDU\�PFJRZDQ#NLPOH\�KRUQ�FRP

 DEVELOPER

Sheet Number

RE-ZONING APPLICATION

RE=2NIN* P/AN

EXISTIN* =2NIN*: &�� � &200ER&IA/ 2))I&E
PR2P2SED =2NIN*: &�� � &200ER&IA/ RETAI/

SITE LOCATION MAP
N.T.S

IN
TE

RS
TA

TE
 �

�

2/D HI&K2R< %/9D

8
�S

� H
I*

H
:

A
< 

��

)R
AN

K/
IN

 P
IK

E

0AR</AND :A<

%R
EN

T:
2

2
D

 %
/9

D

SITE

����������

&2N&EPT SITE P/AN
I//8STRATI9E &2N&EPT P/AN

TRAFFIC ENGINEER

K&I THFKQRORJLHV
��� ��WK AYHQXH NRUWK SXLWH ���
NDVKYLOOH� TN  �����
&RQWDFW: %HWK 2VWURZVNL

    ������������
    EHWK�RVWURZVNL#NFL�FRP

EXISTIN* &2NDITI2NS P/AN
&���
/���

/���
/���

/���

�D %8I/DIN* 0ASSIN* ST8D< /���

����������
����������
����������
����������
����������



99.91

99.91
X

X

NORTH
SCALE: 1"=50'

0 feet50 100 150

730

72
0

710

740

750

730

720

710

730

740
74

0

TH
O

RO
U

G
H

BRED
 LN

O
LD

 H
IC

K
O

RY BLV
D

O
LD

 H
IC

K
O

RY BLV
D

L1.0

EXISTING
CONDITIONS

TH
O

RO
U

G
H

BRED
 LN

M
ARYLAN

D
 W

AY (ARTERIAL)

M
A

RYLA
N

D
 W

A
Y (A

RTERIA
L)

BRENTWOOD BLVD (COLLECTOR)

BRENTWOOD BLVD (COLLECTOR)

MARYLAND WAY PARK

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 23 STORY

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 33 STORY

250' OFFSET LINE

250' O
FFSET LIN

E

250' O
FFSET LIN

E

250' OFFSET LINE

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 13 STORY(TO BE DEMOLISHED)

1

2

3

4

5

6

1

2

3

4

5

6

22007

EA
ST

PA
RK

M
A

RY
LA

N
D

 F
A

RM
S

BR
EN

TW
O

O
D

 P
RO

JE
C

T 
#

 T
BD

BR
EN

TW
O

O
D

, 
W

IL
LI

A
M

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
, 

TN

03/22/2022

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kiser + Vogrin Design, LLC. shall be without liability to Kiser + Vogrin Design, LLC.

SHEET NUMBER

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

 2
0
2
2
 B

y 
K

is
er

 +
 V

og
ri

n 
D

es
ig

n,
 L

LC
. 
A

ll 
ri

gh
ts

 r
es

er
ve

d.
 T

hi
s 

do
cu

m
en

t 
or

 p
ar

ts
 t

he
re

of
, 
m

ay
 n

ot
 b

e 
re

pr
od

uc
ed

 in
 a

ny
 f

or
m

 w
ith

ou
t 

w
ri

tt
en

 p
er

m
is

si
on

.

KVD PROJECT NO.

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE:

N
O

:
RE

V
IS

IO
N

S
D

A
TE

BY

DRAWING TITLE:

5
0

0
5

 M
er

id
ia

n 
Bl

vd
. 

St
e.

 1
0

0
Fr

an
kl

in
, 

TN
  

3
7

0
6

7
M

ai
n:

 6
1

5
.7

0
8

.0
5

6
7

w
w

w
.k

is
er

vo
gr

in
.c

om

03/22/2022

10
 L

ea
 A

ve
nu

e,
 S

ui
te

 4
00

,
N

as
hv

ille
, T

N
  3

72
10

M
ai

n:
 6

15
.5

64
.2

70
1

w
w

w
.k

im
le

y-
ho

rn
.c

om
©

 2
02

0 
 K

im
le

y-
H

or
n 

an
d 

As
so

ci
at

es
, I

nc
.

GV

YZ

GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
24"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
IR(N)

AutoCAD SHX Text
IR(N)

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11B

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11A

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11B

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11A

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11B

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11A

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' SEWER EASEMENT DEED BOOK 308,  PAGE 261 R.O.W.C., TN

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGRICULTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



99.91

99.91
X

X

TC
: 7

2
5
.2

6

R
=1285.00'

L=423.99'
C

H
B=S69°59'10"W

C
=422.07'

R
=150.36'

L=99.91'
C

H
B=N

15°26'14"W
C

=98.08'

730

72
0

710

740

750

7
6
0

730

730

720

710

730

740
74

0

75
0

250' OFFSET LINE

TH
O

RO
U

G
H

BRED
 LN

M
ARYLAN

D
 W

AY (ARTERIAL)

M
A

RYLA
N

D
 W

A
Y (A

RTERIA
L)

BRENTWOOD BLVD (COLLECTOR)

250' O
FFSET LIN

E

250' O
FFSET LIN

E

GENERAL ZONING INFO

              EXISTING ZONING CITY OF BRENTWOOD
              C-1 COMMERCIAL OFFICE

              EXISTING ZONING CITY OF BRENTWOOD
              C-2 COMMERCIAL RETAIL

              EXISTING ZONING CITY OF BRENTWOOD
              SI-3 SERVICE INSTITUTION

              EXISTING ZONING CITY OF NASHVILLE
              OL (OFFICE LIMITED DISTRICT)

011A D 00900
00015011B
+/-3.10 AC

011A D 00300
00015011A
+/- 2.04 AC

011A D 00500
00015011A
+/- 4.26 AC

011A D 00700
00015011B
+/- 6.17 AC

011A D 01000
00015011B
+/- 3.60 AC

011A D 00902
00015011B
+/- 0.60 AC

011A D 00903
00015011B
+/- 0.89 AC

HILL CENTER CONDOS

011A D 01400
00015011B
+/- 4.83 AC

011A D 01500
00015011A
+/- 1.61 AC

011A D 00400
00015011A
+/- 2.30 AC

011A D 00401
00015011A
+/- 0.94 AC

PROPOSED C-2
REZONING AREA

NORTH
SCALE: 1"=50'

0 feet50 100 150

BRENTWOOD BLVD (COLLECTOR)

MARYLAND WAY PARK

250' OFFSET LINE

011A D 00800
00015011B
+/- 0.72 AC 1

7
0
0
0
0
0
0
9
0
0

+
/-

 0
.5

9
 A

C
1
7
0
0
0
0
0
0
8
0
0

+
/-

 0
.4

9
 A

C
1
7
0
0
0
0
0
0
7
0
0

+
/-

 0
.5

9
 A

C
1
7
0
0
0
0
0
0
6
0
0

+
/-

 0
.4

9
 A

C
1
7
0
0
0
0
0
0
4
0
0

+
/-

 0
.5

3
 A

C
1
7
0
0
0
0
0
0
5
0
0

+
/-

 0
.4

9
 A

C

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 23 STORY

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 33 STORY

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 13 STORY

22007

EA
ST

PA
RK

M
A

RY
LA

N
D

 F
A

RM
S

BR
EN

TW
O

O
D

 P
RO

JE
C

T 
#

 T
BD

BR
EN

TW
O

O
D

, 
W

IL
LI

A
M

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
, 

TN

03/22/2022

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kiser + Vogrin Design, LLC. shall be without liability to Kiser + Vogrin Design, LLC.

SHEET NUMBER

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

 2
0
2
2
 B

y 
K

is
er

 +
 V

og
ri

n 
D

es
ig

n,
 L

LC
. 
A

ll 
ri

gh
ts

 r
es

er
ve

d.
 T

hi
s 

do
cu

m
en

t 
or

 p
ar

ts
 t

he
re

of
, 
m

ay
 n

ot
 b

e 
re

pr
od

uc
ed

 in
 a

ny
 f

or
m

 w
ith

ou
t 

w
ri

tt
en

 p
er

m
is

si
on

.

KVD PROJECT NO.

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE:

N
O

:
RE

V
IS

IO
N

S
D

A
TE

BY

DRAWING TITLE:

5
0

0
5

 M
er

id
ia

n 
Bl

vd
. 

St
e.

 1
0

0
Fr

an
kl

in
, 

TN
  

3
7

0
6

7
M

ai
n:

 6
1

5
.7

0
8

.0
5

6
7

w
w

w
.k

is
er

vo
gr

in
.c

om

03/22/2022

10
 L

ea
 A

ve
nu

e,
 S

ui
te

 4
00

,
N

as
hv

ille
, T

N
  3

72
10

M
ai

n:
 6

15
.5

64
.2

70
1

w
w

w
.k

im
le

y-
ho

rn
.c

om
©

 2
02

0 
 K

im
le

y-
H

or
n 

an
d 

As
so

ci
at

es
, I

nc
.

GV

YZ

GV

L1.1

REZONING
PLAN

011 00400C00715011

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
24"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
IR(N)

AutoCAD SHX Text
IR(N)

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N78%%d35'34"W  79.53']

AutoCAD SHX Text
(N03%%D36'15"E  527.90')

AutoCAD SHX Text
(S86%%d12'34"E  354.69')

AutoCAD SHX Text
S03%%d48'46"W  208.66')

AutoCAD SHX Text
(S86%%D06'36"E  144.83')

AutoCAD SHX Text
(S03%%d52'03"W  251.79']

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGRICULTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



99.91

99.91
X

X

10
0'

NORTH
SCALE: 1"=50'

0 feet50 100 150

730

72
0

710

740

750

7
6
0 770

730

730

720

710

730

740
74

0

75
0

TH
O

RO
U

G
H

BRED
 LN

O
LD

 H
IC

K
O

RY BLV
D

O
LD

 H
IC

K
O

RY BLV
D

L1.2

CONCEPT
SITE PLAN

TH
O

RO
U

G
H

BRED
 LN

M
ARYLAN

D
 W

AY (ARTERIAL)

M
A

RYLA
N

D
 W

A
Y (A

RTERIA
L)

BRENTWOOD BLVD (COLLECTOR)

BRENTWOOD BLVD (COLLECTOR)

MARYLAND WAY PARK

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 23 STORY

PROPOSED 4 STORY 120KEY HOTELMAX. HT. 60' PER COB

PROPOSED
6,000 SFRESTAURANT1 STORY

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 33 STORY

PARKING DATA
REQUIRED PARKING SPACES: � 629
PROVIDED PARKING SPACES: 645


NOTE: REFER TO SHARED PARKING STUDY

250' OFFSET LINE

250' O
FFSET LIN

E

250' O
FFSET LIN

E

250' OFFSET LINE

22007

EA
ST

PA
RK

M
A

RY
LA

N
D

 F
A

RM
S

BR
EN

TW
O

O
D

 P
RO

JE
C

T 
#

 T
BD

BR
EN

TW
O

O
D

, 
W

IL
LI

A
M

SO
N

 C
O

U
N

TY
, 

TN

03/22/2022

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kiser + Vogrin Design, LLC. shall be without liability to Kiser + Vogrin Design, LLC.

SHEET NUMBER

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 ©

 2
0
2
2
 B

y 
K

is
er

 +
 V

og
ri

n 
D

es
ig

n,
 L

LC
. 
A

ll 
ri

gh
ts

 r
es

er
ve

d.
 T

hi
s 

do
cu

m
en

t 
or

 p
ar

ts
 t

he
re

of
, 
m

ay
 n

ot
 b

e 
re

pr
od

uc
ed

 in
 a

ny
 f

or
m

 w
ith

ou
t 

w
ri

tt
en

 p
er

m
is

si
on

.

KVD PROJECT NO.

DESIGNED BY:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE:

N
O

:
RE

V
IS

IO
N

S
D

A
TE

BY

DRAWING TITLE:

5
0

0
5

 M
er

id
ia

n 
Bl

vd
. 

St
e.

 1
0

0
Fr

an
kl

in
, 

TN
  

3
7

0
6

7
M

ai
n:

 6
1

5
.7

0
8

.0
5

6
7

w
w

w
.k

is
er

vo
gr

in
.c

om

03/22/2022

10
 L

ea
 A

ve
nu

e,
 S

ui
te

 4
00

,
N

as
hv

ille
, T

N
  3

72
10

M
ai

n:
 6

15
.5

64
.2

70
1

w
w

w
.k

im
le

y-
ho

rn
.c

om
©

 2
02

0 
 K

im
le

y-
H

or
n 

an
d 

As
so

ci
at

es
, I

nc
.

GV

YZ

GV

BU
IL

D
IN

G
SE

TB
A

C
K

POOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CO

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
24"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SA

AutoCAD SHX Text
IR(N)

AutoCAD SHX Text
IR(N)

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11B

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11A

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'M.B.S.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11B

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11A

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11B

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY MAP 11A

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASTPARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING NO. 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RCP

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' SEWER EASEMENT DEED BOOK 308,  PAGE 261 R.O.W.C., TN

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
O.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGRICULTURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



EASTPARK PLANNING & REZONING
MAR 22, 2022

ILLUSTRATIVE CONCEPT PLAN

DISCLAIMER:
The drawing shown is conceptual and for 
reference and illustrative purposes. This drawing can 
change and/or be revised at any time without prior 
notification and should not be relied upon as a final 
representation of the final built project.

0 50 100 150

SCALE: 1”=50’

BUILDING TYPOLOGY

PROPOSED 4 STORY HOTEL

EXISTING 3 STORY OFFICE

PROPOSED 1 STORY RESTAURANT
BRENTWOOD BLVD (COLLECTOR)

M
A

RYLA
N

D
 W

AY (A
RTERIA

L)

6,000 SF RESTAURANT 1 STORY

4 STORY 120 KEY HOTELMAX. HT. 60’ PER COB

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 23 STORY

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 33 STORY

TH
O

RO
U

G
H

BRED
 LN

O
LD

 H
IC

KO
RY BLV

D

BRENTWOOD BLVD (COLLECTOR)

L1.3



EASTPARK PLANNING & REZONING
MAR 22, 2022

3D BUILDING MASSING STUDY 

DISCLAIMER:
The drawing shown is conceptual and for 
reference and illustrative purposes. This drawing can 
change and/or be revised at any time without prior 
notification and should not be relied upon as a final 
representation of the final built project.

MAINSTAY 
SUITES

BRENTWOOD BLVD

PROPOSED 4 
STORY HOTEL

PROPOSED 4 STORY HOTEL

PROPOSED 4 
STORY HOTEL

PROPOSED 4 
STORY HOTEL

EXISTING 3 STORY 
OFFICE BUILDING-EAST 

PARK 3

L1.4

EXISTING 3 STORY OFFICE 
BUILDING-EAST PARK 2

EXISTING 3 STORY OFFICE 
BUILDING-EAST PARK 2

EXISTING 3 STORY OFFICE 
BUILDING-EAST PARK 2

PROPOSED 
RESTAURANT 

MAINSTAY SUITES

MARYLAND WAY

BRENTWOOD BLVDEXISTING OFFICE 
BUILDING

PROPOSED 
RESTAURANT 

PROPOSED RESTAURANT 

BRENTWOOD BLVD

M
A

RYLA
N

D
 W

AY

MAINSTAY SUITES

BRENTWOOD 
BLVD

CADILLAC DREXISTING OFFICE 
BUILDING

1

1

2

2

33

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 23 STORY

EXISTINGOFFICE BUILDING 33 STORY





 

 
Kiser + Vogrin Design, LLC | 5005 Meridian Boulevard Suite 100 | Franklin, TN 37067 | 615.708.0567 

 | www.kiservogrin.com 
 

 
 
 
Project: EastPark Rezoning 
KVD Project #: 22007 
Date: 03.22.22 
RE: Statement of Interest 
 
EastPark General Partnership which is the owner of the EastPark Office Complex has been in 
the process of renovating the existing buildings on the campus over the past few years, but 
their intention is to rezone the parcel which contains building 1 and building 2 and to re-
envision the site into a mixed-use project incorporating a 4-story hotel and 1-story restaurant 
into the existing 3 story office building campus and benefit from the shared parking of these 
3 program uses.  To allow for the proposed hotel use, the central existing office building 1 is 
to be demolished while building 2 is to remain.  Office building 1 was one of the first 
buildings constructed within the Maryland Farm business development in 1977 and is in a 
state of functional obsolescence. 
 
 



Project #892200721 (East Park TIS)

Study Intersections:

1. Maryland Way and Brentwood Boulevard
2. Brentwood Boulevard and Juris Lane / Existing Access 1
3. Brentwood Boulevard and Cadillac Drive / Existing Access 2
4. Brentwood Boulevard and Thoroughbred Lane
5. Old Hickory Boulevard and Brentwood Boulevard
6. Maryland Way and Existing Access 3

Data Collection Times:

• Weekday AM Peak (7-9 AM)
• Weekday PM Peak (4-6 PM)

11

22

33

44

55

Project Site

66



 

KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.  //  500 11TH AVENUE NORTH, NASHVILLE, TN 37203  //  KCI.COM 

 

 

 

TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 
EAST PARK 

BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE 

PREPARED FOR: 

KISER VOGRIN DESIGN 

APRIL 2022 

Project 

Site 



TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY 

EAST PARK 

BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PREPARED FOR: 

KISER VOGRIN DESIGN 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PREPARED BY: 

KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC 
500 11th Avenue North, Suite 290 

Nashville, TN 37203 

615.370.8410 office   615.370.8455 fax 

www.kci.com

4/13/22 



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.   INTRODUCTION AND PROJECT DESCRIPTION .............................................................. 1 

2.   EXISTING CONDITIONS......................................................................................................... 3 

2.1 Existing Roadway Network ................................................................................................. 3 

2.2 Existing Pedestrian Infrastructure .................................................................................... 5 

2.3 Existing Bicycle and Transit Facilities .............................................................................. 6 

2.4 Existing Traffic Volumes ..................................................................................................... 6 

2.5 Existing Traffic Operations ................................................................................................. 9 

3.   BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES ................................................................................. 11 

3.1 Establishing Background Volumes.................................................................................. 11 

3.2 Background Traffic Operations ...................................................................................... 13 

4.   IMPACTS .................................................................................................................................. 16 

4.1 Trip Generation .................................................................................................................... 16 

4.2 Trip Distribution and Traffic Assignment .................................................................... 18 

4.3 Capacity / Level of Service Analyses ............................................................................ 21 

5.   ANALYSIS OF SITE PLAN ..................................................................................................... 25 

5.1 Site Access Review .............................................................................................................. 25 

5.2 Lane Warrant Analysis ....................................................................................................... 25 

6.   RECOMMENDATIONS ......................................................................................................... 26 

APPENDICES .................................................................................................................................. 27 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

LIST OF FIGURES 

FIGURE 1.  LOCATION OF THE PROJECT SITE ....................................................................... 2 

FIGURE 2.  EXISTING LANEAGE .................................................................................................. 4 

FIGURE 3.  EXISTING PEAK HOUR TRAFFIC VOLUMES ...................................................... 8 

FIGURE 4.  BACKGROUND PEAK HOUR TRAFFIC VOLUMES ......................................... 12 

FIGURE 5.  DISTRIBUTION OF TRAFFIC GENERATED BY THE PROJECT SITE ............ 19 

FIGURE 6.  ASSIGNMENT OF TRAFFIC GENERATED BY THE PROJECT SITE .............. 20 

FIGURE 7.  TOTAL PROJECTED PEAK HOUR TRAFFIC VOLUMES ................................. 22 

 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

LIST OF TABLES 

TABLE 1.  DESCRIPTION OF STUDY ROADWAYS ................................................................. 3 

TABLE 2A.  PEDESTRIAN INFRASTRUCTURE INVENTORY - CORNER ........................... 5 

TABLE 2B.  PEDESTRIAN INFRASTRUCTURE INVENTORY - LEG ..................................... 6 

TABLE 3.  TDOT COUNT STATION DATA ............................................................................... 7 

TABLE 4.  DESCRIPTIONS OF LEVEL OF SERVICE ................................................................. 9 

TABLE 5.  EXISTING PEAK HOUR LEVELS OF SERVICE ...................................................... 10 

TABLE 6A.  BACKGROUND AM PEAK HOUR LEVELS OF SERVICE ............................... 14 

TABLE 6B.  BACKGROUND PM PEAK HOUR LEVELS OF SERVICE ................................ 15 

TABLE 7.  DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION .....................................................................17 

TABLE 8A.  PROJECTED AM PEAK HOUR LEVELS OF SERVICE ...................................... 23 

TABLE 8B.  PROJECTED PM PEAK HOUR LEVELS OF SERVICE....................................... 24 

TABLE 9.  RIGHT-TURN LANE ANALYSIS .............................................................................. 25 

TABLE 10.  TWO-LANE MINOR APPROACH ANALYSIS .................................................... 25 



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -i of ii- PROJECT# 892200721 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Project Description 

 

The proposed East Park development is located along the corner of Maryland Way 

and Brentwood Boulevard in Brentwood, Tennessee.  According to the developer, the 

proposed development approximately includes a hotel with 120 rooms and 7,000 

square feet of high-turnover (sit-down) restaurant. Access to the development is 

planned to be provided by three existing driveways, two on Brentwood Boulevard and 

one on Maryland Way. The purpose of this study is to analyze the access plan and the 

traffic impacts associated with this proposed development. 

 

Data Collection 

 

In order to provide data for the traffic impact analysis, manual traffic counts were 

conducted at the following intersections: 

 

1. Maryland Way and Brentwood Boulevard (signalized) 

2. Brentwood Boulevard and Juris Lane/Driveway A (unsignalized) 

3. Brentwood Boulevard and Cadillac Drive/Driveway B (unsignalized) 

4. Brentwood Boulevard and Thoroughbred Lane (unsignalized) 

5. Old Hickory Boulevard and Brentwood Boulevard/Private Drive (signalized) 

6. Maryland Way and Driveway C (unsignalized) 

 

Specifically, Marr Traffic conducted the traffic counts from 7:00 – 9:00 AM and 4:00 – 

6:00 PM on a typical weekday in March 2022 while local schools were in session. From 

the counts, it was determined that the peak hours of traffic flow for the majority of the 

study intersections occurred from 8:00 – 9:00 AM and 4:15 – 5:15 PM. 

 

Projection of Future Traffic Volumes 

 

In order to account for the traffic growth prior to the completion of the proposed 

project, background traffic volumes were established. Then, the estimated total 

project-generated traffic volumes for the proposed development were added to the 

background peak hour traffic volumes in order to obtain the total projected peak hour 

traffic volumes for the study area intersections.  

 

 

 

 



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -ii of ii- PROJECT# 892200721 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

 

The analyses presented in this study indicate that the impacts of the proposed project 

on the existing street network will be manageable by providing the recommendations 

below. These specific recommendations will provide safe and efficient traffic 

operations within the study area following the completion of the proposed project. 

The recommendations are as follows: 
 

Brentwood Boulevard and Driveway A 

• Driveway A should continue to operate with a minimum of one entering lane 

and one exiting lane.  

• The westbound approach of Driveway A should continue to be stop-controlled. 

 

Brentwood Boulevard and Driveway B 

• Driveway B should continue to operate with a minimum of one entering lane 

and one exiting lane.  

• The westbound approach of Driveway B should continue to be stop-controlled. 

 

Maryland Way and Driveway C 

• Driveway C should continue to operate with a minimum of one entering lane 

and one exiting lane. 

• The southbound approach of Driveway C should continue to be stop-

controlled. 

 

Travel Demand Management 

• Off-peak loading and deliveries for the restaurant development should be 

encouraged to minimize impacts to traffic operations.  

 

Additional Recommendations  

• As part of the construction of the project, all internal and external driveway 

connections should be designed such that the departure sight triangles, as 

specified by AASHTO, will be clear of all sight obstructions, including 

landscaping, existing vegetation, monument signs/walls, fences, etc. 
 

In summary, based on the analyses conducted, no further recommendations are 

presented for the proposed East Park development.  

 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -1 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

1.   INTRODUCTION AND PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 

The purpose of this study is to analyze the traffic impacts and access plan associated 

with the proposed East Park development located along the corner of Maryland Way 

and Brentwood Boulevard in Brentwood, Tennessee. According to the developer, the 

proposed development approximately includes a hotel with 120 rooms and 7,000 

square feet of high-turnover (sit-down) restaurant. Furthermore, the project site 

includes two existing office buildings that will remain open, and one office building 

that will be removed.  

 

As shown by Figure 1, the property is located along the corner of Maryland Way and 

Brentwood Boulevard south of the intersection of Old Hickory Boulevard and 

Brentwood Boulevard/Private Drive.  The property is currently zoned C-1 (Commercial 

Office) but is intended to be rezoned to C-2 (Commercial Retail). The proposed 

development is within an area that is characterized by low to medium-density land 

uses.  The property is generally bounded on the north by commercial land uses, on 

the west by Brentwood Boulevard, on the south by Maryland Way, and on the east by 

commercial land uses.  

 

The current site plan for the East Park development is shown in Appendix A. Based on 

this site plan, proposed vehicular access for the development is planned to be provided 

by three existing driveways, two on Brentwood Boulevard and one on Maryland Way. 

Existing surface parking is planned to accommodate the proposed development.  

 

In this study, the current operating characteristics of the adjacent roadways and 

intersections in the vicinity of the project site are evaluated. The expected trips 

generated by the proposed development are determined and distributed to the 

roadway network.  The adjacent roadways and intersections are then reevaluated to 

determine the anticipated traffic impacts of the project.  Finally, recommendations are 

presented, including roadway improvements and/or traffic control improvements that 

are needed to accommodate the expected traffic.   

 

The scope of work for this study, as described above, was determined via a scoping 

meeting between KCI Technologies, the developer, and the City of Brentwood on 

March 31, 2022. The scoping meeting notes are included in Appendix B.  

 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -2 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

FIGURE 1.  LOCATION OF THE PROJECT SITE 

 

  

Project Site 



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -3 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

2.   EXISTING CONDITIONS 

 

2.1 Existing Roadway Network 

 

Local access to the site will be provided by Old Hickory Boulevard, Maryland Way, 

Brentwood Boulevard, Cadillac Drive, Thoroughbred Lane, and Juris Lane. A field 

inventory of the study network was conducted. The roadway classifications were 

obtained from the Tennessee Department of Transportation (TDOT) Functional 

Classification System. If no speed limit is posted, Brentwood’s current Code of 

Ordinances sets the maximum speed limit for a road in an urban district as 30 mph in 

the absence of a posted speed limit. A description of these roadways within the project 

vicinity is presented in Table 1. 

 

TABLE 1.  DESCRIPTION OF STUDY ROADWAYS 

ROADWAY 

NAME 
DIRECTION 

NUMBER OF LANES TDOT 

CLASSIFICATION 

POSTED 

SPEED LIMIT 

(mph) EB/NB WB/SB TWLTL 

Old Hickory 

Blvd 
East-West 2 2 -- 

Principal Arterial 

on the National 

Highway System 

45 

Maryland Way East-West 2 2 -- Minor Arterial 40 

Brentwood Blvd North-South 2 2 -- Major Collector 30 

Cadillac Dr East-West 2 2 -- Local 30 

Thoroughbred 

Ln 
East-West 1 1 -- Local Not Posted 

Juris Ln East-West 1 1 -- Local Not Posted 

 

The study area includes six existing intersections. The existing laneage at the study 

intersections is illustrated in Figure 2.  

 

  





East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -5 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

2.2 Existing Pedestrian Infrastructure 

 

Sidewalk is currently provided on the south side Old Hickory Boulevard and the south 

side of Maryland Way. Sidewalk is also provided on the east side of Brentwood 

Boulevard between Thoroughbred Lane and Cadillac Drive, on the west side of 

Brentwood Boulevard between Cadillac Drive and Maryland Way, and on the north 

and south side of Cadillac Drive. 

 

A detailed inventory of the pedestrian infrastructure at the study intersections is 

presented in Table 2A and Table 2B.  

 

TABLE 2A.  PEDESTRIAN INFRASTRUCTURE INVENTORY - CORNER 

INTERSECTION INFRASTRUCTURE 

N
o

rt
h

 L
e
g

 E
a
st

 S
id

e
 

N
o

rt
h

 L
e
g

 W
e
st

 S
id

e
 

S
o

u
th

 L
e
g

 E
a
st

 S
id

e
 

S
o

u
th

 L
e
g

 W
e
st

 S
id

e
 

E
a
st

 L
e
g

 N
o

rt
h

 S
id

e
 

E
a
st

 L
e
g

 S
o

u
th

 S
id

e
 

W
e
st

 L
e
g

 N
o

rt
h

 S
id

e
 

W
e
st

 L
e
g

 S
o

u
th

 S
id

e
 

Maryland Way and 

Brentwood Blvd 

Detectable Warning Mat   -- --    ✓ 

ADA Ramp  ✓ -- --   ✓ ✓ 

Brentwood Blvd and 

Juris Ln/Driveway A 

Detectable Warning Mat       ✓ ✓ 

ADA Ramp  ✓  ✓   ✓ ✓ 

Brentwood Blvd and 

Cadillac Dr/Driveway 

B 

Detectable Warning Mat ✓    ✓  ✓ ✓ 

ADA Ramp ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ 

Brentwood Blvd and 

Thoroughbred Ln 

Detectable Warning Mat   ✓   ✓ -- -- 

ADA Ramp   ✓   ✓ -- -- 

Old Hickory Blvd and 

Brentwood 

Blvd/Private Dr 

Detectable Warning Mat    ✓    ✓ 

ADA Ramp    ✓    ✓ 

Maryland Way and 

Driveway C 

Detectable Warning Mat   -- --     

ADA Ramp   -- --     

✓ – Pedestrian Infrastructure Currently Available 

 

 

 



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -6 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

TABLE 2B.  PEDESTRIAN INFRASTRUCTURE INVENTORY - LEG 

INTERSECTION INFRASTRUCTURE 

N
o

rt
h

 

S
o

u
th

 

E
a
st

 

W
e
st

 

Maryland Way and 

Brentwood Blvd 

Crosswalk  --  ✓ 

Signal Head  --   

Brentwood Blvd and 

Juris Ln/Driveway A 

Crosswalk     

Signal Head -- -- -- -- 

Brentwood Blvd and 

Cadillac Dr/Driveway B 

Crosswalk     

Signal Head -- -- -- -- 

Brentwood Blvd and 

Thoroughbred Ln 

Crosswalk    -- 

Signal Head -- -- -- -- 

Old Hickory Blvd and 

Brentwood 

Blvd/Private Dr 

Crosswalk     

Signal Head     

Maryland Way and 

Driveway C 

Crosswalk  --   

Signal Head -- -- -- -- 

✓ – Pedestrian Infrastructure Currently Available 

 

2.3 Existing Bicycle and Transit Facilities 

 

According to the City of Brentwood, within the vicinity of the project site, none of the 

roadways are classified as shared roadways or bikeways. Additionally, the project site 

does not have access to any transit routes within a quarter mile. 

 

2.4 Existing Traffic Volumes 

 

In order to provide data for the traffic impact analysis, traffic counts were conducted 

at the following intersections: 

 

1. Maryland Way and Brentwood Boulevard (signalized) 

2. Brentwood Boulevard and Juris Lane/Driveway A (unsignalized) 

3. Brentwood Boulevard and Cadillac Drive/Driveway B (unsignalized) 

4. Brentwood Boulevard and Thoroughbred Lane (unsignalized) 

5. Old Hickory Boulevard and Brentwood Boulevard/Private Drive (signalized) 

6. Maryland Way and Driveway C (unsignalized) 

 

Specifically, Marr Traffic conducted the traffic counts from 7:00 – 9:00 AM and 4:00 – 

6:00 PM on a typical weekday in March 2022 while local schools were in session. From 



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -7 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

the counts, it was determined that the peak hours of traffic flow for the majority of the 

study intersections occurred from 8:00 – 9:00 AM and 4:15 – 5:15 PM. 

 

The existing peak hour turning movement volumes are presented in Figure 3. It should 

be noted that the traffic volumes shown along Brentwood Boulevard have been 

balanced. A detailed summary of the traffic counts is included in Appendix C.  

 

In addition to the above information, average daily traffic volumes were obtained from 

the TDOT.  There are three TDOT count stations located in the vicinity of the project 

site. The count station locations and annual average daily traffic (AADT) in 2020 are 

shown in Table 3. Additional TDOT Count Station data is included in Appendix D. 

 

TABLE 3.  TDOT COUNT STATION DATA 

ROADWAY LOCATION 
STATION 

NO. 

2020 AADT 

(vpd) 

Old Hickory 

Blvd 

Northeast of the Project Site;  

Between Franklin Pk and E Park Dr 
132 47,988 

Brentwood Blvd 
North of the Project Site;  

Between Old Hickory Blvd and Cadillac Dr 
574 7,591 

Brentwood Blvd 
West of the Project Site;  

Between Cadillac Dr and Juris Ln 
181 3,902 





East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -9 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

2.5 Existing Traffic Operations 

 

To determine the current operation of the study intersections, capacity analyses were 

performed for the AM and PM peak hours.  The capacity calculations were performed 

according to the methods outlined in the Highway Capacity Manual, 6th Edition. 

However, it should be noted that due to the limitations of HCM 6th Edition regarding 

intersections with non-NEMA phasing, some of the signalized intersections were 

analyzed using HCM 2000 methodologies. The capacity analyses result in the 

determination of a Level of Service (LOS) for an intersection. The LOS is a concept used 

to describe how well an intersection or roadway operates. LOS A is the best, while LOS 

F is the worst. LOS D is typically considered as the minimum acceptable LOS for an 

intersection in an urbanized area. For stop-controlled intersections, a LOS is presented 

for each critical turning movement. For signalized intersections, a LOS is presented for 

the overall intersection. Table 4 presents the descriptions of LOS for signalized and 

unsignalized intersections.  

 

TABLE 4.  DESCRIPTIONS OF LEVEL OF SERVICE  

LEVEL OF 

SERVICE 
DESCRIPTION 

UNSIGNALIZED CONTROL 

DELAY (sec/veh) 

SIGNALIZED CONTROL 

DELAY (sec/veh) 

A Little or no delay < 10.0 < 10.0 

B Short traffic delay >10 and < 15 >10 and < 20 

C Average traffic delay >15 and < 25 >20 and < 35 

D Long traffic delay >25 and < 35 >35 and < 55 

E Very long traffic delay >35 and < 50 >55 and < 80 

F Extreme traffic delay > 50.0 > 80.0 

  Source:  Highway Capacity Manual, 6th Edition 

 

Signal timing sheets for the signalized study intersections were obtained from the City 

of Brentwood and utilized in the analyses. The signal timing sheets are included in 

Appendix E.  

 

The results of the capacity analyses for the existing conditions at the study intersections 

are presented in Table 5. As shown, all intersections and critical movements operate at 

LOS D or better in the AM and PM peak hours.  

 

Capacity analyses worksheets are included in Appendix F.  

 

 



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -10 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

TABLE 5.  EXISTING PEAK HOUR LEVELS OF SERVICE 

INTERSECTION 
TURNING 

MOVEMENT 

LEVEL OF SERVICE 

(Average Delay in sec/veh) 

AM PEAK PM PEAK 

Maryland Way and 

Brentwood Blvd 

Overall 

Intersection 
B (19.5) B (14.3) 

Brentwood Blvd and Juris 

Ln/Driveway A 

(Northbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (10.3) A (9.8) 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (9.6) A (9.3) 

Brentwood Blvd and Juris 

Ln/Driveway A 

(Southbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (10.3) B (10.8) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (11.5) B (10.4) 

Brentwood Blvd and Cadillac 

Dr/Driveway B 

(Northbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (10.5) B (12.3) 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (9.8) B (10.2) 

Brentwood Blvd and Cadillac 

Dr/Driveway B 

(Southbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Through 
B (11.2) B (11.0) 

Eastbound 

Right-Turn 
A (9.2) A (9.1) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (11.7) B (10.8) 

Brentwood Blvd and 

Thoroughbred Ln 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (8.6) A (9.5) 

Old Hickory Blvd and 

Brentwood Blvd/Private Dr1 

Overall 

Intersection 
B (15.9) B (13.7) 

Maryland Way and  

Driveway C 

Eastbound 

Left-Turn 
B (12.0) A (9.2) 

Southbound 

Approach 
D (28.7) C (22.7) 

Note: 1 - HCM  2000 methods were used due to the incompatibility with NEMA phasing, 

which is not supported by HCM 6th Edition methods.  

 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -11 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

3.   BACKGROUND TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

 

3.1 Establishing Background Volumes 

 

In order to account for the traffic growth prior to the completion of the proposed 

project, background traffic volumes were established. For the purposes of this traffic 

study, the proposed development was assumed to be completed by the year 2025, 

which is a 3-year horizon. Historical daily traffic volumes were obtained from the three 

TDOT count stations located in the vicinity of the project site. Since 2017, the combined 

traffic at these three TDOT count stations has increased by an average of 3.24% per 

year. The TDOT count station data is included in Appendix D.  

 

A growth factor was applied to the existing peak hour traffic volumes to account for 

background growth for the future conditions. Due to future re-development in the 

area that is expected, but has not yet been approved, a more conservative growth 

factor compared to the TDOT count station was utilized for the analyses.  The existing 

peak hour traffic volumes at the study intersections were increased by 4.5% per year 

for three years to account for anticipated background traffic growth within the study 

area.  

 

Additionally, site-specific background traffic volumes from one development were 

included in the analyses. According to information provided by the City of Brentwood, 

the remaining parcels of the Hill Center development include approximately 166,000 

square feet of office and retail space. The Hill Center development is located at the 

southwestern corner of the intersection of Maryland Way and Franklin Road. After 

review of the original masterplan traffic impact study, it was determined that 

approximately 20% of the traffic generated by the development would be oriented to 

the west on Maryland Way. The trip generation calculations and traffic assignment 

figure for the background development is included in Appendix G.  

 

The background peak hour traffic volumes for horizon year 2025 are presented in 

Figure 4. These volumes represent the peak hour traffic that is expected to be on the 

roadway in 2025 even if the proposed East Park development is not completed. 

 

  

 

 

 

 





East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -13 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

3.2 Background Traffic Operations 

 

To determine the operation of the study area intersections under background 

conditions, capacity analyses were performed for the AM and PM peak hours. The 

analyses for the background conditions were based on the same lane configurations 

and signal timings as the existing conditions. 

 

As shown in Tables 6A and 6B, under background conditions, the capacity analyses 

indicate that the operational performances of the critical movements at the study 

intersections are generally expected to continue to operate at the same level of service 

as under existing conditions or continue to operate at LOS D or better in the AM and 

PM peak hours with the following exception: 

 

• Maryland Way and Driveway C 

o The southbound approach is expected to deteriorate from LOS D to 

LOS E in the AM peak hour. 

▪ It should be noted that these levels of service are common for 

stop-controlled, low-volume approaches to high-volume 

arterials such as Maryland Way. 

 

Capacity analyses worksheets are included in Appendix F. 

   

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -14 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

TABLE 6A.  BACKGROUND AM PEAK HOUR LEVELS OF SERVICE 

INTERSECTION 
TURNING 

MOVEMENT 

LEVEL OF SERVICE 

(Average Delay in sec/veh) 

EXISTING BACKGROUND 

Maryland Way and 

Brentwood Blvd 

Overall 

Intersection 
B (19.5) C (23.6) 

Brentwood Blvd and Juris 

Ln/Driveway A 

(Northbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (10.3) B (10.5) 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (9.6) A (9.8) 

Brentwood Blvd and Juris 

Ln/Driveway A 

(Southbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (10.3) B (10.6) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (11.5) B (12.0) 

Brentwood Blvd and Cadillac 

Dr/Driveway B 

(Northbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (10.5) B (10.8) 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (9.8) B (10.1) 

Brentwood Blvd and Cadillac 

Dr/Driveway B 

(Southbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Through 
B (11.2) B (11.6) 

Eastbound 

Right-Turn 
A (9.2) A (9.4) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (11.7) B (12.3) 

Brentwood Blvd and 

Thoroughbred Ln 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (8.6) A (8.7) 

Old Hickory Blvd and 

Brentwood Blvd/Private Dr1 

Overall 

Intersection 
B (15.9) C (21.6) 

Maryland Way and  

Driveway C 

Eastbound 

Left-Turn 
B (12.0) B (13.4) 

Southbound 

Approach 
D (28.7) E (40.7) 

Note: 1 - HCM  2000 methods were used due to the incompatibility with NEMA phasing, 

which is not supported by HCM 6th Edition methods. 

 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -15 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

TABLE 6B.  BACKGROUND PM PEAK HOUR LEVELS OF SERVICE 

INTERSECTION 
TURNING 

MOVEMENT 

LEVEL OF SERVICE 

(Average Delay in sec/veh) 

EXISTING BACKGROUND 

Maryland Way and 

Brentwood Blvd 

Overall 

Intersection 
B (14.3) B (15.8) 

Brentwood Blvd and Juris 

Ln/Driveway A 

(Northbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
A (9.8) B (10.0) 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (9.3) A (9.4) 

Brentwood Blvd and Juris 

Ln/Driveway A 

(Southbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (10.8) B (11.2) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (10.4) B (10.7) 

Brentwood Blvd and Cadillac 

Dr/Driveway B 

(Northbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (12.3) B (13.3) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (10.2) B (10.6) 

Brentwood Blvd and Cadillac 

Dr/Driveway B 

(Southbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Through 
B (11.0) B (11.4) 

Eastbound 

Right-Turn 
A (9.1) A (9.2) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (10.8) B (11.1) 

Brentwood Blvd and 

Thoroughbred Ln 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (9.5) A (9.7) 

Old Hickory Blvd and 

Brentwood Blvd/Private Dr1 

Overall 

Intersection 
B (13.7) B (15.6) 

Maryland Way and  

Driveway C 

Eastbound 

Left-Turn 
A (9.2) A (9.9) 

Southbound 

Approach 
C (22.7) D (33.0) 

Note: 1 - HCM  2000 methods were used due to the incompatibility with NEMA phasing, 

which is not supported by HCM 6th Edition methods. 

 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -16 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

4.   IMPACTS 

 

4.1 Trip Generation 

 

A traffic generation process was used to estimate the amount of traffic expected to be 

generated by the proposed East Park development. Factors for the trip generation 

were taken from ITE’s Trip Generation, 11th Edition. According to the developer, the 

proposed development approximately includes a hotel with 120 rooms and 7,000 

square feet of high-turnover (sit-down) restaurant. It should be noted that 

approximately 32,437 square feet of office space will be removed as part of the project. 

In an effort to be conservative, the trips generated by this office space were not 

removed. The new trips generated by the hotel and restaurant land uses were added 

directly to the existing volumes that enter/exit the site.  

 

Reductions were applied to the base trip generation to account for internal capture.  

 

Data presented in the ITE publication, Trip Generation Handbook, show that 

developments containing multiple land uses will commonly have internal trips. A 

process was used to estimate the number of internal trips that can be expected 

between land uses based on methodology presented in NCHRP Report 684, 

“Enhancing Internal Trip Capture Estimation for Mixed-Use Developments.” The 

methodology contained in the NCHRP Report expands on ITE’s methodology, 

including additional land uses and supporting data. The internal trip reduction process 

resulted in the following internal capture rate estimates:  

 

• 5.1% internal capture rate for the daily trip generation,  

• 4.9% internal capture rate for entering trips in the AM peak hour,  

• 6.1% internal capture rate for exiting trips in the AM peak hour, 

• 4.3% internal capture rate for entering trips in the PM peak hour, and 

• 5.4% internal capture rate for exiting trips in the PM peak hour. 

 

Table 7 presents the daily, AM and PM peak hour trip generation for the proposed 

development. As shown in Table 7, the proposed development can be expected to 

generate approximately 1,538 new vehicle trips per day.  The AM and PM peak hour 

trip generations will equal approximately 114 and 126 new trips, respectively.  These 

trips represent the new traffic that will be generated by the proposed East Park 

development. The calculations for trip generation are included in Appendix H.  

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -17 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

TABLE 7.  DEVELOPMENT TRIP GENERATION  

LAND USE SIZE 

GENERATED TRAFFIC 

DAILY 

TRAFFIC 

AM PEAK PM PEAK 

Enter Exit Enter Exit 

Hotel (LUC 310) 
120 

rooms 
877 30 23 36 35 

High-Turnover (Sit-Down) 

Restaurant (LUC 932) 
7 k.s.f. 750 37 30 38 25 

SUBTOTAL  1,627 
67 53 74 60 

120 134 

Internal Trips Reduction -89 -3 -3 -4 -4 

NEW TRIPS 1,538 
64 50 70 56 

114 126 

Source:  Trip Generation, 11th Edition 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -18 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

4.2 Trip Distribution and Traffic Assignment 

 

A directional distribution of traffic generated by the proposed project was established 

based on the proposed access, the existing roadway network, and the existing travel 

patterns developed from the existing peak hour traffic counts. As previously discussed, 

access to the development is planned to be provided by three existing driveways, two 

on Brentwood Boulevard and one on Maryland Way.  

 

The directional distribution for the proposed development is shown in Figure 5.  As 

shown in the figure,  

 

• approximately 45% of the traffic generated by the development will be oriented 

to the east on Maryland Way,  

• 35% to the east on Old Hickory Boulevard, 

• 8% to the west on Maryland Way,  

• 7% to the west on Old Hickory Boulevard, and 

• 5% to the west on Cadillac Drive. 

 

Based on the directional distribution, the project-generated traffic for the AM and PM 

peak hour was assigned to the roadway network.  The traffic assignment for the 

proposed development is shown in Figure 6. 







East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -21 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

4.3 Capacity / Level of Service Analyses 

 

The total site-generated traffic volumes were added to the background peak hour 

traffic volumes for the proposed development in order to obtain the total projected 

traffic volumes for the study intersections. Figure 7 presents the total projected AM 

and PM peak hour traffic volumes expected at the completion of the proposed 

development. 

 

Capacity analyses were performed in order to determine the impact of the project on 

the study intersections. These capacity analyses were also used to evaluate the need 

for roadway and traffic control improvements at the intersections studied. The capacity 

calculations were performed according to the methods outlined in the Highway 

Capacity Manual, 6th Edition. The results of the capacity analyses for the projected 

conditions at the study area intersections are presented in Tables 8A and 8B.  For the 

analyses, the intersection configurations and signal timings were the same as the 

existing and background conditions.  

 

As shown in Tables 8A and 8B, under projected conditions, the capacity analyses 

indicate that the operational performances of the critical movements at the study 

intersections are generally expected to continue to operate at the same level of service 

as under background conditions or continue to operate at LOS D or better in the AM 

and PM peak hours, with the following exception:  

 

• Maryland Way and Driveway C 

o The southbound approach is expected to deteriorate from LOS D to 

LOS E in the PM peak hour. 

▪ It should be noted that these levels of service are common for 

stop-controlled, low-volume approaches to high-volume 

arterials such as Maryland Way. 

 

Capacity analyses worksheets are included in Appendix F.  

  





East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -23 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

TABLE 8A.  PROJECTED AM PEAK HOUR LEVELS OF SERVICE 

INTERSECTION 
TURNING 

MOVEMENT 

LEVEL OF SERVICE 

(Average Delay in sec/veh) 

EXISTING BACKGROUND PROJECTED 

Maryland Way and 

Brentwood Blvd 

Overall 

Intersection 
B (19.5) C (23.6) C (24.7) 

Brentwood Blvd and Juris 

Ln/Driveway A 

(Northbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (10.3) B (10.5) B (11.1) 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (9.6) A (9.8) B (10.3) 

Brentwood Blvd and Juris 

Ln/Driveway A 

(Southbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (10.3) B (10.6) B (10.8) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (11.5) B (12.0) B (12.1) 

Brentwood Blvd and Cadillac 

Dr/Driveway B 

(Northbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (10.5) B (10.8) B (11.4) 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (9.8) B (10.1) B (10.0) 

Brentwood Blvd and Cadillac 

Dr/Driveway B 

(Southbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Through 
B (11.2) B (11.6) B (12.1) 

Eastbound 

Right-Turn 
A (9.2) A (9.4) A (9.4) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (11.7) B (12.3) B (13.0) 

Brentwood Blvd and 

Thoroughbred Ln 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (8.6) A (8.7) A (8.8) 

Old Hickory Blvd and 

Brentwood Blvd/Private Dr1 

Overall 

Intersection 
B (15.9) C (21.6) C (23.8) 

Maryland Way and  

Driveway C 

Eastbound 

Left-Turn 
B (12.0) B (13.4) B (13.7) 

Southbound 

Approach 
D (28.7) E (40.7) E (47.0) 

Note: 1 - HCM  2000 methods were used due to the incompatibility with NEMA phasing, which is not 

supported by HCM 6th Edition methods.  

 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -24 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

TABLE 8B.  PROJECTED PM PEAK HOUR LEVELS OF SERVICE 

INTERSECTION 
TURNING 

MOVEMENT 

LEVEL OF SERVICE 

(Average Delay in sec/veh) 

EXISTING BACKGROUND PROJECTED 

Maryland Way and 

Brentwood Blvd 

Overall 

Intersection 
B (14.3) B (15.8) B (17.3) 

Brentwood Blvd and Juris 

Ln/Driveway A 

(Northbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
A (9.8) B (10.0) B (10.7) 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (9.3) A (9.4) B (10.1) 

Brentwood Blvd and Juris 

Ln/Driveway A 

(Southbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (10.8) B (11.2) B (11.5) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (10.4) B (10.7) B (11.0) 

Brentwood Blvd and Cadillac 

Dr/Driveway B 

(Northbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Approach 
B (12.3) B (13.3) B (14.8) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (10.2) B (10.6) B (11.1) 

Brentwood Blvd and Cadillac 

Dr/Driveway B 

(Southbound Side) 

Eastbound 

Through 
B (11.0) B (11.4) B (12.0) 

Eastbound 

Right-Turn 
A (9.1) A (9.2) A (9.3) 

Westbound 

Approach 
B (10.8) B (11.1) B (12.1) 

Brentwood Blvd and 

Thoroughbred Ln 

Westbound 

Approach 
A (9.5) A (9.7) A (9.8) 

Old Hickory Blvd and 

Brentwood Blvd/Private Dr1 

Overall 

Intersection 
B (13.7) B (15.6) B (17.5) 

Maryland Way and  

Driveway C 

Eastbound 

Left-Turn 
A (9.2) A (9.9) A (10.0) 

Southbound 

Approach 
C (22.7) D (33.0) E (40.0) 

Note: 1 - HCM  2000 methods were used due to the incompatibility with NEMA phasing, which is not 

supported by HCM 6th Edition methods.  

 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -25 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

5.   ANALYSIS OF SITE PLAN 

 

5.1 Site Access Review 

 

According to the information provided by the developer, the proposed East Park 

development approximately includes a hotel with 120 rooms and 7,000 square feet of 

high-turnover (sit-down) restaurant. Furthermore, the project site includes two existing 

office buildings that will remain open, and one office building that will be removed. 

 

Access to the development is planned to be provided via three existing driveways, two 

on Brentwood Boulevard and one on Maryland Way. 

   

5.2 Lane Warrant Analysis 

 

Study intersections were evaluated for the need to provide a right-turn lane based on 

the projected traffic volumes during the AM and PM peak hours. This analysis was 

based on the procedures outlined in Evaluating Intersection Improvements (NCHRP 

457). The result of this analysis is presented in Table 9. 

 

 TABLE 9.  RIGHT-TURN LANE ANALYSIS 

INTERSECTION APPROACH AM PEAK PM PEAK 

Brentwood Blvd and Driveway A NB NO NO 

Brentwood Blvd and Driveway B NB NO NO 

 

The study intersections were evaluated for the need to provide a two-lane approach 

based on the projected traffic volumes during the AM and PM peak hours. This analysis 

was based on the procedures outlined in Evaluating Intersection Improvements: An 

Engineering Study Guide (NCHRP 457) Figure 2-4. The result of this analysis is 

presented in Table 10. 

 

 TABLE 10.  TWO-LANE MINOR APPROACH ANALYSIS 

INTERSECTION APPROACH AM PEAK PM PEAK 

Brentwood Blvd and Driveway A WB NO NO 

Brentwood Blvd and Driveway B WB NO NO 

Maryland Way and Driveway C SB NO NO 

 

All warrant analyses are included in Appendix I. 

 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -26 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

6.   RECOMMENDATIONS 

  

The analyses presented in this study indicate that the impacts of the proposed project 

on the existing street network will be manageable by providing the recommendations 

below. The recommendations are as follows: 
 

Brentwood Boulevard and Driveway A 

• Driveway A should continue to operate with a minimum of one entering lane 

and one exiting lane.  

• The westbound approach of Driveway A should continue to be stop-controlled. 

 

Brentwood Boulevard and Driveway B 

• Driveway B should continue to operate with a minimum of one entering lane 

and one exiting lane.  

• The westbound approach of Driveway B should continue to be stop-controlled. 

 

Maryland Way and Driveway C 

• Driveway C should continue to operate with a minimum of one entering lane 

and one exiting lane. 

• The southbound approach of Driveway C should continue to be stop-

controlled. 

 

Travel Demand Management 

• Off-peak loading and deliveries for the restaurant development should be 

encouraged to minimize impacts to traffic operations.  

 

Additional Recommendations  

• As part of the construction of the project, all internal and external driveway 

connections should be designed such that the departure sight triangles, as 

specified by AASHTO, will be clear of all sight obstructions, including 

landscaping, existing vegetation, monument signs/walls, fences, etc. 
 

In summary, based on the analyses conducted, no further recommendations are 

presented for the proposed East Park development.  

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

 -27 of 27- PROJECT# 892200721 

APPENDICES 

 

APPENDIX A 

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN 

 

APPENDIX B 

SCOPING NOTES 

 

APPENDIX C 

DETAILED TURNING MOVEMENT COUNTS 

 

APPENDIX D 

TDOT COUNT DATA 

 

APPENDIX E 

SIGNAL TIMING 

 

APPENDIX F 

CAPACITY ANALYSES 

 

APPENDIX G 

BACKGROUND DEVELOPMENTS 

 

APPENDIX H 

TRIP GENERATION CALCULATIONS 

 

APPENDIX I 

WARRANT ANALYSIS 



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

APPENDIX A 

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN 

  



Month,00,0000
Project #

0

SCALE: 1” =  40’ 

40 80 120EAST PARK
Site Plan

BRENTWOOD, WILLIAMSON COUNTY , TN.

gary
Polygon

gary
Text Box
SITE

gary
Text Box
EXISTING OFFICE BLDG TO BE DEMOLISHED

gary
Text Box
BLDG OFFICE BLDG TO REMAIN
+/-90,723 SF

gary
Polygon

gary
Text Box
PROPOSED 4-STORY HOTEL 120 KEYS

gary
Text Box
POOL/AMENITY

gary
Rectangle

gary
Line

gary
Text Box
FUTURE PARKING

gary
Oval

gary
Rectangle

gary
Text Box
6,000 SF PROPOSED RESTARAUNT WITH 1,000 SF PATIO

gary
Oval

gary
Text Box
STORMWATER?

gary
Text Box
RECONFIGURED PARKING LOT TBD

gary
Text Box
RECONFIGURED PARKING LOT TBD

gary
Text Box
1.12.22



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

APPENDIX B 

SCOPING NOTES 

 

 

  



1

Tyler Fosnes

From: Tyler Fosnes
Sent: Tuesday, April 5, 2022 3:17 PM
To: Dobson, Jeff; Greg Judy; Christopher Wood; Gary Vogrin
Subject: RE: EastPark Rezoning
Attachments: Distribution.pdf; Trip Gen Calcs Hotel.pdf; Trip Gen Calcs Restaurant.pdf; Study 

Intersections - East Park Rezoning.pdf

All, 
 
I’m emailing to document our scoping meeting last week. The following points were discussed: 
 

 The project site includes three existing office buildings of the following sizes: 32,437 s.f., 87,917 s.f., and 80,267 
s.f. 

 The proposed plan is to remove the 32,437 s.f. office building and construct a 120 room hotel and a 7,000 s.f. 
restaurant.  

 In an effort to be conservative and to be cautious against possible overestimates of trips generated by ITE, the 
analyses will not include removing existing trips to account for the removal of the office building. Instead, the 
new trips generated by the hotel and restaurant land uses will be added directly to existing + background traffic 
volumes utilizing the site access points.  

 A background growth rate will be developed based on TDOT count stations to account for ambient traffic 
growth. Furthermore, the City will provide KCI with the square footages for the planned Hill Center development 
to be included in background traffic volumes.  Additionally, the Maryland Way YMCA project is in the early 
stages of development at this time. Therefore, in lieu of site-specific traffic volumes, this proposed development 
will be considered and incorporated into the ambient growth rate for background conditions.  

 The study area will include the proposed study intersections shown on the attached Intersection Location map. 
 The projected horizon year for the development is expected to be 2025. 
 A shared parking study will be prepared for the overall East Park site to verify that sufficient parking capacity is 

supplied.  
 
I’ve also attached the trip generation calculation sheets and distribution figure for your review. Please let me know if 
you have any questions or comments.  
 
Jeff, can you please send the square footages for the Hill Center development at your convenience? 
 
Thanks, 
 
Tyler Fosnes 
KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 
o: 615.370.8410 | f: 615.370.8455 
 
 
 
 

From: Dobson, Jeff <jeff.dobson@brentwoodtn.gov>  
Sent: Thursday, March 24, 2022 3:18 PM 
To: Greg Judy <greg.judy@neel-schaffer.com>; Christopher Wood <chris@kiservogrin.com>; Gary Vogrin 
<gary@kiservogrin.com>; Tyler Fosnes <Tyler.Fosnes@kci.com> 
Subject: [External Email] FW: EastPark Rezoning 



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

APPENDIX C 

DETAILED TURNING MOVEMENT COUNTS 

 

 

  



Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovementClassified Turn Movement Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 1 of 6

Brentwood Blvd Site 1 of 6 Weather

Maryland Way (West) Fair

Maryland Way (East) Brentwood Blvd 62°F

Maryland Way (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Maryland Way (East) 36.033912°, -86.794946°

36.033912°, -86.794946°

Date

################### 0700 - 0900 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles

Weather

Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Brentwood Blvd Maryland Way (West) Maryland Way (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 1.1 1.2 1.3 Total 1.4 1.5 1.6 Total 1.7 1.8 1.9 Total Total

0700 - 0715 11 19 0 30 9 60 0 69 218 12 0 230 329

0715 - 0730 8 19 0 27 16 85 0 101 303 13 0 316 444

0730 - 0745 10 25 0 35 13 130 0 143 249 20 0 269 447

0745 - 0800 9 36 0 45 11 149 0 160 302 24 0 326 531

Hourly Total 38 99 0 137 49 424 0 473 1072 69 0 1141 1751

0800 - 0815 8 39 0 47 17 101 0 118 306 30 0 336 501

0815 - 0830 13 41 0 54 9 118 0 127 284 23 0 307 488

0830 - 0845 15 37 0 52 19 127 0 146 239 34 0 273 471

0845 - 0900 14 43 0 57 15 117 1 133 241 38 0 279 469

Hourly Total 50 160 0 210 60 463 1 524 1070 125 0 1195 1929

Grand Total 88 259 0 347 109 887 1 997 2142 194 0 2336 3680

Approach % 25.36 74.64 0.00 - 10.93 88.97 0.10 - 91.70 8.30 0.00 -

Intersection % 2.39 7.04 0.00 9.43 2.96 24.10 0.03 27.09 58.21 5.27 0.00 63.48

PHF 0.75 0.93 0.00 0.92 0.74 0.83 0.00 0.86 0.92 0.82 0.00 0.92 0.94

1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h 1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles All vehicles

6 7 8 9 11 12 13 14 16 17 18 19

Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Brentwood Blvd Maryland Way (West) Maryland Way (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 1.1 1.2 1.3 Total 1.4 1.5 1.6 Total 1.7 1.8 1.9 Total Total

1600 - 1615 42 21 0 63 23 280 0 303 152 32 0 184 550

1615 - 1630 36 13 0 49 27 275 1 303 136 20 1 157 509

1630 - 1645 40 21 0 61 35 323 0 358 158 20 0 178 597

1645 - 1700 44 25 0 69 28 283 1 312 131 17 0 148 529

Hourly Total 162 80 0 242 113 1161 2 1276 577 89 1 667 2185

1700 - 1715 51 24 0 75 44 344 0 388 167 23 0 190 653

1715 - 1730 39 25 0 64 25 314 0 339 136 17 0 153 556

1730 - 1745 34 28 0 62 35 283 0 318 136 14 0 150 530

1745 - 1800 40 19 0 59 25 217 0 242 128 15 0 143 444

Hourly Total 164 96 0 260 129 1158 0 1287 567 69 0 636 2183

Grand Total 326 176 0 502 242 2319 2 2563 1144 158 1 1303 4368

Approach % 64.94 35.06 0.00 - 9.44 90.48 0.08 - 87.80 12.13 0.08 -

Intersection % 7.46 4.03 0.00 11.49 5.54 53.09 0.05 58.68 26.19 3.62 0.02 29.83

PHF 0.85 0.95 0.00 0.90 0.75 0.92 0.25 0.90 0.89 0.84 0.00 0.88 0.89

Date

Wednesday, March 2, 2022

http://www.marrtraffic.com/


Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovementClassified Turn Movement Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 2 of 6

Brentwood Blvd (South)

Brentwood Blvd (North)Site 2 of 6 Weather

Juris Ln Brentwood Blvd (South) Fair

Driveway Brentwood Blvd (North) 62°F

Juris Ln Lat/Long

Lat/Long Driveway 36.034733°, -86.795233°

36.034733°, -86.795233°

Date

################### 0700 - 0900 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles

Weather

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Brentwood Blvd (South) Brentwood Blvd (North) Juris Ln Driveway

Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 Total 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 Total 2.9 2.10 2.11 2.12 Total 2.13 2.14 2.15 2.16 Total Total

0700 - 0715 2 17 1 0 20 1 27 8 1 37 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 58

0715 - 0730 4 24 0 0 28 1 27 9 0 37 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 66

0730 - 0745 8 26 0 0 34 2 36 10 0 48 1 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 84

0745 - 0800 6 28 0 0 34 2 45 9 0 56 2 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 93

Hourly Total 20 95 1 0 116 6 135 36 1 178 5 0 2 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 301

0800 - 0815 14 32 0 0 46 2 43 20 0 65 4 0 2 0 6 0 0 1 0 1 118

0815 - 0830 8 24 1 0 33 3 56 14 0 73 4 0 2 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 112

0830 - 0845 10 42 1 1 54 5 45 14 0 64 1 0 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 121

0845 - 0900 12 41 0 0 53 2 55 17 0 74 5 0 2 0 7 1 0 0 0 1 135

Hourly Total 44 139 2 1 186 12 199 65 0 276 14 0 8 0 22 1 0 1 0 2 486

Grand Total 64 234 3 1 302 18 334 101 1 454 19 0 10 0 29 1 0 1 0 2 787

Approach % 21.19 77.48 0.99 0.33 - 3.96 73.57 22.25 0.22 - 65.52 0.00 34.48 0.00 - 50.00 0.00 50.00 0.00 -

Intersection % 8.13 29.73 0.38 0.13 38.37 2.29 42.44 12.83 0.13 57.69 2.41 0.00 1.27 0.00 3.68 0.13 0.00 0.13 0.00 0.25

PHF 0.79 0.83 0.50 0.25 0.86 0.60 0.89 0.81 0.00 0.93 0.70 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.79 0.25 0.00 0.25 0.00 0.50 0.90

1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h 1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles All vehicles

1 2 3 4 6 7 8 9 11 12 13 14 16 17 18 19

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Brentwood Blvd (South) Brentwood Blvd (North) Juris Ln Driveway

Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 Total 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.8 Total 2.9 2.10 2.11 2.12 Total 2.13 2.14 2.15 2.16 Total Total

1600 - 1615 6 45 2 0 53 0 50 1 1 52 22 1 13 0 36 3 0 5 0 8 149

1615 - 1630 1 45 0 0 46 0 44 2 0 46 17 0 4 0 21 0 0 2 0 2 115

1630 - 1645 1 58 0 0 59 0 50 2 1 53 18 0 10 0 28 0 0 2 0 2 142

1645 - 1700 0 42 0 0 42 0 56 2 1 59 13 0 13 0 26 2 0 2 0 4 131

Hourly Total 8 190 2 0 200 0 200 7 3 210 70 1 40 0 111 5 0 11 0 16 537

1700 - 1715 1 66 0 1 68 1 65 2 0 68 15 0 12 0 27 1 0 6 0 7 170

1715 - 1730 2 38 1 0 41 0 50 1 0 51 13 0 9 0 22 1 0 1 0 2 116

1730 - 1745 1 50 0 0 51 0 54 2 0 56 7 0 6 0 13 3 0 1 0 4 124

1745 - 1800 2 38 0 0 40 0 51 1 0 52 14 0 5 0 19 0 0 2 0 2 113

Hourly Total 6 192 1 1 200 1 220 6 0 227 49 0 32 0 81 5 0 10 0 15 523

Grand Total 14 382 3 1 400 1 420 13 3 437 119 1 72 0 192 10 0 21 0 31 1060

Approach % 3.50 95.50 0.75 0.25 - 0.23 96.11 2.97 0.69 - 61.98 0.52 37.50 0.00 - 32.26 0.00 67.74 0.00 -

Intersection % 1.32 36.04 0.28 0.09 37.74 0.09 39.62 1.23 0.28 41.23 11.23 0.09 6.79 0.00 18.11 0.94 0.00 1.98 0.00 2.92

PHF 0.50 0.77 0.25 0.25 0.77 0.25 0.85 0.88 0.50 0.85 0.82 0.00 0.85 0.00 0.92 0.50 0.00 0.46 0.00 0.54 0.82

Date

Wednesday, March 2, 2022

http://www.marrtraffic.com/


Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovementClassified Turn Movement Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 3 of 6

Brentwood Blvd (South)

Brentwood Blvd (North)Site 3 of 6 Weather

Cadillac Dr Brentwood Blvd (South) Fair

Driveway Brentwood Blvd (North) 62°F

Cadillac Dr Lat/Long

Lat/Long Driveway 36.036118°, -86.795011°

36.036118°, -86.795011°

Date

################### 0700 - 0900 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles

Weather

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Brentwood Blvd (South) Brentwood Blvd (North) Cadillac Dr Driveway

Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 Total 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 Total 3.9 3.10 3.11 3.12 Total 3.13 3.14 3.15 3.16 Total Total

0700 - 0715 11 8 0 0 19 2 26 20 0 48 4 1 8 0 13 1 0 0 0 1 81

0715 - 0730 8 16 1 0 25 0 31 16 0 47 3 1 7 0 11 2 1 0 0 3 86

0730 - 0745 9 18 1 0 28 1 43 24 0 68 1 1 6 0 8 1 0 0 0 1 105

0745 - 0800 17 13 0 0 30 4 49 18 0 71 6 4 7 0 17 0 3 0 0 3 121

Hourly Total 45 55 2 0 102 7 149 78 0 234 14 7 28 0 49 4 4 0 0 8 393

0800 - 0815 15 20 3 0 38 2 61 21 0 84 8 1 4 0 13 0 3 0 0 3 138

0815 - 0830 11 13 1 1 26 4 63 23 0 90 3 0 7 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 126

0830 - 0845 17 27 0 0 44 3 48 19 0 70 4 2 15 0 21 0 1 1 0 2 137

0845 - 0900 22 23 1 0 46 8 65 17 0 90 11 0 10 0 21 0 1 1 0 2 159

Hourly Total 65 83 5 1 154 17 237 80 0 334 26 3 36 0 65 0 5 2 0 7 560

Grand Total 110 138 7 1 256 24 386 158 0 568 40 10 64 0 114 4 9 2 0 15 953

Approach % 42.97 53.91 2.73 0.39 - 4.23 67.96 27.82 0.00 - 35.09 8.77 56.14 0.00 - 26.67 60.00 13.33 0.00 -

Intersection % 11.54 14.48 0.73 0.10 26.86 2.52 40.50 16.58 0.00 59.60 4.20 1.05 6.72 0.00 11.96 0.42 0.94 0.21 0.00 1.57

PHF 0.74 0.77 0.42 0.25 0.84 0.53 0.91 0.87 0.00 0.93 0.59 0.38 0.60 0.00 0.77 0.00 0.42 0.50 0.00 0.58 0.88

1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h 1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles All vehicles

1 2 3 4 6 7 8 9 11 12 13 14 16 17 18 19

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Brentwood Blvd (South) Brentwood Blvd (North) Cadillac Dr Driveway

Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 Total 3.5 3.6 3.7 3.8 Total 3.9 3.10 3.11 3.12 Total 3.13 3.14 3.15 3.16 Total Total

1600 - 1615 14 58 0 0 72 8 24 12 0 44 22 1 23 0 46 4 1 5 0 10 172

1615 - 1630 12 44 1 1 58 4 22 7 0 33 22 1 23 0 46 1 0 2 0 3 140

1630 - 1645 14 67 0 0 81 7 28 6 0 41 24 0 23 0 47 1 2 6 0 9 178

1645 - 1700 14 49 0 0 63 7 31 4 0 42 21 1 26 0 48 2 1 3 0 6 159

Hourly Total 54 218 1 1 274 26 105 29 0 160 89 3 95 0 187 8 4 16 0 28 649

1700 - 1715 18 67 2 0 87 7 35 7 0 49 26 1 30 0 57 3 1 1 0 5 198

1715 - 1730 8 43 0 0 51 4 25 12 0 41 14 0 27 0 41 1 0 1 0 2 135

1730 - 1745 15 44 0 0 59 3 31 4 0 38 15 1 24 0 40 0 1 2 0 3 140

1745 - 1800 9 44 0 0 53 3 30 4 0 37 10 0 20 0 30 1 2 2 0 5 125

Hourly Total 50 198 2 0 250 17 121 27 0 165 65 2 101 0 168 5 4 6 0 15 598

Grand Total 104 416 3 1 524 43 226 56 0 325 154 5 196 0 355 13 8 22 0 43 1247

Approach % 19.85 79.39 0.57 0.19 - 13.23 69.54 17.23 0.00 - 43.38 1.41 55.21 0.00 - 30.23 18.60 51.16 0.00 -

Intersection % 8.34 33.36 0.24 0.08 42.02 3.45 18.12 4.49 0.00 26.06 12.35 0.40 15.72 0.00 28.47 1.04 0.64 1.76 0.00 3.45

PHF 0.81 0.85 0.38 0.25 0.83 0.89 0.83 0.86 0.00 0.84 0.89 0.75 0.85 0.00 0.87 0.58 0.50 0.50 0.00 0.64 0.85

Date

Wednesday, March 2, 2022

http://www.marrtraffic.com/


Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovementClassified Turn Movement Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 4 of 6

Brentwood Blvd (South)

Brentwood Blvd (North)Site 4 of 6 Weather

Brentwood Blvd (South) Fair

Thoroughbred Ln Brentwood Blvd (North) 62°F

Lat/Long

Lat/Long Thoroughbred Ln 36.037061°, -86.794698°

36.037061°, -86.794698°

Date

################### 0700 - 0900 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles

Weather

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Brentwood Blvd (South) Brentwood Blvd (North) Thoroughbred Ln

Thru Right App Thru App Right App Int

TIME 4.1 4.2 Total 4.3 Total 4.4 Total Total

0700 - 0715 12 1 13 57 57 0 0 70

0715 - 0730 14 1 15 50 50 0 0 65

0730 - 0745 19 2 21 73 73 1 1 95

0745 - 0800 16 5 21 71 71 1 1 93

Hourly Total 61 9 70 251 251 2 2 323

0800 - 0815 25 2 27 91 91 0 0 118

0815 - 0830 17 3 20 92 92 2 2 114

0830 - 0845 25 3 28 72 72 2 2 102

0845 - 0900 31 6 37 92 92 0 0 129

Hourly Total 98 14 112 347 347 4 4 463

Grand Total 159 23 182 598 598 6 6 786

Approach % 87.36 12.64 - 100.00 - 100.00 -

Intersection % 20.23 2.93 23.16 76.08 76.08 0.76 0.76

PHF 0.79 0.58 0.76 0.94 0.94 0.50 0.50 0.90

1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h 1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles All vehicles

1 2 3 4 6 7 8 9 16 17 18 19

Northbound Southbound Westbound

Brentwood Blvd (South) Brentwood Blvd (North) Thoroughbred Ln

Thru Right App Thru App Right App Int

TIME 4.1 4.2 Total 4.3 Total 4.4 Total Total

1600 - 1615 69 10 79 39 39 5 5 123

1615 - 1630 70 5 75 31 31 6 6 112

1630 - 1645 88 6 94 31 31 5 5 130

1645 - 1700 71 6 77 35 35 4 4 116

Hourly Total 298 27 325 136 136 20 20 481

1700 - 1715 85 7 92 45 45 4 4 141

1715 - 1730 55 6 61 35 35 6 6 102

1730 - 1745 59 2 61 31 31 3 3 95

1745 - 1800 51 4 55 37 37 1 1 93

Hourly Total 250 19 269 148 148 14 14 431

Grand Total 548 46 594 284 284 34 34 912

Approach % 92.26 7.74 - 100.00 - 100.00 -

Intersection % 60.09 5.04 65.13 31.14 31.14 3.73 3.73

PHF 0.89 0.86 0.90 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.79 0.88

Date

Wednesday, March 2, 2022

http://www.marrtraffic.com/


Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovementClassified Turn Movement Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 5 of 6

Brentwood Blvd (South)

Brentwood Blvd (North)Site 5 of 6 Weather

TN-254 Old Hickory Blvd Brentwood Blvd (South) Fair

TN-254 Old Hickory Blvd Brentwood Blvd (North) 62°F

TN-254 Old Hickory Blvd (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long TN-254 Old Hickory Blvd (East) 36.037743°, -86.794751°

36.037743°, -86.794751°

Date

################### 0700 - 0900 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles

Weather

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Brentwood Blvd (South) Brentwood Blvd (North) TN-254 Old Hickory Blvd (West) TN-254 Old Hickory Blvd (East)

Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 Total 5.5 5.6 5.7 5.8 Total 5.9 5.10 5.11 5.12 Total 5.13 5.14 5.15 5.16 Total Total

0700 - 0715 0 0 12 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 193 3 0 196 55 361 0 0 416 624

0715 - 0730 2 0 14 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 257 2 1 260 49 401 0 1 451 727

0730 - 0745 4 0 16 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 272 6 0 278 68 408 0 0 476 774

0745 - 0800 1 0 15 0 16 0 0 1 0 1 0 321 9 0 330 64 395 0 0 459 806

Hourly Total 7 0 57 0 64 0 0 1 0 1 0 1043 20 1 1064 236 1565 0 1 1802 2931

0800 - 0815 4 0 20 0 24 0 0 1 0 1 0 315 8 0 323 85 345 1 0 431 779

0815 - 0830 5 0 14 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 254 9 0 263 81 389 0 0 470 752

0830 - 0845 6 0 21 0 27 0 0 0 0 0 0 331 5 0 336 65 363 0 0 428 791

0845 - 0900 8 0 24 0 32 0 0 0 0 0 0 288 9 0 297 81 395 1 0 477 806

Hourly Total 23 0 79 0 102 0 0 1 0 1 0 1188 31 0 1219 312 1492 2 0 1806 3128

Grand Total 30 0 136 0 166 0 0 2 0 2 0 2231 51 1 2283 548 3057 2 1 3608 6059

Approach % 18.07 0.00 81.93 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 100.00 0.00 - 0.00 97.72 2.23 0.04 - 15.19 84.73 0.06 0.03 -

Intersection % 0.50 0.00 2.24 0.00 2.74 0.00 0.00 0.03 0.00 0.03 0.00 36.82 0.84 0.02 37.68 9.04 50.45 0.03 0.02 59.55

PHF 0.67 0.00 0.83 0.00 0.80 0.00 0.00 0.50 0.00 0.50 0.00 0.92 0.86 0.00 0.93 0.87 0.94 0.25 0.00 0.95 0.97

1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h 1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles All vehicles

1 2 3 4 6 7 8 9 11 12 13 14 16 17 18 19

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Brentwood Blvd (South) Brentwood Blvd (North) TN-254 Old Hickory Blvd (West) TN-254 Old Hickory Blvd (East)

Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Left Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 Total 5.5 5.6 5.7 5.8 Total 5.9 5.10 5.11 5.12 Total 5.13 5.14 5.15 5.16 Total Total

1600 - 1615 11 0 63 1 75 0 0 0 0 0 0 348 9 0 357 28 243 1 0 272 704

1615 - 1630 12 0 65 1 78 0 0 0 0 0 0 363 9 0 372 21 257 0 0 278 728

1630 - 1645 19 0 74 0 93 0 0 0 0 0 0 330 5 1 336 25 295 0 0 320 749

1645 - 1700 12 0 63 0 75 0 0 0 0 0 0 323 9 1 333 26 290 0 0 316 724

Hourly Total 54 0 265 2 321 0 0 0 0 0 0 1364 32 2 1398 100 1085 1 0 1186 2905

1700 - 1715 10 0 79 0 89 0 0 0 0 0 0 346 8 1 355 37 293 0 0 330 774

1715 - 1730 14 0 49 0 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 321 7 0 328 28 297 0 0 325 716

1730 - 1745 6 0 54 0 60 0 0 0 0 0 0 298 3 1 302 29 232 0 0 261 623

1745 - 1800 7 0 44 0 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 316 9 0 325 28 227 0 0 255 631

Hourly Total 37 0 226 0 263 0 0 0 0 0 0 1281 27 2 1310 122 1049 0 0 1171 2744

Grand Total 91 0 491 2 584 0 0 0 0 0 0 2645 59 4 2708 222 2134 1 0 2357 5649

Approach % 15.58 0.00 84.08 0.34 - 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 - 0.00 97.67 2.18 0.15 - 9.42 90.54 0.04 0.00 -

Intersection % 1.61 0.00 8.69 0.04 10.34 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 46.82 1.04 0.07 47.94 3.93 37.78 0.02 0.00 41.72

PHF 0.70 0.00 0.89 0.25 0.90 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.94 0.86 0.75 0.94 0.74 0.96 0.00 0.00 0.94 0.96

Date

Wednesday, March 2, 2022

http://www.marrtraffic.com/


Brentwood, TN

Classified Turn MovementClassified Turn Movement Count || All vehicles

Brentwood, TN www.marrtraffic.com

Site 6 of 6

Driveway Site 6 of 6 Weather

Maryland Way (West) Fair

Maryland Way (East) Driveway 62°F

Maryland Way (West) Lat/Long

Lat/Long Maryland Way (East) 36.034398°, -86.793231°

36.034398°, -86.793231°

Date

################### 0700 - 0900 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles

Weather

Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Driveway Maryland Way (West) Maryland Way (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 6.1 6.2 6.3 Total 6.4 6.5 6.6 Total 6.7 6.8 6.9 Total Total

0700 - 0715 1 3 0 4 1 71 0 72 226 1 0 227 303

0715 - 0730 0 5 0 5 1 91 0 92 308 2 0 310 407

0730 - 0745 0 1 0 1 2 140 0 142 267 2 0 269 412

0745 - 0800 1 2 0 3 2 156 0 158 322 5 1 328 489

Hourly Total 2 11 0 13 6 458 0 464 1123 10 1 1134 1611

0800 - 0815 3 0 0 3 0 107 0 107 338 5 0 343 453

0815 - 0830 2 1 0 3 1 130 0 131 308 7 0 315 449

0830 - 0845 1 1 0 2 3 139 0 142 274 9 0 283 427

0845 - 0900 0 5 0 5 0 132 0 132 276 4 0 280 417

Hourly Total 6 7 0 13 4 508 0 512 1196 25 0 1221 1746

Grand Total 8 18 0 26 10 966 0 976 2319 35 1 2355 3357

Approach % 30.77 69.23 0.00 - 1.02 98.98 0.00 - 98.47 1.49 0.04 -

Intersection % 0.24 0.54 0.00 0.77 0.30 28.78 0.00 29.07 69.08 1.04 0.03 70.15

PHF 0.58 0.50 0.00 0.92 0.50 0.85 0.00 0.85 0.92 0.72 0.25 0.92 0.93

1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h 1600 - 1800 (Weekday 2h Session) (03-02-2022)

All vehicles All vehicles

6 7 8 9 11 12 13 14 16 17 18 19

Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Driveway Maryland Way (West) Maryland Way (East)

Left Right U-Turn App Left Thru U-Turn App Thru Right U-Turn App Int

TIME 6.1 6.2 6.3 Total 6.4 6.5 6.6 Total 6.7 6.8 6.9 Total Total

1600 - 1615 3 0 0 3 4 319 0 323 186 2 1 189 515

1615 - 1630 1 6 0 7 2 309 0 311 153 8 0 161 479

1630 - 1645 3 3 0 6 3 364 0 367 177 2 1 180 553

1645 - 1700 3 3 0 6 1 327 0 328 149 2 1 152 486

Hourly Total 10 12 0 22 10 1319 0 1329 665 14 3 682 2033

1700 - 1715 3 5 0 8 2 393 0 395 185 2 0 187 590

1715 - 1730 5 3 0 8 1 345 0 346 150 4 0 154 508

1730 - 1745 4 2 0 6 5 313 0 318 144 3 0 147 471

1745 - 1800 3 0 0 3 2 255 0 257 138 1 0 139 399

Hourly Total 15 10 0 25 10 1306 0 1316 617 10 0 627 1968

Grand Total 25 22 0 47 20 2625 0 2645 1282 24 3 1309 4001

Approach % 53.19 46.81 0.00 - 0.76 99.24 0.00 - 97.94 1.83 0.23 -

Intersection % 0.62 0.55 0.00 1.17 0.50 65.61 0.00 66.11 32.04 0.60 0.07 32.72

PHF 0.70 0.70 0.00 0.88 0.58 0.91 0.00 0.91 0.89 0.63 0.50 0.90 0.91

Date

Wednesday, March 2, 2022

http://www.marrtraffic.com/


East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

APPENDIX D 

TDOT COUNT DATA 

  



Station 132 574 181

Route Old Hickory Blvd Brentwood Blvd Brentwood Blvd

Location

Northeast of the Project 

Site; Between Franklin Pk 

and E Park Dr

North of the Project Site; 

Between Old Hickory Blvd 

and Cadillac Dr

West of the Project Site; 

Between Cadillac Dr and 

Juris Ln

County Davidson Davidson Williamson

2020 47,988 7,591 3,902

2019 39,237 8,351 7,344

2018 40,050 7,926 6,615

2017 40,358 6,396 7,305

2016 42,349 6,333 6,339

2015 38,754 6,270 6,850

2014 36,380 6,406 6,259

2013 39,502 6,294 6,197

2012 38,140 6,255 6,662

2011 38,872 6,954 6,591

2010 37,240 6,354 6,653

2009 37,270 6,635 6,744

2008 38,449 7,091 7,358

TDOT AADT DATA



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

APPENDIX E 

SIGNAL TIMING 

 

  















INTERSECTION:

INSTALLATION DATE:

PROGRAMMED BY:

NOTES:

PHASE 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 PHASE 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

PHASE IN USE X X X X X X START UP X X

MIN GREEN 5 25 5 5 5 25 UCF LAST

DLY GRN UCF EXIT

WALK SIM. GAP

PED CLR
MIN RED

REVERT

VEH EXT 2.5 3.0 2.5 2.5 2.5 3.0
RED REVERT

TIME

MAX 1 25 45 25 15 25 45
AUTO PED

CLEAR

MAX 2 20 60 40 60 20 60
START UP

FLASH

MAX 3
START UP

INTERVAL
G 

DYM MAX
START UP

ALL RED

DYM STP FLASH

YELLOW 4.0 4.5 3.5 3.5 4.0 4.5 FREE

RED CLR 3.0 2.5 3.5 3.5 3.0 2.5 SPECIAL

TIME B4 GAP RED

CARS WT

STPTDUC

TTREDUC

MIN GAP

NON ACT 1

DUAL ENTRY

REST IN WALK

LOCK DET

VE RCALL

PD RCALL

MX RCALL X X

Sheet 1 of 4

DOES NOT FLASH

SIGNAL DISPLAYS

TIME BY PHASE (SEC)  &  FUNCTIONS CONTROLLER OPTIONS

SWITCH:

ENHANCED PED

OPERATION

EXT. START

OVERRIDES

PRE-EMPT

OVERRIDES

STOP TIME

UCF OVERRIDE

HOLD

PASSAGE

SEQUENTIAL

ENABLE SIM. GAP

UCF TEST A OR B

INTERSECTION NUMBER:

OLA = 1+4

4680 ZONE: 1

ADDRESS:

OHB & BRENTWOOD BLVD

METROPOLITAN GOVERNMENT OF NASHVILLE AND DAVIDSON COUNTY

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

WALK

WAIT

7

CONTROLLER PROGRAMMING

ASC3/2100 SERIES & COBALT 

CONTROLLER PROGRAMMING



INTERSECTION:

INSTALLATION DATE:

PROGRAMMED BY:

NOTES:

PHASE 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

LOOPS X X X

VIDEO X

DETECTOR 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

DETECTOR 1 X

DETECTOR 2 X

DETECTOR 3 X

DETECTOR 4 X

DETECTOR 5 X

DETECTOR 6 X

DETECTOR 7 X

DETECTOR 8 X

PHASE 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

OLA

OLB

OLC

OLD

PED OLA

PED OLB

PED OLC

PED OLD

Sheet 2 of 4

YEL RED

4680 ZONE: 1

OVERLAPS

TYPE LAG GRN

INTERSECTION NUMBER:

5

6

DETECTION DATA

DETECTOR ASSIGNMENTS

DETECTOR

2

3

DETECTOR MODES & TIMING

1

DELAY 

TIME

8.0

8

4

OHB & BRENTWOOD BLVD

STRETCH/ 

STOP BAR

7

DETECTOR 

MODE

METROPOLITAN GOVERNMENT OF NASHVILLE AND DAVIDSON COUNTY

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

ASC3/2100 SERIES & COBALT 

DETECTOR & OLAP PROGRAMMING



INTERSECTION:

INSTALLATION DATE:

PROGRAMMED BY:

NOTES:

PHASE
CYCLE

LENGTH
OFFSET 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

PATTERN 1 140 41 34 75 15 16 15 94

PATTERN 2 120 47 25 65 15 15 15 75 X

PATTERN 3 150 29 28 84 15 23 15 97

PATTERN 4

PATTERN 5 120 46 22 68 15 15 15 75

PATTERN 6 90 52 18 42 15 15 15 45 X

PATTERN 7 120 28 22 66 15 17 15 73

PATTERN 8

PATTERN 9

PATTERN 10

PATTERN 11

PATTERN 12

LEAD LAG

1 2 6

2 2 6

3 2 6

4 2 6

5 2 6

6 2 6

7 2 6

8 2 6

9 2 6

10 2 6

11 2 6

12 2 6

Sheet 3 of 4

ZONE: 1

BACKUP PREVENT

TMG\BKUP

4680INTERSECTION NUMBER:

OHB & BRENTWOOD BLVD

1

2

COORD/SPLIT TABLE

3

4

5

8

MANUAL PATTERN

9

10

LOCAL ZERO OVRD

FUNCTION

NO

PED RESERVE NO

SYSTEM FORMAT PTN

SPLITS IN 

6

7

3

4

5

11

12

COORD OPTIONS

SECONDS

OFFSET IN

MODE

PHASES

PATTERN

SECONDS1

PHASE REVERSAL COORD. PHASES

PATTERN

PHASES TO

BE COORD

AUTO

ECPI COORD YES

SYSTEM SOURCE TBC

TRANSITION

6

7

8

SMOOTH2

NO

MAX SELECT MAX INH

DWELL/ADD TIME 0

ENABLE MAN SYNC NO

DELAY COORD WK-LZ NO

FORCE OFF FLOAT

OFFSET REF YIELD

CAL USE PED TM NO

PED RECALL

NO

RE-SYNC COUNT 0

MULTISYNC NO

FO ADD INI GRN

ASC3/2100 SERIES & COBALT 

COORDINATION PROGRAMMING



INTERSECTION:

INSTALLATION DATE:

PROGRAMMED BY:

NOTES:

SCHEDULE
SUN

1

MON

2

TUE

3

WED

4

THU

5

FRI

6

SAT

7

1 3 1 1 1 1 1 2

2

3

4

5

CKT

CYCLE

1

2

3

4 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 98 99 100

5 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 11 12 254 254 255

6 X

SYNC REF

Sheet 4 of 4

ZONE:

1

1

SCHEDULE PLAN

SCHEDULE

1

Action Plan 98 = FREE MAX 2

Action Plan 99 = FREE

Action Plan 100 = FLASH

INTERSECTION       

NUMBER: 4680
OHB & BRENTWOOD BLVD

DAY PLAN EVENTS

CODE

SPRING 3

MONTH W-O-M

1

2

2 2

PATTERN

08:00

13:00

DAYLIGHT SAVINGS

2

1

3

06:30

10:00

254

19:00

HH:MM

1

15:00

5

1

1

1 11:15

6

9922:00

5

2

3

6

5

992

18:00 6

72

3

55

7

6

11

COMMANDED ACTION

FALL 1

HH:MM

SPC FCT

AUX FCT

MAX 2

TIME DEPENDENT

SYNC REF

ACTN

PATT

SYM ON/OFF/TOD

3

3

TOD ACTION PLAN

7

6

99

3

25419:00

20:00

08:00

13:00

16:00

254

5

7

6

ASC3/2100 SERIES & COBALT 

TIME CLOCK PROGRAMMING



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

APPENDIX F 

CAPACITY ANALYSES 

 

  



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

CAPACITY ANALYSES 

  



Queues East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Existing AM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT WBT SEL SER
Lane Group Flow (vph) 65 503 1308 53 174
v/c Ratio 0.20 0.17 0.49 0.39 0.62
Control Delay 3.8 2.6 7.8 63.9 23.4
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 3.8 2.6 7.8 63.9 23.4
Queue Length 50th (ft) 8 37 224 48 48
Queue Length 95th (ft) 19 60 314 m76 m122
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1063 451 268
Turn Bay Length (ft) 165
Base Capacity (vph) 393 2940 2653 195 329
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.17 0.17 0.49 0.27 0.53

Intersection Summary
m    Volume for 95th percentile queue is metered by upstream signal.



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Existing AM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 3

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR SEL SER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 60 463 1078 125 0 0 49 160
Future Volume (veh/h) 60 463 1078 125 0 0 49 160
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 65 503 1172 136 53 174
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 343 2830 2301 266 197 175
Arrive On Green 0.03 0.80 0.72 0.72 0.11 0.11
Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 3647 3302 371 1781 1585
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 65 503 648 660 53 174
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1777 1777 1803 1781 1585
Q Serve(g_s), s 1.2 4.7 22.7 22.9 3.8 15.4
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 1.2 4.7 22.7 22.9 3.8 15.4
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.21 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 343 2830 1274 1293 197 175
V/C Ratio(X) 0.19 0.18 0.51 0.51 0.27 0.99
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 443 2830 1274 1293 197 175
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 6.6 3.4 8.8 8.8 57.1 62.2
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.1 0.1 1.5 1.4 1.0 65.4
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.4 1.4 8.3 8.5 1.8 9.4
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 6.7 3.5 10.3 10.3 58.1 127.6
LnGrp LOS A A B B E F
Approach Vol, veh/h 568 1308 227
Approach Delay, s/veh 3.9 10.3 111.3
Approach LOS A B F

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 11.1 106.9 22.0 118.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 12.5 92.5 15.5 111.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 3.2 24.9 17.4 6.7
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 19.6 0.0 5.3

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 19.5
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
2: Brentwood Blvd & Juris Ln/Driveway A Existing AM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 14 12 0 0 1 1 44 139 2 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 14 12 0 0 1 1 44 139 2 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1081257984 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 15 13 0 0 1 1 48 151 2 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 172 249 - - 248 77 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 248 - - - -
          Stage 2 172 249 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 775 653 0 0 653 968 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 700 - - - -
          Stage 2 813 699 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 773 653 - - 653 968 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 773 653 - - 653 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 700 - - - -
          Stage 2 811 699 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.3 9.6
HCM LOS B A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 713 780
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.04 0.003
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 10.3 9.6
HCM Lane LOS - - - B A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.1 0



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
3: Brentwood Blvd & Juris Ln/Driveway A Existing AM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 14 8 1 44 0 0 0 0 12 200 65
Future Vol, veh/h 0 14 8 1 44 0 0 0 0 12 200 65
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 15 9 1 48 0 0 0 0 13 217 71
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 279 144 142 314 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 279 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 142 314 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 628 877 814 600 0 - - -
          Stage 1 0 678 - - - 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - 846 655 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 628 877 791 600 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 628 - 791 600 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 678 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 819 655 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.3 11.5
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 700 603 - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.034 0.081 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.3 11.5 - - -
HCM Lane LOS B B - - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 0.3 - - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
4: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr/Driveway B Existing AM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 26 20 0 0 5 3 66 83 5 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 26 20 0 0 5 3 66 83 5 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1082898432 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 28 22 0 0 5 3 72 90 5 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 192 239 - - 237 48 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 237 - - - -
          Stage 2 192 239 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 750 661 0 0 663 1011 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 708 - - - -
          Stage 2 791 706 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 743 661 - - 663 1011 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 743 661 - - 663 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 708 - - - -
          Stage 2 782 706 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.5 9.8
HCM LOS B A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 705 761
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.071 0.011
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 10.5 9.8
HCM Lane LOS - - - B A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.2 0



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
5: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr/Driveway B Existing AM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 29 36 0 71 0 0 0 0 17 241 80
Future Vol, veh/h 0 29 36 0 71 0 0 0 0 17 241 80
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - Free
Storage Length - - 0 - - - - - - - - 85
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 32 39 0 77 0 0 0 0 18 262 87
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 298 131 183 298 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 298 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 183 298 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 613 894 761 613 0 - - 0
          Stage 1 0 666 - - - 0 - - 0
          Stage 2 0 - - 801 666 0 - - 0
Platoon blocked, % -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 613 894 699 613 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 613 - 699 613 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 666 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 730 666 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.1 11.7
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) 613 894 613 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.051 0.044 0.126 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.2 9.2 11.7 - -
HCM Lane LOS B A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 0.1 0.4 - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
6: Brentwood Blvd & Thoroughbred Ln Existing AM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 8

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 4 98 14 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 4 98 14 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - 0 - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - -1083488256
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 4 107 15 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All - 61 0 0
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.94 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 3.32 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 991 - -
          Stage 1 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 991 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
 

Approach WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.6 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - 991
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.004
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 8.6
HCM Lane LOS - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0



Queues East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Existing AM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 9

Lane Group EBT WBL WBT WBR NBT NBR SBT
Lane Group Flow (vph) 1326 342 1622 2 25 86 1
v/c Ratio 0.58 0.75 0.52 0.00 0.29 0.12 0.02
Control Delay 17.6 30.6 4.2 0.0 76.5 7.2 65.0
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 17.6 30.6 4.2 0.0 76.5 7.2 65.0
Queue Length 50th (ft) 364 134 163 0 23 0 1
Queue Length 95th (ft) 584 277 381 0 56 21 7
Internal Link Dist (ft) 778 1004 161 195
Turn Bay Length (ft) 305 60
Base Capacity (vph) 2298 497 3142 1421 113 779 85
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.58 0.69 0.52 0.00 0.22 0.11 0.01

Intersection Summary



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Existing AM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 10

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 1188 32 315 1492 2 23 0 79 0 0 1
Future Volume (vph) 0 1188 32 315 1492 2 23 0 79 0 0 1
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.88 0.95
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3525 1770 3539 1583 1770 2787 1504
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.12 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3525 230 3539 1583 1770 2787 1504
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 1291 35 342 1622 2 25 0 86 0 0 1
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 69 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 1326 0 342 1622 2 0 25 17 0 1 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA Prot Split NA custom Split NA
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 6 4 4 1 3 3
Permitted Phases 2 6 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 82.9 113.1 113.1 113.1 4.8 28.0 1.1
Effective Green, g (s) 82.9 113.1 113.1 113.1 4.8 28.0 1.1
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.59 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.03 0.20 0.01
Clearance Time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 2.5 3.0 3.0 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 2087 441 2859 1278 60 696 11
v/s Ratio Prot 0.38 c0.13 0.46 0.00 c0.01 0.00 c0.00
v/s Ratio Perm c0.50 0.00
v/c Ratio 0.64 0.78 0.57 0.00 0.42 0.02 0.09
Uniform Delay, d1 18.7 28.2 4.8 2.6 66.2 45.0 69.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.07 1.01 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 1.5 8.0 0.8 0.0 3.4 0.0 2.6
Delay (s) 20.2 36.2 5.6 2.6 74.5 45.3 71.6
Level of Service C D A A E D E
Approach Delay (s) 20.2 10.9 51.9 71.6
Approach LOS C B D E

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 15.9 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.77
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 140.0 Sum of lost time (s) 28.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 76.7% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
8: Maryland Way & Driveway C Existing AM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 12

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 4 508 1196 25 6 7
Future Vol, veh/h 4 508 1196 25 6 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 60 - - 70 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 4 552 1300 27 7 8
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 1327 0 - 0 1584 650
          Stage 1 - - - - 1300 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 284 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - 6.84 6.94
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.84 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.84 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.22 - - - 3.52 3.32
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 516 - - - 99 412
          Stage 1 - - - - 219 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 739 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 516 - - - 98 412
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 98 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 217 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 739 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0 28.7
HCM LOS D
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 516 - - - 166
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.008 - - - 0.085
HCM Control Delay (s) 12 - - - 28.7
HCM Lane LOS B - - - D
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0.3



Queues East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Existing PM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT WBT SEL SER
Lane Group Flow (vph) 146 1334 740 189 90
v/c Ratio 0.28 0.49 0.32 0.73 0.29
Control Delay 6.4 7.7 11.3 76.8 12.1
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 6.4 7.7 11.3 76.8 12.1
Queue Length 50th (ft) 32 227 148 171 0
Queue Length 95th (ft) 62 324 216 240 46
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1063 451 268
Turn Bay Length (ft) 165
Base Capacity (vph) 537 2714 2338 336 373
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.27 0.49 0.32 0.56 0.24

Intersection Summary



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Existing PM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 3

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR SEL SER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 134 1227 601 80 0 0 174 83
Future Volume (veh/h) 134 1227 601 80 0 0 174 83
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 146 1334 653 87 189 90
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 567 2806 2241 298 221 196
Arrive On Green 0.04 0.79 0.71 0.71 0.12 0.12
Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 3647 3246 419 1781 1585
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 146 1334 368 372 189 90
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1777 1777 1795 1781 1585
Q Serve(g_s), s 3.2 19.0 11.3 11.3 15.6 7.9
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 3.2 19.0 11.3 11.3 15.6 7.9
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.23 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 567 2806 1263 1276 221 196
V/C Ratio(X) 0.26 0.48 0.29 0.29 0.86 0.46
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 618 2806 1263 1276 338 301
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 5.5 5.3 7.9 7.9 64.4 61.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.1 0.6 0.6 0.6 15.3 2.4
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.1 6.0 4.2 4.3 8.0 3.3
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 5.6 5.9 8.5 8.5 79.7 63.4
LnGrp LOS A A A A E E
Approach Vol, veh/h 1480 740 279
Approach Delay, s/veh 5.9 8.5 74.5
Approach LOS A A E

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 11.8 113.1 25.1 124.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 9.5 92.5 28.5 108.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 5.2 13.3 17.6 21.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.1 7.7 1.0 22.8

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 14.3
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
2: Brentwood Blvd & Juris Ln/Driveway A Existing PM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 64 1 0 0 3 13 3 211 0 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 64 1 0 0 3 13 3 211 0 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1081257984 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 70 1 0 0 3 14 3 229 0 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 122 235 - - 235 115 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 235 - - - -
          Stage 2 122 235 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 840 664 0 0 664 916 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 709 - - - -
          Stage 2 869 709 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 824 664 - - 664 916 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 824 664 - - 664 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 709 - - - -
          Stage 2 852 709 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.8 9.3
HCM LOS A A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 821 855
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.086 0.02
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 9.8 9.3
HCM Lane LOS - - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.3 0.1



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
3: Brentwood Blvd & Juris Ln/Driveway A Existing PM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 64 39 3 3 0 0 0 0 1 215 9
Future Vol, veh/h 0 64 39 3 3 0 0 0 0 1 215 9
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 70 42 3 3 0 0 0 0 1 234 10
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 241 122 154 246 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 241 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 154 246 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 659 906 798 655 0 - - -
          Stage 1 0 705 - - - 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - 833 701 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 659 906 699 655 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 659 - 699 655 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 705 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 716 701 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.8 10.4
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 735 676 - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.152 0.01 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.8 10.4 - - -
HCM Lane LOS B B - - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 0 - - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
4: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr/Driveway B Existing PM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 97 28 0 0 11 16 59 226 3 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 97 28 0 0 11 16 59 226 3 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1082898432 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 105 30 0 0 12 17 64 246 3 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 257 377 - - 376 125 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 376 - - - -
          Stage 2 257 377 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 675 553 0 0 554 902 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 615 - - - -
          Stage 2 725 614 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 651 553 - - 554 902 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 651 553 - - 554 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 615 - - - -
          Stage 2 697 614 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 12.3 10.2
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 626 718
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.217 0.041
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 12.3 10.2
HCM Lane LOS - - - B B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.8 0.1



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
5: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr/Driveway B Existing PM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 100 102 7 63 0 0 0 0 25 116 24
Future Vol, veh/h 0 100 102 7 63 0 0 0 0 25 116 24
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - Free
Storage Length - - 0 - - - - - - - - 85
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 109 111 8 68 0 0 0 0 27 126 26
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 180 63 172 180 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 180 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 172 180 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 713 988 775 713 0 - - 0
          Stage 1 0 749 - - - 0 - - 0
          Stage 2 0 - - 813 749 0 - - 0
Platoon blocked, % -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 713 988 608 713 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 713 - 608 713 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 749 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 617 749 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10 10.8
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) 713 988 701 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.152 0.112 0.109 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11 9.1 10.8 - -
HCM Lane LOS B A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 0.4 0.4 - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
6: Brentwood Blvd & Thoroughbred Ln Existing PM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 8

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 19 315 24 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 19 315 24 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - 0 - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - -1083488256
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 21 342 26 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All - 184 0 0
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.94 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 3.32 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 827 - -
          Stage 1 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 827 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
 

Approach WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.5 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - 827
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.025
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 9.5
HCM Lane LOS - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.1



Queues East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Existing PM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 9

Lane Group EBL EBT WBL WBT NBT NBR
Lane Group Flow (vph) 3 1515 120 1233 59 304
v/c Ratio 0.01 0.58 0.40 0.41 0.51 0.48
Control Delay 3.3 11.2 6.1 4.3 81.1 16.7
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 3.3 11.2 6.1 4.3 81.1 16.7
Queue Length 50th (ft) 0 338 16 123 57 42
Queue Length 95th (ft) 2 504 32 276 105 86
Internal Link Dist (ft) 778 1004 161
Turn Bay Length (ft) 125 305
Base Capacity (vph) 405 2623 413 3012 188 820
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.01 0.58 0.29 0.41 0.31 0.37

Intersection Summary



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Existing PM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 10

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 3 1362 32 110 1134 0 54 0 280 0 0
Future Volume (vph) 3 1362 32 110 1134 0 54 0 280 0 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.88
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1770 3527 1770 3539 1770 2787
Flt Permitted 0.22 1.00 0.12 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 419 3527 232 3539 1770 2787
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 3 1480 35 120 1233 0 59 0 304 0 0
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 188 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 3 1515 0 120 1233 0 0 59 116 0 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA Prot Split NA custom Split
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 6 4 4 1 3 3
Permitted Phases 2 6 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 111.1 110.1 127.3 119.3 8.7 18.9
Effective Green, g (s) 111.1 110.1 127.3 119.3 8.7 18.9
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.74 0.73 0.85 0.80 0.06 0.13
Clearance Time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 3.0 2.5 3.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 319 2588 301 2814 102 481
v/s Ratio Prot 0.00 c0.43 c0.03 c0.35 c0.03 0.02
v/s Ratio Perm 0.01 0.31 0.03
v/c Ratio 0.01 0.59 0.40 0.44 0.58 0.24
Uniform Delay, d1 5.1 9.3 7.2 4.8 68.9 59.1
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 0.93
Incremental Delay, d2 0.0 1.0 0.6 0.5 6.4 0.2
Delay (s) 5.1 10.3 7.9 5.3 74.4 55.4
Level of Service A B A A E E
Approach Delay (s) 10.3 5.5 58.5 0.0
Approach LOS B A E A

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 13.7 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.61
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 150.0 Sum of lost time (s) 28.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 66.4% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
8: Maryland Way & Driveway C Existing PM

04/06/2022 Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 12

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 8 1393 664 14 10 17
Future Vol, veh/h 8 1393 664 14 10 17
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 60 - - 70 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 9 1514 722 15 11 18
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 737 0 - 0 1497 361
          Stage 1 - - - - 722 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 775 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - 6.84 6.94
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.84 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.84 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.22 - - - 3.52 3.32
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 865 - - - 113 636
          Stage 1 - - - - 442 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 415 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 865 - - - 112 636
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 112 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 438 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 415 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0 22.7
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 865 - - - 233
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.01 - - - 0.126
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.2 - - - 22.7
HCM Lane LOS A - - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0.4



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

BACKGROUND CONDITIONS 

CAPACITY ANALYSES 

 

  



Queues East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT WBT SEL SER
Lane Group Flow (vph) 74 620 1503 61 199
v/c Ratio 0.28 0.21 0.57 0.43 0.65
Control Delay 5.2 2.9 9.2 61.8 28.6
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 5.2 2.9 9.2 61.8 28.6
Queue Length 50th (ft) 10 50 291 57 88
Queue Length 95th (ft) 22 77 405 m73 m123
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1063 451 268
Turn Bay Length (ft) 165
Base Capacity (vph) 336 2926 2637 195 346
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.22 0.21 0.57 0.31 0.58

Intersection Summary
m    Volume for 95th percentile queue is metered by upstream signal.



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR SEL SER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 68 570 1240 143 0 0 56 183
Future Volume (vph) 68 570 1240 143 0 0 56 183
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1770 3539 3484 1770 1583
Flt Permitted 0.13 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 242 3539 3484 1770 1583
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 74 620 1348 155 0 0 61 199
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 178
Lane Group Flow (vph) 74 620 1503 0 0 0 61 21
Turn Type pm+pt NA NA Prot Prot
Protected Phases 1 6 2 4 4
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 115.8 115.8 104.7 11.2 11.2
Effective Green, g (s) 115.8 115.8 104.7 11.2 11.2
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.83 0.83 0.75 0.08 0.08
Clearance Time (s) 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 250 2927 2605 141 126
v/s Ratio Prot 0.01 c0.18 c0.43 c0.03 0.01
v/s Ratio Perm 0.23
v/c Ratio 0.30 0.21 0.58 0.43 0.17
Uniform Delay, d1 5.7 2.5 7.8 61.4 60.1
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.91 2.37
Incremental Delay, d2 0.2 0.2 0.9 2.1 0.6
Delay (s) 6.0 2.7 8.8 58.0 142.7
Level of Service A A A E F
Approach Delay (s) 3.1 8.8 0.0 122.8
Approach LOS A A A F

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 19.2 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.56
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 140.0 Sum of lost time (s) 19.5
Intersection Capacity Utilization 65.1% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 3

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR SEL SER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 68 570 1240 143 0 0 56 183
Future Volume (veh/h) 68 570 1240 143 0 0 56 183
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 74 620 1348 155 61 199
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 289 2830 2302 263 197 175
Arrive On Green 0.03 0.80 0.72 0.72 0.11 0.11
Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 3647 3307 367 1781 1585
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 74 620 742 761 61 199
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1777 1777 1804 1781 1585
Q Serve(g_s), s 1.4 6.0 28.5 29.0 4.4 15.5
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 1.4 6.0 28.5 29.0 4.4 15.5
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.20 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 289 2830 1273 1292 197 175
V/C Ratio(X) 0.26 0.22 0.58 0.59 0.31 1.13
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 388 2830 1273 1292 197 175
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 8.4 3.5 9.7 9.7 57.3 62.2
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.2 0.2 2.0 2.0 1.3 108.5
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.5 1.8 10.5 10.9 2.1 11.5
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 8.6 3.7 11.6 11.7 58.6 170.8
LnGrp LOS A A B B E F
Approach Vol, veh/h 694 1503 260
Approach Delay, s/veh 4.2 11.7 144.4
Approach LOS A B F

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 11.2 106.8 22.0 118.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 12.5 92.5 15.5 111.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 3.4 31.0 17.5 8.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 25.1 0.0 6.8

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 23.6
HCM 6th LOS C

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
2: Brentwood Blvd & Driveway A Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 16 14 0 0 1 1 50 159 2 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 16 14 0 0 1 1 50 159 2 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1081257984 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 17 15 0 0 1 1 54 173 2 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 195 283 - - 282 88 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 282 - - - -
          Stage 2 195 283 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 747 625 0 0 625 953 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 676 - - - -
          Stage 2 788 676 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 746 625 - - 625 953 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 746 625 - - 625 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 676 - - - -
          Stage 2 786 676 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.5 9.8
HCM LOS B A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 684 755
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.048 0.003
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 10.5 9.8
HCM Lane LOS - - - B A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.1 0



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
3: Brentwood Blvd & Juris Ln/Driveway A Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 16 9 1 50 0 0 0 0 14 228 74
Future Vol, veh/h 0 16 9 1 50 0 0 0 0 14 228 74
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 17 10 1 54 0 0 0 0 15 248 80
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 318 164 163 358 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 318 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 163 358 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 597 852 786 567 0 - - -
          Stage 1 0 652 - - - 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - 823 626 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 597 852 760 567 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 597 - 760 567 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 652 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 792 626 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.6 12
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 669 570 - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.041 0.097 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.6 12 - - -
HCM Lane LOS B B - - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 0.3 - - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
4: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr/Driveway B Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 30 22 0 0 6 3 75 95 6 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 30 22 0 0 6 3 75 95 6 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1082898432 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 33 24 0 0 7 3 82 103 7 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 219 274 - - 271 55 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 271 - - - -
          Stage 2 219 274 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 718 632 0 0 634 1000 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 684 - - - -
          Stage 2 763 682 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 710 632 - - 634 1000 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 710 632 - - 634 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 684 - - - -
          Stage 2 753 682 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.8 10.1
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 675 722
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.084 0.014
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 10.8 10.1
HCM Lane LOS - - - B B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.3 0



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
5: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 33 41 0 81 0 0 0 0 19 275 91
Future Vol, veh/h 0 33 41 0 81 0 0 0 0 19 275 91
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - Free
Storage Length - - 0 - - - - - - - - 85
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 36 45 0 88 0 0 0 0 21 299 99
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 341 150 210 341 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 341 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 210 341 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 580 870 729 580 0 - - 0
          Stage 1 0 637 - - - 0 - - 0
          Stage 2 0 - - 773 637 0 - - 0
Platoon blocked, % -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 580 870 659 580 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 580 - 659 580 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 637 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 692 637 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.4 12.3
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) 580 870 580 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.062 0.051 0.152 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.6 9.4 12.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS B A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 0.2 0.5 - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
6: Brentwood Blvd & Thoroughbred Ln Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 8

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 5 112 16 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 5 112 16 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - 0 - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - -1083488256
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 5 122 17 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All - 70 0 0
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.94 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 3.32 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 978 - -
          Stage 1 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 978 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
 

Approach WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.7 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - 978
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.006
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 8.7
HCM Lane LOS - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0



Queues East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 9

Lane Group EBT WBL WBT WBR NBT NBR SBT
Lane Group Flow (vph) 1514 390 1851 2 28 98 1
v/c Ratio 0.69 0.90 0.59 0.00 0.31 0.12 0.02
Control Delay 21.6 60.1 5.0 0.0 77.3 6.7 65.0
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 21.6 60.1 5.0 0.0 77.3 6.7 65.0
Queue Length 50th (ft) 476 257 214 0 25 0 1
Queue Length 95th (ft) 726 #476 494 0 60 22 7
Internal Link Dist (ft) 778 1004 161 195
Turn Bay Length (ft) 305 60
Base Capacity (vph) 2200 435 3139 1420 113 790 85
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.69 0.90 0.59 0.00 0.25 0.12 0.01

Intersection Summary
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 10

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 1356 37 359 1703 2 26 0 90 0 0 1
Future Volume (vph) 0 1356 37 359 1703 2 26 0 90 0 0 1
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.88 0.95
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3525 1770 3539 1583 1770 2787 1504
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.07 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3525 139 3539 1583 1770 2787 1504
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 1474 40 390 1851 2 28 0 98 0 0 1
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 76 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 1514 0 390 1851 2 0 28 22 0 1 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA Prot Split NA custom Split NA
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 6 4 4 1 3 3
Permitted Phases 2 6 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 79.0 113.0 113.0 113.0 4.9 31.9 1.1
Effective Green, g (s) 79.0 113.0 113.0 113.0 4.9 31.9 1.1
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.56 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.04 0.23 0.01
Clearance Time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 2.5 3.0 3.0 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1989 426 2856 1277 61 774 11
v/s Ratio Prot 0.43 c0.18 0.52 0.00 c0.02 0.01 c0.00
v/s Ratio Perm c0.56 0.00
v/c Ratio 0.76 0.92 0.65 0.00 0.46 0.03 0.09
Uniform Delay, d1 23.3 42.4 5.5 2.6 66.3 42.0 69.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.07 1.00 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 2.8 24.0 1.2 0.0 3.9 0.0 2.6
Delay (s) 26.1 66.4 6.6 2.6 74.9 42.2 71.6
Level of Service C E A A E D E
Approach Delay (s) 26.1 17.0 49.5 71.6
Approach LOS C B D E

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 21.6 HCM 2000 Level of Service C
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.91
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 140.0 Sum of lost time (s) 28.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 84.2% ICU Level of Service E
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 11

HCM 6th Edition methodology does not support more than 4 approaches.



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
8: Maryland Way & Driveway C Background AM

Background AM East Park TIS 3:39 pm 03/01/2022 Background AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 12

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 5 622 1375 29 7 8
Future Vol, veh/h 5 622 1375 29 7 8
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 60 - - 70 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 5 676 1495 32 8 9
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 1527 0 - 0 1843 748
          Stage 1 - - - - 1495 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 348 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - 6.84 6.94
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.84 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.84 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.22 - - - 3.52 3.32
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 432 - - - 67 355
          Stage 1 - - - - 172 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 686 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 432 - - - 66 355
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 66 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 170 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 686 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0 40.7
HCM LOS E
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 432 - - - 117
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - - - 0.139
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.4 - - - 40.7
HCM Lane LOS B - - - E
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0.5



Queues East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT WBT SEL SER
Lane Group Flow (vph) 166 1555 903 216 103
v/c Ratio 0.38 0.58 0.39 0.77 0.31
Control Delay 8.0 9.5 13.0 77.1 10.0
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 8.0 9.5 13.0 77.1 10.0
Queue Length 50th (ft) 40 318 205 195 0
Queue Length 95th (ft) 70 417 275 253 41
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1063 451 268
Turn Bay Length (ft) 165
Base Capacity (vph) 448 2674 2293 336 384
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.37 0.58 0.39 0.64 0.27

Intersection Summary



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR SEL SER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 153 1431 740 91 0 0 199 95
Future Volume (vph) 153 1431 740 91 0 0 199 95
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1770 3539 3481 1770 1583
Flt Permitted 0.26 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 485 3539 3481 1770 1583
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 166 1555 804 99 0 0 216 103
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 87
Lane Group Flow (vph) 166 1555 903 0 0 0 216 16
Turn Type pm+pt NA NA Prot Prot
Protected Phases 1 6 2 4 4
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 113.4 113.4 98.8 23.6 23.6
Effective Green, g (s) 113.4 113.4 98.8 23.6 23.6
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.76 0.76 0.66 0.16 0.16
Clearance Time (s) 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 436 2675 2292 278 249
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02 c0.44 0.26 c0.12 0.01
v/s Ratio Perm 0.27
v/c Ratio 0.38 0.58 0.39 0.78 0.07
Uniform Delay, d1 6.5 8.0 11.8 60.7 53.8
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.97 0.85
Incremental Delay, d2 0.2 0.9 0.5 13.5 0.2
Delay (s) 6.7 8.9 12.3 72.3 45.9
Level of Service A A B E D
Approach Delay (s) 8.7 12.3 0.0 63.8
Approach LOS A B A E

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 15.8 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.65
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 150.0 Sum of lost time (s) 19.5
Intersection Capacity Utilization 61.4% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 3

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR SEL SER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 153 1431 740 91 0 0 199 95
Future Volume (veh/h) 153 1431 740 91 0 0 199 95
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 166 1555 804 99 216 103
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 481 2752 2201 271 247 220
Arrive On Green 0.04 0.77 0.69 0.69 0.14 0.14
Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 3647 3278 392 1781 1585
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 166 1555 449 454 216 103
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1777 1777 1800 1781 1585
Q Serve(g_s), s 3.9 26.3 15.6 15.7 17.8 9.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 3.9 26.3 15.6 15.7 17.8 9.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.22 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 481 2752 1228 1244 247 220
V/C Ratio(X) 0.34 0.57 0.37 0.37 0.87 0.47
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 523 2752 1228 1244 338 301
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 6.8 6.8 9.6 9.6 63.3 59.5
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.2 0.8 0.8 0.8 18.8 2.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.3 8.7 6.0 6.1 9.4 3.8
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 7.0 7.6 10.4 10.4 82.1 61.7
LnGrp LOS A A B B F E
Approach Vol, veh/h 1721 903 319
Approach Delay, s/veh 7.6 10.4 75.5
Approach LOS A B E

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 12.5 110.2 27.3 122.7
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 9.5 92.5 28.5 108.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 5.9 17.7 19.8 28.3
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.1 10.3 1.0 30.5

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 15.8
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
2: Brentwood Blvd & Driveway A Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 73 1 0 0 3 15 3 241 0 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 73 1 0 0 3 15 3 241 0 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1081257984 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 79 1 0 0 3 16 3 262 0 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 139 268 - - 268 131 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 268 - - - -
          Stage 2 139 268 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 818 637 0 0 637 894 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 686 - - - -
          Stage 2 850 686 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 800 637 - - 637 894 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 800 637 - - 637 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 686 - - - -
          Stage 2 831 686 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 10 9.4
HCM LOS B A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 797 838
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.101 0.023
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 10 9.4
HCM Lane LOS - - - B A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.3 0.1



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
3: Brentwood Blvd & Juris Ln/Driveway A Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 73 45 3 3 0 0 0 0 1 245 10
Future Vol, veh/h 0 73 45 3 3 0 0 0 0 1 245 10
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 79 49 3 3 0 0 0 0 1 266 11
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 274 139 175 279 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 274 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 175 279 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 632 884 771 628 0 - - -
          Stage 1 0 682 - - - 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - 810 678 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 632 884 658 628 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 632 - 658 628 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 682 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 676 678 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.2 10.7
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 709 643 - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.181 0.01 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.2 10.7 - - -
HCM Lane LOS B B - - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.7 0 - - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
4: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr/Driveway B Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 111 32 0 0 13 18 67 258 3 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 111 32 0 0 13 18 67 258 3 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1082898432 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 121 35 0 0 14 20 73 280 3 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 293 429 - - 428 142 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 428 - - - -
          Stage 2 293 429 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 637 517 0 0 518 880 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 583 - - - -
          Stage 2 691 582 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 610 517 - - 518 880 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 610 517 - - 518 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 583 - - - -
          Stage 2 659 582 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 13.3 10.6
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 586 681
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.265 0.049
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 13.3 10.6
HCM Lane LOS - - - B B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 1.1 0.2



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
5: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 114 116 8 72 0 0 0 0 29 132 27
Future Vol, veh/h 0 114 116 8 72 0 0 0 0 29 132 27
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - Free
Storage Length - - 0 - - - - - - - - 85
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 124 126 9 78 0 0 0 0 32 143 29
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 207 72 198 207 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 207 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 198 207 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 689 975 743 689 0 - - 0
          Stage 1 0 729 - - - 0 - - 0
          Stage 2 0 - - 785 729 0 - - 0
Platoon blocked, % -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 689 975 557 689 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 689 - 557 689 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 729 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 567 729 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.3 11.1
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) 689 975 673 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.18 0.129 0.129 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.4 9.2 11.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS B A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.7 0.4 0.4 - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
6: Brentwood Blvd & Thoroughbred Ln Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 8

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 22 359 27 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 22 359 27 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - 0 - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - -1083488256
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 24 390 29 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All - 210 0 0
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.94 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 3.32 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 796 - -
          Stage 1 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 796 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
 

Approach WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.7 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - 796
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.03
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 9.7
HCM Lane LOS - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.1



Queues East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 9

Lane Group EBL EBT WBL WBT NBT NBR
Lane Group Flow (vph) 3 1729 137 1407 67 348
v/c Ratio 0.01 0.67 0.52 0.47 0.54 0.52
Control Delay 3.7 14.5 14.8 5.0 81.5 22.5
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 3.7 14.5 14.8 5.0 81.5 22.5
Queue Length 50th (ft) 1 463 19 158 65 71
Queue Length 95th (ft) 2 687 78 348 116 115
Internal Link Dist (ft) 778 1004 161
Turn Bay Length (ft) 125 305
Base Capacity (vph) 343 2565 360 2998 188 818
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.01 0.67 0.38 0.47 0.36 0.43

Intersection Summary



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 10

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 3 1554 37 126 1294 0 62 0 320 0 0
Future Volume (vph) 3 1554 37 126 1294 0 62 0 320 0 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.88
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1770 3527 1770 3539 1770 2787
Flt Permitted 0.18 1.00 0.09 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 342 3527 159 3539 1770 2787
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 3 1689 40 137 1407 0 67 0 348 0 0
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 171 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 3 1729 0 137 1407 0 0 67 177 0 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA Prot Split NA custom Split
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 6 4 4 1 3 3
Permitted Phases 2 6 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 108.6 107.6 126.7 118.7 9.3 21.4
Effective Green, g (s) 108.6 107.6 126.7 118.7 9.3 21.4
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.72 0.72 0.84 0.79 0.06 0.14
Clearance Time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 3.0 2.5 3.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 257 2530 264 2800 109 527
v/s Ratio Prot 0.00 c0.49 c0.04 c0.40 c0.04 0.03
v/s Ratio Perm 0.01 0.40 0.04
v/c Ratio 0.01 0.68 0.52 0.50 0.61 0.33
Uniform Delay, d1 5.8 11.8 15.5 5.4 68.6 57.9
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.98 0.93
Incremental Delay, d2 0.0 1.5 1.3 0.6 8.5 0.3
Delay (s) 5.8 13.3 16.7 6.1 76.0 54.2
Level of Service A B B A E D
Approach Delay (s) 13.3 7.0 57.7 0.0
Approach LOS B A E A

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 15.6 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.71
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 150.0 Sum of lost time (s) 28.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 72.8% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 11

HCM 6th Edition methodology does not support more than 4 approaches.



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
8: Maryland Way & Driveway C Background PM

Background PM East Park TIS 4:19 pm 03/02/2022 Background PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 12

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 9 1621 812 16 11 19
Future Vol, veh/h 9 1621 812 16 11 19
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 60 - - 70 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 10 1762 883 17 12 21
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 900 0 - 0 1784 442
          Stage 1 - - - - 883 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 901 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - 6.84 6.94
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.84 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.84 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.22 - - - 3.52 3.32
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 751 - - - 73 563
          Stage 1 - - - - 365 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 357 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 751 - - - 72 563
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 72 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 360 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 357 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0 33
HCM LOS D
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 751 - - - 161
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - - - 0.203
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.9 - - - 33
HCM Lane LOS A - - - D
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0.7



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

PROJECTED CONDITIONS 

CAPACITY ANALYSES  

 

  



Queues East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT WBT SEL SER
Lane Group Flow (vph) 79 620 1533 83 202
v/c Ratio 0.32 0.21 0.60 0.53 0.64
Control Delay 6.1 3.1 10.7 65.1 26.7
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 6.1 3.1 10.7 65.1 26.7
Queue Length 50th (ft) 11 54 321 77 86
Queue Length 95th (ft) 23 77 423 m95 m112
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1063 451 268
Turn Bay Length (ft) 165
Base Capacity (vph) 321 2895 2538 195 346
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.25 0.21 0.60 0.43 0.58

Intersection Summary
m    Volume for 95th percentile queue is metered by upstream signal.



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR SEL SER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 73 570 1241 169 0 0 76 186
Future Volume (vph) 73 570 1241 169 0 0 76 186
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1770 3539 3475 1770 1583
Flt Permitted 0.12 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 224 3539 3475 1770 1583
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 79 620 1349 184 0 0 83 202
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 176
Lane Group Flow (vph) 79 620 1533 0 0 0 83 26
Turn Type pm+pt NA NA Prot Prot
Protected Phases 1 6 2 4 4
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 114.5 114.5 102.2 12.5 12.5
Effective Green, g (s) 114.5 114.5 102.2 12.5 12.5
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.82 0.82 0.73 0.09 0.09
Clearance Time (s) 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 247 2894 2536 158 141
v/s Ratio Prot 0.01 c0.18 c0.44 c0.05 0.02
v/s Ratio Perm 0.25
v/c Ratio 0.32 0.21 0.60 0.53 0.19
Uniform Delay, d1 6.9 2.8 9.1 60.9 59.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.93 2.15
Incremental Delay, d2 0.3 0.2 1.1 2.9 0.6
Delay (s) 7.2 3.0 10.2 59.5 127.8
Level of Service A A B E F
Approach Delay (s) 3.5 10.2 0.0 107.9
Approach LOS A B A F

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 19.4 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.58
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 140.0 Sum of lost time (s) 19.5
Intersection Capacity Utilization 65.9% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 3

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR SEL SER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 73 570 1241 169 0 0 76 186
Future Volume (veh/h) 73 570 1241 169 0 0 76 186
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 79 620 1349 184 83 202
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 281 2830 2252 305 197 175
Arrive On Green 0.03 0.80 0.72 0.72 0.11 0.11
Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 3647 3238 426 1781 1585
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 79 620 758 775 83 202
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1777 1777 1794 1781 1585
Q Serve(g_s), s 1.5 6.0 29.6 30.3 6.1 15.5
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 1.5 6.0 29.6 30.3 6.1 15.5
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.24 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 281 2830 1272 1284 197 175
V/C Ratio(X) 0.28 0.22 0.60 0.60 0.42 1.15
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 380 2830 1272 1284 197 175
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 8.9 3.5 9.8 9.9 58.1 62.2
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.2 0.2 2.1 2.1 2.0 114.4
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.6 1.8 10.9 11.3 2.9 11.8
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 9.1 3.7 11.9 12.1 60.1 176.7
LnGrp LOS A A B B E F
Approach Vol, veh/h 699 1533 285
Approach Delay, s/veh 4.3 12.0 142.7
Approach LOS A B F

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 11.3 106.7 22.0 118.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 12.5 92.5 15.5 111.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 3.5 32.3 17.5 8.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 25.9 0.0 6.8

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 24.7
HCM 6th LOS C

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
2: Brentwood Blvd & Driveway A Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 16 25 0 0 14 10 50 172 20 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 16 25 0 0 14 10 50 172 20 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1081257984 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 17 27 0 0 15 11 54 187 22 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 209 317 - - 306 105 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 306 - - - -
          Stage 2 209 317 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 730 598 0 0 606 929 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 660 - - - -
          Stage 2 774 653 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 707 598 - - 606 929 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 707 598 - - 606 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 660 - - - -
          Stage 2 747 653 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.1 10.3
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 636 709
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.07 0.037
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 11.1 10.3
HCM Lane LOS - - - B B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.2 0.1



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
3: Brentwood Blvd & Juris Ln/Driveway A Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.5

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 16 9 14 50 0 0 0 0 25 238 74
Future Vol, veh/h 0 16 9 14 50 0 0 0 0 25 238 74
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 17 10 15 54 0 0 0 0 27 259 80
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 353 170 192 393 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 353 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 192 393 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 571 844 750 542 0 - - -
          Stage 1 0 629 - - - 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - 791 604 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 571 844 724 542 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 571 - 724 542 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 629 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 760 604 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.8 12.1
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 646 574 - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.042 0.121 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.8 12.1 - - -
HCM Lane LOS B B - - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 0.4 - - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
4: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr/Driveway B Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 30 41 0 0 18 16 75 104 19 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 30 41 0 0 18 16 75 104 19 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1082898432 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 33 45 0 0 20 17 82 113 21 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 231 298 - - 288 67 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 288 - - - -
          Stage 2 231 298 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 704 613 0 0 621 983 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 672 - - - -
          Stage 2 751 666 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 675 613 - - 621 983 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 675 613 - - 621 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 672 - - - -
          Stage 2 716 666 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.4 10
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 638 751
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.121 0.049
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 11.4 10
HCM Lane LOS - - - B B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.4 0.2



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
5: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 36 41 10 83 0 0 0 0 35 286 91
Future Vol, veh/h 0 36 41 10 83 0 0 0 0 35 286 91
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - Free
Storage Length - - 0 - - - - - - - - 85
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 39 45 11 90 0 0 0 0 38 311 99
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 387 156 251 387 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 387 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 251 387 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 546 862 682 546 0 - - 0
          Stage 1 0 608 - - - 0 - - 0
          Stage 2 0 - - 731 608 0 - - 0
Platoon blocked, % -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 546 862 611 546 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 546 - 611 546 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 608 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 649 608 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.7 13
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) 546 862 552 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.072 0.052 0.183 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 12.1 9.4 13 - -
HCM Lane LOS B A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 0.2 0.7 - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
6: Brentwood Blvd & Thoroughbred Ln Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 8

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 5 134 16 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 5 134 16 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - 0 - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - -1083488256
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 5 146 17 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All - 82 0 0
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.94 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 3.32 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 961 - -
          Stage 1 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 961 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
 

Approach WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.8 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - 961
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.006
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 8.8
HCM Lane LOS - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0



Queues East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 9

Lane Group EBT WBL WBT WBR NBT NBR SBT
Lane Group Flow (vph) 1519 415 1851 2 33 117 1
v/c Ratio 0.69 0.96 0.59 0.00 0.36 0.14 0.02
Control Delay 21.8 72.7 5.0 0.0 78.0 6.3 65.0
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 21.8 72.7 5.0 0.0 78.0 6.3 65.0
Queue Length 50th (ft) 483 290 220 0 30 0 1
Queue Length 95th (ft) 731 #532 494 0 67 24 7
Internal Link Dist (ft) 778 1004 161 195
Turn Bay Length (ft) 305 60
Base Capacity (vph) 2196 433 3135 1418 113 808 85
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.69 0.96 0.59 0.00 0.29 0.14 0.01

Intersection Summary
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 10

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 0 1356 41 382 1703 2 30 0 108 0 0 1
Future Volume (vph) 0 1356 41 382 1703 2 30 0 108 0 0 1
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Lane Util. Factor 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.88 0.95
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.85 0.85
Flt Protected 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 3523 1770 3539 1583 1770 2787 1504
Flt Permitted 1.00 0.07 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 3523 137 3539 1583 1770 2787 1504
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 0 1474 45 415 1851 2 33 0 117 0 0 1
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 90 0 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 0 1519 0 415 1851 2 0 33 27 0 1 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA Prot Split NA custom Split NA
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 6 4 4 1 3 3
Permitted Phases 2 6 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 78.9 112.9 112.9 112.9 5.0 32.0 1.1
Effective Green, g (s) 78.9 112.9 112.9 112.9 5.0 32.0 1.1
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.56 0.81 0.81 0.81 0.04 0.23 0.01
Clearance Time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 2.5 3.0 3.0 2.5 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 1985 425 2853 1276 63 776 11
v/s Ratio Prot 0.43 c0.19 0.52 0.00 c0.02 0.01 c0.00
v/s Ratio Perm c0.60 0.00
v/c Ratio 0.77 0.98 0.65 0.00 0.52 0.03 0.09
Uniform Delay, d1 23.4 44.2 5.5 2.6 66.3 42.0 69.0
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.06 1.01 1.00
Incremental Delay, d2 2.9 37.1 1.2 0.0 5.9 0.0 2.6
Delay (s) 26.3 81.4 6.7 2.6 75.9 42.4 71.6
Level of Service C F A A E D E
Approach Delay (s) 26.3 20.3 49.8 71.6
Approach LOS C C D E

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 23.8 HCM 2000 Level of Service C
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.97
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 140.0 Sum of lost time (s) 28.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 85.8% ICU Level of Service E
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 11

HCM 6th Edition methodology does not support more than 4 approaches.



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
8: Maryland Way & Driveway C Projected AM

Projected AM East Park TIS 11:09 am 04/13/2022 Projected AM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 12

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 5 642 1401 32 9 9
Future Vol, veh/h 5 642 1401 32 9 9
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 60 - - 70 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 5 698 1523 35 10 10
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 1558 0 - 0 1882 762
          Stage 1 - - - - 1523 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 359 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - 6.84 6.94
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.84 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.84 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.22 - - - 3.52 3.32
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 421 - - - 63 347
          Stage 1 - - - - 166 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 677 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 421 - - - 62 347
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 62 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 164 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 677 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0 47
HCM LOS E
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 421 - - - 105
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - - - 0.186
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.7 - - - 47
HCM Lane LOS B - - - E
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 0.6



Queues East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT WBT SEL SER
Lane Group Flow (vph) 173 1555 934 240 107
v/c Ratio 0.41 0.59 0.42 0.82 0.30
Control Delay 8.8 10.1 13.9 78.0 8.6
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 8.8 10.1 13.9 78.0 8.6
Queue Length 50th (ft) 44 338 226 207 0
Queue Length 95th (ft) 72 417 288 272 37
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1063 451 268
Turn Bay Length (ft) 165
Base Capacity (vph) 428 2643 2247 336 387
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.40 0.59 0.42 0.71 0.28

Intersection Summary



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 2

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR SEL SER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 159 1431 741 119 0 0 221 98
Future Volume (vph) 159 1431 741 119 0 0 221 98
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 1.00
Frt 1.00 1.00 0.98 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1770 3539 3466 1770 1583
Flt Permitted 0.25 1.00 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 461 3539 3466 1770 1583
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 173 1555 805 129 0 0 240 107
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 89
Lane Group Flow (vph) 173 1555 934 0 0 0 240 18
Turn Type pm+pt NA NA Prot Prot
Protected Phases 1 6 2 4 4
Permitted Phases 6
Actuated Green, G (s) 112.1 112.1 97.3 24.9 24.9
Effective Green, g (s) 112.1 112.1 97.3 24.9 24.9
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.75 0.75 0.65 0.17 0.17
Clearance Time (s) 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 416 2644 2248 293 262
v/s Ratio Prot 0.02 c0.44 0.27 c0.14 0.01
v/s Ratio Perm 0.29
v/c Ratio 0.42 0.59 0.42 0.82 0.07
Uniform Delay, d1 7.2 8.5 12.7 60.4 52.8
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.94 0.73
Incremental Delay, d2 0.2 1.0 0.6 16.9 0.1
Delay (s) 7.4 9.5 13.2 73.6 38.7
Level of Service A A B E D
Approach Delay (s) 9.3 13.2 0.0 62.9
Approach LOS A B A E

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 16.7 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.66
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 150.0 Sum of lost time (s) 19.5
Intersection Capacity Utilization 62.6% ICU Level of Service B
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary East Park TIS
1: Maryland Way & Brentwood Blvd Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 3

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR SEL SER
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 159 1431 741 119 0 0 221 98
Future Volume (veh/h) 159 1431 741 119 0 0 221 98
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 173 1555 805 129 240 107
Peak Hour Factor 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 460 2707 2072 332 270 240
Arrive On Green 0.04 0.76 0.68 0.68 0.15 0.15
Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 3647 3161 491 1781 1585
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 173 1555 466 468 240 107
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1777 1777 1782 1781 1585
Q Serve(g_s), s 4.3 27.8 17.3 17.3 19.8 9.2
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 4.3 27.8 17.3 17.3 19.8 9.2
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.28 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 460 2707 1201 1204 270 240
V/C Ratio(X) 0.38 0.57 0.39 0.39 0.89 0.44
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 497 2707 1201 1204 338 301
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 7.7 7.6 10.7 10.7 62.4 57.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.2 0.9 0.9 0.9 22.0 1.8
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.5 9.5 6.8 6.8 10.7 3.8
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 7.9 8.5 11.6 11.6 84.4 59.7
LnGrp LOS A A B B F E
Approach Vol, veh/h 1728 934 347
Approach Delay, s/veh 8.4 11.6 76.8
Approach LOS A B E

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 12.9 107.9 29.3 120.7
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 9.5 92.5 28.5 108.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 6.3 19.3 21.8 29.8
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.1 10.9 0.9 30.3

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 17.3
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
2: Brentwood Blvd & Driveway A Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 73 13 0 0 17 25 3 255 20 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 73 13 0 0 17 25 3 255 20 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1081257984 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 79 14 0 0 18 27 3 277 22 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 154 305 - - 294 150 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 294 - - - -
          Stage 2 154 305 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 798 607 0 0 616 870 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 668 - - - -
          Stage 2 833 661 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 756 607 - - 616 870 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 756 607 - - 616 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 668 - - - -
          Stage 2 785 661 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.7 10.1
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 729 746
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.128 0.061
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 10.7 10.1
HCM Lane LOS - - - B B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0.4 0.2



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
3: Brentwood Blvd & Juris Ln/Driveway A Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 73 45 17 3 0 0 0 0 13 256 10
Future Vol, veh/h 0 73 45 17 3 0 0 0 0 13 256 10
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 79 49 18 3 0 0 0 0 14 278 11
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 312 145 207 317 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 312 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 207 317 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 602 876 732 598 0 - - -
          Stage 1 0 656 - - - 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - 776 653 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 602 876 621 598 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 602 - 621 598 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 656 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 644 653 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.5 11
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 684 617 - - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.188 0.035 - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 11.5 11 - - -
HCM Lane LOS B B - - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.7 0.1 - - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
4: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr/Driveway B Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 111 53 0 0 27 32 67 268 17 0 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 111 53 0 0 27 32 67 268 17 0 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - -1082898432 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 121 58 0 0 29 35 73 291 18 0 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All 306 455 - - 446 155 0 0 0
          Stage 1 0 0 - - 446 - - - -
          Stage 2 306 455 - - 0 - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.54 6.54 - - 6.54 6.94 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.54 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.54 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.52 4.02 - - 4.02 3.32 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 623 500 0 0 506 863 - - -
          Stage 1 - - 0 0 572 - - - -
          Stage 2 679 567 0 0 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 571 500 - - 506 863 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 571 500 - - 506 - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - 572 - - - -
          Stage 2 618 567 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.8 11.1
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 546 652
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.326 0.098
HCM Control Delay (s) - - - 14.8 11.1
HCM Lane LOS - - - B B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 1.4 0.3



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
5: Brentwood Blvd & Cadillac Dr Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 7

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 117 116 19 75 0 0 0 0 47 144 27
Future Vol, veh/h 0 117 116 19 75 0 0 0 0 47 144 27
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - Free
Storage Length - - 0 - - - - - - - - 85
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 127 126 21 82 0 0 0 0 51 157 29
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 259 79 244 259 - 0 0 0
          Stage 1 - 259 - 0 0 - - - -
          Stage 2 - 0 - 244 259 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.54 6.94 7.54 6.54 - 4.14 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - 6.54 5.54 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 4.02 3.32 3.52 4.02 - 2.22 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 644 965 690 644 0 - - 0
          Stage 1 0 692 - - - 0 - - 0
          Stage 2 0 - - 738 692 0 - - 0
Platoon blocked, % -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 644 965 509 644 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - 644 - 509 644 - - - -
          Stage 1 - 692 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - 524 692 - - - -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.7 12.1
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) 644 965 611 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.197 0.131 0.167 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 12 9.3 12.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS B A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.7 0.4 0.6 - -



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
6: Brentwood Blvd & Thoroughbred Ln Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 8

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 22 383 27 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 22 383 27 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - 0 - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - -1083488256
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 24 416 29 0 0
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1
Conflicting Flow All - 223 0 0
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.94 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 3.32 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 780 - -
          Stage 1 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 780 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - -
 

Approach WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.8 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) - - 780
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.031
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 9.8
HCM Lane LOS - - A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.1



Queues East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 9

Lane Group EBL EBT WBL WBT NBT NBR
Lane Group Flow (vph) 3 1735 164 1407 72 370
v/c Ratio 0.01 0.71 0.60 0.49 0.56 0.49
Control Delay 4.3 17.4 24.2 5.6 81.9 22.6
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 4.3 17.4 24.2 5.6 81.9 22.6
Queue Length 50th (ft) 1 502 40 162 69 80
Queue Length 95th (ft) 3 741 121 353 121 125
Internal Link Dist (ft) 778 1004 161
Turn Bay Length (ft) 125 305
Base Capacity (vph) 333 2441 348 2892 188 871
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.01 0.71 0.47 0.49 0.38 0.42

Intersection Summary



HCM Signalized Intersection Capacity Analysis East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 10

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 3 1554 42 151 1294 0 66 0 340 0 0
Future Volume (vph) 3 1554 42 151 1294 0 66 0 340 0 0
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Total Lost time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.88
Frt 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.85
Flt Protected 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (prot) 1770 3525 1770 3539 1770 2787
Flt Permitted 0.19 1.00 0.08 1.00 0.95 1.00
Satd. Flow (perm) 345 3525 145 3539 1770 2787
Peak-hour factor, PHF 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92
Adj. Flow (vph) 3 1689 46 164 1407 0 72 0 370 0 0
RTOR Reduction (vph) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 167 0 0
Lane Group Flow (vph) 3 1735 0 164 1407 0 0 72 203 0 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA Prot Split NA custom Split
Protected Phases 5 2 1 6 6 4 4 1 3 3
Permitted Phases 2 6 4
Actuated Green, G (s) 104.9 103.9 125.0 117.0 11.0 25.1
Effective Green, g (s) 104.9 103.9 125.0 117.0 11.0 25.1
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.70 0.69 0.83 0.78 0.07 0.17
Clearance Time (s) 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0
Vehicle Extension (s) 2.5 3.0 2.5 3.0 2.5 2.5
Lane Grp Cap (vph) 250 2441 273 2760 129 596
v/s Ratio Prot 0.00 c0.49 c0.06 c0.40 c0.04 0.03
v/s Ratio Perm 0.01 0.44 0.04
v/c Ratio 0.01 0.71 0.60 0.51 0.56 0.34
Uniform Delay, d1 6.8 14.0 24.9 6.0 67.2 55.2
Progression Factor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.99 0.94
Incremental Delay, d2 0.0 1.8 3.1 0.7 4.1 0.2
Delay (s) 6.8 15.7 28.0 6.7 70.4 51.9
Level of Service A B C A E D
Approach Delay (s) 15.7 8.9 54.9 0.0
Approach LOS B A D A

Intersection Summary
HCM 2000 Control Delay 17.5 HCM 2000 Level of Service B
HCM 2000 Volume to Capacity ratio 0.73
Actuated Cycle Length (s) 150.0 Sum of lost time (s) 28.0
Intersection Capacity Utilization 74.3% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15
c    Critical Lane Group



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary East Park TIS
7: Brentwood Blvd & Old Hickory Blvd & Private Dr Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 11

HCM 6th Edition methodology does not support more than 4 approaches.



HCM 6th TWSC East Park TIS
8: Maryland Way & Driveway C Projected PM

Projected PM East Park TIS 11:19 am 04/13/2022 Projected PM Synchro 11 Report
KCI Technologies, Inc. Page 12

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 9 1643 840 19 14 20
Future Vol, veh/h 9 1643 840 19 14 20
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 60 - - 70 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 10 1786 913 21 15 22
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 934 0 - 0 1826 457
          Stage 1 - - - - 913 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 913 -
Critical Hdwy 4.14 - - - 6.84 6.94
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.84 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.84 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.22 - - - 3.52 3.32
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 729 - - - 68 551
          Stage 1 - - - - 352 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 352 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 729 - - - 67 551
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 67 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 347 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 352 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0 40
HCM LOS E
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 729 - - - 139
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - - - 0.266
HCM Control Delay (s) 10 - - - 40
HCM Lane LOS B - - - E
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - - 1



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

APPENDIX G 

BACKGROUND DEVELOPMENTS 

 

  



710 ITE Land Code

124.5 k.s.f.

Average Daily Traffic:

A.M. Peak Hour:

Enter = 166 88%
Exit = 23 12%

P.M. Peak Hour:

Enter = 30 17%
Exit = 149 83%

T = 179
T = 1.44 * (124.5)

TRIP GENERATION

T = 10.84 * (X)

T = 1350

T = 1.52 * (X)

T = 189

T = 10.84 * (124.5)

T = 1.52 * (124.5)

Office

T = 1.44 * (X)



822 ITE Land Code

41.5 k.s.f.

Average Daily Traffic:

A.M. Peak Hour:

Enter = 59 60%
Exit = 39 40%

P.M. Peak Hour:

Enter = 137 50%
Exit = 137 50%

T = 2.36 * (X)
T = 2.36 * (41.5)

T = 98

T = 6.59 * (X)
T = 6.59 * (41.5)

T = 273

T = 2260

TRIP GENERATION

Strip Retail Plaza

T = 54.45 * (X)
T = 54.45 * (41.5)





East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

APPENDIX H 

TRIP GENERATION CALCULATIONS 

 

  



310 ITE Land Code

120 Rooms

Average Daily Traffic:

A.M. Peak Hour:

Enter = 30 56%

Exit = 23 44%

P.M. Peak Hour:

Enter = 36 51%

Exit = 35 49%

T = 71

T = 0.59 * (120)

TRIP GENERATION

T = 10.84 * (X) - 423.51

T = 877

T = 0.50 * (X) - 7.45

T = 53

T = 10.84 * (120) - 423.51

T = 0.50 * (120) - 7.45

Hotel

T = 0.59 * (X)



932 ITE Land Code

7 k.s.f.

Average Daily Traffic:

A.M. Peak Hour:

Enter = 37 55%

Exit = 30 45%

P.M. Peak Hour:

Enter = 38 61%

Exit = 25 39%

T = 750

TRIP GENERATION

High-Turnover (Sit-Down) Restaurant

T = 107.20 * (X)

T = 107.20 * (7)

T = 9.57 * (X)

T = 9.57 * (7)

T = 67

T = 9.05 * (X)

T = 9.05 * (7)

T = 63



East Park – Traffic Impact Study  April 2022 

  PROJECT# 892200721 

APPENDIX I 

WARRANT ANALYSIS 

 

 



VR* VA*
Warrant 

Met?
VR* VA*

Warrant 
Met?

Brentwood Blvd and     Driveway 
A

30 20 242 NO 20 278 NO

Brentwood Blvd and     Driveway 
B

30 19 198 NO 17 352 NO

VR = Right Turn Volumes, VA = Advancing Volumes

Projected Conditions (Peak Hours)
RIGHT-TURN LANE WARRANT ANALYSIS

(Based on NCHRP 457: Evaluating Intersection Improvements)

Intersection Approach
AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour

Speed 
Limit

AM Peak Hour
PM Peak Hour



Minor 
Road 

Volume

Major 
Road 

Volume

2-Lane 
Approach?

Minor 
Road 

Volume

Major 
Road 

Volume

2-Lane 
Approach?

Brentwood Blvd and     Driveway 
A

24 242 NO 42 278 NO

Brentwood Blvd and     Driveway 
B

34 198 NO 59 352 NO

Maryland Way and      Driveway 
C

18 2080 NO 34 2511 NO

Projected Conditions (Peak Hours)

Approach - Intersection

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour

(Based on Intersection Channelization Design Guide)
MINOR APPROACH ANALYSES

AM Peak Hour
PM Peak Hour



KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.  //  500 11TH AVENUE NORTH, NASHVILLE, TN 37203  //  KCI.COM 

SHARED PARKING STUDY 
EAST PARK 

BRENTWOOD, TENNESSEE 

PREPARED FOR: 
KISER VOGRIN DESIGN 

APRIL 2022 

Project 
 Site 



 

 
SHARED PARKING STUDY 

EAST PARK 
NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PREPARED FOR: 
KISER VOGRIN DESIGN 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

PREPARED BY: 
KCI TECHNOLOGIES, INC 

500 11th Avenue North, Suite 290 
Nashville, TN 37203 

615.370.8410 office   615.370.8455 fax 
www.kci.com

 

4/12/22 



East Park - Shared Parking Study  April 2022 

  Project #892106365 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.   INTRODUCTION AND PROJECT DESCRIPTION .............................................................. 1 

2.   PARKING ANALYSIS ................................................................................................................ 3 

2.1 Zoning Ordinance Requirements ..................................................................................... 3 

2.2 Shared Parking Analysis ..................................................................................................... 4 

3.   CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS........................................................................ 7 

APPENDIX  ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

 

LIST OF FIGURES 
 

FIGURE 1. LOCATION OF THE STUDY AREA ............................................................................... 2 
 

LIST OF TABLES 

TABLE 1. PARKING DEMAND BASED ON METRO NASHVILLE’S CODE OF ORDINANCES
 ................................................................................................................................................................... 3 
TABLE 2. SHARED PARKING MODEL – PROJECTED PARKING DEMAND .......................... 6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



East Park - Shared Parking Study  April 2022 

 -1 of 8- Project #892106365 

1.   INTRODUCTION AND PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
The purpose of this study is to complete an analysis to determine the minimum 
number of parking spaces required to accommodate the combined land uses 
associated with the proposed East Park development. As shown by Figure 1, the study 
area is located on the east side of Brentwood Boulevard and north of Maryland Way 
in Brentwood, Tennessee. 

 
According to the developer, the development will includes an existing 87,917 square 
foot office building and an existing 80,263 square foot office building that will remain.  
The proposed development will include approximately 7,000 square feet of restaurant 
space and 120 hotel rooms.  
 
The purpose of this study is to determine the projected parking demand of the 
combined land uses.  Since the proposed site will include a mix of land uses, the peak 
parking demand for each use will not occur at the same time.  Parking rate information 
from the City of Brentwood’s Code of Ordinances as well as typical parking patterns 
and data presented in Shared Parking, 3rd Edition, published by the Urban Land 
Institute (ULI) were utilized to determine the peak parking demand of the site.   
 
  
  



East Park - Shared Parking Study  April 2022 

 -2 of 8- Project #892106365 

FIGURE 1. LOCATION OF THE STUDY AREA 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Project  
  Site 



East Park - Shared Parking Study  April 2022 

 -3 of 8- Project #892106365 

2.   PARKING ANALYSIS 
 
2.1 Zoning Ordinance Requirements 
 
The City of Brentwood’s Code of Ordinances contains parking space requirements for 
specific land uses that do not account for shared parking that may occur with a mix of 
land uses.  This ordinance was reviewed to determine the parking that would be 
required for the proposed land uses if no adjustments for shared parking were made. 
The results of these calculations are shown in Table 1.  
 

TABLE 1. PARKING DEMAND BASED ON CITY OF BRENTWOOD’S CODE OF 
ORDINANCES 

LAND USE SIZE PARKING RATE PER 
ZONING ORDINANCE 

UNADJUSTED 
PARKING 
DEMAND 

Office 168,180 s.f. 1 space per 300 s.f. 561 spaces 

Hotel 120 rooms 
1 space per room, plus 
1 space per employee 
on the maximum shift 

130 spaces 

Restaurant  7,000 s.f. 1 space per 100 s.f. 70 spaces 
TOTAL 761 spaces 

 
Table 1 shows the proposed land uses and sizes for the East Park development, the 
parking demand rates contained in the City of Brentwood’s Code of Ordinances, and 
the number of parking spaces required per the code with no adjustments for shared 
parking. As shown, based on the parking demand rates, the proposed development 
would require a total of 761 parking spaces, if shared parking were not considered. 
 
Generally, the procedure outlined above is followed when determining parking needs 
for developments within Brentwood.  However, for sites with a mixture of uses, this 
procedure typically overestimates the parking demand.  The overall peak parking 
demand for a mixed-use site can be significantly less than the sum of the peak parking 
demands of the individual uses since different types of uses have different peaking 
characteristics.  Therefore, the total number of parking spaces shown in Table 1 is 
considered an overestimation of the actual parking demand for the combined land 
uses. 
 
 
 



East Park - Shared Parking Study  April 2022 

 -4 of 8- Project #892106365 

2.2 Shared Parking Analysis 
 
Shared Parking, Third Edition, includes extensive research that quantifies how shared 
parking among mixed-use developments results in a lower parking demand than the 
sum of the parking needed for the individual uses.  This reduction is due in part to 
fluctuations in the parking demand throughout the day.  The peak demand for two 
different uses does not necessarily occur at the same time.  Also, shared trips between 
the different land uses within a mixed-use site will typically result in lower parking 
demands. 
 
In order to determine the number of parking spaces that are needed to serve the 
proposed development, a shared parking analysis was conducted for the combined 
land uses.  The parking demand rates for each month of the year were identified per 
land use.  The month with the peak parking demand was then determined.  Next, the 
hourly parking demand rates for a typical weekday and a weekend were identified for 
each of the proposed land uses.  The City of Brentwood’s Code of Ordinances standard 
parking rates were used for the base parking rate.  The monthly parking demand factor 
and the hourly parking demand factor were applied to the base parking rates for each 
land use in order to determine the number of parking spaces that are required for 
each use on an hourly basis.  Finally, the hourly parking demands for the individual 
uses were added together to determine the total parking demand per hour for the 
site.  This procedure was followed to determine the weekday peak parking demand 
and the weekend peak parking demand.  The analysis is described further below. 
 
 
  



East Park - Shared Parking Study  April 2022 

 -5 of 8- Project #892106365 

Monthly Parking Demand Factors 
Studies have shown that the parking demand for a given land use will typically change 
from month to month.  Therefore, the monthly parking demands for the proposed 
development were evaluated to determine the peak monthly variations.   
 
For each of the land uses, the monthly parking demand factors were taken from Shared 
Parking.  These factors were then applied to the base parking rates to determine the 
monthly parking demand for each land use.  For each month, the parking demands 
for the proposed uses were summed to identify the month with the highest parking 
demand.  The peak month is expected to be April.   
 
Non-Captive Parking Factors and Mode Adjustment Factors 
Studies have shown that developments containing multiple uses will typically have a 
reduction of customer parking needs due to customers parking and visiting more than 
one use.  The term “captive market” is used to describe someone already present in 
the area that will visit another site. The ULI base rates were utilized for the non-captive 
parking factors.  
 
The mode adjustment factor is the percentage of visitors that drive to the development 
rather than use an alternative means of transportation such as riding public 
transportation, taking a taxi or ride-share, riding a bicycle, or walking.  A 5% reduction 
was applied to account for alternative modes for the office and restaurant land uses. 
It is expected that guests of the hotel land use will utilize ride-share or taxi services at 
a higher rate. For a suburban business hotel, ULI recommends an alternative mode 
reduction of 41% on weekdays and 31% on weekends. These rates were utilized for the 
analyses.    
 
Hourly Parking Demand 
For each of the proposed uses, the standard parking demand rates previously 
described were multiplied by the peak monthly parking demand factor and the hourly 
parking demand factor to determine the hourly parking demand.  The hourly parking 
demands for each of the land uses were then summed to determine the total hourly 
parking demands for the development. The weekday and weekend peak hours for the 
current development plan are both expected to be 11:00 AM in April.  

 
  



East Park - Shared Parking Study  April 2022 

 -6 of 8- Project #892106365 

TABLE 2. SHARED PARKING MODEL – PROJECTED PARKING DEMAND 
 

DEVELOPMENT 
PEAK PARKING DEMAND 

Weekday Weekend 

East Park 600 spaces 597 spaces 
 

Table 2 presents the results of the shared parking analysis for the proposed East Park 
development. As shown, the development will have the potential for shared parking 
between land uses. As previously mentioned, based on the City of Brentwood’s Code 
of Ordinances parking demand rates, the current development program would require 
a total of 761 parking spaces for the current site plan, if shared parking were not 
considered.  

 
The shared parking analysis indicates the peak parking demand for the proposed 
development is projected to be 600 spaces. The parking supply for the development 
program could be reduced by approximately 21% of the base parking demand rates 
required by the City of Brentwood’s Code of Ordinances. The shared parking analysis 
worksheet is presented in the Appendix. 

 
  



East Park - Shared Parking Study  April 2022 

 -7 of 8- Project #892106365 

3.   CONCLUSIONS & RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
As previously discussed, using the City of Brentwood’s Code of Ordinances parking 
rates without a shared parking analysis determined 761 parking spaces would be 
required for the proposed East Park development. A shared parking analysis was 
conducted using the City of Brentwood’s Code of Ordinances base rates.  

 
The shared parking analysis reduced the total number of parking spaces needed by 
approximately 161 spaces, which is a 21% reduction in required number of parking 
spaces. Consequently, the maximum number of parking spaces needed to 
accommodate the proposed development is 600 spaces.  
 
 
  



East Park - Shared Parking Study  April 2022 

 -8 of 8- Project #892106365 

APPENDIX 
 



Copyright © 2020 All rights reserved. The Urban Land Institute, International Council of Shopping Centers, and National Parking Association. 

Project: East Park
Description:

Quantity Unit 11 AM April 11 AM April

Fine/Casual Dining 7,000 sf GLA 10.00 95% 61% 5.75 ksf GLA 10.00 95% 56% 5.27 ksf GLA 40% 94% 15              15% 94% 5                 
Employee 0.00 95% 100% 0.00 0.00 95% 100% 0.00 90% 100% -             75% 100% -             

Hotel-Business 120 keys 1.00 59% 100% 0.59 key 1.00 69% 100% 0.69 key 60% 100% 43              60% 100% 50              
Hotel-Leisure keys 1.00 50% 100% 0.50 key 1.00 50% 100% 0.50 key 70% 100% -             70% 100% -             
   Hotel Employees 120 keys 0.08 95% 100% 0.08 key 0.08 95% 100% 0.08 key 100% 100% 9                 100% 100% 9                 

Restaurant/Lounge sf GLA 0.00 63% 90% 0.00 ksf GLA 0.00 54% 30% 0.00 ksf GLA 5% 92% -             5% 92% -             
Meeting/Banquet (0 to 20 sq ft/key) sf GLA 0.00 68% 60% 0.00 ksf GLA 0.00 68% 70% 0.00 ksf GLA 60% 100% -             60% 100% -             
Meeting/Banquet (20 to 50 sq ft/key) sf GLA 0.00 68% 60% 0.00 ksf GLA 0.00 68% 70% 0.00 ksf GLA 60% 100% -             60% 100% -             
Meeting/Banquet (50 to 100 sq ft/key) sf GLA 0.00 68% 60% 0.00 ksf GLA 0.00 68% 70% 0.00 ksf GLA 60% 100% -             60% 100% -             
Convention (100 to 200 sq ft/key) sf GLA 0.00 68% 60% 0.00 ksf GLA 0.00 68% 70% 0.00 ksf GLA 100% 55% -             100% 55% -             
Convention (> 200 sq ft/key) sf GLA 0.00 68% 60% 0.00 ksf GLA 0.00 68% 70% 0.00 ksf GLA 100% 55% -             100% 55% -             
Restaurant/Meeting Employees sf GLA 0.00 95% 100% 0.00 ksf GLA 0.00 95% 100% 0.00 ksf GLA 100% 100% -             100% 100% -             

Office 100 to 500 ksf 168,180 sf GFA 0.00 95% 100% 0.00 ksf GFA 0.00 95% 100% 0.00 ksf GFA 45% 100% -             100% 100% -             
Reserved emp 0.00 95% 100% 0.00 0.00 95% 100% 0.00 100% 100% -             100% 100% -             

  Employee 3.33 95% 100% 3.16 3.33 95% 100% 3.16 100% 100% 533            100% 100% 533            

58              55              
542            542            
-             -             
600            597            

Weekend

Shared Parking Demand Summary
Peak Month:  APRIL  --  Peak Period:  11 AM, WEEKDAY

WeekdayWeekendWeekday
Project Data

Land Use
Peak Mo 

Adj
Unit For 

Ratio

Estimated 
Parking 
Demand

Peak Hr 
Adj

Peak Mo 
Adj

Office

Base 
Ratio

Unit For 
Ratio

Estimated 
Parking 
Demand

Retail

Non-
Captive 

Ratio

Project 
Ratio

Non-
Captive 

Ratio

Project 
Ratio

Driving  
Adj

Entertainment and Institutions
Hotel and Residential

Food and Beverage

Base 
Ratio

Driving  
Adj

Peak Hr 
Adj

Additional Land Uses

Total
Reserved

Employee/Resident
CustomerCustomer/Visitor

Employee/Resident

Total
Reserved



Hazen and Sawyer • 545 Mainstream Drive, Suite 320 • Nashville, TN 37228 • 615.783.1515

Memorandum

April 27, 2022

To: Brentwood Water Services (Brentwood)

From: Seth Bradley P.E., Associate
          Ryan Dean, Sr. Hydraulic Modeler
          Marissa Golgosky EIT, Assistant Engineer II

Re: Capacity Evaluation – East Park Proposed Development

Hazen performed an evaluation of the East Park proposed development as shown in Figure 1. The 
purpose of the evaluation was to determine if Brentwood’s existing sewer system would have adequate 
capacity to receive requested flows for the above-referenced development. Brentwood’s calibrated 
collection system hydraulic model was used for the evaluation.

Figure 1: Capacity Evaluation Area



April 27, 2022

Brentwood Water Services  Page 2 

Modeling Assumptions

 Sewer capacity was evaluated by adding proposed flows to the model under existing 
conditions.

 Flow for the proposed hotel was based on the guidelines of 75 gpd/room for 120 rooms.
 Flow for the proposed restaurant was based on the guidelines of 40 gpd/seat for 200 seats.
 Wet-weather capacity was evaluated by using the established 2-year, 24-hour design storm 

for Brentwood.

Model Calibration Update

The model calibration in this area was last refined during the 2020 model update. During that effort, 
calibration was updated based on flow meter T-07, which was located on the main trunk and downstream 
of the trunk connection for this area. Model parameters were adjusted to match both dry and wet weather 
conditions based on this data. 

Hydraulic Analysis

Sanitary flows for the proposed developments were entered into the model based on the information 
provided. Impacts to the system were evaluated for both dry and wet weather conditions.

For dry weather conditions, the average daily flow from the proposed condition (i.e., reduced office flows 
with new hotel and restaurant) were loaded into model. The comparison of hydraulic profiles between 
existing and proposed dry weather conditions is shown in Figures 2 and 3. Evaluation of the peak 
hydraulic grade from the point of connection down to the trunk sewer revealed no capacity limitations for 
proposed development in terms of depth of flow within pipe. No segment was shown to be surcharged.

For wet weather conditions, the same average daily flows were loaded into model, except this time, 
during a simulation with the 2-year, 24-hour design storm. Review of the same hydraulic profile indicates 
the additional flow from proposed developments did not result in a significant difference in HGL within 
the branch sewer. The comparison of hydraulic profiles between existing and proposed wet weather 
conditions is shown in Figures 4 and 5. The peak hydraulic grade in this profile was observed to increase 
by a maximum of approximately 0.6 inches and no segments were shown to surcharge until the trunk. 

The model shows that the additional proposed flows would increase the amount of surcharging 
downstream in the main trunk sewer during the design storm rainfall event. Although overflow volume in 
the trunk is predicted to increase during the 2-year, 24-hour design storm, the model shows that no new 
overflow locations in the system are created with the addition of this development.

Conclusions

Based on the evaluation of model runs conducted, the local impact of the proposed development on 
Brentwood’s receiving sewer is negligible based on predicted levels during both dry and wet-weather 
conditions. However, resulting surcharge in the downstream trunk sewer is predicted that will need to be 
addressed separately from this project. It is assumed that the master plan recommendations will be 
implemented to address surcharging in the trunk sewer as appropriate.



April 27, 2022

Brentwood Water Services  Page 3 

Figure 2: Existing Dry Weather Hydraulic Capacity

Figure 3: Proposed Dry Weather Hydraulic Capacity



April 27, 2022

Brentwood Water Services  Page 4 

Figure 4: Existing Wet Weather Hydraulic Capacity

Figure 5: Proposed Wet Weather Hydraulic Capacity



kimley-horn.com 4301 Aspen Grove Drive, Suite 200, Franklin, TN 37067 615-208-5112

MEMORANDUM

To: Chris Milton and Drew Muirhead, City of Brentwood

From: Mary McGowan, P.E.

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

Date: April 18, 2022

Subject: East Park (Brentwood Blvd and Maryland Way) Proposed Sewer Demand

The proposed development is seeking a rezone to demolish the existing 33,000 SF office, keep the
87,000 SF office building, and add a 120 key hotel and a 6,000 SF restaurant. The current C1 Office
zoning would allow for the current 87,000 SF office building to remain and the addition of another 88,000
SF Office building to be added. The proposed development capacity demand has been analyzed for
these two options.

REZONING:

With the demolishing of the 33,000 SF office building, keeping the 87,000 SF office building, adding
the restaurant and hotel, the sanitary sewer demand is increased by 20,350 gpd. With using a peaking
factor of 400%, an 8-inch pipe will only utilize 0.20 cfs of the 1.01 cfs pipe capacity for the proposed
development in its entirety.



Page 2

kimley-horn.com 4301 Aspen Grove Drive, Suite 200, Franklin, TN 37067 615-208-
5112«Office_»

CURRENT C1 OFFICE ZONING:

With the demolishing of the 33,000 SF office building, keeping the 87,000 SF office building, adding an
88,000 SF office building, the sanitary sewer demand is increased by 5,550 GPD. With using a peaking
factor of 400%, an 8-inch pipe will only utilize 0.11 cfs of the 1.01 cfs pipe capacity for the proposed
demand.

SUMMARY:

Both development options (proposed rezone and current zoning) would include a demand increase
from the current conditions. Both options would be served by an 8-inch sanitary sewer pipe with
additional capacity remaining in the pipe. The site is currently served by an existing 8-inch sanitary
sewer pipe.



   
    New Business    1. a.        

Brentwood City Commission Agenda
Meeting Date: 05/09/2022  
Approval to purchase Cisco Network Switch for Fire Station 5
Submitted by: Sarah VanWormer, Technology
Department: Technology

Information
Subject
Approval to purchase a Cisco 48-port Switch for Fire Station 5

Background
The Technology Department needs to purchase a Cisco 48-port network switch to install at the
new Fire Station 5. This is a standard switch that has historically been readily available with very
short lead times. However, staff has been advised by vendors that due to supply chain issues
across multiple industries, switches like this can now take up to a year to arrive upon ordering.

In contacting suppliers, staff has discovered that Presidio has this switch in stock as part of a very
small supply, and is available  immediately upon issuance of a purchase order.  This purchase is
from the NASPO State Purchasing Cooperative Contract at a cost of $10,422.40.

Staff Recommendation
Technology staff recommends purchase of this switch for Fire Station 5.

Fiscal Impact
Amount : $10,422.40
Source of Funds: Capital Projects Fund
Account Number: 311-45200-89700
Fiscal Impact:
The network switch is funded from the Capital Projects Fund as part of the Fire Station 5
project. 

Attachments
Network Switch 



2001722033563-01QUOTE:
05/03/2022DATE:

PAGE: 1 of 2

FROM: Presidio Networked Solutions
Eddie Orfale
12 Cadillac Drive
Suite 130
Brentwood, TN 37027

eorfale@presidio.com
(p) +1.407.641.0550

TO: City of Brentwood
Michele Kramer
5211 Maryland Way
Brentwood, TN 37027

michele.kramer@brentwoodtn.gov
(p) 6153717000

SHIP TO: City of Brentwood
Erik Marschang
5211 Maryland Way
Brentwood, TN 37027

Erik.marschang@brentwoodtn.gov
(p) 615-371-7000

BILL TO: City of Brentwood
Accounts Payable Michelle
PO BOX 788
Brentwood, TN 37024

Michele.kramer@brentwoodtn.gov
(p) (615) 371-7000

Eddie Orfale

Jeff Hodges

Title:

Inside Sales Rep:

Account Manager:

City of Brentwood - 9300 Switch

Contract Vehicle: Tennessee NASPO ValuePoint Cisco AR3227 TN#
65778

Customer#: CITYO509

# Part # Description Unit Price Ext PriceQty

C9300-48UN-E

1 C9300-48UN-E Catalyst 9300 48-port of 5Gbps Network Essentials 1 $8,457.63$8,457.63

2 C9300-NW-E-48 C9300 Network Essentials, 48-port license 1 $0.00$0.00

3 PWR-C1-1100WAC-P 1100W AC 80+ platinum Config 1 Power Supply 1 $0.00$0.00

4 PWR-C1-1100WAC-P/2 1100W AC 80+ platinum Config 1 Secondary Power Supply 1 $1,236.11$1,236.11

5 CAB-C15-CBN Cabinet Jumper Power Cord, 250 VAC 13A, C14-C15 Connectors 2 $0.00$0.00

6 C9300-SSD-NONE No SSD Card Selected 1 $0.00$0.00

7 C9300-STACK-NONE No Stack Cable Selected 1 $0.00$0.00

8 C9300-SPWR-NONE No Stack Power Cable Selected 1 $0.00$0.00

9 NM-BLANK-T1 Cisco Catalyst Type 1 Network Module Blank 1 $0.00$0.00

10 C9300-DNA-E-48 C9300 DNA Essentials, 48-Port Term Licenses 1 $0.00$0.00

11 C9300-DNA-E-48-3Y C9300 DNA Essentials, 48-port - 3 Year Term License 1 $728.66$728.66

12 NETWORK-PNP-LIC Network Plug-n-Play Connect for zero-touch device deployment 1 $0.00$0.00

13 SC9300UK9-175 Cisco Catalyst 9300 XE 17.5 UNIVERSAL UNIVERSAL 1 $0.00$0.00

$10,422.40Total:

Sub Total: $10,422.40

Grand Total: $10,422.40



2001722033563-01QUOTE:
05/03/2022DATE:

PAGE: 2 of 2

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CISCO NASPO AR3227 TENNESSEE 65778 SHALL GOVER THIS QUOTE

QUOTE IS VALID FOR 30 DAYS FROM DATE SHOWN ABOVE.

PURSUANT TO THIS CONTRACT YOUR PO MUST REFLECT THE FOLLOWING CONTRACT:
CISCO NASPO AR3227 TENNESSEE 65778

Tax ID# 58-1667655; Size Business: Large; CAGE Code: 0KD05; DUNS#15-405-0959

Credit: Net 30 days (all credit terms subject to prior Presidio credit department approval)

Delivery:  FOB Terms Destination


	Agenda
	AI_6710_Ordinance 2022-01
	       Ordinance 2022-01
	       Attachment B -- OS Calcs, Dev. Plan W_ Enlargements 
	Sheets and Views
	1 COVER
	2 GENERAL NOTES, AREA TABLES, ROADWAY SECTIONS
	3 OVERALL SITE PLAN
	4 ENLARGED SITE PLAN
	6 ALTERNATE R-2 SITE PLAN


	       Project Rendering 
	       R-2 Concept Plan 
	       OS Comparison 
	       Rosebrooke East Landscape Sheets
	Sheets and Views
	L1.0 LANDSCAPE PLAN
	L1.1 LANDSCAPE PLAN
	L1.2 LANDSCAPE PLAN
	L1.3 LANDSCAPE NOTES, SCHEDULES & DETAILS


	       Rosebrooke East Tree Preservation Sheets 
	Sheets and Views
	L2.0 TREE PRESERVATION SHEET KEY
	L2.1 TREE PRESERVATION PLAN
	L2.2 TREE PRESERVATION PLAN
	L2.3 TREE PRESERVATION PLAN
	L2.4 TREE PRESERVATION PLAN
	L2.5 TREE PRESERVATION PLAN


	       List of Trees to Remain 
	       Owner Authorizations
	       TIS Executive Summary
	       Traffic Impact Study
	05B_RB-East_TripDist.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	05B_RB-East_TripDist


	06B_RB-East_SiteTraffic.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	06B_RB-East_SiteTraffic


	Appendix.pdf
	Appendix A-1.pdf
	14408101 - Meridian St -- E Trinity Ln
	14408102 - Meridian St -- E Trinity Ln
	14408103 - Lischey Ave -- E Trinity Ln
	14408104 - Lischey Ave -- E Trinity Ln
	14408105 - Lischey Ave -- Joy Ave
	14408106 - Lischey Ave -- Joy Ave

	Appendix A-2.pdf
	14408107 - Meridian St btw Edwin St & Edith Ave - NB Speed
	14408107 - Meridian St btw Edwin St & Edith Ave - NB Vehicle Class
	14408107 - Meridian St btw Edwin St & Edith Ave - NB Volume
	14408107 - Meridian St btw Edwin St & Edith Ave - NB-SB Speed
	14408107 - Meridian St btw Edwin St & Edith Ave - NB-SB Vehicle Class
	14408107 - Meridian St btw Edwin St & Edith Ave - NB-SB Volume
	14408107 - Meridian St btw Edwin St & Edith Ave - SB Speed
	14408107 - Meridian St btw Edwin St & Edith Ave - SB Vehicle Class
	14408107 - Meridian St btw Edwin St & Edith Ave - SB Volume
	14408108 - Lischey Ave btw Joy Ave & Edith Ave - NB Speed
	14408108 - Lischey Ave btw Joy Ave & Edith Ave - NB Vehicle Class
	14408108 - Lischey Ave btw Joy Ave & Edith Ave - NB Volume
	14408108 - Lischey Ave btw Joy Ave & Edith Ave - NB-SB Speed
	14408108 - Lischey Ave btw Joy Ave & Edith Ave - NB-SB Vehicle Class
	14408108 - Lischey Ave btw Joy Ave & Edith Ave - NB-SB Volume
	14408108 - Lischey Ave btw Joy Ave & Edith Ave - SB Speed
	14408108 - Lischey Ave btw Joy Ave & Edith Ave - SB Vehicle Class
	14408108 - Lischey Ave btw Joy Ave & Edith Ave - SB Volume

	Appendix A-3.pdf
	14408107 - Meridian St btw Edwin St & Edith Ave - NB Volume
	14408107 - Meridian St btw Edwin St & Edith Ave - SB Volume
	14408108 - Lischey Ave btw Joy Ave & Edith Ave - NB Volume
	14408108 - Lischey Ave btw Joy Ave & Edith Ave - SB Volume

	Appendix B.pdf
	Appendix B
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5
	6
	7
	8
	9
	10
	11
	12

	Appendix D.pdf
	Background AM - Report
	Background PM - Report

	Appendix C.pdf
	Existing AM - Report
	Existing PM - Report

	Appendix D.pdf
	Background AM - Report
	Background PM - Report

	Appendix E.pdf
	Total AM - Report
	Total PM - Report

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Appendix C.pdf
	Existing AM - Report
	Existing PM - Report

	Appendix D.pdf
	Background AM - Report
	Background PM - Report

	Appendix E.pdf
	Total AM - Report
	Total PM - Report

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Appendix C.pdf
	Existing AM - Report
	Existing PM - Report

	Appendix D.pdf
	Background AM - Report
	Background PM - Report

	Appendix E.pdf
	Total AM - Report
	Total PM - Report

	Appendix F.pdf
	Crash_Summary_Report_2012
	Crash_Summary_Report_2013
	Crash_Summary_Report_2014
	Crash_Summary_Report_2015
	Crash_Summary_Report_2016
	Crash_Summary_Report_2017

	Blank Page
	Appendix C.pdf
	Existing AM - Report
	Existing PM - Report

	Appendix D.pdf
	Background AM - Report
	Background PM - Report

	Appendix E.pdf
	Total AM - Report
	Total PM - Report

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Appendix C.pdf
	Existing AM - Report
	Existing PM - Report

	Appendix D.pdf
	Background AM - Report
	Background PM - Report

	Appendix E.pdf
	Total AM - Report
	Total PM - Report

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Appendix C.pdf
	Existing AM - Report
	Existing PM - Report

	Appendix D.pdf
	Background AM - Report
	Background PM - Report

	Appendix E.pdf
	Total AM - Report
	Total PM - Report

	Appendix E.pdf
	Total AM - Report
	Total PM - Report

	Appendix E.pdf
	Total AM - Report
	Total PM - Report

	Appendix C.pdf
	2020 Base - AM - Report
	2020 Base - PM - Report

	Appendix D.pdf
	2026 Background - AM - Report
	2026 Background - PM - Report

	Appendix E.pdf
	2026 Total - AM - Report
	2026 Total - PM - Report

	Blank Page
	Existing Reports.pdf
	1_Existing_AM
	1_Existing_PM
	2_Existing_AM
	2_Existing_PM
	3_Existing_AM
	3_Existing_PM

	Background Reports.pdf
	1_Background_AM
	1_Background_PM
	2_Background_AM
	2_Background_PM
	3_Background_AM
	3_Background_PM

	Total Reports.pdf
	1_Total_AM
	1_Total_PM
	2_Total_AM
	2_Total_PM
	3_Total_AM
	3_Total_PM
	4_Total_AM
	4_Total_PM

	Reports.pdf
	TWSC_AM
	TWSC_PM
	AWSC_AM
	AWSC_PM
	Signal_AM
	Signal_PM
	Roundabout_AM
	Roundabout_PM

	Total Reports.pdf
	1_Total_AM
	1_Total_PM
	2_Total_AM
	2_Total_PM
	3_Total_AM
	3_Total_PM
	4_Total_AM
	4_Total_PM

	RosebrookeAddition_TrafficDerivationWorksheet.pdf
	Trip Generation
	1-AM
	1-PM
	2-AM
	2-PM
	3-AM
	3-PM
	4-AM
	4-PM
	5-AM
	5-PM
	6-AM
	6-PM
	7-AM
	7-PM
	8-AM
	8-PM



	       Split Log Road Realignment -- 2014
	       Resolution 2022-33
	       Staff Notes -- Community Meeting 
	       PC Review Memo -- Ordinance 2022-01
	AI_6711_Ordinance 2022-04
	       Ordinance 2022-04 -- As Amended
	       Revised Dev. Plan and OS Calcs
	Sheets and Views
	1 COVER
	2 GENERAL NOTES, AREA TABLES, ROADWAY SECTIONS
	3 OVERALL SITE PLAN
	4 ALTERNATE R-2 SITE PLAN


	       OS Comparison -- Rosebrooke South 
	       R-2 Concept Plan 
	       Project Rendering 
	       Rosebrooke South Landscape Sheets 
	Sheets and Views
	L1.1 LANDSCAPE BUFFER A
	L1.2 STREET TREE PLAN
	L1.3 LANDSCAPE NOTES, SCHEDULES, AND DETAILS


	       Rosebrooke South -- Tree Preservation Sheets 
	Sheets and Views
	L2.0 TREE PRESERVATION SHEET KEY
	L2.1 TREE PRESERVATION PLAN
	L2.2 TREE PRESERVATION PLAN
	L2.3 TREE PRESERVATION PLAN
	L2.4 TREE PRESERVATION PLAN


	       Rosebrooke South -- Trees to Remain Listing
	       Rosebrooke South -- Trees to be Removed Listing
	       Owner Authorizations 
	Split-Log Farms, LLC Owner Auth Letter
	Sudano Owner Auth Letter

	       Resolution 2022-34
	       Staff Notes -- Community Meeting 
	       PC Review Memo -- Ordinance 2022-04
	AI_6452_Approval or correction of minutes from Regular Scheduled Commission meeting
	       Draft Minutes
	AI_6729_Res 2022-48 - Authorizing an Agreement with Four Star Paving, LLC for Annual Roadway Repairs and Improvements
	       Resolution 2022-48
	       Contract No. 2022-066
	       Bid Recommendation
	       Bid Tab
	       Notice of Award
	       Notice to Proceed
	AI_6742_Resolution 2022-49 - Acquisition of an Easement for the Arden Woods Sewer Station Abandonment Project
	       Resolution 2022-49
	       Site Map
	AI_6750_Approval of Recommended Roadway Repairs and Improvements List for FY 2023
	       Recommended Paving List FY 2023
	AI_6730_Approval to purchase a Network Data Storage Backup Solution from Pure Storage
	       Pure Storage Quote
	       NASPO Contract
	AI_6726_Approval to purchase ammunition for the Police Department 
	       Purchase Order and Pricing
	       State Contract
	AI_6696_Ordinance 2022-05
	       Ordinance 2022-05
	       Attachment B - Concept Plan
	22007 Eastpark Rezoning Cover.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C0.0


	22007 Eastpark-Existing Conditions Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	L1.0


	22007 East Park Rezoning Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Rezoning 1_50


	22007 Eastpark Conceptual Site Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	L1.1


	22007 Eastpark Rendered Plan.pdf
	22007 Building Massing Study.pdf
	22007 East Park Rezoning Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Rezoning 1_50



	       Owners Affidavit
	       Statement of Owners Interest
	       TIS Study Intersections -- EastPark
	       EastPark TIS
	       EastPark Shared Parking Study
	       Sewer Capacity Evaluation
	Re:  Capacity Evaluation – East Park Proposed Development

	       EastPark Utility Capacity Memo -- Kimley-Horn
	AI_6771_Approval to purchase Cisco Network Switch for Fire Station 5
	       Network Switch

